
Local Development Plan Working Group
Meeting Venue
Council Chamber - County Hall, 
Llandrindod Wells, Powys

Meeting date
Monday, 5 September 2016

Meeting time
2.00 pm

For further information please contact

County Hall
Llandrindod Wells

Powys
LD1 5LG

Carol Johnson
01597 826206
carol.johnson@powys.gov.uk

2nd September, 2016

AGENDA

1. APOLOGIES LDP31- 2016

To receive apologies for absence.

2. DECLARATIONS OF INTEREST LDP32- 2016

To receive any declarations of interest from Members relating to items to be 
considered on the agenda.

3. ADDITIONAL WORK LDP33- 2016

To consider draft reports.  

Please note all the attached are draft documents.

(Pages 3 - 466)

4. FURTHER FOCUSSED CHANGES WITH THEIR 
ASSESSMENT 

LDP34- 2016

To consider the draft report.

(Pages 467 - 734)

Public Document Pack



This page is intentionally left blank



1

DRAFT

Powys Local Development Plan

Affordable Housing Topic Paper

Update September 2016

Page 3

LDP33- 2016



2

EXECUTIVE SUMMARY

1. INTRODUCTION

2. EXPLANATION OF CHANGES TO THE AFFORDABLE HOUSING VIABILITY 
EVIDENCE BASE

3. SUMMARY OF RESULTS OF REVIEWED VIABILITY ASSESSMENT

4. SITE SPECIFIC AFFORDABLE HOUSING TARGETS

5. SITE SPECIFIC THRESHOLD FOR REQUIRING AFFORDABLE HOUSING

6. AFFORDABLE HOUSING TARGET

7. MONITORING AND REVIEW 

8. CONCLUSION

10. APPENDICES

Appendix 1 Table comparing key assumptions relating to affordable housing testing

Appendix 2 Results of notional affordable housing testing

Appendix 3 Revised affordable housing policies for further focussed changes 2016

Figure - Map of proposed sub-market areas

Page 4



3

EXECUTIVE SUMMARY

Page 5



4

1. INTRODUCTION

1.1 The aim of this topic paper is to clarify and review the Council’s proposed policy 
approach towards the delivery of affordable housing in the Powys Local Development Plan, 
in light of the findings and conclusions of the updated and reviewed Viability Assessment 
(2016).   The updated and reviewed Viability Assessment was carried out in response to the 
Inspector’s concerns about the deliverability of the housing proposed by the Local 
Development Plan and also in response to concerns regarding the deliverability of affordable 
housing in the North and South West sub-market areas.  

1.2 This paper provides an update to Affordable Housing Topic Paper Update January 2016 
(EB21), and focuses on updating the Council’s position on the viability of delivering 
affordable housing through the planning system, the approach towards affordable housing 
provision, and the proposed LDP affordable housing target.

Background

1.3 In 2014, a Local Development Plan and Community Infrastructure Levy Viability 
Assessment was carried out by HDH Planning and Development Ltd (EB13), the results of 
which informed the policy approach towards affordable housing adopted in the submitted 
Powys Local Development Plan – Composite version (LDP34).  This Viability Assessment 
(2014) concluded that development within the Central and Severn Valley sub-market areas 
could meet a 20% affordable housing target, and development in the North and South West 
could meet a 10% affordable housing target.  With the exception of the affordable housing 
target in Central, which was subsequently increased to 30%, these targets were taken 
forward into the submitted Plan.  The results of the Viability Assessment (2014) indicated 
that development in the Central sub-market area could support a 30% affordable housing 
target, however the Council had initially decided to take a cautious approach by setting the 
target in this area at 20%.  

1.4 Following submission of the Powys Local Development Plan for examination in February 
2016, and subsequent letter from the LDP Inspector dated 5th of April 2016, the decision was 
made to update the residential element of the Viability Assessment (2014).  This was 
intended to reflect changes in construction costs and house prices in Powys since the 
original study (which was based on data from March 2014), but more importantly to address 
the questions raised by the Inspector about the deliverability of the quantum of housing 
development envisaged in the LDP.  The Inspector had also raised concerns that the 
evidence did not support the proposed 10% affordable housing contribution in the South 
West and North, and also about the implications of unviability in these areas for the delivery 
of the affordable housing target.

1.5 Further discussions took place at the subsequent Exploratory Meeting held by the 
Inspector on the 10th of May 2016, where the Council explained that the findings of the 
updated viability evidence would be considered and the percentage requirements may be 
adjusted. The Council also explained that there was existing evidence that housing delivery 
is happening on the ground in these areas.

1.6 The Council commissioned an update to the HDH Viability Assessment and the Council 
also arranged for the District Valuer Service (DVS) to review the updated Viability 
Assessment carried out by HDH.  This involved the review of the values and costs used by 
HDH and also other key viability assumptions.  This review has led to the production of a 
further Viability Assessment with a different set of viability results, including further testing of 
the affordable housing contributions.  The reviewed Viability Assessment carried out by the 
DVS (August 2016) is considered to improve the robustness of the evidence-base for the 

Page 6



5

Plan and the Council has decided to take the results and conclusions of this review forward 
to inform the Authority’s case in relation to the viability of the Plan, and also its case in 
respect of the delivery of affordable housing by the Plan.  

Content of this paper

1.7 This paper, firstly, summarises and analyses the main changes to the viability evidence.  
It then goes on to discuss the main findings of the DVS reviewed Viability Assessment 
(2016) in relating to the impact on the delivery of affordable housing through the Local 
Development Plan.  This involves a review of the proposed approach towards seeking 
affordable housing contributions, including the review of site specific targets and site 
capacity threshold, in light of the updated viability results.  The affordable housing target for 
the Plan has also been reviewed in light of the proposed policy changes.  Any proposed 
changes to the affordable housing policies and consequential changes to the affordable 
housing target are identified in Appendix 3 and included in the further Focussed Changes to 
the LDP.  

1.8 The paper concludes by considering the implications of the proposed policy changes for 
the delivery of affordable housing through the Plan and also for the overall strategy of the 
Plan.  The implications of the viability assessment for the overall housing delivery of the Plan 
are discussed in the separate Viability Topic Paper (reference). 

2. EXPLANATION OF CHANGES TO THE AFFORDABLE HOUSING VIABILITY 
EVIDENCE BASE

Housing sub-market areas

2.1 The HDH Viability Assessment (2014) identified four county price zones (otherwise 
known as sub-market areas) within Powys – ‘Central Powys’, ‘Severn Valley’, ‘Rural North’ 
and ‘Southwest Powys’.  Varying residential market values based on house price values per 
square metre were applied to the appraisals of sites within these areas.  These areas were 
illustrated on a map in figure 4.6 of the Viability Assessment (2014).  

2.2 It is important to note that a slight amendment has been made to these areas in the 
updated viability work.  The area to the north of the Brecon Beacons National Park which 
was previously included within the Southwest Powys sub-market area, has now been 
included in the Central sub-market area.  It should be noted that no allocations are proposed 
by the Plan within the area affected by this change, which includes parts of the communities 
of Trallong, Maescar and Llywel that lie outside the Brecon Beacons National Park.  The 
South West sub-market area now only includes the communities of Ystradgynlais and Tawe-
Uchaf to the south of the Brecon Beacons National Park.

2.3 The Housing sub-market areas, as amended, are as illustrated on the map (figure ):

2.4 It is also noted that some of the names by which the sub-market areas are referred have 
been amended between the 2014 and 2016 Viability Assessments.  The name for ‘Severn 
Valley’ remains the same, ‘Central Powys’ becomes ‘Central’, the ‘Rural North’ is now 
named ‘North’, and ‘Southwest Powys’ is now referred to as ‘South West’.  For clarity, 
therefore, the names of the sub-market areas going forward are ‘Central’, ‘Severn Valley, 
‘North’ and ‘South West’.

Review of typologies

Page 7



6

2.5 As part of the update, the site typologies tested in the original study were reviewed in 
order to ensure that they continued to be reflective of the development planned, particularly 
as the allocations that had been subject to changes, with new sites added, sites removed 
and sites amended, since the first version of the Deposit Plan in 2014 at the time that the 
original study was conducted.  General changes to typologies are detailed within the Viability 
Topic Paper (reference).

2.6 The assumed open market and affordable housing mixes applied to the site typologies 
have been reviewed against past evidence of mix of house types being delivered on the 
ground, also taking into account the needs identified in the Local Housing Market 
Assessment.  The affordable housing mix applied to the site typologies as part of the 
affordable housing testing, reflects the need identified in the Local Housing Market 
Assessment as it accounts for a proportion of 1 and 2 bed dwellings.

2.7 The assumed densities applied to the site typologies have also been reviewed to reflect 
evidence of densities being achieved on the ground on recent developments.  The density 
guidelines set out in policy H3 and the capacity of allocations in terms of the number of units 
and affordable units indicated in Appendix 1 have been amended accordingly.  

Review of affordable housing assumptions

2.8 In updating the Viability Assessment to take into account changes in the house prices 
values and costs since the original study in March 2014, this also provided an opportunity to 
review the viability assumptions used in the HDH Viability Assessment (2014) to test their 
accuracy and relevance to the particular characteristics, location and scale of development 
in Powys.  This also involved reviewing the assumptions made in respect of the values, 
tenure and mix of affordable housing within the modelled sites.

2.9 The review of viability assumptions by the DVS has led to the use of different 
assumptions, which are a result of changes in values, use of different sources, and also 
changes in the approach used to identify these values.  The local experience of the DVS in 
site specific viability assessments in Powys and Wales has informed this review.  Changes 
to the key general viability assumptions are discussed in the Viability Topic Paper 
(reference). Changes to the key assumptions relating to the affordable housing testing are 
summarised in Appendix 1, which also provides commentary on the reasons for the 
changes.

2.10 Consideration has been given to the likely impact of the changes made to the 
assumptions on the results of the affordable housing testing.  

2.11 In terms of any changes made to reflect the timing of the studies, whilst it is difficult to 
compare the price values used in both studies, due to the different methods used, the values 
used by DVS are based on current market evidence as of August 2016 and therefore they 
will reflect any increases in house price values that have occurred since March 2014.  The 
DVS has assumed higher affordable housing values for social rented and intermediate 
rented, and given that intermediate housing for sale is based on 80% open market value, 
this will have increased in line with general house prices, which should improve the viability 
of affordable housing.  

2.12 The higher house price values applied in the North sub-market area, as noted in the 
Viability Topic Paper (reference) (para. 2.17), should improve the case for seeking affordable 
housing contributions in this sub-market area.

Page 8



7

2.13 With regards to changes to the costs associated with affordable housing, build costs 
are treated on parity with open market build costs, and therefore these costs will also have 
generally increased, albeit that other costs, including the allowance made for external costs 
for larger developments and single plots, have been reduced.

2.14 By accounting for mainly social rented housing in the affordable housing tenure split 
assumed in the DVS study (2016), which is the lowest price type of affordable housing 
tenure, this is likely to have a negative impact on viability compared to the results with the 
tenure mix applied previously in 2014.  However, the tenure mix applied by the DVS is in line 
with the need identified within the Local Housing Market Assessment which identified a 
greater need in Powys for social rented housing within the affordable housing mix. 

2.15 By reducing the assumed developer profit that a developer is expecting from affordable 
housing compared to open market dwellings, this should also improve viability as the 
allowance made for this element of the cost to the developer is reduced.

2.16 The increase in the viability threshold, as explained in the Viability Topic Paper 
(reference) (para.  2.21) places a higher expectation on residual values in order for sites to 
become viable, which could impact on the scope for securing affordable housing 
contributions.  

2.17 In conclusion, therefore, some of the changes made to the affordable housing 
assumptions, along with changes to the general viability assumptions, should have a positive 
impact on the results of the affordable housing testing.  However, any apparent scope for 
further affordable housing contributions created by these changes is likely to be tempered to 
some degree by other changes in terms of build costs, tenure mix and to the viability 
threshold.  

3. SUMMARY OF RESULTS OF UPDATED AND REVIEWED VIABILITY ASSESSMENT

3.1 This section summarises and analyses the results of the reviewed Viability Assessment 
(2016) carried out by the DVS in terms of their relevance to the viability of affordable 
housing.

3.2 To clarify, the Council is basing the following comparison on the results presented in 
tables 9-12 of the DVS study and the results of the affordable housing testing in table of the 
DVS study (2016) and table 12.1 of the HDH study (2014).  In terms of presentation of the 
results, the previous study presented the results on a £ per ha basis, whereas the DVS 
results are shown on a £ per hectare and a £ per site basis in the DVS work.  Whilst the 
previous presentation of the results was useful in terms of drawing comparisons between 
different typologies, by presenting results on a £ per site basis, this reflects the residual 
value according to the site area of the particular site typology.  For this reason, the results 
discussed in this paper are those presented on a £ per site basis.

3.3 It is difficult to directly compare the results gained by the DVS in 2016 and HDH in 2014 
as not only are the results based on different data sources obtained at different times, but 
they also apply different assumptions, and development appraisals have been produced 
using different models – the DVS has used the ‘Argus’ model, whereas HDH has used a 
bespoke model developed by HDH.  However, the following comparisons can be made in 
terms of general outcomes for the viability of affordable housing in Powys:

 Both HDH (2014) and DVS (2016) found that different sub-market areas could 
support different levels of affordable housing contribution.

Page 9



8

 Both HDH (2014) and DVS (2016) found that, in general, development in the Central 
sub-market area could support an affordable housing contribution of 30%, and that 
development in the Severn Valley sub-market area could support a contribution of 
20%.

 HDH (2014) recognised that development viability was challenging in the North and 
South West sub-market areas, however it was considered to be appropriate to set an 
affordable housing target of 10% in these areas.  It was noted that there was a need 
for affordable housing in these areas and that it was being delivered on the ground.

 The DVS considers that the proposed affordable housing contributions in Central, 
Severn Valley and North sub-market areas can be supported on the basis of the 
findings of the review of the Viability Assessment.  

 The DVS considers the South West to be the main area of concern in terms of 
viability and advises that any affordable housing target in this area would be 
aspirational.  It is advised that some schemes may be able to provide some units as 
costs decrease or values increase, however such would be on a case by case basis.

 The results of both studies indicate that it would not be realistic to seek affordable 
housing contributions on sites of less than 3 units or less as these small sites are 
either not found to be viable or are marginally viable at 0% affordable housing 
contribution.

3.3 In view of the general outcomes of the Viability Assessment DVS Review (2016) for the 
viability of affordable housing, it is clear that the ability of developments to support affordable 
housing contributions continues to vary between sub-market areas, with the most viable 
areas able to support the highest percentage of affordable housing, and the least viable area 
unable to support any percentage.

3.4 Importantly, the results of the affordable housing testing carried out in the DVS Review 
(2016) show that development in the sub-market area of the North is capable of supporting a 
contribution towards affordable housing, albeit at a lower level than can be sought in Central 
and Severn Valley.  Therefore, whilst the previous viability results in 2014 did not support the 
proposed 10% affordable housing target in the North, this level of affordable housing is 
considered to be realistic based on the viability evidence provided by the DVS.

3.5 The meaning of the results of the DVS Review (2016) in terms of the site specific 
affordable housing targets and sites capacity thresholds to be applied in the different sub-
market areas is discussed further in the following sections.

4. SITE SPECIFIC AFFORDABLE HOUSING TARGETS

4.1 The appropriateness of the proposed site specific affordable housing targets for each 
sub-market area has been reviewed in light of the updated viability evidence summarised 
above.  The results of the DVS Review (2016) suggest that developments of 5 or more in the 
Central, Severn Valley and North can support the site specific targets of 30%, 20% and 10% 
respectively.  However, the results continue to suggest that development in the South West 
sub-market area would not be capable of supporting a contribution towards affordable 
housing. 

4.2 Due to the results in respect of the viability of development in the South West sub-market 
area, the Council has reviewed its case for seeking an affordable housing contribution in this 
area.  In reviewing its case, the Council has considered several potential options as to the 
way forward in terms of its approach towards affordable housing delivery in the South West, 
as follows:

Page 10



9

1. Setting an aspirational affordable housing target of 10%, as proposed by the 
submitted Plan – Composite version (LDP34).
2. Setting an aspirational affordable housing target of 5%.
3. Setting an aspirational affordable housing target of 5%, but combined with a 
higher site capacity threshold of 10 or 20 units above which affordable housing 
contributions would be sought.
4. Setting the affordable housing target at 0%, in accordance with the viability 
evidence of the DVS.

The Council has taken into account various factors in deciding on the way forward, as 
discussed in detail below.  

Evidence of affordable housing delivery in the South West

4.3 A review has been carried out of the evidence of affordable housing being delivered in 
the South West, as evidence of past delivery provides an indication as to whether affordable 
housing can be delivered in this area.

4.4 In terms of evidence of affordable housing schemes that either have been delivered or 
are being delivered in this area, the following 3 schemes for 100% affordable housing have 
been noted:

 A scheme for 6 affordable dwellings in Abercrave had been completed in 2013 as an 
affordable housing scheme by a housing association (P/2011/0266).

 A scheme for 45 affordable units by a Housing Association is currently under 
construction (check) at Gurnos School, Lower Cwm Twrch.

 A 7 flat scheme proposed by a Housing Association had been granted planning 
permission in 2011 on land adjacent to the Gurnos Youth and Community Centre and 
is currently under construction.

4.5 According to the Council’s Section 106 register, 4 schemes are recorded in the South 
West where affordable housing has been secured on private developments through section 
106 agreements:

 Brynygroes, Ystradgynlais for 138 dwellings, where 31 affordable units have been 
secured, equating to a contribution of 23%.  The contribution secured was less than 
the current UDP policy requirement for 30%-35%, however this development was 
subject to a site specific viability assessment which determined that a contribution of 
23% could be achieved with the development remaining viable.  This site is allocated 
in the proposed Plan and the owner is actively pursuing the development of the site.

 Land to rear of Jeffrey’s Arms, Brecon Road, Ystradgynlais for 18 dwellings, 
including 6 affordable dwellings.  A technical start has been made on this 
development, however works have not commenced on the approved dwellings.  This 
site has been included as a commitment in the proposed Plan. 

 A scheme of 8 units at Lower Cwmtwrch, 3 of which are to be affordable, which was 
granted outline planning permission earlier this year, and has not started.

 A scheme for 15 houses, including 5 affordable housing, at Ystradgynlais with extant 
planning permission, but has not started.

4.6 The total number of units granted permission on the above 4 number of sites is 179 and 
a total of 45 affordable housing units have been secured.  Therefore, an average affordable 
housing contribution of 25% has been secured on these sites.  However, these schemes 

Page 11



10

have not yet been delivered on the ground and section 106 agreements may be 
renegotiated.

4.7 The above indicates that there is limited evidence of affordable housing being delivered 
on the ground, apart from development by Registered Social Landlords.  Although a 
percentage of affordable housing has been secured on private developments through 
planning permissions subject to section 106 agreements, these schemes have not yet been 
delivered.  Whilst the viability of affordable housing at the Brynygroes scheme had been 
tested and it was found to be viable to secure affordable housing at a reduced level, this 
testing was carried out at a site specific level and therefore would be reflective of the site 
specific circumstances of this particular case that may not be replicated in other schemes.

Potential contributions from development in the South West

4.8 Consideration has been given to the merit of seeking affordable housing in terms of the 
notional affordable housing contribution that could potentially be captured if a contribution 
was sought in the South West, and likewise to the notional contribution that could potentially 
be lost if no contribution was sought.  The potential contribution by combining a lower target 
with a higher site capacity threshold has also been tested.  The results of this testing are set 
out within Appendix 2.

4.9 In summary, this testing shows the impact on the notional number of affordable housing 
units that could be secured if contributions were to be sought in the South-West. This testing 
demonstrates that if a 10% affordable housing contribution was sought at a 5 units and 
above threshold, as was proposed in the submitted LDP – Composite version (LDP34), the 
equivalent of approximately 46.6 affordable housing units could be secured in the South 
West (45.8 of these units could be secured on-site and 0.8 units as a commuted sum).  If a 
lower affordable housing contribution of 5% was sought, again at a 5 unit threshold, the 
equivalent of 23.3 units could be secured (21.7 units on-site and 1.6 units as commuted 
sums).  This would equate to between two to four affordable housing units on average each 
year for the remainder of the Plan period.

4.10 In the context of the overall number of affordable housing units proposed by the Plan, 
the notional contribution of affordable housing that could be secured on proposed allocations 
in the South West compared to other sub-market areas (based on the proposed targets as 
per the submitted Composite Plan - LDP34) would be as follows: 

Figure Proportion and number of affordable housing units allocations for each su-
market area as per the affordable housing targets set out in the submitted Plan

Sub-market 
area

Affordable 
Housing %

Affordable 
housing 
units

% of total 
affordable 
housing 
numbers

Central 30% 289.2 51%
Severn Valley 20% 151 27%
North 10% 80.2 14%
South West 10% 46.6 8%
 Total 567 100%

Page 12



11

4.11 If no affordable housing target was applied in the South West, the number of affordable 
housing units that could be secured on allocations within the whole of the Plan area would 
fall from 567 units to 520.4 units.  This would result in a loss of 8% of potential affordable 
housing units on allocated sites.  However, it is also noted that the total number of allocated 
units in the South West are only expected to account for 16% of the total allocated units of 
the Plan, which is markedly lower than the proportion of units allocated in other sub-market 
areas, ranging between 25% and 32%.  This is largely a reflection of the comparatively small 
size of the South West area and limited number of settlements found in this area, with 
proposed allocations focused mainly within the town of Ystradgynlais.

4.12 Consideration has also been given to the notional contribution that could be secured on 
large windfall sites, on sites of 5 or more, based on evidence of past completions and 
planning permissions on this type of site in the South West.  This testing, which is also 
detailed in Appendix 2, indicates that the equivalent of 4.6 affordable housing units could 
have been secured on windfall sites with planning permission, based on a 10% target at a 5 
unit threshold.  At a 5% target above the 5 unit threshold, 2.4 units could have been secured, 
with would be reduced to 1.65 units if a 10 unit threshold was applied.  

4.13 Whilst the Council is mindful of the need to maximise the affordable housing delivery, 
the relatively minor affordable housing contribution that notionally could be captured in the 
South West over the remainder of the Plan period, would indicate that it may not be 
worthwhile to seek affordable housing contributions in this area.

The impact of affordable housing requirements on overall housing delivery in the South West

4.14 In considering whether it is worthwhile to require relatively minimal affordable housing 
contributions from private developments in the South West by applying an aspirational 
target, the potential benefits need to be balanced against potential consequences, and in 
particular the risk that affordable housing could have a negative impact on overall housing 
delivery in this area.  The generally negative residual values found by both the DVS and the 
HDH studies in the South West indicate that development viability in this area is likely to be 
particularly sensitive to the additional costs or impact on values as a result of policy 
requirements, such as affordable housing. The Council also seeks to prioritise the provision 
of essential infrastructure, before other policy requirements, in order to ensure that 
development can be brought forward.

4.15 The Council is confident that its allocations in this area can be delivered, as is 
demonstrated through site specific evidence provided within the Housing Allocations Topic 
Paper (reference).  However, based on the viability evidence, it is doubtful whether these 
sites could also sustain a proportion of affordable housing whilst maintaining their viability.  

Potential pockets of viability

4.16 Consideration has been given to the scope for applying an aspirational affordable 
housing target in order to capture affordable housing within any pockets of viability that may 
be found within the area.  The DVS has identified some of the features that may characterise 
pockets of viability, including high quality developments in terms of their style, edge of 
settlement locations, attractive views and good transport links.  Whilst some of these 
characteristics may be found on or within individual sites in the South West, it would not be 
appropriate to generally assume that the majority of sites planned for or anticipated within 
this area would meet these higher expectations.  The general expectations of the area will 
already be largely reflected in the house price values experienced in this area, which have 
already been accounted for within the DVS review (2016).  

Page 13



12

4.17 It is difficult to capture potential pockets within a high level viability study, as is 
highlighted by the DVS.  The DVS has advised that affordable housing may be found to be 
viable on certain schemes in the South-West, however this would be based on a case by 
case assessment.  It would not be reasonable or practicable to set a policy requiring site 
specific viability assessments to be carried out in connection with planning applications for 
housing in this area in order to seek to capture any instances where affordable housing may 
be viable, which based on the viability evidence, are also likely to be limited instances.

Potential improvement in viability

4.18 The viability assessments carried out are largely based on the evidence at the time that 
the study was carried out, in this instance August 2016, whereas the Plan proposes housing 
for the remainder of the Plan period, in this case, up until 2026.  By taking a longer term 
perspective, and assuming that the housing market improves, an aspirational target could be 
justified.  However, due to current uncertainties in the market, which makes it difficult to 
predict how values and costs will react to changes in the market, it is unclear as to when 
development may become sufficiently viable in order to support an affordable housing 
contribution in the South West.  

4.19 The DVS has explained that as costs decrease and values increase, some schemes 
may be able to provide some affordable units, however this would be on a case by case 
assessment.  As explained above, it would be unrealistic to require a site specific viability 
assessment to be carried out in respect of each planning application for housing in the South 
West in order to test the scope for affordable housing contributions.

4.20 In view of the above, it would not be appropriate to set an aspirational target, and 
instead, future changes in the market should be monitored and the affordable housing 
targets set should be reviewed if any significant changes are identified.  Monitoring in 
connection with affordable housing is considered under section 7 below. 

The need for affordable housing in the South West

4.21 The Local Housing Market Assessment (updated in 2014) (EB08) identifies that there is 
a need for affordable housing in the South West, and that the need identified in the 
Ystradgynlais area (LHMA area 8) is mainly for intermediate rented housing, which is a 
higher value form of affordable housing, than social rented housing.  Whilst it would 
potentially be more viable for a private developer to provide intermediate forms of housing, 
this would not necessarily mean that development would become viable according to the 
high level testing.  The lack of evidence of delivery of private developments where a 
proportion of affordable housing has been secured is also noted.

4.22 Unlike most other areas in Powys, and generally across Powys, where the need 
identified by the LHMA is mainly for social rented housing, the LHMA acknowledges that 
there is currently an over-supply of social rented housing in the South West.  The apparent 
lack of need for additional social rented housing therefore potentially limits the number of 
affordable housing that could be delivered through Social Housing Grant as it is understood 
that this is usually direct towards areas of the greatest need. Between 2012 and 2014, 47 
committed units that were to be delivered through Social Housing Grant.  In terms of future 
schemes that are programmed to receive Social Housing Grant in this area, phases 1 and 2 
of the Gwalia Housing Association scheme at land at the Gurnos Youth Centre, School 
Playing Fields are proposed to receive Social Housing Grant assistance.

Conclusions on the evidence to support an affordable housing contribution in the South West

Page 14



13

4.23 In view of the above considerations, it is considered that there is insufficient evidence to 
support the target currently proposed in the submitted LDP Composite Plan (LDP34), or in 
fact, for any affordable housing contribution to be sought in the South West.  Whilst there is 
an identified need for intermediate rented housing in this area, this need must be balanced 
against the viability evidence which suggests that it would not be realistic to deliver 
affordable housing through planning permissions for private housing developments in this 
area.  The lack of evidence of past delivery of affordable housing on private developments, 
together with questions over the merit of seeking relatively minor affordable housing 
contributions against the potential risks to overall delivery, are also important factors to 
consider in deciding on the most appropriate approach towards affordable housing delivery 
in this area.

4.24 In terms of the potential options set out above, therefore, the aspirational targets within 
options 1-3 would not be informed by the viability evidence or any other available evidence.  
By following option 4, and therefore deciding not to require affordable housing contributions 
in the South West at the present time, this decision would be informed by the evidence.

Additional contributions in other sub-market areas

4.25 The scope for seeking additional contributions in the more viable sub-market areas has 
been considered, in order to seek to maximise affordable housing delivered through the 
Plan.

4.26 It was noted that the results of the testing in the Central area at a 30% target appeared 
to provide additional headroom above the viability threshold compared to the headroom 
available in the Severn Valley and the North sub-market areas, and therefore the scope for 
seeking a higher affordable housing target of 35% in connection with larger (100 unit), large 
(50 unit) and medium (25 unit) greenfield and brownfield developments was tested in this 
area.  However, as explained by the DVS, residual values at a 35% target are brought closer 
to the margins of viability.  Whilst applying a higher target in Central could potentially provide 
an additional 48.2 additional affordable housing units on sites allocated by the Plan, based 
on the advice of the DVS, it would not be desirable to plan at the margins of viability.  

Exemptions from the requirement for affordable housing contributions

4.27 Consideration has been given to the case for requiring affordable housing from all types 
of housing development, and in particular to whether there would be any reasons to exempt 
certain types of development from this requirement.

4.28 Developments involving barn and flat conversions have not been specifically tested 
within the DVS review (2016).  Such schemes are noted to involve higher house prices but 
also higher costs and these values can be highly variable between schemes, hence the 
difficulty in testing their viability at a high level.  The DVS has therefore suggested that they 
should be considered on a case by case basis, and possibly exempted from the policy 
requirement for affordable housing contributions.  The Council recognises that the 
economics of conversion schemes differ from new build housing.  However, given the scope 
within the proposed policy for site specific negotiations to take place, and also in the 
knowledge that a proportion of affordable housing has been secured within conversion 
schemes in the past, it is considered that conversions should not be exempt from the 
affordable housing requirements.

4.29 Rural enterprise dwellings have not been tested for their viability by the DVS.  Planning 
applications for rural enterprise dwellings are assessed based on the functional needs of the 
enterprise, and it must be demonstrated that the enterprise can support the construction of 

Page 15



14

the dwelling as part of the financial test set out in Technical Advice Note 6.  The viability of 
such schemes will therefore depend on the individual circumstances of the enterprise in 
question and will not be driven by market demand.  Rural enterprise dwelling proposals 
should therefore be exempt from the affordable housing policy requirements.

4.31 Rural exception sites for affordable housing and schemes for 100% affordable housing, 
will by their very nature, already contribute towards affordable housing, and therefore will not 
be subject to the proposed affordable housing policy requirements.

4.32 The HDH study (2014) indicated that development on brownfield sites was not viable at 
0% affordable housing, however the DVS study (2016) shows that these types of sites are 
viable at the level of affordable housing contributions proposed in each area, except for the 
South West.  Direct costs and costs associated with brownfield sites will be site specific and 
will be reflective of the risks involved in that particular site, and therefore have not been 
accounted for within the DVS Review (2016).  Where abnormal costs are involved, the level 
of affordable housing can be negotiated on a site by site basis.  Therefore, development on 
brownfield sites should not be excluded from the requirement for affordable housing.

5. SITE CAPACITY THRESHOLD FOR REQUIRING AFFORDABLE HOUSING

5.1 The viability results have also been considered in terms of their testing of the 
appropriateness of the proposed threshold of 5 units, above which the contributions set out 
above would be sought.

5.2 The previous HDH study (2014) tested affordable housing contributions at a threshold of 
5 units or more, and therefore did not specifically test the viability of differing thresholds.  
However, the results for the smaller sites indicated that sites of 3 units or less would be 
unviable and would not be able to support any affordable housing contributions.  

5.3 According to the DVS results, schemes for single units or for 3 units or less are either 
marginally viable or unviable at 0% in Central, Severn Valley and North Powys, whilst sites 
of 5 units or more in these areas are capable of supporting the proposed affordable housing 
contributions.

5.4 Taking into account the proportion of small sites anticipated by the Plan, JHLAS 
indicates that 357 units have been completed on small sites of less than 5 since the start of 
the Plan period in 2011.  Small sites are expected to contribute 883 units towards the overall 
housing provision figure for the Plan of 5985 units, approximately 15%.  A lower unit 
threshold could be justified if the majority of completions where expected on small sites, in 
order to capture affordable housing, however this is not expected to be the case in Powys, 
as the majority of units are expected to come forward on large allocated sites.

5.5 The results of the testing of notional affordable housing contributions that could be 
achieved by requiring contributions from small sites of less than 5 units are set out in 
Appendix 2.  This testing reveals that 105 additional affordable housing units could 
theoretically be secured on small sites if a threshold of 1 unit was to be adopted, however 
the viability evidence does not support this approach.  Furthermore, in most instances, it 
would not be practicable for these units to be provided on-site on small sites, apart from on 
sites of 3 or more in Central, and instead they would equate to commuted sums for part 
units.

5.6 The viability evidence indicates that it is appropriate to retain the site capacity threshold 
for requiring affordable housing contributions at 5 units or more.

Page 16



15

6. AFFORDABLE HOUSING TARGET

6.1 Due to the proposed policy changes set out above, it has been necessary to review the 
proposed Authority wide affordable housing target and the LDP’s housing provision to 
ensure that it remains realistic.  The affordable housing target previously identified in the 
Affordable Housing Topic Paper Update in January 2016 (EB21) was set at 1257 affordable 
housing units.  This target took into account affordable housing units expected on 
allocations, commitments and future windfall sites, and also units already delivered during 
the Plan period on commitments and windfall completions.

6.2 The following table shows how the number of units expected from each source of 
affordable housing as a result of the review compares to the figures provided in the January 
2016 update:

Figure Breakdown of the affordable housing target

Source of 
affordable housing

Affordable Housing 
Units
(January 2016)

Affordable Housing 
Units 
(August 2016)

Allocations 535.2 520.4
Total commitments 435.8 449.8
Commitments not 
completed or not 
started

302.8 316.8

Commitments under 
construction in 
JHLAS 2015

64

Commitments 
completed 
01/04/2011 to 
31/03/2015

133 133

Housing Land Bank 
sites (none of these 
affordable housing 
units are under 
construction)

Not previously 
included

44

40% discount applied 
to commitments not 
completed without 
commitments under 
construction, 
together with the 
Housing Land Bank 
sites.  

Not previously 
applied

60% of 296.8 = 
178.08

Windfall completions 36 41
Windfall projections 99 107
Total 1257 1043.5
Per annum 83.3 69.5

ALLOCATIONS + COMMITMENTS COMPLETED + COMMITMENTS U/C + 
(COMMITMENTS NOT COMPLETED minus COMMITMENTS U/C WITH 40% DISCOUNT 
APPLIED) + WINDFALL COMPLETIONS + WINDFALL PROJECTIONS

Page 17



16

6.3 The difference in the figures for allocations will be mainly as a result of the loss of 
affordable housing numbers in the South West sub-market area, where the target is 
proposed to be reduced from 10% to 0%.  This would have resulted in 46.6 fewer affordable 
housing units on allocations, however changes to the indicative housing numbers as a result 
of increases to the density assumptions applied in the Viability Assessment, will have 
captured some additional affordable housing numbers.  This explains why the number of 
potential affordable housing units on allocations is only 15 units less than previously 
expected.  

6.4 With regards to changes to the affordable housing figures on commitments, this reflects 
the affordable housing secured on additional commitments as part of the proposed second 
set of Focussed Changes.  Additional housing land bank sites have also been identified and 
therefore the affordable housing numbers secured on these sites are also accounted for.  A 
discount of 40% has been applied to the committed affordable housing units that have not 
started to reflect the discount applied to the total housing number on these sites.  

6.5 Windfall projections have been informed by the rate of past affordable housing 
completions on windfall sites since the beginning of the Plan period.  The windfall completion 
figure has increased to 41 units in line with the findings of Appendix 2 of the windfall paper 
(reference).  Using this figure to project forward therefore, the projected windfall figure would 
be increased to 112 units.  By not requiring contributions towards affordable housing in the 
South West, the projected number of units expected as windfall may be impacted upon.  
However, based on the limited number of large windfall completions in the past and also the 
limited number of settlements where windfall could happen in this area, this is unlikely to 
have a significant impact on the number of affordable housing units that could be secured on 
windfall sites over the Plan area.  Taking into account the amount of affordable housing that 
could have been sought on 4 large windfall completions that were granted planning 
permission in the South West (Appendix 2), which at 10% target would have amounted to 
4.8 units, a figure of 107 units windfall projections would be appropriate.

6.6 The reduction in the affordable housing target to 1043.5 units or 69.5 units per annum 
continues to be below the need identified in the LHMA of 153 per annum.  However, the 
proposed target is considered to be realistic and other measures including the rural 
exceptions policy and the likely contribution of exception schemes for 100% affordable 
housing and supported by Social Housing Grant assistance (as is detailed in the Topic 
Paper update January 2016), will help to maximise opportunities for delivery of affordable 
housing.  

7. MONITORING AND REVIEW

7.1 For the purposes of monitoring viability on an annual basis and throughout the remainder 
of the Plan period, it will be important for key viability assumptions to be monitored.  The 
monitoring of general viability and development assumptions is discussed under section 7 of 
the Viability Topic Paper (reference ).  In terms of additional monitoring proposed to keep 
affordable housing delivery and requirements under review, the following monitoring is 
proposed.

7.2 The amount of affordable housing secured and delivered through planning permissions 
and within the different sub-market areas is proposed to be monitored.  This will also involve 
monitoring the amount of dwellings secured and delivered on affordable housing exception 
sites.  It is also proposed to monitor applications submitted where an applicant is seeking to 
negotiate/renegotiate a lower contribution of affordable housing than the target (either as 
part of planning application being processed, or by an application under section 106A for 
discharge/modification or by deed of variation).  A high number of successful applications 

Page 18



17

whereby reduced affordable housing contributions are negotiated or re-negotiated, may 
trigger the need to review the affordable housing targets.   The need for a review would 
depend on whether fundamental issues are raised that may be relevant to other sites and to 
the key types of development proposals in Powys.

7.3 The proposed form of affordable housing, in terms of the proportion of contributions 
secured and delivered on-site and commuted sums, will also be monitored.  It will also be 
necessary to monitor the type and mix of affordable housing tenure being delivered in order 
to inform any future review.  Monitoring will also be carried out in conjunction with the Local 
Housing Market Assessment in order to identify any changes in affordability and need that 
may be relevant to the affordable housing policy requirements and target. 

8. CONCLUSION

8.1 The review undertaken of the proposed policy requirements, as informed by the updated 
and reviewed DVS Viability Assessment (2016) has concluded that it would not be viable, 
realistic or worthwhile to seek affordable housing contributions in the South West.  The 
change in the Council’s approach towards affordable housing requirements in the South 
West, by applying a site specific target of 0% for affordable housing in this area, will impact 
on affordable housing delivery in this sub-market area.  However, this impact will be 
relatively localised and is not expected to have a significant impact on the overall delivery of 
affordable housing through the Plan or on the overall strategy of the Plan.

8.2 The Council considers that by placing higher expectations on large developments that 
are expected to be delivered in the most viable areas of the Plan area - in the Central, 
Severn Valley and North sub-market areas – this will maximise affordable housing delivery in 
those areas, whilst recognising that the delivery of affordable housing does not appear to be 
realistic in the less viable sub-market area of the South West.

8.3 The viability evidence supports the Council’s case for continuing to set the site capacity 
threshold at 5 units or more, as it would not be viable to seek contributions on sites below 
this threshold.  

8.4 The proposed changes to the policy requirements in respect of affordable housing on 
proposed allocations and windfalls, along with the application of a non-delivery allowance to 
committed sites, results in a reduced affordable housing target of 1044 units and 69.5 units 
per annum.  This equates to 23% of the LDP dwelling requirement of 4,500 dwellings and 
19% of the total housing provision number of 5,596.  This target continues to fall below the 
need identified in the Local Housing Market Assessment of 153 per annum, however the 
Council acknowledges the need to ensure that the affordable housing target is realistic and 
deliverable.  Other likely sources of affordable housing provision not accounted for within the 
target will also help to meet affordable housing needs in Powys.

8.5 The conclusions of this assessment are reflected in the affordable housing target, 
affordable housing contributions and proposed annual monitoring framework specified in the 
further Focussed Changes to the Plan (reference), and the relevant changes are detailed in 
Appendix 3.

Page 19



18

APPENDIX 2 Results of the testing of notional contributions

Turning, firstly, to the impact on the number of affordable housing units that notionally could 
be secured or lost on proposed allocations in the South West, the following table sets out the 
difference in the number of affordable housing that could be secured on proposed 
allocations in the South West at different site capacity thresholds and at 5% and 10% 
affordable housing contributions:

Figure

Threshold 5% 10%
5+ 23.3 46.6
10+ 22.9 45.8
20+ 21.7 43.4

On this basis, the proposed allocations in the South West could contribute a total of 46.6 
affordable units if a contribution of 10% was sought on developments of over 5 units, as is 
proposed in the Composite Plan.  If a lower target of 5% was applied in the South West, 
proposed allocations could potentially contribute 23.3 affordable units.  At 5%, the difference 
in number of units captured between the highest and lowest threshold would be 1.6 units, 
and at 10% the difference would be 3.2 units.

This illustrates that by purely applying a higher threshold in the South West, this would only 
have a marginal impact on the number of affordable housing that could be captured at 5% 
and 10% contributions on allocations.  Changing the level of affordable housing contributions 
expected has a more noticeable impact on the number of affordable housing that could 
notionally be secured.

Commuted sums in the South-West

Furthermore, this notional number of potential affordable housing units in the South West 
would not necessarily result in this number of units being provided on site, as this would 
equate to less than a single unit on sites of less than 20 units at 5% affordable housing 
contribution, and on sites of less than 10 units at 10% affordable housing contribution.  In 
terms of allocations in the South West, three allocated sites have an indicative capacity of 
below 20 units, one of which has an indicative capacity of below 10 units. At 5%, the 
contribution on these sites would not be on site and would instead involve commuted sums.   
At 10%, the site of less than 10 units, would involve a commuted sum.  The following table 
sets out the number of dwellings that would be captured at differing site capacity thresholds 
and differing affordable housing targets in the South West:

Figure

Page 20



19

Thresholds 
for on-site 
provision

No. of 
total 
units

Total 
affordable 
housing 
contribution 
at 5%

Total 
affordable 
housing 
contribution 
at 10%

No. of on-
site 
affordable 
units at 
5%

No. of on-
site 
affordable 
units at 
10%

Commut
ed sums 
at 5%

Commuted 
sums at 
10%

20+ units 434 23.3 46.6 23.3 46.6 None None
10+ units 458 23.3 46.6 22.9 46.6 1.2 None
5+ units 466 23.3 46.6 21.7 45.8 1.6 0.8

Therefore, the majority of contributions could still be secured in the form of on-site units in 
the South West at differing thresholds and affordable housing contributions.

Contribution from anticipated windfall sites

In terms of the notional contribution that could be secured on anticipated windfall sites in the 
South West, reference has been made to the evidence of development that has either been 
delivered or is being delivered on windfall sites (since the beginning of the Plan period).  1 
scheme for 5 units has been delivered on a large windfall site, the other developments of 5 
or more that have been completed or partially completed developments are all on allocated 
sites.  A notional contribution of the equivalent of 0.5 units could have been secured.

Given the limited evidence of large windfall completions in the South West, reference has 
also been made to planning permissions granted for private developments on large windfall 
sites in the South West (since March 2010), in order to test the notional contribution that 
could be gained or lost.  Based on these planning permissions, an analysis has been 
undertaken of the notional contribution from large windfall sites of 5 or more units at varying 
thresholds and targets:

Figure

Threshold No. of sites No. of units at 5% at 10%
5+ 4 48 2.4 4.8
10+ 3 33 1.65 3.3
20+ 1 0 0 0

Windfall completions on sites of less than 5 units would fall below the threshold of 5 units 
and above, and therefore affordable housing would not be captured on windfall sites of this 
size.  

Notional contributions by lowering the site capacity threshold

In terms of any notional contributions that could potentially be secured if affordable housing 
was to be secured on all sites of under 5 units, at an average target of 20% affordable 
housing across the County, this would theoretically contribute 176 additional affordable units.  
However, 357 out of the total 883 units on small sites have already been completed without 
affordable housing contributions.  Based on the remaining 526 units expected to be 

Page 21



20

delivered on small sites during the remainder of the plan, 105 affordable housing units could 
be achieved.  In reality, on site provision at the levels that would be expected from the policy 
would not be practical on many small sites.  At the proposed targets, on site provision on 
sites of less than 5 units would only be practicable on sites of 3 or more in Central, and in 
other sub-market areas, contributions on sites of less than 5 would be in the form of 
commuted sums relating to part units.  

Page 22



21

APPENDIX 3 LDP POLICY AND CONTENT FOR SECOND SET OF FOCUSED 
CHANGES

TO FOLLOW

Page 23



This page is intentionally left blank



APPENDIX 1

Differences in key affordable housing viability assumptions applied in the original HDH Local Development Plan Viability Assessment (2014) and the DVS 
Viability Study August 2016, along with reasons for changes in approaches and values applied.

ASSUMPTION OCTOBER 2014 REPORT 
(HDH)

AUGUST 2016 REPORT (DVS) COMMENTARY

Affordable 
Housing 
values

Social rented - £770 per sqm

Intermediate rented - £875 
per sqm

Intermediate affordable 
housing for sale - 70% of 
open market value

Social rented - £800 psm

Intermediate rented:

£905 psm in the North and 
Severn Valley

£975 psm in Central

£935 psm in the South West

Intermediate affordable housing 
value - 70% of open market 
value

HDH social rented value is based on StatsWales figures for average weekly 
rents in self-contained stock at social rent by accommodation type, 
number of bedrooms and provider type in March 2014.

DVS social rented value is based on StatsWales figures less assumed voids 
and management costs, and capitalised at a 5.5% yield and averaged out 
against unit size.

HDH intermediate rented - based on 80% of open market rental values and 
current Local Housing Allowance caps.

HDH and DVS have intermediate affordable housing value at 70% open 
market value which reflects the reduction in value expected for 
intermediate affordable housing.

The updated value assumptions of the DVS are taken forward.

Affordable 
Housing build 
costs

Parity with the costs of open 
market build costs, as set out 
in Appendix 1 of the Viability 
Topic Paper (reference), and 

Parity with costs of open market 
build costs, as set out in 
Appendix 1 of the Viability Topic 
Paper, and copied below:

Both studies have treated the build costs of affordable housing on a par 
with the build costs of open market dwellings.  The reasons given for this 
are similar in that this is due to the increasing requirements and standards 
required by RSL’s and Welsh Government, such as those relating to 
Development Quality Schemes and Lifetime Homes.  This means that the 
costs associated with building affordable housing are similar to open 

P
age 25



copied below:

Ranging from £849 per 
square metre to £1,225 per 
sqm varied by size and 
whether 
greenfield/brownfield

£900 per sqm for a larger 
100 unit scheme

£1,225 for a single unit site

£969 per square metre for 
houses

£1,128 per square metre for 
flats

On sites of 3 and fewer units:

£1,616 per square metres for 
detached dwellings

£1,150 per square metre for 
semi-detached and terraced 
housing

market build costs.

HDH was based on BCIS costs re-based to Powys (March 2014).  DVS is 
based on BCIS median estate housing general costs and costs for 3 and 
fewer units re-based to Powys as at 23rd of July 2016.

It is understood that construction costs have generally increased and 
therefore it is considered appropriate to apply costs in line with updated 
data.

It is also considered appropriate to apply a higher cost assumption to flats 
and small sites of 3 and fewer units in line with the BCIS cost data.

Affordable 
Housing 
Tenure split

75% Intermediate Rent and 
25% shared ownership 
housing

75% Social Rented

25% Intermediate Rented

The tenure split applied by the DVS is based on the identified need for 
affordable housing in the Powys Local Housing Market Assessment.

The Council considers that the tenure mix adopted by the DVS is 
appropriate as it reflects the need identified for affordable housing tenures 
in the Local Housing Market Assessment.  

Developer 
profit for 
affordable 
housing

20% of Gross Development 
Costs.

6% developer profit HDH applied the same level of profit expected from open market housing 
to affordable housing.   

DVS has assumed the developer will construct the affordable housing for 
the RSL and charge 6% ‘project management fee’ for doing so.  Therefore, 
the reduced profit expected of affordable housing is a reflection of the 
reduced risk as the affordable housing units are effectively pre-sold.

P
age 26



APPENDIX 3 BENCHMARK LAND VALUES APPLIED IN OTHER LDP VIABILITY 
ASSESSMENTS

Other LDP Viability Assessments Benchmark land value 
applied 

Status of LDP

Ceredigion Study concerning the 
economic viability of providing 
affordable housing (August 2010, and 
updated October 2010 and July 2011) 

Between £300,000 per ha (for 
greenfield) to
£500,000 per ha (for town)

Adopted 2013

Gwynedd and Anglesey Affordable 
Housing Viability Study (update 
October 2014)

£250,000 per hectare Submitted for 
examination.

Vale of Glamorgan Affordable Housing 
Viability Study (update August 2014)

£300,000 per ha

Also referred to lower 
expectations in lower value 
areas such as the Barry.

NOTED:  
Action Points for the Council 
include re-running viability 
appraisals, amending the 
benchmark land values used in 
the viability report to reflect 
realistic values in light of the 
available evidence, and to 
consider the potential for 
assuming different land values 
for the different spatial areas.

Examination 
postponed 
following 
hearings to allow 
for action points 
and matters 
arising changes 
to be considered.

Cardiff LDP Viability Testing Report 
(updated 2014)

Brownfield:
£1,500,000 per net
Ha

Greenfield:
£1,200,000 per net
Ha

Large Brownfield:
£1,200,000 per net
Ha

Large Greenfield:
£1,000,000 per net
Ha

Adopted January 
2016.

Caerphilly Affordable Housing Viability 
Study (October 2015)

Between £125,000 per ha and 
£300,000 per ha.

Adopted 2010.  
Replacement 
LDP withdrawn 

Page 27



Between £200,000 and 
£280,000 per gross hectare 
depending on the market area, 
applied in earlier study for 
adopted LDP.

2016.

Carmarthenshire County Council 
Affordable Housing Viability Study 
(Update May 2013)

£250,000 per hectare Adopted 2014

Denbighshire Affordable Housing 
Viability Study (2009)

£250,000 upwards. Adopted 2013

Newport Affordable Housing Viability 
Report (March 2012) 

£500,000 per hectare Adopted 2015

Neath Port Talbot Affordable Housing 
Viability Study (August 2012)

£408,000 per ha to £672,000 
per ha varied by area.

£188,000 per ha to £266,500 
per ha for industrial.

Residual values also assessed 
against the existing use value 
+30% as a benchmark.

Adopted 2016

Rhondda Cynon Taf Affordable 
Housing Viability Study (2009)

£150,000 to £550,000 per 
hectare.

£350,000 per hectare average.

Adopted 2011

Conwy Affordable Housing Viability 
Study (2011)

£600,000 per hectare. Adopted 2013.

Pembrokeshire Affordable Housing 
Viability Assessment (2010)

£400,000 per hectare. Adopted 2013.

Wrexham and Flintshire Affordable 
Housing and Community Infrastructure 
Levy and Development Viability 
Assessment (2014)

£300,000 per hectare. LDP in 
preparation.

Page 28



Monmouthshire CIL Viability 
Assessment (2014)

£250,000 per hectare for 
greenfield.

£600,000 per hectare for 
brownfield.

Adopted 2014.

Torfaen Affordable Housing Viability 
Study (updated 2013)

£700k per ha in lower value 
areas to £1.2m per ha in 
higher value areas 

Adopted 2013.

Swansea Affordable Housing Viability 
Assessment (2013 and updated May 
2016)

Between £490,000 per hectare 
and £790,000 per hectare.

LDP in 
preparation.

Shropshire Viability Study (2013) £490,000 per ha

£885,000 per ha

£1,300,000 per ha

Varied by area.

Highest in rural south, middle 
in the range for rural north, 
lowest in Shrewsbury north.

Adopted Core 
Strategy 2011 
and SAMDev 
2015.

Hereforshire Viability Study £600,000 per hectare Adopted October 
2015.

Page 29



This page is intentionally left blank



APPENDIX 6

LIST OF CURRENT PLANNING APPLICATIONS FOR HOUSING IN THE SOUTH-WEST 
SUB-MARKET AREA

Reference 
number

Valid 
Date Site location Proposed 

development
Decision 
Status

Community 
Council

Land off 
Brecon 
Road Penrhos
Ystradgynlais

P/2016/0123 04/07/201
6

Erection of a 
dwellinghouse on site 
of former cottage and 
all associated works 
(revised proposal)

Pending Ystradgynlais

47 Commercial 
Street
Ystradgynlais

P/2016/0488 03/05/201
6

 

Change of use of 
premises to a dwelling

Pending Ystradgynlais

P/2016/0123 04/07/201
6

Land off 
Brecon 
Road Penrhos

Erection of a 
dwellinghouse on site 
of former cottage and 
all associated works 
(revised proposal)

Pending Ystradgynlais

NMA/2016/0010 03/02/201
6

Plot 1 & 2 
Land Rear of 
16 Station 
Road 
Ystradgynlais

Application for non-
material amendments 
to planning application 
P/2014/0090 in respect 
of alterations to 
drawings

Pending Ystradgynlais

P/2016/0047 15/02/201
6

Land at 
Former Cynlais 
School Playing 
Field  
Ystradgynlais

Residential 
development, formation 
of vehicular access 
road and all associated 
works (outline)

Pending Ystradgynlais

Land adjacent 
to Wharf 
Cottage Gurno
s Road

P/2015/0622 06/07/201
5

Ystradgynlais

Full: Erection of a 
dwellinghouse with 
integral garage and all 
associated works

Pending Ystradgynlais

Land opposite 
2 Tanygraig 
Cottages Caerl
an

P/2016/0613 01/06/201
6

Abercrave

Erection of a 
dwellinghouse and 
formation of vehicular 
access

Pending Ystradgynlais

Development 
Rear of 
Glandwr 
House Heol 
Cwmturch

P/2016/0386 17/05/201
6

Lower 
Cwmtwrch

Outline planning 
permission for a one 
bed dwelling with all 
matters reserved

Pending Ystradgynlais

Page 31

http://planning.powys.gov.uk/portal/servlets/ApplicationSearchServlet?PKID=143018
http://planning.powys.gov.uk/portal/servlets/ApplicationSearchServlet?PKID=141892
http://planning.powys.gov.uk/portal/servlets/ApplicationSearchServlet?PKID=143018
http://planning.powys.gov.uk/portal/servlets/ApplicationSearchServlet?PKID=140269
http://planning.powys.gov.uk/portal/servlets/ApplicationSearchServlet?PKID=139957
http://planning.powys.gov.uk/portal/servlets/ApplicationSearchServlet?PKID=137197
http://planning.powys.gov.uk/portal/servlets/ApplicationSearchServlet?PKID=142481
http://planning.powys.gov.uk/portal/servlets/ApplicationSearchServlet?PKID=141470


Page 32



 Greenfield Central 100 

 Development Appraisal 
 Licensed Copy 

 26 August 2016 

P
age 33



 APPRAISAL SUMMARY  LICENSED COPY 

 Summary Appraisal for Phase 1 Greenfield 

 Currency in £ 

 REVENUE 
 Sales Valuation  Units  m²  Rate m²  Unit Price  Gross Sales 

 2 bed terrace - OMV  10  700.00  2,285.71  160,000  1,600,000 
 3 bed terrace - OMV  14  1,162.00  2,108.43  175,000  2,450,000 
 2 bed semi - OMV  12  900.00  2,200.00  165,000  1,980,000 
 3 bed semi - OMV  24  2,112.00  2,045.45  180,000  4,320,000 
 3 bed detached - OMV  16  1,600.00  2,300.00  230,000  3,680,000 
 4 bed detached - OMV  24  2,880.00  2,375.00  285,000  6,840,000 
 Totals  100  9,354.00  20,870,000 

 NET REALISATION  20,870,000 

 OUTLAY 

 ACQUISITION COSTS 
 Residualised Price (3.70 Ha  970,442.47 pHect)  3,590,637 

 3,590,637 
 Stamp Duty  169,032 
 Agent Fee  1.80%  64,631 

 233,663 
 CONSTRUCTION COSTS 
 Construction  m²  Rate m²  Cost 

 2 bed terrace - OMV  700.00 m²  969.00 pm²  678,300 
 3 bed terrace - OMV  1,162.00 m²  969.00 pm²  1,125,978 
 2 bed semi - OMV  900.00 m²  969.00 pm²  872,100 
 3 bed semi - OMV  2,112.00 m²  969.00 pm²  2,046,528 
 3 bed detached - OMV  1,600.00 m²  969.00 pm²  1,550,400 
 4 bed detached - OMV  2,880.00 m²  969.00 pm²  2,790,720 
 Totals  9,354.00 m²  9,064,026  9,064,026 

 Contingency  2.50%  260,591 
 S106  200,000 

 460,591 
 Other Construction 

 Sprinklers (Houses)  100.00 un  3,075.00 /un  307,500 
 Externals  15.00%  1,359,604 

 1,667,104 

 PROFESSIONAL FEES 
 Professional fees  8.00%  833,890 

 833,890 
 DISPOSAL FEES 

 Sales Agent Fee  2.50%  521,750 

  File: R:\DV Services\DEVELOPMENT CONSULTANCY SERVICES\AH Wales\Powys\LDP residential viability assessment\DVS report\Appraisal templates\Greenfield\large 100\Larger Green 100 Central v2.wcfx 
  ARGUS Developer Version: 6.50.002  Date: 26/08/2016  

P
age 34



 APPRAISAL SUMMARY  LICENSED COPY 
 Sales Legal Fee  0.50%  104,350 

 626,100 
 FINANCE 

 Debit Rate 6.500%, Credit Rate 2.000% (Nominal) 
 Land  276,133 
 Construction  8,912 
 Other  456,689 
 Total Finance Cost  741,735 

 TOTAL COSTS  17,217,746 

 PROFIT 
 3,652,254 

 Performance Measures 
 Profit on Cost%  21.21% 
 Profit on GDV%  17.50% 
 Profit on NDV%  17.50% 

 IRR  23.17% 

 Profit Erosion (finance rate 6.500%)  2 yrs 12 mths 

  File: R:\DV Services\DEVELOPMENT CONSULTANCY SERVICES\AH Wales\Powys\LDP residential viability assessment\DVS report\Appraisal templates\Greenfield\large 100\Larger Green 100 Central v2.wcfx 
  ARGUS Developer Version: 6.50.002  Date: 26/08/2016  

P
age 35



T
his page is intentionally left blank



0

Powys Local Development Plan
Topic Paper

Renewable & Low Carbon Energy

September 2016

                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                         

 

Page 37



1

Contents 

Executive Summary 2

Introduction 3

The Policy Context – EU, National, and Regional 3

The Local Policy Context 8
The Unitary Development Plan 8
The Powys Renewable Energy Assessment 9
The Powys Conjoined Windfarm Public Inquiry 10

The Key Issues 14

Review of the UDP Policies 15

Recommendations: 16

A. To Encourage the Use of Search Areas….. 16

B. To Identify the Contribution the County can Make…. 18

The Local Contribution 20

Renewable Electricity 20

Renewable Heat 21

C. To Set Local Policy to Deliver that Contribution…. 22

… At a Strategic and Local Authority Wide Scale 24

The Treatment of the Search Areas – To Safeguard or Not? 24

Use of an Energy Hierarchy 26

Opportunities for Co-location 26

… At Sub Local Authority and Micro Scale 27

The LDP Policies 27

DM15 – Design and Resources 27

RE1 – Renewable Energy 29

Page 38



2

Appendix 1:  Map of the Powys Renewable Energy Search Areas

Appendix 2: Resource summary table for renewable electricity in 2026,
taken from Powys REA (2016)

Appendix 3: Resource summary table for renewable heat in 2026, taken 
from Powys REA (2016)

Page 39



3
Page 40



4

Executive Summary
The purpose of this topic paper is to aid the examination of the Powys Local 
Development Plan (LDP) on the topic of ‘Renewable & Low Carbon Energy’. 
Guidance on LDPs: Preparing for Submission published by the Planning 
Inspectorate (2015 p.7) explains:

‘…topic papers can provide helpful context on key issues. They should 
elaborate on the LDP’s supporting text to explain, as succinctly as 
possible, how the evidence has informed the policy and why the 
proposed approach is sound.’

The Topic Paper therefore provides a context within which the LDP Policies 
relating to renewable and low carbon energy are set. This context is in the form 
of a summary of the key European, national (UK and Welsh) and local policies all 
of which have had some bearing on the development of the LDP policies.

It then presents the recommendations, along with their justification, for the detail 
of Policy RE1 as well as the other considerations that need to be borne in mind 
when considering the Policy itself.

Chief amongst the Recommendations are that Policy RE1 will be supporting the 
expectation that Strategic Scale proposals are to be confined to the Strategic 
Search Areas of which there are two wholly within the County. In addition it will 
also support an expectation that wind proposals between 5 and 25MW and solar 
proposals 0.5MW and upwards will be confined to Local Search Areas.

Secondly it presents the renewable energy contributions that the Policy will be 
supporting and presents the calculations, by way of a justification, that were used 
to determine those contributions. 

The final recommendation is to again support the expectation that local policy on 
renewable energy to meet these LDP contributions is set in a way that does not 
duplicate or overlap National Policy.
 

Page 41



5
Page 42



6

Introduction
The purpose of this topic paper is to aid the examination of the Powys Local 
Development Plan (LDP) on the topic of ‘Renewable & Low Carbon Energy’. It 
provides an overview of the current European, national and local renewable and 
low & zero carbon energy policy landscape within which the LDP policies on RE 
and Low and Zero Carbon (LZC) Technologies sit. It also importantly provides 
the context and the evidence behind the LDP policy itself. 

Throughout this topic paper, please note the following definitions and acronyms:
e - electricity
t – thermal or heat
h - hours

Installed capacity (size of 
generator)

Capacity factor 
(efficiency)

Output (hours) 
(24hrsx365days = 8760)

1kW e/t 100% 8760 kWh or 8.7 MWh  
1MW e/t 100% 8760 MWh or 8.7 GWh
1GW e/t 100% 8760GWh

The Policy Context – EU, National, and Regional

EU and UK Climate Change Commitment (2008)

In 2008, the European Union (EU) agreed to reduce CO2 emissions by 20% of 
1990 levels by 2020. In doing so the EU also committed itself to reducing 
predicted energy consumption by 20% and increasing the use of renewable fuels 
by 20% by the same time.

The UK in response agreed to achieve 15% of all energy needs through 
renewable sources by 2020. This means that by that time at least 30% of the 
UK’s electricity, 12% of our heat and 10% of our transport energy would be 
derived from renewable fuels.

UK Climate Change Act (2008) 
In the same year this Act became the first with legally binding targets that UK 
governments have to meet. It established five-yearly carbon budgets to ensure 
that these targets were met. They included a 34% reduction in greenhouse gas 
emissions by 2020 and at least an 80% reduction in greenhouse house gas 
emissions by 2050. 

The Low Carbon Transition Plan and Renewable Energy Strategy (2009) In 
2009 these two documents sought to lay out how the targets will be met. The 
Transition Plan outlines how the UK will meet the 34% reduction in emissions by 
2020. The Strategy commits the UK to meeting the EU’s Renewable Energy 
Directive (2009) as well as a legally binding target of 15% of energy from 

Page 43



7

renewable sources by 2020 through the increased use of renewable electricity, 
heat and transport.

UK Renewable Energy Road Map (2011)
This document outlines a plan to accelerate the use of renewable energy and a 
commitment to drive down the costs of that energy through the use of financial 
support mechanisms. Importantly all four of the UK administrations, including 
Wales, signed up to it in July 2011. It also includes an annual report on progress 
which has revealed that the UK is on course to meet the target of sourcing 15% 
of all energy from renewable sources by 2017.
 
Renewables Obligation (RO) 
This is the main financial device that supports large scale UK renewable energy 
generation. The RO places an obligation upon suppliers of electricity to secure a 
proportion of their electricity from renewable sources. To prove this they are 
required to buy RO Certificates from the providers of the renewable energy and 
present them to Ofgem, the independent regulatory authority for the Gas and 
Electricity Markets in the UK. RO Certificates are issued to renewable energy 
generators according to the type and cost of technology they employ to generate 
the electricity. They can be issued to generators using wind energy, hydroelectric 
schemes, photovoltaics, tidal and wave energy, geothermal and a wide variety of 
biomass schemes.

The Planning and Energy Act (2008)
The Act complements Planning Policy Wales (PPW see below) and enables 
LDPs to set reasonable constributions for the generation of energy from local 
renewable resources and low carbon energy and for energy efficiency. The Act is 
complemented by the policies contained in Planning Policy Wales (PPW) that 
cover such issues and provides a legal basis for the implementation of LDP 
policies against the national framework.

Climate Change Strategy for Wales (2010)
This strategy stresses the need for the wider public sector in Wales to lead by 
example in considering climate change in all decision-making; delivering 
increased energy efficiency, and importantly making sure that land use planning 
promotes and delivers sustainable development and increasing resilience by 
moving Wales towards a low carbon economy. It includes targets to achieve an 
annual 3% emission reduction. It also identified a number of key areas which 
were important to achieving these targets, including maximising energy 
generation, reducing energy consumption, improving energy efficiency, buildings, 
and innovation & skills.

Energy Wales: A Low Carbon Transmission (2012)
This document details the importance of making a transition to a low carbon 
economy for Wales. To achieve this it outlines three key objectives: providing 
leadership on energy in Wales (including improving the planning and consenting 
regime to create a 21st Century energy infrastructure), maximising the benefit that 

Page 44



8

energy can deliver (including for communities), and the need to act now for the 
long term future.  

The Wales Spatial Plan Update: People, Places, Futures (2008)
This document places emphasis on the importance of reducing negative 
environmental impacts, whilst identifying the significant opportunities that exist 
within Wales for both wind and tidal sources of energy. In recognising this 
opportunity it also identified where this generation should occur which in turn 
informed the Technical Advice Note 8 (see below)

Planning Policy Wales (PPW) Edition 8 (2016)
PPW commits the planning system to optimising renewable and low carbon 
energy generation, including combined heat and power schemes. It places a 
responsibility for local planning authorities to be generally supportive of 
renewable energy projects providing that environmental impacts are minimised or 
avoided and protected areas are not compromised.

Technical Advice Note (TAN) 8: Renewable Energy (2005)
This created a new planning context for wind energy generation in Wales and 
saw the creation of seven Strategic Search Areas (SSAs) across Wales where 
large scale wind farms of over 25Mw in capacity could be accommodated.

It also stresses the need to make sure that all forms of renewable energy and 
energy efficiency are supported by local planning authorities. However it also 
recognises that, in doing the above, inappropriate development that would create 
detrimental impacts upon designated and protected sites that are subject to 
statutory obligations, the historic environment and local communities should be 
either avoided or mitigated against.

Ministerial Letter (2011)
John Griffiths AM (Minister for Environment & Sustainable Development) wrote to 
all LPAs to state the maximum capacities of Welsh renewable energy schemes 
to be:
1700MW from onshore wind schemes within the SSAs, and
300MW from schemes that are under 25MW, on brownfield, community and 
locally based schemes.

The letter also spelt out the expected maximum capacities for the SSAs. Two of 
them (B: 430MW & C:98MW) are wholly within the County of Powys whilst a 
further one (SSA D:212MW) straddles the border with Ceredigion. 

SSA Maximum Capacity
B: Carno North 430MW
C: Newtown South 98MW
D: Nant-Y-Moch (part of) 212MW (part of)

Page 45



9

Technical Advice Note (TAN) 12: Design (2014)
TAN 12 provides advice relating to the need to consider good design at an early 
stage of a planning application which should always incorporate consideration of 
how any development can optimise its energy conservation and efficiency. 

WG Practice Guidance: 
Planning for Renewable and Low Carbon Energy – a Toolkit for Planners 
(2015); & 
Planning Implications of Renewable and Low Carbon Energy (2011).
The WG is committed to making sure that Wales meets the challenge of climate 
change and these two documents are aimed at enabling LPA’s to play their part. 
The 'Toolkit' describes how LDPs can incorporate and be underpinned by ‘robust, 
spatially based policies’. It enables a match between the desired policy objective 
and the most suitable evidence base required to support that objective. 

The 'Planning Implications' document ‘is a tool to support LPA’s in dealing with 
applications for renewable and low carbon developments.’ Together, these 
documents provide advice on how LPA’s can carry out their duty to ‘facilitate’ all 
forms of renewable energy, energy efficiency and conservation measures.

Both the documents cover a wide range of renewable energy technologies, with 
the 2015 version of the Toolkit including a section on the assessment of solar PV 
potential.

Importantly the guidance also clarifies the issue of community involvement and 
benefits. Community benefit is defined as a “…‘goodwill’ contribution voluntarily 
donated by a developer for the benefit of communities affected by development 
where this will have a long term impact on the environment.” Whilst these 
benefits would normally be via voluntary contributions to community funds or 
trusts, there is also scope for other, particularly non-financial, benefits that can be 
secured via the planning process through such mechanisms as Section 106 or 
the Community Infrastructure Levy. 

Ministerial Letter, December 2015
Following on from the publication of the revised Renewable Energy Toolkit (see 
above), the Minister responsible for Renewable Energy wrote to LPA’s 
requesting that they consider the need for local policies (including spatial 
representations) in support of local authority scale (Between 5MW and 25MW for 
onshore wind and between 5MW and 50MW for all other technologies) 
renewable energy applications. The letter went on to explain the expectation to 
include within the Powys Renewable Energy Assessment an assessment of the 
potential for solar developments in the county.

Wind Farm Design Guidance: Designing Wind Farms in Wales (2012)
The document is primarily concerned with Nationally Significant Infrastructure 
Projects (NSIPs), as well as Planning Appeals and Called-In Planning 
Applications projects (both >50MW). However the guidance also outlines the 

Page 46



10

design issues that are considered in a wind farm development planning 
application.

Building Regulations and Zero Carbon
3.1.45 Changes to the Building Regulations in 2013 and 2016 brought in 
challenging dwelling [CO2] emissions rate targets for residential development and 
for commercial development by 2019. By 2016, new homes will need to achieve 
a 70% reduction in CO2 emissions on or near site from energy efficiency and the 
use of Low and Zero Carbon [LZC] energy options. For large sites, district 
heating [DH] from a low carbon source is likely to be one of the most cost-
effective ways of achieving this.

3.1.46 Developers will then have to deal with their residual carbon emissions 
through the use of Allowable Solutions [AS]. One AS proposed would allow credit 
for carbon emissions where heat is exported from the site to nearby existing 
buildings via a District Heat Network. The power to make Building Regulations for 
buildings in Wales was transferred to the Welsh Ministers on 31st December, 
2011.

Wales Planning Act 2015
The act aimed to address 5 main objectives:

1. A modernised framework for the delivery of planning services, which 
includes the ability to make certain planning applications direct to the 
Welsh Ministers. This will include a new category of application: 
Developments of National Significance (DNS)(similar to the Nationally 
Significant Infrastructure Projects). The criteria for DNS are referred to 
below.

2. Strengthening the Plan-led approach via the introduction of a National 
Development Framework for land use (to replace the Wales Spatial Plan) 
and Strategic Development Plans.

3. Improved resilience via powers to enable LPA’s to work more closely 
together or even merge.

4. Improvements to the Development Management process including the 
introduction of a statutory pre-application procedure for certain 
applications.

5. Changes to the enforcement and appeals systems.

The Developments of National Significance (DNS) (Specified Criteria and 
Prescribed Secondary Consents) (Amendment) (Wales) Regulations 2016
This provides the criteria for DNS mentioned above, and amends them to remove 
confusion arising from recent changes in English regulations (see below). The 
criteria specifies that in Wales all renewable energy applications between 10MW 
and 50MW are considered to be DNS which will therefore be determined by the 
Assembly Minister.

However the Onshore Wind Generating Stations (Exemption) (England and 
Wales) Order 2016 and the Infrastructure Planning (Onshore Wind Generating 

Page 47



11

Stations) Order 2016 came into force in March 2016. This specifies that all 
applications for onshore wind generation up to the size of 350MW should be 
determined locally by LPA.

The criteria for DNS was therefore amended to ensure that all wind turbine 
applications with a generating capacity of more than 50MW will be considered to 
be DNS and therefore determined by the Minister.  

All renewable energy applications below 10MW will continue to be determined 
locally.

Well-being of Future Generations Act 2015
The Well-being of Future Generations (Wales) Act aims to improve the social,
economic, environmental and cultural well-being of Wales by making the public 
bodies listed in the Act think more about the long-term, work better with people 
and communities and each other, look to prevent problems and take a more
joined-up approach.

The Act puts in place seven Well-being Goals:
 A globally responsible Wales
 A prosperous Wales
 A resilient Wales
 A healthier Wales
 A more equal Wales
 A Wales of cohesive communities
 A Wales of vibrant culture and thriving Welsh language 

The Act places a well-being duty that public bodies in Wales will be expected, by 
law, to carry out. The well-being duty states: Each public body must carry out 
sustainable development. The action a public body takes in carrying out 
sustainable development must include: a. setting and publishing “well-being 
objectives” that are designed to maximise its contribution to achieving each of the 
well-being goals, and b. taking all reasonable steps (in exercising its functions) to 
meet those objectives.

The Local Policy Context

The Unitary Development Plan (2010)
The key policies within the UDP that relates to Renewable Energy and Energy 
Efficiency are found within the Strategic Part One section. ‘UDP SP12 Energy 
Conservation and Generation’ and Part Two (Policies E1 to E7).

SP12 is concerned with supporting both issues:

Page 48



12

A. ALL DEVELOPMENTS SHALL DEMONSTRATE THAT ENERGY
CONSERVATION AND EFFICIENCY MEASURES HAVE BEEN CONSIDERED
AND, WHERE PRACTICABLE, INCORPORATED.
B. PROPOSALS FOR ENERGY GENERATION FROM RENEWABLE 
SOURCES WILL BE APPROVED PROVIDING THAT THEY MEET THE 
LANDSCAPE, ENVIRONMENTAL, AMENITY AND OTHER REQUIREMENTS 
SET OUT IN THIS PLAN.

Both parts A & B take a positive position towards encouraging energy efficiency 
and all sources of renewable generation and places a presumption in favour of 
approval for generation schemes of energy providing they meet the requirements 
concerning Landscape, Environment and Amenity (eg ENV1 – ENV19), as well 
as other considerations wherever necessary, that are detailed elsewhere in the 
plan.

In addition to SP12 support for energy conservation measures is detailed in 
Designing Energy Efficient Development (DEED) IDCG (2008) which 
accompanied the UDP. 

In Part Two of the UDP Section 12 deals with energy and contains policies E1 to 
E7. Policies E1 and E2 anticipate a potential increase in the use of Thermal 
Power and from combustion sources. E1 deals with larger scale units (over 
5MW) burning either fossil or renewable fuels (probably wood). Policy E2 
focusses on smaller scale (below 5MW) thermal combustion sources of energy, 
such as that found in Combined Heat and Power (CHP) schemes as well as 
landfill gas, anaerobic digestion and pyrolysis of waste etc. 

Policies E3, E4 and E5 are concerned with Windpower and details the criteria 
that will be considered before approval would be granted, the removal of 
decommissioned wind turbines and the planning obligations related to Off-site 
works associated with wind turbines.

Policies E6 and E7 relate to Hydro and Solar sources of energy production 
respectively and again detail the criteria against which applications would be 
assessed before approval was given. 

Finally the issue of Energy transmission is dealt with at the end of this section 
and within UDP Policy DC12. This includes power lines, heat mains and hydro 
related pipework such as penstocks etc.  

Powys County Council Renewable Energy Assessment (2012) and Update 
(2016)
In 2012 the Council commissioned a 'Renewable Energy Assessment' (REA) to 
inform the LDP and identify the potential for renewable energy in the county. This 
in turn then informed the selection of the policy objectives which were carried 
through to the LDP. See ‘Key Issues’ section below for more information.  

Page 49



13

The REA followed the advice that was initially set out in the 'Planning for 
Renewable and Low Carbon Energy - a Toolkit for Planners'. It identified the 
potential for energy generation from wind, hydro, waste, biomass and Building 
Integrated Renewables (BIR). It also included an analysis of opportunities for 
Combined Heat and Power (CHP) within the county in the form of an Energy 
Opportunity Assessment.

In summary the 2012 REA established the existing energy capacity (in 2012), the 
predicted energy consumption (by 2026), and the potential capacity (in 2026). 
How this information has informed the development of the LDP Renewable 
Energy Policy is treated below (see Key Issues section).  

Since the update of the Welsh Government’s ‘Toolkit for Planners’ in 2015 the 
2012 REA has been updated. The 2016 update reviewed the original figures and 
also included the spatial identification of Local Search Areas for Wind Schemes 
between 0 and 25MW capacity, and all Solar Photovoltaics over 0.5MW capacity.   

The table below summarises the main findings of the REA Update 2016:

Table 1: Summary of the 2016 REA Update

Electricity
Small 
Scale

Large 
Scale

Thermal Total

A By 2012 1.8MW 212.3MW 1.8MW* A
B 2012 Combined 214.1MW 1.8MW* 215.9MW*

C By 2016 (Existing) 10.1MW 326.6MW 74.5MW C
D By 2016 Combined 

(Existing)
336.7MW 74.5MW 411.2MW

E 2012 to 2016 (C minus 
A)

8.3MW 114.3MW 72.7MW E

F 2012 to 2016 Combined 
(D minus B)

122.6MW 72.7MW 195.3MW

G Predicted Consumption 
by 2026

606GWh** 1,463GWh**

H Maximum Potential 
Capacity

2,441MW 247MW 2,688MW

I Additional Contribution 
between 2016 and 2026

599MW 29.5MW 628.5MW

J Existing and Additional 
Contribution, (for Plan 
Period 2011 to 2026) (F 
+ I)

721MW 102.2MW 823.8MW

Page 50



14

K Total by end of Plan 
Period (B+F+I)

936MW 104MW 1040MW

 * This figure likely to be an under-representation
 ** Note the different unit of measurement

The Powys Conjoined Windfarm Public Inquiry (2013 to 2015)
As a result of the Council considering and objecting to 6 separate planning 
applications (5 for large scale windfarms associated within or adjoining the 
SSA’s, plus a 6th application for improvements to transmission infrastructure) 
public inquiries were triggered. DECC decided that the best way to consider all 
six schemes was to hold a Conjoined Public Inquiry (CPI). 

Powys’ Initial Position
Powys County Council initially opposed the 6 applications and for the following 
primary reasons: Landscape and visual impacts (Llanbadarn Ffynydd, Llaithddu, 
Llandinam (Repowering), Carnedd Wen), failure to adequately mitigate against 
the harm, particularly in respect of Highways (Llanbrynmair), and poor route 
selection (Llandinam to Welshpool Overhead Line). Whilst the Council’s initial 
position at this Inquiry was to oppose the proposals this situation was later 
nuanced during the course of the CPI and the further evolution of the proposals. 
For a full account of the Council’s position and the considerations behind it 
please refer to Annex 9 (page 854 to 870) of the Inspectors Report which can be 
found at: 
https://itportal.decc.gov.uk/EIP/pages/projects/InspectorsReportEnglish.pdf . 

The Council’s position at the Inquiry will not prejudice any future applications 
which will be dealt with on their merits according to the criteria laid out in adopted 
Policy.

The Inquiry and its Outcomes
The Inquiry opened in June 2013 and concluded in May 2014 with the Inspector 
submitting their Report to the Secretary of State in December 2014. The six 
schemes considered were: 

Table 2: Summary of CPI Wind Farm Proposals with Provisional Outcomes

Scheme SSA Approximate 
Capacity 

(MW)

No.s of 
Turbines

Outcome of 
Inquiry (as at 
March 2016)

Llanbadarn Fynydd Wind 
Farm

C 59.5 17 Refused

Llanbrynmair Wind Farm B 90 30 Refused but 
decision since 

quashed
Fferm Y Wynt Llaithddu 
Wind Farm

C 62.1 27 Refused

Page 51



15

Llandinam (Repower) 
Wind Farm

C 102 34 Consented

Carnedd Wen Wind Farm B 130 - 150 50 Refused but 
decision since 

quashed
Llandinam to Welshpool 
132kV Overhead Line

N/A N/A N/A Refused

Llanbadarn Fynydd Wind Farm - Refused
The Inspector recommended refusal and the Secretary of State accepted the 
Inspector’s view that the scale of the visual effect impacts, the impacts on the 
residential amenity and the detraction from the historic character of the 
landscape in which the project would sit mean that granting consent would 
conflict the relevant provisions of Energy National Policy Statements EN-1 and 
EN-3. The Inspector also felt, and the Secretary of State agreed, that the 
proposal would not be consistent with Planning Policy Wales (Edition 7), TAN 8 
or Powys County Council’s UDP. 

Llanbrynmair Wind Farm – Refused (but Decision since quashed)
The Inspector recommended that, subject to relevant conditions being applied, 
planning permission should, in part, be granted. However the Secretary of State 
did not agree with the Inspector’s recommendation and decided to refuse 
consent on the following grounds:

The Secretary of State disagreed with the Inspector’s conclusion that the adverse 
visual and landscape effects would be outweighed by the benefits of the 
development, particularly in respect of a number of nearby residential properties 
and the views from the south eastern section of the Snowdonia National Park. 
The Secretary of State was also not persuaded that adequate mitigation 
measures existed. As far as transport was concerned, the Inspector also 
recommended consent on the understanding that shared access be made 
available via the Carnedd Wen proposal. However as the Secretary of State is 
also refusing this application (see below) then the Llanbrynmair proposal should 
also be refused.  

Since this announcement was made however the decision has since been 
quashed (see below).

Fferm Y Wynt Llaithddu Wind Farm – Refused 
The Secretary of State noted the Inspector’s view that all the impacts on 
hydrology, hydrogeology, biodiversity, cultural heritage and the transport network 
would be acceptable, subject to the imposition of relevant conditions. The 
Secretary of State also agreed with the Inspector’s reasoning and conclusions on 
the cumulative impacts of all the different applications and potential scenarios of 
consent. However the Inspector’s report recommended refusal of this application 
and the Secretary of State accepted the Inspector’s view that the Southern group 

Page 52



16

of turbines (involving 15 turbines with a hub height of 64M) in this application 
would have a harmful impact on landscape features and visual amenity, and as 
such was in conflict with National Policy Statements EN-1 and EN-3 which set 
out requirements to minimise or mitigate harm on the landscape and visual 
amenity. 

Llandinam (Repower) Wind Farm - Consented
This application sought permission to decommission the existing wind farm at 
Penrhyddlan & Llidiartywaun, nr Llandinam and construct and operate a new 
wind farm in its place. This new wind farm would consist of 34 turbines (down 
from 42) that would generate a maximum of 102MW. Whilst it is located outside 
the approximate boundaries of SSA C both the Inspector and the Secretary of 
State agreed that it should be treated as being within the SSA on account of its 
proximity to it.

The Inspector recommended that Section 36 consent for planning permission be 
granted and the Secretary of State accepted the full content of the Inspector’s 
Report including its recommendation and the reasons for it. These reasons 
included an improvement in the visual impact of the existing Wind Farm and 
other impacts that could be mitigated against.  

Carnedd Wen Wind Farm – Refused (but Decision since quashed)
This application related to a Wind Farm of 50 turbines with a generating capacity 
of between 130 and 150MW. The Inspector recommended that consent be given, 
in part, subject to conditions. However the Secretary of State disagreed with this 
recommendation and hence refused consent.

In spite of the benefits that the Secretary of State recognised, the reasons for 
refusal included the likely harm to the landscape and visual qualities of the Nant 
yr Eira Valley and the substantial visual impact affecting a number of residential 
properties in the Valley as well as upon views from the south eastern edge of the 
Snowdonia National Park, and that these impacts outweighed any potential 
benefits the development might bring.  

Since this announcement was made however the decision has since been 
quashed (see below).

Llandinam 132kV Electricity Line – Refused 
This application related to the installation of 35Km of new Overhead Line to take 
power generated by the repowered Llandinam Wind Farm (see above) to the 
Welshpool Substation. 

The Inspector recommended that if the Llandinam Repowering proposal was to 
be granted consent then a section 37 consent and deemed planning permission 
for the overhead line should be granted. However if consents were granted that 
would not take the installed capacity for SSA C beyond 160MW the Inspector 
recommended that further Strategic Environmental Impacts should be sought in 

Page 53



17

order to decide whether consent should be conditional upon the line being 
upgraded to a higher capacity.   

The Secretary of State however did not agree with the Inspector’s 
recommendations partly because they had not been convinced that the route 
chosen was the only or best way to meet the need identified as the Inspector had 
considered other routes in the Report. The Secretary of State also agreed with 
the Inspector that there was a clear conflict between the proposed development 
and existing UK and Welsh Government, and local UDP planning policy. The 
Secretary of State also accepts that the conditions proposed by the Inspector 
would mitigate many of the potential impacts if it were consented. However 
where visual and landscape impacts, and the potential harm to Scheduled 
Ancient Monuments were concerned the Secretary of State took a different view 
to that of the Inspector and refused to consent the application.
   
Position as at September 2016
Following an appeal from the two applicants the High Court has ruled that the 
Secretary of State’s decision to refuse consent for the Llanbrynmair and Carnedd 
Wen applications should be quashed. This means that the Secretary of State will 
need to look again at the decision to go against the Inspector’s recommendations 
for these two applications. Whilst the re-determination process has commenced, 
by September 2016 no decision has, as yet, been reached.

The Key Issues

Within the LDP (Section 2.4) are listed a number of county-wide Key Issues that 
relate to renewable energy and low carbon development. Key Issue 4 related to 
the need to support moves towards cheaper and more resilient and sustainable 
forms of energy. Key Issue 11 touches on the importance of the county’s 
resource for renewable energy generation. Key Issue 13 stresses the need to 
protect the county’s important landscapes from visual impact. Key Issue 28 
stresses the importance of energy efficiency for tackling fuel-poverty and Key 
Issue 43 & 44 highlight the need to reduce the energy requirements for 
development and the importance of supporting the utilisation of the county’s 
renewable energy resource wherever the cumulative effects are acceptable. Both 
Key Issue 11 and 44 are underlined by the findings of the Powys Renewable 
Energy Assessment (2012) (see above).

As a result, the key LDP (2015) objectives for renewable and low carbon energy 
are:

LDP Objective 4 – Climate Change and Flooding: ‘to support the transition 
to a low carbon…Powys...’

Page 54



18

LDP Objective 5 – Energy and Water: ‘to support the conservation of 
energy and water and to generate energy from appropriately located 
renewable resources where acceptable…[in order to]… deliver the 
county’s contribution to the national targets. 

LDP Objective 6 – Vibrant economy: ‘to support a diverse, robust and 
vibrant economy for Powys…’

LDP Objective 10 – Important Assets: ‘to support the operation and 
development of regionally and nationally important assets.’

LDP Objective 11 – Natural Heritage: ‘to conserve and protect Powys’ 
land, air and water resources…’

LDP Objective 13 – The Landscape and the Historic Environment: … to 
protect, preserve and/ or enhance the distinctive landscapes of Powys and 
adjoining areas...’ And ‘… the distinctive historic environment, heritage 
and cultural assets of Powys.. [where they are] ..not statutorily protected… 
and … ensure that development respects local distinctiveness.

LDP Objective 16 – Community well-being: ‘to promote development that 
supports community wellbeing and cohesion...’

Review of the UDP Policies

Para 5.2.2.2 of the Local Development Plan Manual (2016) states that “Existing 
planning policies should also be reviewed...” The Planning Policy that is currently 
in force in Powys is the UDP which includes policies relating to renewable energy 
and energy efficiency (see Local Policy context above).

A review of these policies quickly reveals that the policy landscape, language 
and aspirations surrounding the subject have changed considerably since the 
UDP was adopted. Policy SP12 includes ‘energy efficiency’ which, as a phrase 
has largely been superseded by more ambitious expectations and terminology 
that is reflected in the policy landscape. Terms such as low and zero carbon 
(LZC) relate to energy efficiency as well as other concepts such as passive 
building design, etc.

Additionally the Policies E1 to E7 are also in need of updating to reflect this 
continually developing policy situation and realities of the renewable energy 
sector as a whole. For instance the anticipated increase in the use of thermal 
power has not, so far, materialised. Whereas interest in wind has continued to 
dominate the proposals submitted over the last few years. It may also be the 
case that interest in Solar PV may well increase over the lifetime of the LDP, as 
experience elsewhere in the UK recently demonstrates.

Page 55



19

For these reasons the UDP policies all need revising to ensure that the policies 
appearing in the LDP reflect the expectations of this more nuanced policy 
landscape and the current capabilities of the sector.

Allied to this consideration is the fact that in any technological arena new 
developments will always continue to increase and improve capabilities and 
performance, and may even introduce hitherto unknown technologies during the 
lifetime of the Plan.

Consequently, in replacing the UDP policies, it is important to make sure that the 
new LDP policies are not only up to date but continue to be positively worded 
and supportive of the need for renewable and low carbon solutions, but also, as 
far as can be achieved, versatile enough to be future-proof and ‘fit-for-purpose’ in 
the face of new technological developments that may appear as the efforts to 
tackle the causes of climate change continue to gather pace.

Recommendations

This topic paper presents three recommendations in respect of the LDP Policy on 
renewable and low carbon energy:

A. To make use of Local Search Areas (LSA) for the siting of wind energy 
generation schemes up to 25MW and solar electricity generation over 
0.5MW and the Strategic Search Areas (SSA) in Technical Advice Note 8: 
Renewable Energy (TAN8) for the siting of all onshore wind schemes over 
25MW. 

B. To identify the contribution that the County can make to meeting the 
national targets for the generation of renewable energy and heat as stated 
in the Low Carbon Transition Plan and Renewable Energy Strategy of 
2009. 

C. To set local policy on renewable energy to deliver the County’s 
contribution without duplicating or overlapping with National Policy. 

A.  To make use of Local Search Areas (LSA) for the siting of wind energy 
generation schemes up to 25MW and solar electricity generation over 
0.5MW and the Strategic Search Areas (SSA) in Technical Advice Note 8: 
Renewable Energy (TAN8) for the siting of all onshore wind schemes over 
25MW.

The Renewable Energy Toolkit (2015) emphasises the need for LPAs to make 
sure their LDPs include spatially based policies. It also included a new section 

Page 56



20

explaining how LPAs can assess the potential for solar farm developments in 
their areas. The Ministerial Letter of December 2015 underlined both these points 
by drawing the attention of LPAs to the need to allocate local areas of search for 
local-authority scale renewable energy schemes, as well as the need for this 
work to include solar development potential.

As a consequence the updating of the REA (2016) also included the identification 
of Local Search Areas (LSA) for both wind and solar electricity generation 
schemes. 

The LSAs for wind are intended to accommodate any wind energy generation 
scheme up to 25MW in size. Schemes that are over that capacity are expected to 
be accommodated within the Strategic Search Areas (see below).

The LSAs for Solar are intended to accommodate any solar photovoltaic 
generation scheme over the threshold of 0.5MW. 

The methodology for identifying both kinds of LSA is detailed in the REA (2016). 
Neither the wind or solar LSAs provide any guarantee that applications for 
schemes will be approved within them, nor do they preclude applications from 
elsewhere in the county from being considered. Neither kind of LSA are 
safeguarded (see discussion below). As such they represent the optimum areas 
of the county where it is thought such schemes would be most viable (in terms of 
the stated environmental constraints and availability of resource, etc.)

The LSAs are included in detail within the REA (2016) as well as, in less detail, 
on the LDP’s Proposals Maps and in the Appendices of this Topic Paper. For 
reference they are labelled as follows:

Wind LSA Solar LSA
W1 East of Lake Vyrnwy S1 Carno
W2 South West of SSA C S2 South of Llanidloes
W3 Radnor Forest West S3 Llanbister
W4 West of Hundred House S4 Nantmel
W5 North of Beulah S5 East of Builth
W6 East of Aberedw S6 North of Brecon
W7 South of Builth Wells S7 Ystradgynlais
   
  
Welsh Government’s (WG) Planning Policy Wales (PPW) (2016 p181) explains 
that the most appropriate scale at which to identify areas for large scale onshore 
wind energy development is at an all-Wales level through the identification of 
SSA.

To support this TAN8 explains:

Page 57



21

‘The SSAs for onshore wind as identified on Maps 1-8 [of the TAN]…must 
be referred to in local development plans and, if refined, incorporated into 
local development plan proposals maps…’ 

With regard to refinement of the SSA in Powys, in 2006 and 2008 PCC 
commissioned two refinement exercises regarding the TAN8 SSA B & C. Neither 
resulted in formal refinement of the SSA, although each resulted in consultation 
being undertaken on a draft Interim Development Control Guidance Note (IDCG). 
The 2008 IDCG was agreed for development control use concurrent with the 
consultation (PCC, 2008, p6). The results of the consultation were never formally 
considered by the County Council and the IDCG was not confirmed as 
Supplementary Planning Guidance (SPG) on adoption of the Unitary 
Development Plan in 2010 (PCC, 2010, pp5-6). Furthermore, given the more 
detailed assessments before the Mid Wales conjoined wind farms public inquiry,  
Counsel for PCC (2014, p40) concluded  that the work (i.e. the refinement 
exercises) must be ‘approached with caution’ to the extent that ‘it should be given 
very little weight’. 

Subsequently the Mid Wales conjoined wind farms public inquiry has provided a 
further opportunity to consider a comprehensive assessment of the combined 
landscape and visual effects of wind turbine proposals and also of the strategic 
and detailed cumulative assessment of large scale indirect impacts on the setting 
and significance of heritage assets in and around the SSA.

WG TAN8 (2005 p7) explains that local planning authorities may wish to 
establish suitable criteria for separation distances between schemes and from 
the perimeter of existing wind power schemes or the SSAs. The LDP is not, 
however, prescriptive on separation distances, leaving them to be determined on 
a case by case basis.

There is opportunity to prepare SPG on renewable energy once the LDP has 
been adopted.

B. To identify the contribution that the County can make to meeting the 
national targets for the generation of renewable energy and heat as stated 
in the UK Low Carbon Transition Plan and Renewable Energy Strategy of 
2009 

LDP Objective 5 cites the need for the county to make a contribution to the 
national renewable energy generation targets and the REA Update (2016) 
identifies that this contribution could come from an additional 973GWh of 
electricity generation plus a further 75GWh from renewable heat. 

PCC’s Regeneration Strategy (2011, pp51-56) includes regeneration priority 5 – 
harnessing Powys’ natural assets, which suggests Powys could become the 

Page 58



22

'home' of renewables technology, innovation and development in Wales. This is a 
positive message backing the WG’s proactive message. 

The requirement to identify the renewable energy contribution comes from PPW 
(2016, para 12.8.9, p180) which explains that: 

‘[Local Planning Authorities should consider] the contribution that their 
area can make towards developing and facilitating renewable and low 
carbon energy and ensuring that development plan policies enable this 
contribution to be delivered.’

The UK Renewable Energy Roadmap Update 2013 shows the UK is making 
“very good progress” against the overall target of 15% renewable energy 
consumption by 2020. It also explains that renewable electricity generation in 
Wales increased from 2.3 to 2.4TWh in the year to June 2013, an increase of 
1%.

The UK HM Government (2009, p8) lead scenario to meet the overall renewable 
energy consumption target of 15% by 2020 is to generate 30% of electricity from 
renewables, to generate 12% of heat from renewables and 10% of transport 
energy from renewables.

The contributions that Powys can make towards the national targets in the LDP 
are derived from the evidence in PCC’s Powys Renewable and Low Carbon 
Energy Assessment (REA). The need to undertake this study comes from WG 
PPW (2016, pp182-183): 

12.8.18 Local planning authorities should facilitate local authority-wide 
scale renewable energy in development plans by undertaking an 
assessment of the opportunities and potential for renewable energy in the 
area.

12.9.2 Local planning authorities should guide appropriate renewable and 
low carbon energy development by undertaking an assessment of the 
potential of all renewable energy resources and renewable and low carbon 
energy opportunities within their area and include appropriate policies in 
development plans.

12.9.5 Policies for strategic renewable energy development in areas 
outside SSAs, if appropriate, should be included in development plans 
informed by local authority renewable energy assessments.

Table 8 in PCC’s REA (2016, p15) predicts the total energy consumption for the 
Local Planning Authority (LPA) area in 2026 (the end of the plan period) as 
606GWh of electricity and 1,463GWh of heat. 

Page 59



23

Tables 9 and 10 in PCC’s REA (2016, p17) show the existing capacity for 
generating renewable electricity is 524GWh. This equates to approx. 86% of the 
total predicted consumption in 2020, in excess of the UK HM Government (2009, 
p8) lead scenario of 30% to meet the 2020 target. 

Tables 9 and 10 in PCC’s REA (2016, p17) show the existing capacity for 
generating renewable heat is 28GWh. This equates to less than 2% of the total 
predicted consumption in 2020, well below of UK HM Government (2009, p8) 
lead scenario of 12% to meet the 2020 target.

The Local Contribution

It is clear that the LPA area is contributing significantly towards the generation of 
renewable electricity, far less so towards the generation of renewable heat. 
Nevertheless PPW (2016, p183) explains that LPA should plan positively for all 
forms of renewable and low energy development using up to date and 
appropriate evidence. It is in this context that the REA from 2012 was updated in 
order to ensure that the LDP RE policy was based on up to date evidence. 

The REA (2016, p4) calculated that the total existing renewable energy capacity 
in Powys amounted to 336.7MW of electrical power, and 74.5MW of thermal 
power 

The predicted energy consumption for the end of the plan period in 2026 was 
calculated to be 606GWh of electricity, and 1,463GWh of heat (REA 2016, p3).

The REA (2016, p4) undertook an area wide resource assessment to provide an 
indication of the total potential installed capacity for different technologies that 
could be supported by the available resource. The maximum potential (ie the 
absolute maximum that the County could generate if there were no constraints 
and without any cumulative concerns etc.) renewable electrical and thermal 
installed capacity across Powys in 2026 was calculated as circa 2,441MW for 
electricity, and circa 247MW for thermal energy.

How these figures translate themselves into the contribution is outlined below.

The Renewable Electricity Contribution

Table 29 of the REA (2016 p40), which is reproduced in Appendix 2, details how 
the different renewable electricity technologies could contribute towards the 
maximum potential installed capacity. For each technology an appropriate 
percentage of the total potential was selected. These percentages were based 
on a variety of factors depending upon the technology. These included previous 
roll out rates, presence or absence of incentives, ease of deployment, costs, etc. 

Page 60



24

as well as the likely scale of impact on their surroundings. As such the 
percentages represent what is thought to be appropriate maximum contributions 
from each technology. Based on these percentages Table 29 calculates what 
each technology could contribute in terms of GWh.

Whilst Table 29 of the REA presents some example percentages, it is felt that the 
percentage for Solar PV in particular is too high in this table. In light of the 
difficulties currently being experienced across the county with respect to the grid 
capacity it is proposed that a 25% contribution, instead of the suggested 50%, for 
solar is considered to be more achievable. This would reduce the contribution 
made by solar from 540GWh listed in Table 29 down to 270Gwh.
 
The table below translates these (modified) amounts of GWh into an indicative 
amount of MW that would be needed on the ground, across the county, in order 
to meet that percentage and make the required contribution.

Table 3: Renewable Electricity Technologies. MW Required to Deliver 
Contribution.

a b c d

Technology GWh
GWhx1000= 

MWh
24hrsx 

365days =

a 
divided 
by b =

Capacity 
Factor

c divided 
by d = 

MW
Biomass 18           18,000 8760     2.05 0.9             2.3 
Energy from 
Waste 3             3,000 8760     0.34 0.9             0.4 
Hydropower 14           14,000 8760     1.60 0.37             4.3 
Landfill Gas 0                    -   8760          -   0.6                -   
Wind Power 665        665,000 8760   75.91 0.27         281.2 
Solar PV 270        270,000 8760   30.82 0.1         308.2 
Other 0                    -   8760          -   0.45                -   
BIR 3             3,000 8760     0.34 0.1             3.4 
       

 Total 973GWh
    

973,000MWh         599MW 

    
From this it can be seen that in order to deliver 973GWh of renewable electrical 
energy by 2026 an additional, and indicative, 599MW will need to be installed 
across the county. It will be seen from above that the bulk of this is anticipated to 
come from Solar PV installations, with wind contributing less than the amount 
that is currently installed.

Table 29 in the REA (2016) also presents this figure as a percentage of the 
projected total electrical energy demand for the county by 2026. However with 
the reduced percentage for the solar contribution taken into account the 
indicative 599MW of renewable electrical energy generation would, if deployed 

Page 61



25

by the end of the Plan period, mean the county would be contributing 106% of 
the 606GWh demand that is projected. This would see the county becoming a 
net exporter of renewable electricity. 

The Renewable Heat Contribution

Table 30 of the REA (2016 p41), which is reproduced here in Appendix 3, details 
how the different renewable electricity technologies could contribute towards the 
maximum potential installed capacity. For each technology a likely percentage of 
the total potential was selected. These percentages were based on a variety of 
factors depending upon the technology. These included previous roll out rates, 
presence or absence of incentives, ease of deployment, costs, etc. as well as the 
likely scale of impact on their surroundings. As such the percentages represent 
what is thought to be appropriate maximum contributions from each technology

Based on these percentages Table 30 calculated what each technology could 
contribute in terms of GWh. The tables below translate these amounts of GWh 
into an indicative amount of MW that would be needed on the ground across the 
county in order to meet that percentage and make the required contribution.

Table 4: Renewable Thermal Technologies. MW Required to Deliver 
Contribution.  

a b c d

Technology GWh
GWhx1000 

= MWh
24hrs x 365 

days =

a 
divided 
by b =

Capacity 
Factor

c divided 
by d = MW

Biomass 34           34,000 8760     3.88 0.5             7.8 
Energy from  
Waste 5             5,000 8760     0.57 0.5             1.1 
BIR 36           36,000 8760     4.10 0.2           20.5 
       

 Total 75GWh 75,000MWh    
          

29.5MW 

From this it can be seen that in order to deliver 75GWh of renewable thermal 
energy by 2026 an additional, and indicative, 29.5MW will need to be installed 
across the county. It will be seen from above that over two thirds of this is 
anticipated to come from Building Integrated Renewables (BIR).

Table 30 in the REA (2016) also presents this figure as a percentage of the 
projected total thermal energy demand for the county by 2026. If an indicative 
29.5MW of renewable thermal energy generation is deployed by then, the county 
would be contributing just 5% of the 1,463GWh demand that is projected. 

It is important that the LDP balances a positive approach towards renewable 
energy required by WG PPW (2016, p180) with minimising landscape and visual 

Page 62



26

impact from renewable energy developments elsewhere in the LPA area. This is 
a key component of LDP Policy RE1.

C. To set local policy on renewable energy to deliver the County’s 
contribution without duplicating or overlapping with National Policy

WG PPW (2016, p20) explains that national planning policies should not be 
repeated in LDPs. Instead, LDPs should explain how national planning policies 
apply to the local area. Guidance on LDPs: Preparing for Submission published 
by the Planning Inspectorate (2015 p.3) explains the LDP should be a concise, 
focussed document which conveys essential messages in a clear and engaging 
way. It should not tell the story of how the plan was prepared, nor include a 
lengthy recitation of the legislative background. These principles underpin the 
policy approach in the LDP.

WG PPW (2016, p182) describes the four scales of renewable and low carbon 
energy development. These are repeated in the table below as they underpin the 
scope of the planning policy approach to renewable energy development in 
Wales.

Table 2. PPW scales of renewable energy development.

Scale of 
development

Threshold (electricity and heat)

Strategic Over 25MW for onshore wind and over 50MW for all other 
technologies

Local Authority-
wide

Between 5MW and 25MW for onshore wind and between 
5MW and 50MW for all other technologies

Sub Local Authority Between 50kW and 5MW

Micro Below 50kW

WG PPW (2016, p184) explains that development plans should encourage Sub 
Local Authority scale schemes and clearly set out the local criteria against which 
such proposals will be evaluated.

Alongside the expectation to include Local Search Areas within the LDP that 
emerged in the Renewable Energy Toolkit (2016), the ‘Developments of National 
Significance (DNS)’ regulations (2016) provided the criteria mentioned in the 
Wales Planning Act (2015) against which DNS proposals would be determined.

Taken together all of these policy developments have clearly changed the ‘policy 
landscape’ within which the LDP operates. The tables below summarise, for both 

Page 63



27

wind and solar developments, how the scales mentioned above relate to the new 
location designations and who they will be determined by, in light of these 
changes.

Table 5: Summary of Wind Development Scales, Locations & Determination

Wind 0 50KW 5MW 10MW 25MW+
Scale:      
Micro      
Sub Local Authority      
Local Authority Wide      
Strategic     …
      
Location:      
Applications considered 
across County      
Applications considered in 
LSAs      
Applications considered in 
SSAs     …
      
Determined by:      
LDP Policy      
Welsh Government     …

Table 6: Summary of Solar Development Scales, Locations & Determination

Solar 0 50KW 0.5MW 5MW 10MW 25MW
Scale:       
Micro       
Sub Local Authority       
Local Authority Wide       
Strategic      …
       
Location:       
Applications considered 
across County       
Applications considered in 
LSAs      …
Applications considered in 
SSAs*      …
       
Determined by:       

Page 64



28

LDP Policy       
Welsh Government      …

Strategic and Local Authority Wide Scales

The Treatment of the Search Areas – to Safeguard or Not?

Strategic Search Areas
With regard to the Strategic Search Areas, TAN8 (para 2.10) states that LPAs 
‘should take an active approach to developing local policy for SSAs in order to 
secure the best outcomes’. It goes on to say that some of the local issues that 
could be addressed in this way include ‘safeguarding wind farm sites’, and that 
‘LPAs should be aware that other developments could sterilise land for wind 
power proposals’ (p7). There seems to be some ambiguity within this wording, as 
it uses the word ‘sites’ as opposed to (search) ‘areas’. ‘Sites’ could mean 
locations with extant Planning Permission for wind farm developments, as well as 
existing and operating installations, however this latter interpretation would 
provide its own safeguarding as a form of existing development. There is also the 
question surrounding the ‘other developments’. Given that the SSAs are in open 
countryside, away from existing development, and where new development is 
strictly limited already it is felt that the most likely form of development that could 
‘sterilise’ the SSA would be proposals for other renewable energy technologies or 
for wind schemes that possess a smaller capacity than the 25MW threshold.

Given that Powys has a large amount of its land area contained within three 
SSAs (B (Carno North), C (Newtown South) and a part of D (Nant-y-Moch)) it is 
unrealistic to provide safeguarding through a blanket ban on all development 
within those areas. A more pragmatic approach would be to place a presumption 
against any development that would constrain the primary purpose of the SSAs, 
which is to accommodate Strategic scale wind farm schemes of 25MW and over. 
This is explained in more detail within the Renewable Energy SPG.

It is noted also that the presence of SSA’s does not preclude the consideration of 
applications for proposals of 25MW or above from elsewhere in the county, 
beyond the boundaries of the SSAs, and nor do they guarantee the permitting of 
applications within them.

Local Search Areas
The need to identify local areas of search is detailed in the Renewable Energy 
Toolkit (2015) and reiterated in the Ministerial Letter of December 2015. The 
process of identifying them is similar to that of the SSAs and is detailed in the 
Renewable Energy Toolkit (2015).

The process of identifying LSAs resulted in a comparatively smaller area of land 
being designated for wind than for solar. Secondly, given the Capacity Factors 
stated in the Renewable Energy Toolkit, a MW of wind energy is likely to be more 

Page 65



29

efficient than a MW of solar energy. As a result the REA (2016) recommended 
that the Wind LSAs should be safeguarded over those for solar. However further 
consideration suggested treating both the wind and solar LSAs on an equal 
footing.

Chief amongst these considerations lies the fact that, for the LSAs (as with the 
SSA’s) not all the land within them is suitable for renewable energy deployment. 
This creates a problem if wind were to be given primacy over solar wherever the 
two LSAs overlap. For example, if wind were to be given primacy over solar, a 
refusal for a wind development application would effectively render that land 
redundant for anything else and in so doing limit the likelihood of achieving the 
contribution from solar PV.     

Yet arguments for some form of safeguarding remain persuasive. For instance, 
the SSAs contain land that is particularly suitable for large, Strategic scale, 
proposals, and safeguarding would ensure that this land is not lost to smaller 
scale proposals. Also, with a smaller area of land suitable for wind proposals up 
to 25MW, which are more efficient than solar technology, there is a need to 
provide some sort of priority for this technology, over and above the more widely 
available land for solar proposals which are ultimately less obtrusive in the 
landscape, and therefore may well be easier to provide consent for.

An Alternative to Safeguarding - the use of an Energy Hierarchy?

Another approach, and of perhaps more use than safeguarding, is the idea of 
prioritising within the Search Areas. In this instance some form of energy 
hierarchy could perform the same role as safeguarding, but without the risk of 
leaving suitable land redundant. 

For example, in the instances where land is covered by only one kind of search 
area, the technology associated with that search area would have a presumption 
in favour of development over and above the technologies associated with other 
search areas. So within a solar LSA any application for other technologies, of any 
size, would have a presumption against permission if it constrained the primary 
role of the solar LSA. Vice versa would apply for either of the wind search areas, 
to avoid a solar proposal acting to ‘sterilise’ that land for future wind 
development.

In the instances where wind and solar LSAs overlap with each other then there 
would be a presumption in favour of permitting wind proposals at the expense of 
solar. This is justified by the greater efficiency of wind and the wider availability of 
land for solar developments. 

Finally, in the instances where Solar LSAs overlap with an SSA, then again the 
presumption would always be in favour of wind.

Page 66



30

Further details of this approach will be contained within the Renewable Energy  
SPG.

Opportunities for Co-location

The use of a hierarchy in this way also presents the opportunity for co-location in 
certain instances. For example, where land, in either a wind SSA or LSA (or 
indeed anywhere else), has already been consented for a wind development, the 
land beneath it may also be suitable to accommodate solar development, 
provided of course that it did not constrain the already consented wind 
development’s operation. This would present a number of advantages, chief 
amongst which would be the most efficient use of land, but there would also be 
benefits, in many instances, in terms of being able to double up with the 
infrastructure (buildings, access tracks and transmission, etc.) that has been 
provided for the existing wind development. 

Further details of this approach will be contained within the Renewable Energy  
SPG.
 

Sub Local Authority and Micro Scale

WG TAN6: Planning for Sustainable Rural Communities (2010) explains that 
planning authorities should seek to strengthen rural communities by helping to 
ensure that existing residents can obtain a higher proportion of their energy 
needs from local renewable sources (2010, p8). 

WG TAN8 (2005, pp7-8) accepts that outside SSA ‘there is a balance to be 
struck between the desirability of renewable energy and landscape protection.’

The approach taken by Policy RE1 and DM15 (see below) towards 
developments of a Micro or Sub Local Authority Scale is generally supportive 
whilst seeking to minimise individual and cumulative adverse effects on 
landscape and visual amenity. 

The Policies 

The objective of Welsh national planning policy on renewable and low carbon 
energy is positive whilst accepting the need to minimise adverse impacts on the 
environment, health and communities.

‘to promote the generation and use of energy from renewable and low 
carbon energy sources at all scales and promote energy efficiency, 

Page 67



31

especially as a means to secure zero or low carbon developments and to 
tackle the causes of climate change. (PPW, 2016, p173).

The PCC LDP (2016, as amended by Further Focussed Changes, September 
2016) contains the following general policy which supports both the WG PPW 
and Powys LDP objectives highlighted above.

Policy DM15 – Design and Resources 

Development proposals must be able to demonstrate a good quality design 
and shall have regard to the qualities and amenity of the surrounding area, 
local infrastructure and resources. 

Proposals will only be permitted where all of the following criteria, where 
relevant, are satisfied: ….

13.  It demonstrates a sustainable and efficient use of resources by 
including measures to achieve:   

i.   Energy conservation and efficiency. 
ii.  The supply of electricity and heat from renewable sources. 
iii. Water conservation and efficiency. 
iv. Waste reduction.   

 
14.  Investigations have been undertaken into the technical feasibility 

and financial viability of community and/or district heating networks 
wherever the development proposal’s Heat Demand Density 
exceeds 3MW/Km2. The list below represents the main options to 
be considered in descending order of preference: 

i.   Connection to existing Combined Heat and Power (CHP) / 
Combined Cooling Heat and Power (CCHP) distribution 
networks. 

ii.  Site wide renewable (and part renewable) CHP/CCHP and 
biomass (locally sourced) solutions. 

iii. Site wide gas-fired CHP/CCHP. 
iv. Site wide renewable (and part renewable) community heating / 

cooling and biomass (locally sourced) solutions.  
v.  Site wide gas-fired community heating / cooling. 
vi. Individual building integrated renewable energy heating 

technology (non-domestic buildings only). 

This policy requires all development to include measures to achieve supply of 
electricity and heat from renewable sources. Criterion 13.ii) in particular, is 
important in helping to meet the contributions outlined in the previous section.

Page 68



32

Criterion 14 is also important as a means through which developers will be 
encouraged to consider the potential deployment of a range of options that would 
deliver renewable or low carbon thermal energy.

Only those developments that exceed a Heat Density Demand of 3MW/Km2 
would be required to make this consideration. A simple calculation involving the 
numbers of units involved in a development, the floor space, and the use of a 
benchmark figure will determine whether a development crosses this threshold. 
The methodology for carrying out this calculation will be detailed within the 
forthcoming SPG on Renewable Energy.

It is anticipated that, assuming a development exceeds this threshold and 
undertakes the investigation into the technical feasibility and financial viability of 
deploying the options, the preferred option would only be implemented if it were 
demonstrated to be technically feasible and financially viable. Using this 
approach ensures that these options recommend themselves, rather than being 
made a requirement which all development would have to investigate as this 
would adversely affect the viability of proposed development.

Policy RE1– Renewable Energy

Impacts of renewable energy development arise from both the primary 
infrastructure and the associated development such as means and method of 
transmission, security and highway improvements and construction. 
Development may also lead to the change of land use. 

The LDP and complementary legislation provide for the avoidance or appropriate 
mitigation of negative impacts. There are many environmental, social and 
economic considerations including: 

Environmental: Disturbance and damage to fauna (e.g. bird strike), flora, soils, 
water quality and flow, habitat connectivity, landscape features, the night time 
environment, built heritage and archaeological assets, tranquillity and stillness, 
landscape character and views.

Social: Safety and human health from topple, disturbance and distraction (e.g. 
noise, glare and flashing) and highways works. Loss of agricultural, amenity, and 
recreation land, and of Rights of Way. Military training aviation.

Economic: Productivity / viability of project, interference with neighbouring land 
uses (e.g. strategic energy developments), industry based on landscape quality 
(in Powys Tourism) and secondary impacts on associated economic 
opportunities. Highways congestion and minerals safeguarding.

Decision making requires a balance between public benefit and harm. The policy 
does not include provision for environmental compensation. If appropriate 

Page 69



33

mitigation is not achievable and compensatory measures are required it is a good 
sign that the development would be unacceptable. 

The first and second parts of the policy relate to wind farm developments at 
Strategic (over 25MW) and Local Authority wide (5 to 25MW) Scales, using the 
SSA and LSA approach. The third part relates to smaller scale (Micro and Sub 
Local Authority) Scale proposals whether they be from private or community-
based sources. The fourth part is concerned with solar applications at all scales. 
Finally the fifth part provides the criteria that every proposal, irrespective of scale 
or technology, will be considered against. These include the landscape and 
visual impacts (See below). The supporting text for the policy is provided in the 
PCC LDP (2015 as amended by Focussed Changes Jan 2016).

The wording of the LDP RE1 policy is as follows:

Policy RE1 – Renewable Energy

Proposals for renewable and low carbon energy development, either on 
their own or in combination with existing or approved development, will be 
permitted subject to the following criteria: 
 

1. Large scale wind farm developments (greater than 25MW) will be 
expected to be located within the boundaries of the Strategic Search 
Areas (SSAs). 

2. Proposals for wind developments (0 – 25MW) will be considered 
within the boundaries of Local Search Areas (Wind) subject to there 
being no unacceptable impact on visual amenity or landscape 
character in accordance with Policy DM3 - Landscape, through the 
number, scale, size, design and siting of turbines and associated 
infrastructure, and where they demonstrate an acceptable level of 
cumulative impact.  

3. Small scale and/or community-based wind turbine proposals (less 
than 5MW) will be considered in appropriate locations but will be 
required to demonstrate that impacts are confined to the local scale 
and with acceptable cumulative impact.  

4. Applications for Solar PV Farms (greater than 0.5MW) are 
encouraged in Local Search Areas (Solar). Applications for small 
scale stand-alone Solar PV developments (less than 0.5MW) are 
encouraged in appropriate locations but will be required to 
demonstrate that impacts are confined to the local scale and with 
acceptable cumulative impact and are not incompatible with other 
forms of development. 

Page 70



34

5. All renewable energy or low carbon energy development proposals 
will be required to demonstrate that:   

a) Measures have been taken to minimise impacts on visual 
amenity, biodiversity, and the natural and historic environment;  

b) There will be no unacceptable impacts on residential amenity;  
c) The development will not compromise highway safety;  
d) The development would not interfere with radar, air traffic 

control systems, telecommunications links, television reception, 
radio communication and emergency services communications; 
and  

e) There are satisfactory proposals in place for site restoration as 
appropriate.   

Supplementary Planning Guidance (SPG) will be produced to support the 
Renewable Energy policy.

Summary:

This Topic Paper provides a context within which the LDP Policies relating to 
renewable and low carbon energy are set. This context is in the form of a 
summary of the key European, national (UK and Welsh) and local policies all of 
which have had some bearing on the development of the LDP policies.

It then presents the recommendations, along with their justification, for the detail 
of Policy RE1 as well as the other considerations that need to be borne in mind 
when considering the Policy itself.

Chief amongst the Recommendations are that Policy RE1 will be supporting the 
expectation that Strategic Scale proposals are to be confined to the Strategic 
Search Areas of which there are two wholly within the County. In addition it will 
also support an expectation that wind proposals between 5 and 25MW and solar 
proposals 0.5MW and upwards will be confined to Local Search Areas.

Secondly it presents the renewable energy contributions that the Policy will be 
supporting and presents the calculations, by way of a justification, that were used 
to determine those contributions. 

The final recommendation is to again support the expectation that local policy on 
renewable energy to meet these LDP contributions is set in a way that does not 
duplicate or overlap National Policy.
 
Appendix 1: Map of the Powys Renewable Energy Search Areas

Page 71



35
Page 72



36

APPENDIX 2

Table 29 of the Powys REA (2016): Resource summary table for renewable electricity in 2026

Energy 
Technology

Existing 
Installed 
Capacity 
[MW]

Potential 
Installed 
Capacity 
[MW]

Capacity 
Factor

Existing Energy 
Generated [MWh]

Additional Potential 
for Energy 
Generated [MWh]

Percentage 
delivered by 
2026

Total Additional 
Potential for 
Renewable Energy 
Delivered by 2026 
[GWh]

Biomass [CHP] 2.5 46 0.90 19,710 362,664 5% 18

Energy from 
Waste

0.0 7 0.90 0 55,188 5% 3

Hydropower 8.8 15 0.37 28,523 48,618 30% 14

Landfill Gas 2.1 0 0.60 11,038 0 100% 0

Wind Power 312.7 1,124 0.27 739,598 2,658,485 25% 665

Solar PV Farms - 1,234 0.10 - 1,080,984 50% 540

Other 0.5 0 0.45 1,971 0 100% 0

BIR 10.1 15 0.10 8,848 13,140 25% 3

Total 336.7 2,441 - 809,688 4,219,079 - 1,243

Projected electrical energy demand [2026] 606

Percentage electricity demand in 2026 potentially met by renewable energy resource 205%

P
age 73



37

Appendix 3 

Table 30 of the Powys REA (2016): Resource summary table for renewable heat in 2026

Energy 
Technology

Existing 
Installed 
Capacity [MW]

Potential 
Installed 
Capacity 
[MW]

Capacity 
Factor

Existing Energy 
Generated [MWh]

Additional Potential 
for Energy 
Generated [MWh]

Percentage 
delivered by 
2026

Total Additional 
Potential for 
Renewable Energy 
Delivered by 2026 
[GWh]

Biomass [CHP] 5.7 154 0.5 24,966 674,520 5% 34

Energy from 
Waste

0.0 11 0.5 0 48,180 10% 5

BIR 60.4 83 0.2 120,538 145,416 25% 36

Total 66.1 248 - 145,504 868,116 - 75

Projected thermal energy demand [2026] 1,463

Percentage thermal demand in 2026 potentially met by renewable energy resource 5%

P
age 74



Building Engineering  Powys County Council  August 2016 

  

Renewable and Low Carbon 
Energy Assessment 
 

 

 

 
 

Page 75



Prepared by:  ..... Prepared by: .............................  
     Jonathan Milne Joshua Collier 
 Consultant Engineer                 Sustainability Placement 
 
 

Checked by:  ................ Verified by:  ...........................  
 Simon Hartley Sarah Gealy 
 Regional Director Regional Director 
 
 
 
 
 
Renewable and Low Carbon Energy Assessment 
 

Rev No Comments Checked 
by 

Checked 
by Date 

1 Final Draft  SH  SG 03/08/2016
  

 
 
 
I Callaghan Square,, Cardiff, CF10 5BT 
Telephone: 029 2035 3400     Website: http://www.aecom.com 
 
Job No:  60495809  Date Created:  August 2016 
 
 This document has been prepared by AECOM Limited for the sole use of our client [the “Client”] and in accordance with 
generally accepted consultancy principles, the budget for fees and the terms of reference agreed between AECOM Limited and 
the Client. Any information provided by third parties and referred to herein has not been checked or verified by AECOM Limited, 
unless otherwise expressly stated in the document. No third party may rely upon this document without the prior and express 
written agreement of AECOM Limited. 
 f:\projects\services - powys rea\160527 report\final report\final draft report – powys rea 
v1.doc  

Page 76



1

Table of Contents 

List of Abbreviations ...................................................................................................................................................................... 2 

Executive Summary......................................................................................................................................................................... 3

Introduction...................................................................................................................................................................................... 7

Policy context and drivers for renewable energy.......................................................................................................................11

Baseline energy situation across Powys ....................................................................................................................................15

Wind Energy Resource ................................................................................................................................................................. 18

Biomass Energy Resource ...........................................................................................................................................................21

Energy from Waste ........................................................................................................................................................................ 24

Hydro Power Energy Resource ....................................................................................................................................................28

Solar PV Farms .............................................................................................................................................................................. 29

Building Integrated Renewable Energy Uptake ..........................................................................................................................32

Summary of Potential Renewable Energy Solutions .................................................................................................................36

Setting LPA Wide Renewable Energy Targets............................................................................................................................37

Energy opportunity assessment ..................................................................................................................................................43

Appendix A:  Wind Energy Resource Methodology...................................................................................................................48

Appendix B:  Biomass Energy Resource Methodology.............................................................................................................50

Appendix C:  Energy from Waste Resource Methodology ........................................................................................................51

Appendix D:  Solar PV Farms .......................................................................................................................................................52

Appendix E:  Building Integrated Renewable Energy Uptake Modelling .................................................................................53

 
 
 
 

Page 77



0

 
 

 

List of Abbreviations 
 

Page 78



1

AECOM Renewable and Low Carbon Energy Assessment 
 
Capabilities on project: 
Building Engineering 

Abbreviation Description Abbreviation Description 

AAWS Average Annual Wind Speed ESCO Energy Services Company 

AD Anaerobic Digestion GIS Geographical Information Systems 

AHL Anchor Heat Load GW Gigawatt 

BD Biodegradable GWh Gigawatt hours 

BIR Building Integrated Renewable IMD Indices of Multiple Deprivation 

CAA Civil Aviation Authority kW Kilowatt 

CADW Welsh Government Historic Environment Service kWh Kilowatt hours 

CCHP Combined Cooling Heat and Power LCBP Low Carbon Building  Programme 

CESP Community Energy Saving Programme LDP Local Development Plan 

CHP Combined Heat & Power LLPG Local Land and Property Gazetteer 

C&I Commercial & Industrial LLSOA Low Level Super Output Area 

CO2 Carbon Dioxide LPA Local Planning Authority 

DECC Department for Energy and Climate Change LPG Liquefied Petroleum Gas  

DEFRA Department for Environment, Food and Rural Affairs LSB Local Service Board 
DH District Heating LWPA Local Waste Planning Authority 

DHN District Heating Network LZC Low and Zero Carbon 

DHW Domestic Hot Water MoD Ministry of Defence 

EfW Energy from Waste MSW Municipal Solid Waste 

EOP Energy Opportunity Plan MW Megawatt 
MWe Megawatt electrical SSSI Sites of Special Scientific Interest 
MWh Megawatt hours TAN Technical Advice Note 
MWhe Megawatt hours electrical TM Technical Memorandum 
MWt Megawatt thermal TWh Terawatt hour 
MWht Megawatt hours thermal VFR Visual Flight Rules 
NNR National Nature Reserves   
NVZ Nitrate Vulnerable Zone   
NWSW National Waste Strategy Wales   
ODT Oven Dried Tonnes   
OS Ordnance Survey   
PCC Powys County Council   
PPW Planning Policy Wales   
PV Photovoltaic   
RE Renewable Energy   
REA Renewable Energy Assessment   
SAC Special Areas of Conservation   
SPA Special Protection Areas   
SSA Strategic Search Area   

 

Page 79



2
AECOM Renewable and Low Carbon Energy Assessment

Capabilities on project: 
Building Engineering 

Executive Summary 
 

 

Page 80



3
AECOM Renewable and Low Carbon Energy Assessment

Capabilities on project: 
Building Engineering 

Executive Summary 

The Welsh Government has resolved that all local planning 
authorities will play the fullest part in reducing CO2 emissions. 
Responsibility for delivery of a low carbon Powys rests with the 
various departments within the County Council, with key roles 
in planning, waste management, land-ownership and energy 
procurement. Acknowledging this responsibility, a county-wide 
Renewable Energy Assessment [excluding the Brecon 
Beacons National Park] has been prepared to assess the 
potential of the Powys County Council area to contribute to UK 
renewable energy generation targets. 

In addition Planning Policy Wales1 [PPW] provides support for 
the setting of carbon emission reduction targets in excess of 
national standards for strategic development sites, where 
policies for such target setting have been included in LDPs and 
are fully justified. 

This report has been commissioned by Powys County Council 
to inform the Powys Local Development Plan.   

Renewable Energy Assessments [REA] vary between local 
authorities dependent upon issues such as geography, land 
availability and also the priorities given by councils and 
communities to various policy objectives. This REA provides 
the results of a robust exercise to establish potential for 
renewable energy in Powys that would inform the selection of 
policy objectives, many of which could also be addressed 
through corporate action. 

Whilst predominantly satisfying the need for providing part of 
robust evidence base, the REA might just as easily and 
effectively be utilised by public sector departments, possibly 
through the activities of the Local Service Boards [LSBs], and 
also relevant private sector organisations. Such activities might 
include aligning capital programmes of corporate estate, 
property, maintenance, energy and waste strategies with the 
findings of the Renewable Energy Assessment. 

The delivery of a ‘low carbon area’ is a significant challenge 
that is being, or will soon have to be, faced by local authorities 
and the communities that they serve. Delivery will involve 
everyone but, significantly, professionals from a wide range of 
disciplines. 

Utilising this REA to its greatest effect will require greater or 
lesser input from politicians, senior managers, finance experts, 
consultants, planners, developers, project managers, energy 
managers / technicians, engineers and waste management 
officers to name but a few. 

Delivering some of the potential identified in this REA is likely 
to require considerable cooperation between local authorities 

1 Planning Policy Wales [Edition 8, January 2016] 

and other public sector bodies, and between public and private 
sector. The greatest challenge to this cooperation may arise in 
attempting to reduce the carbon emissions of existing building 
stock, or larger scale renewable electricity generating 
technologies. 

The public sector, tasked with a leadership role, should be 
proactive in identifying cost effective approaches to 
contributing to meeting targets and facilitating the success of 
others. Powys County Council, through this REA, is fulfilling 
this role in identifying some of these potential opportunities 
within its area.

 
Predicted energy consumption 

The total predicted energy consumption for Powys in 2026 was 
calculated as 606GWh of electricity, and 1,463GWh of heat.  
This represents a reduction of total electrical consumption of 
circa 2GWh, and a reduction of thermal consumption of circa 
452GWh from the 2008 baseline. 

Figure 1:  Existing and predicted energy consumption 
[GWh] for Powys 

 

 

Existing renewable energy capacity 

The total existing installed capacity of small-scale [micro 
generation] renewable energy technologies in Powys in 2016 
was calculated as 10.1MW of electrical power, and 68.8MW of 
thermal power (excluding the above mentioned biomass CHP).  

Photovoltaic systems accounted for circa 9.3 MW of electrical 
power, with the vast majority of remaining attributed to micro 
wind at 0.6 MW.  Technology types for renewable heating are 
unknown for non-domestic and domestic installations. However 
the Renewable Heat Incentive (RHI) register identifies 462 
non-domestic renewable heat installations with installed 
capacity of 66.1MW. Also identified are 539 domestic 
renewable heating installations but the installed capacities are 
unknown: we have conservatively assumed 5kW per dwelling 
giving a total additional figure of 2.7MW.

Page 81



4
AECOM Renewable and Low Carbon Energy Assessment

Capabilities on project: 
Building Engineering 

The total existing renewable energy capacity in Powys for large 
scale renewable technologies was calculated as 326.6MW of 
electrical power, and 5.7 MW of thermal power.  Wind 
developments accounted for 312.7MW electrical power.  
Biomass, including a planned 5.7MWt Biomass CHP system at 
Potter’s Yard, Welshpool, accounted for all of the reported 
thermal energy capacity. 

In the context of overall Welsh Government renewable energy 
targets as set out in the Energy Policy Statement, Powys is 
currently contributing approximately 16% of the 2015 to 2016 
target of 2 GW of electrical energy associated with onshore 
wind. 

The total existing renewable energy capacity in Powys [large 
scale and small scale] was calculated as 336.7 MW of 
electrical power, and 74.5 MW of thermal power. 

Table 1:  Existing large scale renewable energy capacity in 
Powys

Technology Electricity [MWe] Thermal [MWt] 

Biomass 2.5 5.7 

Hydropower 8.8 - 

Landfill Gas 2.1 - 

Wind Power 312.7 - 

Other 0.5 -

Total 326.6 5.7 

 

Potential renewable energy capacity

 Potential building integrated renewable capacity 

This study has found that there is the potential to exploit a 
range of micro-generation technologies across the region. In 
most cases the potential is not spatially determined but is 
instead constrained by the size of the existing and future 
building stock and any incentives available. 

The breakdown of estimated potential uptake in installed 
capacity and generated energy for Powys in 2026 is shown in 
the table 2. 

Table 2:  Existing small scale renewable energy capacity in 
Powys 

 

Table 3:  Potential building integrated renewable energy 
uptake in Powys in 2026 

The maximum potential renewable electrical and thermal 
installed capacity across Powys in 2026 was calculated as 
circa 2,441 MWe and circa 247 MWt, as shown in table 4.

The total potential electrical capacity is dominated by solar PV 
farms and wind energy, with potential contributions from 
Biomass CHP, Anaerobic Digestion plants, hydro power sites, 
and building integrated renewable technologies.  

The total potential thermal capacity across Powys in 2026 is 
dominated by the potential of energy crops for use with CHP 
and wood fuel resource used in biomass boilers for heating at 
circa154MWt, and by the potential uptake from building 
integrated renewable energy technologies at circa 83 MWt.  
Waste heat derived from Biomass CHP systems and 
Anaerobic Digestion plants associated with energy crops, 
commercial and industrial waste, and animal slurry contributed 
to the remaining 11 MWt. 

Technology Electricity [MW] Thermal [MW] 

Biomass 0.2 N/A

Heat Pumps - N/A

Photovoltaic 9.3 N/A

Solar Thermal - N/A

Wind Power 0.6 N/A

Total 10.1 68.8 (split 
unknown)

Technology Electricity [MW] Thermal [MW] 

Existing buildings 0.9 14.5 

Future new 
buildings 6.4 15.0 

Total 7.3 29.5 

Page 82



5
AECOM Renewable and Low Carbon Energy Assessment

Capabilities on project: 
Building Engineering 

Table 4:  Potential renewable energy resource in Powys in 
2026 

Energy Opportunity Plans 

Energy opportunity plans were developed for the whole of 
Powys that considered the spatial relationship of existing 
renewable energy sites, demand for renewable energy 
[principally residential heat demand and key anchor heat 
loads], sources of waste heat, and the location of sites 
proposed for allocation.

Energy opportunity plans for Powys concluded with a more 
detailed analysis of three sites, namely, Llanidloes, Welshpool, 
and Newtown.  A copy of the energy opportunity plans can be 
found in the Energy Opportunity Plan section of this report. 

2 This figure includes the current planning applications (consented is 
considered as existing) being considered within the SSA plus the 
resource in the wider county. 

Resource Electricity [MWe] Thermal [MWt] 

Wind2 
1,124 - 

Biomass 46 154

Energy from 
Waste 7 11 

Hydro 15 - 

Solar PV Farms 1,234 -

Building Integrated 
15 83 

Total 2,441 247 

Page 83



6
AECOM Renewable and Low Carbon Energy Assessment

Capabilities on project: 
Building Engineering 

 

 

Renewable and Low Carbon 
Energy Assessment 
 

 

Page 84



7
AECOM Renewable and Low Carbon Energy Assessment

Capabilities on project: 
Building Engineering 

Introduction 

Background to this Renewable Energy 
Assessment [REA] 

The UK is subject to the requirements of the EU Renewable 
Energy Directive. These include a UK target of 15% of energy 
from renewables by 2020. The UK Renewable Energy 
Roadmap sets the path for the delivery of these targets, 
promoting renewable energy to reduce global warming and to 
secure future energy supplies. 

The Welsh Government is committed to playing its part by 
delivering an energy programme which contributes to reducing 
carbon emissions as part of our approach to tackling climate 
change whilst enhancing the economic, social and 
environmental wellbeing of the people and communities of 
Wales in order to achieve a better quality of life for our own and 
future generations. This is outlined in the Welsh Government’s 
Energy Policy Statement Energy Wales: A Low Carbon 
Transition (2012). 

Whilst the delivery mechanisms for most of Wales’ energy 
aspirations are outside the control of the planning, the Welsh 
Government has resolved that all Local Planning Authorities 
will play the fullest possible part in meeting statutory UK and 
EU targets on greenhouse gas emission reduction. 

The use of fossil fuels is seen as a major contributor to 
greenhouse gas emissions, a major cause of global climate 
change and moving towards a low carbon energy based 
economy to tackle the causes of climate change and improve 
energy security are Welsh Government priorities. 

Purpose of this REA 
Local Authorities have several key roles to play that can 
facilitate the use and generation of renewable and low carbon 
energy. These include: 

Preparing planning policies and allocating land in Local 
Development Plans 

Development management – taking decisions on planning 
applications submitted to the LPA for development; as well as 
preparing Local Impact Assessments. 

Corporate – taking action at a council wide level to achieve a 
low carbon economy. 

Leadership – taking forward wider community action and 
communicating the need to increase the uptake of renewable 
energy. 

This REA constitutes an evidence base to inform the 
preparation of the local development plan.  Decisions can be 
taken on policies that can support and facilitate the deployment 
of renewable and low carbon energy systems. The REA [or 

evidence base] consists of an assessment of the potential for 
renewable and low carbon energy generation, at different 
scales, and at different levels of detail. 

In terms of development management, the REA [used in 
conjunction with the toolkit] can be useful in several ways. 

Firstly, when assessing applications for new development 
sites, it can aid officers in discussions with developers around 
opportunities for district heating and making use of waste heat. 

Secondly, when assessing applications for larger scale new 
generation schemes, it can enable officers to identify whether 
there is the potential for those schemes to supply heat to new 
or existing development. 

Thirdly, in the case of wind developments, it can assist officers 
in understanding why a developer has chosen a particular 
location to develop a scheme. 

However, as well as supporting Powys County Council 
planning officers with their LDP, the intention is that the 
renewable energy opportunities identified will also be useful in 
assisting Powys to fulfil its role as a community leader, leading 
by example through its actions. 

 Method employed by this REA 
This REA was originally compiled based on the method 
set out in the Welsh Government guidance document 
‘Renewable energy: A toolkit for planners’ July, 2010. A 
revision of the ‘Toolkit’ was produced for 2015 and, in 
response this REA has been updated to incorporate 
changes.

The method is based on a Geographic Information 
System (GIS) approach to enable spatial identification of 
renewable energy opportunities. The outputs of this 
approach are maps that accompany and support policies. 
The maps referred to in this REA can be located in the 
document ‘Renewable and Low Carbon Energy 
Assessment – Maps’

Page 85



AECOM Renewable and Low Carbon Energy Assessment 8 
 
Capabilities on project: 
Building Engineering 

Why is this REA important? 

This REA will inform action to support the deployment and 
delivery of renewable energy installations on the ground. This 
is expected to assist in meeting the two key challenges for UK 
energy policy, namely: tackling climate change by reducing 
carbon dioxide emissions and improving energy security. At a 
more detailed level, this REA provides an evidence base for a 
number of suggested policy3 objectives, as follows: 

 Development of energy/ carbon reduction targets for 
strategic new development sites 

 Identification and promotion of sites for renewable energy 
generation [not necessarily linked to new development] 

 Development of area wide renewable energy targets [e.g. 
installed MW of heat and electricity generation] as a 
stimulus for concerted local action 

 Informing the selection of land for development [allocation 
of sites], by identifying those sites with the greatest 
potential for sustainable energy and carbon reduction or 
sites that potentially could preclude renewable energy 
developments [e.g. by sterilising good wind power sites]. 

 Identification of opportunities for delivering strategic 
energy options that could link to an allowable solutions 
fund [i.e. some Council's, where land values may be less, 
view this as an opportunity to make sites more attractive to 
developers by making them “low and/or zero carbon 
enabled”, rather than seeking to increase development 
burden by setting sustainability standards in excess of 
future Building Regulations.] 

 To enable LPA exploration of requiring developers to 
connect to an existing or proposed district heating network 
[e.g. how much could they charge, how close would a 
development need to be and so on] 

This REA delineates Powys County Council’s evidence base to 
support each of the potential policy objectives set out above. 
The policy mechanisms to be employed by Powys County 
Council have also been developed through consideration of 
this study revision. 

Within the REA, the ‘accessible’ renewable energy resource 
has been identified and an evaluation undertaken of three 
locations with opportunities for the incorporation of renewable 
and low carbon energy. The opportunities relate particularly to 
where renewable and low carbon energy may be linked to new 
development via district heating networks [DHNs]. 

This REA presents information that is potentially useful to 
developers and wider stakeholders alike in facilitating 
partnerships and taking forward delivery of the opportunities 
identified for Powys County Council. 

3 Meant in the broad sense, i.e. not just planning policy

Wider corporate role 

All local authorities including Powys County Council have 
objectives and requirements for mitigating and adapting to 
climate change that they need to meet.   This REA enables 
Powys County Council to identify specific opportunities to 
facilitate renewable and low carbon energy generation. 

These identified opportunities can form the basis of more 
detailed implementation plans, feasibility studies and practical 
action.  This Renewable Energy Assessment can be utilised to 
assist in developing measures to tackle fuel poverty, through 
the promotion of district heating networks to serve existing as 
well as new developments. These opportunities can also help 
in delivering local economic benefits either in terms of locally 
grown fuel supplies, or by enabling a proportion of expenditure 
on energy to be retained within the local economy, from local 
generation, rather than going out to external energy companies
4. 

 

Scope of this Renewable Energy Assessment 

The scope of this Renewable Energy Assessment is set out 
below. 

Planning 

The REA focuses on planning policy though there are 
associated implications for development management. This 
assessment has been developed primarily for Powys County 
Council, as an evidence base that has informed renewable and 
low carbon energy targets, policies and site allocations in the 
LDP. 

This REA, and the targets and policies that it informs, will 
necessitate procedures for use by development management 
officers to assess planning applications for either strategic new 
development sites that are incorporating renewable energy, or 
for stand-alone renewable energy generating systems: this 
assessment has informed Development Management policies 
with the detailed supplied in Renewable Energy SPG to be 
developed.  

Technology 

This assessment is not meant to be an exhaustive guide to the 
different renewable and low carbon energy technologies that 
are available. Technical Advice Note5 provides an introduction 
to a range of renewable and low carbon technologies that 
should be the first point of reference. Other technology is listed 
by The Department for Energy and Climate Change6 and the 
Energy Saving Trust7. 

4 Low Carbon Wales, Sustainable Development Commission , 
2009
5 Technical Advice Note 8, Renewable Energy , 
http://wales.gov.uk/desh/publications/planning/technicaladviceno
tes/ta n8/
6 DECC http://www.planningrenewables.org.uk/page/index.cfm

Page 86

http://www.planningrenewables.org.uk/page/index.cfm


AECOM Renewable and Low Carbon Energy Assessment 9 
 
Capabilities on project: 
Building Engineering 

Energy Hierarchy 

The REA focuses on renewable and low carbon energy 
generation, and the opportunities for promoting this through the 
Local Development Plan [LDP], rather than on improving 
energy efficiency in new or existing buildings. This is not to 
imply that the latter is less important in terms of mitigating 
climate change: it is at least as, if not more, important. 
However, it is not covered in this REA because there is only a 
limited amount that planning policy for new developments can 
contribute in this area, over and above the Approved Document 
Part L of the Building Regulations8. Again, we refer the reader 
to other excellent sources of information on energy efficiency in 
buildings, existing and new, that already exist9. 

Transport 

The REA does not include an assessment of the potential for 
renewable or low carbon fuels for transport.  

Large scale on-shore wind 

Whilst Strategic Search Areas (SSAs) are alluded to (as they 
have a considerable impact in Powys and effectively ring fence 
large-scale on-shore wind development), the REA is not 
intended to duplicate the analysis carried out in TAN 8 but 
rather is concerned with identifying ways in which to secure 
additional smaller scale opportunities outside of SSAs that 
would be determined either by the Welsh Government under 
The Developments of National Significance Regulations (2016) 
(DNS) or by the local planning authority.  Additional local 
search areas are allocated to prioritise new wind development.

Policy wording 

This REA comprises analysis that has been used to inform LDP 
the policies set out in ‘Renewable Energy Policy’ section. 

Soundness 

This REA does not provide a definitive template for sound 
evidence. The responsibility of preparing evidence for LDP 
policies and decisions taken in the LDP is the sole 
responsibility of the LPA. Assumptions and data used in 
carrying out this REA have been sought from established 
sources, and these are listed in the text. Where there is no 
established source AECOM has derived assumptions based on 
the best evidence available through dialogue with the LPA. In 
future, guidance, assumptions and data sources may change, 
particularly as technology and the policy and regulatory 
framework evolves.  

7 Energy Saving Trust at 
http://www.energysavingtrust.org.uk/EnergySaving-Trust-advice-
centre-Wales
8 Obviously, there is a lot that can be done to reduce energy use 
in existing buildings, but these do not generally fall with the remit 
of the planning system.
9 E.g. from the Energy Saving Trust in Wales, as per the web-link 
given above.

 
Defining renewable energy and low carbon energy 

Renewable energy 

There are many definitions of renewable energy10. A useful one 
is: 

“Renewable energy is that which makes use of energy flows 
which are replenished at the same rate as they are used11” 

The definition employed in PPW12 [Paragraph 12.8.7] is as 
follows: 

“Renewable energy is the term used to cover those sources of 
energy, other than fossil fuels or nuclear fuel, which are 
continuously and sustainably available in our environment. This 
includes wind, water, solar, geothermal energy and plant 
material [biomass]” 

Another important characteristic of renewable energy, which 
will be explained in more detail below, is that unlike fossil fuels, 
it produces little or no net carbon dioxide [CO2] – which is one 
of the main greenhouse gas emissions. 

Most forms of renewable energy stem directly or indirectly from 
the sun. The direct ones include, obviously, solar water 
heating, and photovoltaics [electricity].  Ground source and air 
source heat pumps13, make use of solar energy stored in the 
ground. The indirect forms are: wind power, as wind is caused 
by differential warming of the earth’s surface by the sun; 
hydropower, as rainfall is driven by the sun causing 
evaporation of the oceans; and biomass energy [from burning 
organic matter], as all plants photosynthesise sunlight in order 
to fix carbon and grow. 

The combustion of biomass fuel is acknowledged as carbon 
neutral, because although the combustion releases CO2, the 
same amount of CO2 was taken out of the atmosphere when 
the biomass was growing. Biomass is generally regarded as 
fuel [other than fossil fuel], at least 98 per cent of the energy 
content of which is derived from plant or animal matter or 
substances derived there from [whether or not such matter or 
substances are waste]. This includes agricultural, forestry, or 
wood wastes or residues 

The other two forms of renewable energy are tidal power, 
which relies on the gravitational pull of both the sun and the 

10 More specifically, the EU Renewable Energy Directive [see chapter 
2] gives guidance on which technologies are eligible to qualify for 
meeting the UK’s renewable energy target for 2020 
11 Sorensen, B. [1999] Renewable Energy [2nd Edition], Academic 
Press, ISBN 0126561524 
12 Planning Policy Wales [Edition 8, January 2016] 
13 Strictly speaking, these technologies are only partially renewable, as 
they also make use of, most commonly, grid electricity to power a 
compressor. However, if they have a good efficiency, they can provide 
a form of heating, in the UK, that produces less carbon per unit of 
output than using a gas condensing boiler. 

Page 87

http://www.energysavingtrust.org.uk/Energy-Saving-Trust-advice-centre-Wales
http://www.energysavingtrust.org.uk/Energy-Saving-Trust-advice-centre-Wales
http://www.energysavingtrust.org.uk/Energy-Saving-Trust-advice-centre-Wales


AECOM Renewable and Low Carbon Energy Assessment 10 
 
Capabilities on project: 
Building Engineering 

moon, and geothermal energy, which taps into the heat 
generated in the Earth’s core. 

Of all these, perhaps the most complex and multi-faceted is 
biomass energy, because it can take so many forms. It can 
include: 

 Burning of forestry residues; 

 Anaerobic digestion of animal manures and food wastes; 

 Combustion of straw and other agricultural residues and 
products. 

 Methane produced from the anaerobic digestion of 
biodegradable matter in landfill sites [i.e. landfill gas]; and 

 Energy generated from the biodegradable fraction of 
waste going into an energy from waste plant. 

This REA covers the following renewable energy technologies 
[considering both electricity and heat]: 

 Wind energy [on-shore wind and community scale 
development] 

 Biomass energy: including forestry residues, miscanthus, 
short rotation coppice and straw 

 Energy from Waste [EfW] including waste wood, 
municipal waste, industrial and commercial waste 

 Anaerobic Digestion, covering: food waste, agricultural 
wastes, and sewage sludge 

 Hydropower energy 

 Building Integrated Renewable [BIR], covering: biomass 
boilers; air and ground source heat pumps, photovoltaics; 
small and micro wind power. 

 
Low carbon energy options 

Low carbon energy options cover a range of energy sources 
that are not renewable, but can still produce less carbon than 
use of the conventional electricity grid or gas network, and are 
therefore considered an important part of decarbonising the 
energy supply. These options include: 

 Waste heat, e.g. from power stations, or industrial 
processes 

 Gas engine or gas turbine Combined Heat and Power 
[CHP], where the heat is usefully used 

 Stirling engine or fuel cell CHP, where the heat is usefully 
used  

 The non-biodegradable fraction of the output from energy 
from waste plants 

This REA covers both renewable as well as low carbon forms 
of energy and the extent to which both can be considered has 
informed the policy objectives selected by Powys County 
Council. 

 

Power vs. energy output 

In the context of this Renewable Energy Assessment, power is 
measured in either kiloWatts [kW], or MegaWatts [MW], which 
is a thousand kW, or gigaWatts [GW], which is a thousand MW. 
It is a measure of the electricity or heat output being generated 
[or used] at any given moment in time. The maximum output of 
a generator, when it is running at full power, is referred to as its 
installed capacity or rated power output. 

Energy, on the other hand, is the product of power and time. It 
has the units of kWh [the h stands for “hour”] or MWh, or GWh. 
As an example, if a 2MW wind turbine ran at full power for 1 
hour, it would have generated 2 x 1 = 2MWh of energy. If it ran 
at full power for one day [24 hours], it would have generated 2 
x 24 = 48MWh. 

This distinction is important, because in carrying out the 
renewable energy resource assessment certain assumptions 
have been made to calculate both the potential installed 
capacity [or maximum power output] of different technologies, 
as well as the potential annual energy output. 

 

Electricity vs. Heat output 

In terms of the units used, to avoid confusion, it can be 
important to distinguish between whether a generator is 
producing electricity or heat. This is because some renewable 
energy fuels [i.e. biomass] can be used to produce either heat 
only, or power and heat simultaneously when used in a 
Combined Heat & Power [CHP] plant. 

It is also important to be able to distinguish between renewable 
electricity targets and renewable heat targets. To do this, the 
suffix “e” is added in this REA to denote electricity power or 
energy output, e.g. MWe, or MWhe, whilst for heat, the suffix “t” 
is used [for “thermal”], to denote heat output, e.g. MWt, or 
MWht

Page 88



AECOM Renewable and Low Carbon Energy Assessment 11 
 
Capabilities on project: 
Building Engineering 

Policy context and drivers for 
renewable energy 

Introduction 

The UK is subject to the requirements of the EU Renewable 
Energy Directive. These include a UK target of 15% of energy 
from renewables by 2020. The UK Renewable Energy 
Roadmap sets the path for the delivery of these targets, 
promoting renewable energy to reduce global warming and to 
secure future energy supplies. 

The Welsh Government is committed to playing its part by 
delivering an energy programme which contributes to reducing 
carbon emissions as part of our approach to tackling climate 
change whilst enhancing the economic, social and 
environmental wellbeing of the people and communities of 
Wales in order to achieve a better quality of life for our own and 
future generations. This is outlined in the Welsh Government’s 
Energy Policy Statement Energy Wales: A Low Carbon 
Transition (2012). 

Whilst the delivery mechanisms for most of Wales’ energy 
aspirations are outside the control of the planning, the Welsh 
Government has resolved that all Local Planning Authorities 
will play the fullest possible part in meeting statutory UK and 
EU targets on greenhouse gas emission reduction. 

The use of fossil fuels is seen as a major contributor to 
greenhouse gas emissions, a major cause of global climate 
change and moving towards a low carbon energy based 
economy to tackle the causes of climate change and improve 
energy security are Welsh Government priorities.

UK and European energy policy context 

EU Renewable Energy Directive: The UK has signed up to the 
Directive, agreeing to legally binding targets of 15% of energy 
from renewable sources by 2020. The UK Renewable Energy 
Strategy14 suggests that by 2020, this could mean: 

 More than 30% of our electricity generated from renewable 
energy sources 

 12% of our heat generated from renewable energy 
sources 

 10% of transport energy from renewable energy sources 

The UK Renewable Energy Roadmap [2011] sets out how the 
UK could increase the use of renewable electricity, heat and 

14 The UK Renewable Energy Strategy, DECC, May 2009 

transport to meet this target and address the urgent challenges 
of climate change and national security of energy supply. 

The Roadmap confirms that approximately 90% of the 
generation necessary to meet the 15% target can be delivered 
from a subset of eight technologies [see table 5 overleaf].  The 
remaining renewable energy generation necessary to meet the 
2020 target, will come from technologies such as hydropower, 
solar PV, and deep geothermal heat and power. 

 
Table 5: Technology breakdown [TWh] for central view of 
deployment in 2020 

 

Wales’ policy context for planning and renewable energy 

Planning Policy Wales states that planning policy at all levels 
should facilitate delivery of both the ambition set out in Energy 
Wales: A Low Carbon Transition and UK and European targets 
on renewable energy. The Renewable Energy Directive15 
contains specific obligations to provide guidance to facilitate 
effective consideration of renewable energy sources, high-
efficiency technologies and district heating and cooling in the 
context of development of industrial or residential areas, and 

15 EU Renewable Energy Directive, 2009 

Technology 
Central range for 2020 
[TWh] 

Onshore wind 24 to 32 

Offshore wind 33 to 58 

Biomass [electricity] 32 to 50 

Marine 1 

Biomass [heat] 36 to 50 

Heat Pumps 16 to 22 

Renewable transport Up to 48 

Other 14 

Estimated 15% target 234 

Page 89



AECOM Renewable and Low Carbon Energy Assessment 12 
 
Capabilities on project: 
Building Engineering 

(from 1 January 2012) to ensure that new public buildings, and 
existing public buildings that are subject to major renovation 
fulfil an exemplary role in the context of the Directive. The 
issues at the heart of these duties are an established focus of 
planning policy in Wales, and in this context both local planning 
authorities and developers should have regard in particular to 
the guidance contained in Technical Advice Note 8: Planning 
for Renewable Energy and Planning for Renewable Energy – A 
Toolkit for Planners16 

Table 6: Wales’ sustainable renewable energy potential 
2020 to 2025 

Technology 
Total capacity 
[GW] 

Deliverable in 
main by 

Onshore wind 2 2015 to 2017 

Offshore wind 6 2015 to 2016 

Biomass 
[electricity] 1 2020 

Tidal range 8.5 2022 

Tidal stream / 
wave 4 2025 

Local electricity 
generation 1 2020 

Total [MWe] 22.5 2020 to 2025 

 

‘Renewable Energy: A toolkit for Planners’ sets out a method 
that local authorities might use to produce an evidence base in 
support of their Local Development Plans: this evidence base 
is referred to as a ‘Renewable Energy Assessment’ 

This Renewable Energy Assessment can assist Powys County 
Council planning policy officers deliver the national planning 
policy expectations as set out in PPW17, namely: 

 4.12.5 Local planning authorities should assess 
strategic sites to identify opportunities to require 
higher sustainable building standards (including zero 
carbon) to be required. In bringing forward standards 
higher than the national minimum, set out in Building 
Regulations, local planning authorities should ensure 
that what is proposed is evidence-based and viable. 

16 ‘Renewable Energy: A Toolkit for Planners – Welsh 
Government 2015 Update
17 Planning Policy Wales [Edition 8, January 2016] 

Such policies should be progressed through the Local 
Development Plan process in accordance with 
relevant requirements of legislation and national 
policy. Further advice is contained in Practice 
Guidance – Planning for Sustainable Buildings17. 

 4.12.6 Applications that reflect the key principles of 
climate responsive developments and exceed the 
standards set out in Building Regulations should be 
encouraged. 

 4.12.7 Particular attention should be given to 
opportunities for minimising carbon emissions 
associated with the heating, cooling and power 
systems for new developments. This can include 
utilising existing or proposed local and low and zero 
carbon energy supply systems (including district 
heating systems), encouraging the development of 
new opportunities to supply proposed and existing 
development, and maximising opportunities to co-
locate potential heat customers and suppliers.

 12.1.4 The Welsh Government aims to secure the 
environmental infrastructure necessary to achieve 
sustainable development objectives, while minimising 
adverse impacts on the environment, health and 
communities. New approaches to infrastructure will be 
needed in light of the consequences of climate 
change. The objectives are: to promote the generation 
and use of energy from renewable and low carbon 
energy sources at all scales and promote energy 
efficiency, especially as a means to secure zero or 
low carbon developments and to tackle the causes of 
climate change; 

 12.1.5 The planning system has an important part to 
play in ensuring that the infrastructure on which 
communities and businesses depend is adequate to 
accommodate proposed development so as to 
minimise risk to human health and the environment 
and prevent pollution at source. This includes 
minimising the impacts associated with climate 
change.

 12.1.6 The capacity of existing infrastructure, and the 
need for additional facilities, should be taken into 
account in the preparation of development plans and 
the consideration of planning applications. In general, 
local planning authorities should seek to maximise 
the use of existing infrastructure and should 
consider how the provision of different types of 
infrastructure can be co-ordinated. 

 12.1.7 Local planning authorities must develop a 
strategic and long-term approach to infrastructure 
provision when preparing development plans. They 
should consider both the siting requirements of the 

Page 90



AECOM Renewable and Low Carbon Energy Assessment 13 
 
Capabilities on project: 
Building Engineering 

utility companies responsible for these services to 
enable them to meet community needs and the 
environmental effects of such additional uses. 
Development may need to be phased, in consultation 
with the relevant utilities providers, to allow time to 
ensure that the provision of utilities can be managed 
in a way consistent with general policies for 
sustainable development. 

 12.1.8 It is essential that local planning authorities 
consult utility companies and other infrastructure 
providers and Natural Resources Wales at an early 
stage in the formulation of land use policies. Welsh 
Government guidance in Local Development Plan 
Wales (2005) provides details of the bodies which 
must be consulted about particular issues to ensure 
that plan policies are realistic and capable of 
implementation. Local authorities are also required to 
consult appropriate bodies and to take their views into 
account when determining planning applications.

Existing renewable energy generation 

The Energy Wales: A Low Carbon Transition Plan [2012] 
reported that 62% of existing renewable generation in Wales 
stems from sources such as wind and solar with a further 
25% coming from thermal renewable generation and 13% 
from hydro generation.  Counting only installations of 100kW 
or above, current total operational wind farms in Wales have 
a capacity of 1,316MW, with 590MW being on-shore and of 
which 304MW are in mid-Wales.  

 

Permitted development rights 

To encourage take-up, changes have also been made in 
Wales to ‘permitted development’ rights to make provision 
for the installation of certain types of micro-generation by 
householders and for non-domestic  buildings without the 
need for planning permission, namely solar photovoltaic and 
solar thermal panels, ground and water source heat pumps,  
flues for biomass heating and other technologies. 

Page 91



Powys County Council area wide 
renewable energy assessment 
 

 

Page 92



AECOM Renewable and Low Carbon Energy Assessment 15
 
Capabilities on project: 
Building Engineering 

Baseline energy situation across 
Powys 

Calculating existing energy baseline 

DECC report on the annual energy consumption [GWh] at a 
sub national level.  The existing electrical and thermal energy 
consumption for Powys during 2008 was reported as 608 GWh 
and 1,915 GWh respectively. 

Electrical consumption across Powys represents circa 3.7% of 
Wales total reported electrical consumption in 2008, and circa 
0.2% of the UK’s total reported electrical consumption. 

Thermal consumption across Powys represents circa 3.4% of 
Wales total reported thermal consumption in 2008, and circa 
0.2% of the UK’s total reported electrical consumption.

Table 7:  Existing energy consumption [GWh] for the UK, 
Wales, and for Powys in 2008. 

 

Calculating future energy baseline 

The UK Renewable Energy Strategy reports on the current 
[2008] and future [2020] energy consumption across the UK for 
electricity and thermal energy sectors.  The report confirms 
that between this period electricity energy consumption will 
contract by circa 0.3%, and that thermal energy consumption 
will contract by circa 15.8%. 

Powys County Council’s Local Development Plan period runs 
until 2026.  As such this report has assumed that the rate of 
change associated with both electrical and thermal energy 
between 2008 and 2020 will continue unchanged.  Thus the 
predicted electrical and thermal consumption across Powys in 
2026 is 606 GWh, and 1,463 GWh respectively. 

Table 8:  Predicted energy consumption [GWh] for Powys 
2026 

Electricity [GWh] Thermal [GWh] 

Baseline energy 
2008 608 1,915 

Projection to 
202018 99.7% 84.2% 

Predicted energy 
2020 607 1,614 

Percentage 
change from 2008 
to 2026

-0.1% -25.1% 

Years to plan 
period 18 18 

Predicted energy 
2026 606* 1,463* 

*Discrepancies due to rounding from MWh to GWh

The figure below illustrates the change in the existing 
[2008] and predicted [2026], with total electrical 
consumption reducing by circa 2 GWh, and total thermal 
consumption reducing by circa 452 GWh.

Figure 2:  Existing and predicted energy consumption 
[GWh] for Powys 

 

 

18 Based on projected change as identified in Table 2.1, of The 
UK Renewable Energy Strategy [2009]

Electricity [GWh] Thermal [GWh] 

UK 304,625 815,624 

Wales 16,267 55,657 

Powys 608 1,915 

Page 93



AECOM Renewable and Low Carbon Energy Assessment 16
 
Capabilities on project: 
Building Engineering 

Existing low and zero carbon energy technologies 

To demonstrate the progress being made to establish a 
baseline of installed capacity to inform future potential and 
target setting, the capacity of Low and Zero Carbon [LZC] 
energy technologies already installed in the PCC LPA area has 
been established. Where LZC energy technologies already 
exist, the installed capacities [measured in MW] were recorded 
and incorporated as a contribution to overall final targets. 

This assessment of existing capacity covers electricity and 
heat generation, and large scale as well as ‘Building Integrated 
Renewables’ [BIR] generation. For larger schemes, it also 
includes those that have received planning consent, but are 
not yet built. 

The locations of the larger scale projects have been plotted 
using GIS. In particular, the locations of existing or consented 
wind farms have been noted to inform the wind resource 
assessment. The locations of existing energy from waste 
schemes and biomass schemes have also been marked for 
their potential contribution to supply heat to strategic new 
development sites. 

Data for existing large scale projects has been derived from 
Powys County Council, DECC19 and Ofgem20. 

Data for existing has been collected at the LPA level on 
installed renewable heating capacity [such as wood chip 
boilers, heat pumps and solar water heating], and small scale 
electricity generation. 

In addition, data provided by the Fit & RHI Register (Ofgem) 
has confirmed the installed capacities of small-scale / 
microgeneration installations. 

Care has been taken to ensure no double counting has taken 
place, primarily through discussion with Powys County Council 
officers.  Where duplicates occurred, the data from Powys 
County Council and then DECC was given preference over the 
other sources. 

 

Existing renewable electricity capacity 

The current total capacity (operational, under construction or 
consented) of large-scale and or stand-alone renewable 
energy technologies in Powys was calculated as 326.6MW of 
electrical power, and 5.7 MW of thermal power.  Of which wind 
energy accounted for 312.7MW, hydro 8.8MW, landfill gas 
2.1MW, fuelled 0.4MW and sewage gas the remaining 0.1MW 
of electrical power .  Biomass, including a 5 MWt Biomass 
CHP system at Potter’s Yard, Welshpool, accounted for all of 
the reported thermal energy capacity. 

19 DECC [2011] RESTATS Monthly Extract, 
https://restats.decc.gov.uk/app/reporting/decc/monthlyextract  . 
20 Ofgem [2011] Renewables & CHP – Accredited Stations, 
https://www.renewablesandchp.ofgem.gov.uk/Public/ReportManager.a 
spx?ReportVisibility=1&ReportCategory=0  . 

Additional to the above, planning applications have been 
submitted or are being considered at appeal for a further 
446MWe of wind energy and 21.6MWe from solar PV farms.

In the context of overall Welsh Government renewable energy 
targets as set out in the Energy Policy Statement, and 
including operational, under construction and consented, 
Powys is contributing approximately 16% of the 2015 to 2016 
target of 2 GW of electrical energy associated with onshore 
wind. 

Strategic Search Areas

In terms of the SSAs, the 2015 report from Powys County 
Council reports 78.95MW is currently operational, 140.3MW is 
consented and a further 347.0MW currently in the planning 
system: these figures are included in the above totals.

Existing renewable heat capacity 

The total existing installed capacity of small-scale [micro 
generation] renewable energy technologies in Powys in 2016 
was calculated as 10.1 MW of electrical power, and 60.4MW of 
thermal power (excluding the above mentioned biomass CHP).  
Photovoltaic systems accounted for circa 9.3 MW of electrical 
power, with the vast majority of remaining attributed to micro 
wind at 0.6 MW.  Technology types are unknown for non-
domestic and domestic installations for renewable heat but RHI 
register identifies 462 non-domestic renewable heat 
installations with installed capacity of 66.1MW. 539 domestic 
renewable heat installations are also identified but with no 
installed capacities: we have assumed 5kW per dwelling giving 
a total additional figure of 2.7MW.

Page 94



AECOM Renewable and Low Carbon Energy Assessment 17
 
Capabilities on project: 
Building Engineering 

Table 9:  Existing large scale renewable energy capacity in 
Powys 

Technology Electricity [MWe] Thermal [MWt] 

Biomass 2.5 5.7 

Hydropower 8.8 - 

Landfill Gas 2.1 - 

Wind Power 312.7 - 

Other 0.5 -

Total 326.6 5.7 

 

Table 10:  Existing small scale renewable energy capacity 
in Powys 

Technology Electricity [MW] Thermal [MW] 

Biomass 0.2 N/A

Heat Pumps - N/A

Photovoltaic 9.3 N/A

Solar Thermal - N/A

Wind Power 0.6 N/A

Total 10.1 68.8 (unknown 
split)

 

The total existing renewable installed capacity in Powys [large 
scale and small scale] was calculated as 336.7 MW of 
electrical power, and 74.5 MW of thermal power. 

The amount of energy that this capacity could generate will 
depend on the capacity factor, of which is discussed in the 
section of this report titled ‘Setting LPA Wide Renewable 
Energy Targets’.  Based on the assumed capacity factors, the 
total existing renewable energy generation in Powys [large and 
small scale] was calculated as 524,427 MWh of electrical 
energy, and 28,120 MWh of thermal energy. 

The figure below compares the amount of energy currently 
generated by existing renewable energy technologies and the 
predicted energy consumption across Powys in 2026. 

Figure 3:  Difference between existing renewable energy 
generation [GWh] and predicted consumption [2026] 

 

 

 

Page 95



AECOM Renewable and Low Carbon Energy Assessment 18
 
Capabilities on project: 
Building Engineering 

Wind Energy Resource 

The focus of this section of the REA is on establishing the 
potential wind resource across Powys. 

For the purposes of planning policy in Wales large scale wind 
power has been defined in TAN 8 as wind farms of > 25MW.. 
TAN8 provides details of ‘Strategic Search Areas’, [SSA] sites 
identified as suitable and potential locations for large scale 
wind. There are three SSA in Powys, namely 
Area B “Carno North”, Area C “Newtown South”, and Area D 
“Nant Y Moch”.  

This REA is primarily concerned with securing further 
opportunities for wind development of between 5MW and 
25MW outside of the SSAs but, in the interest of 
completeness, the assessment of maximum available/potential 
wind resource across Powys includes both areas of land inside 
and outside of the SSA.  

Mapping

Maps have been produced to illustrate at each stage of the 
process the application of the method to identify spatial 
constraints and opportunities. At each stage, for ease of 
reading, maps have been split between northern, central and 
southern Powys. Throughout, references will be made to titles 
and reference numbers to correspond with maps contained in 
the accompanying document ‘Renewable and Low Carbon 
Energy Assessment – Maps’ 

Constraint to wind energy resource 

To establish the potential wind energy resource across 
Powys, consideration has been given to the spatial 
constraints associated with restrictions to wind energy 
development.  This assessment used the following principal 
constraints to wind energy development to establish the 
maximum potential wind resource across Powys.  A 
comprehensive description of the method used for Powys is 
given in Appendix A. 

 Special Protection Area (SPA)
 Special Area of Conservations (SAC)
 Candidate Special Area of Conservation (cSAC)
 RAMSAR sites
 National Nature Reserves (NNR)
 Site of Special Scientific Interest (SSSI)
 Marine Nature Reserves (MNR)
 Scheduled Ancient Monuments (SAM)
 Area of Outstanding Natural Beauty (AONB)
 Infrastructure – Topple distance plus 50m 
 Other Infrastructure – Topple distance plus 10%

 Dwellings – Plus 500m (Noise Buffer)
 Watercourses
 Areas of historic and cultural importance 

Additional constraints considered:

 Historic Landscapes
 Woodlands
 Ancient Woodlands
 National Parks
 Restricted Airspace

The purpose of this assessment was to establish the maximum 
potential wind energy resource across Powys.  The 
assessment was based on constraints associated with a typical 
2 MW wind turbine.  However, this assessment does not 
necessarily preclude the potential development/deployment of 
larger or smaller wind turbines across Powys. 

The wind constraints maps illustrate the principal constraints to 
the development/deployment of wind energy [excluding the 
proximity to residential dwellings]. These constraints can be 
attributed to existing environmental and historic protected sites.  
In addition, there is, significant areas of restricted airspace 
associated with the MoD exclusion zone around Mynydd 
Epynt, and the 5 km Civil Aviation Authority exclusion zone 
surrounding Welshpool Airport. 

Given the subjective noise related impact that wind turbines 
have on residential dwellings and the spatial extent that such 
an impact can have on identifying potentially available wind 
resource, this study has reported on  noise impact figures.  
This takes into consideration the impact of noise on residential 
dwellings, referred to as “including impact on dwellings”, that 
assumes that there will be no wind energy within 500m 
distance of any residential property. 

1. The following maps illustrating all constraints to wind 
development except wind speed have been produced 
as follows: Environmental & Heritage Constraints

a. North
b. Mid
c. South

Sufficient wind speeds

The performance of wind turbines is a function of wind speed. 
A 1.5km2 grid GIS data layer has been established for the 
Powys area and associated average annual wind speed at 
45m above ground level (agl) has been attributed to reach 
respective 1.5km2 cell. It has then been assumed that there is 
no wind potential in areas with an average annual wind speed 
of less than 6.0m/s.

Maps have been produced that show areas of sufficient wind 
speed. One colour denotes areas that have sufficient wind 
speed but does not apply exclusion buffers around existing 
development and another with the buffer constraint applied. 
The maps are labelled as follows:

Page 96



AECOM Renewable and Low Carbon Energy Assessment 19
 
Capabilities on project: 
Building Engineering 

2. Sufficient wind speeds
a. North
b. Mid
c. South

Maximum available wind resource 

This report has assumed that a maximum of five 2 MW wind 
turbines can be installed on 1km2 of land: sites unable to 
support 5MW of generation have been removed from the maps 
at this stage. 

Once the total area of unconstrained wind resource is 
established the total potential installed capacity can be 
calculated.  Similarly, assuming that over the course of a year 
a 2 MW wind turbine will only generate energy for 27% of the 
time [2,365 hours], the total potential energy [GWh] can be 
calculated. 

The installed capacity figure represents the maximum 
accessible wind resource in Powys, including areas of land 
within the SSA of Carno North, Newtown South, and Nant Y 
Moch.  This figure does not take into consideration the impact 
on landscape character. 

Table 11: Maximum potential wind resource [km2] for 
Powys excluding impact on landscape. 

Wind Resource 
Priority Area [km2] Potential GWh 

generated

1 198.06 4,684.12

2 66.30 1,568.00

5 60.85 1,439.10

6 22.51    532.36

Total 347.72 8,223.58

Local Search Areas (after application of steps 1 & 2)

Maps have been produced that show the location of land 
remaining once all constraints are removed: these areas are 
referred to as Local Search Areas. The maps are labelled as 
follows:

3. Local Search Areas
a. North
b. Mid
c. South

These maps illustrate the Local Search Areas referred to in 
Powys County Council Renewable Energy planning policies. 
Given the difficulties associated with identifying and 
developing land parcels for wind developments, it is intended 
that LSAs will be protected for wind energy development 
only.

Impact on landscape character 

The impact on landscape character, although not considered a 
‘constraint’ that would prevent the practical deployment of wind 
energy development, was recognised as a significant factor to 
be mindful of when reviewing opportunities for wind energy 
development across Powys.  

An exercise can be undertaken whereby areas that are 
recorded as having a ‘high’ or ‘outstanding’ value attributed to 
them within the ‘Character & Scenic Quality’ column within the 
‘Visual & Sensory’ Layer of LANDMAP can be identified and 
constrained within GIS maps: this exercise has not be 
undertaken as part of this assessment. 

Cumulative impacts

It is recognised that only a minor proportion of the 
‘unconstrained’ land identified will be able to be built out. This 
is because as wind farms are developed they effectively either 
prevent other sites situated close by from being developed or 
there is a need to avoid ‘cumulative impacts’.

An illustrative exercise has been undertaken as part of this 
assessment that demonstrates how the consideration of 
cumulative impacts reduces the unconstrained or available 
land: the exercise effectively demonstrates the ‘best case 
scenario’ and is therefore used to inform target setting. 

This exercise has removed the following land parcels:

 Unconstrained land within TAN8 already earmarked 
for wind development

 Removed land slivers of fire breaks and tracks that 
previous GIS was showing as ‘unconstrained’

 Buffered existing wind turbines by 7km
 Undertaken theoretical build out exercise whereby 

each new wind farm is buffered by 7km: the largest 
and most likely sites to be developed were utilised as 
starting points (this process utilised the prioritisation 
method as outlined in the Renewable Energy: A 
Toolkit for Planners – Welsh Government 2015.

Page 97



AECOM Renewable and Low Carbon Energy Assessment 20
 
Capabilities on project: 
Building Engineering 

The table below confirms the maximum potential wind resource 
for Powys including cumulative impact. 

Table 12: Maximum potential wind resource [km2] for 
Powys including cumulative impact. 

Wind Resource 
Priority Area [km2] Potential GWh 

generated 

1 28.31 669.53

2 14.19 335.59

5 19.65 464.72

6 5.66 133.86

Total 67.81 1,603.70 

Maps have been produced that illustrate the result of applying 
the prioritisation method as set out in ‘Renewable Energy: A 
Toolkit for Planners (2015). The maps are labelled as follows: 

4. LSA sites in order of priority
a. North
b. Mid
c. South

A further set of maps have been produced to show how the 
land may be developed for wind generation if unconstrained 
parcels are built out exactly according to prioritisation of ‘best’ 
sites. The maps are labelled as follows:

5. Cumulative Impacts
a. North
b. Mid
c. South

These maps, as they are ‘best case scenario’ have been used 
to inform targets.

Restrictions on development

A further map has been produced that show which LSAs have 
the capacity to host greater than 25MW capacity: in these 
cases development will be restricted to between 5MW and 
25MW.

Further constraints to wind energy sites 

Further constraints to onshore wind development not 
considered within this REA include [and this is not meant to be 

an exhaustive list] the practical access to sites required for 
development, landowner willingness for development to go 
ahead, political will, the time to complete planning procedures 
and an economic distance to the nearest appropriate electricity 
grid connection. 

Wind energy sites, by nature, are most usually situated in rural 
settings away from residential development and where the 
wind resource is least constrained. This can mean that there is 
often no opportunity to utilise on-site the outputs from wind 
energy sites leaving export of electricity to grid as the only 
option. This REA has not utilised national grid data but it is 
recognised that Powys may wish to investigate overlaying GIS 
layers of the energy networks data available to them. 

 

Potential opportunities for future development  

In relation to wind energy sites, potential opportunities for PCC 
are: 

 Investment interest of Energy Services Companies 
[ESCOs] may be secured through the identification of 
appropriate sites.

 Large scale renewable installations can provide significant 
revenue streams to LA’s.

 

Page 98



AECOM Renewable and Low Carbon Energy Assessment 21
 
Capabilities on project: 
Building Engineering 

Biomass Energy Resource 

The focus of this section of the REA is on establishing the 
potential biomass resource defined as either: 

 Energy crops [miscanthus & short-rotation coppice] or 

 Wood fuel resource 

There is no consideration of the utilisation of straw as an 
energy source as Wales is a net importer. 

Unlike wind farms, biomass can be utilised for the generation 
of both electricity and heat & domestic hot water [DHW]. The 
use of energy crops, forestry residues and recycled wood 
waste for energy generation can have a number of 
advantages: 

 Provide opportunities for agricultural diversification 

 Encourage increased management of woodland 

 Can have positive effects on biodiversity 

 Remove biodegradable elements from the waste stream 

 CO2 savings if replanting occurs and long distance 
transportation is avoided 

The Welsh Government’s Energy Policy Statement [2010] 
confirms a target of 1,000 MWe (1GWe) capacity from 
biomass by 2020.  This is the equivalent of circa 7 TWh.  
Powys currently has an installed capacity of 2.5 MWe from 
biomass CHP. 

Constraints to biomass energy resource 

To establish the potential biomass energy resource across an 
area, consideration should be given to the spatial constraints 
associated with restrictions to harvesting energy crops and 
wood fuel.  This assessment used the following principal 
constraints to biomass energy to establish the maximum 
potential biomass energy resource across Powys.  A 
comprehensive description of the method used for Powys is 
given in Appendix B. 

 Agricultural land classification 

 Areas of broadleaved woodland 

 Areas of environmental protection (including ancient 
woodlands)

 Areas of historic and cultural importance 

 

 
Energy Crops 

The principal constraint to harvesting energy crops across 
Powys is the availability of suitable agricultural land.  So as 
not to conflict with the growing of food crops, this study has 
assumed that energy crops can only be potentially grown on 
agricultural land of grades 3b and4, which is not constrained 
by environmental or historical protected areas.  The majority 
[95%] of agricultural land across Powys is classified as either 
Grade 4 or 5, the latter likely being unsuitable for growing 
energy crops. The exclusion of ALC grade 5 land means there 
is no overlap with other uses such as for Solar PV farms (ALC 
grade 5 only). 

Based on the above constraints the theoretical maximum area 
of land that could be planted with energy crops across Powys 
is identified as 2,263.05 km2.  This gives consideration to 
existing agricultural land classifications, environmental and 
cultural constraints on the land.  

This assessment has assumed that 10% of the suitable land 
area identified for energy crops could actually be planted with 
energy crops.  This reflects a range of factors including 
competition with other crops and livestock as well as 
unsuitable topography.  Therefore, the total usable area of 
land for energy crops across Powys is 226.31 km2. 

The Planning for Renewable and Low Carbon Energy – A 
Toolkit for Planners, confirms an average figure of 1,200 oven 
dried tonnes [odt] of energy crops can be delivered per km2.  
Therefore the total energy crop yield across Powys is 271,572 
odt per annum. 

 

Installed Power and Heat Generation Capacity 

The amount of energy that the potential quantity of biomass 
could produce will be dependent on whether the fuel is burnt 
in facilities that only generate electricity [and the waste heat is 
not usefully used], or produce Combined Heat and Power 
[where the heat is usefully used], or is burnt in a boiler to 
produce heat only. 

It has been assumed that the energy crop resource is used to 
fuel a biomass CHP system to produce electricity and utilise 
any waste heat.  A typical biomass CHP system will require 
about 6,000 odt of energy crops for each 1MWe of installed 
power generation capacity.  The biomass CHP system will 
also produce about 2 MWt of thermal output at the same time 
from the waste heat. 

Page 99



AECOM Renewable and Low Carbon Energy Assessment 22
 
Capabilities on project: 
Building Engineering 

Table 13 confirms the maximum potential energy crop 
resource for Powys.   

Table 13: Total potential energy crop resource for Powys. 

 

Available area [km2] 2,263.05 

Usable area [km2]    226.31

Yield [odt per km2] 1,200 

Yield [odt] 271,572 

Required yield per MWe 6,000 

Installed capacity [MWe] 45.26

Heat to power ratio 2:1 

Installed capacity [MWt] 90.52

 

Wood Fuel 

The total area of national forest across Powys as identified by 
the National Forestry Inventory [NFI] database is 688 km2, of 
which 256 km2 is located in Forestry Commission owned land. 

The Bioenergy Action Plan for Wales confirms that 60 oven 
dried tonnes [odt] of available wood fuel per km2 of woodland 
per annum.  Therefore the total wood fuel yield from all 
national forest across Powys is 41,280 odt per annum, of 
which 15,360 odt per annum could be derived from Forestry 
Commission owned land. 

This is a long term, annual averaged sustainable yield, based 
on wood fuel that can be harvested from the small round wood 
stems, tips and branches of felled timber trees and thinnings, 
as well as poor quality round wood.  This figure takes into 
account of competition from other markets in Wales, such as 
particle board manufacturing.  The figure also takes into 
account technical and environmental constraints. 

Installed Power and Heat Generation Capacity 

The amount of energy that the potential quantity of biomass 
could produce will be dependent on whether the fuel is burnt 
in facilities that only generate electricity [and the waste heat is 
not usefully used], or produce Combined Heat and Power 

[where the heat is usefully used], or is burnt in a boiler to 
produce heat only. 

It has been assumed that the energy resource from wood fuel 
is utilised for heat only [i.e. a biomass boiler].  A heat only 
facility will require about 660 odt of wood fuel for each 1MWt 
of installed thermal generation capacity. 

The table below confirms the maximum potential biomass 
resource for Powys.   

Table 14: Total potential energy resource from wood fuel 
for Powys. 

 Wood fuel 

Available area [km2] 688 

Usable area [km2] 688 

Yield [odt per km2] 60 

Yield [odt] 41,280 

Required yield per MWt 660 

Installed capacity [MWt] 62.5 

 

Of the potential 62.5 MWt that could be derived from 
woodland residue across Powys, 23.3 MWt could be derived 
from Forestry Commission owned land. 

Further constraints to biomass energy resource  

Although where areas of land have been indicated as having 
potential for the growing of energy crops, further detailed 
studies are required prior to action. Furthermore, market 
demand is likely to play a key role in what, and how much is 
planted. 

Even where there is local demand for a biomass supply 
constraints, not considered within this REA, include [and 
this is not meant to be an exhaustive list] the proximity of 
plant and practical access to sites required for preparation 
and delivery of fuel. 

In terms of plant, landowner willingness, political will, the 
time to complete planning procedures and an economic 
distance to the nearest appropriate electricity grid 
connection will all be key considerations but are not 
included within this assessment. 

Page 100



AECOM Renewable and Low Carbon Energy Assessment 23
 
Capabilities on project: 
Building Engineering 

Biomass energy generation [whether generating heat, power 
or both], by nature, is most usually situated a small distance 
away from residential development [though close enough to 
supply heat], where there is room for the development 
including fuel storage and access for large delivery vehicles. 

This REA has not utilised national grid data but the LPA 
may wish to investigate overlaying GIS layers of the energy 
networks data available to them. 

 

Potential opportunities for future development 

In relation to biomass energy generation, potential 
opportunities for PCC are: 

 Investment interest of Energy Services Companies 
[ESCOs] may be secured through the identification of 
appropriate sites and heat demand 

 Large scale renewable installations can provide 
significant revenue streams to LA’s. 

 

 

Page 101



AECOM Renewable and Low Carbon Energy Assessment 24 
 
Capabilities on project: 
Building Engineering 

Energy from Waste 

Local Waste Planning Authorities [LWPAs] will have developed 
detailed plans on how to treat the Municipal Solid Waste 
[MSW] stream arising in the LWPA area. Some LWPAs, such 
as Powys County Council, will have worked with neighbours 
and Regional Waste Teams to investigate preferred options for 
the treatment of waste. It is these plans that will inform which 
particular technologies will be employed, their capacities and 
preferred locations. Therefore, this REA should be utilised to 
inform current and future local and / or regional waste 
strategies to ensure that planned generation of energy from 
waste plant is utilised to the fullest extent 

Less is known about the plans of commercial waste operators 
to treat commercial and industrial waste streams. 
Organisations involved in such activity should be fully engaged 
to ensure that opportunities to utilise energy are not lost. 

Further guidance should be sought from the Welsh 
Government in relation to whether energy from waste [EfW] 
from some or all EfW technologies is, or will be, considered to 
be ‘renewable’ energy and, where it is confirmed to be 
‘renewable’, for what proportion of the residual waste stream 
[the proportion usually refers to the proportion of residual waste 
deemed to be the biodegradable [BD] element]. 

Towards Zero Waste describes the long term framework for 
resource efficiency and waste management up to 2050.  It 
proposed the following targets for municipal waste: 

 A minimum of 70% of waste being reused, recycled or 
composted by 2025; 

 A maximum level of 30% energy being created from waste 
by 2025; 

 Wales to achieve zero waste by 2050. 

Other targets for consideration include no more than 75% of 
the 1995 biodegradable element of the municipal waste stream 
can be land-filled by 2010 and that waste fuelled CHP must 
achieve an operating efficiency of a minimum of 65% [EU 
Landfill Directive]. The NWSW is currently under review which 
is likely to generate targets for future treatment of waste. 

Additional potential energy sources derived from waste as 
reported on in the Bioenergy Action Plan for Wales include 
food waste; agricultural wastes; and sewage sludge.  As such 
this section of the REA will report under the following 
subheadings: 

 Commercial and Industrial Waste 

 Municipal Solid Waste 

 Agricultural Waste 

 Sewage Sludge 

A comprehensive breakdown of assumptions and methodology 
behind this calculation are given in Appendix C. 

 

Commercial and Industrial Waste 

The total predicted C&I waste across Powys in 2026, derived 
from the North Wales Regional Waste Plan, and the South 
Wales Regional Waste Plan, has been calculated as 78,090 
tonnes.  However, to avoid conflict with existing recycling 
targets, it has been assumed that only 30% of this waste 
stream would be available for energy recovery.  Therefore the 
total predicted C&I waste that could be used for energy 
recovery across Powys in 2026 is 23,427 tonnes. 

Energy from Waste facilities in Wales are required to be at 
least 65% efficient and therefore cannot generate electricity 
without using some of the heat. It has therefore been assumed 
that C&I waste will be burnt in facilities that produce Combined 
Heat and Power where the heat is usefully used or burnt. 

Assuming that 10,320 tonnes of waste per annum are required 
for each 1MWe of electricity generating capacity in a CHP 
plant, and that a CHP facility will also produce about 2MWt of 
thermal output at the same time from the waste heat, the total 
potential capacity that could be supported by the C&I waste 
stream would be:  2.3 MWe and 4.6 MWt. 

However, under the requirements of the EU Renewable 
Directive21, which is the basis for the UK’s target of 15% of 
energy to come from renewable sources by 2020, only the 
biodegradable fraction of energy generation from waste is 
eligible to count towards the target. There is no specific 
guidance in Wales on what the biodegradable fraction should 
be assumed to be in future. The UK Government consultation 
on the re-banding of the Renewables Obligation suggested that 
the anticipated future biodegradable fraction, by 2020, would                                      
be about 35%, compared to a current nominal level of about 
50%2223. 

Therefore assuming that 35% of the power and energy output 
of any waste facility count as renewable, the renewable 
electricity and heat capacity across Powys for C&I waste would 
be:  0.8 MWe and 1.6 MWt respectively, as shown in Table 15 
overleaf.

21 See 
http://eurlex.europa.eu/LexUriServ/LexUriServ.do?uri=OJ:L:2009
:140:0016:0062:EN:PDF
22 See para. 9.10 of the Government Response to the Statutory 
Consultation on the Renewables Obligation Order 2009, 
December
23 see http://www.berr.gov.uk/files/file49342.pdf 

Page 102

http://eur-lex.europa.eu/LexUriServ/LexUriServ.do?uri=OJ:L:2009:140:0016:0062:EN:PDF
http://eur-lex.europa.eu/LexUriServ/LexUriServ.do?uri=OJ:L:2009:140:0016:0062:EN:PDF
http://www.berr.gov.uk/files/file49342.pdf


AECOM Renewable and Low Carbon Energy Assessment 25 
 
Capabilities on project: 
Building Engineering 

Table 15:  Commercial and Industrial waste resource for 
Powys 2026 

 
Commercial & Industrial 
Waste 

Total waste [tonnes] 78,090 

Total residual waste [tonnes] 23,427 

Required wet tonnes per 
1MWe 10,320 

Potential installed capacity 
[MWe] 2.3 

Total renewable element 35% 

Potential installed capacity 
[MWe] 0.8 

Heat to power ratio 2:1 

Potential installed capacity 
[MWt] 1.6 

 

Municipal and Solid Waste 

The total predicted MSW across Powys in 2026, derived from 
the North Wales Regional Waste Plan, and the South Wales 
Regional Waste Plan, has been calculated as 117,541 tonnes. 

However, at the time of writing Powys County Council 
confirmed that they are in the process of appointing a supplier 
to export all domestic food waste to anaerobic digestion 
facilities that operate outside of the LPA area.  This REA study 
therefore assumes that there will be no potential for Powys to 
derive energy from domestic food waste. 

Whilst it is recognised that non organic food waste could be 
burnt to produce electricity and heat in a CHP system, as 
stated above, the EU Renewable Directive confirms that only 
the biodegradable fraction of energy generation from waste is 
eligible to count as renewable.  Thus, if food waste is excluded 
from the total MSW, it is unlikely that a significant proportion of 
biodegradable waste will remain. 

Agricultural Waste 

Animal Manure 

The total numbers of cattle and pig across Powys have been 
confirmed as 205,951 and 5,060 respectively24. 

Assuming that each cattle produces 1 tonne of slurry a month, 
and each pig produces 0.1 tonnes per month, and assuming 
that slurry is only collected for 6 months of the year25 the total 
tonnage of available manure across Powys is:  1,238,742 
tonnes. 

However, in practice, it will not be possible or practical to 
collect all of this potential resource.  This will be because many 
farms will not use a slurry system, but will collect the excreta as 
solid manure mixed with bedding which is then spread on the 
fields. Furthermore, it will not be practical to collect the slurry 
from some of the farms, because they may be too small or too 
dispersed for this to be economically viable. 

The NFU Cymru and FUW were contacted to establish the split 
between the use of slurry and non-slurry systems on farms in 
Powys.  However, no response was received.  This study has 
therefore assumed that 50% of the farms use a slurry based 
system and that of these, it would be feasible to capture the 
slurry from 50%.  Therefore the total available resource across 
Powys is:  309,686 tonnes. 

An Anaerobic Digestion plant would be suitable to use animal 
slurry to produce both electric and heat.  Assuming that 
225,000 wet tonnes of slurry are needed to produce 1MWe, 
and that the heat to power ratio of an Anaerobic Digestion plant 
is 1.5 to 1, the potential installed capacity is:  1.4 MWe and 2.1 
MWt [Table 16 over leaf]. 

24 Agricultural Small Area Statistics 2002 to 2009, Welsh Government 
25 Assuming that livestock will only be kept under cover for, 
approximately, 6 months of the year. 

Page 103



AECOM Renewable and Low Carbon Energy Assessment 26 
 
Capabilities on project: 
Building Engineering 

Table 16:  Potential installed capacity from total available 
animal slurry resource in Powys in 2026 

 Animal slurry 

Total livestock [Cattle & Pigs] 211,011 

Total slurry [tonnes] 1,238,742 

Usable slurry [tonnes] 309,686 

Required wet tonnes per 
MWe 225,000 

Potential installed capacity 
[MWe] 1.4 

Heat to power ratio 1.5:1 

Potential installed capacity 
[MWt] 2.1 

 

Poultry Litter 

The total number of poultry recorded across Powys have been 
confirmed as 1,598,04027.  The location of existing poultry 
farms across Powys have been established and have been 
illustrated on the energy opportunity plans.  Given the spatial 
distribution of poultry farms across Powys, this report has 
assumed that 80% of poultry farms could provide poultry litter 
for conversion into energy. 

Data is available from DEFRA which provides the amount of 
excreta produced by different types of poultry28. This suggests 
a figure of 42 tonnes of litter per year per 1,000 birds29. 

26 The number of poultry was taken from the WAG Statistical 
Directorate Agricultural Small Areas spreadsheet - worksheet Regions'. 
27 Agricultural Small Area Statistics 2002 to 2009, Welsh 
Government
28 See the DEFRA leaflets on guidance to famers in Nitrate Vulnerable 
Zones, leaflet 3, table 3, see 
http://www.defra.gov.uk/environment/quality/water/waterquality/diffuse/ 
nitrate/documents/leaflet3.pdf  
29 Based on the figure for laying hens, which is 3.5 tonnes per month 

Table 17: Potential installed capacity from total available 
poultry litter resource in Powys in 2026 

 

An Anaerobic Digestion plant would be suitable to use poultry 
litter to produce both electric and heat.  Assuming that 11,000 
tonnes of litter per annum are needed to produce 1MWe, and 
that the heat to power ratio of an Anaerobic Digestion plant is 
1.5 to 1, the potential installed capacity is:  4.9 MWe and 7.3 
MWt respectively. 

In practice, as the potential capacity is less than 10MWe, it is 
unlikely that this would be enough to support a dedicated 
poultry litter power plant. However, the resource could be 
combined with animal slurry to support an anaerobic digestion 
facility of 6.3 MWe. 

Poultry litter 

Total poultry26 1,598,040 

Accessible Poultry [80%] 1,278,432 

Total litter [tonnes] 53,694 

Required tonnes of litter per 
MWe 11,000 

Potential installed 
capacity [MWe] 4.9 

Heat to power ratio 1.5 

Potential installed 
capacity [MWt] 7.3 

Page 104

http://www.defra.gov.uk/environment/quality/water/waterquality/diffuse/nitrate/documents/leaflet3.pdf
http://www.defra.gov.uk/environment/quality/water/waterquality/diffuse/nitrate/documents/leaflet3.pdf


AECOM Renewable and Low Carbon Energy Assessment 27 
 
Capabilities on project: 
Building Engineering 

Sewage Sludge 

The population of Powys in 2026 based on a population trend 
between 2000 and 2010 was projected as 140,066.  Assuming 
that the average amount of sewage produced per person per 
year is 0.03 tonnes the total sewage sludge across Powys 
equates to circa 4,200 tonnes. 

An Anaerobic Digestion plant would be suitable to sewage 
sludge to produce both electric and heat.  Assuming that 
13,000 tonnes of dry solids are needed to produce 1MWe, and 
that the heat to power ratio of an AD plant is 1.5 to 1, the 
potential installed capacity is:  0.32 MWe and 0.48 MWt 
respectively. 

Table 18: Potential installed capacity from total available 
sewage sludge resource 

 Sewage Sludge 

Population [2026]30 140,066 

Sewage per person [tonnes] 0.03 

Total sewage [tonnes] 4,200 

Required tonnes of sewage 
per MWe 13,000 

Potential installed 
capacity [MWe] 0.32 

 

At present, about 0.1 MWe is already being generated in the 
County, which is just under a third of the available resource. 
Given the dispersed settlement patterns across rural Powys it 
may be that the remainder of the resource is too dispersed for 
generation to be practical, as such it has been assumed that 
there is no additional resource available for sewage sludge. 

 

 

                                                          

30 Based on a population of 131,300 in Powys in 2010 
[www.nomisweb.co.uk] and an average annual change in population of 
1.00405 [average population change in Powys between 2000 and  
2010]. 

Page 105

http://www.nomisweb.co.uk/


AECOM Renewable and Low Carbon Energy Assessment 28 
 
Capabilities on project: 
Building Engineering 

Hydro Power Energy Resource 

Existing hydro power installations across Powys have a 
combined total installed electrical capacity of 8.8 MWe, of which 
the Elan Valley Hydro Scheme and the Caban Coch site 
generate circa 3.1 MWe and 1.0 MWe respectively.  However, 
there is significant potential across Powys to deliver additional 
renewable electricity. 

The Environment Agency has published a study into the 
potential for small scale hydro power generation across England 
and Wales31. The results of which have been included within 
this study to establish the total potential resource across Powys. 

The table below confirms the total potential hydropower capacity 
according to their relative environmental sensitivity to 
exploitation. 

Table 19:  Potential hydropower capacity in Powys according 
to environmental sensitivity. 

Environmental sensitivity Installed capacity [MWe] 

Low 0.1 

Medium 1.7 

High 51.3 

Total 53.0 

 

Given that the existing installed capacity of 8MWe has already 
surpassed the predicted uptake of sites with a ‘low’ and ‘medium’ 
sensitivity, it is suggested that the potential hydro power resource 
across Powys could comprise those sites of low and medium 
sensitivity as well as  25% of the high sensitivity sites equating to 
14.6 MW in total. 

31 Mapping Hydropower Opportunities and Sensitivities in England 
and Wales: Technical Report, Entec UK on behalf of Environment 
Agency [2010] 

Page 106



AECOM Renewable and Low Carbon Energy Assessment 29 
 
Capabilities on project: 
Building Engineering 

Solar PV Farms 

This section provides a summary assessment of the potential 
for Solar PV Farms in the Powys County Council LPA area. 

Background: Solar Photovoltaic Arrays

Photovoltaic (PV) solar cells / panels generate renewable 
electricity from the direct conversion of solar irradiation. 
PV is recognised as one of the key technologies in 
helping to meet the UK target of 15% renewable energy 
from final consumption by 2020. In 2012, 84% of all new 
renewable installations across Wales were Solar PV this 
figure is expected to increase due to a high level of 
interest in larger stand-alone (ground-mounted) 
installations.

DECC defines a “stand-alone” installation as a “solar 
photovoltaic electricity generating facility that is not wired 
through a building, or if it is wired through a building, the 
building does not have the ability to use 10% or more of 
the electricity generated”: this is typically a PV farm 
greater then 5MWe installed capacity (though dependent 
upon the electricity use of the building it is wired to). This 
definition is important as it defines qualifying rate of FiT.

As a relatively new phenomenon there is no standard 
agreed approach to constraints mapping for Solar PV 
Farms. This section therefore provides an approach, 
developed by AECOM on behalf of the Welsh 
Government, as to how to undertake a high-level 
assessment of the potential solar resource for ‘stand-
alone’ PV farms.

Mapping

Maps have been produced to illustrate at each stage of 
the process the application of the method to identify 
spatial constraints and opportunities. At each stage, for 
ease of reading, maps have been split between northern, 
central and southern Powys. Throughout, references will 
be made to titles and reference numbers to correspond 
with maps contained in the accompanying document 
‘Renewable and Low Carbon Energy Assessment – 
Maps’

Constraints to solar PV farm resource 

To establish the solar PV farm resource across an area, 
consideration should be given to the spatial constraints 
associated with restrictions associated with buildings and other 
infrastructure, environmental and heritage constraints, slope 
and topology and land use. This assessment used the 
following principal constraints to establish the maximum 
potential PV farm energy resource across Powys.  A 

comprehensive description of the method used for Powys is 
given in Appendix E. Constraints include:

 Existing built environmental and infrastructure

 Environmental and heritage constraints

 Slope and topology

 Agricultural land classification 

 Areas of broadleaved woodland 

 Areas of environmental protection 

 Areas of historic and cultural importance 

The following maps illustrate the environmental and heritage 
constraints to solar PV farm development, 

1. Environmental and Heritage Constraints 
a. North
b. Mid
c. South

The performance of a photovoltaic panel system is 
directly related to the inclination, orientation and degree 
of shading of the panels. For the purposes of refining the 
areas suitable for PV farm development, assumptions 
have been made on the suitability of slope gradient and 
orientation for PV deployment. Data from Ordinance 
Survey, Terrain 50 dataset has been used to establish 
orientation of slope and potential for shading is contained 
within the. The following assumptions have been applied 
in this study:

Applying the above constraints provides a spatial indication of 
the maximum accessible ‘stand-alone’ solar PV resource in 
Powys. It can be seen with Solar PV farms that, even when all 
of the environmental and heritage constraints are removed and 
assessed for orientation there remains many sites potentially 
available for development. Based on the above slope & 
topology, environmental and heritage constraints, the area of 

Suitability of sites Inclinations

All suitable: 0-3o from the 
horizontal

Only south-west to south 
east facing areas are 
suitable. All other 
orientations are 
considered constrained

Inclinations between 
3-15o from the 
horizontal

All constrained Inclinations >15o from 
the horizontal

Page 107



AECOM Renewable and Low Carbon Energy Assessment 30 
 
Capabilities on project: 
Building Engineering 

land that could form a Local Search Area for PV Solar Farms 
across Powys is identified as 140.27 km2.  

Solar PV Maps 2 (S2) is as follows:

2. Orientation with Environmental constraints removed 
a. North
b. Mid
c. South

The location of built up areas and existing infrastructure is 
often a significant constraint to the deployment of large-
scale ‘stand-alone’ PV farms and such features and 
geographic extents are mapped and excluded. This 
means that removing developed areas, sites where there 
are existing stand-alone renewable energy technologies 
as well as the areas ‘protected’ for wind development e.g. 
the SSAs and new LSAs.

In addition, ‘Stand-alone’ large-scale PV farms must be 
appropriately sited; this means utilising lower grade 
agricultural land (preferably of Agricultural Land 
Classification 5 , or promoting the effective use of 
contaminated land, brownfield land, and previously 
developed / industrial land under national planning policy 
recommendations. The aim of this is to protect the best 
and most versatile agricultural land; however it is 
understood diversification helps to support agriculturally 
based businesses, promoting multi-functional use of land, 
etc. In all cases potential for benefits is to be weighed 
against this criterion.

Once all of these constraints are taken into consideration, 
the remaining sites can be defined as ‘unconstrained’ and 
these parcels are shown in map S3

3. Unconstrained Sites
a. North
b. Mid
c. South

The remaining sites after step 3 have been broadly 
grouped into areas appropriate for the development of 
Solar Farms. These are the Local Search Areas.

4. Local Search Areas
a. North
b. Mid
c. South

However, in reality, harnessing all of the PV Farm 
resource may result in cumulative impacts (these impacts 
might include visual, landscape or be constrained by 
capacity to feed into the nearest grid connection and/or 
buildings), particularly in more rural areas. 

After giving consideration to existing agricultural land 
classifications (5 only), removing planned new 
development, sites of unconstrained wind potential and 
any potential solar farm sites < 1.2Ha (unlikely to be 
viable), a 3.5km buffer (agreed with Powys County 
Council) has been applied around each potential solar 
farm development to take into account any cumulative 
impact. The result of applying these criteria reduces the 
area of land that could form a Local Search Area for PV 
Solar Farms across Powys to 29.61 km2: this is 
essentially the theoretical maximum of land that can be 
utilised to generate electricity from PV Farms in Powys, 
as shown in the following maps (S5).  

5. Local Search Areas with Cumulative Impact 
a. North
b. Mid
c. South

A comprehensive description of the method employed to 
calculate the theoretical maximum is given in Appendix 
D. 

It should also be noted that the above assessment ignores 
issues of landowner willingness, transport access and available 
grid connection and capacity. 

According to the DECC UK Solar PV Strategy Part 1: 
‘Roadmap to a Brighter Future’, the land area required for 
a 1MW fixed-tilt PV array is approximately 6acres (or 
2.4Ha or 0.024km2). This figure has been utilised to 
calculate the potential installed capacity of each 
unconstrained site. A cut-off equivalent to 0.5MW (i.e. 3 
acres, 1.2Ha or 0.012km2) has been applied, as any sites 
smaller than this are less likely to be viable (commercially 
speaking) for development. A capacity factor (CF) of 0.1 
has been assumed in order to assess the annual energy 
output of the potential installed capacity.

The amount of energy that the potential land area dedicated to 
solar PV could produce in Powys is 1,081GWh.

Where areas of land have been indicated as having potential 
for PV farms, further detailed studies are required prior to 
action. Furthermore, market demand is likely to play a key role 
in what, and how much is developed. 

In terms of plant, landowner willingness, political will, the 
time to complete planning procedures and an economic 
distance to the nearest appropriate electricity grid 
connection will all be key considerations but are not included 
within this assessment. 

Solar PV farms are usually situated a small distance away from 
residential development though, in some cases, a private wire 
feeding electricity to nearby buildings may be viable. Whilst this 
will not change the energy outputs of the PV, it may alter the 
financial and carbon value of the development.

Page 108



AECOM Renewable and Low Carbon Energy Assessment 31 
 
Capabilities on project: 
Building Engineering 

This REA has not utilised national grid data but the LPA may 
wish to investigate overlaying GIS layers of the energy 
networks data available to them. 

Potential opportunities for future development 

In relation to solar PV farms, potential opportunities for PCC 
are: 

 Investment interest of Energy Services Companies 
[ESCOs] may be secured through the identification of 
appropriate sites and heat demand 

 Large scale renewable installations can provide 
significant revenue streams to LA’s. 

Page 109



AECOM Renewable and Low Carbon Energy Assessment 32 
 
Capabilities on project: 
Building Engineering 

Building Integrated Renewable 
Energy Uptake 

This section provides a summary assessment of the potential 
building integrated renewable [BIR] energy technology uptake 
in the Powys County Council LPA area undertaken in 2012. 
More detailed assumptions utilised in the BIR analysis can be 
found in Appendix E. The assessment is based on the method 
detailed in ‘Renewable energy: A toolkit for planners32’. 

The official definition of micro-generation is given in the Energy 
Act 2004 as electricity generating capacity of 50kW or less, 
and heat generating capacity of 45kW or less. However, for the 
purposes of this study, we are using the broader term Building 
Integrated Renewable [BIR]. BIR can include systems that are 
larger than micro-generation, such as biomass boilers for 
schools, which can be up to 500kW of heat output or more. 
However, BIR technologies are still linking to existing or new 
buildings and are therefore distinct, in terms of how their 
potential can be modelled, from the larger scale stand-alone 
technologies. 

The term BIR also excludes those micro-generation 
technologies that are not renewable, such as fuel cells [where 
the hydrogen is produced from mains gas] and small scale 
CHP, using mains gas as the fuel source. This is because, for 
the potential purpose of setting area wide renewable energy 
targets, we are only interested in the potential uptake of those 
micro-generation technologies that are renewable. 

BIR are taken to cover the following technologies: 

 Solar photovoltaic [PV] panels 

 Solar hot water panels 

 Micro building-mounted wind turbines 

 Small free standing wind turbines [15 kW] 

 Micro scale biomass heating [i.e. wood chip or pellet 
boilers or stoves] 

 Ground source heat pumps 

 Air source heat pumps 

Our calculation method includes the uptake of non-renewable 
micro-generation in order to account for those buildings which 
choose to take a non-renewable option. The totals for the low 
carbon technologies are reported in Appendix F, but are 
excluded from the BIR totals.  

32 
http://wales.gov.uk/topics/planning/policy/guidanceandleaflets/toolkitfor 
planners/?lang=en  

The potential BIR uptake analysis is formed of two distinct 
calculations: 

 The uptake of BIR in the existing building stock 
[residential and non-residential] 

 The uptake of BIR in future new buildings [residential and 
non-residential] 

The uptake of BIR in the existing building stock [residential 
and non-residential] is primarily driven by the by financial 
attractiveness of installing BIR and the ease of retrofit.  This 
section is based on statistical data from National databases 

The uptake of BIR in future new buildings [residential and non-
residential] is predominantly driven by future Building 
Regulations and planning policies.  This section is based on 
the Powys County Council Housing Topic Paper and the 
adopted Unitary Development Plan.  

These two calculations are brought together to report the total 
predicted new and existing BIR RE capacity for Powys broken 
down as follows: 

 By 2015; 2020 and 2026; 

 Renewable heat and electricity.  

The Brecon Beacons National Park [BBNP] accounts for 17% 
of the total housing stock and therefore this is applied to the 
total predicted capacity to indicate the approximate split of 
potential BIR capacity across Powys. 

 

BIR uptake in existing buildings 

Existing building stock 

Using Census 2001 data and Welsh Statistics we have built up 
a year by year timeline of the building stock in Powys from 
2001 to 2011. A similar timeline was also generated for 
nondomestic buildings [Bulks and Non-Bulks] based on 
hereditaments data and council-owned property databases. 
This information has been used to establish the age of the 
base case 2008 housing stock, and hence make an 
assumption on the heat demand of the 2008 base case stock. 
By understanding the age of the existing stock, and their heat 
demand, the modelling can recognise the increased benefits of 
installing renewable heat to older properties that are not as well 
insulated, for example. 

 
A further analysis is required to establish the proportion of pre-
1980 housing in the 2008 base case. This is because the 
Building Regulations requiring new constructions to reduce 
their energy consumption33 was not in force before 1980 and a 
higher heating demand is attributed to this proportion of the 
2008 base case housing stock. Welsh Statistics provided a 

33 UK Building Regulations Part L (2010): Conservation of fuel and 
power 

Page 110

http://wales.gov.uk/topics/planning/policy/guidanceandleaflets/toolkitforplanners/?lang=en
http://wales.gov.uk/topics/planning/policy/guidanceandleaflets/toolkitforplanners/?lang=en


AECOM Renewable and Low Carbon Energy Assessment 33 
 
Capabilities on project: 
Building Engineering 

breakdown of the age of the building stock as it was in 2008, 
shown in the pie chart below. 

The pie chart shows that 70% of the 2008 housing stock was 
built before 1981. Combined with the anticipated number of 
new homes in Powys in the LDP plan period34, by the end of 
the plan period in 2026, the pre-1980 homes will still account 
for 61% of the Powys housing stock. Therefore, finding a low 
carbon solution for the older homes in Powys will be vital in 
reducing the overall CO2 emissions of Powys by 2026. 

The calculation for existing building uptake also takes into 
account the proportion of buildings in Powys which are in 
urban, suburban or rural locations, as well as those which are 
flats or houses. The BIR calculation model uses this 
information to make assumptions on the sizes of the homes, as 
well as their potential for renewable energy such as ground 
source heat pumps, which may require a significant amount of 
outdoor space. The pie chart below shows the split of housing 
by urban, suburban or rural classification35. 

Figure 4:  Age of residential stock in Powys [2008]

Figure 5:  Rural/Urban residential split in Powys [2004] 

Results:  BIR uptake in existing buildings 

34 A total of 9,138 new homes between 2011 and 2026 
35 Rural and Urban Area Classification for Super Output Areas, 
2004

The results show that by 2026, the uptake of BIR in existing 
buildings in Powys would equate to 16.6 MW, which consists of 
15.6 MW from renewable heat and 1.0 MW from renewable 
electricity.  

The table below summarise this uptake over the key years 
2015, 2020 and 2026. 

Figure 6:  BIR uptake [cumulative] in existing buildings 

Table 20:  BIR uptake [cumulative] in existing buildings 

Future new buildings 

Building 2015 2020 2026 

Heat [MW] 

Residential 4.2 9.3 15.6 

Non 
Residential 0.0 0.0 0.0 

Sub-total 4.2 9.3 15.6 

Electricity [MW] 

Residential 0.2 0.5 0.8 

Non 
Residential 0.0 0.1 0.2 

Sub-total 0.2 0.6 1.0 

Total 4.4 9.9 16.6 

 

Page 111



AECOM Renewable and Low Carbon Energy Assessment 34 
 
Capabilities on project: 
Building Engineering 

For the future new buildings, the uptake is likely to be 
predominantly driven by future Building Regulations and 
planning policies, requiring new buildings to reduce carbon 
dioxide emissions. In particular, and until Welsh Government 
consults on unilateral changes to devolved Welsh Building 
Regulations, this will be driven by the UK trajectory towards 
zero carbon dwellings by 2016 and for zero carbon 
nondomestic buildings by 2019. The key factors affecting 
uptake of any particular technology for this sector are likely to 
be the combination of technical viability, carbon savings, and 
the level of capital cost to a developer. 

For Powys, the Housing Topic Paper36 sets out a total of 9,138 
homes to be built over the LDP period 2011 to 2026. This 
equates to around 609 homes per year. However, based on 
historic data, Powys has completed only 153 dwellings 
between 2008 and 2009. Therefore, the model carried out a 
sensitivity analysis based on the uptake depending on the rate 
of new build in Powys as follows: 

 Base scenario: 609 homes per year; 

 Sensitivity case:  400 homes per year. 

 Sensitivity case:  200 homes per year. 

 

Results –BIR uptake in future new buildings 

The results of the base scenario show that by 2026, the uptake 
of BIR in new buildings in Powys could equate to 22.8 MW, 
which consists of 15.9 MW from renewable heat and 7.0 MW 
from renewable electricity. 

However, following consultation with Powys County Council 
regarding the modelled development rate of 609 homes per 
year; given the historically low development rate, a lower 
sensitivity rate of 400 homes per year was considered to be 
more appropriate for this assessment.  Therefore, the uptake of 
BIR in new buildings in Powys could equate to 16.5 MW, which 
consists of 11.3 MW from renewable heat and 5.2 MW from 
renewable electricity. 

The figure and table opposite summarise this uptake over the 
key years 2015, 2020 and 2026 for a build out rate of 400 
homes per year. 

Figure 7:  BIR uptake [cumulative] in future new buildings 

36 Appendix 2 Draft Population and Housing Topic Paper [August 
2011] 

 

 

Table 21:  BIR uptake [cumulative] in future new buildings 

 

Overall total for BIR uptake  

Building 2015 2020 2026 

Heat [MW] 

Residential 3.4 5.8 8.6 

Non 
Residential 1.1 1.8 2.7 

Sub-total 4.5 7.6 11.3 

Electricity [MW] 

Residential 0.5 1.7 3.4 

Non 
Residential 0.6 1.2 1.8 

Sub-total 1.1 2.9 5.2 

Total 5.6 10.5 16.5 

Page 112



AECOM Renewable and Low Carbon Energy Assessment 35 
 
Capabilities on project: 
Building Engineering 

This study has found that there is the potential to exploit a 
range of micro-generation technologies across the region. 
Based on the modelling assumptions used, the economically 
viable capacity for micro-generation technologies in Powys is 
circa 15.8 MWt and 6.1 MWe. In most cases the potential is not 
spatially determined but is instead constrained by the size of 
the existing and future building stock.  

The breakdown of estimated potential uptake in installed 
capacity and generated energy for Powys in years 2015, 2020 
and 2026 is shown in the table below. 

Table 22:  Total potential BIR uptake [cumulative] across 
Powys 

Building 2015 2020 2025 

Heat [MW] 

Existing 
building 4.2 9.3 4.5 

Future new 
building 4.5 7.6 11.3 

Sub-total 8.7 16.9 15.8 

Electricity [MW] 

Existing 
building 0.2 0.6 0.9 

Future new 
building 1.1 2.9 5.2 

Sub-total 1.3 3.5 6.1 

Total 10.0 20.4 21.9 

 

2015 BIR uptake review

 
Since undertaking this analysis in 2012, data extracted 
from Ofgem datasets relating to FiT and RHI has 
revealed uptake predictions to have been conservative. 
Uptake of renewable electricity up to the end March 2016 
has been 10.1MW (compared with 1.3MW predicted for 
end 2015) and 68.8MW of renewable heat (compared 
with 8.7MW predicted).

The full analysis has not been re-run but rather the 
following method applied. The Fit and RHI figures have 
been used instead of the 2015 ‘predicted’ figure and then 
the modelled increases (as per the 2012 assessment) 
added to give a revised 2025 prediction. The revised 
figures are as follows:

Building 2015 2020 2025 

Heat [MW] 

Existing 
building 68.8 73.9 79.1 

Future new 
building - 2.1 3.7 

Sub-total 68.8 76.0 82.8 

Electricity [MW] 

Existing 
building 10.1 10.5 10.8 

Future new 
building - 1.8 4.1 

Sub-total 10.1 12.3 14.9 

Total 78.9 88.3 97.7 

Page 113



AECOM Renewable and Low Carbon Energy Assessment 36 
 
Capabilities on project: 
Building Engineering 

Summary of Potential Renewable 
Energy Solutions 

The maximum potential renewable electrical and thermal 
installed capacity across Powys in 2026 was calculated as 
circa 3,440MWe and circa 247MWt. 

The total potential electrical capacity is dominated by potential 
solar PV farm and wind energy deployment, with contributions 
from Biomass CHP, Anaerobic Digestion plants, hydro power 
sites, and building integrated renewable technologies (e.g. 
roof-mounted solar PV).  However, the figure for wind energy 
and solar farm PV represents a maximum potential resource 
(when cumulative impact is considered) and assumes that all 
potential areas would be developed. 

The total potential thermal capacity across Powys in 2026 is 
dominated by potential energy crops for CHP and wood fuel 
resource used in biomass boilers for heating only at circa 
90.52MWt (45.26MWe) and 62.5 MWt respectively.  Potential 
uptake from building integrated renewable energy technologies 
could equate to a further 19 MWt.  Waste heat derived from 
EfW and Anaerobic Digestion plants associated with, 
commercial and industrial waste, and animal slurry contributed 
to the remaining potential. 

Table 23:  Potential renewable energy resource in Powys in 
2026 

37 This figure includes the current planning applications (consented is 
considered as existing) being considered within the SSA plus the 
resource in the wider county. 

Resource Electricity [MWe] Thermal [MWt] 

Wind37 
1,124 - 

Biomass 46 154

Energy from 
Waste 7 11 

Hydro 15 - 

Solar PV Farms 1,234 -

Building Integrated 
15 83 

Total 42,441 247 

Page 114



AECOM Renewable and Low Carbon Energy Assessment 37 
 
Capabilities on project: 
Building Engineering 

Identifying the Local Planning 
Authority Wide Contribution to the 
National Targets

The results of the area wide resource assessment provide an 
indication of the potential installed capacity for different 
technologies (in MW) that can be supported by the available 
resource.  

The UK renewable energy target for 2020 is expressed in 
terms of a percentage of energy demand.  In order to identify 
the potential contribution of Powys to meeting this target, 
estimation is required of how much energy the potential 
capacity might generate. 

A simple and well established way of doing this is to use 
capacity factors [as referred to as load factors].  These factors, 
which vary by technology, are a measure of how much energy 
a generating station will typically produce in a year for any 
given installed capacity.  This reflects the fact that the installed 
capacity is a measure of the maximum amount of power that a 
generating station can produce at any given moment.  
However, for reasons to do with either fuel availability, the 
need for maintenance downtime, or, for heat generating plant, 
a lack of heat demand at certain times of day or year, the 
capacity factor is always less than 1.

The annual energy output can be calculated by multiplying the 
installed capacity by its capacity factor and the number of 
hours in a year [8,760]. 

A summary of the different capacity factors for different 
technologies is given in the table overleaf. 

 

Energy generated from existing renewable sources 

The total electrical energy that is currently being generated 
across Powys (or will be when all currently consented projects 
and those under construction are built) from renewable and low 
carbon energy technologies is circa 810 GWh, which equates 
to circa 133% of the total electrical consumption across Powys 
in 2008 and 134% of the total predicted electrical consumption 
across Powys in 2026.  Electricity generation from large scale 
wind accounts for circa 740 GWh, 121% of total electrical 
consumption across Powys in 2008 or 122% of predicted 
electrical consumption across Powys in 2026. 

The total thermal energy that is currently being generated 
across Powys from renewable and low carbon energy 
technologies is circa 146 GWh, which equates to circa 7.8% of 
the total thermal consumption across Powys in 2008 and 7.6% 
of the total predicted thermal consumption across Powys in 
2026. 

Table 24:  Capacity factors for renewable and low carbon 
technologies 

 

Energy generated from potential renewable sources 

The maximum potential electrical energy that could be 
generated across Powys from renewable and low carbon 
energy technologies (including existing and potential) in 2026 
is circa 5,029 GWh, which equates to circa 30% of the total 
electrical consumption across Wales in 2008.  However, 
excluding the contribution from renewable wind, the total 
potential renewable electricity that could be generated by 2026 
is circa 1631 GWh. 

The maximum potential thermal energy that could be 
generated across Powys from renewable and low carbon 
energy technologies in 2026 is circa 1,014 GWh. 

38 Capacity factors derived from the Planning for Renewable and Low 
Carbon Energy - A Toolkit for Planners. 

Technology Capacity Factor38 

Onshore wind 0.27 

Biomass [electricity] 0.9 

Biomass [heat] 0.5 

Hydropower 0.37 

Energy from Waste 
[electricity] 

0.9 

Energy from Waste [heat] 0.5 

Landfill gas 0.60 

Sewage gas 0.42 

BIR [electricity] 0.1 

BIR [thermal] 0.2 

Page 115



AECOM Renewable and Low Carbon Energy Assessment 38 
 
Capabilities on project: 
Building Engineering 

Table 25:  Existing large scale renewable energy generated 
in Powys

Technology Electricity [MWh] Thermal [MWh] 

Biomass 19,710 24,966

Hydropower 28,523 - 

Landfill Gas 11,038 - 

Wind Power 739,598 -

Other 1,840 -

Total 800,709 24,966

 

Table 26:  Existing small-scale renewable energy 
generated in Powys 

Technology Electricity [MWh] Thermal [MWh] 

Biomass 175

Heat Pumps - 

Photovoltaic 8147 

Solar Thermal - 

Wind Power 526

Total 8848 120,538

Table 27:  Potential renewable electricity generated in 
Powys in 2026

Table 28:  Potential renewable heat generated in Powys in 

2026

Resource Capacity [MWt] MWh generated

Biomass 154 674,520

Energy from 
Waste 11 48,180

Building Integrated 
83 145,416

Total 248 868,116

Page 116



AECOM Renewable and Low Carbon Energy Assessment 39 
 
Capabilities on project: 
Building Engineering 

Setting LPA wide renewable energy targets 

The above figures represent a theoretical maximum renewable 
energy resource that could be delivered by 2026 and it may be 
that developers will not come forward to deliver or more 
detailed individual site studies will constrain the figures further. 

The tables below detail the approach taken by Powys to 
establish realistic targets on the proportion of renewable 
electricity and thermal energy that could be delivered across 
Powys in 2026. 

For larger scale electricity generation, new Local Search Areas 
(LSAs) will be established in addition to the existing Strategic 
Search Areas (SSAs) to encourage wind development of 
between 5MW and 25MW: these sites will be protected for 
wind development. LSAs have also been identified for Solar 
PV Farms but, given the availability of the solar resource, are 
identified to assist developers rather than being afforded the 
‘protected’ status: wind and solar PV is the primary strategy for 
delivering renewable energy generation in Powys.

Renewable heat is, by nature dependent upon a demand for its 
use. The demand for heat in Powys is limited and dispersed 
and therefore does not lend itself to the generation of large 
quantities of renewable heat in the county. However, the 
county does have considerable potential to produce energy 
crop and woody biomass which could facilitate neighbouring 
areas of Wales to generate renewable heat where there is 
demand. Powys could gear up for this role by developing its 
supply chain to deliver biomass generated Combined Heat and 
Power and renewable heat to building stock (both non-
domestic and residential) wherever appropriate: this will be 
secured through an invite by the Council for developers to 
consider these options as part of the planning process.    

Resource Electricity [MW] MWh generated 

Wind 
1,124 2,658,485

Biomass 46 362,664

Energy from 
Waste 7 55,188 

Hydro 15 48,618

Solar PV Farms 1,234 1,080,984

Building Integrated 
15 13,140

Total 2,441 4,219,079

Page 117



AECOM Renewable and Low Carbon Energy Assessment 40 
 
Capabilities on project: 
Building Engineering 

Table 29: Resource summary table for renewable electricity in 2026

Energy 
Technology

Existing 
Installed 
Capacity 
[MW]

Potential 
Installed 
Capacity 
[MW]

Capacity 
Factor

Existing Energy 
Generated 
[MWh]

Additional 
Potential for 
Energy 
Generated [MWh]

Percentage 
delivered by 
2026

Total Additional 
Potential for 
Renewable 
Energy Delivered 
by 2026 [GWh]

Biomass [CHP] 2.5 46 0.90 19,710 362,664 5% 18

Energy from 
Waste

0.0 7 0.90 0 55,188 5% 3

Hydropower 8.8 15 0.37 28,523 48,618 30% 14

Landfill Gas 2.1 0 0.60 11,038 0 100% 0

Wind Power 312.7 1,124 0.27 739,598 2,658,485 25% 665

Solar PV Farms - 1,234 0.10 - 1,080,984 50% 540

Other 0.5 0 0.45 1,971 0 100% 0

BIR 10.1 15 0.10 8,848 13,140 25% 3

Total 336.7 2,441 - 809,688 4,219,079 - 1,243

Projected electrical energy demand [2026] 606

Percentage electricity demand in 2026 potentially met by renewable energy resource 205%

P
age 118



AECOM Renewable and Low Carbon Energy Assessment 41 
 
Capabilities on project: 
Building Engineering 

     Table 30: Resource summary table for renewable heat in 2026

Energy 
Technology

Existing 
Installed 
Capacity 
[MW]

Potential 
Installed 
Capacity 
[MW]

Capacity 
Factor

Existing Energy 
Generated 
[MWh]

Additional 
Potential for 
Energy 
Generated [MWh]

Percentage 
delivered by 
2026

Total Additional 
Potential for 
Renewable 
Energy Delivered 
by 2026 [GWh]

Biomass [CHP] 5.7 154 0.5 24,966 674,520 5% 34

Energy from 
Waste

0.0 11 0.5 0 48,180 10% 5

BIR 60.4 83 0.2 120,538 145,416 25% 36

Total 66.1 248 - 145,504 868,116 - 75

Projected thermal energy demand [2026] 1,463

Percentage thermal demand in 2026 potentially met by renewable energy resource 5%

P
age 119



AECOM Renewable and Low Carbon Energy Assessment 42
 
Capabilities on project: 
Building Engineering 

Energy opportunity assessment 
 

 

Page 120



AECOM Renewable and Low Carbon Energy Assessment 43
 
Capabilities on project: 
Building Engineering 

Energy opportunity assessment 

This component of the REA considers some of the issues 
associated with mapping opportunities for the utilisation of 
renewable and low carbon heat. The analysis of the extent 
to which the utilisation of heat is viable, or likely to be viable, 
comprises a number of levels of complexity ranging from: 

 Heat opportunities mapping

 Developing an energy opportunities plan for district 
heating networks 

 Assessing the technical and financial viability of district 
heating networks 

The reason for the different levels of complexity relates to the 
timing of when each level of analysis should be employed. For 
instance, heat opportunities mapping provides sufficient levels 
of detail for sieving candidate sites and to set a policy requiring 
a developer to investigate a DHN. Any policy requiring specific 
site/building CO2 reduction targets, or connections to DHN, 
requires a more detailed economic and technical appraisal. 

 

Background 

There are a number of reasons for identifying and 
understanding the nature of existing and future energy demand 
and infrastructure: 

 Identification of public sector buildings to act as anchor 
‘heat’ loads [AHLs] 

 To know the energy densities of particular areas. New 
CHP/District Heating technology installations are more 
likely to be economically viable in areas of high density 
energy demand but can be more complex to install. This 
data assists with the identification of sites with significant 
potential 

 The proportions of the relative demand for electricity and 
heat are also useful indicators as to what type of LZC 
technology might be appropriate in a particular area. 

 Areas of high density energy demand may not always 
present the greatest opportunities. Energy density data 
needs to be combined with other data, such as the nature 
of energy demand, the composition of building types and 
uses, the accessible renewable energy resource, land and 
building ownership, existing infrastructure and any 
proposed development in order to isolate the greatest 
opportunity. These opportunities should also be reviewed 
against community priorities to align delivery to local 
requirements. 

 Energy demand can be estimated from the types of 
proposed buildings, the quantity of development and the 
energy efficiency level. Energy efficiency can reduce the 
energy consumption, so it is important to estimate the 
future requirements in this regard. 

 The locations of new development will be needed for 
assessments of strategic opportunities. 

 

Identifying anchor “heat” loads [AHLs] 

‘Anchor heat loads’ pertain to existing buildings with an energy 
demand that could provide economically viable and practical 
opportunities for utilising heat. It is known as an ‘anchor’ load 
because further opportunities [e.g. from nearby buildings] may 
arise for connecting nearby buildings to the original anchor 
load. 

An ‘AHL’ therefore refers to a non-residential energy demand 
that can act as a base for a District Heating [DH] schemes 

Buildings that are located near to a point load [such as social 
housing, etc] and which may benefit from and contribute to the 
viability of DH schemes are known as a ‘cluster’. A ‘cluster’ 
usually refers to a mix of social housing and non-residential 
buildings which, together, represent opportunities due to their: 

 Complementary energy demand profile 

 Planned development programme 

 Commitment to reduce CO2 emissions 

The identification of AHLs and clusters requires the mapping 
of: 

 Buildings owned by organisations with corporate climate 
change mitigation policies and an active commitment to 
reducing their carbon footprint, and; 

 Planned new development / refurbishment by the ‘anchor 
heat load’ organisation. New development is likely to be 
the catalyst for such change. CHP / DH schemes are most 
cost-effective when installed as part of new development 
rather than retro-fitting. 

 Social housing schemes. These organisations are often 
tasked with achieving greater than the minimum 
environmental performance standards. The inclusion of 

such developments in DH/CHP schemes often enhance 
the energy profile to provide further evening, weekend and 
night time energy demands. 

AHLs can help a CHP/DH schemes to become a realistic 
prospect and there are usually particular conditions that need 
to be in place, such as planned new development and / or a 
commercial building / group of buildings with a significant 
demand for heat and / or with an energy profile suitable for the 
installation of a CHP unit. 

Page 121



AECOM Renewable and Low Carbon Energy Assessment 44
 
Capabilities on project: 
Building Engineering 

Given the responsibilities placed upon local authorities and the 
public sector in general for driving the climate change 
mitigation agenda, AHL’s are often provided by buildings such 
as council administration centres, leisure buildings [particularly 
those with swimming pools] and hospitals; although shopping 
arcades and precincts have also been utilised in this way. 

When it is proposed that private commercial buildings provide 
an ‘AHL’ the issue of ‘ownership’ is not as significant as when 
residential units are proposed for this role. The reason for this 
is that it is often impractical for developers to have to negotiate 
with many individual private householders whereas social 
landlords can more readily act on behalf of their tenants. 

Investment interest of ESCOs may be secured through the 
identification of an anchor ‘heat’ load with the intention of 
development into a DH scheme. 

 

Social Housing Associations in Powys 

Housing Associations covering Powys include: 

 Bromford & Carinthia Housing Association 

 Clwyd Alyn HA 

 CT Cantref 

 CT Clwyd 

 First Choice Housing Association 

 Glamorgan & Gwent HA 

 Gwalia Housing Group 

 Melin Homes 

 Mid-Wales HA 

 Newydd HA 

 Wales & West HA 

The location of social housing is given in the energy 
opportunity plans at the end of this section. 

 

Identifying off gas areas 

Off gas areas refer to those areas not served by the gas mains 
network with the result being that many residents and, less 
often, businesses often utilise less economic and more 
polluting fuels for heat and Domestic Hot Water [DHW]. In the 
case of dwellings, this can be a contributing factor to fuel 
poverty. There are several important reasons for identifying 
these areas, namely: 

 The use of fuels other than natural gas for heat and DHW 
often incur additional cost to the user. Whereas the 
economic case [at the time of writing] for the installation of 
renewable heat energy technologies may not be 

particularly attractive in relation to natural gas, these 
increased costs may enable the development of a solid 
business case for the installation of building integrated 
LZC technologies. 

 The reason DH schemes are often not developed in rural 
locations is often the same as the reason why the gas 
network has also not been extended – financial viability. It 
is the case however that rural housing can contribute to 
providing a useful energy demand profile to 
counterbalance the energy demands of commercial 
organisations [daytime requirement only] that may have 
installed CHP or plant large enough to supply DH scheme. 

 CHP / DH fired by alternative fuels such as waste or 
biomass are often located in rural areas or on the urban 
fringe due to the space requirements necessitated by 
storage and vehicle access. They also tend to be located 
on industrial estates which offer opportunities to co-locate 
complementary businesses. 

The maps within this Renewable Energy Assessment do not 
show off gas areas due to lack of access to data. However, it is 
recognised that given the rural nature of Powys, a significant 
number of properties outside of larger settlements are likely to 
be ‘off gas’. 

GIS mapping of these areas could be completed by Powys 
County Council. 

Mapping residential heat demand and density 

A report for DECC39 suggests that DHNs are not feasible 
unless a heat demand is present of at least 3MW/km2. ‘Density’ 
of heat demand refers to kiloWatt hour [kWh] / square 
kilometre [km2] of heat energy consumed in dwellings. 

Information relating to heat densities can be used to inform: 

 The identification of AHLs by providing, or adding to, a 
viable opportunity for the introduction of renewable heat 

 A mix of buildings and energy uses which, together, 
represent a potential complementary energy demand 
profile [dwellings providing evening, weekend and night 
time energy demands as opposed to the normal weekday 
energy demands of commercial organisations] 

 The identification of opportunities relating to social housing 
providers who are often tasked with achieving greater than 
the minimum environmental performance standards. 

When allocating quantities of energy to dwellings or other types 
of buildings it is a useful check to look at national sources of 
data to ensure figures are broadly supported and to check 
whether annual energy consumptions are above or below 
national average. Above national average consumption may 

39 The Potential and Costs of District Heating Networks. A Report 
to the Department of Energy and Climate Change, April 2009

Page 122



AECOM Renewable and Low Carbon Energy Assessment 45
 
Capabilities on project: 
Building Engineering 

indicate lack of energy saving education or a higher proportion 
of poorly insulated buildings, etc. 

When allocating energy consumptions to buildings Technical 
Memorandum [TM] 46 conversions used are average figures 
for particular buildings assuming particular fuels are employed 
[e.g. natural gas is used for heating]. Outputs from this REA 
achieve greater accuracy and add considerable value to 
functionality due to the age and type of buildings, particularly 
dwellings, being identified. 

The importance of identifying residential heat demand and 
density pertains to: 

 The potential demand for heat in any one particular area 

 Contributing to the identification of AHLs 

 Feeding into the analysis of potential LZC solutions 
Residential heat demand across Powys 

Based on the amended DECC energy consumption data for 
Powys, there were no Lower Level Super Output Areas 
[LLSOA] that had a heat density that would be considered 
sufficient for viable connection to district heating networks.  
Two LLSOA had a heat density of greater than 2MW/km2, 
including Newtown Central, and Ystradgynlais [2.28 and 2.62 
MW/km2 respectively].  Therefore our existing heat demand 
map for Powys does not display LLSOA with a heat density 
below this threshold. 

 

Identifying areas of high fuel poverty 

Fuel poverty is a key concern of national governments and 
local authorities alike. Local authorities, including Powys 
County Council, produce reports relating to the number of 
people or households regarded as ‘fuel poor’. Often, it is those 
living in rural parts of the country who suffer disproportionately 
from fuel poverty and this is attributable to a number of factors. 
For example, typically, wages are lower than for those 
employed in more urban areas, there is often a higher 
proportion of unemployed and fewer job opportunities, etc. A 
greater proportion of households are not connected to mains 
services and pay higher prices for fuels such as Liquefied 
Petroleum Gas [LPG] and heating oil. The combination of 
factors means that energy bills can constitute a greater 
proportion of the household costs than for many urban 
households. 

A contributory factor of fuel poverty can also be the lack of 
energy infrastructure in rural locations. Often gas networks 
have not been connected in very rural areas due to high capital 
cost in relation to revenue generated. This means that 
residents of rural locations are forced to seek alternatives to 
natural gas such as LPG, heating oil or some form of solid fuel. 
The upside is that where the installation of a renewable energy 
technology is considered in such locations the economic 

payback and the potential CO2 reductions are proportionately 
better than when considered against natural gas. 

The inclusion of an analysis of fuel poverty in this REA will 
hopefully add value by assisting Powys County Council in its 
targeting of resources to address fuel poverty and this REA 
might be integrated with other tools to assess potentially 
effective ways of addressing the issue. 

 
Energy Efficiency Retrofit Programmes 

Over the next decade, investment into the sector in Wales 
will also come from:

 Nest – Wales’ demand led fuel poverty scheme

 The Welsh Housing Quality Standard

 Feed-In-Tariffs

 Renewable Heat Incentive

 Green Deal 

 Energy Act – giving landlords the responsibility of 
improving the energy efficiency of the private rented sector 
by 2018

 Energy supplier obligations.

Around £1bn over the next decade is likely to be invested into 
the energy performance of Welsh homes. 

Identifying existing DHN & CHP schemes and sources of 
waste heat 

It is important to establish existing energy infrastructure as it 
may provide opportunities for expanded connectivity or 
increased efficiency / viability. Identification of current utilisation 
of renewable energy resources is covered by this Renewable 
Energy Assessment, including the current proportion of 
potential area wide targets being met. 

The utilisation of current sources of waste heat can provide 
opportunities to improve fuel efficiency and secure CO2 
emission reductions. Extending existing infrastructure to 
additional users can increase the viability of a particular 
scheme. 

What is a DHN

A District Heating Network [DHN] is the term given to a system 
providing multiple individual buildings with heat generated from 
a single source. The source is generally a building known as 
an energy centre in which heat can either be generated from 
traditional fossil fuels [from a boiler] or from a low carbon 
source such as biomass. 

Page 123



AECOM Renewable and Low Carbon Energy Assessment 46
 
Capabilities on project: 
Building Engineering 

Heat can be transmitted as hot water, or in some cases steam, 
along buried pipes to a number of buildings in the local area. 
The pipes are known as heat mains. A heat exchanger located 
in each building enables the delivery of heat. 

New controllers are provided (very similar to those fitted and 
linked with gas boilers) to operate the system and buildings 
can retain usually retaintheir internal distribution system (e.g. 
radiators). 

Heat is metered and billed to consumers in much the same 
way that gas or electricity is. This is combined with a service 
charge to cover maintenance of the shared distribution system 
(electricity and gas bills also incorporate a charge for these 
services). 

What is a CHP

Combined heat and power [CHP] is simply where the energy 
centre produces heat as a by-product of electricity generation. 
The heat is used to supply the DH network in the conventional 
way, whilst the electricity is either sold locally or onto the 
wholesale electricity market. The heat from CHP units can also 
be used to meet cooling demands via the use of absorption 
chillers. This can involve either a centralised chiller, distributing 
“coolth” via a chilled water network, or decentralised absorption 
chillers in individual buildings. This approach is sometimes 
referred to as “tri-generation” or CCHP [Combined Cooling 
Heat and Power]. 

Existing DHN and CHP schemes in Powys 

The UK Heatmap [DECC] confirms that there are no large 
scale heat loads [including CHP sites] in Powys.  This is further 
confirmed by the Ofgem [Renewable Obligation Certificates] 
database.  However, Powys County Council confirmed that 
planning permission had been granted to 2.5 MWe biomass 
CHP system at Potter’s Recycling, Welshpool, of which circa 5 
MWt of waste heat could potentially be utilised. 

 

Developing an Energy Opportunity Plan for DHNs 

The bringing together of  various data layers described above, 
together with the location of candidate sites for new 
development, informs the development of an ‘Energy 
Opportunities Plan’. Energy opportunity plans for northern 
Powys, Central Powys and Southern Powys are provided 
below. 

An updated Energy Opportunities Plan has been produced for 
this Renewable Energy Assessment replacing Candidate Sites 
with proposed LDP allocations. In terms of opportunities for 
District Heating connected to residential dwellings, the change 
from candidate to allocated sites has reduced viability in all 
locations. The sites allocated to employment land are potential 
opportunities but securing district heating will be particularly 
dependent upon the types of building uses / processes that co-
locate. New Heat Opportunities maps are presented for the two 
towns considered to have the greatest, albeit likely not viable 
opportunity. The maps are presented in the map companion 
document to this REA.

Evaluation of District Heating Network Opportunities 

The development of the energy opportunity plans for northern 
Powys, Central Powys and Southern Powys enabled AECOM 
and Powys County Council to identify clusters of candidate 
sites located in close proximity to existing public sector 
buildings with a potentially suitable demand for heat..  
Following consultation with Powys County Council, three towns 
were identified that have potential for a heat network, namely:

 Llanidloes; 

 Welshpool; 

 Newtown. 

An evaluation of district heating network opportunities at 
Llanidloes, Welshpool and Newtown is given in the supporting 
document titled:  District Heating Network Evaluation of Site 
Clusters. 

Page 124



AECOM Renewable and Low Carbon Energy Assessment 47
 
Capabilities on project: 
Building Engineering 

Appendices 
 

 

Page 125



AECOM Renewable and Low Carbon Energy Assessment 48 
 
Capabilities on project: 
Building Engineering 

Appendix A:  Wind Energy Resource 
Methodology 

 
The following methodology was used to establish the 
maximum potential wind energy resource across Powys. 

 

Typology of wind turbine used for the assessment 

AECOM have assumed that the following type of onshore wind 
turbine be used for this assessment: 

 Rated output:  2MW 

 Hub height:  80m 

 Rotor diameter:  80m 

 Height to blade tip at highest point [tip height]:  120m 

 

Average Annual Wind Speeds 

AECOM have assumed that there is no wind energy potential 
in areas with an average annual wind speed of less than 
6.0m/s at 45m height above ground level, based on the UK 
AAWS database as reported by DECC. 

 Minimum AAWS:  6.0m/s at 45m agl. 

 

Environmental and Heritage Constraints 

Environmental Constraints 

AECOM have assumed that there will be no wind energy 
potential in the following national and regional environmentally 
designated areas: 

 National Nature Reserves [NNR] 

 RAMSAR Sites 

 Special Areas of Conservation [SAC] 

 Special Protection Areas [SPA] 

 Sites of Special Scientific Interest [SSSI] 

 Broad Leaved Woodland [based on National Forest 
Inventory] 

 Local Nature Reserves 

 

 

Heritage Constraints 

AECOM have assumed that there will be no wind energy 
potential in the following national and regional historically 
designated areas: 

 Within the tip height [120m] of any Scheduled Monuments 
[CADW] 

 Within the tip height [120m] of any Listed Buildings 
[CADW] 

 

Physical Constraints 

Transport Infrastructure 

AECOM have assumed that there will be no wind energy 
potential within the following distances of key transport 
infrastructure as identified by OS Strategi Data: 

 170m [tip height plus 50m] of Motorways [based on OS 
Strategi] 

 170m [tip height plus 50m] of Primary Roads [based on 
OS Strategi] 

 170m [tip height plus 50m] of Railway Lines [based on OS 
Strategi] 

 132m [tip height plus 10%] of A-Roads [based on OS 
Strategi] 

 132m [tip height plus 10%] of B-Roads [based on OS 
Straegi] 

 

Other Physical Constraints 

AECOM have assumed that there will be no wind energy 
potential within the following distances from inland waters as 
identified by OS Strategi Data: 

 Major River [assumed 10m wide] [based on OS Strategi] 

 Secondary River [assumed 5m wide] [based on OS 
Strategi] 

 Minor River [assume 5m wide] [based on OS Strategi] 

 Canals [assume 5m wide] [based on OS Strategi] 

 Lakes [based on OS Strategi] 

 

Residential Noise Constraints 

AECOM have assumed that there will be no wind energy 
potential in the following residential areas: 

 500m from residential properties [as defined by the LLPG] 

Page 126



AECOM Renewable and Low Carbon Energy Assessment 49 
 
Capabilities on project: 
Building Engineering 

 

 Aviation and Radar Constraints 

AECOM have assumed that there will be no wind energy 
potential in the following CAA and MoD aviation exclusion 
zones as identified within the CAA Visual Flight Rules [VFR] 
Charts: 

 Controlled Airspace [including military aircraft low flying 
zones, or Tactical Training Areas] 

 UK Aerodrome Traffic Zones 

 Military Aerodrome Traffic Zones 

 High Intensity Radio Transmission Areas 

 Aerodromes with instant approach procedures outside 
controlled airspace 

Page 127



AECOM Renewable and Low Carbon Energy Assessment 50 
 
Capabilities on project: 
Building Engineering 

Appendix B:  Biomass Energy Resource 
Methodology 

The following methodology was used to establish the maximum 
potential renewable energy resource as derived from Energy Crops 
across Powys. 

 

Proposed Environmental and Heritage Constraints 

AECOM excluded the following designated areas from land that 
could be allocated for energy crops in Powys. 

 Grades 1, 2, 3a & 5 Agricultural Land 

 National Forest 

 Scheduled Monuments 

 Historic Parks and Gardens 

 National Nature Reserve 

 Special Area of Conservation [SAC] 

 Special Protection Area [SPA] 

 Site of Special Scientific Interest [SSSI] 

 

AECOM noted that there is a single Nitrate Vulnerable Zones 
located in Powys [circa 2km west of Bishop’s Castle, 
Shropshire].  However, the NVZ is circa 0.25 km2 in area and 
as such is not considered to have any strategic importance 
with regards to establishing the total potential biomass energy 
crop resource across the whole of Powys. 

 

 

Page 128



AECOM Renewable and Low Carbon Energy Assessment 51 
 
Capabilities on project: 
Building Engineering 

Appendix C:  Energy from Waste 
Resource Methodology 

Total Waste for North Wales 

The table below confirms the reported waste arising by 
waste stream for North Wales up to and including 2013.  
The average annual change in waste consumption was 
used to project the total waste arising up to 2026. 

Table C.1:  Total MSW, and C&I Waste arising across 
North Wales40

Year Municipal 
Solid Waste Industrial Commercial 

2004 504,973 546,663 291,208 

2005 525,172 530,263 297,032 

2006 546,179 514,355 302,973 

2007 568,026 498,924 309,032 

2008 590,747 483,957 315,213 

2009 614,377 469,438 321,517 

2010 638,952 457,233 326,661 

2011 664,510 447,174 330,581 

2012 691,090 439,124 333,226 

2013 718,734 432,977 334,559 

2014 747,483 421,912 339,763 

2015 777,383 411,130 345,048 

2016 808,478 400,623 350,416 

2017 840,817 390,385 355,867 

2018 874,450 380,409 361,403 

2019 909,428 370,687 367,024 

2020 945,805 361,214 372,734 

2021 983,637 351,983 378,532 

2022 1,022,983 342,988 384,420 

2023 1,063,902 334,223 390,400 

40 North Wales Regional Waste Plan 1 Review

2024 1,106,458 325,681 396,473 

2025 1,150,716 317,359 402,640 

2026 1,196,745 309,248 408,903 

 

 
Total Waste for North Powys 

The North Wales Regional Waste Plan confirmed the 
proportion of MSW and C&I waste that was allocated to 
North Powys in 1998/99 as 6.11% and 6.16% respectively.  
Thus the total MSW across North Powys in 2026 was 
calculated as 73,159 tonnes, and the total C&I waste was 
calculated as 44,216 tonnes. 

 

Total Waste for South Powys 

The South Wales Regional Waste Plan confirmed that the 
total MSW across South Powys in 2022 was 44,382 tonnes.  
However, the amount of MSW was predicted to remain the 
same since 2015, as such this figure was assumed to also 
represent the total predicted MSW for South Powys at 
2026. 

The total C&I waste for South Powys was predicted up to 
and including 2021.  The average reduction in C&I waste 
over this period was calculated to be 378 tonnes per 
annum.  Based on the reported 2021 figure of 35,765 
tonnes, the projected 2026 figure for C&I waste across 
South Wales was calculated as 33,875 tonnes. 

 

Total Waste for Powys 

The total MSW across Powys at 2026 was predicted to be 
117,541 tonnes 

The total C&I waste across Powys at 2026 was predicted to 
be 78,090 tonnes 

 

 

 

Page 129



AECOM Renewable and Low Carbon Energy Assessment 52 
 
Capabilities on project: 
Building Engineering 

Appendix D:  Solar PV Farms

The following methodology was used to establish the 
maximum potential solar PV farm energy resource across 
Powys. 

Environmental and Heritage Constraints 

Environmental Constraints 

AECOM have assumed that there will be no solar PV farm 
energy potential in the following national and regional 
environmentally designated areas: 

 National Nature Reserves [NNR] 

 RAMSAR Sites 

 Special Areas of Conservation [SAC] 

 Special Protection Areas [SPA] 

 Sites of Special Scientific Interest [SSSI] 

 Broad Leaved Woodland [based on National Forest 
Inventory] 

 Local Nature Reserves 

 

 
Heritage Constraints 

AECOM have assumed that there will be no solar PV farm 
energy potential in the following national and regional 
historically designated areas: 

 Within 120m of any Scheduled Monuments 
[CADW] 

 Within 120m of any Listed Buildings 
[CADW] 

 

Physical Constraints 

Transport Infrastructure 

AECOM have assumed that there will be no solar PV farm 
energy potential within the following distances of key 
transport infrastructure as identified by OS Strategi Data: 

 170m of Motorways [based on OS Strategi] 

 170m of Primary Roads [based on 
OS Strategi] 

 170m of Railway Lines [based on OS 
Strategi] 

 132m of A-Roads [based on OS Strategi] 

 132m of B-Roads [based on OS 
Straegi] 

 

Other Physical Constraints 

AECOM have assumed that there will be no solar PV farm 
energy potential near inland waters as identified by OS 
Strategi Data: 

 Major River [10m] [based on OS Strategi] 

 Secondary River [5m] [based on OS 
Strategi] 

 Minor River [5m] [based on OS Strategi] 

 Canals [5m] [based on OS Strategi] 

 Lakes [based on OS Strategi] 

 

Residential Constraints 

AECOM have assumed that there will be no solar PV 
energy potential in the following residential areas: 

 500m from residential properties [as defined by the 
LLPG] 

 

 Aviation and Radar Constraints 

AECOM have assumed that there will be no solar PV farm 
energy potential in the following CAA and MoD aviation 
exclusion zones as identified within the CAA Visual Flight 
Rules [VFR] Charts: 

 Controlled Airspace [including military aircraft low flying 
zones, or Tactical Training Areas] 

 UK Aerodrome Traffic Zones 

 Military Aerodrome Traffic Zones 

 High Intensity Radio Transmission Areas 

Aerodromes with instant approach procedures outside 
controlled airspace

Page 130



AECOM Renewable and Low Carbon Energy Assessment 53 
 
Capabilities on project: 
Building Engineering 

Appendix E:  Building Integrated 
Renewable Energy Uptake 
Modelling 

This Appendix sets out the methodology and assumptions 
behind the micro generation uptake modelling.  Renewable 
and low carbon technologies are included in the calculation 
methodology in order to represent the decisions made by 
the building owners. However, the non-renewable uptakes 
are excluded from the totals presented in the main report. 

 

Micro generation uptake in existing stock 

The potential uptake of renewable micro generation 
technologies in the existing housing stock and in the bulk of 
the existing non-residential building stock in was projected 
using a spreadsheet model developed by AECOM. This 
forecasts the uptake of micro generation technologies 
based on information about: 

 The rates at which ‘Primary’ systems come up for 
necessary replacement and at which ‘Discretionary’ 
purchases are considered; 

 The current housing stock and non-residential building 
stock; 

 The identity and attributes of ‘Primary’ heating system 
options [including some renewable energy] and of 
‘Discretionary’ renewable energy systems; and 

 The relationship between system attributes [including 
cost and ‘nuisance’ factors] and purchasing decision-
making – the Choice Model. 

Installations in new homes and new non-residential 
buildings are subject to different drivers and were 
considered separately in this Appendix. 

The system attributes assumed to influence purchasing 
decisions are: 

 Capital cost; 

 Net annual energy costs: electricity & heating fuel costs 
[after any renewable energy savings] minus any 
incomes from feed in tariffs, renewable heat incentive 
and exports of electricity to the grid; 

 Annual maintenance costs; 

 Whether fuel storage is required [e.g. for biomass 
pellets or woodchip]; 

 Whether the garden needs to be dug up [for ground 
source heat pumps installation in homes]; and 

 Whether additional indoor ‘cupboard’ space is needed 
[for micro-CHP units in homes, as the technology is 
typically larger than the generator being replaced]. 

The model accounts for projected real [i.e. excluding 
inflation] changes in costs and prices over time. 

 
Rate of consideration for Primary and Discretionary 
systems 

It is assumed in the model that householders or landlords 
may purchase micro generation technologies in one of two 
situations: 

Firstly, as the ‘Primary’ heating system for a home, as a 
necessary replacement for a previous heat generator that 
has reached the end of its life. Once homes reach an age 
equal to the typical service life of a boiler, it is assumed that 
a fixed percentage of homes need a new primary heat 
generator each year. The replacement rate is assumed to 
be 6% per year. As the replacement is ‘of necessity’, it is 
assumed that one of the list of suitable heating options must 
be selected;  

 Condensing gas boiler, 

 Condensing oil boiler, 

 Condensing LPG boiler, 

 Direct electric heating, 

 Ground source heat pump, 

 Air source heat pump, 

 Stirling engine CHP, 

 Fuel cell CHP [non-residential only], 

 Biomass pellet boiler, or 

 Biomass woodchip boiler. Secondly, as a 
‘Discretionary’ purchase where the status quo is not to 
have a micro generator, and therefore one of the 
‘system’ options is not to install one. By definition, 
Discretionary systems may be purchased at any time. 
The assumption made in the model is that 10% of 
households and businesses consider purchasing a 
microgeneration system each year. 

The following Discretionary generator options are included 
in the model: 

 Micro-wind turbines 

 Small wind turbines 

 Solar water heating 

 Solar PV 

Page 131



AECOM Renewable and Low Carbon Energy Assessment 54 
 
Capabilities on project: 
Building Engineering 

 
Existing building stock 

The rates of consideration are combined with data on the 
building stock to determine the number of primary heat 
generator replacements being selected and the number of 
discretionary purchases of micro generators being 
considered each year. 

System suitability for non-residential buildings is assumed 
to depend only on building type. For homes, the suitability 
of technology options depends on: 

 Home type [house or flat], 

 Age [pre-1980, 1981 – 2005 or 2006 – 2016], 

 Tenure [owner occupied, private rented, or social 
rented], 

 Rurality [urban, suburban, or rural], and 

 Gas connectivity [connected to mains gas or off-gas]. 

As such, the model requires data on: 

 The current total number of homes, and the breakdown 

by type, age, tenure, rurality and gas connection; and  

The number [and where possible the floor area] of 

non-residential buildings by type. 

 

Housing stock data 

The modelling uses the most up to date and comprehensive 
data on house numbers and typology that were identified. 
Data on the numbers of homes were obtained from Welsh 
Statistics ‘Dwelling Stock Estimates’ [2010]41 as well as the 
Appendix 2 Draft Population and Housing Topic Paper 
[August 2011] PCDC. NB. For the purpose of this 
calculation, caravans were removed from the total. From the 
LSOA Household Spaces and Accommodation Type [KS16] 
Census [2001] data, caravans in Powys equate to 0.9% of 
the total household spaces. However, the total does include 
vacant and second homes which accounts for 6% of the 
total household spaces. 

The breakdown of the housing stock was arrived at as 
follows: 

 The percentage split by home type [house or flat] was 
based on Household Spaces [UV56] Census 2001 
data for Powys Unitary Authority. 

41 
http://www.statswales.wales.gov.uk/TableViewer/tableView.a
spx?ReportId=18911

 The percentage split by age was based on information 
provided directly from Welsh Statistics42 for the 2008 
dwelling stock in Powys. 

 Percentage by tenure was based on Households 
[UV63] Census 2001 data for Powys Unitary Authority, 
and compared against similar statistics reported in the 
Draft Population and Housing Topic Paper. 

 The percentage split by rurality was based on rural-
urban designation of Middle Super Output Areas 
obtained through a custom query on the 
Neighbourhood Statistics portal of the Office of 
National Statistics website. 

 The percentage split by gas network connectivity was 
based on data published on 
http://www.energyefficiencywales.org.uk/targetwales.p
hp for the Targeting Energy Efficiency in Wales project.  

The housing stock classification adopted in the model 
results in 144 housing sub-types. The number of homes of 
each sub-type is assumed to be the total number of homes 
multiplied by the respective percentages for type, age, 
tenure, rurality and gas connectivity. 

The total number of homes in the stock is assumed to 
decline at 0.02% per year, reflecting historical rates of 
demolition across Wales. 

 

Non-residential building stock data 

The modelling uses available data on non-residential 
buildings, accepting that with the possible exception of 
Valuation Office Agency data on Bulk classes, the data are 
not comprehensive. The numbers of non-residential 
buildings by type were obtained as follows: 

Bulk class types [Valuation Office Agency] 43

 Retail 

 Offices 

 Warehouses 

 Factories 

Other types [LPA data, as available] 

 Hospitality 

 Health 

 Schools 

 Leisure centres 

42 Email from Huw Jones [SPF&P - SRD] on 30.08.11
43 Hereditaments Floorspace and Rateable Value Statistics 
[2005 Revaluation], 2008

Page 132

http://www.statswales.wales.gov.uk/TableViewer/tableView.aspx?ReportId=18911
http://www.statswales.wales.gov.uk/TableViewer/tableView.aspx?ReportId=18911
http://www.energyefficiencywales.org.uk/targetwales.php
http://www.energyefficiencywales.org.uk/targetwales.php


AECOM Renewable and Low Carbon Energy Assessment 55 
 
Capabilities on project: 
Building Engineering 

The total number of non-residential buildings is assumed to 
be constant for the purposes of the model. 

 

The Choice Model for projecting purchasing decisions 

At the heart of the AECOM take-up model is a choice model 
for forecasting purchasing decisions given the attributes of 
alternative, competing system options. In outline, the choice 
model is based on the theory that consumers make 
decisions to maximise ‘utility’ – the net benefits as 
perceived by the consumer, and that consumers’ utility 
calculations are based on differences in specific attributes 
of the available options.  

Day-to-day utility calculations are largely implicit and 
evaluation varies from consumer to consumer. A particular 
type of market survey called a ‘conjoint survey’ was used to 
collect data in a way that can reveal the implicit utility 
calculations, given a set of what are assumed to be the key 
attributes. A statistical technique called ‘conditional logit’, a 
form of regression analysis, was then used to calculate the 
coefficients of the formulas that each group of consumers is 
implicitly using to make choices. The survey distinguished 
owner-occupiers from landlords and non-domestic building 
owners and, as expected, found they valued attributes 
differently. The survey and analysis also distinguished 
between ‘Primary’ and ‘Discretionary’ choices and hence 
developed independent uptake models. The coefficients 
derived were highly statistically significant, showing that 
within the groups identified, consumer survey responses 
suggested strong similarity in the implicit calculation of 
utility. 

The benefit of the use of conditional logit analysis is that the 
results can be used to forecast purchasing decisions given 
the attributes of alternative system options. For Primary 
decisions, the model calculates the proportion of consumers 
that will select each of the suitable system options, given 
their attributes. [Costs, fuel prices, etc. vary over time, while 
non-cost attributes stay constant.] The modelling principles 
are identical for Discretionary decisions with the notable 
inclusion of “do nothing” among the system options. 

A detailed mathematical explanation of the choice model is 
outside the scope of this report but further information on 
the conjoint survey and conditional logit analysis 
underpinning the modelling is available in the original 
Element Energy research report used as the basis for the 
model. 44 

 

44 The growth potential for Microgeneration in England, 
Wales and Scotland, Element Energy, TNS, Willis, K., 
Scarpa, R., Munro, A., 200 

Micro generation uptake in new development 

Our analysis was based on standard assumptions about the 
renewable energy output that a range of technologies could 
deliver for different types of building. The micro generation 
technologies considered for new development were: 

      Solar PV 

 Solar water heating 

 Air source heat pumps 

 Ground source heat pumps 

 Biomass boilers 

 Small scale wind 

We have assumed that 400 homes will be built annually 
across the Powys, based on the predicted increase over 
LDP plan period 2011 to 2026 of 9,138 homes.  

Typical development scenarios were derived from CLG 
research analysing the cost of Code for Sustainable Homes 
compliance.45 These were used to break down homes in to 
different development types and estimate the mix of homes 
compared to flats. 

Expected employment/job numbers were taken from the 
LDP. These were converted into potential area [in m2] of 
new commercial development per building type. 

The calculation model builds in a 2 year lag for the influence 
of the policy and regulation changes to affect the uptake of 
renewable energy e.g. for the increased BIR uptake due to 
the 2013 Part L changes are not applied until 2015. 

For the purpose of assigning house types, an assumption is 
made on the different types of growth sites within Powys. 
Namely, Brownfield, Greenfield, Edge of town or Urban 
(mixed) sites. This is based on our assessment of the 
growth strategy for Powys. For each of these types of 
growth sites, a housing split is assumed as shown in table 
E1 overleaf.   

45 Code for Sustainable Homes: A Cost Review, CLG, March 
2010

Page 133



AECOM Renewable and Low Carbon Energy Assessment 56 
 
Capabilities on project: 
Building Engineering 

Table E1:  Assumed housing split 

Size Type 
Density 
per 
hectare 

Flats Terraced 
Semi 
Detached Detached 

Small Brownfield 80 10% 65% 20% 5% 

Small Greenfield 40 10% 60% 20% 10% 

Small Edge of town 40 0% 40% 20% 40% 

Medium Urban [mixed] 80 10% 65% 20% 5% 

 

The table below shows the assumed gross internal area per 
workspace [Source: Planning for employment land, 
translating jobs into land, Roger Tyms and Partners, April 
2010; and Employment Densities: A Full Guide,  Arup 
Economics and Planning, July 
2001. 

Table E2:  GIFA per workspace 
Type of 
building Area [m2] 

Offices B1 255 

Retail & Leisure 187 

Industry  1,050 

Storage  818 

Health & 
Education 5,000 

Other 426 

 

 

  

 

Page 134



Building Engineering  Powys County Council  October 2012 

 

District Heating Networks 
Evaluation of Candidate Site 

Clusters 
 

 

 
 

Page 135



AECOM Renewable and Low Carbon Energy Assessment 58
 
Capabilities on project: 
Building Engineering 

 Table of Contents

District Heating Networks Evaluation of Candidate Site Cluster..............................................................................................57

1 Introduction....................................................................................................................................................................... 62

2 Overview of sites ..............................................................................................................................................................65

3 Viability Appraisal ............................................................................................................................................................77

4 Llanidloes – Option 1 .......................................................................................................................................................80

5 Llanidloes – Option 2 .......................................................................................................................................................85

6 Welshpool – Option 1.......................................................................................................................................................89

7 Welshpool – Option 2.......................................................................................................................................................93

8 Newtown – Option 1 .........................................................................................................................................................97

9 Newtown – Option 2 .......................................................................................................................................................100

10 Newtown – Option 3 .......................................................................................................................................................103

11 Key Findings ................................................................................................................................................................... 109

Appendix A:  Modelling Assumptions.......................................................................................................................................112

Appendix B: Notes from Stakeholder Workshop .....................................................................................................................116

Appendix C: Detailed methodology for developer contributions and Allowable Solutions ................................................117

 

 
 

Page 136



AECOM Renewable and Low Carbon Energy Assessment 59
 
Capabilities on project: 
Building Engineering 

  List of Abbreviations 
 

 

Page 137



AECOM Renewable and Low Carbon Energy Assessment 60
 
Capabilities on project: 
Building Engineering 

Abbreviation Description Abbreviation Description 

CAPEX Capital Expenditure LDP Local Development Plan 

CESP Community Energy Saving Programme LPA Local Planning Authority 

CHP Combined Heat & Power MW Megawatt 

CLG Communities and Local Government MWe Megawatt electrical 

CO2 Carbon Dioxide MWh Megawatt hours 

DHN District Heating Network MWhe Megawatt hours electrical 

HOP Heat Opportunity Plan MWt Megawatt thermal 

ESCO Energy Services Company MWht Megawatt hours thermal 

GW Gigawatt NPV Net Present Value 

GWh Gigawatt hours PCC Powys County Council 

IRR Initial Rate of Return PFI Private Financial Initiative 

kW Kilowatt PV Photovoltaic 

kWh Kilowatt hours TWh Terawatt hour 

 

 

Page 138



AECOM Renewable and Low Carbon Energy Assessment 61
 
Capabilities on project: 
Building Engineering 

Introduction

 

Page 139



AECOM Renewable and Low Carbon Energy Assessment 62
 
Capabilities on project: 
Building Engineering 

1 Introduction
1.1 Background 
 

This report follows on from the wider Renewable and Low Carbon Energy Assessment for Powys County Council, and is 
intended to provide an evaluation of district heating network opportunities associated with candidate site clusters.  Clusters of 
candidate sites were identified as part of the energy opportunity assessment which formed the latter stages of the Renewable 
and Low Carbon Energy Assessment. 

The methodology used for this assessment is fully compliant with the Welsh Government Renewable Energy Toolkit (2015 
revision). For each district heating network opportunity, existing buildings and future new developments are considered. For each 
site/ area a high level assessment is carried out of the technical and financial viability of combined heat and power [CHP] and 
district heating covering gas engine CHP and biomass heat only technologies. 

For each option the potential carbon savings, costs and revenues were calculated, and the potential gap funding required to 
make a scheme commercially viable have been identified. The analysis considered two rates of return, or discount rates, namely: 
a typical public sector discount rate [6%] and a typical private sector commercial rate [12%]. 

 

1.2 Choice of Study Area 
 

Three towns were identified that had a cluster of proposed candidate sites located together, namely: Llanidloes, Welshpool, and 
Newtown. All three are in the Severn Valley. 

These were identified as part of the Heat Opportunity Mapping tasks for the wider Renewable and Low Carbon Energy 
Assessment. From these three areas, a total of seven scenarios were modelled for the district heating network evaluation of 
candidate site clusters. These were as follows: 

 

Llanidloes 

 Llanidloes 1: candidate sites to the east of A470 

 Llanidloes 2: as Option 1 plus extension to existing housing cluster in centre of Llanidloes with high proportion of social 
housing.  

 

Welshpool 

 Welshpool 1: candidate sites close to existing anchor loads [High School and Leisure Centre] 

 Welshpool 2: as Option 1, plus extension to the Hospital and serving the existing housing in between with a high proportion 
of social housing. 

 

Newtown 

 Newtown 1: a network connecting key anchor heat loads, Newtown High School and Leisure Centre, along with two schools, 
Maesyrhandir C P School and Ysgol Cedewain Newtown. 

 Newtown 2: as Option 1, plus connection to Powys College and existing housing en route.  

 Newtown 3: as Option 2, plus extension to new development adjacent Fronlas Farm

Page 140



AECOM Renewable and Low Carbon Energy Assessment 63
 
Capabilities on project: 
Building Engineering 

1.3 Stakeholder Workshop  

A stakeholder workshop was held at Powys County Council, on 14th June 2012. The workshop was attended by stakeholders 
from South and North, Powys County Council, as well as the Council’s Local Development Plan [LDP] Team Leader, 
Sustainability Officer and Energy Manager. The Carbon Trust Wales representative was also present. The full list of attendees is 
included in Appendix B. 
 

Page 141



AECOM Renewable and Low Carbon Energy Assessment 64
 
Capabilities on project: 
Building Engineering 

Overview of Sites 

 

Page 142



AECOM Renewable and Low Carbon Energy Assessment 65
 
Capabilities on project: 
Building Engineering 

2 Overview of Sites 
2.1 Overview 
 

This section presents the results of a high level assessment of the potential for district heating and CHP for clusters of candidate 

sites within towns in the County. This resulted in focus on three areas of Powys, namely: 

 Llanidloes,  

 Welshpool, 

 and  Newtown 

For each site and scenario, the analysis presents the following information: 

Heat Opportunity Plan [HOP]:  A HOP showing cluster of candidate sites in the context of the surrounding area.  

General Overview:  Introduction to the option outlining the building typology and any specific details relating to any existing 
features that are of interest as well as proposed development plans.  

SWOT Analysis:  Covering existing and proposed buildings including any phasing and timing issues. In addition, details of the 
key opportunities and constraints within the site that could have an impact on the technical or commercial viability or the practical 
delivery of a network, as well as the potential for future expansion of a heat network.  

List of key existing buildings:  Using the data provided by the Council and from the Community and Local Government [CLG] 
database, we have identified a number of key existing buildings within the sites, and listed their heat demands. These heat 
demands are from Council gas consumption data or from additional data sought from Council contacts.  

List of potential new buildings:  The proposed buildings within the site have been identified from the list of candidate sites 
provided by the Council.  

Housing numbers, and non-residential floor areas, for the new buildings are based on capacities or densities stated in candidate 
site proposal forms, or, where not available, an assumed dwelling density of 30 dwellings per hectare.  This compares with a 
historic average density for the County of 26 dwellings per hectare. The estimate of non-residential floor areas is based on 
standard industry estimates of the ratio of floor area to plot area for different use classes.  

An estimated heat demand for each of the development sites is given based on the likely capacity and use of each site, based on 
discussions with Powys County Council. 

 

2.2 Llanidloes 
 

General Overview 

Llanidloes is located in central Powys, and has clusters of candidate development sites [residential and employment] to the east 
of the town centre. There is an existing leisure centre with a swimming pool located to the south and hospital located to the north. 
A new use class B2 area is also proposed, to the east of the town, which is an existing industrial estate  

New residential development to the east of the river could be a catalyst for district heating. Particularly Site 332 [up to 60 homes; 
21 dph] and surrounding sites 1,031, 1,035 and 1,096.  

There are two key existing potential anchor heat loads [Leisure Centre and Hospital]; however, these are approximately 1 mile 
from the new development site, in opposite directions. The first option [Llanidloes 1.1] focuses on the new development only, and 
the second option [Llanidloes 1.2] extends into the centre to serve existing housing which has a heat density of 2.6MW/km2 and 
44% social housing.   

 

Page 143



AECOM Renewable and Low Carbon Energy Assessment 66
 
Capabilities on project: 
Building Engineering 

SWOT Analysis 

The table below provides an overview of existing and potential buildings at Llanidloes including any phasing and timing issues. In 
addition, details of the key opportunities and constraints within the site that could have an impact on the technical or commercial 
viability or the practical delivery of a network are summarised, as well as the potential for future expansion of a heat network. 

 
SWOT Analysis 

Existing buildings Potential Buildings Phasing /timing issues 

Key potential anchor heat loads: 

 Llanidloes Sports Centre   

 Llanidloes High School 

 Llanidloes War Memorial 

Hospital Other non-residential buildings: 

 Llanidloes C P School 

 Maes Y Wennol Care Home 

 Maes Y Wennol Day Centre 

 Bodlondeb Sheltered Housing 

 Hafren Furnishers [Main Store] 

 Community Centre 

 Library 

 Health Centre 

 Youth Centre 

Key sites: 

 Site 104: 7,200 m2 non-residential  

 Site 332: up to 60 homes 

 Site 633: 5,100 m2 non-residential  

 Site 1031: up to 127 homes 

 Site 1035: up to 212 homes 

 Site 1096: up to 25 homes 

There are different developers for each 
site, each with different build out times. 
This could cause difficulties with 
coordination for a central energy centre. 

 

Page 144



AECOM Renewable and Low Carbon Energy Assessment 67
 
Capabilities on project: 
Building Engineering 

SWOT Analysis 

Site opportunities 

Potential to also connect site 679 with up to 95 new homes and 26,460 m2 of non-residential development. 

Surrounding existing housing has a high proportion of solid wall homes which are 'hard to treat' and may benefit from connection 
to district heat network, in terms of cost effective carbon reduction. For example, 100% of the 137 homes in output area 
00NNSA0011 have solid walls. 

At the stakeholder workshop, it was confirmed that ‘Llanidloes Energy Solutions’ has previously evaluated energy efficiency 
options and low and zero carbon energy opportunities across the town. This indicates good community interest in low carbon 
heating solutions and could make stakeholder engagement very successful. 

Site constraints 

No obvious large customers for electricity output close to the new development sites, therefore financial model assumes all 
electricity from any gas engine CHP is exported to the grid. 

The most significant potential anchor heat loads are too far away from the candidate development sites to make connection into 
a common heat network viable. 

Next steps 

Liaise with developers to ascertain interest in a central energy strategy. 

 

List of key existing buildings 

The table below provides a summary of key existing buildings at Llanidloes. 

 

Name Annual Heat Demand [MWh] Source 

Llanidloes War Memorial Hospital 708  Wales NHS 

Llanidloes Sports Centre  555  Powys County Council 

Llanidloes C P school 267  Powys County Council 

Llanidloes High School 671  Powys County Council 

Maes y Wennol Care Home 406  Glasu Report 

Maes y Wennol Day Centre 64  Glasu Report 

Name Annual Heat Demand [MWh] Source 

Bodlondeb Sheltered Housing 174  Glasu Report 

Hafren Furnishers [main store] 375  Glasu Report 

Page 145



AECOM Renewable and Low Carbon Energy Assessment 68
 
Capabilities on project: 
Building Engineering 

Community Centre 348  Glasu Report 

Library 24 Glasu Report 

Health Centre 62  Glasu Report 

Youth Centre 32  Glasu Report 

Total 3,687   

 

 

List of potential buildings 

The table below provides a summary of proposed buildings and estimated year of build out at Llandiloes 

Reference Name 
Maximum number of 
dwellings 

Non residential floor 
area [m2] 

Estimated build out 
year 

100 Land at Parc Hafren 0 14,447 2016 

104 
Land at Parc Derwen 
Fawr 0 7,224  2012 

332 
Land to South East of 
Rhos-y-Maen Uchaf 60 0  2012 

633 
Land adjacent to 
Chapel Farm 0 5,145 2012 

675 
Hafren Terrace and 
adjacent A470 0 22,500 2016 

679 
Land adjacent to 
Chapel Farm 95 26,460 2021 

1,031 
Chapel Farm, Gorn 
Road 127 0 2016 

Reference Name 
Maximum number of 
dwellings 

Non residential floor 
area [m2] 

Estimated build out 
year 

1,035 
Chapel Farm, Gorn 
Road 212 0 2016 

1,096 
Chapel Farm, Gorn 
Road 25 0 2016 

Total - 519 75,776 - 

 

 

Page 146



AECOM Renewable and Low Carbon Energy Assessment 69
 
Capabilities on project: 
Building Engineering 

2.3 Welshpool 
 

General Overview 

Welshpool is located in northeast Powys and has a number of candidate urban infill development sites and urban extensions to 
the north, including a proposed [B1 / B8] site in north east Welshpool. In the centre, there is an existing hospital; high school and 
leisure centre to the north, and a cluster of social housing in the west. There is a Community Energy Saving Programme [CESP] 
area in the south, along with a candidate residential development site [site 525].  

The potential sites indicated for this study are generally in the north of the town, and are predominately residential. Only a small 
mixed use development [site 929] near the High School and the proposed industrial site [B1/B8, site 513] are included within the 
preferred areas for district heating assessment. 

The cluster of potential anchor heat loads and potential new residential development close to the leisure centre appear to be the 
most suitable energy centre location [Welshpool Option 1], with a possible extension to the Hospital and serving the existing 
housing in between which has 24% social housing [see Welshpool Option 2].  

There could also be further extension to the new housing on the northwest edge of town. These residential developments could 
potentially be required to connect to any district heating network [DHN] as part of the planning requirements, if a network is 
established further to the east. 

 

Page 147



AECOM District Heating Networks Evaluation of Candidate Site Clusters 70 
 
Capabilities on project: 
Building Engineering 

SWOT Analysis 

The table below give an overview of existing and potential buildings at Welshpool including any phasing and timing issues. In 
addition, details of the key opportunities and constraints within the site that could have an impact on the technical or commercial 
viability or the practical delivery of a network are summarised, as well as the potential for future expansion of a heat network. 

 
SWOT Analysis 

Existing buildings Potential Buildings Phasing /timing issues 

Key potential anchor heat loads: 

 Welshpool High School, 

 Welshpool Flash Leisure Centre 

 Welshpool Community Hospital 

Other non-residential buildings: 

 Welshpool Neuadd Maldwyn 

 Ysgol Maesydre School 

 Ardwyn Nursery & Infants   
School  Welshpool 
 Welshpool Library 

 Welshpool Powysland Museum 

Key sites: 

 Site 518: up to 50 homes 

 Site 529: up to 172 homes 

 Site 929: up to 109 homes 

 Site 524: up to 40 homes 

 Site 527: up to 103 homes 

Potential phasing issues with proposed 
candidate sites if they do not progress to 
the LDP. 

Site opportunities 

Extend to further new housing developments. 

Extend into centre, via social housing and Hospital. Majority of the social housing is run by Mid Wales Housing with some Powys 
County Council [PCC] stock. This shows a good potential for coordination of connections to a heat network. 

Existing housing in output area 00NNTG0008 has 12% of homes "off-gas", and nearby site 00NNTG0009 to the south has 84% 
homes "off-gas" 

At the stakeholder workshop, it was confirmed that there is a proposal for a biomass CHP facility at Potters Recycling, just east of 
the railway station. This could be a heat source for a wider DHN. The biomass CHP project is being supported by Carbon Trust 
Wales.  

Welshpool High School currently runs on oil boilers and therefore district heating could provide a good opportunity to reduce 
carbon emissions as it would provide a lower carbon source of heating. 

Site constraints 

Canal to the south east of the site. The feasibility of crossing the canal to reach all of Site 929 would need to be reviewed.  

At the stakeholder workshop, it was confirmed that the dwelling numbers in the plan candidate sites are likely to be lower than 
stated in the candidate sites, and that the proposed candidate sites 514 and 529 are located on playing fields and as such are 
unlikely to progress to the LDP. 

SWOT Analysis 

Next steps 

Liaise with Potters Recycling to discuss options for supplying heat to a wider DHN.  

Liaise with developers of site 518 and 929 to ascertain interest in central energy strategy. 

Page 148



AECOM District Heating Networks Evaluation of Candidate Site Clusters 71 
 
Capabilities on project: 
Building Engineering 

 List of key existing buildings 

The table below provides a summary of key existing buildings at Welshpool. 

Name Annual Heat Demand [MWh] Source 

Welshpool Community Hospital 805 Wales NHS 

Welshpool High School 1,171 Powys County Council 

Welshpool Flash Leisure Centre [North] 1,872 Powys County Council 

Welshpool Neuadd Maldwyn 269 Powys County Council 

Ysgol Maesydre School 227 Powys County Council 

Ardwyn Nursery & Infants School 
Welshpool 116 Powys County Council 

Welshpool Library 61 Powys County Council 

Welshpool Powysland Museum 66 Powys County Council 

Total 4,586  

 

 
List of potential buildings 

The table below provides a summary of proposed buildings and estimated year of build out at Newtown. 

Reference Name 
Maximum number of 
dwellings 

Non residential floor 
area [m2] 

Estimated build out 
year 

513 
Buttington Cross 
Industrial Estate 0 4,945 2012 

518 
Land at Gallowtree 
Bank 50 0 2012 

519 Red Bank 76 0 2012 

523 Land Red Bank 100 0 2016 

524 Land at Gungrog Hill 40 0 2012 

Page 149



AECOM District Heating Networks Evaluation of Candidate Site Clusters 72 
 
Capabilities on project: 
Building Engineering 

525 Berriew Road 88 0 2012 

526 
Land at Gungrog Hill 
[SE] 94 0 2021 

527 
Land at Gungrog Hill 
[near Hall] 103 0 2021 

528 Land at Red Bank 
[South] 67 0 2021 

529 
Land at Gungrog Hill 
[NW] 172 0 2021 

583 
Site adjacent Brynfa 
House, 18 0 2012 

917 Ardwyn Nursery and 
Infant School, 9 4,705 2021 

929 
Welshpool High 
School, 109 21,722 2016 

1,063 
Land off Red Bank, 
[East] 260 0 2012 

1,164 Land off Red Bank, 
[West] 261 0 2016 

Total - 1,447 31,372 - 

 

2.4 Newtown 
 

General Overview 

The Newtown residential and mixed use candidate sites considered for this analysis are urban extensions to the south.  

Key potential anchor heat loads are Newtown High School, Powys College and Newtown Leisure Centre all south of the railway 
line. There is the potential for extension of a network north of the railway line to connect to Council offices, the Hospital and a 
potential Sewage Gas site, however this is a relatively long distance.  

As the potential new developments are located in the same area, both south of the river, and approx 2.5 miles from the Hospital, 
the modelling assumes that the heat network extent would be restricted to south of the railway line. These options would serve 
the Powys College, Newtown High School and Leisure Centre, as well as smaller schools, Maesyrhandir C P School and Ysgol 
Cedewain Newtown. 

 

Page 150



AECOM District Heating Networks Evaluation of Candidate Site Clusters 73 
 
Capabilities on project: 
Building Engineering 

SWOT Analysis 

The table below give an overview of existing and potential buildings at Newtown including any phasing and timing issues. In 
addition, details of the key opportunities and constraints within the site that could have an impact on the technical or commercial 
viability or the practical delivery of a network are summarised, as well as the potential for future expansion of a heat network. 

 
SWOT Analysis 

Existing buildings Potential Buildings Phasing /timing issues 

Key potential anchor heat loads: 

 Newtown Leisure Centre 

 Hospital 

 Newtown High School 

 Powys College 

Other non-residential public buildings: 

 Montgomery County Infirmary 

 Maesyrhandir C P School 

 Ysgol Cedewain Newtown 

 Newtown Area Library 

 Newtown Robert Owen House 

 Hafren Junior School Newtown 

 Newtown Ladywell Green Nursery & 
Infants School  

 Newtown The Park Council Offices 

 Newtown Old College Offices 

 Treowen C P School Newtown 

 Penygloddfa C P School Newtown 

Key sites: 

 Site 591: up to 95 homes 

 Site 586: up to 30 homes 

Coordination required with the timing 
with expansion works at High School. 

Site opportunities 

At the stakeholder workshop, it was confirmed that the High School is likely to be expanded to include a Welsh Medium School 
[large primary school] which would increase the heat demand and provide an opportunity for any infrastructure works.  

Industrial estates located between development site 591 and High School which could have high heat demand. At the 
stakeholder workshop, it was confirmed that Mochdre Industrial Estate is one of the largest employment centres in Powys.  
However, there are currently no significant heat demand/users. 

The social housing cluster nearby at Garth Owen is either run by Mid Wales Housing or PCC and could provide further heat 
sales. 

A heat network could extend north into the town centre in the future. 

SWOT Analysis 

Site constraints 

Page 151



AECOM District Heating Networks Evaluation of Candidate Site Clusters 74 
 
Capabilities on project: 
Building Engineering 

Railway and river constraints. 

At the stakeholder workshop, it was confirmed that the proposed level of new homes in the two candidate sites [591, 586] may be 
reduced by a proposal for a new bypass which could pass across the sites. 

Next steps 

Confirm the heat demand of Powys College as this is currently based on estimates rather than actual gas consumption. 

 

 

List of key existing buildings 

The table below provides a summary of key existing buildings at Newtown. 

Name Annual Heat Demand [MWh] Source 

Montgomery County Infirmary 887 Wales NHS 

Newtown Maldwyn Leisure Centre 
[North] 1,291 Powys County Council 

Maesyrhandir C P School 198 Powys County Council 

Ysgol Cedewain Newtown 215 Powys County Council 

Newtown High School 1,173 Powys County Council 

Newtown Area Library 171 Powys County Council 

Newtown Robert Owen House 113 Powys County Council 

Hafren Junior School Newtown 183 Powys County Council 

Newtown Ladywell Green Nursery & 
Infants School  146 Powys County Council 

Newtown The Park Council Offices 103 Powys County Council 

Newtown Old College Offices 111 Powys County Council 

Name Annual Heat Demand [MWh] Source 

Treowen C P School Newtown 115 Powys County Council 

Penygloddfa C P School Newtown 193 Powys County Council 

Page 152



AECOM District Heating Networks Evaluation of Candidate Site Clusters 75 
 
Capabilities on project: 
Building Engineering 

Powys College 671 Estimated 

Total 5,568  

 

 

List of proposed buildings 

The table below provides a summary of proposed buildings and estimated year of build out at Newtown. 

Reference Name 
Maximum number of 
dwellings 

Non residential floor 
area [m2] 

Estimated build out 
year 

586 
Site adjacent Castell Y 
Dail. Heol Mochdre. 30  1,520  2012 

591 Site adjacent Fronlas 
Farm, Mochdre Lane, 95  0  2016 

Total - 125  1,520  - 

 

 

Page 153



Viability Appraisal 

Page 154



AECOM District Heating Networks Evaluation of Candidate Site Clusters 77 
 
Capabilities on project: 
Building Engineering 

3 Viability Appraisal 
3.1 Overview 
 

This section provides an analysis of the potential costs and benefits of the proposed district heating options described in section 
2. It concentrates mainly on looking at the financial performance of the seven options.  

 

3.2 Technology options 
 

Two technologies have been modelled to show the comparison between using gas engine CHP and Biomass heat-only. This is 
to show the different benefits of the two technologies such as RHI incentives for biomass fuel, revenue from electricity sales with 
CHP, and lower carbon emissions factor for use of biomass. 

 

3.3 Measuring financial performance 
 

For the financial analysis, two key measures of financial performance have been presented, for the various options, namely: 

Net Present Value [NPV] for two discount factors, 6% and 12%. The former equates to a typical value used for public sector, or 
public/private projects, such as Private Financial Initiative [PFI], whilst the latter equates to a typical rate of return that would be 
sought by commercial organisations. These two values give an indication of whether scheme options could be delivered on a 
purely commercial basis or whether there would need to be public sector involvement, with potential access to lower cost 
sources of finance. The NPV is a useful indicator as it shows, for any given discount factor and length of contract, how much gap 
funding may be required [if any] in order to make a project viable. 

Internal Rate of Return [IRR]. The actual rate of return achieved is also shown, as this provides a quick way of assessing whether 
a scheme is likely to exceed either the 6% or the 12% rate of return thresholds discussed above. 

For the NPV and IRR calculations, two project lifetimes, of 15 and 30 years, have been considered, given that the heat network 
and the energy centre are long term investments: in the case of the network, this may have a lifetime in excess of 30 years. This 
is done as it is important to understand not only the values of the NPV and IRR but also the time period over which they are 
calculated. A public sector entity generally can take a longer term view of returns, whereas commercial organisations may not be 
interested in a project with a 12% rate of return, if that is over 30 years, rather than 15. 

However, it is important to note that for options with significant levels of new housing development, there is the potential for 
developer contributions towards the cost of the network, as it will help them meet their future mandatory requirements for zero 
carbon new homes46. These developer contributions could provide the level of gap funding needed to make the district heating 
network viable. Therefore, the commercial viability of a heating network for new development areas needs to be viewed as a 
combination of the NPV and IRR analysis described above, and the potential developer contributions.  

It must be stressed that this contribution would not necessarily increase the developer’s build costs, as it is a cost they would 
have to bear anyway through whatever option they choose to meet zero carbon. This is explained in more detail below.  

 
3.4 Cash flow analysis 
 

The cash flow analysis graph shown at the end of each capital expenditure [CAPEX] and cash flow section confirms the revenue 
and costs over a period of time. For example, the cash flow analysis will show where there are sudden outgoing costs, and this 
could indicate additional pipe may have been added to connect to a new development, or additional plant added to the energy 
centre.  

The steady increase of a cumulative cash flow graph shows the rate of net revenue each year taking into account operating 
costs. Therefore, if the cumulative cash flow has a steep incline, then the incoming revenue from sales or incentives is 

46 This is also true to a certain extent for non-residential buildings, although this is harder to quantify as the definition of zero carbon for 
non-dwellings is currently less well defined, and there is also a very wide variety of different building types.

Page 155



AECOM District Heating Networks Evaluation of Candidate Site Clusters 78 
 
Capabilities on project: 
Building Engineering 

significantly greater than the operating costs. However, if there is shallow incline, than the incoming revenue will be closer in 
value to the outgoing costs. If there is no increase, then the net revenue is zero.  

The year that the cumulative cash flow crosses the zero x-axis, indicates the year at which the project would breakeven.  

The figures are undiscounted, which means that the future costs have not been discounted and are fixed at today’s prices.  

 

3.5 Potential developer contributions 
 

From 2016, it is anticipated that all new housing will need to be “zero carbon”. The current guidance is that in addition to meeting 
a base level of energy efficiency, this will consist of providing a certain level of carbon reduction on-site through on-site low 
carbon energy generation, which is referred to as “Carbon Compliance”. The most recent work on this was published by the Zero 
Carbon Hub, in February 201147. This work modelled the costs of meeting the Carbon Compliance element using photovoltaic 
panels [PV] and gas boilers for each dwelling. PV was used as a benchmark for the costs of meeting the Carbon Compliance 
target, as it can be readily applied to most dwellings, and with the recent fall in cost of PV panels over the last few years, is now 
one of the most cost-effective on-site generation technologies.  

The study also calculated the contribution that district heating technologies could make to achieving Carbon Compliance, using 
either gas [engine] CHP or biomass heating, and the amount of PV that may still be required in each case to achieve compliance. 
Using this information, it is possible to deduce the potential capital cost savings that could arise from using district heating as a 
result of needing less, or no PV.  

This estimated cost saving provides a value for the potential capital contribution that a developer could make towards connection 
to a district heating network. This assumes that a developer would not see any increase in their build costs beyond what they 
would incur through the use of the most cost-effective alternative solution [to district heating] to meeting the zero carbon 
requirement, which is assumed to be PV.  

For each technology option an estimate of avoided cost is presented for each house type. The costs are based on the estimated 
price of the PV element in 2016, allowing for expected learning rates, but with no inflation added in. The cost of Carbon 
Compliance for PV is the cost of the PV element only, and does not include the cost of the gas boiler. The avoided costs and 
potential developer contribution are presented for each option within this report.  

However, at the time of writing, it is important to note that there is significant uncertainty about the potential costs to developers 
of achieving Carbon Compliance, and hence the level of potential developer contributions described above. This is because the 
Government has yet to finalise the level of the Carbon Compliance target, and there is also uncertainty around the future costs of 
PV. If the Government decides to relax the Carbon Compliance target, or if PV costs fall faster than anticipated, then the 
potential developer contribution could reduce.  

It is possible that developers could also see significant avoided costs for new non-domestic buildings from connecting to a DHN, 
particularly for mixed use developments, where the cost of the infrastructure could be shared with new housing. However, this 
could only be quantified as part of a more detailed assessment for individual sites.  

 

3.6 Allowable Solutions 
 

Once a developer has met the Carbon Compliance requirement on-site, the current definition of zero carbon requires that they 
deal with the remaining carbon emissions through so-called Allowable Solutions. The most recent Government impact 
assessment for the Zero Carbon Homes policy has estimated that the cost of Allowable Solutions would be £49 per tonne of CO2 
per annum, totalled over 30 years. This figure is in present value terms, and assumes, in effect, that this is the cost that the 
developer would pay upfront on completion of each new dwelling. 

One of the potential Allowable Solutions, at the time of writing, could be to fund the connection of district heating networks to 
reduce the carbon emissions of existing buildings. This could potentially assist with the overall viability of a district heating 
scheme, and thereby help reduce the cost to a developer of connecting the new homes, as explained above. However, this 

47 “Carbon Compliance, setting an appropriate limit for zero carbon new homes, findings and recommendations”, February, 2011

Page 156



AECOM District Heating Networks Evaluation of Candidate Site Clusters 79 
 
Capabilities on project: 
Building Engineering 

solution may require a local authority to have a policy mechanism in place to require payments into a local fund, rather than a 
developer paying into a national fund.  

It is possible to estimate the approximate level of Allowable Solutions which may be raised in Powys through future development, 
based on the most recent estimates of the costs of Allowable Solutions from the Zero Carbon Hub. For each option, an estimate 
of the value of allowable solution fund is presented. 

It should be noted, that as with the Carbon Compliance costs described above, at the time of writing there was significant 
uncertainty about the potential costs to developers of meeting Allowable Solutions. The Government has yet to confirm what the 
cost of Allowable Solutions will be, which solutions will be eligible and whether local authorities will be able to require payments 
into a local fund, or whether all payments will be made via a national scheme.  

 

3.7 Key assumptions for assessment of costs and revenues 
 

The cost assessments presented in this report are approximate only, and are based on budget prices from suppliers as well as 
typical industry benchmarks. The heat network costings have been based only on a desktop assessment of potential pipe routes, 
and make no allowance for actual ground conditions, buried services or other constraints. A Quantity Surveyor has not been 
involved in the preparation of these costings and therefore they should not be relied upon for detailed project costing.  

Other key assumptions are as follows: 

 All capital costs are shown in 2012 prices, with no allowance for inflation, or technology learning rates that may reduce 
capital costs in the future. 

 All ongoing revenues and costs are shown in 2010 prices, with no allowance for inflation or real price increases over time. 

 All revenues are pre-tax. 

 All capital costs include an allowance of 10% for professional fees and a contingency of 15% for heat network costs and 
10% for energy centres and plant. 

 The heat network can meet 80% of the annual heat demand on the network. The other 20% is assumed to be met by back 
up gas boilers at the energy centre, due either to plant downtime [about 10% of the year], or because peak heat demand 
exceeds the peak heat output from the plant. 

 For existing developments, the costing of the heat network includes the primary backbone and the secondary network to run 
along streets to serve buildings. However, it does not allow for the cost of heat exchangers or meters, the costs of final 
connections, or the costs of any internal pipework to buildings.  

 For Council properties, no account of CRC savings have been included in the cash flow analysis as these savings would not 
typically be seen by the network operator.  

 The cash flow model allows for the fact that future, and some existing, developments will be connected in different points in 
the future and not in year 1.  

 All other cost and technology assumptions used in these calculations are included in Appendix A. 

 

Page 157



AECOM District Heating Networks Evaluation of Candidate Site Clusters 80 
 
Capabilities on project: 
Building Engineering 

4 Llanidloes – Option 1 
4.1 General overview 
 

Llanidloes Option 1 focuses on the potential new development sites only and the model includes and assumes the following: 

 Site 104: 7,200 m2 non-residential development 

 Site 332: up to 60 homes 

 Site 633: 5,100 m2 non-residential development  

 Site 679: up to 95 homes, and 26,500 m2 non-residential development  

 Site 1031: up to 127 homes 

 Site 1035: up to 212 homes 

 Site 1096: up to 25 homes 

Therefore, overall the model assumes that a total of 519 homes, and 39,619m2 non-residential development would be 
connected. However, the relatively steep topography of the sites may make this figure difficult to achieve in practice. 

The model assumes different build dates for the development sites as follows: 

 Short term [approx 2012] sites: 104, 332, 633 [60 homes] 

 Midterm [approx 2016] sites: 1031, 1035, 1096 [364 homes] 

 Long term [approx 2021] site: 679 [95 homes] 

Therefore a total of 459 homes will be built after 2016, therefore requiring to meet the Zero Carbon Homes policy. 

 

Key assumptions: 

As there is no obvious large electricity user on-site, the model assumes that all of the electricity generation from any gas engine 
CHP is exported to the grid.  

The location of the energy centre is assumed to be within plot 1031 as this is central to the rest of the network. 

Page 158



AECOM Renewable and Low Carbon Energy Assessment 81
 
Capabilities on project: 
Building Engineering 

4.2 CAPEX and Cashflow 
 

Technical assessment 

Annual heating & hot water demand 7,298 MWh [at full build out] 

Total backbone trench length 475 m 

District heating CAPEX £1.3 m 

Peak load at the energy centre at full build out [thermal] 5.3 MW 

 
Financial assessment 

CHP option financial viability Biomass option financial viability 

CHP system size 1.4MW x 1 System size [thermal output] 0.7MW x 2 

Install years 2017 Install years 2015 & 2020 

Energy centre capital cost £1.7 m Energy centre capital cost £1.97 m 

Year 1 net revenue -£0. 0m  Year 1 net revenue -£0.0 m 

Year 30 net revenue £0.19 m Year 30 net revenue £0.04 m 

Without developer contribution Without developer contribution 

15 yr NPV @ 6% -£2.19 m 15 yr NPV @ 6% -£2.81 m 

15 yr NPV @ 12% -£2.03 m 15 yr NPV @ 12% -£2.44 m 

15 yr IRR  No return achieved. 15 yr IRR  No return achieved. 

30 yr NPV @ 6% -£1.66 m 30 yr NPV @ 6% -£2.72 m 

30 yr NPV @ 12% -£1.87 m 30 yr NPV @ 12% -£2.41 m 

30 yr IRR  No return achieved. 30 yr IRR  No return achieved. 

 

Page 159



AECOM Renewable and Low Carbon Energy Assessment 82
 
Capabilities on project: 
Building Engineering 

Cash flow analysis 

1    2    3     4    5    6    7    8     9   10  11  12 13  14  15  16  17  18  19  20  21  22  23 24  25  26  27  28  29  30
Year

Gas CHP Biomass Heat Only
 

 

 

4.3 Potential developer contributions 
 

This datasheet presents an estimate of the avoided costs to the developer for installing DHN, compared with PV, in order to meet 
the Carbon Compliance element of the zero carbon homes policy.  

For Llanidloes, Option 1, we have assumed the following breakdown of house types to be built post 2016, based on information 
provided by the Council and assumed build out dates: 
Flats:      37 
Semi detached:    184 

Terraced properties:   193 

Detached properties:   46 

Total:     459 
 

The following table shows the potential cost saving per dwelling to the developer from connecting to a district heating system 
contributions and avoiding the costs of installing PV to meet Carbon Compliance. More PV would be avoided if a biomass option 
is chosen rather than a gas CHP option, because biomass has a lower carbon emissions rate than gas and would be able to 
save more carbon. The figures below are shown in assumed 2016 costs. The detailed calculation for how these costs were 
derived is provided in Appendix C. 

Page 160



AECOM Renewable and Low Carbon Energy Assessment 83
 
Capabilities on project: 
Building Engineering 

Total potential avoided photovoltaic cost from district heating solution [per dwelling] 

Gas engine CHP option Biomass option 

Flat £1,332 Flat £1,332 

Semi £726 Semi £3,004 

Terrace £1,637 Terrace £3,444 

Detached £1,134 Detached £4,033 

 

The following table shows how this relates to the Llanidloes Option1 in terms of potential contributions from developers 
connecting to any DHN, based on the assumed levels of total housing development post 2016. 

Total potential developer contributions [2016 costs] 48

Gas engine CHP option Biomass option 

Flat £48,911 Flat £48,911 

Semi £133,257 Semi £551,534 

Terrace £315,504 Terrace £663,934 

Detached £52,060 Detached £185,115 

Total £549,731 Total £1,449,494 

 

This shows that for both technology options, the potential cost which is offset by not needing to install as much PV to meet the 
Carbon Compliance element of the zero carbon homes policy would not be able to bridge the gap in funding required to deliver a 
reasonable rate of return for the schemes.  

This option is for new developments only therefore the developers would be the only stakeholders involved in the DHN and could 
be easier to co-ordinate. However, as noted in the SWOT analysis, the build out times for these developments are unlikely to 
support a DHN scheme and co-ordination between the different developers is likely to be difficult. 

48 These costs are undiscounted. They also make no allowance for how the costs of Photovoltaics systems may fall after 2016, and 
therefore may be an overestimate for those development sites to be built out in the longer term.

Page 161



AECOM Renewable and Low Carbon Energy Assessment 84
 
Capabilities on project: 
Building Engineering 

4.4 Allowable Solutions 
 

This datasheet presents an estimate of the value of an Allowable Solutions fund which could potentially be generated by the new 
homes, in order to meet the Allowable Solutions element of the zero carbon homes policy. This figure is calculated by totalling 
the total residual carbon emissions to be saved for each dwelling built after 2016, totalled over 30 years for that dwelling. 

 No. of new homes [post 
2016] 

Total value of AS @ 
£49/tonne carbon over 30 
years per dwelling 

Potential value of Allowable 
Solutions [@£49/tonne] 

Flat 37 £1,122 £41,186 

Semi 184 £1,229 £225,630 

Terrace 193 £1,229 £236,911 

Detached 46 £1,735 £79,618 

Total 459 - £583,345 

 

For Llanidloes, Option 1, there would be no existing buildings connected to the DHN therefore this Allowable Solutions fund could 
not be used to fund the network, and would not help with the level of financial performance shown for this option. However, this 
indicates the value of Allowable Solutions that could be available to fund other projects within Powys to reduce carbon emissions 
from energy use in existing buildings. 

 

Page 162



AECOM Renewable and Low Carbon Energy Assessment 85
 
Capabilities on project: 
Building Engineering 

5 Llanidloes – Option 2 
5.1 General overview 
 

Llanidloes Option 2 connects the potential new development, as in Option1, and extends into the town centre to serve the 
existing housing in Output Area [00NNSA0008] which has a heat density of 2.6MW/km2 and 44% social housing. This accounts 
for an additional 118 existing dwellings added to the network from day one. 

 

Key assumptions: 

As there is no obvious large electricity user on-site, the model assumes that all of the electricity generation from any gas engine 
CHP is exported to the grid.  

The location of the energy centre is assumed to be within plot 1031 as this is central to the rest of the network. 

 

5.2 CAPEX and Cash flow 
 

Technical assessment 

Annual heating & hot water demand 8,210 MWh [at full build out] 

Total backbone trench length 669 meters 

District heating CAPEX £1.96 million 

Peak load at the energy centre at full build out [thermal] 5.7 MW 

 

Page 163



AECOM Renewable and Low Carbon Energy Assessment 86
 
Capabilities on project: 
Building Engineering 

Financial assessment 

CHP option financial viability Biomass option financial viability 

CHP system size 1.6 MW x 1 System size [thermal output] 0.8 MW x 2 

Install years 2017 Install years 2015 & 2020 

Energy centre capital cost £1.93 million Energy centre capital cost £2.24 million 

Year 1 net revenue £0.06 million Year 1 net revenue £0.06 million 

Year 30 net revenue £0.22 million Year 30 net revenue £0.06 million 

Without developer contribution Without developer contribution 

15 yr NPV @ 6% -£2.8 million 15 yr NPV @ 6% -£3.49 million 

15 yr NPV @ 12% -£2.59 million 15 yr NPV @ 12% -£3.05 million 

15 yr IRR  No return achieved. 15 yr IRR  No return achieved. 

30 yr NPV @ 6% -£2.19 million 30 yr NPV @ 6% -£3.38 million 

30 yr NPV @ 12% -£2.41 million 30 yr NPV @ 12% -£3.02 million 

30 yr IRR  No return achieved. 30 yr IRR  No return achieved. 

 
Cash flow analysis 

1    2    3     4    5    6    7    8     9   10  11  12 13  14  15  16  17  18  19  20  21  22  23 24  25  26  27  28  29  30
Year

Gas CHP Biomass Heat Only
 

 

 

Page 164



AECOM Renewable and Low Carbon Energy Assessment 87
 
Capabilities on project: 
Building Engineering 

5.3 Potential developer contributions 
 

This datasheet presents an estimate of the avoided costs to the developer for installing DHN, compared with PV, in order to meet 
the Carbon Compliance element of the zero carbon homes policy.  

For Llanidloes, Option 1, we have assumed the following breakdown of house types to be built post 2016, based on information 
provided by the Council and assumed build out dates: 
Flats:      37 
Semi detached:    184 

Terraced properties:   193 

Detached properties:   46 

Total:     459 
 

The following table shows the potential cost saving per dwelling to the developer from connecting to a district heating system 
contributions and avoiding the costs of installing PV to meet Carbon Compliance. More PV would be avoided if a biomass option 
is chosen rather than a gas CHP option, because biomass has a lower carbon emissions rate than gas and would be able to 
save more carbon. The figures below are shown in assumed 2016 costs. The detailed calculation for how these costs were 
derived is provided in Appendix C. 

 
Total potential avoided photovoltaic cost from district heating solution [per dwelling] 

Gas engine CHP option Biomass option 

Flat £1,332 Flat £1,332 

Semi £726 Semi £3,004 

Terrace £1,637 Terrace £3,444 

Detached £1,134 Detached £4,033 

 

The following table shows how this relates to the Llanidloes Option 2 in terms of potential contributions from developers 
connecting to any DHN, based on the assumed levels of total housing development post 2016. 

Total potential developer contributions [2016 costs] 49

Gas engine CHP option Biomass option 

Flat £48,911 Flat £48,911 

Semi £133,257 Semi £551,534 

Terrace £315,504 Terrace £663,934 

Detached £52,060 Detached £185,115 

Total £549,731 Total £1,449,494 

 

As there is the same number of new homes for Option 2 as for Option 1, the potential developer avoided costs are the same, 
however the proportion of the gap funding required is smaller because this option serves nearby existing homes as well.  

49 These costs are undiscounted. They also make no allowance for how the costs of Photovoltaics systems may fall after 2016, and 
therefore may be an overestimate for those development sites to be built out in the longer term.

Page 165



AECOM Renewable and Low Carbon Energy Assessment 88
 
Capabilities on project: 
Building Engineering 

5.4 Allowable Solutions 
 

This datasheet presents an estimate of the value of an Allowable Solutions fund which could potentially be generated by the new 
homes, in order to meet the Allowable Solution element of the zero carbon homes policy. This figure is calculated by totalling the 
total residual carbon emissions to be saved for each dwelling built after 2016, totalled over 30 years for that dwelling. 

 

Page 166



AECOM Renewable and Low Carbon Energy Assessment 89
 
Capabilities on project: 
Building Engineering 

6 Welshpool – Option 1 
6.1 General overview 
 

Welshpool Option 1 connects the key potential anchor heat loads, High School and Leisure Centre, with the candidate 
development sites in the north of the town. The proposed candidate sites included in the model are as follows: 

 Site 518: 50 homes 

 Site 929: 108 homes, and 21,600m2 of non residential development, B1c/B2/B8 use classes 

 Site 526: 94 homes 

Therefore, overall the model assumes that a total of 253 new homes, and the two existing non-residential buildings, would be 
connected. The model assumes different build dates for the development sites as follows: 

 Short term [approx 2012] sites: 518 [50 homes] 

 Midterm [approx 2016] sites: 929 [108 homes] 

 Long term [approx 2021] sites: 526 [94 homes] 

Therefore a total of 202 homes will be built after 2016, therefore requiring to meet the Zero Carbon Homes policy. 

 

Key assumptions: 

It is assumed that the energy centre would be located close to either the school or leisure centre, and therefore, the model 
assumes that 25% of the electricity generation from any gas engine CHP [at full build out] would be used on site, and therefore 
receive a higher price and the remainder would exported to the grid. This figure is based on an estimate of the total annual 
electricity demand for the two buildings, based on their floor area.

6.2 CAPEX and Cashflow 
 

Technical assessment 

Annual heating & hot water demand 8,178 MWh [at full build out] 

Total backbone trench length 389 m 

District heating CAPEX £701,678 

Peak load at the energy centre at full build out [thermal] 3.8 MW 

 

Page 167



AECOM Renewable and Low Carbon Energy Assessment 90
 
Capabilities on project: 
Building Engineering 

Financial assessment 

CHP option financial viability Biomass option financial viability 

CHP system size 1.6MW x 1 System size [thermal output] 0.8MW x 2 

Install years 2012 Install years 2012 & 2015 

Energy centre capital cost £1.65 m Energy centre capital cost £1.96 m 

Year 1 Net Revenue £0.1 m Year 1 net revenue £0.02 m 

Year 30 Net Revenue £0.23 m Year 30 net revenue £0.01 m 

Without developer contribution Without developer contribution 

15 yr NPV @ 6% -£0.94 m 15 yr NPV @ 6% -£2.36 m 

15 yr NPV @ 12% -£1.29 m 15 yr NPV @ 12% -£2.23 m 

15 yr IRR  No return achieved. 15 yr IRR  No return achieved. 

30 yr NPV @ 6% -£0.37 m 30 yr NPV @ 6% -£2.56 m 

30 yr NPV @ 12% -£1.15 m 30 yr NPV @ 12% -£2.32 m 

30 yr IRR  4.5% 30 yr IRR  No return achieved. 

 
Cash flow analysis 

1    2    3     4    5    6    7    8     9   10  11  12 13  14  15  16  17  18  19  20  21  22  23 24  25  26  27  28  29  30
Year

Gas CHP Biomass Heat Only
 

 

Page 168



AECOM Renewable and Low Carbon Energy Assessment 91
 
Capabilities on project: 
Building Engineering 

6.3 Potential developer contributions 
 

This datasheet presents an estimate of the avoided costs to the developer for installing DHN, compared with PV, in order to meet 
the Carbon Compliance element of the zero carbon homes policy.  

For Welshpool, Option 1, we have assumed the following breakdown of house types to be built post 2016, based on information 
provided by the Council and assumed build out dates: 
Flats:      16 
Semi detached:    81 

Terraced properties:   85 

Detached properties:  20 

Total:     202 
 

In practice, the actual numbers of new dwellings suggested for the candidate sites may be less, which would reduce the level of 
potential developer contributions.  

The following table shows the potential cost saving per dwelling to the developer from connecting to a district heating system 
contributions and avoiding the costs of installing PV to meet Carbon Compliance. More PV would be avoided if a biomass option 
is chosen rather than a gas CHP option, because biomass has a lower carbon emissions rate than gas and would be able to 
save more carbon. The figures below are shown in assumed 2016 costs. 

Total potential avoided photovoltaic cost from district heating solution [per dwelling] 

Gas engine CHP option Biomass option 

Flat £1,332 Flat £1,332 

Semi £726 Semi £3,004 

Terrace £1,637 Terrace £3,444 

Detached £1,134 Detached £4,033 

 

The following table shows how this relates to the Welshpool Option 2 in terms of potential contributions from the developers 
connecting to any DHN, based on the assumed levels of total housing development post 2016. 

Total potential developer contributions [2016 costs]50

Gas engine CHP option Biomass option 

Flat £21,525 Flat £21,525 

Semi £58,645 Semi £242,723 

Terrace £138,849 Terrace £292,189 

Detached £22,911 Detached £81,467 

Total £241,930 Total £637,904 

 

50 These costs are undiscounted. They also make no allowance for how the costs of Photovoltaics systems may fall after 2016, and 
therefore may be an overestimate for those development sites to be built out in the longer term.

Page 169



AECOM Renewable and Low Carbon Energy Assessment 92
 
Capabilities on project: 
Building Engineering 

This analysis shows that a greater potential developer contribution could be achieved with a biomass heat only scheme 
compared to gas engine CHP because the biomass option saves more carbon. However, the biomass heat only scheme did not 
achieve an IRR in the financial analysis without developer contributions compared with the 4.5% 30 year IRR achieved for gas 
engine CHP. 

 
6.4 Allowable Solutions 
 

This datasheet presents an estimate of the value of Allowable Solutions fund which could potentially be generated by the new 
homes, in order to meet the Allowable Solution element of the zero carbon homes policy. This figure is calculated by summing 
the total residual carbon emissions to be saved for each dwelling built after 2016, over 30 years for that dwelling. 

 No. of new homes [post 
2016] 

Total value of AS @ 
£49/tonne carbon over 30 
years per dwelling 

Potential value of Allowable 
Solutions [@£49/tonne] 

Flat 16 £1,122 £18,125 

Semi 81 £1,229 £99,297 

Terrace 85 £1,229 £104,262 

Detached 20 £1,735 £35,039 

Total 202 - £256,722 

 

For Welshpool, Option 1, this Allowable Solution fund could potentially be used to fund the network serving the high school and 
leisure centre.  In practice, however, it may take many years to collect this amount of Allowable Solution if the sites are only 
developed slowly, and therefore only a smaller proportion of this may be available at the time required to fund the installation of 
the network to the school and leisure centre.  

As confirmed at the stakeholder workshop, the high school currently uses oil boilers, which have higher carbon intensity than gas 
boilers. Therefore, comparatively high carbon savings could be achieved by connecting the high school to the DHN and so the 
potential Allowable Solution fund could be able to deliver a high concentration of carbon savings by funding the DHN to this 
anchor heat load.  

 

Page 170



AECOM Renewable and Low Carbon Energy Assessment 93
 
Capabilities on project: 
Building Engineering 

7 Welshpool – Option 2 
7.1 General overview 
 

Welshpool Option 2 connects the key anchor heat loads, High School and Leisure Centre, with the candidate new development 
sites in the north of the town and extends to the hospital and existing housing in between, which accounts for an additional 286 
dwellings. The potential development sites included in the model in addition to Option 1 are as follows: 

• Site 524: 40 new homes 

• Site 527: 103 homes 

Therefore, overall the model assumes that a total of 395 new homes, 286 existing homes, and the three existing non-residential 
buildings, would be connected.  

The model assumes different build dates for the two housing development sites as follows: 

• Short term [approx 2012] sites: 518 and 524 [90 homes] 

• Midterm [approx 2016] sites: 929 [108 homes] 

• Long term [approx 2021] sites: 526 and 527 [197 homes] 

Therefore a total of 305 homes will be built after 2016, therefore requiring to meet the Zero Carbon Homes policy. 

 

Key assumptions 

It is assumed that the energy centre would be located close to either the school or leisure centre, and therefore, the model 
assumes that 15% of the electricity generation from any gas engine CHP [at full build out] would be used on site, and therefore 
receive a higher price and the remainder would exported to the grid. This figure is based on an estimate of the total annual 
electricity demand for the two buildings, based on their floor area.  

7.2 CAPEX and Cash flow 
 

Technical assessment 

Annual heating & hot water demand 12,861 MWh [at full build out] 

Total backbone trench length 1,273 m 

District heating CAPEX £2,740,000 

Peak load at the energy centre at full build out [thermal] 6.4 MW 

 

Page 171



AECOM Renewable and Low Carbon Energy Assessment 94
 
Capabilities on project: 
Building Engineering 

Financial assessment 

CHP option financial viability Biomass option financial viability 

CHP system size 1.2MW x 2 System size [thermal output] 1.2MW x 2 

Install years 2012 & 2015 Install years 2012 & 2015 

Energy centre capital cost £2.73 m Energy centre capital cost £3.21 m 

Year 1 net revenue £0.19 m Year 1 net revenue £0.1 m 

Year 30 net revenue £0.38 m Year 30 net revenue £0.07 m 

Without developer contribution Without developer contribution 

15 yr NPV @ 6% -£2.99 m 15 yr NPV @ 6% -£4.93 m 

15 yr NPV @ 12% -£3.13 m 15 yr NPV @ 12% -£4.54 m 

15 yr IRR  No return achieved. 15 yr IRR  No return achieved. 

30 yr NPV @ 6% -£2.06 m 30 yr NPV @ 6% -£5.12 m 

30 yr NPV @ 12% -£2.89 m 30 yr NPV @ 12% -£4.64 m 

30 yr IRR  1.6% 30 yr IRR  No return achieved. 

 
Cash flow analysis 

1    2    3     4    5    6    7    8     9   10  11  12 13  14  15  16  17  18  19  20  21  22  23 24  25  26  27  28  29  30
Year

Gas CHP Biomass Heat Only
 

 

 

Page 172



AECOM Renewable and Low Carbon Energy Assessment 95
 
Capabilities on project: 
Building Engineering 

7.3 Potential developer contributions 
 

This datasheet presents an estimate of the avoided costs to the developer for installing DHN, compared with PV, in order to meet 
the Carbon Compliance element of the zero carbon homes [ZCH] policy.  

For Welshpool, Option 2, we have assumed the following breakdown of house types, based on information provided by the 
Council and assumed build out dates: 
Flats:      24 
Semi detached:    122 

Terraced properties:   128 

Detached properties:  31 

Total:     305 
 

The following table shows the potential cost saving per dwelling to the developer from connecting to a district heating system 
contributions and avoiding the costs of installing PV to meet Carbon Compliance. More PV would be avoided if a biomass option 
is chosen rather than a gas CHP option, because biomass has a lower carbon emissions rate than gas and would be able to 
save more carbon. The figures below are shown in assumed 2016 costs. 

 
Total potential avoided photovoltaic cost from district heating solution [per dwelling] 

Gas engine CHP option Biomass option 

Flat £1,332 Flat £1,332 

Semi £726 Semi £3,004 

Terrace £1,637 Terrace £3,444 

Detached £1,134 Detached £4,033 

 

The following table shows how this relates to the Welshpool Option 2 in terms of potential contributions from developers 
connecting to any DHN, based on the assumed levels of total housing development post 2016. 

Total potential developer contributions [2016 costs] 51

Gas engine CHP option Biomass option 

Flat £32,501 Flat £32,501 

Semi £88,548 Semi £366,488 

Terrace £209,648 Terrace £441,176 

Detached £34,593 Detached £123,007 

Total £365,290 Total £963,172 

 

This shows that although the potential avoided costs could be significant for Welshpool option 2, the savings are a relatively 
small proportion of the funding gap hence significant additional funding would be required. 

51 These costs are undiscounted. They also make no allowance for how the costs of Photovoltaics systems may fall after 2016, and 
therefore may be an overestimate for those development sites to be built out in the longer term.

Page 173



AECOM Renewable and Low Carbon Energy Assessment 96
 
Capabilities on project: 
Building Engineering 

 
7.4 Allowable Solutions 
 

This datasheet presents an estimate of the value of Allowable Solutions fund which could potentially be generated by the new 
homes, in order to meet the Allowable Solution element of the zero carbon homes policy. This figure is calculated by summing 
the total residual carbon emissions to be saved for each dwelling built after 2016, over 30 years for that dwelling. 

 No. of new homes [post 
2016] 

Total value of AS @ 
£49/tonne carbon over 30 
years per dwelling 

Potential value of Allowable 
Solutions [@£49/tonne] 

Flat 24 £1,122 £27,367 

Semi 122 £1,229 £149,928 

Terrace 128 £1,229 £157,425 

Detached 31 £1,735 £52,905 

Total 305 - £387,625 

 

For Welshpool, Option 2, there are more existing buildings and homes being served by the network than in Option 1 hence there 
are more savings in existing buildings to be achieved that could be used for an Allowable Solutions fund. The potential value of 
the fund for Welshpool Option 2 could make a significant difference to the viability of the DHN scheme. 

 

 

Page 174



AECOM Renewable and Low Carbon Energy Assessment 97
 
Capabilities on project: 
Building Engineering 

8 Newtown – Option 1 
8.1 General overview 
 

This option connects the key potential anchor heat loads, Newtown High School and Leisure Centre, along with two primary 
schools, Maesyrhandir C P School and Ysgol Cedewain Newtown. There are no new development sites included with this option.  

Key assumptions 

It is assumed that the energy centre would be located close to either the high school or leisure centre, and therefore, the model 
assumes that 20% of the electricity generation from any gas engine CHP [at full build out] would be used on site, and therefore 
receive a higher price and the remainder would exported to the grid. This is figure is based on an estimate of the total annual 
electricity demand for the two buildings, based on their floor area. 

 

8.2 CAPEX and Cash flow 
 

Technical assessment 

Annual heating & hot water demand 3,595 MWh [at full build out] 

Total backbone trench length 805 m 

District heating CAPEX £400,000 

Peak load at the energy centre at full build out [thermal] 1.7 MW 

Page 175



AECOM Renewable and Low Carbon Energy Assessment 98
 
Capabilities on project: 
Building Engineering 

 

Financial assessment 

CHP option financial viability Biomass option financial viability 

CHP system size 0.7MW x 1 System size [thermal output] 0.3MW x 2 

Install years 2012 Install years 2012 & 2012 

Energy centre capital cost £0.59 m Energy centre capital cost £0.78 m 

Year 1 net revenue £0.06 m Year 1 net revenue £0.04 m 

Year 30 net revenue £0.06 m Year 30 net revenue £0.00 m 

Without developer contribution Without developer contribution 

15 yr NPV @ 6% -£0.51 m 15 yr NPV @ 6% -£0.63 m 

15 yr NPV @ 12% -£0.64 m 15 yr NPV @ 12% -£0.72 m 

15 yr IRR  No return achieved. 15 yr IRR  No return achieved. 

30 yr NPV @ 6% -£0.41 m 30 yr NPV @ 6% -£0.65 m 

30 yr NPV @ 12% -£0.63 m 30 yr NPV @ 12% -£0.73 m 

30 yr IRR  1.7% 30 yr IRR  No return achieved. 

Cash flow analysis 

1    2    3     4    5    6    7    8     9   10  11  12 13  14  15  16  17  18  19  20  21  22  23 24  25  26  27  28  29  30
Year

Gas CHP Biomass Heat Only
 

 

 

Page 176



AECOM Renewable and Low Carbon Energy Assessment 99
 
Capabilities on project: 
Building Engineering 

8.3 Potential developer contributions 
 

For Newtown, Option 1, there are no new developments hence no avoided costs to be calculated. 

 

8.4 Allowable Solutions 
 

For Newtown, Option 1, there are no new developments hence no Allowable Solutions costs to be calculated. 

 

Page 177



AECOM Renewable and Low Carbon Energy Assessment 100
 
Capabilities on project: 
Building Engineering 

9 Newtown – Option 2 
9.1 General overview 
 

This option connects key potential anchor heat loads, Newtown High School and Leisure Centre, along with two schools, 
Maesyrhandir C P School and Ysgol Cedewain Newtown as in Option1. Option 2 extends this to Powys College and existing 
housing en route, which accounts for an additional 258 dwellings, with 70% social housing.  

For this option, it is assumed that all the properties are connected within a short timescale and therefore are all included from 
year 1, apart from the proportion of existing homes which are owner occupiers and these are connected progressively year by 
year. 

 

Key assumptions 

It is assumed that the energy centre would be located close to either the high school or leisure centre, and therefore, the model 
assumes that 8% of the electricity generation from any gas engine CHP [at full build out] would be used on site, and therefore 
receive a higher price and the remainder would exported to the grid. This is figure is based on an estimate of the total annual 
electricity demand for the two buildings, based on their floor area. 

9.2 CAPEX and Cash flow 
 

Technical assessment 

Annual heating & hot water demand 6,759 MWh [at full build out] 

Total backbone trench length 1,825 m 

District heating CAPEX £2,230,000 

Peak load at the energy centre at full build out [thermal] 3.3 MW 

 

Page 178



AECOM Renewable and Low Carbon Energy Assessment 101
 
Capabilities on project: 
Building Engineering 

Financial assessment 

CHP option financial viability Biomass option financial viability 

CHP system size 1.3MW x 1 System size [thermal output] 0.7MW x 2 

Install years 2012 Install years 2012 & 2012 

Energy centre capital cost £1.37 m Energy centre capital cost £1.62 m 

Year 1 net revenue £0.33 m Year 1 net revenue £0.24 m 

Year 30 net revenue £0.17m52 Year 30 net revenue £0.05 m 

Without developer contribution Without developer contribution 

15 yr NPV @ 6% -£2.24 m 15 yr NPV @ 6% -£2.93 m 

15 yr NPV @ 12% -£2.46 m 15 yr NPV @ 12% -£2.89 m 

15 yr IRR  No return achieved. 15 yr IRR  No return achieved. 

30 yr NPV @ 6% -£1.87 m 30 yr NPV @ 6% -£2.91 m 

30 yr NPV @ 12% -£2.38 m 30 yr NPV @ 12% -£2.91 m 

30 yr IRR  0.0% 30 yr IRR  No return achieved. 

 
Cash flow analysis 

1    2     3    4    5     6    7    8    9    10   11  12  13  14  15  16  17  18  19  20  21  22  23  24  25   26  27  28  29  30
Year Gas CHP

Biomass Heat Only

 

 

 

52 This falls relative to year 1, as in year 1 there is a one off income from the existing social housing which pays a connection charge to 
cover costs of connection

Page 179



AECOM Renewable and Low Carbon Energy Assessment 102
 
Capabilities on project: 
Building Engineering 

9.3 Potential developer contributions 
 

For Newtown, Option 2, there are no new developments hence no avoided costs to be calculated. 

9.4 Allowable Solutions 
 

For Newtown, Option 2, there are no new developments hence no Allowable Solutions costs to be calculated. 

 

Page 180



AECOM Renewable and Low Carbon Energy Assessment 103
 
Capabilities on project: 
Building Engineering 

10 Newtown – Option 3 
10.1 General overview 
 

This option connects key anchor heat loads, Newtown High School and Leisure centre, along with two schools, Maesyrhandir C 
P School and Ysgol Cedewain Newtown, Powys College and existing housing. Option 3 extends this to the proposed candidate 
site 591 which has total number of 95 new homes. Site 586 is not included for connection due to the low densities proposed on 
the site. The model assumes that site 591 would have a medium term build out rate and would connect to the network in 2016, 
and will be required to meet the Zero Carbon Homes policy. 

Therefore, overall the model assumes that a total of 95 new homes, 258 existing homes and the five existing non-residential 
buildings would be connected. 

 

Key assumptions 

It is assumed that the energy centre would be located close to either the high school or leisure centre, and therefore, the model 
assumes that 8% of the electricity generation from any gas engine CHP [at full build out] would be used on site, and therefore 
receive a higher price and the remainder would exported to the grid. This is figure is based on an estimate of the total annual 
electricity demand for the two buildings, based on their floor area 

10.2 CAPEX and Cash flow 
 

Technical assessment 

Annual heating & hot water demand 7,320 MWh [at full build out] 

Total backbone trench length 2,816 m 

District heating CAPEX £2,950,000 

Peak load at the energy centre at full build out [thermal] 3.7 MW 

 
Financial assessment 

CHP option financial viability Biomass option financial viability 

CHP system size 1.4MW x 1 System size [thermal output] 0.7MW x 2 

Install years 2012 Install years 2012 & 2012 

Energy centre capital cost £1.5 m Energy centre capital cost £1.77 m 

Year 1 net revenue £0.32 m Year 1 net revenue £0.24 m 

Year 30 net revenue £0.19 m Year 30 net revenue £0.05 m 

Without developer contribution Without developer contribution 

15 yr NPV @ 6% -£2.96 m 15 yr NPV @ 6% -£3.68 m 

15 yr NPV @ 12% -£3.06 m 15 yr NPV @ 12% -£3.49 m 

15 yr IRR  No return achieved 15 yr IRR  No return achieved 

30 yr NPV @ 6% -£2.55 m 30 yr NPV @ 6% -£3.63 m 

30 yr NPV @ 12% -£2.96 m 30 yr NPV @ 12% -£3.5 m 

Page 181



AECOM Renewable and Low Carbon Energy Assessment 104
 
Capabilities on project: 
Building Engineering 

30 yr IRR  No return achieved 30 yr IRR  No return achieved 

 
Cash flow analysis 

                           1     2     3     4     5     6    7     8     9    10   11   12  13   14  15   16  17   18  19   20   21   22  23   24  25   26   27   28  29   30

Year
Gas CHP Biomass Heat Only

 

 

 

10.3 Potential developer contributions 
 

This datasheet presents an estimate of the avoided costs to the developer for installing DHN, compared with PV, in order to meet 
the Carbon Compliance element of the zero carbon homes policy. For Newtown, Option 3, we have assumed the following 
breakdown of house types, based on information provided by the Council and assumed build out dates: 
Flats:      8 
Semi detached:    38 

Terraced properties:   40 

Detached properties:  10 

Total:     95 
 

The following table shows the potential cost saving per dwelling to the developer from connecting to a district heating system 
contributions and avoiding the costs of installing PV to meet Carbon Compliance. More PV would be avoided if a biomass option 
is chosen rather than a gas CHP option, because biomass has a lower carbon emissions rate than gas and would be able to 
save more carbon. The figures below are shown in assumed 2016 costs. 

 

 
Total potential avoided photovoltaic cost from district heating solution [per dwelling] 

Gas engine CHP option Biomass option 

Flat £1,332 Flat £1,332 

Page 182



AECOM Renewable and Low Carbon Energy Assessment 105
 
Capabilities on project: 
Building Engineering 

Semi £726 Semi £3,004 

Terrace £1,637 Terrace £3,444 

Detached £1,134 Detached £4,033 

 

The following table shows how this relates to the Newtown Option 3 in terms of potential contributions from the developers 
connecting to the DHN. 

Total potential developer contributions [2016 costs] 53

Gas engine CHP option Biomass option 

Flat £10,123 Flat £10,123 

Semi £27,580 Semi £114,152 

Terrace £65,300 Terrace £137,416 

Detached £10,775 Detached £38,314 

Total £113,779 Total £300,004 

 

For Newtown, Option 3, the new development accounts for only a small portion of the total heat delivered on the network 
therefore the relative costs avoided by the developers by connecting the heat network are small in proportion to the whole DHN 
option. Even when compared only to the uplift in NPV from Option 3 and Option 2, which is -£720,000 over 15 years, at a 
discount rate of 6%, the potential avoided costs are only a small proportion of the total additional costs to connect. This shows 
that extending to the proposed candidate site 591 does not increase the financially viability of the DHN. 

10.4 Allowable Solutions 
 

This datasheet presents an estimate of the value of Allowable Solutions fund which could potentially be generated by the new 
homes, in order to meet the Allowable Solution element of the zero carbon homes policy. This figure is calculated by summing 
the total residual carbon emissions to be saved for each dwelling built after 2016, over 30 years for that dwelling. 

 No. of new homes [post 
2016] 

Total value of AS @ 
£49/tonne carbon over 30 
years per dwelling 

Potential value of Allowable 
Solutions [@£49/tonne] 

Flat 8 £1,122 £8,524 

Semi 38 £1,229 £46,699 

Terrace 40 £1,229 £49,034 

Detached 10 £1,735 £16,479 

Total 95 - £120,736 

 For Newtown, Option 3, this Allowable Solution fund could be used to help fund the rest of the network. However, the size of the 
fund is only a small proportion of the total costs. 

 

10.5 Summary table for financial assessment 
 

53 These costs are undiscounted. They also make no allowance for how the costs of Photovoltaics systems may fall after 2016, and 
therefore may be an overestimate for those development sites to be built out in the longer term.

Page 183



AECOM Renewable and Low Carbon Energy Assessment 106
 
Capabilities on project: 
Building Engineering 

The table on following page summarises the financial assessment of each district heating option. 

 

Notes on table 

1. The heat demand shown is the demand at the energy centre, after allowing for network losses 

2. The capital cost for the energy centre includes the energy centre building, and internal plant, including the lead low carbon 
plant [gas engine CHP or biomass boiler], supplementary gas boilers to meet peak loads and for back up, and thermal 
storage. 

Page 184



Network size CAPEX [£ million] IRR Net Present Value [£ million]
Potential gap funding [£ 
million]

Option
Annual heat 
demand 
[MWh]

Peak thermal 
demand 
[MW]

Heat network Technology Energy 
Centre Total 15 year 30 year 15 years @ 

6%
15 years @ 
12%

30 years @ 
6%

30 years @ 
12%

Developer 
contribution

Allowable 
Solution 
contribution

Gas £1.70 £3.00 n/a n/a -£2.19 -£2.03 -£1.66 -£1.87 £0.55 £0.58Llanidloes 
[Option 1] 7,298 5.3 £1.30

Biomass £1.97 £3.27 n/a n/a -£2.81 -£2.44 -£2.72 -£2.41 £1.45 £0.58

Gas £1.93 £3.89 n/a n/a -£2.80 -£2.59 -£2.19 -£2.41 £0.55 £0.58Llanidloes 
[Option 2] 8,210 5.7 £1.96

Biomass £2.24 £4.20 n/a n/a -£3.49 -£3.05 -£3.38 -£3.02 £1.45 £0.58

Gas £1.65 £2.35 n/a 4.50% -£0.94 -£1.29 -£0.37 -£1.15 £0.24 £0.26Welshpool 
[Option 2] 8,178 3.8 £0.70

Biomass £1.96 £2.66 n/a n/a -£2.36 -£2.23 -£2.56 -£2.32 £0.64 £0.26

Gas £2.73 £5.47 n/a 1.60% -£2.99 -£3.13 -£2.06 -£2.89 £0.37 £0.39Welshpool 
[Option 1] 12,861 6.4 £2.74

Biomass £3.21 £5.95 n/a n/a -£4.93 -£4.54 -£5.12 -£4.64 £0.96 £0.39

Gas £0.59 £0.98 n/a 1.70% -£0.51 -£0.64 -£0.41 -£0.63 - -Newtown 
[Option 1] 3,595 1.7 £0.40

Biomass £0.78 £1.18 n/a n/a -£0.63 -£0.72 -£0.65 -£0.73 - -

Gas £1.37 £3.59 n/a 0.00% -£2.24 -£2.46 -£1.87 -£2.38 - -Newtown 
[Option 2] 6,759 3.3 £2.23

Biomass £1.62 £3.84 n/a n/a -£2.93 -£2.89 -£2.91 -£2.91 - -

Gas £1.50 £4.45 n/a n/a -£2.96 -£3.06 -£2.55 -£2.96 £0.11 £0.12Newtown 
[Option 3] 7,320 3.7 £2.95

Biomass £1.77 £4.74 n/a n/a -£3.68 -£3.49 -£3.63 -£3.50 £0.30 £0.12

P
age 185



AECOM District Heating Networks Evaluation of Candidate Site Clusters 108 
 
Capabilities on project: 
Building Engineering 

Key Findings 

 

Page 186



AECOM District Heating Networks Evaluation of Candidate Site Clusters 109 
 
Capabilities on project: 
Building Engineering 

11 Key Findings
11.1 Overview 
 

This section provides a summary of the financial analysis of the options and key findings for each of the sites.  

 

11.2 Llanidloes 
 

Llanidloes options 1 and 2 did not achieve an internal rate of return [IRR] for either of the sites or technology options. This is 
largely due to the low density of the new developments, and marginal total heat load.  

Financial viability for these options could be increased by maximising the revenue from the Renewable Heat Incentive [RHI] and 
selecting a total system size of less than 1MW. For the purpose of this modelling, this level of detailed plant sizing has not been 
carried out, as for some heat demand profiles, selecting a smaller system can reduce the overall performance of the system and 
hence would need to be assessed in more detail.  

Combined with the foreseen difficulties with coordinating the new developments build out dates and developers’ strategies, this 
site is not recommended for further analysis. However, it should be noted that there is good community support for such 
schemes as the Llanidloes Energy Solutions community group has already been investigating the available options.  

 

11.3 Welshpool 
 

Welshpool option 1 achieves an IRR for the gas engine CHP option of 4.5% after 30 years, and breaks even after 20 years. The 
gap funding that would be needed to take the scheme to a 6% IRR is in the region of £370,000.  

However, the biomass heat-only option does not break even over the 30 year period. This is because the Renewable Heat 
Incentive [RHI] tariff for this size of system [greater than 1MWth] is relatively low, and, unlike the gas engine CHP, the scheme 
does not have a revenue from electricity sales.  

For Welshpool option 2, the financial performance is less favourable, and the gas engine CHP option does not break even until 
year 26. This is because of the relatively long run of network required to reach the hospital.  

For both Welshpool options, there is a potential for capital contributions from developers of new developments, as connection to 
a heating network could help them to meet zero carbon requirements from 2016. This contribution could be in the region of 
£240,000 for gas engine CHP, as well as up to a further £260,000 from Allowable Solutions. These potential sources of capital 
could help provide gap funding to improve the financial performance of the network.  

For Welshpool there is also the added potential for heat to be supplied into a network from the proposed biomass CHP scheme 
at Potters Recycling, located just to the east of the railway station.  

 

11.4 Newtown 
 

Newtown option 1 achieves an IRR of 1.7% for the gas engine CHP option after 30 years, and breaks even in year 26. As there 
are no new developments there is not the further benefit of potential developer contributions.  

 

 

Page 187



AECOM District Heating Networks Evaluation of Candidate Site Clusters 110 
 
Capabilities on project: 
Building Engineering 

Without a new development, the attractiveness of Newtown option 1 is that the scheme has less reliance on private developers, 
and the stakeholders in the DHN could be engaged straightaway. In addition, it is understood from the stakeholder workshop that 
the High School is planning to expand to include a Welsh Medium School and this may provide a catalyst for a district heating 
connection. 

Newtown options 2 and 3 add significantly to the capital cost and do not improve the financial performance. However, it should 
be noted that the heat demand for Powys College is based on a floor area estimate, and actual gas consumption should be 
sourced to update this calculation. 

 

11.5 Conclusion 
 

Overall, Welshpool option 1 is the most viable site, and could form the basis of a heat network that could link existing and new 
development. We recommend this option for further analysis, including discussion with potential ESCO’s, as well as investigating 
options for utilising waste heat from the proposed Potters Recycling biomass CHP scheme. Welshpool Option 2, which would 
also connect to the existing hospital as well as existing housing, could become more viable in the future if the hospital were to 
expand, or additional incentives for district heating were introduced. 

Llanidloes has limited potential due to the lack of suitable anchor heat loads, and low density and phasing issues for the new 
developments. Therefore, district heating is unlikely to be viable to the north east area of the town, where the candidate new 
development sites are located.  

Newtown options 1 and 2 may be worth investigating further in the future, if the High School expands to become a Welsh 
Medium School, as this would increase the heat and electricity loads and improve viability. It may also help to reduce some of the 
capital costs of the network and energy centre as these could be partially integrated into the school expansion. We were also 
unable to obtain data on the actual gas demand for Powys College. If this is significantly higher than our estimates, or if the 
College has plans to expand, this could also improve viability. If any significant new development sites are proposed in the area 
between the High School and the College in the future, then we recommend that the Council should consider the role that those 
sites could play in helping to facilitate the development of a heating network. 

 

 

Page 188



AECOM District Heating Networks Evaluation of Candidate Site Clusters 111 
 
Capabilities on project: 
Building Engineering 

Appendices 

Page 189



AECOM District Heating Networks Evaluation of Candidate Site Clusters 112 
 
Capabilities on project: 
Building Engineering 

Appendix A:  Modelling Assumptions 
Introduction 

This appendix lists the assumptions used in calculating the heat demands, CO2 savings and cash flow analysis. It includes the 
following sections: 

 Technical 

 Revenue 

 

Technical Assumptions 

Carbon emissions factors  

Based on Building Regulations Part L 2010 figures as given below: 
Fuel Carbon factor [kgCO2/kWh] 

Gas  0.198 

Electricity  0.517 

Grid displaced electricity 0.529 

 

Estimated Heat demands 

The area heat demand [MWh/year] were based on CIBSE TM46 benchmarks adjusted with Degree Days to the Wales [-3 % from 
table A1.1]. These were based on building types and building areas.  

  

Pipework costs 

Based on previous quotes by PPSL providing Logstor Ror pipework increased in line with inflation 
 Size [mm] Rate per meter [£] Size [mm] Rate per meter [£] 

DN25/90 £ 132.30/m DN150/250 £   271.95/m 

DN32/110 £ 140.70/m DN200/315 £   341.25/m 

DN40/110 £ 147.00/m DN250/400 £   512.40/m 

DN50/125 £ 53.30/m DN300/450 £   657.30/m 

DN65/140 £ 158.55/m DN400/520 £   803.25/m 

DN80/160 £ 169.05/m DN500/710 £   941.85/m 

DN100/200 £ 191.10/m DN600/800 £1,092.00/m 

DN125/225 £   219.45/m   

 

  

Page 190



AECOM District Heating Networks Evaluation of Candidate Site Clusters 113 
 
Capabilities on project: 
Building Engineering 

Notes  

 Rates are per single pipe and need to be doubled for flow and return. 

 Operating Temperatures up to 140ºC. 

 All inclusive means there is an allowance in the rates for fittings, site joints and termination seals. 

 Rates exclude for associated civil works. 

  

Civil engineering costs [trenching] 

Based on previous quotes by PPSL providing Logstor Ror pipework increased in line with inflation  
Size [mm] Hard Dig £/m Soft Dig £/m 

DN25/90 315 220.5 

DN32/110 325.5 231 

DN40/110 346.5 241.5 

DN50/125 367.5 257.25 

DN65/140 378 273 

DN80/160 409.5 294 

DN100/200 441 315 

DN125/225 504 357 

DN150/250 619.5 441 

DN200/315 682.5 477.75 

DN250/400 735 514.5 

DN300/450 840 588 

DN400/520 897.75 674.1 

DN500/710 955.5 677.25 

DN600/800 1018.5 729.75 

 

Notes  

Civil work all inclusive of:  

 excavation and reinstatement per meter of trench 

 exclude special surfaces, close shoring, dewatering & traffic management 

 

 
Civil engineering costs for energy centres 

Energy Centre costs for civils based on 0.4m2/kWe and a Capex of £1000/m2. 

 

Page 191



AECOM District Heating Networks Evaluation of Candidate Site Clusters 114 
 
Capabilities on project: 
Building Engineering 

Contingency and design fees 

Multiple of 1.265 on the overall network costs. This assumes 15% contingency and 10% to cover professional fees. 

  

Plant assumptions 

 Size [MWth] 
Heat 
Efficiency 

Electrical 
Efficiency CAPEX per kW 

Maintenance 
per kWhth 

Lifespan 
[Years] 

Gas CHP 0.5 42% 32% £864 0.5 pence 15 

Gas CHP 0.9 42% 32% £864 0.5 pence 15 

Gas CHP 1.2 40% 35% £657 0.5 pence 15 

Gas CHP 2.2 42% 38% £657 0.5 pence 15 

Gas Boiler any 90% n/a £60 0.0 pence 20 

 

CHP plant operation 
Fraction of load met by CHP:  90% 
CHP Load Factor:   50% 
 

Heat network operation 

Network losses:  6% of total heat demand  

Pumping electricity:  1% of total heat demand 

Heat standing charge:  £100 per household 

Network maintenance:  1% of heat network CAPEX 

 
Revenue Assumptions 

Cash flow assumptions 

No inflation included; 

All costs based on 2012 costs; 

Full plant replacement included at year 15 for gas fired CHP and biomass boilers. 

 

Renewable Heat Incentive [RHI] Tariff for biomass boilers 
 Size [MWth] Price [p/kWh] 

Tier 1:  4.9p 
Medium commercial biomass 0.2 to 1.0 MWth 

Tier 2:  2.0p 

Large commercial biomass > 1.0 MWth 1.0p 

 

Page 192



AECOM District Heating Networks Evaluation of Candidate Site Clusters 115 
 
Capabilities on project: 
Building Engineering 

Fuel Costs for energy centre 
Fuel Commercial Price [p/kWh] 

Gas 2.00p 

Electricity 8.50p 

Woodchip 1.29p 

CCL [gas] 0.16p 

 

Heat Sales 

Heat sale to customers is based on typical boiler efficiencies with a 10% discount to incentivise connecting to the network. 
Customer Heat sale price [p#kWh] 

Residential 5.25p 

Commercial 3.20p 

 

 

 

 

Page 193



AECOM District Heating Networks Evaluation of Candidate Site Clusters 116 
 
Capabilities on project: 
Building Engineering 

Appendix B: Notes from Stakeholder Workshop 
List of attendees at stakeholder workshop held at Powys County Council, Llandrindod Wells, dated 14-06-2012.  The workshop 
was attended by the following stakeholders and project team members: 

 Chris O’Brien [Planning Policy Officer - South, Powys County Council]  Peter Morris [LDP Team Leader, Powys County 

Council] 

 Michael Lloyd [Planning Policy Officer - North, Powys County Council] 

 Heather Delonnette [Sustainability Officer, Powys County Council] 

 Gareth Richards [Energy Manager, Powys County Council]  Karen Griffiths [Carbon Trust]. 

 Mark Morant [AECOM] 

 Stephen Ward [AECOM] 

 

 

Page 194



AECOM District Heating Networks Evaluation of Candidate Site Clusters 117 
 
Capabilities on project: 
Building Engineering 

Appendix C: Detailed methodology for developer contributions and Allowable Solutions 
This appendix sets out the methodology used in calculating the potential developer contributions and value of allowable solutions. 
The aim of this calculation is to set out an estimate of the additional cost of district heating networks [DHNs] for new 
developments, over and above the cost of what would be required from an alternative microgeneration solution to meet future 
Building Regulations, and in particular the future requirements for zero carbon new homes by 2016.  

This estimate of costs is based on the latest information available from published studies, and these are referenced below, as 
appropriate. However, we would stress that these figures can only be treated as a rough guide at this stage, as there are many 
uncertainties. The main one of these is that the definition of the requirement for zero carbon homes by 2016 has yet to be fully 
defined, and has already been subject to several changes over the last 2-3 years.  

The estimate of costs given here is for new dwellings only. In terms of non-domestic buildings it is far harder to come up with 
generic indicative costs for DHNs, or to estimate the avoided costs for meeting the requirement for zero carbon non-domestic 
buildings. For the former, this is because non-domestic buildings are far more varied in their size and layout on a site and 
therefore do not lend themselves to generic modelling in the same way as homes. For the latter, the detail of what zero carbon 
will actually mean is far less developed and the level of cost analysis that exists for zero carbon homes does not exist for 
nondomestic buildings.  

It is possible that developers could see significant avoided costs for new non-domestic buildings from connecting to a DHN, 
particularly for mixed use developments, where the cost of the infrastructure could be shared with new housing. However, this 
could only be quantified as part of a more detail assessment for individual sites.  

 

The cost to a developer of meeting the on-site carbon compliance element of zero carbon  

The most recent work on this was published by the Zero Carbon Hub, in February 201154. This work modelled the costs of 
meeting the carbon compliance element using PV and gas boilers for each dwelling. The study also calculated the contribution 
that district heating technologies could make to achieving Carbon Compliance, using either gas [engine] CHP or biomass 
heating, and the amount of PV that may still be required in each case. Using this information, it is possible to deduce the potential 
capital cost savings that could arise from using district heating as a result of needing less, or no PV. A summary of this data is 
shown in the table below, for each dwelling type.  

54 “Carbon Compliance, setting an appropriate limit for zero carbon new homes, findings and recommendations”, February, 2011

Page 195



AECOM District Heating Networks Evaluation of Candidate Site Clusters 118 
 
Capabilities on project: 
Building Engineering 

Table: summary of potential avoided cost of PV from using district heating 

PV required with district 
heating [m2] 

Cost saving from 
district solution [in 2016 
prices] per dwelling 

Type of 
dwelling 

Floor area 
[m2] 

Carbon 
compliance 
level 
[kgCO2 per 
m2 per 
year] 

Cost of 
carbon 
compliance 
with PV 
[2016 
prices] 
excluding 
fabric 

PV 
required if 
no district 
heating 
[m2] Gas CHP Biomass 

heating Gas CHP Biomass 
heating 

Flat 54.5 14 £1,332 4.92 0.0 0 £1,322 £1,332 

Semi 76 11 £3,004 11.4 5.8 0 £726 £3,004 

Terrace 76 11 £3,444 9.4 3.6 0 £1,637 £3,444 

Detached 118 10 £4,033 14 8.7 0 £1,134 £4,033 

 
Notes on table: 

• Where the table says 2016 prices, this means the estimated price of the PV element in 2016, allowing for expected learning 
rates, but with no inflation added in. 

• The cost of carbon compliance for PV is the cost of the PV element only, and does not include the cost of the gas boiler. 

 

 The cost saving shown for the district heating solution relates only to the avoided cost of needing less PV, it does not allow for 
any other cost savings from a district solution 

From this table it can be seen that by 2016 [when PV costs are expected to be less than they are now, in real terms], the 
potential avoided cost of meeting Carbon Compliance to a developer from connecting to a district heating system could be in the 
range of £726-£3,444 per dwelling, depending on the technology and the dwelling type, for higher density developments 
consisting of flats, or terraced and end-of-terrace/ semi-detached homes. 

 

The cost of district heating networks 

A relatively recent, and robust source of data for this is the report for DECC by Poyry and AECOM on the potential for DHNs in 
the UK, from 200955. The data in the Poyry report was based on installing DHNs to supply existing dwellings. This is generally 
more expensive than for new dwellings. This is because for the latter, the heat demands are lower, and therefore a smaller heat 
main size can be used, and also the trenches for the heat mains can be dug in unmade, or softer ground, rather than having to 
excavate and re-instate a section of existing road or pavement.  

The table below shows a summary of the estimated costs for a DHN to serve new dwellings, derived from the Poyry report. 
Based on data held by AECOM on heat main costs, we have estimated that the DHN infrastructure cost for new build would be 
roughly 30% less than that for existing dwellings, and the cost for DNH branches would be 20% less. The figures shown are for 
the network only, and exclude any costs for the energy centre, and for the heat exchanger and heat meter for each dwelling. The 
cost for the latter two items is roughly equivalent to the installed cost for a gas boiler, and therefore the net cost of these can be 
assumed to be zero, assuming the comparison is with a dwelling with its own gas boiler.   

55 “The Potential and Costs of District Heating Networks, a report to the Department of Energy and Climate Change, April 2009

Page 196



AECOM District Heating Networks Evaluation of Candidate Site Clusters 119 
 
Capabilities on project: 
Building Engineering 

Table: Estimated costs of DHNs for new dwellings 

Dwelling 
DHN 
infrastructure 
cost [Poyry] 

With reduction for 
new build 
[30%] 

DHN branch cost 
[Poyry] 

With reduction for 
new build 
[20%] 

Total DHN cost 
[excluding energy 
centre] for new 
build 

Flat £712 £498 £752 £602 £1,100 

Terrace £2,135 £1,495 £1,912 £1,530 £3,024 

Semi [Dense] £2,719 £1,903 £2,598 £2,078 £3,982 

Semi [Less Dense] £2,719 £1,903 £3,198 £2,558 £4,462 

 
Notes on table: 

• All costs shown are in 2009 prices. 

• The DHN branch cost relates to the cost of pipe braches to serve residential streets and spurs off to serve individual 
dwellings.  

• The DHN infrastructure cost relates to the heat mains that would run down the main roads to connect the streets together 
and to the energy centre, assuming the energy centre was located within or in close proximity to the development.  

• These figures exclude any costs for an energy centre. 

• These costs do not allow for the potential avoided cost for a developer if they do not provide a gas supply to each dwelling. 

 

 The table shows that the cost of the DHN network could be in the range of £1,100 to just under £4,000 per dwelling for higher 
density developments, consisting of flats, terraced homes and end-of-terrace/ semi-detached homes. 

A comparison of these costs with the avoided costs for carbon compliance, and the resulting net cost, is shown summarised in 
the table below. This shows that the net cost is actually negative [i.e. a net cost saving] for flats, and for high density housing is 
about £500 for biomass heating, and up to about £2,300 for gas CHP. These costs could potentially be reduced further if a] as 
mentioned above, the developer chooses not to provide a gas supply to each dwelling 56, and therefore sees a saving in gas 
infrastructure and b] if the developer or ESCo is able to share trenches with other infrastructure being installed on site [such as 
water, electricity and fibre optic cabling] which could reduce the costs of installation.  Table: Net costs for DHNs to met zero 
carbon 

Cost saving from district solution [in 
2016] per dwelling Net cost for district heating 

Type of dwelling 
Gas CHP Biomass heating 

Secondary DHN 
costs per 
dwelling Gas CHP Biomass heating 

Flat £1,332 £1,332 £1,100 -£232 -£232 

Semi £726 £3,004 £3,024 £2,298 £20 

Terrace £1,637 £3,444 £3,982 £2,345 £538 

Detached £1,134 £4,033 £4,462 £3,328 £429 

 

56 Some ESCOs may require this anyway, if they are investing capital in a scheme, to help provide a long term guarantee of heat supply to 
the dwellings to support their efforts to obtain finance

Page 197



AECOM District Heating Networks Evaluation of Candidate Site Clusters 120 
 
Capabilities on project: 
Building Engineering 

The proportion of this net cost, if there is one, that will be passed on to the developer will depend on a range of factors including: 

 Whether the energy centre already exists to serve other heat loads, or whether a new energy centre needs to be provided 
specifically for the new development. The costs shown above are for the DHN only, so if a new energy centre was required, 
this would be an additional cost per dwelling. 

 The overall financial viability of the DHN and the energy centre. 

 The mix and density of heat loads. 

 The actual predicted carbon savings for each dwelling.  

 The level of financial return required by the ESCo. 

 For gas engine CHP, [or in fact for any form of CHP] the ability of the ESCO to sell the electricity at retail prices to a large 
electricity user, rather than at wholesale prices to the grid. 

 

Allowable Solutions 

Once a developer has met the Carbon Compliance requirement on-site, the current definition of zero carbon requires that they 
deal with the remaining carbon emissions through Allowable Solutions. The most recent Government impact assessment for the 
Zero Carbon Homes policy57 has estimated that the cost of Allowable Solutions would be £49 per tonne of CO2 per annum, 
totalled over 30 years. This figure is in present value terms, and assumes, in effect, that this is the cost that the developer would 
pay upfront on completion of each new dwelling. The table below shows the potential value [or cost] of the Allowable Solutions 
for different dwelling types.  

Table: summary of potential costs for Allowable Solutions for different dwelling types 

Type of dwelling Floor area [m2] Carbon compliance level 
[kgCO2 per m2 per year] 

Cost of Allowable Solutions 
per dwelling [discounted] 
@£49 per tonne over 30 
years 

Flat 54.5 14 £1,122 

Semi 76 11 £1,229 

Terrace 76 11 £1,229 

Detached 118 10 £1,735 

 

One of the potential Allowable Solutions, at the time of writing, could be to fund the connection of district heating networks to 
reduce the carbon emissions of existing buildings. This could potentially assist with the overall viability of a district heating 
scheme, and thereby help reduce the cost to a developer of connecting the new homes, as explained above. However, this 
solution may require a local authority to have a policy mechanism in place to require payments into a local fund, rather than a 
developer paying into a national fund. 

 

 

57 CLG, Zero Carbon Homes, Impact Assessment, May 2011 

Page 198



Powys County Council

Local Development Plan 2011 - 2016

Explanation of the Housing Allocations

Position Statement

September 2016

Page 199



Contents

Executive Summary 1

1. Introduction 2

2. Housing Allocations (HA) 3

3. Allocation Density Determination 5

4. Deliverability of Allocated Sites 9

5. Alignment and Implications for LDP Strategy 12

6. Conclusions 14

Annex 1: Assessment of Selected Allocated Sites A1

Page 200



1 | P a g e

Executive Summary

The Planning Inspector appointed to test the soundness of the Powys Local Development Plan has raised 
concerns that some housing land allocations in the Powys Local Development Plan may not be deliverable 
in some areas of the County due to lack of viability, and that this may compromise the ability of the Plan 
to deliver the identified Dwelling Requirement during the Plan period.  

This Position Statement describes the process under which housing allocation sites were identified and 
allocated and demonstrates the relationships of site distribution against Council corporate strategies to 
promote longer term sustainable growth in the most appropriate locations.

Housing allocation sites are considered in terms of a review of viability in 2016. The review, which is a 
high level County-wide study using a series of standardised assumptions, identified some allocation in the 
south-west of Powys as unviable. Local evidence from this area indicates that individual sites can be 
demonstrated to be viable and with realistic developer intention dwelling units will be deliverable within 
the Plan period. 

The alignment of allocations and strategies against the LDP objectives and long term vision to enable 
growth in sustainable locations and thus ensure the wellbeing of “strong communities in the green heart 
of Wales” has informed the allocation of housing land.

Page 201



2 | P a g e

1. Introduction

1.0.1 This Position Statement is part of the evidence supporting the preparation of the Powys Local 
Development Plan 2011- 2026. It is one of four additional papers published in September 2016 to inform 
“Deliverability” of housing sites.

1.0.2 The purpose of this Position Statement is to respond to concerns raised by the independent 
Planning Inspector testing the soundness of the Powys Local Development Plan and demonstrate that as 
of 1 April 2015 the Allocations component of the Council’s housing land supply as set out in the Strategy 
can be delivered by the Plan. These allocations have been reassessed in terms of their site typologies and 
are further supported by more recent evidence of improved viability. This document also provides a more 
detailed review of selected sites identified by the Planning Inspector considered suitable for housing, with 
appropriate site densities, in order to ensure that expectations of delivery are realistic within the context 
of the area.

1.0.3 This Position Statement assesses new housing allocations (HA) as shown on the LDP Inset maps 
and in Appendix 1 and Policy H1A of the Written Statement. The other papers in this series consider sites 
with extant planning permissions known as housing commitments (HC); windfall sites, those sites which 
have been granted permission but which were not previously allocated; and an overall housing provision 
paper, which confirms the total provision for housing units in the LDP.

1.0.4 The delivery of housing developments within sustainable settlements lies at the heart of the 
strategy of the LDP, and the housing allocations within the Plan are focussed on achieving a balanced 
distribution through those settlements, which are the highest two tiers in the settlement hierarchy; these 
tiers being defined as “Towns” and “Large Villages”.

1.0.5 This paper provides the sound evidence base from the viability review to support delivery of site 
allocations and thus assist the Council in making decisions on development proposals that will support 
the delivery of the LDP over the Plan period. It also provides clarity for site promoters that sites can come 
forward for development and provides confidence that any identified issues can be resolved.

1.0.6 Whilst the focus of development is in sustainable settlements, to ensure community well-being 
in more rural areas of the County, non-allocated housing sites which are supported by LDP and national 
policies enable appropriate housing developments to come forward beyond the settlement boundaries 
of Towns and Large Villages and these are considered in the Housing Windfall Paper (Ref).

Page 202



3 | P a g e

2. Housing Allocations (HA)

2.0.1 The Council’s LDP has identified a dwelling requirement of 4,500 dwellings (REF). As part of the 
suite of policies which make up the LDP, the Housing Allocations are part of the delivery mechanism for 
meeting this housing requirement. Housing Allocations are those sites which were identified as being 
capable of accommodating five or more housing units and will would be included in the annual Joint 
Housing Land Supply (JHLAS) returns when the LDP is adopted. 

2.0.2 Small sites and individual property sites were not allocated and were assessed under the windfall 
provision paper. The allocated sites are listed in Policy H1A of the Plan as proposed within the LDP’s 
Further Focussed Changes, and further site details are provided in Appendix 1 of the Plan (REF).

2.1 Distribution of Housing Allocations

2.1.1 The LDP Strategy [EB 30] defined the settlement hierarchy for the County and identified that 
development should be directed towards the most sustainable settlements, these being the centres with 
the greatest range of services and facilities. A four tier hierarchy was defined and the allocation of housing 
units were to be all directed to the highest two tiers of settlements (designated “Towns” and “Large 
Villages”) in the hierarchy. There were to be no housing allocations in the lowest tier settlements.

2.1.2 Within the Towns and Large Villages, a pro-rata apportionment [EB30] of dwelling units were 
made to the highest. This apportionment was based on a starting point of 4000 dwellings being required 
to meet the principal projection of population growth during the Plan period. The apportionment also 
took account of existing housing commitments within each settlement. For each Town and Large Village, 
the total apportionment, minus the existing housing commitments indicated the number of housing units 
which needed to be allocated to that settlement but did not specify the sites where these allocations 
needed to be made.

2.2 Identification of Housing Allocation Sites

2.2.1 Housing allocation sites in the Powys LDP were identified through the Candidate Site process 
undertaken by the Council in 2011 [LDP02]. Unlike previous development plans, sites were submitted to 
the Council for assessment through the active input of landowners or the site promoters. Each candidate 
site was assessed for physical constraints and the results published in the Candidate Site Status Report 
[LDP04]. The sites were also subjected to sustainability appraisal 

2.2.2 Those sites in Towns and Large Villages which were identified as subject to the least physical 
constraints and which provided the necessary unit of housing units to meet the pro-rata apportionment 
requirement for that settlement, were selected as housing allocations within the LDP.

2.3 Outcome of Housing Allocation Site Selection

2.3.1 None of the sites which became housing allocations in the Plan are considered to have abnormal 
technical or physical constraints which could prevent their deliverability although individual sites may be 
subject to site specific issues which have been highlighted in Appendix 1 of the Plan [LDP06]. As these 
sites were put forward by promoters with an intention to develop within the Plan period, the Council has 
confidence that all the sites identified as Housing Allocations are deliverable during the Plan period with 

Page 203



4 | P a g e

appropriate design which can be addressed through the development management process and in 
accordance with the Plan’s policies.

2.4 Housing Allocation Sites

2.4.1 The LDP delivers Housing Allocation in Towns and Large Villages. In Towns, the highest tier in the 
Powys settlement hierarchy, the LDP seeks to deliver housing across 38 allocated sites in 14 of the 15 
designated Towns. The exception is Llanwrtyd Wells, this town having exceeded its pro-rata 
apportionment as identified in the LDP Strategy through existing Housing Commitments.

2.4.2 In Large Villages, the second tier settlements, housing will be distributed across 45 sites in 35 
settlements. A further eight Large Villages had no housing allocations due to existing Housing 
Commitments (e.g. Bettws Cedewain) or as a result of a combination of committed sites and a lack of 
submitted unconstrained deliverable sites which could be allocated (e.g. Llansilin).

2.5 Focus of Housing Land Allocations

2.5.1 The aim of the Plan to focus development into the most sustainable locations is reflected in the 
allocations of land for housing development. In total, 83 sites have been allocated, with 96.45 hectares of 
land allocated In Towns and 45.24 hectares in Large Villages. Site size varies, but the mean size by area of 
an allocated site in Towns is 2.54 hectares and in Large Villages it is 1.03 hectares.

Page 204



5 | P a g e

3. Allocation Density Determination

3.0.1 For each housing allocation, the appropriate number of housing units which the Plan envisaged 
should be developed on the site had to be calculated. This was determined by identifying the most 
appropriate density of housing multiplied by the site area.

3.1. Determination of Housing Numbers on Allocated Sites in 2015.

3.1.1 The Community Infrastructure Levy Viability Assessment (CIL) report [EB13] 2014 identified that 
to make the most efficient use of land, density of any proposed housing development in highest tier 
settlements should be 25 units per hectare or greater. 

Table 1: Original site density determination as used in LDP06 (2015)

LDP Settlement Hierarchy Housing Unit densities as determined in [EB13] 
2014

Towns and Large Villages * 25+
Small Villages 20 - 25
Rural settlements / single dwellings 10 - 25

*  Appendix 1 Allocated Sites

3.1.2 The Plan, as originally prepared [LDP06] therefore envisaged a total of 2773 housing units being 
delivered for the period 2011-26 based on an assumed density across all allocated sites of 5+ housing 
units in Towns and Large Villages of 25 units per hectare, each site’s requirement being shown in Appendix 
1 in the revised Deposit Draft LDP [LDP06].

3.2 Revised Determination of Housing Numbers on Allocated Sites in 2016

3.2.1 Since the publication of the original CIL 2014 study [EB13], it was evident that greater densities of 
housing were being achieved “on the ground”. From this evidence of development the viability 
assessment update (DV Viability Review Study 2016) incorporated revised site densities to reflect more 
realistic scenarios at a County-wide level, these being defined in the HDH Planning Viability Technical 
Report (August 2016). These revised density values reflected the nature and location / scale of settlement 
of the site.

3.2.2 Powys is a large and diverse County and it is clear that there are areas which are more high value 
and therefore viable than others. To ensure the most efficient use of land, and that development 
proposals on unconstrained sites remain viable, a typical density value determined from the mean 
achievable housing densities on sites was applied to each allocated site as appropriate, these values being:

 Greenfield (larger sites 10+ units) 27 units per hectare
 Greenfield (smaller sites (5 - 10 units) 28 units per hectare
 Brownfield 34 units per hectare

Application of the revised site densities to the 83 allocated housing sites within the LDP would result in 
the allocation of 3875 dwelling units assuming no departure from the assumed viability densities.

Page 205



6 | P a g e

3.3 Departures from Applied Standard Densities

3.3.1 Of the 83 allocated sites, 40 sites (18 in Towns, 22 in Large Villages) were allocated with housing 
densities differing from the viability density values as described above. The departures from anticipated 
densities were the consequence of three identifiable factors:

1) Site specific issues within the sites (e.g. slopes / water courses / utility corridors) which do not 
affect deliverability but may impact upon site design and can only be assessed when a 
development proposal is made;

2) Individual site planning histories / planning applications awaiting signing of Section 106 
agreements;

3) Large sites where a proportion of the housing units will be phased to be developed beyond the 
LDP plan period due to infrastructure requirements and a realistic assessment of the level of 
development likely to be constructed in the Plan period.

3.3.2 Thirty-three sites had deviations from the anticipated density due to site specific issues (Factor 1 
-18 sites) and because of planning history on the site or planning applications awaiting signing of Section 
106 agreements (Factor 2 - 15 sites). None of the internal site specific issues were considered to be 
abnormal constraints and all could be addressed by appropriate internal design which would occur at 
development proposal stage.

Table 2: Variations from viability densities under Factors 1 and 2

Site  (Site area) Units 
Anticipated 

from Viability

Units in 
Plan

Reason for density divergence

Towns
P24 HA1 (0.96 ha)
Knighton 

26 24 Planning application

P24 HA3 (3.5 ha)
Knighton

95 70 Site specific - access/slope

P28 HA1 (2.2 ha)
Llandrindod Wells

59 50 Planning application

P30 HA1 (2.4 ha)
Llanfair Caereinion

65 40 Site specific - access/slope

P30 HA2 (1.1 ha)
Llanfair Caereinion

30 20 Planning application

P32 HA2 (2.3 ha)
Llanfyllin 

62 55 Site specific - access/design

P32 HA2 (3.8 ha)
Llanfyllin

103 90 Site specific - access/design

P42 HA1 (1.4 ha)
Machynlleth

38 29 Planning application

P42 HA4 (0.3 ha)
Machynlleth

8 5 Site Specific - GTAA requirements

P48 HA4 (6.8 ha)
Newtown

184 136 Planning history

P51 MUA1 (2 ha)
Presteigne

68 60 Site specific - design

P52 HA1 (3.5 ha) 95 70 Planning History

Page 206



7 | P a g e

Rhayader
P57 HA1 (1.5 ha)
Welshpool

41 30 Site specific - canal buffer

P58 HA9 (3 ha)
Ystradgynlais

81 76 Site specific - open space

P58 HA10 (4.5 ha)
Ystradgynlais

122 136 Planning application

P58 HA12 (0.64 ha)
Ystradgynlais

17 10 Planning application

Large Villages
P2 HA1 (0.4 ha)
Abermule

11 5 Site specific - utility corridor

P4 HA1 (0.7 ha)
Berriew

19 12 Site specific - canal buffer

P6 HA2 (0.8 ha)
Boughrood/Llyswen

22 15 Pending Planning Application

P7 HA2 (0.6 ha)
Bronllys

16 10 Planning Application

P7 HA3 (0.3 ha)
Bronllys

8 6 Lapsed Planning Permission

P15 HA1 (1.5 ha)
Crewgreen

41 23 Site specific - ecological buffer/pond

P17 HA1 (0.8 ha)
Forden/Kingswood

22 15 Site specific- SAM / heritage buffer

P17 HA2 (0.5 ha)
Forden/Kingswood

14 10 Site specific - SAM / heritage buffer, access

P19 HA1 (0.3 ha)
Glasbury

8 5 Site specific - access

P20 HA1 (0.9 ha)
Guilsfield

24 20 Site specific - ecological buffer / access

P22 HA2 (0.8 ha)
Howey

22 12 Lapsed Planning Permission

P25 HA1 (0.4 ha)
Knucklas

11 17 Planning Application

P31 HA1 (1 ha)
Llanfechain

27 25 Site specific - groundwater drainage

P37 HA2 (0.6 ha)
Llansantffraid-ym-
Mechain

16 13 Site specific - open space requirement

P43 HA1 (1.9 ha)
Meifod

51 45 Site specific – waterway buffer

P50 HA1 (0.5 ha)
Pontrobert

14 6 Lapsed Planning Permission

P53 MUA1 (0.6 ha)
Three Cocks

16 32 Pending Planning Application

3.3.3 Seven large sites have been identified under Factor 3 where significant infrastructure 
requirements are needed and phasing of the site would be appropriate (Table 3), with development of 
these large sites continuing beyond the Plan period. The units phased within Plan are indicative and would 
be informed through a Development Brief and detailed development proposal. These large sites with 

Page 207



8 | P a g e

phasing beyond the Plan period are indicated in Policy H1A of the Plan as proposed in Further Focussed 
Changes 2016.

Table 3: Variations from Viability Densities under Factor 3

Site  (Site area) Units 
Anticipated 

from Viability

Units 
phased in 

Plan

Infrastructure Requirement

P28 HA4 (7.6 ha) *
Llandrindod Wells

205 100 Internal site access design
Off site sewers

P45 HA1 (10.8 ha) *
Montgomery

292 54 New link road across site with closure of 
existing Class II road junctions

P2 HA2 (3.3 ha)
Abermule

89 30 Access and utilities corridor as site in 3 parts

P3 HA1 (1.7 ha)
Arddleen

46 17 Community Car Park

P18 HA1 (3.4 ha)
Four Crosses

92 32 Land for School use and enhanced community 
facilities

P40 HA2 (1.6 ha)
Llanymynech 43 20

Design to take account of possible 
Montgomery Canal restoration 

P56 HA1 (4.1 ha)
Trewern 111 27

Joint access and car parking facilities. 
Highways improvements

 *  Site located in Town

3.3.4 As a result of the variations in density on the 40 sites and the resultant differences in dwelling 
units anticipated, the revised total figure of houses which the Plan anticipates can be delivered on 
allocated sites during the Plan period is 2992 units.

3.3.5 The majority of this housing development is directed towards the County’s Towns, with 2091 units 
(70%) across the 38 allocated sites in these settlements; allocations in the Large Villages account for 901 
units (30%) over 45 allocated sites.

Page 208



9 | P a g e

4. Deliverability of Allocated Sites

4.0.1 The Community Infrastructure Levy (CIL) 2014 report on viability [EB13] identified four sub-
market areas across Powys, these being the South-west (Ystradgynlais), Central Powys, the Severn Valley 
and the Rural North. 

4.0.2 Across the four sub-market areas, slightly refined in the DV Viability Update Report 2016, the 
number of housing units in each sub-market area (based on the revised 2016 density determination) are 
identified in the Plan and are distributed as shown in Table 4.

Table 4: Allocated Housing Units in Viability Update Report Sub-market Areas (August 2016)

Sub Market Area Housing Units % of Total
South-west 466 16
Central 964 * 32
Severn Valley 755 25
North 802 27
Total 2987 *

* Excludes the 5 units of site P42 HA4 (Machynlleth) for gypsy and traveller accommodation not assessed for viability.

4.0.3 The 2014 Viability Study [EB13] indicated that whilst the Central and Severn Valley sub-market 
area typologies were all largely viable, viability became more challenging in the North with some sites 
only marginally viable and others unviable. In the South-west, no sites were proven to be viable. As a 
consequence of confirmed viability in only two of the four sub-market areas in the County, the Planning 
Inspector raised concerns about the deliverability of housing allocation sites and that additional work was 
required, updated to reflect current market conditions.

4.0.4 An updated analysis of all the allocations was undertaken in the DV Viability Review Study August 
2016 and Viability Topic paper September 2016 . These indicated that in terms of viability (N.B assuming 
0% affordable housing), housing can be delivered viably on all sites in the Plan with the exception of the 
South-west sub-market area, so viability concerns should not be a factor for 94% of the units allocated. 

4.1. Improvements in Viability

4.1.1 Compared to the original 2014 viability study, which highlighted some sites as unviable or 
marginally viable, the DV Viability Review Study August 2016 identified an improvement in viability across 
the County. This was particularly apparent in the North sub-market area, where three allocations totalling 
106 housing units for delivery in the Plan period were originally identified as unviable (P42 HA3, 
Machynlleth; P51 MUA1, Presteigne; P18 HA1, Four Crosses). In the Review study, these sites have been 
identified as viable and deliverable within the Plan period. This improvement may be a reflection of an 
improving economy, more realistic landowner expectations, or the site as a whole becoming more viable 
with increased density of housing units on the site. This latter factor is possibly reflected in site P51 MUA1 
in Presteigne, where an increased density due to its town centre, brownfield location making more 
efficient use of land has had a positive impact upon the site viability. Details of these sites are provided in 
Annex 1.

Page 209



10 | P a g e

4.2 Justification of Housing Allocations in South-west Powys

4.2.1 Seven sites in Ystradgynlais plus one in Abercrave were identified in the 2014 Viability Study 
[EB13] as unviable. Under the revised densities (DV Viability Review Study 2016) these sites now total 466 
units. However, County-wide studies with a set of standardised assumptions do not fully capture local 
market variations or the mechanisms used by site promoters and developers to bring a site forward, and 
so in these terms, each site is unique and only site specific viability reports can truly reflect the situation 
“on the ground”.

4.2.3 There are a number of factors why any site in Powys deemed as unviable can be delivered and 
thus be considered a “pocket of viability” within a sub-market area including, for example:

 where an executive style development is undertaken in an area with good access to major 
transport links and excellent views;

 ongoing interest in the development of a site which instils confidence in the marketplace; 
 lower land owner and/or developer expectations (e.g. profit margins, land sale values;
 economies of scale;
 finance and phasing agreements;
 Grant funding.

These, and other factors which may contribute to enabling the deliverability of housing allocations are 
discussed in more detail in the DV Viability Review Study August 2016 [REF] and the Viability Topic Paper 
[REF].

4.2.4 Three of the sites in the South-west submarket area (P58 HA9, P58 HA10 and P58 HA11) are sites 
larger than average for Towns and in combination account for 334 of the units, increasing to 375 units 
(c.80% of the total for the sub-market area) if P58 HA3 is considered in conjunction with P58 HA11. One 
of these large sites (Brynygroes P58 HA10 – 136 units) has been able to demonstrate that it is viable under 
current market conditions, the site specific viability results also enabling affordable housing provision. 
Outline planning consent for this site was granted in April 2016 and work to bring forward and deliver the 
site is ongoing (see Annex 1).

4.2.5 As the promoters of the other large sites at Penrhos Farm (P58 HA9) and Penrhos School and 
Extension (P58 HA3 +P58 HA11) are working to bring forward their sites (see Annex1) it is probable that 
with the advantages of economies of scale and expressed developer intentions housing will be delivered 
on these sites in the Plan period.

4.2.6 On smaller infill sites, the DV Viability Review Study 2016 [REF] has indicated that these sites are 
viable in the South-west sub-market area. Thus, the Glanrhyd Farm allocation (P58 HA5) is indicated as 
being viable in Annex 1.

4.3 Deliverability Outcomes

4.3.1 Whilst the South-west sub-market area at the County-wide level is acknowledged to be 
challenging, it is evident that development proposals are coming forward and developer intentions 
indicate a confidence in the market. Allocation P58 HA10 has a recent (April 2016) planning consent and 
the application for site P58 HA12 is awaiting determination. Of the remaining six sites, the promoters are 
actively marketing their sites or awaiting the adoption of the LDP before submitting development 

Page 210



11 | P a g e

proposals to the Local Planning Authority. Small infill sites are considered to be viable and this has the 
potential to further boost confidence in delivery.

4.3.2 In the other sub-market areas, all allocated sites, with a total of 2521 (excluding P42 HA4) are 
indicated as being viable in the 2016 viability update report.

Page 211



12 | P a g e

5. Alignment and Implications for LDP Strategy

5.0.1 The location and planned distribution of housing land allocations proposed in the Powys LDP 
aligns with the Vision for Powys 2026, as set out in the LDP in that the County:

“will be a place of vibrant and resilient communities providing sustainable development and 
economic opportunities set in a healthy, safe environment, whilst celebrating, protecting, 
enhancing and sustainably managing its natural resources, native wildlife and habitats, heritage, 
outstanding landscapes and distinctive characteristics. 

Powys’ towns and larger villages will be vibrant and accessible service centres. They will be the 
focus for integrating housing, economic and service development to meet their own needs and 
those of their surrounding communities. 

Powys’ rural areas will be a working countryside of sustainable communities supported by a 
thriving and diverse rural economy of small businesses.” 

(N.B: author’s italics)

5.0.2 The Powys Local Development Plan identifies that allocated housing sites are required to 
contribute towards the dwelling requirement figure of 4,500 new housing units to meet future needs and 
ensure the population of Powys from going into decline through natural change (DRF Ref). The allocation 
of new housing land contributes to the development of stronger communities in accordance with other 
Council policies including One Powys [POW04] particularly important given Powys’ size and dispersed 
settlement pattern.

5.0.3 In accordance with the LDP Strategy, allocated housing land is directed to the larger higher tier 
settlements in the County’s settlement hierarchy and has been informed by the principle of sustainable 
development in support of LDP Objective 2.

5.1 LDP Growth Strategy

5.1.1 The LDP Growth Strategy recognises there is a need to make provision for population and 
household growth, and the provision of 2992 housing units across 83 allocated housing sites contributes 
to this sustainable growth.

5.1.2 Although the south-west of the county is challenging in terms of viability, the allocation of housing 
sites in this sub-market area is appropriate as development has been shown to occur and can be 
demonstrated to be viable and the provision of good quality, modern residential development in 
sustainable locations in Ystradgynlais is in alignment with LDP Objectives 6, 7 and 8.

5.2 LDP Spatial Strategy

5.2.1 The LDP Spatial Strategy identifies a sustainable settlement hierarchy and all allocated housing 
land sites are directed to either the highest tier of the hierarchy (Towns – 2091 housing units) or the 
second tier sites (Large Villages – 901 housing units), making provision across the county to ensure 
opportunities for new development are available, and so support community well-being and cohesiveness 
(Objective 16) and the Powys economy in alignment with Objective 6 of the LDP.

Page 212



13 | P a g e

5.2.2 As such, the allocated housing sites are located in, or adjacent to, Powys’s largest settlements and 
thus are in accordance with the LDP strategy for Growth in Sustainable Places, thus meeting Objectives 1 
and 2 of the LDP to meet future need. Some of the sites have been identified as previously developed 
land and the redevelopment of these sites would make the most sustainable and efficient use of existing 
land in accordance national policy and with Objective 3 and Objective 8 of the LDP.

5.2.3 Allocations are made in settlements which have a strong Welsh cultural identity. In accordance 
with national guidelines and LDP Objective 8, Objective 15 and Objective 16, these allocations will 
contribute towards the long terms sustainability of communities in Powys’s Welsh language strongholds. 
This is an important consideration in areas which may have greater viability challenges such as 
Ystradgynlais, where a strong sense of community and Welsh identity could be compromised by the lack 
of new housing development. 

Page 213



14 | P a g e

6. Conclusions
6.0.1 Sites which were taken forward as housing allocations were submitted by site proposers through 
the Candidate Site process and assessed to identify those sites with the fewest constraints located in the 
most sustainable settlements across the County.

6.0.2 The number and size of housing allocations and the number of housing units within them 
indicate a clear focus for the Powys Local Development Plan in that new allocations for housing 
development of more than five units is directed towards designated Towns in the first instance (70%) 
followed by Large Villages (30%), these being the most sustainable settlements with the greatest range of 
infrastructure and services.

6.0.3 The updated viability report (2016) indicates that 84% of the housing units across three of the 
four sub-market areas within the Plan are viable and delivery can be achieved within the Plan period.

6.0.4 Continued confidence in the site allocations in the South-west coming forward is indicated by 
the activities of the sites owners / site promoters as detailed in Annex 1 to enable the developments of 
their respective sites and this activity and evidence of past delivery justifies the continued allocation of 
these sites in the Local Development Plan in support of wider LDP and Council objectives.

Page 214



A1 | P a g e

Annex 1: Assessment of Selected Allocated Sites

Page 215



A2 | P a g e

Settlement Site Name Site Area Indicative 
Units

Indicative phasing 
of units in LDP

Machynlleth Mid Wales Storage Depot 
(P42 HA3)

0.4 ha 14 14

Site Nature Sub-market Area Indicative Viability 2016

Brownfield North Small BF 10

Planning History:

The site is regarded as a brownfield site, the site borders but is outside a conservation area. The 
site was granted full planning permission (M/2006/0616) for erection of 10 semi-detached houses 
in five blocks, decision date: 03/02/2009. The S106 agreement for this application was signed. 
M/2006/0381 was also granted full planning permission for the erection of 5 terrace houses, 
decision date: 03/02/2009.  The S106 for this application was also signed. Within the S106 
agreement for both applications a combined target of 5 affordable dwellings was agreed. The 
planning permission for both planning applications has lapsed and no further applications have 
been submitted. August 2016 - The site owner recognises there are no abnormal costs associated 
with the site and is open to any offers to develop the site. 

Potential Viability / Deliverability Issues Indicative 
Costs (£)

Delivery Mechanism / 
Funding Source / Time 

Frame

Transport Assessment required Minimal Developer 

Ecology Survey required Minimal Developer

Contaminated land investigation Not 
significant - 

TBC

Developer 

Flood Consequence Survey required – the boundary of the site abuts the 
flood zone. 

Not 
significant - 

TBC

Developer 

Sloping site with retaining walls - Developer

Page 216



A3 | P a g e

Settlement Site Name Site Area Indicative 
Units

Indicative phasing 
of units in LDP

Ystradgynlais Land off Brecon Road 
(P58 HA1)

2.2ha 59 59

Site Nature Sub-market Area Indicative Viability 2016

Greenfield South West Large GF 50

Planning History:

B/05/0221: 15 dwellings granted PP after an Appeal. PCC had raised concerns about substandard 
access arrangements but Appeal dismissed the refusal, B/07/0347: Granted Outline PP for 
alteration of access arrangements, P/2009/0540: Granted full PP for the Variation of B/05/0221, 
to extend the time limit for the submission of reserved matters until 26th July 2012. P/2012/0801: 
Conditional Consent granted for variation of Condition from B/05/0221 to extend the time limit 
for a further three years (until 20th Sept 2015), (still for 15 dwellings). P/2015/0750: S73 Variation 
of 2012/0801 to extend time limit for a further 5 years until 30th Sept 2020 (still for 15 dwellings). 
(PP applies to only part of the Allocation, the size of which could accommodate a total of 56). 
Owner in discussions with developers.

July 2016 - Owner has carried out evaluation for developing the site, has acquired two frontage 
properties to enable access to the allocated site and will apply for Planning Permission for entire 
site once LDP adopted. Funding available but cited current Affordable Housing requirement as a 
barrier to development.

Potential Viability / Deliverability Issues Indicative 
Costs (£)

Delivery Mechanism / 
Funding Source / Time 

Frame

Affordable Housing – Owner has stated that the Affordable Housing 
requirement is a barrier to development. Without it he would be able to 
develop/sell immediately. Once LDP adopted the AH% will almost certainly 
be reduced from current level so owner states site viability will improve 
considerably

Developer

Ecology Survey required at Application stage. Site adjacent to nature reserve Minimal Developer

Highways Access: Concerns alleviated by site Owner purchasing properties on 
the frontage, to enable better visibility splays.

N/A Developer

Page 217



A4 | P a g e

Settlement Site Name Site Area Indicative 
Units

Indicative phasing 
of units in LDP

Ystradgynlais Penrhos School
(P58 HA3)

1.5ha 41 41

Site Nature Sub-market Area Indicative Viability 2016

Brownfield South West Large BF 50

Planning History:

School closed in August 2012. Site acquired subsequently. Owner also working to support 
allocated site to the rear (P58 HA11). Indicative site layout prepared, and has taken into 
consideration Highways comments about the need to make sure that the entrance to HA3 is of 
sufficient standard to accommodate the extra traffic arising from allocation A11. Old school 
building has been demolished and site cleared in preparation for redevelopment. August 2016 - 
No Planning Applications submitted.

Potential Viability / Deliverability Issues Indicative 
Costs (£)

Delivery Mechanism / 
Funding Source / Time 

Frame

Contaminated Land: survey required as close to a disused landfill Not 
considered 

prohibitive - 
TBC

Developer

Ecology: Survey required at application stage Not 
significant -

TBC

Developer

Water Supply:  Due to the amount and close proximity of sites, it will be 
necessary for developers to fund a hydraulic modelling assessment of the 
water supply network to establish any improvements required to serve the 
sites with an adequate water supply.

TBC Developer

Waste Water:  Ystradgynlais Wastewater Treatment Works has limited 
capacity and dependant on the pace and build rate of development there will 
ultimately be a time when increased capacity is required. Should developers 
wish to proceed in advance of any regulatory improvements then financial 
contributions from developers are required to fund the necessary 
improvements.

TBC Developer

Highways Access: Access arrangements considered adequate for this site, 
however if P58 HA11 were to proceed then it would have to use HA3’s 
highway access point which would therefore need to be upgraded to 
accommodate the extra traffic emanating from HA11. Developer aware of 
this and happy to proceed on that basis and if necessary prior to bringing 
HA11 forward.

N/A Developer

Page 218



A5 | P a g e

Settlement Site Name Site Area Indicative 
Units

Indicative phasing 
of units in LDP

Ystradgynlais Glanrhyd Farm
(P58 HA5)

0.3ha 8 8

Site Nature Sub-market Area Indicative Viability 2016

Greenfield (& 
partly Brownfield)

South West Small GF 7 infill

Planning History:

2009/0719 Outline PP granted on 23rd Sept 2009. This expired in 2014. Site has previously been in 
Flood Zone C2, however latest maps have removed it from this zone except for an area along its 
South Eastern boundary which has been removed from the Allocation.

Waiting for LDP adoption before submitting any new development proposal.

Potential Viability / Deliverability Issues Indicative 
Costs (£)

Delivery Mechanism / 
Funding Source / Time 

Frame

Contaminated Land: survey required. Not 
considered 

prohibitive - 
TBC

Developer

Ecology: Survey required at application stage. Not 
significant - 

TBC

Developer

Water Supply:  Due to the amount and close proximity of sites, it will be 
necessary for developers to fund a hydraulic modelling assessment of the 
water supply network to establish any improvements required to serve the 
sites with an adequate water supply.

TBC Developer

Waste Water:   The site is crossed by a sewer and protection measures in the 
form of easement widths or a diversion of pipe would be required, which 
may impact upon the density achievable on site. Ystradgynlais Wastewater 
Treatment Works has limited capacity and dependant on the pace and build 
rate of development there will ultimately be a time when increased capacity 
is required. Should developers wish to proceed in advance of any regulatory 
improvements then financial contributions from developers are required to 
fund the necessary improvements.

TBC DCWW AMP / 
Developer if sooner

Page 219



A6 | P a g e

Settlement Site Name Site Area Indicative 
Units

Indicative phasing 
of units in LDP

Ystradgynlais Penrhos Farm
(P58 HA9)

3ha 81 76

Site Nature Sub-market Area Indicative Viability 2016

Greenfield South West Larger GF 100

Planning History:

B/01/0157 landscaping, footpaths new access and new buildings for mountain bike centre, 
B/02/0098 Refused permission, retrospectively, for displaying of roadside advertisement. 
B/02/0244 application to remove Condition 4 of B/01/0157 – Refused.                                                
B/04/0426 reserved Matters Application to amend B/01/0157 road exit detail.                        
B/06/0291 Application to renew B/01/0157. No new applications since 2006.

July 2016: Discussions with a number of developers are ongoing to bring site forward for housing 
– alternative finance models being considered to enable site to be developed. Owner has stated 
that 0.52ha of the site would be available for accommodating the access, landscaping and open 
space. Woodland part of the site to remain undeveloped.

Potential Viability / Deliverability Issues Indicative 
Costs (£)

Delivery Mechanism / 
Funding Source / Time 

Frame

Contaminated Land survey required. Not 
considered 

prohibitive -  
TBC

Developer

Ecology Survey required at application stage. TBC Developer

Water Supply:  Due to the amount and close proximity of sites, it will be 
necessary for developers to fund a hydraulic modelling assessment of the 
water supply network to establish any improvements required to serve the 
sites with an adequate water supply.

TBC Developer

Waste Water:  Ystradgynlais Wastewater Treatment Works has limited 
capacity and dependant on the pace and build rate of development there will 
ultimately be a time when increased capacity is required. Should developers 
wish to proceed in advance of any regulatory improvements then financial 
contributions from developers are required to fund the necessary 
improvements.

TBC Developer

Highways Access. Comments on previous applications have stated 
requirement for significant improvements to be made to the highway to 
allow for a right turn filter lane.

Possibly 
Significant - 

TBC

Developer

Page 220



A7 | P a g e

Settlement Site Name Site Area Indicative 
Units

Indicative phasing 
of units in LDP

Ystradgynlais Brynygroes
(P58 HA10)

4.5ha 122 136

Site Nature Sub-market Area Indicative Viability 2016

Greenfield South West Larger GF 100

Planning History:

P/2012/0346 Application to demolish existing buildings to allow for 155 dwellings. Was refused on 
in June 2014. Grounds for refusal stated to be unacceptable landscape and visual impact and 
contrary to several UDP policies. 
P/2014/1133: Outline application to demolish existing buildings and build up to 138 new 
dwellings, was given Conditional Consent on 29th April 2016. 

Site specific viability assessment indicated site was viable with 23% affordable housing provision. 
Owner actively pursuing development, but water supply issue could impact upon phasing of 
delivery of site.

Potential Viability / Deliverability Issues Indicative 
Costs (£)

Delivery Mechanism / 
Funding Source / Time 

Frame

Contaminated Land survey required. Not 
considered 

prohibitive -  
TBC

Developer

Ecology Survey required at application stage. Not 
significant - 

TBC

Developer

Water Supply:  Due to the location of the site, it will be necessary for 
developers to fund a hydraulic modelling assessment of the water supply 
network to establish any improvements required to serve the sites with an 
adequate water supply. DCWW state that servicing up to 50 units will be 
possible immediately, however any more than that and significant expense 
would be incurred in order to increase the capacity of the mains between the 
site and the town centre.

TBC Developer

Waste Water:  Ystradgynlais Wastewater Treatment Works has limited 
capacity and dependant on the pace and build rate of development there will 
ultimately be a time when increased capacity is required. Should developers 
wish to proceed in advance of any regulatory improvements then financial 
contributions from developers are required to fund the necessary 
improvements.

TBC Developer

Page 221



A8 | P a g e

Settlement Site Name Site Area Indicative 
Units

Indicative phasing 
of units in LDP

Ystradgynlais Penrhos School Extension 
(P58 HA11)

4.5ha 122 122

Site Nature Sub-market Area Indicative Viability 2016

Greenfield South West Larger GF 100

Planning History:

Site being promoted along with adjacent allocation (P58 HA3), and has taken into consideration 
Highways comments about the need to make sure that the entrance to HA3 is also big enough to 
accommodate the extra traffic arising from HA11.  No Planning Apps made by August 2016.

Potential Viability / Deliverability Issues Indicative 
Costs (£)

Delivery Mechanism / 
Funding Source / Time 

Frame

Contaminated Land survey required. Not 
considered 

prohibitive -  
TBC

Developer

Ecology Survey required at application stage. Not 
significant - 

TBC

Developer

Water Supply:  Due to the amount of proposed development and the close 
proximity of sites, it may be necessary for developers to fund a hydraulic 
modelling assessment of the water supply network to establish any 
improvements required to serve the sites with an adequate water supply. 
Developers would also need to be aware that a sewer crosses the site which 
would need to be protected via easement widths or a diversion of the pipe, 
which may impact upon the density achievable on the site.

TBC Developer

Waste Water:  Ystradgynlais Wastewater Treatment Works has limited 
capacity and dependant on the pace and build rate of development there will 
ultimately be a time when increased capacity is required. Should developers 
wish to proceed in advance of any regulatory improvements then financial 
contributions from developers are required to fund the necessary 
improvements.

TBC Developer

Page 222



A9 | P a g e

Settlement Site Name Site Area Indicative 
Units

Indicative phasing 
of units in LDP

Ystradgynlais Cynlais Playing Fields 
(P58 HA12)

0.64ha 17 10

Site Nature Sub-market Area Indicative Viability 2016

Greenfield South West Small GF 10 edge

Planning History:

The developer of the site submitted a planning application (P/2016/0047) for Outline Permission 
for a residential development of 10 units, access road and associated works. The decision on the 
planning application is still to be determined. A further planning application (16/13248/FUL) has 
also been submitted to the Brecon Beacons National Park Authority, as part of access to the site 
lies within the National Park boundary. 

It is the intention of the applicant to develop the site within the plan period, and it is considered 
that there is a strong market for new dwellings locally, particularly in view of recent 
improvements in demand and the lack of available new housing sites in the area.

Potential Viability / Deliverability Issues Indicative 
Costs (£)

Delivery Mechanism / 
Funding Source / Time 

Frame

Highways work – Requires remodelling of lay-by exit to form satisfactory 
access to site.

TBC Developer

Contaminated Land Assessment required Minimal Developer

Ecology Survey required Minimal Developer

Flood Consequence Assessment required Minimal Developer

Page 223



A10 | P a g e

Settlement Site Name Site Area Indicative 
Units

Indicative phasing 
of units in LDP

Presteigne Former Kaye Foundry Site
(P51 MUA1)

2ha 68 60

Site Nature Sub-market Area Indicative Viability 2016

Brownfield /Mixed 
Use

Central Powys Large BF 50

Planning History: 

Former Kaye Foundry is a large industrial site in the centre of the town, DEM/2012/0001 was 
approved to fully demolish all the buildings and clear the site. The buildings on site have been 
demolished and the site has been cleared ready for redevelopment.  The site is allocated as a 
mixed use site, (0.4ha) of the site is for retail development.  The Strategic Flood Consequences 
Assessment has identified 6% of the site is in flood zone C2, this area will only be suitable for open 
space/landscaping. 

Site being promoted and increased housing density improves site viability.

Potential Viability / Deliverability Issues Indicative 
Costs (£)

Delivery Mechanism / 
Funding Source / Time 

Frame

6% of the site is in flood zone C2 - -

Ecological survey required to inform enhancement Minimal Developer

Wastewater Treatment Works has limited capacity.  TBC

Contamination Investigation required £10-20k Developer

Public right of way crosses site Minimal

The site is also crossed by a sewer and protection measures in the form of 
easement widths or a diversion of the pipe would be required, which may 
have an impact upon the density achievable on site. 

TBC

Page 224



A11 | P a g e

Settlement Site Name Site Area Indicative 
Units

Indicative phasing 
of units in LDP

Abercrave Land to East of 
Maesycribarth (P01 HA1)

0.5ha 14 14

Site Nature Sub-market Area Indicative Viability 2016

Greenfield South West Small GF 10 Infill

Planning History:

No planning applications have been made by August 2016. The site is regarded as a greenfield site 
and located adjacent an existing settlement and the development boundary. The site is adjoined 
by residential development to the south and west and a graveyard to the east. The site is a logical 
extension of the new housing development and cul-de-sac Maes-Y-Cribarth.

Site promoter has finance available and a history of delivery of adjacent site within the UDP with 
the expectation to continue development. Site is being actively marketed, although no application 
submitted to August 2016.

Potential Viability / Deliverability Issues Indicative 
Costs (£)

Delivery Mechanism / 
Funding Source / Time 

Frame

Highways work – agreeing access to whole of site Minimal Developer

Land Ownership: Two separate landowners working in partnership - Developer

Drainage improvements required TBC Developer

Ecology Survey required Not 
significant - 

TBC

Developer

Wastewater Treatment Works has limited capacity. Improvements scheduled 
2015-20.

TBC Developer 

Page 225



A12 | P a g e

Settlement Site Name Site Area Indicative 
Units

Indicative phasing 
of units in LDP

Four Crosses Land at Oldfield
(P18 HA1)

3.4ha 92 32

Site Nature Sub-market Area Indicative Viability 2016

Greenfield / 
Brownfield

North Medium BF 25

Planning History:

Part of the site is allocated for housing in the Unitary Development Plan (ref:  M133 HA1).  Owners 
have history of enabling housing development and UDP allocation M133 HA1 has been partly 
developed, but the area to the rear of the school remains undeveloped (and is greenfield land).  It 
is the wish of the Community Council that this land is reserved to preserve scope for future 
community use/expansion. This part site is now amalgamated into LDP housing land allocation 
P18 HA1 so that the new housing scheme under the LDP can be designed to facilitate the future 
release of land to rear of the school for this purpose. The site is regarded as part greenfield/part 
brownfield because the farm has been granted a change of use for a caravan business 
(M1998/0651). May 2016 – owner seeking to develop site as soon as possible post 2020.

Potential Viability / Deliverability Issues Indicative 
Costs (£)

Delivery Mechanism / 
Funding Source / Time 

Frame

Highways work:  Traffic calming / resurfacing TBC Developer

Development Brief for site phasing within Plan period TBC Developer

Inclusion of Open Space element for Community Benefit TBC S106

Ecology & Heritage Surveys Required. Minimal Developer

Effectively due to the approved use for the caravan business any new use is 
now considered to be on a brownfield site but the costs of remediating the 
land are likely to be more akin to greenfield costs and are not considered to 
represent a risk to delivery of the site for housing in the LDP period.

Minimal Developer

Site phased for full delivery beyond the Plan period. - 10-15 years

Page 226



1

DRAFT

Powys Local Development Plan

Viability Topic Paper

September 2016

Page 227



2

CONTENTS

(PAGE NUMBERS TO BE ADDED)

1. INTRODUCTION

2. EXPLANATION OF CHANGES TO THE VIABILITY EVIDENCE BASE

3. THE UPDATED AND REVIEWED VIABILITY RESULTS 

4. VIABILITY IN THE SOUTH WEST SUB-MARKET AREA

5. VIABILITY OF SMALL SITES

6. IMPLICATIONS FOR THE VIABILITY AND DELIVERY OF THE PLAN

7. MONITORING AND REVIEW 

8. CONCLUSION

9. APPENDICES

Appendix 1 Table of changes to key viability assumptions between the 2014 and 2016 
Viability Assessment and reasoning.

Appendix 2 Table of review of the cost implications of the proposed LDP policy requirements 
(TO FOLLOW as changes to policies being checked against final version of the FC 
document)

Appendix 3 Viability thresholds applied in other LDP Viability Assessments.

Appendix 4 Table of JHLAS sites in South West - TO FOLLOW.

Appendix 5 Table of small site completions in South West – TO FOLLOW

Appendix 6 A list of current planning applications in the South West – TO FOLLOW

Figure – map of amended sub-market areas – TO FOLLOW.

Page 228



3

EXECUTIVE SUMMARY

Page 229



4

1. INTRODUCTION

1.1 The aim of this topic paper is to summarise, interpret and consider the main findings and 
implications of the updated and reviewed viability assessment carried out in response to 
concerns raised by the Inspector regarding the findings of the Local Development Plan and 
Community Infrastructure Levy Viability Assessment (2014) and the potential implications of 
these findings for housing delivery within the Plan.  

Background

1.2 The original Local Development Plan and Community Infrastructure Levy Viability 
Assessment (2014) (examination document reference EB13) was submitted as part of the 
evidence base to support the submitted Powys Local Development Plan – Composite 
Version – Deposit Plan plus Focussed Changes January 2016 (LDP34).   The results of the 
original Viability Assessment (2014) found housing development within two of the four sub-
market areas to be unviable.  The modelled sites in the sub-market areas of Central Powys 
and Severn Valley sub-market areas were found to be generally viable, however most of the 
modelled sites in the sub-market areas of the Rural North and South West were found to be 
unviable according to the viability threshold adopted by HDH.  Many of the modelled small 
sites and all of the modelled brownfield sites were also found to be unviable across all sub-
market areas according to the viability threshold adopted by HDH.

1.3 Following submission of the Powys Local Development Plan for examination in February 
2016, and subsequent letter from the LDP Inspector dated 5th of April 2016, the decision was 
made to update the residential element of the Viability Assessment (2014).  This was 
intended to reflect changes in construction costs and house prices in Powys since the 
original study (which was based on data from March 2014), but more importantly to address 
the questions raised by the Inspector regarding the deliverability of the quantum of housing 
development envisaged in the LDP.    

1.4 Further discussions took place at the subsequent Exploratory Meeting held by the 
Inspector on the 10th of May 2016, where the Council explained that the draft updated 
viability evidence provided by HDH suggested that some sites were less viable and some 
were marginally viable, however the Council also explained that it was witnessing 
development on the ground in these less viable areas.

1.5 The Council commissioned an update to the HDH Viability Assessment and the Council 
also arranged for the District Valuer Service (DVS) to review the updated Viability 
Assessment carried out by HDH.  This review involved further testing including the review of 
the values and costs used by HDH and also of other key viability assumptions.  This review 
has led to the production of a further Viability Assessment with a different set of viability 
results.  The reviewed Viability Assessment carried out by the DVS (August 2016) is 
considered to improve the robustness of the evidence-base for the Plan.  The Council has 
decided to take the results and conclusions of the DVS review forward to act as the updated 
Viability Assessment (2016) and therefore to inform the Council’s case in relation to the 
viability of the Plan.   

Content of the paper

Page 230



5

1.6 This paper, firstly, highlights the difference in the assumptions applied by HDH Viability 
Assessment in 2014 and the DVS in its review in 2016, before summarising and analysing 
the updated results provided in the DVS review.  It then goes on to consider the general 
conclusions in terms of viability, with further detailed analysis and evidence provided in 
relation to the more challenging areas of viability identified.

1.7 The paper concludes by considering the implications of this updated evidence for the 
viability of housing delivery and allocations proposed by the Plan and the overall strategy.  
The evidence indicates that most of the housing land supply identified by the Local 
Development Plan, including allocations, commitments and windfall development, can be 
brought forward during the Plan period, and is not constrained by viability issues.

1.8 Further site specific evidence in relation to the deliverability of the housing allocations 
and commitments identified by the Inspector is provided within separate papers – Housing 
Allocations Topic Paper and Housing Commitments Paper (reference).

1.9 The implications of the further viability work for affordable housing provision and policies 
within the Plan are also discussed in a separate paper – the Affordable Housing Topic Paper 
Update September 2016 (reference). 

2. EXPLANATION OF CHANGES TO THE VIABILITY EVIDENCE BASE

Housing sub-market areas

2.1 The HDH Viability Assessment (2014) identified four county price zones (otherwise 
known as sub-market areas) within Powys - ‘Central Powys’, ‘Severn Valley’, ‘Rural North’ 
and ‘Southwest Powys’.  Varying residential market values based on house price values per 
square metre were applied to the appraisals of sites within these areas.  These areas were 
illustrated on a map in figure 4.6 of the Viability Assessment (2014).  

2.2 It is important to note that a slight amendment has been made to these areas in the 
updated viability work.  The area to the north of the Brecon Beacons National Park which 
was previously included within the Southwest Powys sub-market area, has now been 
included in the Central sub-market area.  It should be noted that no allocations are proposed 
by the Plan within the area affected by this change, which includes parts of the communities 
of Trallong, Maescar and Llywel that lie outside the Brecon Beacons National Park.  The 
South West sub-market area now only includes the communities of Ystradgynlais and Tawe-
Uchaf to the south of the Brecon Beacons National Park.

2.3 The Housing sub-market areas, as amended, are as illustrated on the map (figure ):

(Map to be included in viability and affordable housing topic papers and within the LDP.)

2.4 It is also noted that some of the names by which the sub-market areas are referred to 
have been amended between the 2014 and 2016 Viability Assessments.  The name for 
‘Severn Valley’ remains the same, ‘Central Powys’ becomes ‘Central’, the ‘Rural North’ is 
now named ‘North’, and ‘Southwest Powys’ is now referred to as ‘South West’.  For clarity, 

Page 231



6

therefore, the names of the sub-market areas going forward are ‘Central’, ‘Severn Valley, 
‘North’ and ‘South West’.

Review of typologies

2.5 As part of the update, the site typologies tested in the original study were reviewed in 
order to ensure that they continued to be reflective of the development planned, particularly 
as the allocations had been subject to changes, with new sites added, sites removed and 
sites amended, since the first version of the Deposit Plan in 2014, when the original study 
was conducted.

2.6 The main change involved in the testing of larger sites is the testing of a large 50 unit site 
as oppose to a 70 unit site.  Small greenfield sites of 10 units and also small sites of less 
than 10 units have been modelled as both edge of settlement sites and infill sites in order to 
reflect the varied location of smaller sites in Powys.  7 unit schemes have also been tested.

2.7 The majority of the typologies tested are reflective of greenfield sites expected to come 
forward by the Plan.  Greenfield sites account for 95% of the proposed allocated units.  A 
limited range of brownfield site typologies have been tested reflecting the scale of allocated 
brownfield sites and to account for small brownfield sites likely to come forward as windfall.  
Larger 100 unit schemes are only tested as greenfield sites to reflect the absence of 
brownfield allocations or anticipated windfall schemes of this size.  Brownfield sites of 50 
units are tested, whereas they were only previously tested up to sites of 25 units.  Small 
brownfield sites have only been tested as infill to reflect the location where these types of 
sites are generally found.  

2.8 In terms of the existing use values of land assumed, greenfield sites are tested as having 
an existing agricultural land value.  DVS has treated the alternative use value for brownfield 
sites as similar to greenfield given that high value uses are unlikely to exist, as explained 
within Appendix 1.  Existing uses including paddock, garden and garage values had 
previously been accounted for, however these were not considered to be appropriate to land 
use in Powys.

2.9 The assumed open market and affordable housing mixes applied to the site typologies 
have been reviewed against past evidence of house type mixes being delivered on the 
ground, also taking into account the needs identified in the Local Housing Market 
Assessment.

2.10 The assumed densities applied to the site typologies have also been reviewed to reflect 
evidence of densities being achieved on the ground on recent developments.  This evidence 
suggested that developments were building to higher densities than those previously 
assumed, particularly on brownfield sites where densities of .  Densities assumed.  The 
density guidelines set out in policy H3 and the capacity of allocations in terms of the number 
of units indicated in Appendix 1 of the Composite Plan (LDP34) have been amended 
accordingly.

2.11 The HDH study (2014) assumed a certain amount of on-site open space would be 
provided on larger sites and this was taken into account in the amount of developable area.  

Page 232



7

The DVS has not accounted for open space provision as the policy requirement for this 
would be based on site specific circumstances.

APPENDIX 2 policies table – change open space above.

Review of viability assumptions

2.12 In updating the Viability Assessment to take into account changes in the house prices 
values and costs since the original study in March 2014, this also provided an opportunity to 
review the viability assumptions used in the HDH Viability Assessment (2014) to test their 
accuracy and relevance to the particular characteristics, location and scale of development 
in Powys.  

2.13 The review of viability assumptions by the DVS has led to the use of different 
assumptions, which are a result of changes in values, use of different evidence sources, and 
also changes in the approach used to identify these values.  The local experience of the 
DVS in carrying out site specific viability assessments in Powys and Wales has informed this 
review.  Changes to the key viability assumptions are summarised in Appendix 1, which also 
provides commentary on the reasons for the changes.

2.14 The potential implications of any proposed policy requirements have also been 
reviewed Appendix 2 in line with the latest version of the Plan (further Focussed Changes - 
reference).  This review found that many of the cost implications of the individual policy 
requirements of the Plan would be site specific and their relevance to particular 
developments would largely depend on the location, scale and impact of the development.  It 
is noted that HDH accounted for additional costs associated with Sustainable Urban 
Drainage Systems (policy DM5) of 5% on brownfield sites and also accounted for abnormal 
costs along with higher professional fees and contingency (policy DM9).  These additional 
costs have not been accounted for within the reviewed DVS study (2016) as they are also 
considered to be site specific.

2.15 Consideration has also been given to the likely impact of the changes made to the 
assumptions on the viability of development.

2.16 In terms of any changes made to reflect the timing of the studies, whilst it is difficult to 
compare the house price values used in both studies, due to the different sources and 
methods used, the values used by DVS are based on current market evidence as of August 
2016 and therefore they will reflect any increases in house prices values that have occurred 
since March 2014.  It is understood that house prices in Powys have generally increased 
over the period between the original study (March 2014) and the DVS study (August 2016).  
According to the Land Registry’s House Price Index for Powys (June 2016) (footnotes), 
average house prices in Powys have increased by 4.9% since June 2015, and it is noted 
that Powys has experienced the same increase as has been experienced at the Wales level.

2.17 It would appear that higher house price values have been assumed by DVS in the sub-
market area of the North than those applied by HDH when viewed in relation to the house 

Page 233



8

price values applied in other sub-market areas - the values being closer to those found in the 
Severn Valley.  This should improve viability in the North.

2.18 This overall increase in house price values, viewed on its own, is likely to improve 
viability.  However, it is also understood that build costs have increased over this period.  For 
example, it is noted that the build cost of a 100 unit scheme applied by DVS is £65 per 
square metre higher than the cost applied by HDH, however the main difference in costs 
relates to smaller sites due to the application of the specific BCIS costs relating to sites of 3 
or less by the DVS.  This means that the cost of a single unit, for instance, is increased by 
£400 per square metre.  Costs for meeting sprinkler requirements have also been increased 
by approximately £500 per dwelling to match official Welsh Government estimates 
(footnotes).

2.19 Increased build costs, on their own, will have a negative impact on viability, however 
this potential impact is mitigated to some extent by the reduced allowance for external costs 
applied by DVS to large 100 unit schemes and also to single plots.  The DVS approach 
towards costs on brownfield sites, by not applying abnormals and contingencies for instance, 
is likely to improve viability for brownfield sites.

2.20 The changes to the allowances made for other section 106 contributions (not related to 
affordable housing) by reducing the allowance for smaller sites and removing an allowance 
for sites of less than 10, whilst maintaining the allowance for larger 100 unit schemes at 
£2,000 per dwelling, is likely to improve the viability of smaller sites of less than 10 units.

2.21 The changes discussed above will directly impact on viability in terms of the residual 
values generated for the modelled development schemes.  In order to test the viability of 
modelled development schemes, the residual values have been compared with the viability 
threshold (otherwise referred to as benchmark land value) which seeks to reflect the price 
level at which a landowner is likely to release the land for development.  In order for 
development to be deemed viable (according to high level testing), the residual value must 
exceed the viability threshold.

2.22 As is noted within the commentary of Appendix 1, the approach taken towards 
establishing the viability threshold is broadly similar in both studies.  The current agricultural 
land value adopted by DVS is lower than that previously adopted but is based upon market 
evidence.  The higher viability threshold applied by DVS, which affects large and small sites, 
greenfield and brownfield sites alike, means that higher residual values will be required in 
order for development to be considered viable.  However, the viability threshold applied is 
considered to be more realistic and comparable to other relevant LDP studies carried out as 
noted in Appendix 3.  

2.23 In conclusion, therefore, some of the changes made to the assumptions, including 
increases in house prices values and reduction of external costs, have the potential to have 
a positive impact on viability, however the increase identified in build costs identified is likely 
to counter this improvement to some extent.  Overall, therefore, and particularly due to 
changes over time, it is likely that the outcome of these changed assumptions for viability will 
be slightly more positive than those of the previous study.

Page 234



9

3. THE UPDATED AND REVIEWED VIABILITY RESULTS

3.1 This section summarises and analyses the results of the updated and reviewed Viability 
Assessment carried out by the DVS.  

3.2 To clarify, the Council is basing the following comparison on the results presented in 
tables 9-12 of the DVS study (2016) and the results in table 10.5 of the HDH study (2014).

3.3 The focus is also on the results provided at 0% affordable housing i.e. for open market 
housing schemes, as this confirms whether development is viable or not.  The viability 
testing of affordable housing contributions is discussed in a separate paper – Affordable 
Housing Topic Paper Updated September 2016 (reference).

3.4. In terms of presentation of the results, the previous study presented the results on a £ 
per ha basis, whereas the DVS results are shown on a £ per hectare and a £ per site basis 
in the DVS work.  Whilst the previous presentation of the results was useful in terms of 
drawing comparisons between different typologies, by presenting results on a £ per site 
basis, this reflects the residual value according to the site area of the particular site typology.  
For this reason, the results discussed in this paper are those presented on a £ per site basis.

3.5. It is difficult to directly compare the results gained by the DVS in 2016 and HDH in 2014 
as not only are the results based on different data sources obtained at different times, but 
they also apply different assumptions, and development appraisals have been produced 
using different models – the DVS has used the ‘Argus’ model, whereas HDH has used a 
bespoke model developed by HDH.  However, the following comparisons can be made in 
terms of general outcomes for viability:

 The results continue to show that there is considerable variation in viability across the 
County, with the Central sub-market area appearing to be the most viable area, and 
South West the least viable area.

 The results in Central Powys and Severn Valley for greenfield site typologies relating 
to allocations are similar to the previous results, in that all were found to be viable.

 The results for North show improved viability as all greenfield site typologies relating 
to allocations are found to be viable, whereas larger 100 unit and large 70 unit sites 
were found to be only marginally viable in the 2014 study.

 The results for the South West continue to indicate that development relating to 
allocations is generally unviable.  All site typologies in this area continue to have 
negative residual values, with the exception of sites of greenfield and brownfield 5 
and 7 unit (infill and edge) that now have positive residual values, and both greenfield 
and brownfield 5 and 7 unit infill sites (but not edge) exceed the viability threshold 
and therefore are viable.  

 The results for small sites of less than 10 units (that are not related to allocations) are 
similar for both studies in respect of the size of unit schemes (typologies have 
changed as noted above).  Both studies found that schemes of 3 units or less in the 
Central, Severn Valley and North sub-market areas were unviable.

Page 235



10

 The results for brownfield sites show that across the Central, Severn Valley and 
North sub-market area, these sites are generally found to be viable, whereas they 
were previously found to be unviable.  Brownfield continues to be unviable in the 
South West and also on small sites of 3 units or less, as per the results for greenfield 
sites in this area and of this size.

 Marginal viability results are only found in single unit typologies in certain areas, 
whereas they were also previously found in larger and large sites in the North and 
smaller 10 unit schemes in Severn Valley.

3.6 In view of the general outcomes of the reviewed Viability Assessment (2016) for viability, 
set out above, it can be concluded that development on sites of 5 or more units within the 
Central, Severn Valley, and North sub-market areas is viable.  Sites of this size are reflective 
of the scale of allocations and anticipated large windfall sites.  However, small sites of 3 
units or less, which represent the scale of small site windfall sites that are expected to come 
forward, are found to be unviable.

3.7 The DVS Viability Assessment (2016) also concludes that brownfield development, 
which was previously found to be largely unviable, is potentially viable.  This apparent 
improvement in the viability of brownfield development appears to be as a result of the 
changes to the assumptions applied by the DVS to brownfield sites, as explained in 
Appendix 1.  

3.8 Given that there continues to be an area of unviability and certain unviable forms of 
development, further consideration has been given to the apparent unviability in the South 
West area and also to the unviability of small sites.  

4. VIABILITY IN THE SOUTH WEST SUB-MARKET AREA

4.1 Both the HDH 2014 and the DV 2016 studies have identified issues with the viability of 
development in the South West.  Based on the assumptions used, the appraisals have 
generated mainly negative residual values in this area.  This appears to be mainly as a result 
of the relatively low house price values currently experienced in this area, which are not 
sufficient to outweigh the costs of development. 

4.2 Notwithstanding the results of both studies in respect of development viability in the 
South West, the Council has evidence of development completions and developments under 
construction on the ground, and therefore of development being delivered in this area, but 
also of developments proposed with planning permission.  

UDP delivery on allocations

Evidence in JHLAS for sites of 5 or more

4.3 Details of sites recorded in the Powys Joint Housing Land Availability database (date) in 
the South-West area have been collated into the table included in Appendix 3.  There are 12 

Page 236



11

sites in total recorded which represent the supply of sites of 5 units or more in this area.  In 
terms of the make-up and progress of the sites recorded, the following is noted:

 1 site involving the development of 6 affordable dwellings by a Housing Association 
(JHLAS 102) has been completed.

 3 sites of between 5-8 units have been partially (but mainly) completed.  

 1 site for 18 dwellings has commenced, however no completed or started dwellings 
have been recorded yet.

 The remainder all have extant planning permission (apart from 1 allocated site where 
no planning permission exists).

 All of these schemes involve new build within the development boundary.

 5 of the sites recorded were on UDP allocations and 7 were windfall sites.

 7 of the sites recorded were on sites of less than 10 units.

Small site evidence

4.4 With regards to small site completions, according to the Council’s small site monitoring 
data (recording small sites with planning permission, under construction and completed 
since the beginning of the Plan period in 2011), 33 small sites are recorded in the 
communities of Ystradgynlais and Tawe-Uchaf, in the South West:

 All small sites are for 1 or 2 dwellings.

 8 sites of have been completed.

 1 site of 2 dwellings is partially completed.

 2 sites are under construction.

 The remainder are recorded as not started.

 The majority of small site schemes recorded in this area involve new build within the 
development boundary, with a few examples of conversions and subdivisions to flats.

Planning permissions

4.5 Reference has also been made to records of recent planning permissions as this 
provides an indication as to the scale and type of development that may come forward, and 
therefore the housing land supply.  This also provides an indication of interest in 
development in the area.

4.6 Based on planning permissions granted since March 2010 until June 2016:

 57 planning applications have been granted planning permission in the South-West, 
approving a total of 289 dwellings.

Page 237



12

 6 permissions planned a total of 222 units on large sites.

 51 permissions related to small sites (of less than 5 units), approving a total of 67 
units, half of which were planned on single plots.  

 The majority of units (198 units) were planned on brownfield sites, with 80 units 
planned on greenfield sites. 

 The majority of units (145 units) were new build within the development boundary, 
with 58 units new build in residential curtilages.  

 Very few other types of development were planned - 1 barn conversion, 2 flat 
conversions to 2 units, and 1 new build flat scheme.

 2 permissions were for 100% affordable housing.

4.7 There are currently 8 planning applications being processed in respect of residential 
development in the South West sub-market area, as listed in Appendix 6.  This includes an 
application made in outline in respect of a residential development for 10 dwellings, with the 
remainder involving proposed single dwellings.

Deliverability of sites in the South West

4.8 The above evidence proves that some development has happened in the past in this 
area, based on past completions and sites under construction, but also that there is 
continued interest in development in this area, based on planning permissions and current 
planning applications.  This provides a degree of confidence that development will continue 
to be delivered in the future.  However, the Council also understands the importance of 
evidencing the deliverability of the sites that it proposes to allocate in order to meet the 
housing needs of this area.

4.9 A total of 8 sites are allocated in the South-West, 7 of which are proposed in the town of 
Ystradgynlais and 1 of which is proposed in the large village of Abercrave.  A further 
committed site is included in the large village of Coelbren. 

4.10 A total of 8 sites are proposed to be allocated (a total of 466 units) and 2 committed 
sites (a total of 63 units) are also proposed to be included.  Detailed evidence of their 
deliverability is provided in the housing allocations paper (reference).

Other factors

4.11 The viability results are based on the hypothetical sites modelled.  The DVS has also 
outlined several factors which may explain why sites are still coming forward and could 
continue to come forward in this area.  TO FINISH in conjunction with the Housing 
Allocations paper.

5. SMALL SITE VIABILITY

Page 238



13

5.1 Both the HDH 2014 and the DV 2016 studies have identified small sites of 3 units or less 
as generally unviable across all sub-market areas.  The negative residual values of these 
small sites reflects the overall results in the South West, however in the other sub-market 
areas, more positive residual values are found for and their viability varies by size of scheme 
and by sub-market area.  With the exception of single units greenfield schemes in Central, 
which is found to be viable, others would be either marginally viable, or their residual values, 
whilst being positive, are not sufficient to be within a reasonable margin of the viability 
threshold, and therefore are not viable.  The residual values for 3 unit greenfield edge 
schemes and single unit brownfield in the North are negative and therefore are not viable.

5.2 It would appear that the premium costs applied to schemes of 3 units or less is likely to 
explain the apparent unviability of these sites.  The DVS also refers to the sensitivity of the 
results to the housing mix assumed for 3 unit schemes, and that alternative mixes may 
improve viability.  Some of the factors discussed by the DVS to explain why sites deemed to 
be unviable in the study may still happen, could also be relevant to small site viability, 
particularly in terms of the possible lower profit expectations and financing arrangement of 
small developers.  It is also likely that a small scale scheme would be carried out for or by an 
individual and would not be speculative as such, and therefore would not be driven by 
viability concerns. 

5.3 Notwithstanding the results of both studies in respect of the development viability of 
small sites, the Council has evidence of development completions and developments under 
construction on the ground, and therefore of small site developments being delivered. 

5.4 Data gathered for the purposes of explaining and reviewing the windfall allowance 
(windfall paper reference) in relation to past completions in Powys since the April 2016 
indicates that 828 completions of the total 2038 completions took place on small sites of less 
than 5 units.  99 units were completed on small sites between April 2014 and March 2015.  
This represents 74% of the total number of windfall completions, and therefore small sites 
are an important component of the housing land supply on windfall sites.  A quarter of all 
windfall (both on large and small sites) involved new build on greenfield within the 
development boundary, and it is also noted that almost a third involved conversions of non-
residential buildings to dwellings.  Affordable local need dwellings and rural enterprise 
dwellings also featured within the mix but at lower proportions.

5.5 Single and small multiple unit schemes of less than 5 units, therefore, have taken place 
in the past in Powys, and it is likely that there will continue to be opportunities for windfalls of 
this scale to come forward in the future in Powys, and such would generally be permitted in 
principle by future planning policies as they have under the previous Plan.   

5.6 Barn conversions and flat conversions were not tested in the original 2014 study and 
have not been tested by the DVS in 2016.  DVS has explained that values and costs can 
vary hugely for conversions on a scheme by scheme basis, and this would clearly make it 
difficult to accurately appraise the viability of such schemes.  However, again these types of 
schemes have been delivered in the past and therefore the Council can remain confident 
that they will continue to be delivered and contribute towards the Council’s housing land 
supply for small sites.

Page 239



14

5.7 In view of the evidence of past completions and factors which explain how small sites are 
being delivered, it is considered that these sites can and will continue to be delivered.

6. IMPLICATIONS FOR THE VIABILITY AND DELIVERY OF THE PLAN

6.1 This section considers the conclusions drawn from the updated and reviewed viability 
evidence and considers their implications for the viability and deliverability of the Plan.

Housing strategy

6.2 The LDP’s spatial strategy is based on a sustainable settlement hierarchy with levels of 
development allocated to settlements commensurate with their size (number of households) 
and position in the hierarchy.  In accordance with this Strategy (focusing on the South West) 
development in the South West will be focused mainly on the town of Ystradgynlais and also 
to a lesser extent on the large village of Abercrave and Coelbren, in the form of allocations, 
commitments and to a lesser extent large windfall.  In the small village of Cae Hopkin, small 
sites may be permitted as modest infill or as extensions for affordable housing exception 
sites.

Housing provision

6.3 The impact of the viability evidence on the contribution that allocations and windfall 
towards housing provision proposed in the Plan has been considered.  In terms of the impact 
on the Plan’s overall housing provision number of 5985, the deemed unviability of sites in the 
South West sub-market area and small sites is not expected to have a significant impact on 
this number due to the limited proportion of the provision that would be affected if the 
development anticipated to be provided was found to be unviable.  The impact on the 
components of the housing provision number is as follows:

Allocations

6.4 If the proposed allocated sites in the South West were found to be unviable on the 
ground, this would affect 8 of the total of 82 allocated sites proposed to be allocated by the 
Plan.  In terms of the impact on the number of units, 466 units out of 2,987 units may not be 
viable or delivered.  However, this would only account for 16% of the total allocated units 
that the Plan proposes to be provided.  84% of the total allocated units, and 74 allocated 
sites, have been found to be in areas that are viable.  The evidence therefore supports the 
viability of the majority of allocated sites and units.

Commitments

6.5 If the proposed committed sites in the South West were found to be unviable on the 
ground, this would affect 2 of the total 52 committed sites.  In terms of the impact on the 
number of units, 63 committed units out of a total of 1218 committed units (final FC numbers 
to be checked) may not be viable or delivered.  However, this would only account for 5% of 
the total committed units included in the Plan.  95% of the total committed units (1115 units) 
have been found to be in areas that are viable.  The evidence therefore supports the viability 
of the majority of committed sites units.  Furthermore, a proportion of the overall number of 

Page 240



15

committed sites included in the Plan have either been delivered or are being delivered on the 
ground. 

Anticipated Windfall

6.6 327 units are anticipated to come forward on large windfall sites and 883 units are 
anticipated to come forward on small windfall sites during the remainder of LDP period. The 
viability indicates that large windfall sites in the South West and small sites across Powys 
may not be viable, and if this is found to be the case, this would impact on a proportion of the 
anticipated large windfall and small windfall.

6.7 It is difficult to gauge the potential impact of unviability in the South West on the housing 
contribution of large windfall sites.  However, based on the evidence of development in this 
area, half of large sites recorded in JHLAS In this area were relatively small of less than 10 
units, and only very few large windfall sites have gained planning permission since the 
beginning of the Plan period.  Furthermore, the number of settlements in the South West 
where large windfall development could be permitted is limited to the town of Ystradgnlais 
and the large villages of Abercrave and Coelbren.

6.8 Large windfall sites are expected to contribute towards 5.5% of the overall housing 
provision number.  It is unlikely that a large amount of this large windfall will take place in the 
South West, and therefore the viability evidence relating to this area is not expected to have 
a significant numerical impact on the 327 units anticipated on large windfall sites.

6.9 Anticipated development on small sites accounts for 15% of the overall housing provision 
number, and therefore unviability of small sites is more likely to have a noticeable impact on 
the overall housing provision number.  However, as explained above, small sites can be 
delivered as evidenced through past completions, and therefore it is considered that small 
sites can continue to be a reliable and deliverable source of housing during the remainder of 
the Plan period.

Impact on the following aspects of the Plan to be considered separately.

Impact on the ability to meet dwelling requirement number

Impact on the housing trajectory

Impact on maintaining a 5 year housing land supply

Impact on housing distribution

LDP policies

6.10 In view of the positive viability results for much of the Plan’s area and proposed sites, 
the Council is confident that the majority of planned and anticipated development can meet 
the policy requirements set out in the LDP whilst also maintaining development viability.  In 
areas of apparent unviability, this does not appear to be as a direct consequence of policy 
requirements and is instead a reflection of the local housing market and the balance 
between house prices and costs in those areas.  

Page 241



16

6.11 Where policy requirements involve section 106 obligations requiring financial 
contributions, a general allowance has been accounted for within the Viability Assessment.  
However, planning obligations will be negotiated on a case by case basis and requirements 
will depend on the nature, location and scale of the development, and the need to mitigate 
any adverse impacts on local infrastructure and the community.  There is a mechanism 
within the policy which allows for viability to be taken into account subject to the submission 
of detailed viability evidence by the developer.   In areas that where negative residual values 
are not directly as a result of the Council’s policies, but due to relatively low house values 
compared to construction costs.

6.12 The viability of affordable housing policy requirements is detailed in the Affordable 
Housing Topic Paper.

Conclusions on implications for the Plan

6.13 The above considers the potential implications of non-delivery of development planned 
and anticipated in the South West by the Plan.  The implications have been considered on 
the basis of the worse-case scenario whereby no development would come forward in this 
area.  If this were to be the case, the impact would not be significant in terms of the overall 
housing numbers proposed by the Plan.  However, it is recognised that this scenario would 
have a localised impact on housing delivery in the South West sub-market area.  

6.14 The Council does not consider the complete non-delivery of development in this area to 
be a realistic scenario, given that there is evidence of development happening on the ground 
and of development interest, along with developer intentions to bring allocations forward for 
development.

7. MONITORING AND REVIEW

7.1 For the purposes of monitoring viability on an annual basis and throughout the remainder 
of the Plan period, it will be important for key viability assumptions to be monitored.  The 
original study in 2014 recommended that house prices be monitored either every 4 years or 
if house prices change by more than 10%.  The DVS has recommended that changes in 
both house prices and costs should be monitored, as a 10% increase in house prices would 
need to be viewed in relation to changes in other variables, including costs, which would 
impact on overall viability.  

7.2 DVS recommends that changes in values and costs could be monitored concurrently by 
calculating the residual value of a 100 unit scheme and identifying a significant divergence 
between the costs and value.  It is suggested that a divergence of 5% would be significant 
enough to warrant review of viability.  This is considered to provide a practical way of 
monitoring and identifying potentially significant changes in viability that also takes into the 
relationship between values and costs.  It is also considered to be appropriate to monitor 
existing use values, based on agricultural land values, as significant increases/decreases 
may impact on benchmark land values.

Page 242



17

7.3 It is also proposed to monitor other development assumptions applied in the viability 
study in order to ensure their continued relevance to planned development and also to 
inform any future review or update of the assessment.  These include:

 Density of development being proposed and delivered on the ground.  The density of 
proposed and completed developments will be monitored against the densities 
applied in the Viability Assessment and against the guidelines provided in policy H3.  

 The mix of housing being proposed and delivered on the ground, particularly given 
the sensitivity of viability to the mix assumed.

 The level of on-site open space provision as this has consequences for the 
developable area assumptions.

 The level of other section 106 contributions (not related to affordable housing) is also 
proposed to be monitored in the AMR. 

 Build out periods of sites as this is relevant to the financing of development.

7.4 Monitoring proposed in order to inform review of the affordable housing requirements is 
discussed in Affordable Housing topic paper.

8. CONCLUSION

TO FOLLOW

Page 243



18

9. APPENDICES

(SEPARATE DOCUMENTS)

Page 244



APPENDIX 1

Table clarifying the differences in the key assumptions applied in the original HDH Local Development Plan Viability Assessment (2014) and 
the DVS Viability Study August 2016, along with reasons for changes in approaches and values applied.

ASSUMPTION OCTOBER 2014 
REPORT (HDH)

AUGUST 2016 REPORT 
(DVS)

COMMENTARY

Approach 
towards 
identifying an 
appropriate 
Viability 
Threshold

(also referred 
to as 
Benchmark 
Land Value)

Comparing the Residual 
Value generated by the 
viability appraisals with the 
Existing Use Value (EUV) 
or an Alternative Use 
Value (AUV) plus an 
appropriate uplift to 
incentivise the landowner 
to sell.  A competitive 
return for the landowner is 
considered.  Judgement 
informed by reference to 
market value of the land 
both with and without 
planning permission.

DVS has assessed existing 
and alternative use values 
and has referred to 
comparable land sales 
evidence in order to identify 
a benchmark land value that 
offers significant financial 
incentives to landowners, but 
is also reflective of likely 
planning obligations and 
affordable housing 
contributions.  The threshold, 
therefore, may be below 
what may historically have 
been aspirational figures 
held by landowners.

Both HDH and DVS have been informed by viability guidance 
available from sources such as the Harman report and the RICS 
Viability in Planning Guidance note, and it is understood DVS were 
part of the group that authored the RICS guidance. As such they 
believe that any benchmark land value must be reflective of full 
planning policy requirements whilst also offering a suitable incentive 
over EUV to the landowner to release the land for development to 
be realistic.

Existing and 
alternative 
use values

Industrial land value of 
£250,000 per hectare
Agricultural land value of 
£25,000 per hectare

Paddock land value of 
£50,000 per hectare.

Agricultural land value of 
£17,300 per hectare.

Agricultural land values, particularly relevant to greenfield sites, 
have been reduced to match to reflect values of pasture land in 
Wales RICS/RAU Rural Land Market Survey (second half of 2015).  
The update has also not included the potential paddock values.

Considering the real nature of the land likely to come forward in 
Powys no specific industrial land value has been taken into account 

P
age 245



by DVS as it is believed in its nature it will be more akin to 
Greenfield and that high value alternative industrial uses are highly 
unlikely to exist in fact.

HDH applied a higher AUV for brownfield, making the viability 
threshold higher for brownfield than greenfield.

Large greenfield sites (10 
or more units):

Residual value to exceed 
Existing Use Value (EUV) 
+20% and an additional 
£200,000 per hectare - 
averaged at £230,000 per 
hectare.

Large greenfield sites (10 or 
more units): £300,000 per 
hectare.

Viability 
Threshold 
identified

Large brownfield sites (10 
or more units):

Residual value to exceed 
Existing Use Value (EUV) 
+20%.  Averaged at 
£260,000 per hectare.

Large brownfield sites (10 or 
more units):

£300,000 per hectare.

A higher viability threshold has been applied by DVS which is based 
on their experience of specific viability cases and other area wide 
studies.

A table summarising the viability threshold applied by other 
Authorities in their LDP Viability Assessments is provided within 
Appendix 3.  The viability threshold applied by the DVS is the same 
as that applied to greenfield sites in the Ceredigion study, which is a 
predominantly rural area similar to Powys.  Other studies have 
applied lower thresholds of £250,000, and others higher 
thresholds.  However, by comparing with other similar areas, it is 
clear that the viability threshold assumed by HDH in 2014 is on the 
low side, which may have partly been a reflection of lower 
expectations within the market at that time.

HDH has differentiated between greenfield and brownfield, by 
applying an additional £200,000 per ha to greenfield sites above the 
uplift in value of 20% above the alternative use value applied to 
brownfield sites.

The DVS has applied the same viability threshold to both greenfield 
and brownfield sites, explaining that remediation costs of sites in 
Powys are expected to be relatively minor and that true higher 
value alternative industrial uses are unlikely to be in evidence.

P
age 246



The Council considers it to be appropriate to apply the same 
viability threshold to both greenfield and brownfield sites.  Any 
abnormal costs or associated costs reflecting the risk involved in 
the development of Brownfield sites, will be site specific and where 
these exist, they should be reflected in the price paid for the land. 
The same principle applies to Greenfield sites where abnormal 
costs are involved.  It is not possible to factor in site specific matters 
to high level viability assessments.

Small greenfield sites 
(less than 10 units):

Residual value to exceed 
Existing Use Value (EUV) 
+20% and an additional 
£200,000 per hectare

Small greenfield sites (less 
than 10 units):

£30,000 per plot

Small brownfield sites 
(less than 10 units):

Residual value to exceed 
Existing Use Value (EUV) 
+20%

Small brownfield sites (less 
than 10 units):

£30,000 per plot

HDH has applied the same viability threshold (calculated on a £ per 
hectare basis) to small sites as the large sites as set out above.   

DVS has applied a higher viability threshold of £30,000 per plot to 
sites of less than 10 units, which is based on a review of recent 
sales evidence.  The DVS considers that single plots and small 
sites should be based on a plot basis due to the size of the sites 
involved.  

The Council considers it appropriate to apply a higher viability 
threshold (relative to site size) to small sites, as otherwise this 
would result in relatively low and potentially unrealistic viability 
thresholds for small sites.

Approach 
towards 
identifying 
house sale 
values and 
changes in 
these values

HDH has applied different 
residential market values 
(on a £ per square metre 
basis) to each sub-market 
area.  Values are based 
on current asking prices 
on active developments at 
the time of the 

DVS has calculated typical 
prices for different unit types 
across the different sub-
market areas.   Regard has 
been given to new build sale 
prices and also to general 
value levels of all property 

The method used to estimate house sale values differs between the 
HDH and DV studies and therefore the house sale values applied in 
the two studies cannot be directly compared.  

Both studies assume the highest values are found in the Central 
sub-market area, and that the lower values are found in the South 
West.  However, it is noted that the values applied by DVS in the 
North and Severn Valley generally show more similarity to each 

P
age 247



Assessment, and informed 
by the general pattern of 
all house prices across the 
study area.  

sales. other than in the values assumed by HDH, where values applied in 
the Severn Valley were notably higher than in the North.

The Council agrees with the method used by DVS as this is based 
on typical prices for actual house types and the values used by 
DVS are current as of August 2016.

The DVS continues to apply an additional 10% premium to small 
sites and an additional 15% for single sites, as previously applied 
by HDH.

Developer 
profit

20% of Gross 
Development Cost

Open market housing:

Greenfield site - 17.5% of 
Gross Development Value

Brownfield site - 20% of 
Gross Development Value

Affordable housing:

6% of Gross Development 
Value

The method used for calculating developer profit differs between 
the HDH and DVS studies.

HDH calculates profit as a percentage of the Gross Development 
Cost, whereas DVS calculates profit as a percentage of the Gross 
Development Value.   

The Council agrees with the method used by DVS as this is the 
default methodology for calculating developer profit residential 
development viability assessments according to the Harman 
Guidance.

DVS also applies varied levels of profit depending on whether the 
site is greenfield/brownfield (given the perceived higher risk of 
brownfield sites), and also accounts for a lower profit for affordable 
housing than for open market housing.  HDH applies a flat 
percentage for developer profit to all types of housing and sites.

The Council considers it appropriate to vary the profit level 
expected of greenfield and brownfield sites, and reduced profit level 
expected of the affordable housing element of a scheme. The level 
of profit assumed by the DVS is within the range normally allowed 

P
age 248



for developer profit, taking into account the level of profit allowed for 
in other studies.

Build costs Ranging from £849 per 
square metre to £1,225 
per sqm varied by size 
and whether 
greenfield/brownfield

£900 per sqm for a larger 
100 unit scheme

£1,225 for a single unit 
site

£969 per square metre for 
houses

£1,128 per square metre for 
flats

On sites of 3 and fewer units:

£1,616 per square metres for 
detached dwellings

£1,150 per square metre for 
semi-detached and terraced 
housing

HDH was based on BCIS costs re-based to Powys (March 2014).

DVS is based on BCIS median estate housing general costs and 
costs for 3 and fewer units re-based to Powys as at 23rd of July 
2016.

It is understood that construction costs have generally increased 
and therefore it is considered appropriate to apply costs in line with 
up-to-date data.

It is also considered appropriate to apply a higher cost assumption 
to flats and small sites of 3 and fewer units in line with the BCIS 
cost data.

External 
costs

20% of build costs for 
large greenfield sites

10% of build costs for 
small sites

15% of build costs for over 
10 units

10% of build costs for under 
10 units

5% of build costs for single 
units

HDH has applied higher costs to large greenfield sites as these 
would be more likely to require substantial expenditure on bringing 
services to the site and have greater areas of external landscaping.

DVS allowances are based upon the experience of the DVS 
Quantity Surveyors and as agreed on specific viability cases which 
have suggested a general tone. DVS has applied lower external 
costs allowances to large greenfield sites and single sites as 
suggested by the tone of specific viability work but concede that this 
may need to be considered on a case by case basis where larger 
infrastructure costs may be required.

Building 
regulations/

Additional cost of
£2,500 per dwelling

£3,075 per dwelling The cost accounted for meeting sprinkler requirements which came 
into force in January 2016, has been increased to reflect official 
estimates (Welsh Government Ministerial Statement ‘Regulating for 

P
age 249



Sprinklers £875 per flatted dwelling automatic fire suppression systems in domestic buildings’ May 
2012).  The cost per dwelling accounted for HDH in 2014 was lower 
than the DVS, however DVS are based on the Welsh Assembly 
Government estimates.  DVS has also accounted for a lower cost 
for flatted dwellings.  

Section 106 
allowance for 
other 
contributions

£2,000 per dwelling Larger 100 units - total 
£200,000 per site

Large 50 units - total £50,000 
per site

Medium 25 units - total 
£25,000 per site

Small 10 units - total £10,000 
per site

Less than 10 units - £0.

The decision to change the section 106 allowances made for other 
contributions was informed by evidence of average contributions 
secured in the past according to the Council’s Section 106 Register, 
accounting for section 106 agreements requiring contributions that 
had been entered into since 2011.

Analysis of the information contained on the Register indicated that 
on average £1,000 per dwelling had been secured, however the 
amount secured per dwelling ranged from a minimum of £100 per 
dwelling to a maximum of £2,600 per dwelling.

It was noted that higher sums had been secured per dwelling on 
some of the larger sites, which indicated that there was a need to 
reflect this by varying the allowance made for larger and smaller 
sites.  This approach is considered to be appropriate given the 
likelihood that larger sites will have greater on-site and off-site 
infrastructure requirements due to their scale.

Consideration was also given to likely additional contributions 
resulting from new policy requirements within the LDP, including the 
policy requirement in connection with Language Action Plans in 
respect of the Welsh language, which may involve contributions.  
However, this requirement only generally applies to developments 
of more than 10 in areas identified as Welsh language strongholds.  
DVS has tested larger sites at higher S106 levels of £5,000 per 
dwelling and they remain viable. The exact amounts secured and 

P
age 250



delivered through section 106 agreements under the LDP will be 
monitored and viability reviews triggered if the contributions made 
are found to be lower than reality.

No allowance has been made for section 106 contributions for sites 
of less than 10 units as LDP policy requirements relating to 
potential contributions do not generally apply to sites of this scale.

P
age 251



T
his page is intentionally left blank



1

STUDY CONCERNING THE ECONOMIC 
VIABILITY OF PROVIDING 

AFFORDABLE HOUSING ACROSS 
POWYS 

Undertaken in connection with the emerging 
Local Development Plan

Completed on behalf of Powys Council
by

District Valuer Services (DVS) 
August 2016

Page 253



2

EXECUTIVE SUMMARY

DVS, part of the Valuation Office Agency, has been commissioned by Powys Council to 
produce financial appraisals in respect of a number of example residential development sites 
across the County to determine the ability of such schemes to support a level of Affordable 
Housing. They requested that we also look at why some sites which may have been 
previously considered 'unviable' are in fact being brought forward for development. It should 
be hoped that the targets set should be achievable.

The Council wished to test viability for a range of sites, and an appraisal approach was 
undertaken that would permit this reflecting a prescribed level of affordable housing and 
housing mix.  A variety of site typologies has been agreed in previous testing for the Council 
and has been maintained as representative of the sites that will come forward in the County. 
The typologies were also tested in a variety of geographical locations or sub markets which 
should enable more general conclusions to be drawn about the viability implications locally of 
differing scenarios. Such sub markets show strong similarities in terms of house prices. We 
have also drawn from our experience of assisting the Council in their development 
management process on specific case viability studies, as well as using our local knowledge 
to hopefully reflect a relatively realistic scenario to show how sites may come forward - and 
also to distinguish between 'hotspots' and 'notspots' in terms of viability across the County.

The sites are all ‘hypothetical’ and their individual characteristics, any anticipated abnormal 
costs, etc. are not taken into account in the appraisals. Any potential planning application for 
such sites, and specific viability testing will involve more detailed data and will be viewed on 
its individual merits.

The valuations and appraisals were agreed to be as at 1 August 2016 and reflect current 
costs and values. It is important to stress that the prescribed ‘test’ developments designed to 
meet the Council’s combined planning policies do not necessarily match any future actual 
development. Accordingly no dialogue has been entered into with landowners or developers 
in carrying out this study. 

A total of twenty three typologies have been identified by the Council as being reflective of 
development in the County. We have considered notional development schemes for each 
site, which would meet the current Local Development Plan objectives. Each main typology 
has then been tested across the four sub market areas identified previously by the Council, 
and maintained again for this report.

We considered assumptions in respect of development costs and other financial and site 
assumptions required to carry out the appraisals.  We would also note that the assumptions 
used and current costs and values adopted mean that the figures in this report are not 
comparable to any other report commissioned by the authority previously.

Development appraisals were produced for each of the site typologies using the industry 
standard 'Argus' software which shows full cash flows etc. The approach used was to 
determine the residual site value after taking into account the costs of development including 
the proposed Affordable Housing requirement; the likely income from sales and developer's 
profit. This methodology is the same as is used by nearly all developers when they are 
purchasing land and formulating their bids.

For Greenfield sites a level of profit on revenue of 17.5% on the Market Value element of the 
scheme was considered reasonable, and on Brownfield sites 20% - reflecting in our opinion 
the nature of the developments and their perceived associated risks.  

Page 254



3

It is accepted by established market commentators that a return to house price growth will 
occur but current market commentaries are mixed and it is impossible to predict when a 
return to higher house price sale levels will occur, which will make some sites ‘viable’.  

Taking into account the above, we would agree that the proposed affordable housing 
contribution targets in the Central (30%). Severn (20%) and North (10%) areas are supported 
allowing for a degree of headroom also for further S106 contributions and additional costs on 
a site by site basis etc. This recommendation is based on the results produced and is 
considered reasonable in the context of the plan period and the current, exceptional, 
uncertain state of the market. It also reflects the split of affordable housing tenure types 
outlined in the report which is based upon identified needs. Testing was also carried out in 
Central at a 35% level of contribution. Whilst still viable we note that the adopted levels of 
contribution should reflect a comfortable margin of viability in order to reflect any future 
requirements, and that at a 35% level the margin was considered too small. We would further 
recommend that the LDP allows for sites to be considered on an individual scheme-by-
scheme basis with a full viability appraisal, if necessary. 

The different levels between sub markets is supportable and reflects the potential of higher 
value areas to make more substantial contributions to affordable housing and S106 sums. Of 
the tests undertaken in the three sub markets of North, Central and Severn all of the larger 
sites were viable at the above proposed levels of contribution apart from the 3 unit and single 
units schemes. This represents the delivery of 84.4% of the expected allocations. However 
we are confident that the viability issues with the smaller sites in these sub markets may be 
more reflective of the unit mix chosen for testing and the current proposed BCIS build cost of 
£1,616 psm for detached units impacting upon the testing rather than such sites in those 
areas being unviable as a whole. For example it may seem a natural reaction to choose to 
build larger units on a small 'exclusive' site - but as they will have also larger build costs it 
does not necessarily mean that viability margin is automatically improved. 

The main area of concern is the South West where very few schemes appear viable. 
However we are conscious that schemes are still coming forward in this area which would 
suggest that there is the strong possibility as discussed in the paper that lower cost build 
contracts are being agreed, or less developers profit is being sought by developers in the 
area - hence the sites become viable. Any affordable target set in this area therefore may be 
currently seen as aspirational but we believe that some schemes may be able to provide 
some units as costs decrease or values increase - but this will be on a case by case 
assessment we would suggest. As some smaller unit schemes will be undertaken for owner 
occupation we are of the opinion that sites will continue to come forward in this area.

We would also note that by simply having a strong residual value, it is not guaranteed that a 
site will come forward for development, and those which may be unviable in methodology 
may also come forward for a number of reasons as discussed in the paper. Housing 
development on Brownfield sites for example is not necessarily less expensive than on 
Greenfield land due to existing infrastructure in place.

In addition, we would recommend regular revision of the viability appraisals to establish 
whether the main assumptions, particularly in respect of sale prices and build costs, have 
been subject to fluctuation. In the event that the parameters have moved to any significant 
degree (a 5% clear differential for example) it may be appropriate to review the affordable 
housing contribution target.
       

                                    

Page 255



4

             
  

1. INTRODUCTION

1.1 DVS, part of the Valuation Office Agency, has been commissioned by Powys Council to 
produce financial appraisals in respect of a number of typologies of residential sites across 
the County to determine the ability of development sites to support a level of Affordable 
Housing. The appraisals have been designed to assess the impact on development viability 
of the requirements for provision of Affordable Housing at various levels. The Council is 
producing a Local Development Plan (‘LDP’) which, when adopted, will serve as the statutory 
strategic spatial development framework for the County until 2026. 

1.2 This study is a document which will be used in assessing the aspirational target for 
affordable housing, within the LDP. It is not intended, nor should it be used, as a basis for 
any individual case being considered under Development Management guidelines. In arriving 
at an overall target there will be sites which will perform better than the average and those 
that perform less well but the study will provide a reasonable achievable target from which 
policy may be derived.

Brief for this work

1.3 The Council wished to test viability for a range of sites and an appraisal approach was 
undertaken that would permit this reflecting a prescribed level of affordable housing and 
housing mix.  A variety of site typologies has been agreed in previous testing for the Council 
and has been maintained, with the aim of testing different site types in a variety of 
geographical locations. This would enable more general conclusions to be drawn about the 
viability implications locally of differing scenarios. We have also drawn from our experience of 
assisting the Council in their development management process on specific case viability 
studies, as well as using our local knowledge to hopefully reflect a relatively realistic scenario 
to show how sites may come forward in terms of suggested unit mix as is demonstrated in 
planning applications coming forward - and also to distinguish between 'hotspots' and 
'notspots' in terms of viability across the County. We would add that within any sub market 
there will still be hotter and cooler locations in terms of viability. 

1.4 The valuations and appraisals were agreed to be as at 1 August 2016.  

DVS

1.5 DVS, part of The Valuation Office Agency, provides valuation advice to public bodies 
throughout Wales, England and Scotland. It has extensive experience in carrying out 
development appraisals and employs specialists in commercial and residential development 
work, together with dedicated environmental and quantity surveyors to assist in appraisal 
work.  In the last few years, Councils have increasingly commissioned us to assess the 
viability of development schemes in relation to their ability to support affordable housing and 
other obligations arising in the planning process.

Page 256



5

2. INDIVIDUAL DEVELOPMENT SITES

Introduction

2.1 The number of site typologies tested are considered to give a representative sample so 
that sites of all size ranges, types and in all market areas, identified in previous work by 
Powys, were represented. 

2.2 This section considers the key characteristics of the individual sites, together with the 
assumptions made about the proposed development for the purposes of producing 
appraisals. The sites are of varying sizes and have differing current uses, although most may 
be considered ‘Greenfield’ (this is a primarily a reflection of the preponderance of this type of 
site in the County) either in use as farmland or scrub. It may be commented that even 
previously developed or Brownfield sites may be considered to be less 'Brown' than in other 
areas as little heavy industrial use for example will have been undertaken on them.

2.3 The sites are all ‘hypothetical’ and their individual characteristics, any anticipated 
abnormal costs, etc. are not taken into account in the appraisals. Any potential planning 
application for such sites, and specific viability testing will involve more detailed data and will 
be viewed on its individual merits

2.4 We were not asked as part of this study to consider the appropriateness of any other 
items of developer contributions such as CIL.

Existing Data

2.5 Having regard to the Council’s brief and per previous viability work undertaken for the 
Council, we arrived upon hypothetical schemes for each site, to meet current planning 
objectives in terms of density and mix but also developers aspirations, and have formulated 
appraisals based upon house price and commercial data from our database of all reported 
property transactions (supported by wider market investigations), as at the agreed valuation 
date. Building Cost information has been obtained directly from our internal quantity 
surveyors and BCIS (the Building Cost Information Service of the Royal Institution of 
Chartered Surveyors). 

2.6 No allowance has been made for ecological factors (bats, newts etc) or other potential 
site remediation costs, as these will be very site specific issues. Any such matters on specific 
sites coming forward for development would be taken account of in a specific viability test we 
would suggest.

The individual site typologies

2.7 Details of the typologies identified by the Council are set out below:

Page 257



6

Table 1 
Typology Site size in Gross Hectares

Greenfield  

Large 100 3.7
Larger 50 1.92
Med 25 0.96
10 edge 0.4
10 infill 0.33
7 infill 0.3
7 edge 0.35
5 infill 0.17
5 edge 0.25
3 infill 0.12
3 edge 0.18
Single infill 0.07
Single edge 0.1
Brownfield
Large 50 1.43
Medium 25 0.71
Small 10 0.31
7 infill 0.2
5 infill 0.15
3 infill 0.1
Single infill 0.05

2.8 In terms of geographic spread the County has been subdivided into four sub-markets, 
and each main typology was tested for each area. Powys is a large and diverse County and 
it is clear that there are areas which are more high value and therefore viable than others. 
Care must be taken when looking at comparable properties to also strip out any such 
specifically high value properties in order not to skew an average.

2.9 The expectations for delivery against the plan against main site allocations and sub 
market are;

Table 2

Page 258



7

Type No. sites No units % units per area

Central
Green 100 3 344 35.68%

Green 50 7 347 36%

Green 25 5 135 14%

Green 10 edge 4 47 4.88%

Green 10 infill 3 31 3.22%

Brown 50 1 60 6.22%

Brown 25 0 0 0

Brown 10 0 0 0

Total 23 964 100%

Severn
Green 100 2 285 37.75%

Green 50 2 124 16.42%

Green 25 10 261 34.57%

Green 10 edge 3 34 4.5%

Green 10 infill 4 51 6.75%

Brown 50 0 0 0

Brown 25 0 0 0

Brown 10 0 0 0

Total 21 755 100%

North
Green 100 1 90 11.22%

Green 50 6 299 37.28%

Green 25 11 251 31.3%

Green 10 edge 10 116 14.46%

Green 10 infill 0 0 0%

Brown 50 0 0 0

Brown 25 1 32 3.99%

Brown 10 1 14 1.75%

Total 30 802 100%
South West
Green 100 3 334 71.67%

Page 259



8

Green 50 1 59 12.66%

Green 25 0 0 0

Green 10 edge 1 10 2.15%

Green 10 infill 2 22 4.72%

Brown 50 1 41 8.80%

Brown 25 0 0 0

Brown 10 0 0 0

Total 8 466 100%

2.10 In terms of overall provision therefore the sub markets will each provide the following 
percentage of the total;

 Central - 32%
 Severn Valley - 25%
 North - 27%
 South West - 16%

2.11 In the market place, there will be some variation in the specification of the final 
dwellings; and in the degree of aspiration for high quality design. Whilst recognising that 
across the County, the Council would aspire to achieve a high standard of urban design, we 
assumed the sites will be developed to a similar standard to that which is represented by the 
existing housing stock. We consider that this ‘median’ level of specification is also that 
accepted by the market in these locations. As a result a single median building cost 
assumption has been made for these sites and this level of specification is reflected in the 
prices achieved for the individual developments.

2.12 The hypothetical specification also takes into account costs for additional works 
required to comply with the ‘Code for Sustainable Homes’ and sprinkler systems and the 
methodology adopted to reflect these is detailed later in this report.

Development assumptions

2.13 In order to test schemes that meet all aspects of present planning policy, we considered 
the unit numbers and mix to be met by each site. This was done by considering schemes as 
built out or proposed in Powys and informed by our own market knowledge and experience 
of viability cases. It may be summarised that developers prefer to build what may be 
considered a more marketable product in the market at that time - and usually that is a 
detached house and in a low density environment. We believe that these are the types of 
schemes most likely to come forward and so have tailored the suggest mix on that basis to 
try and reflect schemes which are likely to come forward.

2.14 The prescribed base development mixes for each site on a fully open market basis 
are set out below:

Table 3

Typology Density Per Ha Suggested Mix

Page 260



9

Greenfield

Large 100 31.8

2 bed terrace x 10
3 bed terrace x 14

2 bed semi-detached x 12
3 bed semi-detached x 24

3 bed detached x 16
4 bed detached x 24

Larger 50 28.9

2 bed terrace x 5
3 bed terrace x 7

2 bed semi-detached x 6
3 bed semi-detached x 12

3 bed detached x 8
4 bed detached x 12

Med 25 27

2 bed terrace x 2
3 bed terrace x 4

2 bed semi-detached x 3
3 bed semi-detached x 6

3 bed detached x 4
4 bed detached x 6

10 edge 25
3 bed semi-detached x 2

3 bed detached x 3
4 bed detached x 5

10 infill 30
3 bed semi-detached x 2

3 bed detached x 3
4 bed detached x 5

7 infill 30 3 bed semi-detached x 4
4 bed detached x 3

7 edge 25 3 bed semi-detached x 2
3 bed detached x 5

5 infill 31 3 bed semi-detached x 2
3 bed detached x 3

5 edge 25 3 bed semi-detached x 2
3 bed detached x 3

3 infill 27 3 bed semi-detached x 2
3 bed detached x 1

3 edge 23 4 bed detached x 3
Single infill 25 4 bed detached x 1
Single edge 20 4 bed detached x 1

Brownfield

Large 50 39

2 bed terrace x 5
3 bed terrace x 7

2 bed semi-detached x 6
3 bed semi-detached x 12

3 bed detached x 8
4 bed detached x 12

Medium 25 37
2 bed terrace x 2
3 bed terrace x 4

2 bed semi-detached x 3

Page 261



10

3 bed semi-detached x 6
3 bed detached x 4
4 bed detached x 6

Small 10 32
3 bed semi-detached x 2

3 bed detached x 3
4 bed detached x 5

7 infill 35 3 bed semi-detached x 4
4 bed detached x 3

5 infill 36 3 bed semi-detached x 2
3 bed detached x 3

3 infill 30 3 bed semi-detached x 2
3 bed detached x 1

Single infill 33 4 bed detached x 1

2.14 For the testing at different policy percentages the mixes are shown in the appendices. 
These mixes are based on analysis of schemes in development. Where Affordable housing 
is being provided the mix adopted is reflective of needs identified within the LHMA and they 
include smaller one bed units and flatted elements. Part units have been rounded up or down 
to remain realistic.

2.15 Density shown is for number of units per gross site area in hectares. This density 
reflects an average scenario but may be subject to influence on specific sites due individual 
site characteristics in terms of topography, developable area, estate roads where necessary, 
local market etc.

2.16 The property sizes tested have been derived from guidance provided to RSLs and 
based upon our own market experience and as adopted in other such testing. It is 
recognised that the eventual developers of each site will form their own views, subject to 
Planning policy requirements, on what the appropriate unit type mix and size of units are but, 
for the purposes of consistency, the following unit types have been tested across both the 
affordable and private tenure homes: 

Table 4

Unit type Size in sqm
One bed flat 50
Two bed flat 60
1 bed terrace house 60
2 bed terrace house 70
3 bed terrace house 83
2 bed semi-detached house 75
3 bed semi-detached house 88
3 bed detached house 100
4 bed detached house 120

2.17 The mix of dwellings focuses mainly on the need for family housing, as demonstrated in 
our experience and in consideration of current dwelling types in the County.

2.18 The housing mix, to a large extent, reflects current house types ‘demanded’ by the 
market. This is slightly at variance to the Local Housing Market Assessment which 
considered a greater need for 1/2 bed affordable properties, rather than 3 bed. In our 
opinion, the market will not readily provide 1 bed properties and our appraisals have been 
tempered by realism to reflect the Developer’s, and our own, views on market demand. 

Page 262



11

Smaller unit types have been included in testing for affordable housing however. The final 
‘mix’ serves to calculate the total size of development on each site, which will vary dependant 
on each location. The mix also provides the basis for calculation of final value which, again, 
reflects the appropriate type of development for the location.

2.19 Current ‘market’ housing can be provided by developers in both larger (particularly 
where 3 storey construction is adopted) and smaller sizes, both of which can result in greater 
site density in terms of smaller but more numerous units or similar densities backed up by 
larger homes; the net result of both approaches is the same : an increased built area (Square 
metres) per hectare.

2.20 Therefore, we consider the densities used in the appraisals are generally at the lower 
end of expectations and also reflect the absence (or reduced provision) of any apartment 
type dwellings on any of the sites which we believe would be a correct assumption for 
development in Powys.  

Affordable Housing Assumptions 

2.21 In accordance with the brief, our appraisals assume that there will be a requirement to 
provide affordable housing on each site. The affordable housing as tested for valuation 
purposes is taken as advised by the Council. The main tenures tested were social rented, 
intermediate rent and intermediate houses for sale. The values for each type are £800 psm 
for socially rented units in all sub markets (based on StatsWales figures less assumed voids 
and management costs, and capitalised at a 5.5% yield and averaged out against unit size) 
and intermediate rents of £905 psm in the North and Severn Valley, £975 psm in Central and 
£935 psm in the South West. Intermediate for sale units where tested are valued at 70% of 
open market value.

2.22 The main testing level was undertaken at a provision of 75% socially rented units and 
25% intermediate rented which we understand reflects the need identified by the Council’s .

2.23 The affordable housing has been assumed to be sold by a Developer to an RSL. 
Planning Policy strongly supports the concept of integrated, mixed, developments and over 
the period of the LDP this is expected to be the case in Powys. From a viability perspective, 
we have assumed that such mixed developments will occur and that RSL’s and Developers 
will work together, with the RSL’s contributing at a similar level as elsewhere.

2.24 Each of the tested schemes assumes that no Social Housing Grant has been offered in 
support of the development of affordable housing. This is a conservative approach and 
effectively results in the Developer receiving lower payments from the RSL, for the affordable 
housing content, in the hypothetical appraisals, meaning that viability is more difficult to 
achieve. In the present climate availability of grant funding is uncertain and it was, therefore, 
considered inappropriate to test viability on that assumption. If/when grant funding is 
available RSL’s may be able to pay developers higher sums which will improve their ability to 
provide more affordable housing, whilst maintaining viability.

2.25 It may also be noted that in high value areas the residual value usually falls as 
affordable housing is increased within a scheme, but with grant funding in lower value 
markets the converse may be true.

Page 263



12

OTHER DEVELOPER CONTRIBUTIONS

Other developer contributions

2.26 The Council has analysed S106 sums that have been collected from approved schemes 
and based on this evidence we have adopted ;

Table 5
Number of units S106 sums
100 £200,000
50 £50,000
25 £25,000
10 £10,000
Less than 10 None

2.27 We have also undertaken sensitivity testing at a £5,000 per unit level on larger 100 and 
50 units schemes following testing by other Authorities, but we believe that this level of 
contribution is unlikely to be secured in Powys. On that basis the larger schemes remained 
viable.

2.28 If other developer contributions were to be required, for example for education, Welsh 
Language contributions, infrastructure (where this is a site specific ‘abnormal’ cost rather 
than a standard cost) etc., then this could impact on the amount of affordable housing which 
could reasonably be expected to be provided. These increased costs would reduce viability 
and developer profit margins unless they could be absorbed through reduced land prices 
paid to site vendors. A large number of the sites in this study have assumed a land sale at a 
relatively low level, reflecting a minimum expectation of price, to have the site ‘released’ to 
the market – in those cases any additional costs are unlikely to be borne by a landowner thus 
reducing viability and the percentage amount of affordable housing which could be provided, 
whilst still meeting the target profit levels set out in this report.

2.29 Whilst other payments may be required on particular sites, dependent upon specific 
local needs, the Council have clearly stated that after infrastructure provision Affordable 
Housing will then be prioritised. There may be instances where this is not the case, e.g. 
where infrastructure is required without which no development can take place, but these will 
be limited.

2.30 Community Infrastructure Levy may become a further factor during the period of the 
Plan. However, at this stage it is not adopted and it is difficult to gauge what impact it may 
have. For this study we have made no allowance for CIL although any review (as 
recommended) will need to take this into account.

3. LOCAL MARKET CONDITIONS

Introduction

3.1 This section provides an assessment of local market conditions. This provides the basis 
for the assumptions on house prices used in the financial appraisals for the typology sites. 

3.2 In support of this exercise, we have considered values specific to the test sites identified. 
It is important to stress that a series of factors will influence values and that, although 
development schemes do have similarities, every site is unique to some degree. 
Consequently, whilst market conditions in general will broadly reflect national economic 
circumstances and local supply/demand factors, within an area there will be particular 

Page 264



13

localities and site-specific factors that generate different values and costs. The range of sites 
tested in this study seeks to assess viability across varying localities for this reason.

3.3 The comments below relate to prevailing market conditions at the valuation date. It 
should be stressed that values fluctuate, and that we are at the moment in a time of perhaps 
greater market uncertainty than normal, and that assessments of viability will alter over 
relatively short periods of time.

3.4 Powys is predominantly rural with a population of some 133,000. The area, for housing 
development, has always been somewhat ‘quiet’ and has 'hotspots' as well as less 
successful locations due to the rural nature of the County, its predominantly agricultural 
economy and sparseness of population in some areas.

3.5 Apart from small developments (2 to 7 units), larger development is concentrated around 
existing settlement edges. Residential development in some areas is limited by the 
topography and environmental or other designations which prohibit development.

3.6 Each of the test sites and developments has been assessed having regard to new build 
sale prices, where available, or by reference to general value levels obtained from our 
database of all property sales. We assessed the property values on both a unit-by-unit basis 
and with reference to wider sale price trends. In assessing the sales data we stripped out any 
sales between connected parties or obvious outliers and such in order to achieve a more 
reliable average.

3.7 We have also noted a number of ongoing and recently completed housing developments. 
From these we obtained current asking prices and from our database were able to note 
prices actually achieved, on sales around the valuation date. From this extensive list of 
comparables, we attributed values in each of the locations for use in the appraisals. A more 
local focus may be useful as Powys does sit outside the norms of the market. Whilst Powys's 
position as a generally rural county situated away from the main UK population and 
economic centres is a great attraction for many, it also has implications for the local housing 
market.  Therefore, we consider that house price growth may match the Wales average but 
in all likelihood average prices in more remote areas will remain very slightly behind the “All 
Wales” average.

3.8 In support of this exercise, we have considered values specific to the test sites identified. 
It is important to stress that a series of factors will influence values and that, although 
development schemes do have similarities, every site is unique to some degree. 
Consequently, whilst market conditions in general will broadly reflect national economic 
circumstances and local supply/demand factors, within an area there will be particular 
localities and site-specific factors that generate different values and costs. The range of sites 
tested in this study seeks to assess viability across varying localities for this reason.

3.9 As a result, typical prices for the market housing are reflected within the appraisals, as 
shown below;

Table 6

Unit type North Central Severn South West
2 bed terrace £120,000 £160,000 £120,000 £90,000
3 bed terrace £130,000 £175,000 £135,000 £110,000
2 bed semi detached £135,000 £165,000 £130,000 £105,000
3 bed semi detached £165,000 £180,000 £165,000 £135,000
3 bed detached £215,000 £230,000 £215,000 £150,000

Page 265



14

4 bed detached £250,000 £285,000 £280,000 £195,000

3.10 We consider the values adopted to be fair and reasonable and fully reflective of each of 
the local markets considered in the current climate, and bearing in mind the type and size of 
proposed 'average' unit. 

3.11 Where smaller schemes are to be built we have added a premium that we believe would 
be applicable due to perceived 'exclusivity' of a smaller scheme as opposed to a larger estate 
build, and also as we believe that smaller schemes tend to be more architecturally driven and 
desirable. For small schemes ( 7 units and less) we have therefore added a 10% premium to 
values, and on single dwellings 15%.

3.12 All the figures reflect conditions as at the valuation date.

4. ASSUMPTIONS FOR VIABILITY ANALYSIS

Introduction

4.1 This section considers the costs and other assumptions required to produce financial 
appraisals for the individual sites.

The financial appraisal model

Development appraisals are in essence relatively straightforward and can be illustrated by 
the following equation:

Completed Development Value

Less

Development Costs (Land Acquisition + Construction + Fees + Finance)

Equals

Residue for Developer’s Profit and Risk

Development Costs

Construction Costs

4.2 Based upon advice from our internal quantity surveyors and taking into account recently 
published Build Cost Information Service (BCIS) data, we have established a current base 
price per square metre construction costs for residential development in this area. The BCIS 
calculates build costs based upon actual tender and build price information.

4.3 The base figure adopted is £969 per square metre for new build houses and £1,128 psm 
for new build flats. For smaller sites of 3 and fewer units we have adopted a rate of £1,616 
psm for detached housing and £1,150 psm for semi-detached and terraced housing. These 
are the median costs provided within the BCIS report, as at 23 July 2016 and adjusted for the 
Powys location. 

4.4 By its nature this is a generalised figure as specific developers will have different 
priorities, but we consider it reasonable for the purposes of this exercise. We are not aware 
of any supporting scheme-specific out-turning build cost evidence provided by the 

Page 266



15

developers, which is essential in support of any such differing build cost opinions particularly 
since there is a clear (yet understandable) commercial interest for developers to overstate 
build cost.

4.5 Currently DVS are reviewing a number of Developer appraisals, provided in support of 
discussions on viability tests on individual sites, which support the figures adopted. In view of 
this evidence and the comments made above, we are comfortable that the figures we have 
used are fair and reasonable.

4.6 In our experience the costs of affordable housing are unlikely to differ significantly from 
those used for the market housing due to the stringent requirements of Lifetime Homes and 
Development Quality Requirements required by the Welsh Government and their partner 
RSLs.

4.7 In respect of achieving a Code for Sustainable Homes standard we now consider these 
to have been absorbed into the 5 year default adopted which is reflective of enhanced 
building regulation standards also. We have adopted an uplift for sprinkler systems as 
advised by the Welsh Assembly Government of £3,075 per house and £875 per flatted 
dwelling as it is a legal requirement. There may be a need for Drainage Systems (‘SuDS’) at 
sites but as in reality the precise schemes would be difficult to quantify in terms of cost we 
have made no extra allowance for these within our overall costs.

4.8 The quantum of development may also be considered and may explain why some sites 
deemed unviable may in fact come forward for development as market information suggests 
cost efficiencies (in the range of 5 – 12.5%) can be achieved on larger developments, but 
again this is site/developer specific so for a general report may be excluded.

Other normal development costs

4.9 In addition to the per sq m build costs described above, allowance needs to be made for 
a range of infrastructure costs – roads, drainage, and services within the site; parking, 
footpaths, landscaping and other external costs; as well as offsite costs for drainage and 
other services.

4.10 Many of these items will depend upon individual site circumstances and can only be 
estimated following a detailed assessment of each site.  This is not practical within the scope 
of this study and therefore, based upon the experience of our Quantity Surveyors, a general 
allowance in relation to the build costs has been made;

Table 7

Site External %
Single units 5
Under 10 units 10
Over 10 units 15

4.11 In addition a 2.5% uplift has been added for ‘contingencies’. 

Abnormal development costs

4.12 We are aware that exceptional or abnormal costs could arise on some sites. Typically, 
abnormal costs would constitute items such as unusual site levelling, additional foundation 
costs where ground conditions are poor, provision of roundabouts/traffic lights for site 
access, cost of remediation for contaminated sites, etc.

Page 267



16

4.13 We have not undertaken investigations regarding the availability and capacity of existing 
utility services, which was considered to be beyond the scope of this study. We have, 
therefore, assumed that such services are available and adequate for each of the sites.

4.14 We understand that some settlements in the County do currently have capacity issues 
regarding sewage but consider that this will affect each of them to a greater or lesser extent. 
Over the period of the plan it may be that other factors improve this situation or that one 
development in an area effectively ‘pays’ for upgrades which are then available for 
subsequent schemes in that locality. An allowance at this stage would be highly speculative, 
without much greater research and may not be appropriate for many sites which have no 
issues, or for those where the issues may be resolved in the future.

4.15 It may be that when discussions take place on actual sites, in the future, that provision 
of services will be an ‘abnormal’ cost (if such services are not readily available or require 
significant infrastructure contributions) and will need to be reflected in the viability of the 
particular site under consideration.

Land Values

4.16 The land values adopted reflect an opinion of the level required for the land to be 
released onto the market for residential development. This may well be lower than 
transactions in the recent past, but our appraisals are based on current market conditions, 
with the affordable housing requirements as expected at the time and assuming the land is 
acquired at the date of valuation. It must be borne in mind that the sites we are assessing 
here do not have current planning in place - so we are assessing an amount which would 
convince a landowner to release land for development from its current use. This is not the 
same as  a value for the transaction of a site which has planning agreed.

4.17 Evidence of land values at the present time is limited but anecdotal evidence of asking 
prices suggests that landowners’ price aspirations remain firm and whilst there is some 
greater flexibility our market research suggests that distressed landowner vendors are rare.

4.18 Establishing the level at which a landowner would ‘release’ development land is 
subjective but is a critical element in any assessment of viability. Factors that could be taken 
into account include individual circumstances (including tax liability), expectations about 
changes in Government policy with regard to s106 and affordable housing delivery and 
opinion on the present and future trend in land values.

4.19 The general view is that landowners accept the need to reflect public realm expenses, 
for example educational, public open space contributions, highway works etc., in the land 
value they receive, and there is a general level of value for development land. This varies 
depending on the circumstances of each site.

4.20 The appropriate value will be that at which the vendor will be minded to sell when 
comparing the Existing Use Value of the land (plus any premium required to incentivise the 
vendor to sell) against alternative uses. Such alternatives could be very low, e.g. amenity, 
agricultural land at say £7,500 per acre, or at a higher level for industrial land. We would 
comment that a very high alternative use value for major industrial development is unlikely in 
a County like Powys. 

4.21 As valuers, in our opinion, it is too simplistic to state that land value should be, say, 25-
30% of Gross Development Value (as we understand has been proposed in some 
consultation workshops for similar studies). The land values’ percentage of the overall GDV 

Page 268



17

is relative but this is more of a yardstick for the developer, as this percentage will change as 
other factors change (i.e. development cost, risk, house prices etc.).  It also ignores the fact 
that sites which are considered ‘unviable’ by developers may theoretically have a negative 
land value. 

4.22 Essentially, in arriving at Market Value both parties will first consider what the land is 
likely to be worth at its highest alternative use value (‘AUV’ - often, but not always, residential 
development) and also what its existing use value (‘EUV’) is.  In terms of alternative use 
value of the site if that value was higher and easily achievable (i.e. without time, money and 
risk associations) the prudent landowner would have already achieved this transition to the 
more valuable use it may also be suggested.  Therefore, most land value benchmarks will 
have first reference to a site’s existing use value.

4.23 The AUV informs both sides of the gain being made by the land owner, and the amount 
of this difference is their incentive to sell.  If the incentive is relatively small then the 
landowner may not be minded to sell or may demand the full AUV.  If the incentive is 
relatively large then the vendor may be keen to sell and the developer will try and take 
advantage of this by negotiating down the price. In these negotiations AUV and EUV are 
considered but not with any hard and fast rules and in every case each party will make their 
own assessment of what is an appropriate incentive to sell.  

4.24 It is the above valuation methodology that we applied to each site (assessment of EUV 
and AUV) through the use of comparable land sales evidence and development appraisal 
modelling. In our Viability Study testing we have assumed land values that offer significant 
financial incentives (above EUV) to land owners, albeit that they are below what may be 
aspirational figures held by landowners from when land sales did not reflect the same 
obligations in regards to affordable housing or S106 sums or such.

4.25 On this basis we have adopted a base Greenfield land value of £300,000 per 
hectare. For Brownfield sites we have adopted the same to reflect that we believe that 
any remediation costs that may require attention would be relatively minor as we are 
aware that Brownfield in Powys is unlikely to be truly Brownfield under most people's 
understanding and is more likely to be former storage or builders yard for example. 
Where abnormal costs are significant on any site we believe these would be assessed 
on a site specific basis through the development management process. In our opinion 
these figures are able to provide a “life changing sum” which would incentivise a landowner 
to sell and provides accurately for the reality in the market place if compared to an existing 
EUV of £ per hectare.

4.26 For single plot and small sites we believe that the threshold for development should be 
judged on a plot basis as adopting the £ per hectare sums will create odd viability results due 
to the small size of the sites. For example a site of 0.1 hectare would be suggested to be 
viable at £3,000 and we would suggest it would be unlikely that a sum as small as that would 
be sufficient incentive for the landowner to release it for development. Having reviewed 
recent sales evidence we would suggest that a viability threshold of £30,000 per plot is 
reasonable to adopt on small sites.

4.27 In some cases the landowner could also be the developer (for example, a farmer with 
surplus land) and, in that situation, could decide to ‘release’ the land at a nominal sum and 
take his profit through sale of completed dwellings or even keeping a unit for self or family 
occupation, thus improving potential viability. This is why some single sites may certainly 
come forward where in the general market they are perceived as unviable due to lower profit 
expectations and overheads of the owner/developer.

Page 269



18

4.28 Some development land agents may be keen to talk up the value of development land, 
and it is true to say that land sales can yield very large sums of money indeed.  That said, 
because this information is often anecdotal or second hand a degree of caution has to be 
attached to it. This can be for many reasons such as a price being clean of abnormal costs 
yet to be deducted, the sale value reflecting existing infrastructure (i.e. “oven ready”) or a 
significant difference between the net and gross development areas.

4.29 Where sites are either landlocked or would need the co-operation of a third party to 
create a suitable access we have not, generally, made any allowance for extra costs in these 
cases but have assumed that the main landholding would share some of its ‘value’ with the 
third party to create a developable site.

Fees

4.30 We have assumed professional fees (Architects, Quantity Surveyors, Planning 
Consultants, Engineers, etc) amounting to 8% of build costs. 

 
4.31 Professional fees can vary greatly from scheme to scheme, and from discussions and 
negotiations with developers (including at planning inquiry) we usually see fees below 12% 
and as low as 5% of build cost.  From our current evidence we feel that 8% is fair and 
reasonable.

Financial and other appraisal assumptions

4.32 It has been assumed throughout this study that VAT either does not arise or that its 
effects can be ignored.

Interest rate 

4.33 Our appraisals assume a finance rate of 6.5% for outgoings. We are aware, that this 
may be considered ‘low’ and that finance can be difficult to obtain at ‘any rate’. However, we 
concluded this rate on the basis of developer appraisals being presented to us around the 
valuation date and consider it to be reasonable in the context of the exercise being 
undertaken. Many small builders will finance projects from retained funds and will use an 
opportunity cost rate - which is another reason why some sites deemed inviable on the 
hypothetical model may also come forward for development in reality. 

4.34 We have allowed a 2% credit rate within the cashflow as is good practice. The credit 
interest rate for development finance may be argued to mirror the debit rate, as the 
development cash flow already allows for the drawing of developer profit and therefore any 
sales income should be used to offset borrowing costs on this or other development 
schemes i.e. the opportunity cost of scheme revenue matches the borrowing rate.  However 
on some smaller sites, a lower credit interest may be adopted to allow for any hypothetical 
local/regional developers who may only have one concurrent development and not be in a 
position to make their money work quite so hard for them. It is not a case that it is suggested 
that any profit on sales income is taken out of the scheme and placed in a savings account 
offering 2% interest for example.

Developers’ Profit 

4.35 We normally assume that a residential developer requires a return of 15-20% return on 
revenue (Gross Development Value) for ‘Market or Private Housing’.  For the purposes of 
this study we have adopted 17.5% for Greenfield sites and 20% for Brownfield sites to test 
the viability of each development. These are figures agreed on recent viability cases and in 

Page 270



19

the current market offer what we believe is an acceptable return to the developer of schemes 
of this type.

4.36 Historically, the profit benchmark for developers was around 15% (on Gross 
Development Value for residential developments and on Cost for commercial developments) 
but as the market improved we saw returns regularly falling below.  However, when the 
economy and property market fell (post 2007) we saw developer profit requirements shift up 
to 20% (and more where risk was greater i.e. flatted development).  Latterly, as stability 
returned to the market due to supply and demand mismatches, and developers have become 
more outwardly confident (if still more cautious in their decision making) a gradual easing of 
developer profit expectations has been observed.  The base allowance for developer return 
of 17.5%/20% against GDV is inclusive of developer internal overheads. 

4.37 We would also comment that there is a need to be clear about the basis upon which 
developer’s profit is quoted and measured. House builders tend to talk of profit gross of the 
cost of design fees, marketing, and finance. DVS make separate deductions in their 
appraisals for design fees, marketing and finance hence the lower profit figures adopted.

4.38 The appraisal model assumes that the Developer will construct the affordable housing 
for the RSL and charge an 6% ‘project management fee’ for doing so. This reflects the fact 
that this element of the development carries little risk as the units are effectively pre-sold. 

Phasing 

4.39 For the purposes of this study we have assumed the following development periods 
below, based upon our experience of similar schemes, having looked at actual completions 
within Powys and following discussions with our Building Surveyor colleagues. 

4.40 There are numerous factors that can affect the timeframes of an individual development 
programme, including:

a) Size of site;
b) Its location;
c) Prevailing market conditions at key stages of delivery and sales rates;
d) Complexities surrounding ownership(s); and
e) Complexities surrounding the resolution of any planning-related requirements. 

4.41 However, presently there is an observed trend towards sales rates acting as a more 
notable influence upon the delivery of new development. This is commonly seen with estate 
style residential schemes, whereby the rapidity to sell units is heavily contributing to decision 
to speed up or slow down the build phase. A combination of reduced access and / or 
flexibility to development finance for the developer, and relative capacity remaining within the 
construction industry may offer a reasonable explanation for this.

4.42 The expected timeframes adopted reflect the current state of the market and the 
anticipated take up of housing on new developments, which as supply is still lower than 
demand will be relatively quick but we have assumed is at 2 units per month . Again this is 
based upon our experience in specific development cases where essentially we understand 
that developers build in relation to the sales period. It would be inadvisable to build out 
quicker than units can be sold to avoid empty properties on site for a prolonged period of 
time. The development periods adopted within the cash flows should be based on a 
combination of market intelligence and the BCIS construction duration calculator.

Table 8

Page 271



20

Site Lead In Construction Sale
100 units 6 months 42 months 48 months
50 units 6 months 24 months 25 months
25 units 6 months 18 months 13 months
10 units 3 months 15 months 5 months
5-7 units 3 months 15 months 3 months
3 units 3 months 11 months 2 months

Single units new build 3 months 12 months 1 month

Site acquisition and disposal costs

Site holding costs and receipts

4.43 The development is assumed to proceed immediately and so other than interest on the 
site cost during construction, no allowance has been made for holding costs, or indeed any 
income arising from ownership of the site.

Acquisition Costs include current stamp duty rates and an allowance of 1.8% for site 
acquisition agents’ and legal fees.

Disposal costs

4.44 Sales/promotion and marketing fees are assumed to amount to 2.5% or 1.5% of market 
housing receipts depending on scheme size. In some larger schemes there may be 
increased marketing costs in show homes and media marketing to maintain sales rates, but 
this will be offset by reduced fees to agents.  An addition of 0.5% legal fees for the sale of 
market units is also included  Where units are to be transferred to an RSL a fee has been 
included dependent on the number of units for legal completions.

5. RESULTS AND ANALYSIS OF VIABILITY RESULTS

The results of the test appraisals for the main site typologies, based on the assumptions set 
out above, are demonstrated in the table below. In summary the table indicates whether the 
benchmark land value can be achieved based on an Affordable housing provisions as 
proposed in the local plan.

5.1 Taking into account the above, we would agree that the proposed affordable housing 
contribution targets in the Central (30%). Severn (20%) and North (10%) areas are supported 
allowing for headroom also for further S106 contributions and additional site costs etc. This 
recommendation is based on the results produced and is considered reasonable in the 
context of the plan period and the current, exceptional, uncertain state of the market. It also 
reflects the split of affordable housing tenure types outlined in the report. Testing was also 
carried out in Central at a 35% level of contribution. Whilst still viable we note that the 
adopted levels of contribution should reflect a comfortable margin of viability in order to 
reflect any future requirements, and that at a 35% level the margin was considered too small. 
We would further recommend that the LDP allows for sites to be considered on an individual 
scheme-by-scheme basis with a full viability appraisal, if necessary. 

Page 272



21

5.2  The different levels between sub markets is supportable and reflects the potential 
of higher value areas to make more substantial contributions to affordable housing 
and S106 sums. Of the tests undertaken in the three sub markets of North, Central and 
Severn all of the larger sites were viable at the above proposed levels of contribution. 
This represents the delivery of 84.4% of the expected allocated units. However we are 
confident that the viability issues with the smaller sites in these sub markets which 
appear to be unviable may be more reflective of the unit mix chosen for testing and 
the current proposed BCIS build cost of £1,616 psm for detached units impacting 
upon the testing rather than such sites in those areas being unviable as a whole. For 
example it may seem a natural reaction to choose to build larger units on a small 
'exclusive' site - but as they will have also larger build costs it does not necessarily 
mean that viability margin is automatically improved.

5.3 In terms of a threshold it would seem that a level of 5 units is suitable as the results show 
that under that level most sites become unviable in the North, Central and Severn areas 
even on a fully open market basis. Therefore the sites would become even less viable if 
Affordable housing or commuted sum requirements were expected.

5.4 We would also comment that on smaller and conversions sites viability should be 
considered in terms of the Existing Use Value of the site. In terms of 'garden' land the plot 
value would also need to be considered against how much value would be lost from the main 
dwelling by its reduction in land area. This is very difficult to capture in policy. For conversion 
schemes again the values and costs can vary hugely on a scheme to scheme basis. For 
example a Listed barn conversion may attract higher sales returns but also at an assumedly 
higher conversion costs. The costs on such schemes will be very much gauged on a case by 
case basis and against the scheme proposals - therefore making such schemes again 
difficult to generalise in policy in terms of any expected contribution. The viability threshold 
also must be considered against the Existing Use Value, which may be higher if it is already 
in commercial use for example rather than just as an agricultural building. Essentially for all 
such schemes we would suggest that they may need to be considered on a case by case 
basis and exempted from a policy requirement for an affordable housing contribution.  

5.5 The results are shown below. For each larger site the threshold is £300,000 per hectare 
and for smaller sites of 3 units or less £30,000 per plot. It should be borne in mind that the 
results are very sensitive to the assumptions made - unit mix guiding build costs and gross 
development values, and external costs against site size for example. This results in smaller 
sites seemingly having a larger amount of 'headroom' compared to larger sites - but they are 
based on differing assumptions and should not therefore be compared on a like for like basis 
per hectare.

5.6 Where smaller sites are tested for Affordable unit contributions we have adopted a 
realistic view as to what is feasible on the ground and have rounded up or down part units. 
Our assumptions are;

Table Key
 
Green fill = viable (over £300,000 per ha); Amber fill= marginal but likely to come forward (within a 
reasonable margin of the £300,000 benchmark); Red lettering = unviable (negative value); Grey fill = 
not tested; No fill = positive figure but too far below benchmark to be marginal or viable

Page 273



22

Table 9
North

OMV 10%

Greenfield Site 
size

Site £ per ha

Small 
site 
per 
plot Site £ per ha

Large 100 3.7   
1,783,759 

     
482,097  

  
1,144,981 

          
309,454 

Larger 50 1.92      
984,921 

     
512,980  

     
781,574 

          
407,070 

Med 25 0.96      
496,685 

     
517,380  

     
395,286 

          
411,756 

10 edge 0.4      
331,666 

     
829,165  

     
281,537 

          
703,843 

10 infill 0.33      
331,666 

  
1,005,048  

     
281,537 

          
853,142 

7 infill 0.3      
343,006 

  
1,143,353  

     
269,608 

          
898,693 

7 edge 0.35      
375,966 

  
1,074,189  

     
302,643 

          
864,694 

5 infill 0.17      
256,482 

  
1,508,718  

     
182,244 

       
1,072,024 

5 edge 0.25      
256,482 

  
1,025,928  

     
182,244 

          
728,976 

3 infill 0.12        
28,735  

      
9,578   

3 edge 0.18 -     
48,929  

-   
16,310   

Single infill 0.07          
2,774  

      
2,774   

Single 
edge 0.1          

2,774  
      

2,774   
       
Brownfield       

Large 50 1.43      
806,237 

     
563,802  

     
574,963 

          
402,072 

Medium 25 0.71      
279,308 

     
393,392  

     
307,641 

          
433,297 

Small 10 0.31      
283,955 

     
915,984  

     
237,363 

          
765,687 

7 infill 0.2      
293,074 

  
1,465,370  

     
223,575 

       
1,117,875 

5 infill 0.15      
232,968 

  
1,553,120  

     
170,009 

       
1,133,393 

3 infill 0.1        
15,007  

      
5,002   

Single infill 0.05 -       
3,922  

-     
3,922   

Page 274



23

Table 10

Central
OMV 30% 35%

Greenfield Site 
Size

Site £ per ha

Small 
site 
per 
plot Site £ per ha Site £ per ha

Large 100 3.7   
3,590,637 

     
970,442  

  
1,369,177 

          
370,048 

  
1,267,294 

     
342,512 

Larger 50 1.92   
1,933,382 

  
1,006,970  

     
903,158 

          
470,395 

     
720,976 

     
375,508 

Med 25 0.96      
979,744 

  
1,020,567  

     
488,705 

          
509,068 

     
343,608 

     
357,925 

10 edge 0.4      
503,796 

  
1,259,490  

     
285,467 

          
713,668 

     
285,467 

     
713,668 

10 infill 0.33      
503,796 

  
1,526,655  

     
285,467 

          
865,052 

     
285,467 

     
865,052 

7 infill 0.3      
469,372 

  
1,564,573  

     
300,101 

       
1,000,337 

     
300,101 

  
1,000,337 

7 edge 0.35      
456,381 

  
1,303,946  

     
287,110 

          
820,314 

     
287,110 

     
820,314 

5 infill 0.17      
313,922 

  
1,846,600  

     
143,885 

          
846,382 

     
143,885 

     
846,382 

5 edge 0.25      
313,922 

  
1,255,688  

     
143,885 

          
575,540 

     
143,885 

     
575,540 

3 infill 0.12        
65,358  

    
21,786     

3 edge 0.18        
38,043  

    
12,681     

Single infill 0.07        
32,453  

    
32,453     

Single 
edge 0.1        

32,453  
    

32,453     
         
Brownfield         

Large 50 1.43   
1,726,667 

  
1,207,459  

     
831,323 

          
581,345 

     
665,276 

     
465,228 

Medium 25 0.71      
871,188 

  
1,227,025  

     
623,537 

          
878,221 

     
269,017 

     
378,897 

Small 10 0.31      
450,724 

  
1,453,948  

     
260,810 

          
841,323 

     
245,046 

     
790,471 

7 infill 0.2      
371,008 

  
1,855,040  

     
210,242 

       
1,051,210 

     
210,242 

  
1,051,210 

5 infill 0.15      
289,114 

  
1,927,427  

     
209,042 

       
1,393,613 

     
209,042 

  
1,393,613 

3 infill 0.1        
50,496  

    
16,832     

Page 275



24

Single infill 0.05        
24,898  

    
24,898     

Table 11
Severn

OMV 20%

Greenfield Site 
size

Site £ per ha

Small 
site 
per 
plot Site £ per ha

Large 100 3.7   
2,249,857 

     
608,069  

  
1,104,991 

          
298,646 

Larger 50 1.92   
1,229,580 

     
640,406  

     
680,444 

          
354,398 

Med 25 0.96      
622,553 

     
648,493  

     
377,393 

          
393,118 

10 edge 0.4      
434,944 

  
1,087,360  

     
326,357 

          
815,893 

10 infill 0.33      
434,944 

  
1,318,012  

     
326,357 

          
988,961 

7 infill 0.3      
411,933 

  
1,373,110  

     
338,535 

       
1,128,450 

7 edge 0.35      
433,406 

  
1,238,303  

     
360,008 

       
1,028,594 

5 infill 0.17      
256,482 

  
1,508,718  

     
182,297 

       
1,072,335 

5 edge 0.25      
256,482 

  
1,025,928  

     
182,297 

          
729,188 

3 infill 0.12        
28,735  

      
9,578   

3 edge 0.18        
25,836  

      
8,612   

Single infill 0.07        
28,213  

    
28,213   

Single 
edge 0.1        

28,213  
    

28,213   
       
Brownfield       

Large 50 1.43   
1,043,662 

     
729,834  

     
443,143 

          
309,890 

Medium 25 0.71      
524,845 

     
739,218  

     
291,129 

          
410,041 

Small 10 0.31      
384,016 

  
1,238,761  

     
284,689 

          
918,352 

7 infill 0.2      
376,493 

  
1,882,465  

     
339,808 

       
1,699,040 

5 infill 0.15      
232,968 

  
1,553,120  

     
162,607 

       
1,084,047 

3 infill 0.1        
15,007  

      
5,002   

Page 276



25

Single infill 0.05        
20,839  

    
20,839   

Table 12

South West
OMV 5%

Greenfield Site 
Size

Site £ per ha

Small 
site 
per 
plot Site £ per ha

Large 100 3.7 -   
802,138 

-   
216,794  

Larger 50 1.92 -   
409,357 

-   
213,207  

Med 25 0.96 -   
212,307 

-   
221,153  

10 edge 0.4 -     
46,587 

-   
116,468  

10 infill 0.33 -     
46,587 

-   
141,173   Not tested 

7 infill 0.3      
120,548 

     
401,827    

7 edge 0.35        
74,780 

     
213,657    

5 infill 0.17        
53,879 

     
316,935    

5 edge 0.25        
53,879 

     
215,516    

3 infill 0.12 -     
75,586  

-   
25,195   

3 edge 0.18 -   
188,577  

-   
62,859   

Single infill 0.07 -     
45,461  

-   
45,461   

Single 
edge 0.1 -     

45,461  
-   

45,461   
       
Brownfield       

Large 50 1.43 -   
566,099 

-   
395,873  

Medium 25 0.71 -   
292,971 

-   
412,635  

Small 10 0.31 -     
86,022 

-   
277,490   Not tested 

7 infill 0.2        
92,662 

     
463,310    

5 infill 0.15        
36,032 

     
240,213    

3 infill 0.1 -      -     

Page 277



26

86,599 28,866 

Single infill 0.05 -     
50,806  

-   
16,935   

 5.7 We were asked to assess the Economic Viability of providing Affordable Housing. We 
were also asked to look at why in areas and typologies deemed unviable that schemes are 
still coming forward. We would suggest firstly that viability can be affected by a whole range 
of issues including the overall economic climate/housing/commercial market but on more site 
specific basis factors include:

1) Assumptions on development including density and housing type and mix.
2) Percentage of affordable housing
3) Amount of Section 106 contributions
4) Local Authority planning policy
5) Final detail/conditions of planning consent
6) Site Abnormals
7) Infrastructure Requirements 
8) Final development costs and profit etc.

5.8 Looking at the proposed sub market spread we would note that all of the larger 
sites noted in Central, Severn and North sub markets are viable in our testing - which 
provides 84.4% or 2,521 of the proposed 2,987 allocated units.

5.9 A particular issue however appears to be with viability in the South West area based on 
the hypothetical study, but we do know that sites do come forward here for development. 

5.10 Within any sub market there always will be pockets of higher viability which are difficult 
to capture in an area wide study - for example where a high quality style development is 
undertaken in an edge of settlement area with good access to major transport links and 
excellent views. Sites in locations such as this may well become viable in the South West 
and come forward for development.

5.11 We would suggest that there a number of other factors why any site deemed unviable in 
an area wide study may also in fact come forward in reality as has been demonstrated in 
Powys;

 Values - Current market commentaries are mixed and it is impossible to predict if 
higher house price sale levels will occur, which will make some unviable sites ‘viable’.  
It is clearly appropriate however to take account of likely house price growth across 
the plan period to 2026, given established historic house price growth trends. An 
increase in house prices will bring some sites in the South West into viability we 
believe.

 Phasing - it is highly likely that some schemes will be built out and sold more quickly 
than our average assumptions, and on that basis viability will improve as finance will 
be calculated over a shorter time period, and therefore cost less. This may be seen 
on an RSL led scheme where the same pressure to build against sales rates is less 
prevalent as effectively all of the units are pre-sold. However we believe that based 
on the evidence that we have seen that the adopted phasing reflects Powys generally 
speaking.

Page 278



27

 Build costs - we have used a median BCIS rate which may well be bettered in 
specific agreed build contracts or where smaller builders with lower overheads etc are 
employed to undertake the construction. We would comment though that it is 
impossible to predict how build costs will change over the next few years or even 
months following on from the recent EU referendum result as labour costs are part of 
the adopted build cost rates - they may increase or decrease. The build rate adopted 
for smaller schemes for example in our appraisals of £1,616 psm may feel too high 
for some schemes in Powys when compared to the product to be delivered having a 
relatively low value. We would suggest therefore that lower construction deals will be 
made and units will come forward.

 Profit - In some cases the landowner could also be the developer (for example, a 
farmer with surplus land) and, in that situation, could decide to ‘release’ the land at a 
nominal sum and take his profit through sale of completed dwellings or even keeping 
a unit for self or family occupation, thus improving potential viability. This is why some 
single sites may certainly come forward where in the general market they are 
perceived as unviable due to lower profit expectations and overheads of the 
owner/developer. It should also be noted that RSLs are likely to have a lower profit 
margin than the level quoted for private sector house builders.  As a result of this, it is 
evident that some of the sites would actually be viable for development solely by 
RSLs, sometimes without Social Housing Grant, as RSLs can have internal funds that 
allow them to bridge gaps in viability.

 Finance - Many small and self-builders will finance projects from retained funds and 
will use an opportunity cost rate - which is another reason why some sites deemed 
unviable on the hypothetical model may also come forward for development in reality. 
A self-builder also will benefit from their own occupation and so will look for no profit 
at all which will impact hugely upon perceived viability.

 Mix - a mix of higher value units may improve viability on a scheme but this will be 
weighed against increased build cost for larger units. We have only tested 
hypothetical mixes which may be different than that proposed in reality. A different 
mix of affordable tenures will also improve viability - for example less social rented 
units being required.

 Grant funding - any provision of grant funding will obviously impact upon viability in a 
positive way. Also the release of sites for RSL affordable only schemes is a possibility 
to provide more units.

5.12 Ultimately, flexibility between the three main delivery stakeholders (Landowners, 
Developers and the Public Sector (DVS would include RSLs here, although in cases they 
could move between all three hats) is the key.  Historically, flexibility has been expected only 
from the Public sector and, whilst it is right to expect a flexible approach, the other 
stakeholders also need to recognise that they need to be flexible (whether it be on land 
values, margins etc.). Stakeholders appear to be engaging with this debate, and hopefully 
this will lead to better delivery of homes (private and affordable).

Commuted Sums

5.13 As a general principle seeking onsite provision of affordable housing should always be 
the first priority to encourage mixed communities. However it has been suggested that a 
developers’ stance may be against any form of affordable housing being permitted within a 
‘market’ scheme, and there are other practical reasons why an offsite contribution may be 
preferred as against onsite. Also where smaller schemes are viable but policy levels of 

Page 279



28

contribution would mean the delivery of only a 'part' of a unit which is not practicable to 
provide in reality then an offsite contribution may be suitable. Clearly, the Planning Authority 
have the ability to effectively ensure that mixed tenure developments occur in the future 
through their use of conditions in S106 documentation etc. It would, however, be relatively 
straightforward to provide a supplementary note on the appropriate sums to be requested for 
the provision of commuted sums should that prove necessary. 

5.14 It may be suggested that the level of sum should essentially be the equivalent to the 
developer contribution if the affordable housing had been provided on site, and it is a 
calculation of the difference between the value of a 100% market housing scheme and the 
residual value of the scheme with the relevant percentage of affordable housing. The 
calculation of a commuted sum can be worked out by a set formula which gives clarity to 
developers. It must be assumed however that some expected contributions will be subject to 
further negotiations where viability arguments about the provision are raised.

5.15 Many formulas have been considered for such commuted sum calculations, and many 
are very complex and may be said to offer little clarity to prospective developers. We 
recommend that a formula that removes the need for lengthy negotiations and independent 
assessments of Existing Use Values or residual values for example would save time and 
money for the authority and any developer. For transparency the use of the Acceptable Cost 
Guidance rates are recommended as they are widely available and kept up to date.

5.16 We would suggest that formulas that may be considered for adoption are;

For Social Rented Properties:
Commuted Sum = (ACG £ per unit) x (% ACG) x N

For Intermediate Properties for sale or rent:
Commuted Sum = (OMV £ per unit) x (% OMV) x N

(ACG = Acceptable Cost Guidance per dwelling; % ACG = Rate of Social Housing Grant 
payable to RSL's. In the absence of SHG this is to be provided by the developer (currently 
58%); N = Number of units required according to Affordable Housing Target; OMV = Open 
market value per dwelling relating to the dwelling type that would otherwise have been 
expected on site; % OMV = Discounted Open Market Value rate for Low Cost Home 
Ownership or Intermediate Rented properties, set at a level considered affordable by the 
Council in the locality).

5.17 In addition to considering site viability on a case-by-case basis, there may need to be a 
discussion of the role of more wide-ranging commuted sum payments. In addition to the 
provision of financial payments (based on Welsh Government Acceptable Cost Guidance) or 
plots of land, developers could also be asked to provide actual built units on other sites they 
own. Furthermore, given that many sites are only providing one or a handful of units, where 
viability is limited they could provide a pro-rata financial contribution. For example, if a single 
plot site can only afford to provide 50% of the ‘normal’ affordable contribution then the home 
could be granted as an open market tenure home but a financial contribution equivalent to 
50% of the normal commuted sum could be secured and passed to RSLs to assist with 
securing affordable homes elsewhere within the County.

5.18 If rigorously enforced, any affordable housing policy could restrict the number of sites 
coming forward for development. However, it could also help reduce land price expectations 
amongst landowners although if no flexibility is adopted (on a case-by-case basis) for those 
sites experiencing genuine, and evidenced, viability issues then this could lead to an overall 
reduction in affordable and open market housing delivery. 

Page 280



29

Delivery of Stated Affordable Housing Target and Monitoring

5.19 It is very difficult to speculate whether any ‘provisional’ Preferred Strategy affordable 
housing target of new affordable units can be met by the plan end date. This will be 
dependent on many factors including policy requirements, wider economic conditions etc. 

5.20 What we can say however is that a housing policy with clear targets and requirements 
but reflecting a flexible approach to each site will help. There is no reason why developers 
(whether self-build, RSLs or private developers) should not be able to provide reasoned and 
evidenced cases for potential sites that are struggling to meet the required affordable 
provision and the Authority should engender a culture where these parties are encouraged to 
come forward and state their case.  

5.21 There can be no guarantee that these cases will be accepted but the important point is 
that a dialogue is established and hopefully this would lead to greater delivery. A basic site 
viability test template could be created and made available for interested parties to review 
and use when submitting cases for flexibility within affordable housing policy.

5.22 The final point to make is one that has been reiterated through this study and viability 
testing, and that is the overriding importance of flexibility.  A strong policy framework is 
essential but this should include clear and transparent flexibility in the assessment of each 
site for affordable housing provision. A clear, fair and flexible policy framework will engender 
goodwill and will hopefully be reciprocated in flexibility in landowners’ price expectations and 
developers’ expected margins. Where developers genuinely cannot provide the stated target 
on a particular site many local authorities now require the developer to pay for an 
independent analysis of the site to confirm their interpretation for the council. This in our view 
would be a reasonable and flexible policy to introduce.

5.23 We would comment also that the viability position should be monitored and kept under 
review. The main areas to be kept under review would be values and costs as these fluctuate 
constantly and will directly impact upon the residual land values. 

5.24 The context to any increase in viability however is that a 10% ‘sale price’ increase does 
not mean a 10% increase in house prices for example, it means a 10% increase in house 
prices relative to all the other variables affecting development cost. In simple terms this could 
mean a 10% increase in house prices whilst all other variables (i.e. costs) remain static. It 
may well also be recognised that conversely even if house prices rise, a similar rate of 
increase in build costs would to all intents and purposes cancel out any improvement in 
viability.

5.25 It may be recommended that a simple monitoring of House Price Index movements 
across Powys on a year to year basis is measured against BCIS rates, and that if a 
divergence of 5 % either way against a sample 100 unit scheme residual value in 
comparison to current levels is detected that this triggers a fuller review. Where the rate 
changes cancel one another out then a full review may not be required.

Page 281



30

Page 282



1

EXECUTIVE SUMMARY

1. INTRODUCTION

2. EXPLANATION OF CHANGES TO THE VIABILITY EVIDENCE BASE

3. SUMMARISING THE UPDATED AND REVIEWED VIABILITY RESULTS 

4. VIABILITY IN THE SOUTH WEST SUB-MARKET AREA

5. VIABILITY OF SMALL SITES

6. IMPLICATIONS FOR THE VIABILITY AND DELIVERY OF THE PLAN

7. MONITORING AND REVIEW 

8. CONCLUSION

9. APPENDICES

Appendix 1 Table of changes to key viability assumptions between the 2014 and 2016 
Viability Assessment and reasoning.

Appendix 2 Table of review of the cost implications of the proposed LDP policy 
requirements (TO FOLLOW as changes to policies being checked against final version of the 
FC document)

Appendix 3 Viability thresholds applied in other LDP Viability Assessments.

Appendix 4 Table of JHLAS sites in South West - TO FOLLOW.

Appendix 5 Table of small site completions in South West – TO FOLLOW

Appendix 6 A list of current planning applications in the South West – TO FOLLOW

Figure – map of amended sub-market areas – TO FOLLOW.

Page 283



2

EXECUTIVE SUMMARY

Page 284



3

1. INTRODUCTION

1.1 The aim of this topic paper is to summarise, interpret and consider the main findings of 
the updated and reviewed viability assessment carried out in response to concerns raised by 
the Inspector regarding the findings of the Local Development Plan and Community 
Infrastructure Levy Viability Assessment (2014) and the potential implications of these 
findings for housing delivery within the Plan.  

Background

1.2 The original Local Development Plan and Community Infrastructure Levy Viability 
Assessment (2014) (examination document reference EB13) was submitted as part of the 
evidence base to support the submitted Powys Local Development Plan - Focussed Changes 
to the 2nd Deposit Draft Local Development Plan (LDP) (LDP18).   The results of the original 
Viability Assessment (2014) found housing development within two of the four sub-market 
areas to be unviable.  The modelled sites in the sub-market areas of Central Powys and 
Severn Valley sub-market areas were found to be generally viable, however most of the 
modelled sites in the sub-market areas of the Rural North and South West were found to be 
unviable according to the viability threshold adopted by HDH.  Many of the modelled small 
sites and all of the modelled brownfield sites were also found to be unviable according to 
the viability threshold adopted by HDH across all sub-market areas.

1.3 Following submission of the Powys Local Development Plan for examination in February 
2016, and subsequent letter from the LDP Inspector dated 5th of April 2016, the decision 
was made to update the residential element of the Viability Assessment (2014).  This was 
intended to reflect changes in construction costs and house prices in Powys since the 
original study (which was based on data from March 2014), but more importantly to address 
the questions raised by the Inspector about the deliverability of the quantum of housing 
development envisaged in the LDP.    

1.4 Further discussion took place at the subsequent Exploratory Meeting held by the 
Inspector on the 10th of May 2016, where the Council explained that the draft updated 
viability evidence provided by HDH suggested that some sites were less viable and some 
were marginally viable, however the Council also explained that it was witnessing 
development on the ground in these less viable areas.

1.5 The Council commissioned an update to the HDH Viability Assessment.  The Council 
arranged for the District Valuer Service (DVS) to review the updated Viability Assessment 
carried out by HDH.  This involved further testing including the review of the values and 
costs used by HDH and also of other key viability assumptions.  This review has led to the 
production of a further Viability Assessment with a different set of viability results.  The 
reviewed Viability Assessment carried out by the DVS (August 2016) is considered to 
improve the robustness of the evidence-base for the Plan and the Council has decided to 

Page 285



4

take the results and conclusions of the DVS review forward to inform the Authority’s case in 
relation to the viability of the Plan.   

Content of the paper

1.6 This paper, firstly, highlights the difference in the assumptions between the HDH 
Viability Assessment in 2014 and the DVS review in 2016, before summarising and analysing 
the updated results provided in the DVS review.  It then goes on to consider the general 
conclusions in terms of viability, with further detailed analysis and evidence provided in 
relation to the challenging areas of viability identified.

1.7 The paper concludes by considering the implications of this updated evidence for the 
viability of housing delivery and allocations proposed by the Plan and the overall strategy.  
The evidence indicates that most of the housing land supply identified by the Local 
Development Plan, including allocations, commitments and windfall development, can be 
brought forward during the Plan period, and is not constrained for viability reasons.

1.8 Further site specific evidence in relation to the deliverability of housing allocations and 
commitments identified by the Inspector is provided within separate papers (reference).

1.9 The implications of the viability assessment for affordable housing provision and policies 
within the Plan are also discussed in a separate paper (reference). 

2. EXPLANATION OF CHANGES TO THE VIABILITY EVIDENCE BASE

Housing sub-market areas

2.1 The HDH Viability Assessment (2014) identified four county price zones (otherwise 
known as sub-market areas) within Powys – ‘Central Powys’, ‘Severn Valley’, ‘Rural North’ 
and ‘Southwest Powys’.  Varying residential market values based on house price values per 
square metre were applied to the appraisals of sites within these areas.  These areas were 
illustrated on a map in figure 4.6 of the Viability Assessment (2014).  

2.2 It is important to note that a slight amendment has been made to these areas in the 
updated viability work.  The area to the north of the Brecon Beacons National Park which 
was previously included within the Southwest Powys sub-market area, has now been 
included in the Central sub-market area.  It should be noted that no allocations are 
proposed by the Plan within the area affected by this change, which includes parts of the 
communities of Trallong, Maescar and Llywel that lie outside the Brecon Beacons National 
Park.  The South West sub-market area now only includes the communities of Ystradgynlais 
and Tawe-Uchaf to the south of the Brecon Beacons National Park.

2.3 The Housing sub-market areas, as amended, are as illustrated on the map (figure ):

Page 286



5

(Map to be included in viability and affordable housing topic papers and within the LDP.)

2.4 It is also noted that some of the names by which the sub-market areas are referred have 
been amended between the 2014 and 2016 Viability Assessments.  The name for ‘Severn 
Valley’ remains the same, ‘Central Powys’ becomes ‘Central’, the ‘Rural North’ is now 
named ‘North’, and ‘Southwest Powys’ is now referred to as ‘South West’.  For clarity, 
therefore, the names of the sub-market areas going forward are ‘Central’, ‘Severn Valley, 
‘North’ and ‘South West’.

Review of typologies

2.5 As part of the update, the site typologies tested in the original study were reviewed in 
order to ensure that they continued to be reflective of the development planned, 
particularly as the allocations that had been subject to changes, with new sites added, sites 
removed and sites amended, since the first version of the Deposit Plan in 2014 at the time 
that the original study was conducted.

2.6 The main change involved in the testing of larger sites is the testing of a large 50 unit site 
as oppose to a 70 unit site.  Small greenfield sites of 10 units and also small sites of less than 
10 units have been modelled as both edge of settlement sites and infill sites in order to 
reflect the varied location of smaller sites in Powys.  7 unit schemes have also been tested.

2.7 The majority of the typologies tested are reflective of greenfield sites expected to come 
forward in the Plan.  Greenfield sites account for 95% of the proposed allocated units.  A 
limited range of brownfield site typologies have been tested reflecting the scale of allocated 
brownfield sites and to account for small brownfield sites likely to come forward as windfall.  
Larger 100 unit schemes are only tested as greenfield sites to reflect the absence of 
brownfield allocations or anticipated schemes of this size.  Brownfield sites of 50 units are 
tested, whereas they were only previously tested up to sites of 25 units.  Small brownfield 
sites have been tested as infill to reflect the location where these types of sites are generally 
found.  

2.8 In terms of the existing use values of land assumed, greenfield sites are tested as having 
an existing agricultural land value.  DVS has treated the alternative use value for brownfield 
sites as similar to greenfield given that high value uses are unlikely to exist, as explained 
within Appendix 1.  Existing uses including paddock, garden and garage values had 
previously been accounted for, however these were not considered to be appropriate to 
land use in Powys.

2.9 The assumed open market and affordable housing mixes applied to the site typologies 
have been reviewed against past evidence of mix of house types being delivered on the 
ground, also taking into account the needs identified in the Local Housing Market 
Assessment.

Page 287



6

2.10 The assumed densities applied to the site typologies have also been reviewed to reflect 
evidence of densities being achieved on the ground on recent developments.  The density 
guidelines set out in policy H3 and the capacity of allocations in terms of the number of 
units indicated in Appendix 1 have been amended accordingly.

2.11 The HDH study (2014) assumed a certain amount of on-site open space would be 
provided on larger sites and this was taken into account in the amount of developable area.  
The DVS has not accounted for open space provision as the policy requirement for this 
would be based on site specific circumstances.

Review of viability assumptions

2.12 In updating the Viability Assessment to take into account changes in the house prices 
values and costs since the original study in March 2014, this also provided an opportunity to 
review the viability assumptions used in the HDH Viability Assessment (2014) to test their 
accuracy and relevance to the particular characteristics, location and scale of development 
in Powys.  

2.13 The review of viability assumptions by the DVS has led to the use of different 
assumptions, which are a result of changes in values, use of different sources, and also 
changes in the approach used to identify these values.  The local experience of the DVS in 
site specific viability assessments in Powys and Wales has informed this review.  Changes to 
the key viability assumptions along with are summarised in Appendix 1, which also provides 
commentary on the reasons for the changes.

2.14 The potential implications of any proposed policy requirements have also been 
reviewed Appendix 2 in line with the latest version of the Plan (second set of Focussed 
Changes – document reference).  This review found that many of the cost implications of 
the individual policy requirements of the Plan would be site specific and their relevance to 
particular developments would largely depend on the location, scale and impact of the 
development.  It is noted that HDH accounted for additional costs associated with 
Sustainable Urban Drainage Systems (policy DM5) of 5% on brownfield sites and also 
accounted for abnormal costs along with higher professional fees and contingency (policy 
DM9).  These additional costs have not been accounted for within the reviewed DVS study 
(2016) as they are also considered to be site specific.

2.15 Consideration has been given to the likely impact of the changes made to the 
assumptions on the viability of development.

2.16 In terms of any changes made to reflect the timing of the studies, whilst it is difficult to 
compare the house price values used in both studies, due to the different methods used, 
the values used by DVS are based on current market evidence as of July 2016 and therefore 
they will reflect any increases in house prices values that have occurred since March 2014.  

Page 288



7

It is understood that house prices in Powys have generally increased over the period 
between the original study (March 2014) and the DVS study (August 2016).  According to 
the HPI index for Powys (June 2016), average house prices in Powys have increased by 4.9% 
since June 2015, and it is noted that Powys has experienced the same increase as has been 
experienced at the Wales level.

2.17 It would appear that higher house price values have been assumed by DVS in the sub-
market area of the North than those applied by HDH when viewed in relation to the house 
price values applied in other sub-market areas, the values being closer to those found in the 
Severn Valley.  This should improve viability in the North.

2.18 This increase in house price values, viewed on its own, will improve viability.  However, 
it is also understood that build costs have increased over this period.  For example, it is 
noted that the build cost of a 100 unit scheme applied by DVS is £65 per square metre 
higher than the cost applied by HDH, however the main difference in costs relates to smaller 
sites due to the application of the specific BCIS costs relating to sites of 3 or less.  This 
means that the cost of a single unit, for instance, is increased by £400 per square metre.  
Costs for meeting sprinkler requirements have also been increased by approximately £500 
per dwelling to match official estimates.

2.19 Increased build costs, on their own, will have a negative impact on viability, however 
this potential impact is mitigated to some extent by the reduced allowance for external 
costs applied by DVS to large 100 unit schemes and also to single plots.  The DVS approach 
towards costs on brownfield sites, by not applying abnormals and contingencies for 
instance, as such are dependent on site specific issues, is likely to improve viability for 
brownfield sites.

2.20 The changes to the allowances made for other section 106 contributions (not related to 
affordable housing) by reducing the allowance for smaller sites and removing an allowance 
for sites of less than 10, whilst maintaining the allowance for larger 100 unit schemes at 
£2,000 per dwelling, is likely to improve viability of smaller sites.

2.21 The changes discussed above will directly impact on viability in terms of the residual 
values generated for development schemes.  In order to test the viability of development, 
the residual values have been compared with the viability threshold (otherwise referred to 
as benchmark land value) which seeks to reflect the price level at which a landowner is likely 
to sell the land for development.  In order for development to be deemed viable (according 
to high level testing), the residual value must exceed the viability threshold.

2.22 As is noted within the commentary Appendix 1 , the approach taken towards 
establishing the viability threshold is broadly similar in both studies.  The current agricultural 
land value adopted by DVS is lower than that previously adopted but is based upon market 
evidence.  The higher viability threshold applied by DVS, which affects large and small sites, 

Page 289



8

greenfield and brownfield sites alike, means that higher residual values will be required in 
order for development to be considered viable.  However, the viability threshold applied is 
considered to be more realistic and comparable to other relevant studies carried out as 
noted in Appendix 1.  

2.23 In conclusion, therefore, some of the changes made to the assumptions, including 
increases in house prices values and reduction of external costs, have the potential to have 
a positive impact on viability, however the increase identified in build costs identified is 
likely to counter improvement to some extent.  Overall, therefore, and particularly due to 
changes over time, it is likely that the outcome of these changed assumptions for viability 
will be slightly more positive than those of the previous study.

3. SUMMARISING THE UPDATED AND REVIEWED VIABILITY RESULTS

3.1 This section summarises and analyses the results of the updated and reviewed Viability 
Assessment carried out by the DVS.  

3.2 To clarify, the Council is basing the following comparison on the results presented in 
tables 9-12 of the DVS study and the results in table 10.5 of the HDH study (2014).

3.3 The focus is also on the results provided at 0% affordable housing i.e. for open market 
housing schemes, as this confirms whether development is viable or not.  The viability 
testing of affordable housing contributions is discussed in a separate paper.

3.4. In terms of presentation of the results, the previous study presented the results on a £ 
per ha basis, whereas the DVS results are shown on a £ per hectare and a £ per site basis in 
the DVS work.  Whilst the previous presentation of the results was useful in terms of 
drawing comparisons between different typologies, by presenting results on a £ per site 
basis, this reflects the residual value according to the site area of the particular site 
typology.  For this reason, the results discussed in this paper are those presented on a £ per 
site basis.

3.5. It is difficult to directly compare the results gained by the DVS in 2016 and HDH in 2014 
as not only are the results based on different data sources obtained at different times, but 
they also apply different assumptions, and development appraisals have been produced 
using different models – the DVS has used the ‘Argus’ model, whereas HDH used a bespoke 
model developed by HDH.  However, the following comparisons can be made in terms of 
general outcomes for viability:

 The results continue to show that there is considerable variation in viability across 
the County, with the Central sub-market area appearing to be the most viable area, 
and South West the least viable area.

Page 290



9

 The results in Central Powys and Severn Valley for greenfield site typologies relating 
to allocations are similar to the previous results, in that all were found to be viable.

 The results for North show improved viability as all greenfield site typologies relating 
to allocations are found to be viable, whereas larger 100 unit and large 70 unit sites 
were found to be only marginally viable in the 2014 study.

 The results for the South West continue to indicate that development relating to 
allocations is generally unviable.  All site typologies in this area continue to have 
negative residual values, with the exception of sites of greenfield and brownfield 5 
and 7 unit (infill and edge) that now have positive residual values, and both 
greenfield and brownfield 5 and 7 unit infill sites (but not edge) exceed the viability 
threshold and therefore are viable.  

 The results for small sites of less than 10 units (that are not related to allocations) 
are similar for both studies in respect of the size of unit schemes (typologies have 
changed as noted above).  Both studies found that schemes of 3 units or less in the 
Central, Severn Valley and North sub-market areas were unviable.

 The results for brownfield sites show that across the Central, Severn Valley and 
North sub-market area, these sites are generally found to be viable, whereas they 
were previously found to be unviable.  Brownfield continues to be unviable in the 
South West and also on small sites of 3 units or less, as per the results for greenfield 
sites in this area and of this size.

 Marginal viability results are only found in single unit typologies in certain areas, 
whereas they were also previously found in larger and large sites in the North and 
smaller 10 unit schemes in Severn Valley.

3.6 In view of the general outcomes of the reviewed Viability Assessment (2016) for 
viability, set out above, it can be concluded that development on sites of 5 or more units 
within the Central, Severn Valley, and North sub-market areas is viable.  Sites of this size are 
reflective of the scale of allocations and anticipated large windfall sites.  However, small 
sites of 3 units or less, which represent the scale of small site windfall sites that are 
expected to come forward, are found to be unviable.

3.7 The DVS Viability Assessment (2016) also concludes that brownfield development, which 
was previously found to be largely unviable, is potentially viable.  This apparent 
improvement in the viability of brownfield development appears to be as a result of the 
changes to the assumptions applied by the DVS to brownfield sites, as explained in Appendix 
1.  

Page 291



10

3.8 Given that there continues to be an area of unviability and certain unviable forms of 
development, further consideration has been given to the apparent unviability in the South 
West area and also to the unviability of small sites.  

4. VIABILITY IN THE SOUTH WEST SUB-MARKET AREA

4.1 Both the HDH 2014 and the DV 2016 studies have identified issues with the viability of 
development in the South West.  Based on the assumptions used, the appraisals have 
generated mainly negative residual values in this area.  This appears to be mainly as a result 
of the relatively low house price values currently experienced in this area, which are not 
sufficient to outweigh the costs of development. 

4.2 Notwithstanding the results of both studies in respect of development viability in the 
South West, the Council has evidence of development completions and developments 
under construction on the ground, and therefore of development being delivered in this 
area, but also of developments proposed with planning permission.  

Evidence in JHLAS for sites of 5 or more

4.3 Details of sites recorded in the Powys Joint Housing Land Availability database (date) in 
the South-West area have been collated into the table included in Appendix 3.  There are 12 
sites in total recorded which represent the supply of sites of 5 units or more in this area.  In 
terms of the make-up and progress of the sites recorded, the following is noted:

 1 site involving the development of 6 affordable dwellings by a Housing Association 
(JHLAS 102) has been completed.

 3 sites of between 5-8 units have been partially (but mainly) completed.  

 1 site for 18 dwellings has commenced, however no completed or started dwellings 
have been recorded yet.

 The remainder all have extant planning permission (apart from 1 allocated site 
where no planning permission exists).

 All of these schemes involve new build within the development boundary.

 Half of the sites recorded were on UDP allocations and half were on windfall.

 7 of the sites recorded were on sites of less than 10 units.

Small site evidence

Page 292



11

4.4 With regards to small site completions, according to the Council’s small site monitoring 
data (recording small sites with planning permission, under construction and completed 
since the beginning of the Plan period in 2011), 33 small sites are recorded in the 
communities of Ystradgynlais and Tawe-Uchaf, in the South West:

 All small sites are for 1 or 2 dwellings.

 8 sites of have been completed.

 1 site of 2 dwellings is partially completed.

 2 sites are under construction.

 The remainder are recorded as not started.

 The majority of small site schemes recorded in this area involve new build within the 
development boundary, with a few examples of conversions and subdivisions to 
flats.

Planning permissions

4.5 Reference has also been made to records of recent planning permissions as this provides 
an indication as to the scale and type of development that may come forward, and 
therefore the housing land supply.  This also provides an indication of interest in 
development in the area.

4.6 Based on planning permissions granted since March 2010 until June 2016:

 57 planning applications have been granted planning permission in the South-West, 
approving a total of 289 dwellings.

 6 permissions planned a total of 222 units on large sites.

 51 permissions related to small sites (of less than 5 units), approving a total of 67 
units, half of which were planned on single plots.  

 The majority of units (198 units) were planned on brownfield sites, with 80 units 
planned on greenfield sites. 

 The majority of units (145 units) were new build within the development boundary, 
with 58 units new build in residential curtilages.  

 Very few other types of development were planned - 1 barn conversion, 2 flat 
conversions to 2 units, and 1 new build flat scheme.

 2 permissions were for 100% affordable housing.

Page 293



12

4.7 There are currently 8 planning applications being processed in respect of residential 
development in the South West sub-market area, as listed in Appendix 5.  This includes an 
application is in respect of a residential development for, with the remainder involving 
proposed single dwellings.

Deliverability of sites in the South West

4.8 The above evidence proves that some development has happened in the past in this 
area, based on past completions and sites under construction, but also that there is 
continued interest in development in this area, based on planning permissions and current 
planning applications.  This provides a degree of confidence that development will continue 
to be delivered in the future.  However, the Council also understands the importance of 
evidencing the deliverability of the sites that it proposes to allocate in order to meet the 
housing needs of this area.

4.9 A total of 8 sites are allocated in the South-West, 7 of which are proposed in the town of 
Ystradgynlais and 1 of which is proposed in the large village of Abercrave.  A further 
committed site is included in the large village of Coelbren. 

4.10 A total of 8 sites are proposed to be allocated (a total of 466 units) and 2 committed 
sites (a total of 63 units) are also proposed to be included.  Detailed evidence of their 
deliverability is provided in the housing allocations paper (reference).

Other factors

4.11 The viability results are based on the hypothetical sites modelled.  The DVS has also 
outlined several factors which may explain why sites are still coming forward and could 
continue to come forward in this area.  TO FINISH in conjunction with the Housing 
Allocations paper.

5. SMALL SITE VIABILITY

5.1 Both the HDH 2014 and the DV 2016 studies have identified small sites of 3 units or less 
as generally unviable across all sub-market areas.  The negative residual values of these 
small sites reflects the overall results in the South West, however in the other sub-market 
areas, more positive residual values are found for and their viability varies by size of scheme 
and by sub-market area.  With the exception of single units greenfield schemes in Central, 
which is found to be viable, others would be either marginally viable, or their residual 
values, whilst being positive, are not sufficient to be within a reasonable margin of the 
viability threshold, and therefore are not viable.  The residual values for 3 unit greenfield 
edge schemes and single unit brownfield in the North are negative and therefore are not 
viable.

Page 294



13

5.2 It would appear that the premium costs applied to schemes of 3 units or less is likely to 
explain the apparent unviability of these sites.  The DVS also refers to the sensitivity of the 
results to the housing mix assumed for 3 unit schemes, and that alternative mixes may 
improve viability.  Some of the factors discussed by the DVS to explain why sites deemed to 
be unviable in the study may still happen, could also be relevant to small site viability, 
particularly in terms of the possible lower profit expectations and financing arrangement of 
small developers.  It is also likely that a small scale scheme would be carried out for or by an 
individual and would not be speculative as such, and therefore would not be driven by 
viability concerns. 

5.3 Notwithstanding the results of both studies in respect of the development viability of 
small sites, the Council has evidence of development completions and developments under 
construction on the ground, and therefore of small site developments being delivered. 

5.4 Data gathered for the purposes of explaining and reviewing the windfall allowance 
(windfall paper reference) in relation to past completions in Powys since the April 2016 
indicates that 828 completions of the total 2038 completions took place on small sites of 
less than 5 units.  99 units were completed on small sites between April 2014 and March 
2015.  This represents 74% of the total number of windfall completions, and therefore small 
sites are an important component of the housing land supply on windfall sites.  A quarter of 
all windfall (both on large and small sites) involved new build on greenfield within the 
development boundary, and it is also noted that almost a third involved conversions of non-
residential buildings to dwellings.  Affordable local need dwellings and rural enterprise 
dwellings also featured within the mix but at lower proportions.

5.5 Single and small multiple unit schemes of less than 5 units, therefore, have taken place 
in the past in Powys, and it is likely that there will continue to be opportunities for windfalls 
of this scale to come forward in the future in Powys, and such would generally be permitted 
in principle by future planning policies as they have under the previous Plan.   

5.6 Barn conversions and flat conversions were not tested in the original 2014 study and 
have not been tested by the DVS in 2016.  DVS has explained that values and costs can vary 
hugely for conversions on a scheme by scheme basis, and this would clearly make it difficult 
to accurately appraise the viability of such schemes.  However, again these types of schemes 
have been delivered in the past and therefore the Council can remain confident that they 
will continue to be delivered and contribute towards the Council’s housing land supply for 
small sites.

5.7 In view of the evidence of past completions and factors which explain how small sites 
are being delivered, it is considered that these sites can and will continue to be delivered.

Page 295



14

6. IMPLICATIONS FOR THE VIABILITY AND DELIVERY OF THE PLAN

6.1 This section considers the conclusions drawn from the updated and reviewed viability 
evidence and considers their implications for the viability and deliverability of the Plan.

Housing strategy

6.2 The LDP’s spatial strategy is based on a sustainable settlement hierarchy with levels of 
development allocated to settlements commensurate with their size (number of 
households) and position in the hierarchy.  In accordance with this Strategy (focusing on the 
South West) development in the South West will be focused mainly on the town of 
Ystradgynlais and also to a lesser extent on the large village of Abercrave and Coelbren, in 
the form of allocations, commitments and to a lesser extent large windfall.  In the small 
village of Cae Hopkin, small sites may be permitted as modest infill or as extensions for 
affordable housing exception sites.

Housing provision

6.3 The impact of the viability evidence on the contribution that allocations and windfall 
towards housing provision proposed in the Plan has been considered.  In terms of the 
impact on the Plan’s overall housing provision number of 5985, the deemed unviability of 
sites in the South West sub-market area and small sites is not expected to have a significant 
impact on this number due to the limited proportion of the provision that would be affected 
if the development anticipated to be provided was found to be unviable.  The impact on the 
components of the housing provision number is as follows:

Allocations

6.4 If the proposed allocated sites in the South West were found to be unviable on the 
ground, this would affect 8 of the total of 82 allocated sites proposed to be allocated by the 
Plan.  In terms of the impact on the number of units, 466 units out of 2,987 units may not be 
viable or delivered.  However, this would only account for 16% of the total allocated units 
that the Plan proposes to be provided.  84% of the total allocated units, and 74 allocated 
sites, have been found to be in areas that are viable.  The evidence therefore supports the 
viability of the majority of allocated sites and units.

Commitments

6.5 If the proposed committed sites in the South West were found to be unviable on the 
ground, this would affect 2 of the total 52 committed sites.  In terms of the impact on the 
number of units, 63 committed units out of a total of 1218 committed units (final FC 
numbers to be checked) may not be viable or delivered.  However, this would only account 
for 5% of the total committed units included in the Plan.  95% of the total committed units 
(1115 units) have been found to be in areas that are viable.  The evidence therefore 

Page 296



15

supports the viability of the majority of committed sites units.  Furthermore, a proportion of 
the overall number of committed sites included in the Plan have either been delivered or 
are being delivered on the ground. 

Anticipated Windfall

6.6 327 units are anticipated to come forward on large windfall sites and 883 units are 
anticipated to come forward on small windfall sites during the remainder of LDP period. The 
viability indicates that large windfall sites in the South West and small sites across Powys 
may not be viable, and if this is found to be the case, this would impact on a proportion of 
the anticipated large windfall and small windfall.

6.7 It is difficult to gauge the potential impact of unviability in the South West on the 
housing contribution of large windfall sites.  However, based on the evidence of 
development in this area, half of large sites recorded in JHLAS In this area were relatively 
small of less than 10 units, and only very few large windfall sites have gained planning 
permission since the beginning of the Plan period.  Furthermore, the number of settlements 
in the South West where large windfall development could be permitted is limited to the 
town of Ystradgnlais and the large villages of Abercrave and Coelbren.

6.8 Large windfall sites are expected to contribute towards 5.5% of the overall housing 
provision number.  It is unlikely that a large amount of this large windfall will take place in 
the South West, and therefore the viability evidence relating to this area is not expected to 
have a significant numerical impact on the 327 units anticipated on large windfall sites.

6.9 Anticipated development on small sites accounts for 15% of the overall housing 
provision number, and therefore unviability of small sites is more likely to have a noticeable 
impact on the overall housing provision number.  However, as explained above, small sites 
can be delivered as evidenced through past completions, and therefore it is considered that 
small sites can continue to be a reliable and deliverable source of housing during the 
remainder of the Plan period.

Impact on the following aspects of the Plan to be considered separately.

Impact on the ability to meet dwelling requirement number

Impact on the housing trajectory

Impact on maintaining a 5 year housing land supply

Impact on housing distribution

LDP policies

Page 297



16

6.10 In view of the positive viability results for much of the Plan’s area and proposed sites, 
the Council is confident that the majority of planned and anticipated development can meet 
the policy requirements set out in the LDP whilst also maintaining development viability.  In 
areas of apparent unviability, this does not appear to be as a direct consequence of policy 
requirements and is instead a reflection of the local housing market and the balance 
between house prices and costs in those areas.  

6.11 Where policy requirements involve section 106 obligations requiring financial 
contributions, a general allowance has been accounted for within the Viability Assessment.  
However, planning obligations will be negotiated on a case by case basis and requirements 
will depend on the nature, location and scale of the development, and the need to mitigate 
any adverse impacts on local infrastructure and the community.  There is a mechanism 
within the policy which allows for viability to be taken into account subject to the 
submission of detailed viability evidence by the developer.   In areas that where negative 
residual values are not directly as a result of the Council’s policies, but due to relatively low 
house values compared to construction costs.

6.12 The viability of affordable housing policy requirements is detailed in the Affordable 
Housing Topic Paper.

Conclusions on implications for the Plan

6.13 The above considers the potential implications of non-delivery of development planned 
and anticipated in the South West by the Plan.  The implications have been considered on 
the basis of the worse-case scenario whereby no development would come forward in this 
area.  If this were to be the case, the impact would not be significant in terms of the overall 
housing numbers proposed by the Plan.  However, it is recognised that this scenario would 
have a localised impact on housing delivery in the South West sub-market area.  

6.14 The Council does not consider the complete non-delivery of development in this area 
to be a realistic scenario, given that there is evidence of development happening on the 
ground and of development interest, along with developer intentions to bring allocations 
forward for development.

7. MONITORING AND REVIEW

7.1 For the purposes of monitoring viability on an annual basis and throughout the 
remainder of the Plan period, it will be important for key viability assumptions to be 
monitored.  The original study in 2014 recommended that house prices be monitored either 
every 4 years or if house prices change by more than 10%.  The DVS has recommended that 

Page 298



17

changes in both house prices and costs should be monitored, as a 10% increase in house 
prices would need to be viewed in relation to changes in other variables, including costs, 
which would impact on overall viability.  

7.2 DVS recommends that changes in values and costs could be monitored concurrently by 
calculating the residual value of a 100 unit scheme and identifying a significant divergence 
between the costs and value.  It is suggested that a divergence of 5% would be significant 
enough to warrant review of viability.  This is considered to provide a practical way of 
monitoring and identifying potentially significant changes in viability that also takes into the 
relationship between values and costs.  It is also considered to be appropriate to monitor 
existing use values, based on agricultural land values, as significant increases/decreases may 
impact on benchmark land values.

7.3 It is also proposed to monitor other development assumptions applied in the viability 
study in order to ensure their continued relevance to planned development and also to 
inform any future review or update of the assessment.  These include:

 Density of development being proposed and delivered on the ground.  The density of 
proposed and completed developments will be monitored against the densities 
applied in the Viability Assessment and against the guidelines provided in policy H3.  

 The mix of housing being proposed and delivered on the ground, particularly given 
the sensitivity of viability to the mix assumed.

 The level of on-site open space provision as this has consequences for the 
developable area assumptions.

 The level of other section 106 contributions (not related to affordable housing) is 
also proposed to be monitored in the AMR. 

 Build out periods of sites as this is relevant to the financing of development.

7.4 Monitoring proposed in order to re-assess the affordable housing requirements is 
discussed in Affordable Housing topic paper).

8. CONCLUSION

TO FOLLOW

Page 299



18

9. APPENDICES

(SEPARATE DOCUMENTS)

Page 300



         Powys County Council 

Explanation of the Powys Local Development Plan 

Dwelling Requirement 

DRAFT COPY

August 2016

Page 301



Contents 

1. Introduction....................................................................................................................................1

2. National Policy Context ..................................................................................................................2

Planning Policy Wales (PPW) ..........................................................................................................2

Technical Advice Note 1 (TAN1) – Joint Housing Land Availability Studies (January 2015)............3

3. Background information about Population trends in Powys..........................................................4

Age Structure of Powys...................................................................................................................4

Fig. 1 Projected Age Structure of Powys, 2011-2016 (2011 Principal projection) ..........................4

Migration and Mid-Year Estimates (MYEs) .....................................................................................5

Average Household Size..................................................................................................................7

4. Background to the changing LDP dwelling requirement figure......................................................9

Pre- Deposit (Preferred Strategy) (2012) ........................................................................................9

1ST Deposit Draft LDP (July 2014) ....................................................................................................9

2ND Deposit Draft LDP (June 2015) ................................................................................................10

Focussed Changes (FC) to the 2nd Draft Deposit LDP (January 2016) ...........................................11

5. How the LDP dwelling requirement of 4500 was derived in the Focussed Changes....................12

i. The 2011 Welsh Government Population and Household Projections ....................................12

ii. Other factors considered for deriving the dwelling requirement figure ..................................15

iii. The Delivery of the LDP Dwelling Requirement of 4500 ..........................................................22

6. Conclusion ....................................................................................................................................28

Page 302



Executive summary

 This paper provides further clarification on the Council’s position in relation to the dwelling 
requirement figure of 4500 dwellings included in the Focussed Changes (FC) to the 2nd 
Deposit Draft Local Development Plan (LDP). 

Reasons for the changing LDP dwelling requirement figure  
 The LDP dwelling requirement figure (DRF) has changed several times during the last 4 years 

in the course of the LDPs preparation.  The reasons for the figure changing are:  i) the Welsh 
Government 2008 population and household projections were replaced after the Pre-
Deposit Stage with the 2011 projections (which are currently being used) that contained 
significantly lower predictions; ii) the issue of new Welsh Government guidance in TAN1-
Joint Housing Land Availability Studies (2015) with its requirement for local planning 
authorities to demonstrate a  5-year land supply when LDPs are adopted. Consequently, the 
dwelling requirement figure in the 2nd Draft Deposit was reduced to a figure in the Focussed 
Changes that is considered to be more realistically deliverable based on completions rates in 
recent years.    TOO HONEST?

 When deriving the LDP dwelling requirement figure of 4500, the Council considered a 
number of factors including: population change and the number of households predicted up 
to 2026 using the Welsh Government 2011 population and household projections; the aims 
and objectives of the Council, including building more houses Powys; and also the realistic 
prospects for the delivery of the dwelling requirement;

Household projections and Mid- Year Estimates (MYE)
 The Council recognises that the 2011 Principal projection is based upon a 5-year period that 

was severely affected by an economic downturn and therefore as would be expected its 
predictions for net migration and the number of households forming up to 2026 are low 
compared to the levels of those years leading up to the start of the recession.  The Welsh 
Government recognised this and issued a letter to all planning authorities in Wales (letter 10 
April 2014) (see Appendix 1) advising them to be cautious about the use of the Principal 
projection. The Welsh Government also released an alternative projection variant the 10-
year migration variant, which it considered by using a longer trend period of 10 years as 
opposed to 5 years provided a more balanced basis on which to plan for the future in LDPs.    

 The Council has concluded that although that the Principal projection is based on a period of 
economic downturn it is the more realistic of the two on which to begin deriving the 
dwelling requirement figure.   This conclusion is supported by recent evidence on population 
change. When comparing the mid-year estimates (MYE) for migration in Powys against those 
in the projections, the current figures are below those predicted in the 2011-based principal 
projection and hence even further below the 10-year migration projection. Whilst it is 
considered feasible that, with an improving economy, net migration may return to the level 
predicted in the Principal projection, there is no indication that it would reach the levels 
predicted in the 10- year migration variant.

Page 303



 Furthermore, if the 10-year migration variant from the latest household projections were to 
be used, the starting point for new dwellings required in Powys would be 5863 homes.  This 
translates to a build rate of 391 dwellings per annum over the 15-year period.  This is 
considered an overly ambitious figure when compared to annual completion levels since the 
Plan’s start date (around 200/annum) and taking into account the “catch-up” requirements 
that fall on the remaining years of the Plan.  It is of note that the draft figure of 315 
completions in Powys over the 2015-16 year is a marked improvement on recent years and 
indicates signs of housing market recovery.

 The number of dwellings of 5863 (391 dwelling per annum) which has been converted from 
the number of households predicted by the 10-year migration variant is considered an 
ambitious figure when compared to annual completion levels in recent years (around 200) 
with the exception of the most recent figure of 315 completions in 2015/2016.   

Economic Needs Assessment (2013) and Addendum (2015)

 Findings from the economic forecasting undertaken as part of the original Assessment, 
together with the revised labour force analysis and population projection data produced as 
part of the Addendum suggest that employment requirements and aspirations within Powys 
are not driving the housing market in the County. There is no identifiable relationship 
between the requirement for employment land in the County during the plan period and 
dwelling requirement figure. The need for additional employment land to be allocated has 
been identified in the Economic Needs Assessment, primarily for existing businesses seeking 
to expand and needing larger premises.  The need is not the result of newly forming 
businesses nor businesses re-locating in the County that would result in new jobs which 
would in turn translate into increased housing requirement.         

Council’s Corporate Strategies
 The Council’s Corporate Strategies including the Joint Commissioning Strategy for Older 

People in Powys Addendum (2016) that identify the need for affordable homes and 
specifically designed accommodation for the ageing population of Powys. This strategy is 
expected to result in the need for between 290 and 310 new dwellings in Powys upto 2026.   

Delivery of the dwelling requirement figure  
 The dwelling requirement figure of 4500 dwellings deviates by 10% above the 4087 

dwellings predicted over the plan period in the 2011 Welsh Government Household 
projections. The reason for this deviation is to ensure that by having an increased number of 
dwellings  the plan is suitably aspirational and helps achieve the Council’s corporate 
strategies including the provision of affordable homes. The deviation is also considered 
justified based on recent MYEs showing a continuing upward trend in net migration with 
2014 at 174 and 2015 at 297.  

 In order to deliver 4,500 new homes across Powys, the LDP requires an annual build rate of 
300/annum.   Despite the under achievement of this build rate in the early years of the LDP 
period, there is evidence that there has been a ‘pick up’ in the housing market since 2014, 
which is giving confidence that the 4500 dwellings are deliverable. There has been an upturn 
in the number of: pre- planning application enquiries; planning applications submitted for 

Page 304



new dwellings and planning permissions granted for sites with 5 plus dwellings. The number 
of dwelling completions for April 2015 to April 16 2016 at 315 (to be confirmed in 2016 
JHLAS) are also significantly higher than previous years.

 The 315 completions in 2015/16 are above the annual dwelling requirement of 300 deduced 
from the overall number of 4500 dwellings. However, between March 2011 and March 
2015, the number of dwellings completed each year was in the region of 200. Looking ahead 
over the remaining years of the LDP the rate of completions will need to continue at around 
348/annum so as to take into account the residual number of dwellings carried forward from 
the underperforming years and in order to deliver the LDP requirement of 4500 dwellings.  
This target build rate is realistic for the county as in the pre-recession years (e.g. 2004, 2005, 
2006), Powys regularly experienced build rates of at least 400/annum.

 An adopted LDP, containing new housing allocations should provide further confidence to a 
housing market that has recently been showing signs of an improvement that will help 
ensure that the dwelling requirement of 4500 is delivered.

  

Page 305



1

1. Introduction

1.1. This paper provides further clarification on the Council’s position in relation to the dwelling 
requirement figure of 4500 dwellings included in the Focussed Changes (FC) to the 2nd 
Deposit Draft Local Development Plan (LDP) that went out to consultation in January 2016.

1.2. The Council has produced this paper in order to explain a number of issues including:

 How the dwelling requirement figure was derived; 
 The reason for the dwelling requirement figure having changed over the course of the 

LDP process from that contained in the Pre-Deposit (Preferred Strategy) stage to the 
Focussed Changes; 

  The reason for the figure deviating above the 2011 Principal projection figure of 4087 
dwellings.      

1.3. This paper should be read in conjunction with the Population and Housing Topic Paper to the 
2nd Deposit Draft LDP (May 2015) and the Addendum document to it (January 2016) 
(Examination document ref. no.  EB35). Specific references to relevant sections within these 
documents are given on page 12 of this paper  

1.4. There is also an Affordable Housing Background Paper (June 2015) and Update document 
(June 2016) (Examination document ref. no. EB21).  

Page 306



2

2. National Policy Context

2.1. The Population and Housing Topic Paper (May 2015) (Ref: EB 35) contains a section on pages 2 
to 9 in which national legislation, policy and guidance is discussed including the National 
Housing Strategy and the Wales Spatial Plan. However, the latest policy guidance is discussed 
below.    

Planning Policy Wales (PPW)
2.2. Planning guidance provided to local planning authorities by the Welsh Government in relation 

to producing LDPs is contained in Planning Policy Wales (PPW), Edition 8 (January 2016).  

2.3. However, it should be borne in mind that Edition 7 of PPW (July 2014) was the relevant 
edition when the dwelling requirement in the Focussed Changes documents was being 
derived. This is stated in paragraph 9.2.2 that:  

‘The latest Welsh Government local authority level Household Projections for Wales should 
form the starting point for assessing housing requirements’.   

‘Household projections provide estimates of the future numbers of households and are based 
on population projections and assumptions about household composition and characteristics. 
Local planning authorities should consider the appropriateness of the projections for their 
area, based upon all sources of local evidence, including the need for affordable housing 
identified by their Local Housing Market Assessment. Where local planning authorities seek to 
deviate from the Welsh Government projections, they must justify their own preferred policy 
based projections ‘.  

2.4.  The recently issued Edition 8 of PPW (January 2016) provides the following guidance on how 
the dwelling requirements should be derived in revised paragraph 9.2.2 which states that:

‘.. Household Projections for Wales alongside the latest Local Housing Market Assessment, will 
form part of the plan’s evidence base together with other key issues such as what the plan is 
seeking to achieve, links between homes and jobs, the need for affordable housing, Welsh 
language considerations, the provisions of corporate strategies and the deliverability of the 
plan.’

 and that: 

‘...Local planning authorities will need to assess whether the various elements of the 
projections are appropriate for their area and if not, undertake modelling, based on robust 
evidence, which can be clearly articulated and evidenced, to identify alternative options.’  

Page 307



3

Technical Advice Note 1 (TAN1) – Joint Housing Land Availability Studies (January 
2015) 

2.5. The Welsh Government issued Technical Advice Note 1 (TAN1) – Joint Housing Land 
Availability Studies in January 2015. This requires that local planning authorities, on the 
adoption of their LDP, need to demonstrate a 5- year land supply that is readily and genuinely 
available. Consequently, the housing requirement in the Powys LDP needs to be set at a figure 
that can be realistically delivered by the house building industry because if it is not, the 
implications are that the Council will not be able to demonstrate a 5-year land supply.     

2.6. The methodology applied for calculating the land supply trajectory for the LDP period follows 
the residual calculation identified within TAN 1. This involves comparing the amount of land 
that is considered to be genuinely available for any given 5-year period with that amount of 
land that is needed for that period of time for the remaining housing requirement identified 
within the LDP. 

2.7. The implications of not having a 5-year land supply is that it signals that a local planning 
authority does not have a sufficient supply of land readily available for development. The main 
consequence of this happening is that developers can then apply for planning permission for 
housing on a site not allocated in the LDP and use the argument that there is not a 5-year land 
supply to justify the need for their site to be developed.  This is undesirable as it leads to a 
situation of uncertainty and furthermore presents a risk to the strategic direction of the 
statutory development plan.  

Page 308



4

3. Background information about Population trends in Powys 

3.1. The Population and Housing Topic Paper (May 2015) (EB 35) provides demographical 
information in Section 3, pages 10 to 14. Natural change (death and birth rates) discussed on 
page 12 and paragraph 3.5 of the 2015 Topic Paper and Table 2 clearly shows that the number 
of deaths since 2002 in Powys have consistently out-numbered births. In contrast, migration 
has been far more volatile over recent years and discussed further below.  

Age Structure of Powys  
3.2. The graph below in Fig. 1 shows that the population of Powys is projected to increase in 

average age, with an increasing number of elderly over 65 and a decreasing number of people 
across all the age groups up to 65.   

3.3. Within the 16 to 44-year-old age bracket there has been net out migration, highlighting the 
key issue faced by the County of an ageing population. Powys has the second highest average 
age in the whole of Wales and the largest population cohorts in Powys are the 60-64 and 65-
69 year olds. For Wales and the UK on the other hand, the largest cohorts are 40-44 olds and 
45-49 year olds.      

Fig. 1 Projected Age Structure of Powys, 2011-2016 (2011 Principal projection) 

2011 2016 2021 2026 2031 2036
0

5,000

10,000

15,000

20,000

25,000

30,000

35,000

0 – 15 16 – 44 45 – 64 65 – 74 75+

Projected Age Structure of Powys 

Source: 2013 ONS Population Estimates Unit 

Page 309



5

3.4. The critical issues for Powys are therefore:

 The increasing number of retirement age residents significantly increasing the 
proportion of economically inactive people in the County and the ratio between the 
workforce and economically inactive people.

 The trough in the population aged between 15 and 64, as these people offer a 
significant level of socio economic contribution to a local economy and having left the 
County to attend further education establishments in many cases they do not return 
until their late thirties at the earliest        

Migration and Mid-Year Estimates (MYEs)
3.5. The most significant factor responsible for changing the population in Powys since 2002 has 

been migration. The number of births and deaths remains relatively stable year-on year.  Net 
population increase comes from migration, which can fluctuate significantly over a relatively 
short period, for example, Table 2 shows a difference of 1263 between 2003 and 2010. It is 
clear, however, that overall growth in population comes from a net increase of people moving 
into the area – whether new migrants or returning former residents for example students. The 
years 2013 and 2014 experienced migration gain in all 5-year age groups up to and including 
the 65-69 age group with the exception of the 15-19 age group and the 25-29 age group which 
saw young adults leaving the area.   

3.6. Population change in Powys has been influenced by internal migration of people from within 
the UK and by international migration from the A8 countries that entered the EU in 2004. Fig. 
2 is a graph that shows net migration for Powys between 2001 and 2013 (blue line) and clearly 
shows that migration peaked in 2003 at over 1175 when the UK economy was in a period of 
growth. This resulted in net migration annually being over 800 between 2001 and 2008. The 
impact of the recession became apparent in 2009 as the graph in Fig.1 and Table 2 both 
clearly show when net migration levels fell in Powys. Net migration dropped to 315 in 2009, 
before Powys experienced its first net outward migration in 2010 (-88). The figures have since 
returned to net inward migration and the figure for 2014 is 174 and for 2015 it is 297 (23 June 
2016). 

Page 310



6

Fig. 2 - Annual net migration for Powys (excluding BBNPA area), showing trend periods used 
in Welsh Government population projections

2002 2003 2004 2005 2006 2007 2008 2009 2010 2011 2012 2013 2014 2015

-200

0

200

400

600

800

1000

1200

1400

1600 Net Migration

Trend period for 2008 based projection 
(Principal)
Trend period for 2011 based projection 
(Principal)
Trend period for 2011 based projection (10 year 
migration trend)

Source: mid-year population estimates, ONS; WG 2008 and 2011 based household projections 

3.7. The graph in Fig. 3 (Page 14) shows how the population of Powys (bold black line) has changed 
since 2001 and includes the latest population figures from the most recent mid- year 
estimates (MYE).  The most recent MYEs (including for 2015 with a net migration at 297) do 
not indicate that annual net migration will rise to the level predicted in the 10-year migration 
variant of 681 per annum up to 2026.  

Page 311



7

Table 2: Components of Migration in Powys County (excluding BBNPA plan area)   

2002 2003 2004 2005 2006 2007 2008 2009 2010 2011 2012 2013 2014 2015

Internal 
in

4751 4885 4944 4564 4568 4851 4497 4072 4105 4134 4508 4201 4369 4542

Internal 
out

3886 3734 3867 3820 3913 4152 3846 3791 3966 3947 4325 4250 4224 4226

Internat
ional in 222 199 152 186 317 341 422 291 207 190 230 234 280 303

Internat
ional 
out

161 174 151 202 137 180 265 257 409 220 327 166 250 323

Total
926 1175 1079 728 835 859 808 315 -88 157 86 18 174 297

Source: 2001 to 2014 Office for National Statistics- Mid-Year Population Estimates 

3.8. The graphs in Fig. 2 (and Fig. 7 on page 27) clearly show how volatile migration can be as a 
factor of population change over a period of 15 years and how it can fluctuate significantly 
largely due to external factors.  Table 2 above also shows how migration can fluctuate 
significantly over a 15 year period with net migration in 2003 reaching 1175 during the more 
buoyant years and falling into negative numbers in 2010 at -88 during the economic 
downturn. 

3.9. Table 2 presents the most recent MYE for 2015, which shows net migration at 297. This is 
considered to be an indication of an upward trend in net migration levels that should continue 
to increase and reach the net migration annual figure of 405 predicted in the Principal 
projection.    

3.10. It is considered that migration into Powys is driven by a number of reasons, including an 
improving economy attracting people seeking a work life/ balance and increasing numbers of 
early retirees coming to live in the County which is possibly due to earlier access to pension 
pots. 

3.11. One of the main factors that saw net migration at the high level of 800+ people per year 
between 2001 and 2004 prior to the A8 countries entering the EU was that people took 
advantage of the lower property prices in Powys. House prices in Powys compared to other 
areas such as Shropshire and the Midlands, are significantly lower and people have been 
attracted into the County by relocating to buy larger properties and live in a more rural 
setting.  

3.12. House prices in many parts of England and Wales are again increasing but prices remain 
relatively static in Powys, which may result in the same situation being replicated but not 
necessarily at the same level.     

Page 312



8

Average Household Size 
3.13. The average household size is projected to reduce over the plan period from 2.14 to 2.13 as 

shown in Table 3 below. The 2011 Principal projection predicts a larger household size at 2026 
when compared to the household size predicted in the 2008 projections. The difference 
between the 2008 and 2011 projections, therefore, has implications for the anticipated level 
of households projected by the end of the LDP period and indicates a reduced requirement for 
new housing by 2026.

Table 3: 2008 and 2011 Household Projections - Predicted Household size 2011 to 2026  

2011
 (Household size)

2016
(Household size)

2021
(Household size)

2026
(Household 
size)

2008 Based 
Projections 

2.23 2.16 2.11 2.07

2011 Based 
Projections 

2.24 2.20 2.16 2.13

Source: Welsh Government 2008 based and 2011 based Household Projections

3.14. The 2011 Census found that the number of households between 2001 and 2011 had not 
grown as fast as previously predicted in the 2008 household projections as shown in Table 3 
above.   There have been lower numbers of young people leaving home and starting their own 
households, lower numbers of young people living alone/in small households, more adult 
children remaining or returning to the parental home, more households formed from 
unrelated adults and lower numbers of elderly females living alone as men are living longer. 
All these factors help explain the changes and improvements to data relating to household 
membership rates.

Page 313



9

4. Background to the changing LDP dwelling requirement figure 

4.1. There have been four different figures presented as the proposed dwelling requirement at 
different stages of the LDP. This section of the paper explains the reasons for the figure having 
changed at different stages of the LDP as shown in the Table 4 below:  

Table 4: The Changing Proposed Dwelling Requirement Figure (DRF) 

Stage of the LDP Proposed DRF Summary of reason(s) for changing the 
DRF

Pre- Deposit (Preferred 
Strategy)(2012)

7700 Use of WG 2008 projection aligned to the 
lower variant.     

1st Deposit Draft LDP(2014) 4500 Use of WG 2011 projections instead of 
the WG 2008 projections which was 
aligned to the Principal Projection, 
particularly having taken into 
consideration WG comments at the pre – 
deposit stage.   

2nd Deposit Draft LDP (2015) 5519 Welsh Government requesting the use of 
the 2011 10- year migration variant 
instead of 2011 Principal (5-year trend 
period). DRF derived between the two 
projections due to recent net-migration 
levels significantly below the 10- year 
migration level and the Council’s local 
strategies (e.g. provision of affordable 
housing and regeneration targets) 
requiring a balanced figure (aspirational 
but  also achievable).              

Focussed Changes to 2nd 
Deposit Draft LDP(2016)

4500 Re-evaluation of DRF to take account of 
deliverability and requirement of TAN 1 
and the need to demonstrate a 5-year 
supply on adoption of the LDP.    

Pre- Deposit (Preferred Strategy) (2012)  
4.2. The Welsh Government 2008 Population and Household Projections were used to derive the 

dwelling requirement figure at this stage of the LDP. The Council decided upon using the lower 
variant as a starting point rather than the Principal projection.  The number of dwellings 
derived from the lower variant was 7700, equating to an annual dwelling requirement of 513.  
By contrast if the principal projection had been used, a figure of 9,796 dwellings would have 
been derived with an annual figure of 653 dwellings. The Council considered this figure to be 
unrealistically high based on there being no records of past build rates being at that level, 
even during the years between 2001 to 2008, when the economy was in a buoyant period. 
The Preferred Strategy dwelling requirement figure was not carried over into the 1st Deposit 
Draft of the LDP due to the release of the 2011 Welsh Government population and household 
projections. As the latest projections, they needed to be used instead of the 2008 projections 
going forward to the next stage of the LDP.   

Page 314



10

1ST Deposit Draft LDP (July 2014)
4.3. The Principal projection of the 2011 population and household projections was used to derive 

the dwelling requirement figure of 4500. However, representations were received from the 
Welsh Government that stated that there was insufficient evidence and explanation 
accompanying the Draft Deposit LDP in respect to this figure for it to be progressed to the 
next stage of the LDP process. The Council subsequently considered that there was a high risk 
of the LDP being found unsound and decided to prepare further evidence and a 2nd Deposit 
Draft LDP. 

2ND Deposit Draft LDP (June 2015)
4.4. The 2nd Deposit Draft LDP was accompanied by a number of background papers including a 

Population and Housing Topic Paper (June 2015) which explained the dwelling requirement 
figure for the LDP. 

4.5. The 2011 Welsh Government Population and Household Principal predicted dwelling number 
of 4087 was used as the starting point to derive the dwelling requirement figure of 4500. 
However, caution about the use of the Principal projection was advised by the Minister for 
Housing and Regeneration, Carl Sergeant in his letter to all local planning authorities in Wales 
(April 2014) (see Appendix 1). This set of projections being based on a 5-year trend period that 
included a number of years that were affected by the economic downturn resulted in the level 
of net migration predicted by the Principal projection was considered to be a too pessimistic a 
basis on which to plan for the future.  In order to take account of the economic downturn, the 
Welsh Government issued the 10-year migration variant, which covered a 10-year period (as 
opposed to 5 years) and consequently spanned a period that had a high level of economic 
growth with significantly higher net migration levels.  By using a longer trend period, the 10-
year migration variant was considered by Welsh Government to provide a more balanced 
projection for use by local planning authorities in deriving their dwelling requirements. 

4.6. The dwelling figure derived from the 2011 Principal projection is 4087 (which equates to 272 
dwellings per year) whereas from the 10- year migration variant, the dwelling figure is 5863 
dwellings (which equates to 391 dwellings per year).  

4.7. The annual net migration predicted in the Principal is considered to be at a relatively low 
figure of 405 people per year compared to what the net migration levels were in the more 
buoyant years in relation to the economy (2001 to 2007) when they surpassed 800 for several 
years and peaked at 1175 in 2003. In line with Welsh Government advice, the Council 
considered the 10- year migration variant with its predicted annual net migration figure of 
681. However, due to the most recent Mid-Year Estimates (MYE) at that time showing net 
migration at 174 in 2012 and 18 in 2013 it was considered that with the post-recession 
economy in Powys was recovering at a slow pace and that net migration was not realistically 
going to reach the level predicted in the 10-year migration variant.               

4.8. The Council, therefore, sought a balanced dwelling requirement figure lying above the 
Principal dwelling figure of 4087 but below the 10-year migration variant projection figure of 
5863 dwellings. This resulted in the figure of 5519 dwellings being derived, which took into 
account the various factors such as the considerable number of dwellings that were available 

Page 315



11

in the existing land bank (sites already benefiting from planning permission) which would 
carry forward into the LDP period and the aspirations of the Council which were identified as:

i. The need to increase levels of net migration;
ii. The retention of young out-migrants;

iii. The need to deliver the Council’s policy aspirations including affordable housing and 
regeneration; and

iv. The availability of suitable sites.

4.9. A degree of sensitivity testing was employed and the figure was also balanced against an 
assessment of delivery based on past build rates (i.e. aspirations had to be realistically 
achievable).   

Focussed Changes (FC) to the 2nd Draft Deposit LDP (January 2016) 
4.10. The reasons behind the dwelling requirement figure contained in the Focussed Changes of 

4500 dwellings were explained in the Addendum to the Population and Housing Background 
Paper (January 2016). The Addendum explained that the reason for the change from 5519 to 
4500 dwellings was due to the Council considering that the market conditions and the building 
industry at that time were not at a level that could ensure the delivery of that number of 
houses during the plan period. The figure of 4500 was, based, therefore on the 4,087 
dwellings arising from the 2011-based Principal Household Projection revised upwards to take 
account of identified local factors, which are discussed in the next section.

Conclusion 
4.11. Despite the changing LDP dwelling requirement figure the settlement strategy of the LDP has 

fundamentally remained the same since the Pre-Deposit (Preferred Strategy) with the focus of 
new development being on the towns and larger villages. The development management 
policies contained in the LDP will seek to ensure only limited growth in the smaller villages and 
the rural areas be permitted in order to retain a settlement hierarchy strategy.     

Page 316



12

5. How the LDP dwelling requirement of 4500 was derived in the 
Focussed Changes 

5.1. Welsh Government guidance for local planning authorities to derive their LDP dwelling 
requirement figures is found in Paragraph 9.2.2 of PPW (Edition 8, 2016) which states that:

 ‘the latest Welsh Government local authority Household Projections for Wales alongside the 
latest Local Housing Market Assessment, will form part of the plan’s evidence base together 
with other key issues such as what the plan is seeking to achieve, links between homes and 
jobs, the need for affordable housing, Welsh language considerations, the provisions of 
corporate strategies and the deliverability of the plan.’

5.2. The following factors were considered in deriving the LDP dwelling requirement figure:    

i.  Welsh Government Population and Household Projections as a starting point;
ii. Other local factors including local demographic factors, evidence base studies and 

corporate strategies; and   
iii. The deliverability of the dwelling requirement in light of the requirement of TAN 1 

for the Council to demonstrate a 5-year supply of land on adoption of the LDP. 

The 2008 and 2011 Welsh Government Population and Household Projections 
5.3. The Population and Housing Topic Paper (May 2015) and update to it (January 2016) 

(Examination document - EB35) provides further detailed information on the following:   

 The use of the Welsh Government Population and Household projections on page 18, 
paragraphs 4.10 to 4.12; 

 The 2011 Population and Household projection on pages 18-20, paragraphs 4.13 to 4.22 
and the predicted change in number of households and average household size in Table 
9;  

 Implications of predicted changing household formation and size on pages 20 to 22, 
paragraphs 4.23 - 4.30

 Projected age structure of the Powys population on pages 22 to 23, paragraphs 4.31 to 
4.34

 The variants of the 2011 Population and household projections including the 10-year 
migration variant on pages 23 -24, paragraphs 4.35- 4.36.

 Comparison between the 2008 and the 2011 Population Projections – pages 25 to 31
 Using the 2008 and 2011 Population and Household Projections – pages 32 to 43 

Comparison between the 2008 and 2011 Population Projections
5.4. The graph below (Fig. 3) show the 2008 (red line) and 2011 (blue line) principal population 

projections as well as the different variant projections. The mid-year estimates from 2008 to 
2015 are also shown (black line) which is showing signs of the population growing at rate 
approaching that predicted in the 2011 principal projection but significantly below that 

Page 317



13

predicted in the 2008 principal projection due to the latter being based a 5-year period of 
buoyant economic growth.     

Fig. 3 - Comparison of the 2008 and 2011 Population Projections showing MYE

@ @ @ @ @ @ @ @ @ @ @ @ @ @ @ @ @ @ @
@

@

@

@

@

@

@

@

@

2008 Principal 2008 Lower variant 2011 Principal
2011 Ten year average migration variant MYE

2008 and 2011 population Projections

Sources: 2008/2011 Welsh Government Population Projections © Crown Copyright 
2012/2013 Office for National Statistics Mid Year Population Estimates © Crown Copyright

WG 2008 & 2011 Household Projections and 2011 Census 
5.5. The 2008-based household projections estimated the number of households in Powys 

(including BBNPA area) at 2011 to be 61,398, increasing to 71,712 households by 2026, 
equating to an increase of 9,070 new households (excluding BBNPA area) being forecast. The 
household growth of 9,070 households predicted under the 2008 projections is significantly 
higher than the requirement of 3,784 additional households by 2026 under the 2011-based 
projections.

5.6. The 2008-based projections estimated the number of households at 2011 to be 61,398 
whereas the actual number of households at the time of the 2011 Census was 58429. The 
projections therefore estimated a significantly larger number of households at 2011 than 
there actually were and continue to predict large increases in the number of households for 
the whole period. This may be due to several factors, such as the projections being based on a 
period of high in-migration and a large reduction in average household size which has not 
reduced at the rate anticipated.

Page 318



14

5.7. The large variation between the predicted households at 2011 under the 2008-based 
projections compared to actual households under the 2011 Census supports the Council's 
view that the 2008-based projections were too high and would have required an annual rate 
of house building never before experienced in Powys. 

The 2011 Principal Projection (5-year trend) and 10-year migration variant  
5.8. The Population and Housing Background Paper (May 2015) discusses in detail on pages 36 to 

44 the characteristics of both the Principal projection and the 10-year migration variant. 
However, in order to provide clarity and context to this Paper the differences between the 
two projections are summarised below and also an explanation is provided for the decision to 
use the Principal projection as a starting point to derive the dwelling requirement figure. 

The Principal Projection  
5.9. The 2011 Principal projection assumes a continuation of the natural change and migration 

rates experienced in the five years preceding 2011. This projects a population increase for the 
County (excluding BBNPA plan area) of 2813 people by 2026, which equates to 187 new 
residents per annum over the plan period. Deaths exceed births in 2011 and over the plan 
period, this gap is predicted to increase (from 181 in the first year to 453 in 2026). This excess 
of deaths over births means by the end of the plan period, the population of Powys is, 
expected to peak and fall after 2026 as the graph in Fig.2 shows. It is, considered that the 
natural change components of the Principal projection are feasible given the long- term trends 
and known demographic changes taking place. Net migration is expected to be positive over 
the Principal projection period (a net figure of 381 UK migrants moving in and 24 overseas 
migrants in migrating per annum) resulting in a net gain of 405 people per annum, 6075 over 
the plan period.

5.10. The number of households in Powys projected by 2026 is 62,964 (2011 Principal projection) 
which equates to a growth of 4,535 households between 2011 and 2026 which when revised 
to the Powys LDP area (minus 17.74% for the BBNPA) is 3,784 households. When the 
household number of 3784 is converted to number of dwellings (plus 8%, as explained in 
section 6 paragraph 6.9), 4087 dwellings would be required over the LDP period, which 
equates to 272 dwellings per year.

5.11. The Principal Projection predicts that by 2026 there will be less males and females of working 
age for all age groups up to the age of 65. The decline in working age population over the 
projection period and increase in the number of elderly people, who will not be working, is 
again likely to have implications for the economic prosperity of the County. There will be not 
only be potentially fewer workers in the age group to occupy jobs but also fewer people of the 
age (40-55 age) with the greater experience and more skills. The graph in Fig.3 shows a 
downward sloping line predicted by the Principal projection for the population of Powys after 
20206 which the Council aims in the LDP to prevent. Corporately the Council is developing a 
strategic approach that understands and addresses the impacts and implications of this key 
issue to plan for the future well-being of Powys.     

Page 319



15

The 10-year migration variant 
5.12. The 10-year migration variant was released by the Welsh Government, which by taking a 

longer trend period was considered to provide a more balanced forecast and not so heavily 
influenced by years affected by the economic downturn. Consequently, the average annual 
migration deduced from the 10-year migration variant is 681 compared to 405 derived from 
the Principal projection (5-year trend period).  For this reason, the Ministerial letter from Carl 
Sergeant (10 April 2014) (see Appendix 1) sent to all local planning authorities in Wales, 
advised the consideration of the 10-year migration variant instead of the Principal projection 
when deriving their housing requirement figures for their LDPs.  The number of households 
predicted by the 10- year migration variant when converted to dwellings (1:1.08) gives a figure 
of 5863 dwelling up to 2026, which equates to an annual amount of 391 dwellings.   

Fig.4   Graph showing Population of Powys, 2011 population projections and variants 

Source:  Mid-year source: Office for National Statistics © Crown Copyright. Projections - 2011-
based Welsh Government local authority population projections for Wales, 2011 to 2036 © 
Crown Copyright

Conclusion on the use of the 2011 Principal Projection 
5.13. The Council recognises that the Principal projection is based on a 5-year trend period that was 

affected by a severe economic downturn. Consequently, its forecasts for net-migration and 
dwelling numbers are at a level that were considered by the Welsh Government to be too 
pessimistic a basis on which to plan up to 2026. Conversely, due to the relatively slow 
recovery of the Powys economy out of the recession, the net migration figure of 681 predicted 
in the 10- year migration variant is not, considered feasible by the Council when compared to 
recent net migration figures in recent MYEs at only 18 in 2013 and 174 in 2014. 

@ @ @ @ @ @ @ @ @ @ @ @ @ @ @ @ @ @ @ @ @ @ @ @ @ @ @ @ @ @ @ @ @ @ @ @
120000

122000

124000

126000

128000

130000

132000

134000

136000

138000

140000

142000

144000

Population 2011 Based Principal Projection Lower variant
Higher variant Ten year average migration variant (1)

Powys Population - MYE and Projection + Variants

Page 320



16

5.14. In contrast to the Welsh Government’s viewpoint regarding the pessimistic nature of the 
Principal Projection figures, the Council is confident in using the Principal Projection as a 
starting point and considers this the most robust and prudent approach.  Current evidence 
points to the fact that the underlying assumptions of the 2011-based Principal Projection are 
more accurate than those assumptions which underpin the alternative variant projections.      
Whilst there is a recognised pick- up in the market conditions since 2014, signified by a 
number of indicators including a marked increase in net migration in 2014/2015 to 174 
compared to 2013/14 when it was only 18 this is still some way short of the 405 annual net 
migration figure included in the 2011 based Principal Projection, although a return to these 
levels is conceivable.   A clear trend cannot be identified from the most recent MYE and 
therefore the next MYE due to be released in June 2016 should provide a better indication on 
the direction and the scale of net migration in Powys. Meanwhile, the Council do not consider 
it sound to plan for new housing on the basis of the 10-year net migration variant of the latest 
household projections as this must be viewed as too optimistic a scenario.  The available 
evidence does not support the likelihood of a return to migration figures of this level within 
the lifespan of the Local Development Plan, compounded by the fact that population is 
expected to peak at the end of the Plan period (2026) and decline thereafter.   

5.15. The Council, however, is confident in using the Principal projection as a starting point due to a 
recognised pick up in the market conditions since 2014, signified by a number of indicators 
including a marked increase in net migration in 2014/2015to 174 compared to 2013/14 when 
it was only 18. A clear trend cannot be identified from the most recent MYE and therefore the 
next MYE due to be released in June 2016 should provide a better indication on the direction 
and also the scale of net migration in Powys.      

5.16. The other indications are discussed in more detail in Section 3 of this paper and relate to the 
delivery of the dwelling requirement figure. Section 3 discusses the up- turn in dwelling 
completions in 2015/2016 being at 315 (to be confirmed by the JHLAS 2016) compared to 
previous years and also signs of increased developer activity since 2014 with there being 
evidence of an increase in pre-planning application enquiries and planning applications 
submitted and consented.

Other factors considered for deriving the dwelling requirement figure
5.17. Having accepted the 2011 Principal projection as a starting point, this section outlines the 

other material factors that the Council has considered in deriving the dwelling requirement 
figure for the LDP.    

5.18. PPW at paragraph 9.2.1 (2016) states that in planning the provision for new housing, local 
planning authorities take into account the following factors:   

 People, Places, Futures – The Wales Spatial Plan; 
 Statutory Code of Practice on Racial Equality in Housing – Wales; 
 the Welsh Government’s latest household projections; 
 local housing strategies; 
 community strategies; 
 local housing requirements (needs and demands); 

Page 321



17

 the needs of the local and national economy; 
 social considerations (including unmet need); 
 the capacity of an area in terms of social, environmental and cultural factors 

(including consideration of the Welsh language) to accommodate more housing; 
 the environmental implications, energy consumption, greenhouse gas emissions and 

flood risk; 
 the capacity of the existing or planned infrastructure; and 
 the need to tackle the causes and consequences of climate change. 

5.19. Drawing from the list of factors contained within paragraph 9.2.1 Fig. 4 illustrates how these 
have been considered alongside the 2011-based projections that influence the setting of the 
dwelling requirement figure. The diagram shows graphically how the various factors would 
influence the housing requirement either deviating above or below the dwelling number of 
4087 dwellings.

5.20. The bullet points that follow the diagram list the various factors that have an influence on the 
setting of the dwelling requirement figure.    

Page 322



18

Fig. 5 – Diagram showing the various pressures influencing the Dwelling Requirement Figure 
(DRF) either being above or below the dwelling figure derived from the 2011 Principal 
projection of 4087

DRF

5519
(368 pa)
2008 
Population 
Projection

Welsh 
Government 
advice to 
consider the  
2011 10 -year 
migration 
variant 
instead of 
Principal 

Previous WG 
delivery of 
housing 
aspirations

U
pw

ar
d 

Pr
es

su
re

s o
n 

DR
F

4500
(300 pa)
2011 Higher 
Population 
Variant

Mid-year 
Estimate for 
2015 at 297

Dwelling 
completions 
for 2015/16 at 
315 

4300 
dwellings 
delivered 
during UDP 
period 

PCC 
Growth 
Aspirati
ons & 
LDP 
Strategy 

4087
(272 pa)
2011 Principal 
Projection

Population 
starting point 
in PPW (pre 
Jan 2016)

Status 
Quo 
with 
Gradual 
Decline

3549
(233 pa)
2011 Lower 
Population 
Variant

Do
w

nw
ar

d 
pr

es
su

re
s o

n 
DR

F

3000
(200 pa)
2011 – 2016 
Evidence from 
Build Rates

Recent Mid-
year 
Estimates  Annual 

dwelling 
completions 
for 2011-14  
at around 200 

Planning 
for 
decline

Page 323



19

Upward factors influencing the dwelling requirement figure  
 Ministerial letter (April 2014) sent by Carl Sergeant all to local planning authorities 

recommending caution in using the 2011 Principal projection because it was based on a 
period that was affected by recession and to instead consider using the 10-year 
migration variant projection trend which has longer trend period resulting in a more 
balanced projection.

 The latest Mid- Year Estimates (dated June 2015) for the year 2014 showed an upturn in 
the net migration of 174 contrasts to 18 for 2013. This increase in net migration is one of 
the indications that the economy is starting to recover and suggests that it is on course 
to reach annual net migration level of 405 predicted in the Principal projection. 

 To meet the objectives and aspirations of the Council contained in its various strategies 
including the Single Integrated Plan – ‘The One Powys Plan’ and the Local Housing 
Strategy in relation to the many benefits that new housing developments bring to 
settlements and their communities including importantly affordable homes. 

 The upturn which has been apparent in the Powys economy particularly since 2014 has 
seen an increase in the number of pre-application enquires and planning applications 
being submitted across Powys. Increased activity by developers has translated into a 
significant increase in the number of completions in 2015/16 with a preliminary figure of 
315 dwellings that needs to be confirmed in the JHLAS (2016).          

 Past completion rates which over the last 11 years have included three years of 400+ 
dwellings per annum and the most recent completion figure for 2015/2016 of 315 
dwellings. This suggests that the requirement figure of 4500 dwellings (300 dwellings per 
annum) can be delivered by the construction industry with improving market conditions 
which would help the Council demonstrate a 5-year land supply in accordance with TAN 
1. 

 The Council’s objective to build more affordable homes (see paragraph 5.21 in this paper 
in relation to the Draft Local Housing Strategy). This will contribute to the delivery of 
houses and therefore justifies a more optimistic.    

 Registered Social Landlords (RSLs) planning to intensify their build programmes in Powys 
by means of building low priced market houses in order to use the profits from the sales 
to build more affordable homes.            

 Local evidence including the Local Housing Market Assessment from which a target has 
been set in the LDP for 1257 affordable dwellings. The greater number of market houses 
that are planned for increases the prospects of gaining new affordable housing through 
planning obligations.     

  Because of the economic downturn and a period whereby the recovery from it has been 
slow, there is what is considered a ‘pent up’ demand for new houses. As market 
conditions steadily improve it provides the necessary the confidence to first time buyers 
seeking to buy their own homes and also for others to rent property.  The issue of 
suppressed household growth is important as the 2011-based projections provide 
forecasts for future housing based on these past trends which would not make any 
provision for the backlog of household formation (‘pent up demand’) during the 
downturn years.

Page 324



20

 4300 dwellings were delivered during the 15 year period of the UDP  

Downward factors influencing the dwelling requirement figure  
 Mid-year estimates from recent years have shown that the annual net migration number 

although increasing in 2014 to 174 from 18 in 2013 is below the number of 405 
predicted in the Principal projection and far below the number predicted in the 10-year 
migration of 681 per annum.     

 Annual completions in the last 3 years up to the latest figure for 2015/16 have been 
around 200 units per annum that, which is well below the 300 figure required to meet 
the dwelling requirement of 4500. If 200 dwellings per year were to be used for the LDP 
dwelling requirement it would only equate to 3000 dwellings.

 The requirement of TAN1 (January 2015) for LPAs to be able to demonstrate a 5 year 
supply and deliverability with the residual methodology is a significant factor in deriving 
the figure. If an annual target figure is not being delivered this will result in any residual 
amount that is not built being added to the following year’s annual target which will 
have the knock- on effect of preventing the Council demonstrating a 5-year land supply. 
The annual dwelling requirement inclusive of the residual figures is currently at 348  

Evidence base studies informing the LDP 
5.21. The following evidence base studies were considered by the Council to derive the dwelling 

requirement figure:     

Local Housing Market Assessment (LHMA) (2016)  
5.22. PPW (Paragraph 9.2.2) (2016) identifies the need for regard to be had to other sources of local 

evidence, including the need for affordable housing as identified by the Local Housing Market 
Assessment (LHMA.)  The LHMA as updated in 2014 has been produced to assess housing 
needs over a 5- year period (2011-2016). The Assessment identified a need for affordable 
dwellings of 765 dwellings over the first 5 years of the LDP period, which equates to 153 per 
annum and 2,295 in total over the 15-year plan period.  It is considered unrealistic for the 
planning system to meet this level of affordable housing and thus the importance of other 
delivery mechanisms to release affordable homes is paramount.  Nevertheless, the planning 
system has a fundamental role to play and the LDP, through its combination of affordable 
housing policies, can certainly contribute to the overall supply of affordable homes in the 
county.

5.23. The affordable housing target of 1257 dwellings is set for the LDP. This is 28% of the LDP 
dwelling requirement and has had regard to the findings of the LHMA.

Economic Needs Assessment (2013) and Addendum (2015)
5.24. Findings from the economic forecasting undertaken as part of the original Assessment, 

together with the revised labour force analysis and population projection data produced as 
part of the Addendum suggest that employment requirements and aspirations within Powys 
are not driving the housing market in the County. 

Page 325



21

The Council’s Corporate Strategies  
5.25. The Council’s corporate objectives and aspirations are contained within a number of strategy 

documents including:

 One Powys Plan 2014-15 –this is an overarching Council document that sets the 
strategic direction for service delivery in Powys. It sets out the vision of the Council and 
key partner organisations. The plan includes a general action plan to ‘align’ the LDP to 
ensure it provides sustainable infrastructure.   

 Adopted Powys County Council Corporate Improvement Plan 2016-2019 – to add text 
on objectives of strategy which includes elderly people staying in their hom s longer  

 Draft Local Housing Strategy (LHS) (2016) – the Councils’ vision expressed in this 
document is ‘Ensuring a secure future in suitable housing for everyone in Powys’ and 
includes an objective for the Council itself to build more affordable homes. The Strategy 
recognises that affordable homes can be provided by the planning system through 
policies in the LDP, which set target contributions for affordable homes as part of new 
open market housing developments. Alongside the planning system there will be 
development programmes delivered by housing associations to deliver affordable 
housing and the exit from the Housing Revenue Account Subsidy regime means that the 
Council is once again able to develop to meet housing needs. Although, not quantified in 
the LHS it is estimated that this new source can contribute up to 720 new Council homes 
in Powys (including the BBNPA area) over the next 30- years which the Council considers 
is approximately 150 to 200 new dwellings up to 2026.          

 A Regeneration Strategy for Powys: A New Approach (May 2011) - The intention of the 
strategy was to put regeneration at the forefront of the Council’s functions and to 
outline how the Council would deliver the identified priorities in partnership with other 
agencies across the County. One of the objectives of the strategy is housing 
improvement as a regeneration strategy.   

 Economic Development Strategy for Powys County Council (January 2016) – this 
strategy document recognises the economic challenges facing the County and contains 
initiatives to help retain younger people and attract people of working age into the 
County. The four objectives of the strategy are: 

i. Grow Powys’ existing businesses
ii. Bring new businesses to Powys 

iii. Increase visitor numbers to Powys 
iv. Increase Powys’ population of working age people

 Powys Local Growth Zones Initiative - Local Growth Zones operate in the three main 
towns of the County of Newtown, Llandrindod Wells and Brecon.  The aim of the local 
growth zones is to help develop new and existing businesses within the towns by 
providing business support facilities such as conference centres etc.    

 The Joint Commissioning Strategy for Older People in Powys – Accommodation 
Commissioning Intentions 2016-2021. Within this strategy the Council is looking to 
reconfigure and modernise long term residential care provision through the 
development if Extra Care Housing, including looking for new ways of making better use 
of existing older people’s accommodation and allowing people to stay in their own 
home as long as possible using home based services. It is expected, that enabling more 

Page 326



22

older people to stay in their own homes longer will result in less properties coming onto 
the housing  market as before the Council policy and therefore the demand for new 
housing will increase during the plan period. Due to the uncertainty about how this 
policy will operate no estimated requirement amount resulting from it has been 
derived.   

Summary 
5.26. Having accepted the 2011 Principal Population and Household Projections as the starting 

point for consideration against all the factors outlined above it is, considered that a deviation 
from the dwelling requirement figure is justified. 

5.27. This deviation is required due to the recognition of the predictions from the Principal 
projection being based on a recession and the most recent MYEs for 2014 and 2015 showing a 
continuing upward trend at a relatively significant rate (the MYE for 2015 showing net-
migration at 297 from 174 in 2014.  Also the Council’s objectives and initiatives aimed at 
increasing the number of houses built in Powys are outlined in the above strategies and on 
this basis the Council has decided to deviate above the 2011 Population & household Principal 
Projection predicted dwelling number by  10% resulting in a DRF of 4500.          

5.28.  A summary of the key considerations from which the dwelling requirement figure has been 
derived is provided in Table 6 below.      

Table 6 - Summary of Key Considerations for the LDP Dwelling Requirement Figure 

Factors influencing the Requirement Dwelling number  
2011 Population & household Principal Projection  4087

 Recognition that the 2011 Principal projection is based on 
period severely affected by recession  

 The Council’s corporate strategies that include planning 
for ageing population; helping to reverse the decline in 
population predicted in Principal projection by attracting 
young people; and provide more affordable homes.

 Past-completion rates including the most recent for 
2015/16 of 315 dwellings signify that 4500 dwellings can 
be delivered during the plan period.     

4087 plus 10% in order 
for the Council to achieve 
its strategic aims & 
objectives = 4500    

Dwelling Requirement Figure  4500

The Delivery of the LDP Dwelling Requirement of 4500
5.29. Technical Advice Note 1 (TAN1) – Joint Housing Land Studies (JHLAS) with its requirement for 

local planning authorities to demonstrate a five-year land supply when the LDP is adopted 
means that the dwelling requirement needs to be set at a realistic figure that can be delivered 
by the house building industry.   

5.30. The dwelling requirement figure of 4500 equates to 300 dwellings over the entire plan period 
2011-2026. It is, recognised, however, that the first few years of the plan period have had 
annual completions rates below 300 at about 200 dwellings per annum. Consequently the 
these underperforming years that have not delivered the annual dwelling requirement of 300, 

Page 327



23

and therefore the residual amount needs to be added which results in 348 dwellings per 
annum needing to be delivered up to 2026.

5.31. There are, however, some indications that the housing market in Powys has started to 
improve since 2014. Most significantly there has been a clear upturn in the number of 
completions with 315 dwellings recorded for 2015/2016. This is a marked increase from 
previous years but not unexpected considering the upturn experienced by the Council’s 
Development Management section in the number of pre-application enquiries and planning 
applications submitted since 2014 resulting in an increased number of new dwellings being 
granted planning permission.  With an adopted LDP containing new housing allocations it is 
expected that confidence levels amongst landowners and developers will be boosted and 
market conditions should improve further which will ensure that the dwelling requirement of 
4500 is delivered.   

5.32. The indicators showing that market conditions have improved since 2014 include the 
following:

 A significant upturn in the number of pre-application enquiries    
 An increase in the number of planning application granted consent for new and 

replacement residential developments. 
 A significant increase in the number of dwelling completions for 2015/2016 at 315 

dwellings compared to previous years (at around 200 dwellings).    

Pre-Planning Application Advice Enquiries 
5.33. Although records chargeable pre- application advice enquiries (PPAE) for new residential 

development (including replacement dwellings) only began in July 2014, Table 7 below shows 
there has been an increase in the number of PPAEs in 2015 compared to 2014. 

Table 7: Numbers of Pre-planning application enquiries between July 2014 – December 2015

                                                     Date received
July - December 
2014(6months) 

January – June 
2015 (6 months)

July -  December 
2015
(6 months)

Total number of queries Received 110 300
Number of queries relating to 
Residential Development *

53 70 70

Average per month 9 12 12
*Residential development - 1 dwelling + (includes queries re: replacement dwellings).

Increasing number of permissions granted for dwellings between 2011 -2015    
5.34. Data was used from two different sources, including the JHLAS (Joint Housing Land Availability 

studies) used for the larger sites (5 units or more). Whilst for small sites (5 units or less) data 
was, taken from a small sites monitoring system (this records all planning consents resulting in 
four or less dwellings).

Page 328



24

5.35. For both data sources there were a number of instances where more than one application for 
a dwelling unit was encountered. This may have been outline and reserved matter 
applications, or a Section 73 application to vary the time limits conditioned in the original 
consent. 

5.36. The data has been recorded on a yearly basis, however, the small sites monitoring system 
changed from monitoring 1st January - 31st December to 1st April – 31st March in 2015 (see 
table 8 below)in order to make it consistent with the JHLAS studies.

Table 8: Numbers of dwellings granted consent between January 2011 and April 2015 – Sites 
of less than 5 dwellings and JHLAS sites with 5 and more dwellings   

 Dwellings Permitted
Year of Permission Sites of less than 5 dwlgs JHLAS Sites Total

2011 (01/01 - 31/12) 195 74 269
2012 (01/01 - 31/12) 176 198 374
2013 (01/01 - 31/12) 206 71 277
2014 (01/01 - 31/12) 158 301 459

 2015 (01/04 - 31/03) 169 265 434
Totals: 904 909 1813

2015 (Jan - Apr) 36

Fig. 6 Number of dwellings consented between 2011-2015 on sites with less than 5 dwellings 
and JHLAS sites with (5 and more dwellings)

Page 329



25

5.37. The chart (Fig. 6) above shows the number of dwellings given consent each year for five years. 
The data is divided between those dwelling units recorded through the JHLAS studies and 
those recorded through the small sites monitoring system.

5.38. It can be seen that in the first three years of the LDP period the dwellings being permitted on 
small sites made up a large proportion of the total number of dwellings permitted.  However, 
2014 and 2015 have seen an increase in the number of units being granted permission on 
JHLAS sites.  The increase in the proportion of dwelling units on larger sites being permitted 
correlates as would be expected to an overall increase in the total number of units being 
permitted each year.

Increasing numbers of dwelling completions 
5.39. The increased activity in the housing market which has been evident since 2014 has resulted 

in a pick-up in the number of dwelling completions in the last 12 months with a preliminary 
figure of 315 completions in 2015/2016 (to be confirmed by the 2015/16 JHLAS). This number 
of completions indicates that the house building industry has the capacity to deliver the 
annual dwelling requirement of 348 which includes the additional residual amount of 48 
dwelling per year resulting from the underperformance of the first 4 years of the plan period 
(2011 to 2014/15), when annual completions were around 200.   

5.40. Although completion rates for new build dwellings are affected by land supply and may have 
been constrained by housing allocation constraints in the existing UDP, it is worthwhile 
looking at past annual build rates to be able to gauge the capability of the construction 
industry to deliver the houses that will meet the annual housing requirement figure.    

5.41. Table 9 below shows annual completions for the Powys LDP area according to records from 
JHLAS studies from April 2004 to April 2014. The annual housing completion rates for the last 
11 years in Powys shown in the table clearly illustrates the impact that the recession had on 
the numbers of dwellings being completed after 2008. Completions fell from a peak in the 
years 2005/06 and 2006/07 of 425 to a low of 98 in 2011/12 with annual completions in the 
last 4 years being at about 200 dwellings.

Table 9:  Past Completions 1 April 2004 to 1 April 2014 (source: JHLAS)

Year Small Site 
Completions
(Sites of 1-4 
Dwellings)

Large Site 
Completions
(Sites of 5+ 
Dwellings)

Total 
Completions

2004/05 126 294 420
2005/06 131 294 425
2006/07 131 294 425
2007/08 126 240 366

2008/09 57 102 159

2009/10 121 132 253
2010/11 83 156 239

Page 330



26

2011/12 83 15 98
2012/13 76 147 223
2013/14 61 123 184
2014/15 54 147 201
*2015/16 *315
Total 995 1797 2993
Average Annual 
Completions (11 years) 99 180 272

*315 completions to be confirmed in the Joint Housing Land Availability Study (JHLAS) for 
2015/16  

Table 10: Average Annual completion rates using JHLAS information – longer term trends

2004/05-2009/10
(5 years)

2010/11-2014
/15(5 years)

2005 to 2015 Average
(11 years)

325 189 272

5.42. The Council recognises that the number of completions in the most recent years of the 11 
years have been relatively low with average rate of 189 for the last 5 years (NB This figure 
does not include the latest preliminary completion figure 2015/2016 which is yet to be 
conformed in JHLAS). This contrasts to the completion rates in the years that led up to the 
recession when dwelling numbers were over 400.  The average annual build rate for the 11-
year period was 272 dwellings. Although the preliminary figure for dwelling completions in 
2015/12016 is 315, it is considered that completion rates are unlikely to reach 400+ during the 
plan period as the economy is not forecast to return to what it was in the years leading up to 
the start of the recession in 2008.   

Fig 7 – Periods of  Migration and Completions  

5.43. There are a number of factors that should see numbers of annual completions continue to rise 
over the LDP period including the following:

Page 331



27

 The economy steadily improving with there being definite signs of a ‘pick- up’ in Powys 
since 2014.

 An adopted LDP including fresh housing allocations should help boost confidence 
amongst landowners and developers and see more sites coming forward.  

 House prices increasing in other parts of the UK including neighbouring Shropshire, the 
west Midlands and Swansea but prices in Powys itself having remained largely static 
which may result in more people to moving to the County including early retirees who 
now have the ability to access to their pensions pots earlier.

  Due partly to the economic downturn and lack of borrowing/credit available there has 
been a delay of young people either buying or renting their own house resulting in a 
pent up demand. However, this ‘pent -up’ demand is beginning to be released with 
improving credit conditions and government initiatives to help people purchase their 
own home including Help to Buy ISA schemes to help people save for the deposit; 
shared equity schemes and parents better able to help their children buy their own 
home due to reasons such as it being made easier for people to access their pension 
pots earlier.

 Registered Social Landlords (RSLs) are becoming more active in building low cost 
market houses. 

 The Council’s programme to build more affordable houses with funding from such 
sources as Social Housing Grant

Page 332



28

6. Conclusion 

6.1. The starting year of the Powys LDP period of 2011 and the years up to 2014 has coincided with 
a period when the economy has been in slow recovery from a deep economic downturn.  In 
this period the levels of net migration and dwelling completions were low when compared to 
the years preceding the recession that experienced high levels of growth, a level unlikely to be 
reached again during the plan period. 

6.2. The graph in Fig. 7 shows the three periods with contrasting economic conditions that have 
been identified since 2002 including a period of high growth and a deep recession. Although 
the immediate aftermath of the recession has seen only a slow rate of growth. However, there 
have been recent signs of confidence returning to the housing market in Powys.  The Council 
considers that the ‘pick- up’ in the market since 2014 confirms that the deviation above the 
Principal projection (4087) of the dwelling requirement figure to 4500 is a reasonable one to 
take forward in the LDP. This is having taken into account all the factors discussed in this 
paper including the Council’s objectives in its various corporate strategies as well as the need 
trends in the delivery of the dwellings.      

6.3. It is considered that the dwelling requirement figure of 4500 will allow the aims and objectives 
contained within the Council’s various corporate strategies to be achieved, as well as the 
Council’s socio-economic aspirations set out under the Plan’s Strategy, LDP Objective 1 and 
Strategic Policies SP1 (Settlement Strategy), H1 (Housing Provision), H4 (Affordable Housing 
Provision) and E1 (Employment Requirements). 

Page 333



This page is intentionally left blank



1

Powys Local Development Plan

Explanation of the Housing Commitments

Powys County Council

September 2016

Page 335



2

Contents

Introduction 3

Housing Commitments 3

Delivery of housing from sites with planning permission in Powys 4

Non-delivery of HC sites 5

Clarification of the sites identified by the Inspector 5

Conclusion 6

Appendix 1: Assessment of Selected Committed Sites 7

Page 336



3

1 Introduction 

1.1 The Council’s LDP overall housing supply for the LDP consists of a number of different 
sources including new housing allocations (HA), windfall sites and also sites with extant 
planning permissions known as housing commitments (HC). This topic paper explains the 
numbers of housing units that could be delivered realistically from HC sites in the plan 
period. In response to a request from the Inspector appointed to hold the Powys LDP EiP this 
paper also provides clarification about the deliverability of ten sites included as HC sites in 
the LDP housing supply with constraints that may compromise their development. 

2 Housing Commitments (HC)

2.1 A breakdown is provided in Table 1 below of HC sites that have been completed since 
01/04/2011 to 31/03/2015, are currently under construction and have planning permission 
but not started and is explained further below:

 Row A shows completions totalling 622 on both small sites (less than 5 units) and large sites 
(5 or more units) from the start of the LDP period (01/04/2011) to 31/03/2015. 

 Row B includes the total number of units (large sites) at 162 that have planning permission 
and were under construction, as of the 31/03/2015.

 Row C shows the total number of units of 1017 on large sites with extant planning 
permission, as of the 31/03/2015.

 Row D shows the total number of units on sites with extant planning permission (row c) 
minus 40% discounted which is 610 units (1017 minus 407). The discount is explained in 
Section 4 of this paper.

Page 337



4

Table 1: Breakdown of Powys LDP Housing Commitment (HC) sites 

Towns Large 
Village

Small 
Village

Rural / 
Other

Totals

A Total Completions 
01/04/2011 – 
31/03/2015 –  Small 
and Large Sites

233 154 43 192 622

B Appendix 1 Housing 
Commitment Sites - 
Units Under 
Construction

119 37 5 1 162

C Housing Commitment 
Sites – Units  Not 
Started

564 327 103 23 1017
Assumes 
100% 
delivery of 
HC units

D Housing Commitment 
Sites (minus delivery 
allowance) 

338 196 62 14 610 40% discount 
applied 

Source: Powys County Council UDP and development management monitoring and JHLAS (2015) 

3 Delivery of housing from sites with planning permissions in Powys 

3.1 As a result of the monitoring of the UDP and planning applications and permissions the 
Council recognises that not all the sites identified as allocations and committed sites will 
realistically be developed within the plan period. 

3.2 In relation specifically to housing allocations included in the LDP, account is being taken of 
the likelihood of a proportion of allocated sites not being developed within the plan period. 
The LDP dwelling provision is therefore being set at a figure 24% higher than the dwelling 
requirement figure of 4500 in order to provide a greater range and choice of sites across the 
County in order to help ensure housing delivery. A separate Topic Paper provides further 
explanation on Housing Allocations. 

3.4 In relation to the Housing Commitment (HC) sites the Council recognises that not all sites 
with planning permission will be developed within the plan period.  The Council undertakes 
monitoring of planning applications and permissions relating to residential development in 
order to inform the JHLAS process. A total of some 4300 new houses were added to the total 
housing stock in Powys in the UDP period (15 years), however, 38% of the total residential 
units contained within the UDP allocations that have or had planning permission, have not 
been developed. 

Page 338



5

3.5  There are various reasons why sites with planning permission are not developed including: 

 Land ownership and commercial issues.
 The changing circumstances around viability of developing sites.
 Local market conditions e.g. sites located in villages where there is limited demand.
 Economic conditions e.g. the recession 2008 -2012 affected the building industry and 

demand for houses.

3.6 An analysis of planning permissions over the last 15 years shows that a sites are developed 
incrementally i.e. even those sites with a relatively small number of units are often built over 
several years and some sites are only partly developed. A high percentage of sites where 
development has been delayed for various reasons have had time extensions to their planning 
permissions. There are also sites which that have not yet been developed that are 
approaching their 5 year expiry date that would not comply with policies contained in the LDP 
and it is therefore unlikely they would have their permission periods extended, if and when 
applied for.

4. Non-delivery allowance of HC sites 

4.1 Having had regard to previous development, the Council is consequently applying a 40% 
non-delivery allowance to the housing commitments that have planning permission but have 
not started. The non- delivery allowance has been derived by rounding up the percentage of 
units in UDP allocations (38%) that have not been developed. The discount is in order to take 
account of sites with planning permission that the monitoring is showing will not be 
developed within the LDP period. The total number of housing commitment sites that have 
planning permission that have not started is 1017 units.  With a 40% discount applied the 
realistic number of units expected to be delivered within the LDP period is 610 units (see 
Row D in Table 1). 

5 Clarification of the sites identified by the Inspector 

5.1 The Inspector appointed for the Powys LDP EiP has sought clarification (letters dated 5th 
April 2016 and 25th May 2016) from the Council on ten (HC) sites included in the LDP 
housing supply. The sites are included in the JHLAS (2015) which identifies the constraints 
associated with them that could possibly compromise their delivery within the plan period. 

5.2 The tables contained in Appendix 1 to this paper provides details of the constraints 
associated with each of the ten sites including water supply/sewage and land ownership. 
The table shows that two of the ten sites have already been completed in accordance with 
the planning permissions and the other eight sites, in the main appear to be progressing 
with the typical reasons for delay being identified for each of them including variations to 
their conditions approved and the finalisation of s.106 agreements and payments.  One of 
the ten sites appears to have been delayed due primarily to market conditions in recent 
years not being conducive to development happening and the landowner failing to find a 
developer but in the last 18 months the market appears to have picked up and the 
landowner is positive of the site being developed within the plan period  

Page 339



6

5.3 The tables also include the forecasted time period for completing each site taken from the 
emerging JHLAS 2016. 

6 Conclusion 

6.1 The reasons that have been identified for development being delayed on several sites in the 
ten identified by the Inspector  appear to be typical of those that result in delays on other 
sites with planning permission for residential development in Powys and elsewhere in 
Wales.  The Council therefore acknowledges that there will be sites with extant planning 
permission (including possibly some of the ten sites identified by the Inspector) that will not 
be developed within the plan period. Consequently, the Council is applying a 40% non- 
delivery allowance to the total number of HC sites that have yet to be commenced, resulting 
in 610 units that will contribute to the overall housing supply of the LDP.  

Page 340



7

Appendix 1: Assessment of Selected Committed Sites

Page 341



8

Settlement Site Name No. of 
Dwelling 

Units

Indicative phasing 
2016 JHLAS

Builth Wells Hay Road Garage
P08 HC2

11 Autumn/Winter 
2018/2019

Planning History:

B/07/0053 (Consented on 15/02/2008) Application to demolish garage and build 11 dwellings (8 
flats on bigger site, and 2 flats and bungalow on smaller part). 

P/2012/0681: (Conditional Consent 20/11/2012) Variation of Condition: Conditions 2 and 3 of 
B/07/0053 (alteration to plans) - (to raise roof height and add windows in the roof to create 
second floor, to change external materials, reduce car parking spaces on small site from 6 to 5) 
and remove requirement for local needs housing. 

VAR/2012/0016: Application approved to discharge S106 to remove the requirements for housing 
to meet local need and revert to floor plans of B/07/0053. 

Site owned by individual Directors, not a company since liquidated. Condition 23 of the B/07/0053 
Permission has been renegotiated for the work on the highway surface to be done after 
construction work complete (as yet only verbal agreement). Other Pre-commencement 
Conditions also now satisfied (Contaminated Land, Knotweed), awaiting Powys signs to be 
relocated. Application to Discharge Conditions will then be made.  Directors haven’t been able to 
find a buyer so are now keen to develop it themselves. 

Site taken off the market. James Dean (Builth) engaged to market the finished units.

JHLAS Constraint (2015) Indicative 
Costs (£)

Delivery 
Mechanism / 

Funding Source / 
Time Frame

S106: Affordable Housing (discharged under VAR/2012/0016) 
and Pre-commencement requirement to resurface road 
(negotiated and agreed (verbally) to waive this requirement 
until after Construction completed) and awaiting a 
forthcoming Discharge of Condition Application. 

Negligible Developer 
Signed 29/01/2008

Land Contamination: cited as a condition to B/07/0053. This 
has been carried out and PCC satisfied as such. Agent has 
email from PCC Land Contamination confirming this. Will be 
the subject of a forthcoming Application to Discharge 
Condition.

None Application to 
Discharge 

Condition required 
before 

development can 
commence

Japanese Knotweed: cited as a condition to B/07/0053. This 
remediation has been carried out.  Will be the subject of a 
forthcoming Application to Discharge Condition.

None See above

COMMENTS:
The principle of developing the site has been established by 
the implementation of the planning permission and 

Page 342



9

demolition of all existing buildings on the site. Foundations 
constructed on part of site, which demonstrates that the 
above mentioned constraints are capable of being resolved.   

The infrastructure and other requirements and costs involved 
in developing the site are considered to be normal costs 
associated with this type and location of development.

Page 343



10

Settlement Site Name No. of 
Dwelling 

Units

Indicative phasing 
2016 JHLAS

Builth Wells The Old Cottage Hospital, Hospital 
Road
P08 HC3

17 Site
Completed

Planning History:

P/2013/1190. Conditional Consent given (on 10/09/2014) to Wales & West Housing Association 
for Full Application to demolish Hospital and replace with 17 Affordable Dwellings.

JHLAS Constraint (2015) Indicative 
Costs (£)

Delivery 
Mechanism / 

Funding Source / 
Time Frame

COMMENTS:
All units completed

N/A N/A

Page 344



11

Settlement Site Name No. of 
Dwelling 

Units

Indicative phasing 
2016 JHLAS

Knighton Former Clothing Factory, West Street
P24 HC1

21 2021/22

Planning History:

PR73301 - Residential development (outline) comprising 14 market dwelling and 7 affordable 
dwellings including demolition of existing redundant factory building.  Outline planning was 
granted on 9th August 2007.

P/2010/0798 – Variation of Condition -Decision 06/06/2012 extension granted for planning 
consent for an extra 5 years. The site was also cleared in 2010.   

P/2015/0419 – Variation of condition 2 of P/2010/0798 to extend time limit, decision: Consent 
18/06/2015. 

Section 106

The first S106 agreement was signed in 2007 but ran out at the same time as the planning 
permission for the following application PR73301.

The second S106 agreement was signed on 30/05/2012, the agreement involved paying the 
Council £6,850 before any dwelling is erected. The S106 agreement also included ensuring the 
seven affordable housing dwellings are occupied by persons who satisfy the criteria for occupants 
of affordable housing. 

JHLAS Constraint (2015) Indicative 
Costs (£)

Delivery 
Mechanism / 

Funding Source / 
Time Frame

Ownership:  Willowridge International Ltd. - TBC

Section 106: The first S106 agreement was signed in 2007 but 
ran out at the same time as the planning permission for the 
following application PR73301.

The second S106 agreement was signed on 30/05/2012, the 
agreement involved paying the Council £6,850 before any 
dwelling is erected. The S106 agreement also included 
ensuring the seven affordable housing dwellings are occupied 
by persons who satisfy the criteria for occupants of affordable 
housing.

£6,850 Developer

Contamination: The potential issues identified at the site are:

 Oils and tars
 Chemical substances
 Asbestos materials;

£5k-80k Developer

Page 345



12

 Unknown tipped materials.
A site investigation (SI) will be required and risk assessment 
undertaken, after which the appropriate level of remediation 
can be determined

Heritage: Offa’s Dyke Scheduled Ancient Monument - The site 
overlies the Offa’s Dyke monument therefore further 
consents and archaeological intervention may be required. 

1k-20k Developer

COMMENTS:

The principle of developing the site has been established by 
the implemented planning permission and demolition of all 
existing buildings on the site, which demonstrates that the 
above mentioned constraints are capable of being resolved.

The infrastructure and other requirements and costs involved 
in developing the site are considered to be normal costs 
associated with this type and location of development.

Page 346



13

Settlement Site Name No. of 
Dwelling 

Units

Indicative phasing 
2016 JHLAS

Llandrindod Wells Land adjacent Autopalace
P28 HC3

22 Between 2021-
2024, at a rate of 
6-8 units per year.

Planning History:
This site has been subject of a series of historic planning applications and permissions, the most 
recent of which are as follows:

Full planning permission PR11621 (RAD/2006/0024) for permission for erection of 10 town 
houses, a block of 12 apartments, associated parking and new vehicular access was granted 
conditional consent on 10/03/06.

Associated listed building consent PR11622 also granted conditional consent on 14/03/16.

A technical start has been made on the development approved under PR114621 as demolition 
works comprised in the approved development have taken place.

It is understood that the developer is planning a revised proposal for this site, and therefore the 
development of this site may not proceed as approved. However, it is understood that the 
developer is actively seeking to take forward an alternative scheme.

JHLAS Constraint (2015) Indicative 
Costs (£)

Delivery 
Mechanism / 

Funding Source / 
Time Frame

Developer Intention: The developer feels the current planning 
is not suitable for the site, going to go back to planning to 
change development type to sheltered housing.

N/A N/A

Highways:
 Construction of an internal road to adoptable 

standard.
 Construction of access onto the A483.
 Provision of parking and turning areas within the site.
 Provision for surface water drainage.

TBC Infrastructure to 
be provided by the 
developer.

Built Heritage Conservation:
 Adjacent to Grade II* Listed Building.
 Within the Conservation Area.
 Adjacent to Grade II* Historic Park and Garden.

Conditions attached to the implemented planning permission 
specify the use of natural roofing slate and details of other 
features are also controlled.  An appropriate landscaping 
scheme would also be required.

TBC An appropriate 
design solution to 
be provided by the 
developer.

Contamination: Potential for contamination as a result of the Unknown Work associated 

Page 347



14

former use of the site as garage and workshops.

NOTE: no contaminated land requirements as part of the 
implemented planning permission.

as 
dependent 
on the level 
of risk.

with 
contamination to 
be carried out by 
the developer.

COMMENTS:
The principle of developing the site has been established by 
the implemented planning permission, which demonstrates 
that the above mentioned constraints are capable of being 
resolved. The exact requirements that would apply to an 
alternative scheme will depend on the nature and scale of the 
scheme put forward.  However, any alternative scheme put 
forward would be considered in light of the fallback position 
provided by the implemented planning permission.

The infrastructure and other requirements and costs involved 
in meeting these requirements are considered to be normal 
costs associated with this type and location of development.

Page 348



15

Settlement Site Name No. of 
Dwelling 

Units

Indicative phasing 
2016 JHLAS

Llanidloes Land at Hafren Furnishers
P35 HC2

23 2018/19

Planning History:

M/2004/0483: Residential development (outline) including demolition of existing buildings. 
Refused 18/08/2004 – insufficient information to assess the application in respect of flood risk, 
effect on highway safety and how the proposals would provide affordable housing to meet local 
housing needs.

P/2008/0406 Outline planning permission granted for the erection of 23 dwellings and associated 
works 11/02/2013. The outline is live until 10/02/2018 for reserved matters to be submitted.

JHLAS Constraint (2015) Indicative 
Costs (£)

Delivery 
Mechanism / 

Funding Source / 
Time Frame

Contamination: The main issues identified at the site are:
 Below and above ground fuel storage tanks;
 Metal working and welding processes;
 Former paint shed;
 Historical fuel distribution point;
 Made ground;
 Asbestos materials;
 Unknown tipped materials.

If the site were to be developed for any use then a site 
investigation (SI) will be required. To facilitate the SI, 
demolition of existing buildings will be required.

Without the site undergoing investigation and risk assessment 
it is not possible to determine appropriate levels of 
remediation. I would estimate ball park figures of between 
£10k and £80k for site investigations. After the first phase of 
SI it will be easier to estimate future SI costs.

10k-80k Developer

Heritage: Site within historic centre of town and may require 
archaeological intervention.

TBC TBC

COMMENTS:
This site is a brownfield site within the town development 
limits. Delivery of site is awaiting submission of reserved 
matters application with assessment of flood risk. The 
indicative phasing is timed to allow for reserved matters to be 
submitted. 
NB. This site was placed in Cat.3 in error in the 2015 Study 
which went un-noticed until the 2016 survey was carried out. 
It went in the Study for the first time in 2013 in Cat. 2 and 

Page 349



16

again in 2014. It has been placed back in Cat. 2 for 2016 in 
expectation of reserved matters being submitted and the site 
remediation issues being resolved.

Discussions ongoing between site owner and developer 
regarding responsibilities for costs for site remediation and 
Flood Consequences Assessment.

Page 350



17

Settlement Site Name No. of 
Dwelling 

Units

Indicative phasing
2016 JHLAS 

Llanwrtyd Wells Meadow View, off Station Road
P39 HC3

19 2020 - 2021

Planning History:

B/88/4810, B/91/6027, B/96/0132: Outline PP granted for 16 dwellings.

B/05/0014: Outline PP granted in Aug 06 for 20 dwellings.

P/2009/0296: Full PP granted in June 2010 for 17 dwellings including 6 Affordable units.

P/2015/0289: Full PP granted for variation of Condition 1 to allow a further 5 years for 
development to take place, and amending dwelling number from 17 to 19 (no date on the letter 
but public website states 02/07/2015). 2015 Application seems to have no renegotiated S106 
attached to it referring to any Affordable Housing number so assume the 6 still remain (as found 
in 2015 plans (J08/71 P02 B).

Latest communication with Agent (21/07/2016); Site has been marketed for development for 4 or 
5 years with only occasional interest. A developer who the owner is already working with on 
another site currently being developed in Ceredigion is looking to develop this site under similar 
agreement. Developer is currently looking at working up plans to ‘tweak’ existing layout prior to 
submitting a planning application.

JHLAS Constraint (2015) Indicative 
Costs (£)

Delivery 
Mechanism / 

Funding Source / 
Time Frame

S106: Affordable Housing (6 units: 4 dwellings + 2 flats) N/A Signed 02/06/2010

COMMENTS:
The principle of developing the site has been established by 
the extant planning permission, which demonstrates that the 
above mentioned constraints are capable of being resolved.   
The exact requirements that would apply to an alternative 
scheme will depend on the nature and scale of the scheme 
put forward.

Page 351



18

Settlement Site Name No. of 
Dwellings

Indicative phasing 
2016 JHLAS

Montgomery Land at New Road
P45 HC1

Site has 45 
in total – 
32 
completed 
pre-LDP, 13 
completed 
since 
1/04/11

Site
Completed

Planning History:

Various Planning Consents – outline, reserved matters and full.   Been developed in phases/partly 
piecemeal.   Shown in Powys Unitary Development Plan as site M176 HA2.

Site has been signed off as complete in the 2016 JHLAS Study.  The site has 45 completions in total 
not the 50 anticipated by the UDP.   The developer has indicated that he does not expect any 
further dwellings on this site.    13 dwellings have been completed since 1/04/11, the start of the 
LDP plan period.  The last consent was for full p.p. granted in 2010 for 4 dwellings (described as 
plots 21-24 so effectively a design resubmission/substitution of house types) which have been 
recorded as complete.

JHLAS Constraint (2015) Indicative 
Costs (£)

Delivery 
Mechanism / 

Funding Source / 
Time Frame

COMMENTS:
With regard to the 31 dwellings shown as not started and in 
category 3 of the 2015 JHLAS, this was an administrative error 
due to the changeover of recording systems between planning 
policy and building control. Error was carried forward in the 
published trajectory paper.

JHLAS 2016 (site record number: 24) has now been amended 
to correct the error.

The site has never had planning permission for 76 dwellings.

Page 352



19

Settlement Site Name No. of 
Dwelling 

Units

Indicative phasing 
2016 JHLAS

Newtown Land at Severn Heights (Brimmon 
Close)
P48 HC4

23 Between 2018 - 
2020 at a rate of 
11-12 units per 

year.

Planning History:

This site has been subject of a series of historic planning applications and permissions, the most 
recent of which are as follows:

M2003/0511 Residential development and formation of vehicular access (outline) – Conditional 
Consent subject to section 106 agreement 20/06/06.

M/2007/0029  Reserved matters application for siting, design, external appearance, access and 
landscaping, in connection with the erection of 41 no. dwellings (phase 1) – Approved 14/08/07.

P2008/1620 Reserved matters application for siting, appearance, design, access and landscaping in 
connection with planning application M2003 0511 – Approved 09/01/2009 (phase 2).

Phase 1 of the development has been completed and a technical start has been made on the 
planning permission for phase 2.  The foundations for one unit have been laid with the walls partly 
built on phase 1.

JHLAS Constraint (2015) Indicative 
Costs (£)

Delivery 
Mechanism / 

Funding Source / 
Time Frame

Developer intentions: Developer is thinking of commencing 
next year and is waiting to see what impact the Newtown 
bypass will have on the site.

N/A N/A

Highways work:
 Construction of internal estate road.
 Implement a 20 mph speed limit.
 Traffic calming measures.
 Surface water drainage.

N/A The requirements 
of planning 
conditions and 
section 106 
requirements 
relating to off-site 
highway works 
have already been 
carried out in 
connection with 
phase 1 of this 
development.  On-
site highways and 
drainage works 
associated with 
phase 2 of the 
development to be 
carried out by the 
developer.

Page 353



20

Open Space:
 Provision of open space amenity land
 A contribution towards maintenance of the open 

space if the land is transferred to the Town Council.
 A management scheme for the open space if land is 

not transferred to Town Council.
 Contribution towards enhancing open/amenity space 

and/or play facilities within the Treowen area.

It is understood that the Town Council declined the offer 
to take on management responsibility, and therefore a 
management plan was submitted, approved and 
implemented.

£20,000 total 
for 
maintenance.

£1,000 per 
dwelling.

The requirements 
within the Section 
106 agreement 
were required to 
be met prior to 
occupancy of any 
dwellings on the 
land.  The first 
phase of this 
scheme is 
occupied.

Affordable Housing: On-site provision of 7 affordable 
dwellings equating to 10% affordable housing.

N/A 7 affordable 
dwellings have 
already been 
completed on 
phase 1.

COMMENTS:
Any outstanding requirements associated with this 
development are not considered to be major and are not 
expected to prevent development coming forward on the 
second phase of this development.

Page 354



21

Settlement Site Name No. of 
Dwelling 

Units

Indicative phasing 
2016 JHLAS

Ystradgynlais Land to the Rear of Jeffrey’s Arms
P58 HC1

18 2018 - 2021

Planning History:

Site’s previous owner (Admiralty Taverns) gained PP (2011/1166) (on 20/09/2012) for 18 
dwellings, 6 of which are to be Affordable, behind the pub which is to be demolished. This 
Permission is current until 20/09/2017. 

In Autumn 2015 site changed hands. New owner plans to retain pub and is renovating it, and 
wants to lower the density of the site to approximately 8 self-builds to the rear. He has interest, 
with four plots currently being negotiated with at least two of them hoping to put a deposit down 
as soon as Planning Permission is granted for the lower density. Agents will shortly be putting in a 
Pre-Application Enquiry to this end. Site is being cleared for development.

JHLAS Constraint (2015) Indicative 
Costs (£)

Delivery 
Mechanism / 

Funding Source / 
Time Frame

S106: Open Space contribution (payment not received to 
date)

£18,000 Signed 14/09/2012

COMMENTS:
The principle of developing the site has been established by 
the current planning permission, which demonstrates that the 
above mentioned constraints are capable of being resolved.

The exact requirements that would apply to an alternative 
scheme will depend on the nature and scale of the scheme 
put forward.

Access requirements on a lower density site being considered.

Page 355



22

Settlement Site Name No. of 
Dwelling 

Units

Indicative phasing 
2016 JHLAS

Trefeglwys Land west of Llwyncelyn (Phase 2)
P54 HC1

17 2016-2018

Planning History:

M/2007/0561: Full consent for 17 dwellings to include 6 affordable units. S.106 signed 
19/08/2011.

Technical start made (JHLAS 2013). 

P/2014/0669: Full: Engineering operations to form an earth embankment to safeguard existing 
extant planning permission from flooding. Flood Defence Embankment constructed.

JHLAS Constraint (2015) Indicative 
Costs (£)

Delivery 
Mechanism / 

Funding Source / 
Time Frame

Affordable housing:  On-site provision of 6 affordable 
dwellings equating to 35% affordable housing.

N/A S.106 signed

Flood Risk  Addressed through 2014 planning consent N/A Developer

COMMENTS:
17 plot site. 1 plot is under construction.  Services are 
provided to the site. Morris Marshall & Poole have been 
appointed as the selling agents for the site 

Remaining site will commence development in September 
2016.

Page 356



Powys Local Development Plan

Explanation and Review of the Windfall 
Allowance 

September 2016

Page 357



Contents
1. Introduction                      ..........................................................................................1

2. Monitoring  Completions    .......................................................................................1

3. How the additional data relates to that published in the Focussed Changes (FC) 
to the second Deposit Draft Local Development Plan (LDP) (LDP18)     ..............4

4. Is the Windfall Allowance Realistic and Achievable?                                   ..........5

5. Re-viewing the Windfall figure taking into account LDP Policy     …………...…16

6. Impact on the LDP strategy                                         …………………………….…17

7. How will this figure be taken forward?       ............................................................17

8. Conclusion                                                 ………………………………………..……17

Appendix 1 - All Residential Completions 01/04/2006 – 31/03/2015
Appendix 2 - Residential Completions on Windfall Sites, 01/04/2011 – 31/03/2015 by 
Windfall Category 
Appendix 3 - Matrix Demonstrating How the Different Categories of Development Are 
Permitted Under UDP Policies and LDP Policies

Page 358



Executive Summary
This paper provides further clarification on the Council’s position in relation to the calculation 
of the windfall allowance. This is in response to a discussion with the Inspector at the 
Exploratory Meeting on 10th May 2016.

There is no formal definition of what a windfall site is but generally it is taken to be a site 
which is not formally included or allocated in a development plan but which subsequently 
comes forward for development. 

Previously, to derive the windfall allowance, data from a four year trend period was used. As 
part of this paper the trend period, has been extended a further five years period looking at 
residential windfall completions between 01/04/2006 and 01/04/2015.

Data has been used for small sites (those accommodating 4 or less units) and large sites 
(those accommodating 5 or more units). The data shows that in the nine year period 
(01/04/2006 – 31/03/2015) there were 2038 completions (on allocated sites and windfalls) in 
Powys of which 828 were on small sites (four or less units) and 1210 on large sites (five or 
more units). Of these 2038 completions 1114 residential units were completed on windfall 
sites representing 55% of the overall total. Of the total windfall completions 74% (828 units) 
were on small sites and 26% (286) on large sites.

Extending the trend period resulted in the annual windfall allowance increasing from 87 to 
124 residential units. This raised the question of whether a windfall allowance of 124 is 
realistic and achievable and whether the historic windfall pattern is likely to continue. To 
respond to this an analysis of the differences in policies between the current Unitary 
Development Plan (2001 to 2016) and the Local Development Plan (2011 to 2026), together 
with how these differences are likely to influence the number of units being completed on 
windfall sites was carried out.

The policy analysis on the differences between the two plans found that windfall completions 
are not expected to continue at the same rate. Where the policy approach differed, an 
estimate was made on the number of units that would not be built under the LDP policy. This 
resulted in a discount of 14 units (to the 124) giving a final annual windfall allowance of 110 
residential units.

 A windfall provision of 110 units per annum is considered to be a more representative 
provision reflecting both the longer time frame utilised and realistic future assumptions. This 
revised figure has some impact upon housing provision over the LDP period and 
consideration of realistic build rates but it is not considered to impact significantly on the LDP 
Strategy.

Page 359



1

Explanation of the Windfall Allowance for the Powys Local 
Development Plan (LDP) – June 2016
1.0  Introduction

1.1 This paper provides further clarification on the Council’s position in relation to 
the windfall allowance as outlined in the Focussed Changes (FC) to the second Deposit 
Draft Local Development Plan (LDP) (examination document LDP18). Following 
submission of the Plan the Inspector requested further explanation regarding the 
calculation of the windfall allowance. At the Exploratory Meeting on 10th May 2016, 
following discussion between the Inspector and the Council, it was agreed that in 
reviewing the windfall allowance the evidence base for the windfall allowance should 
investigate an alternative longer time frame than the four years used in the Focussed 
Changes Schedule.

What is a windfall?

1.2 Windfall sites are sites which are not included as allocations as part of the 
housing land supply, but which subsequently become available for housing development. 
They are sites that were not formally included in the development plan. Whilst therefore, 
windfalls are not planned, they are an expected type of development and, as such, 
contribute towards housing provision in Powys.

1.3 Windfall sites can come forward on both small (four or less units) and large 
(five or more units) sites. Examples of such development include conversions to dwelling 
units of redundant farm buildings or a hotel or nursing home to flats or apartments. It 
includes infill sites within a village or town within the settlement development limits (not 
on allocated sites) and also individual, sometimes isolated dwelling units that have been 
given planning permission to meet a specific local need such as agriculture or to meet an 
affordable housing requirement.

1.4 For the purposes of projecting future windfall sites that may be expected to 
come forward in the remaining period of the LDP, 01/04/2015 – 31/03/2026, an analysis 
of data has been undertaken looking at the number of housing units developed that were 
not allocated for housing at the time the planning application was submitted in either the 
Powys Unitary Development Plan or the preceding Montgomeryshire, Radnorshire and 
Brecknockshire Local Plans. This analysis was carried out for the period 01/04/2006 to 
31/03/2015, a period of nine years.

2.0 Monitoring Completions

2.1 A new detailed monitoring system (named - PCC Small Sites Housing 
Monitoring System) of planning consents resulting in new residential dwellings was 
established at the start of the Powys LDP Plan period (1st April 2011). Each consent is 
monitored against Building Control commencement and completion notices for small 
sites of less than five dwelling units, or through the annual JHLAS (Joint Housing Land 
Availability Study) for sites of five or more. All completions of permissions granted before 
1st April 2011 (the start of the Plan period) are captured by analysing Building Control 
completions data.  Using this detailed monitoring system it has been calculated that 
there have been 310 completions on small sites and 285 on large sites (allocated and 
windfall sites) giving a total of 595 dwellings being completed, since the start of the plan 
period (01/04/2011 to 31/03/2015). This gives a period of four years of data, this figure 
differs slightly to that published in the LDP due to changes in monitoring systems, this 

Page 360



2

includes the change from monitoring  from 1st January- 31s December to 1st April to 31st 
March.

2.2 During the Exploratory Meeting held by the Planning Inspector to consider the 
Powys LDP, it was agreed that the Council should consider assessing data collected 
over a longer period. To do this the five years previous to the start of the 1st April 2011, 
LDP Plan period have been considered. This involved analysing data from the 1st April 
2007, 1st April 2008, 1st April 2009, 1st April 2010 and the 1st April 2011 JHLA studies. For 
the five year period 01/04/2006 to 31/03/2011 the results showed that there were 518 
completions on small sites and 925 on large sites giving a total of 1443 dwellings (on 
allocated and windfall sites). 

2.3 Therefore, the total number of dwelling units completed in the nine year 
period (01/04/2006 to 31/03/2015) is 2038; of which 828 were on small sites and 1210 
on large sites (allocated and windfall), see Appendix 1. Figure 1. below shows the 
distribution of these completions over the nine year period.

0 50 100 150 200 250 300 350 400 450

2014/15

2013/14

2012/13

2011/12

2010/11

2009/10

2008/09

2007/08

2006/07

2014/152013/142012/132011/122010/112009/102008/092007/082006/07
Small Sites 996960828312157126131
Large Sites 012314715156132102240295

Figure 1:   Total Completions 01/04/2006 - 31/03/2015
Number of dwellings

Year

*

      Source: PCC Small Sites Housing Monitoring System, JHLAS, Planning Consents and 
Building Control Completion Notices 2006 – 2015

* Change in JHLAS methodology from survey approach to the use of Building Control completion 
certificates. This resulted in data quality issues meaning the JHLAS large site (2014/15) data has 
not been used in this paper.

Page 361



3

The Total Number of Windfall Completions

2.4 Of the dwelling completions referred to above, it can be assumed that all the 
small sites, 828 dwelling units, are windfall due to the fact that the Powys Development 
Plans (current UDP and historic) only had site allocations for five or more dwellings. 

All completions on large sites are recorded within the annual JHLAS surveys that have 
been undertaken, these comprise of a combination of completions on allocated sites and 
large windfall sites, so have been analysed to identify the windfall element.

2.5 From the total of 1210 dwelling completions recorded on large sites during the 
period 1/04/2006 to 31/03/2015, 286 are windfall units, with the remaining 1052 being 
built on allocated sites. Therefore, in total there have been 1114 (828 + 286) dwellings 
completed on windfall sites (out of the total 2038) since the start of the nine year period. 
This equates to 55% of the total completions coming from windfall sites; however, 74% 
of the total windfall site completions were on sites of four or less dwellings. (See 
Appendix 1).

2.6 Figures 2. and 3., below show the annual distribution of the windfall site 
completions over the nine year period and the proportion of large and small sites. 

0 50 100 150 200 250

2014/15

2013/14

2012/13

2011/12

2010/11

2009/10

2008/09

2007/08

2006/07
2014/152013/142012/132011/122010/112009/102008/092007/082006/07

Small Sites 996960828312157126131
Large Sites 077756232858100

Figure 2:  Total Windfall Completions 01/04/2006 - 31/03/2015

Number of dwellings

Year

Source: PCC Small Sites Housing Monitoring System, JHLAS, Planning Consents and Building 
Control Completion Notices 2006 – 2015

* Change in JHLAS methodology from survey approach to the use of Building Control completion 
certificates. This resulted in data quality issues meaning the JHLAS large site (2014/15) data has not 
been used in this paper.

 

Page 362



4

 Source: PCC Small Sites Housing Monitoring System, JHLAS, Planning Consents and Building 
Control Completion Notices 2006 – 2015

3.0 How the additional data relates to that published in the Focussed 
Changes to the Deposit Draft LDP, 2015.

3.1 The LDP Topic Paper – Phasing and Delivery of New Housing Provision 2016 
(EB29) identified a windfall allowance of 87 units per annum over the Plan period based 
on an analysis of windfall rates over four years, between 2011 and 2015. To reflect the 
additional analysis undertaken on the completions recorded for the nine year period 
01/04/2006 – 31/03/2015 the projected windfall allowance has been revisited and revised 
in this paper. 

3.2 The methodology used to calculate the windfall allowance in the Deposit Plan 
included taking the total residential completions on windfall sites (small and large sites) 
between 01/04/2011 and 31/03/2015, a total of 349, which was then divided by the four 
years (period between 01/04/2011 and 31/03/2015) studied to give an average of 87.25 
windfall units per year. This number was then multiplied by 11 to represent the remaining 
years in the Plan giving an estimate of 960 residential units.

3.3 For this review, using the same calculation as that used originally in the 
Deposit Draft, the total number of windfall units (1114) is divided by nine (to represent 
the nine years studied) resulting in a windfall allowance of 124 units per annum. This 
number is then multiplied by eleven to represent the remaining years of the Plan 
(01/4/2015 – 31/03/2026) which gives a total windfall projection of 1364 dwellings which 
equals an increase of 404 units compared to the 960 forecast in Focussed Changes 
Schedule. 

 Calculation: 1114/9 = 124 windfall allowance, 124 x 11 = 1364 windfall projection

Page 363



5

4.0 Is the Windfall Allowance Realistic and Achievable?

4.1 Extending the trend period has led to an increase in the annual windfall 
allowance from 87 to 124. This is because the longer trend period now includes years 
during better economic conditions when completion rates were higher. Consequently, the 
key issue that needs to be addressed is whether the windfall rate projected above is 
realistic and achievable and likely to continue with the new LDP policies in place. To test 
this further, an analysis has been conducted on the historic windfall completions to 
identify in which tiers of the LDP settlement hierarchy (outlined on P24 of LDP06) the 
completions have occurred and whether there will be a significant difference in what is 
likely to be given planning approval following adoption of the LDP. The analysis has 
been based on the settlement hierarchy as this is one of the most fundamental policy 
changes that will take place when the LDP replaces the current Unitary Development 
Plan upon adoption.

     4.2 The Powys Unitary Development Plan settlement hierarchy comprises:

 Area Centres (12)
 Key Settlements (20)
 Large Villages (36)
 Small Villages (100)
 Rural Settlements (145)
 Countryside

4.3 Figure 4. below shows the distribution of development across the separate 
tiers of the UDP settlement hierarchy for the nine year period, 01/04/2006/ - 31/03/2015, 
categorising the residential completions on large or small sites. The compilation of the 
different development types and how they are spread across the hierarchy are 
discussed in detail in paragraphs 4.6 – 4.45 below.

 Figure 4.

 

Source: PCC Small Sites Housing Monitoring System, JHLAS, Planning Consents and Building 
Control Completion Notices 2006 – 2015

Page 364



6

4.4 In contrast, the Powys Local Development Plan settlement hierarchy 
comprises:

 Towns (15)
 Large Villages (43)
 Small Villages (45)
 Rural Settlements – un - named
 Countryside

4.5 Figure 5, below, shows the distribution of completions over the same 
timeframe across the separate tiers of the LDP settlement hierarchy for the nine year 
period, 01/04/2006 - 31/03/2015, categorising the residential completions into large and 
small sites. 

4.6 Paragraphs 4.7 – 4.44 below discuss in detail how the changes between the 
settlement hierarchies and policies are likely to affect the windfall completion rate for the 
remaining period of the LDP. In discussing these changes pie charts are used to 
illustrate the types of windfall development that have taken place across the tier of the 
settlement hierarchy and the percentage each type represents of the total for that tier of 
the hierarchy. Only data for the four year period 01/04/2011 – 31/03/2015 is used for this 
purpose as it is this data which is most reliable and in which we have the most 
confidence. Appendix 2 details completions of each windfall type by each Settlement 
Hierarchy tier, whilst a matrix of each windfall type and which tiers of the UDP/LDP 
hierarchy the development would be permitted is contained in Appendix 3.

Figure 5.

Source: PCC Small Sites Housing Monitoring System, JHLAS, Planning Consents and Building 
Control Completion Notices 2006 – 2015

Page 365



7

Area Centres (23% of the Windfall Completions, 257 Residential Units)

4.7 This is the top tier of settlements in the UDP and includes the 12 largest 
settlements in Powys.  All of these settlements are included as Towns within the Powys 
LDP together with an additional two, Montgomery and Llanwrtyd Wells and part of Hay 
on Wye (the rest of Hay on Wye is in the Brecon Beacons National Park LDP) giving a 
total of 15 settlements altogether. 

4.8 The proportion of the dwelling units on windfall sites completed across Powys 
in the nine year period (01/04/2006 – 31/03/2015) within this tier of the settlement 
hierarchy equates to 23% (257 residential units) and of this 54% of those completions 
were on small sites and 46% on large sites. 

4.9 The main windfalls that are found within this tier are the development of sites 
on greenfield unallocated land (this includes infill) within the development boundary, new 
houses built within the residential curtilage of an existing dwelling, the redevelopment of 
non-residential land, the conversion of non-residential buildings, and the subdivision of 
existing housing. Figure 6 below demonstrates the proportion of each of these different 
categories that have been completed within the Area Centres in the last four years.

Figure 6.

Source: PCC Small Sites Housing Monitoring System, JHLAS, Planning Consents and Building 
Control Completion Notices 2011 – 2015

4.10 With regards to any policy changes between the LDP and the UDP, 
there are no significant differences, these settlements remain the top tier of the 
settlement hierarchy and have development boundaries. In some settlements the 
development boundary has been purposely drawn to include areas of white land that 
may become available for windfall development. Additionally, with the school 
modernisation programme and public sector restructuring processes taking place it is 

Page 366



8

expected that a continuation of properties across the upper tier of the settlement 
hierarchy being made available for redevelopment or conversion will continue. Therefore 
it is not likely that there will be a change in the number of windfall completions within 
these settlements.

Key Settlements (11% of the Windfall Completions, 122 Residential Units)

4.11 The next tier down are the Key Settlements comprising twenty of Powys’ 
smaller towns and larger villages.  This tier is similar to the towns above, in terms of 
policies and development boundaries and as such the type of windfall completions 
expected here would be the same as that in the towns. This is further demonstrated by 
looking at the completions data displayed in Figure 7. below.

4.12 The proportion of dwelling units completed on windfall sites across Powys in 
the nine year period (01/04/2006 to 31/03/2015) within this tier of the settlement 
hierarchy equates to 11% of which 47% were on small sites and 53% on large sites.

Figure 7.

 

Source: PCC Small Sites Housing Monitoring System, JHLAS, Planning Consents and Building 
Control Completion Notices 2011 – 2015

4.13 There is no similar tier to the Key Settlements within the LDP settlement 
hierarchy. The Key Settlements Montgomery and Llanwrtyd Wells have been up-graded 
to Towns as detailed above, and one settlement (Sarn) has been reclassified as a Small 
Village, whilst the majority (17) of the Key Settlements have been designated as Large 
Villages in the LDP. 

4.14 In policy terms, the deletion of Key Settlements simply removes a tier from 
the hierarchy re-allocating the settlements into different tiers according to a reviewed 
classification based on size (number of households) and the range of key services and 
facilities they provide. As both Towns and Large Villages have a similar policy approach 

Page 367



9

this change in the settlement hierarchy is not likely to result in a decrease in windfall 
completions.

Large Villages (12% of the Windfall Completions, 131 Residential Units)

4.15 The third tier within the UDP settlement hierarchy are the 36 Large Villages. 
Here development demands are expected to be less than in the Area Centres and Key 
Settlements, but like the other two tiers they have development boundaries and 
allocations. 

4.16 In policy terms the type of windfalls that would be expected here would be 
again similar to that found in the Towns and Key Settlements but at a lesser level, 
proportionate with the settlement’s reduced size, see Figure 8. below.

4.17 The proportion of the dwelling units completed on windfall sites across Powys 
in the nine year period (01/04/2006 – 31/03/2015) within this tier of the settlement 
hierarchy equates to 12%. Of this 12%, 89% of completions were on small sites and 11% 
on large sites.

Figure 8.

Source: PCC Small Sites Housing Monitoring System, JHLAS, Planning Consents and Building 
Control Completion Notices 2011 – 2015

4.18 In the LDP Large Villages are the second tier of the hierarchy of which there 
are 43. Some have been re-designated from Key Settlements (17) in the UDP, whilst 
some were previously ranked as Small Villages (4). The policy approach for Large 
Villages in the LDP is similar to that applied to Large Villages in the UDP, they have 
development boundaries and allocations and projected growth levels proportionate to 
their size and facilities. Therefore, again, this change in the settlement hierarchy is not 
likely to result in a decrease in windfall completions.

Page 368



10

Small Villages (14% of the Windfall Completions, 153 Residential Units)

4.19 In the UDP Small Villages are the fourth tier in the settlement hierarchy of 
which there are 100. Whilst the UDP recognised that they have little scope for 
development, they do have development boundaries and allocations where appropriate. 
The current UDP policy allows windfall developments on sites within this tier of up to five 
units.

4.20 The proportion of dwelling units completed on windfall sites across Powys in 
the nine year period (01/04/2006 – 31/03/2015) within this tier of the settlement hierarchy 
equates to 14% of which 75% of those completions were on small sites and 25% on 
large sites.

4.21 From Figure 9. below, it can be seen that within the four year period 
(01/04/2011 – 31/03/2015) there was a greater variation in the types of dwelling units 
completed compared to the higher tiers of the UDP settlement hierarchy. This is partially 
due to a change in the location of the development boundary between the 
Montgomeryshire, Brecknockshire and Radnorshire Local Plans and the UDP (a small 
number of the residential completions were the result of a planning permission granted 
before the adoption of the UDP) and a reflection of the more rural nature of these 
settlements. However, the majority of the residential units completed were still on 
greenfield sites within the development boundary.

Figure 9.

Source: PCC Small Sites Housing Monitoring System, JHLAS, Planning Consents and Building 
Control Completion Notices 2011 – 2015

4.22 It is at this tier that the most fundamental policy change between the UDP and 
LDP takes place. In the LDP there are only 43 Small Villages (as opposed to the 100 in 
the UDP) of which one has been re-designated from a Key Settlement (Sarn) and ten 
from Large Villages. 

Page 369



11

4.23 In the LDP the Small Villages do not have development boundaries or 
allocations so it is at this level that the greatest change will be experienced in windfall 
development. Any development proposed once the LDP has been adopted will be 
considered under LDP policies H1, H5 and H7 and National Planning Policy. These 
policies restrict development to small infill gaps (of one or two dwellings) or larger infill 
gaps if identified in a village action plan. Further development may only be permitted if 
small scale affordable/local needs housing or if it complies with the conversion of 
redundant buildings policy in TAN 6.

4.24 Due to the significant changes in the settlement hierarchy and the more 
restrictive policies regarding development in Small Villages it would be unrealistic to 
expect the windfall completions at this level to continue at the same rate. To adjust the 
windfall allowance to take these factors into account a closer inspection of the 
completions within the tier needs to be made. There are two elements that need to be 
taken into consideration; first, the reduction in the number of settlements and, second, 
the change to more restrictive policies within those settlements that are classified as 
Small Villages.

4.25 To analyse the impact of the change in the settlement hierarchy all the 
residential windfall completions for the nine year period (01/04/2006 to 31/03/2015) have 
been classified into both the LDP settlement hierarchy tiers and the UDP settlement 
hierarchy tiers. The results can be seen in Table 1.

Table 1. Classification of windfall completions (01/04/2006 to 31/03/2015) for the 
UDP and the LDP Settlement Hierarchies

UDP 
Settlement 
Hierarchy

Area 
Centre

Key 
Settlement

Large 
Village

Small 
Village

Rural 
Settlement

Open 
Countryside

Total

Small Sites 139 57 116 115 64 337 828

Large 
Sites

118 65 15 38 7 43 286

LDP 
Settlement 
Hierarchy

Town Large 
Village

Small 
Village

Rural 
Settlement

Open 
Countryside

Small Sites 169 132 80 124 323 828
Large 
Sites

118 100 22 20 26 286

Source: PCC Small Sites Housing Monitoring System , JHLAS, Planning Consents and Building 
Control Completion Notices 2006 – 2015

4.26 From the table it can be seen that in the the UDP settlement hierarchy 115 
residential unit completions took place in the Small Villages. However, only 80 of these 
small site completions would have taken place within a Small Village settlement as 
defined by the LDP.  This is due to the decrease in the number of Small Villages from 
100 to 43.  Most of the settlements that were Small Villages in the UDP (that no longer 
fall within this tier) have become Rural Settlements with further restrictions again on the 
types of development permitted (see paragraph 4.35 below). 

4.27 The difference in the number of dwelling units completed on windfall sites 
between the LDP and the UDP Rural Settlement hierarchy tier is 60 (124 – 64).  It can be 
assumed that the  majority of these 60 dwellings, now classified as being within a LDP 
Rural Settlement, were completed within the UDP Small Village tier and permitted under 
its associated policies.  It would be unrealistic to expect to see a continuation of the level 

Page 370



12

of completions shown in Table 1 for LDP Rural Settlements.  Therefore, it is 
recommended that the calculation used for the windfall allowance discounts those units 
which have moved down the settlement hierarchy  (124 –64 = 60, 60/9 ( 01/04/2006 – 
31/03/2015 = 9 years) = 6.67 see paragraph 5.1 ).

4.28 Secondly, the differences in Policy approach for Small Villages between the 
UDP and the LDP needs to be taken into consideration (see paragraph 4.22). It is 
unlikely that the Small Villages will see many large sites other than those that are 
conversions permitted through TAN 6. Exceptions to this will be sites forming minor 
logical extensions for afforable housing or larger infill sites where identified in a village 
action plan. However, both types of development are not expected to be a regular 
occurance. Assessing the last four years worth of data shows there were only nine 
dwelling units completed on large windfall sites within the Small Villages. These units 
therefore, also need to be discounted from the windfall allowance calculation (9/4 = 2.25 
(data collected for four years) see paragraph 5.1). 

This figure of 2.25 units is realistic as a discount figure rather that taking the 38 large site 
windfall units completed over a nine year period, as shown in Table 1 above. The 38 
units include conversions that are permitted under national policy so would not be 
included within any discount figure.

4.29 A discount also needs to be applied to small site residential windfall 
completions which come to a total of 44 residential units being completed within the 
Small Villages over the four year period (01/04/2011 – 31/03/2015). Figure 9 above 
shows that 66% (29 of the 44 units) of all completions that took place within this tier were 
new build developments on greenfield sites within the development boundary. A closer 
inspection of the 29 units completed to identify if they would have been classified as infill 
sites of one to two units between dwellings showed that only 25% of these sites fall 
within the criteria (Policy H1 in LDP06). Therefore, it is unrealistic to include the 
remaining 75% of units within the calculation being used to inform the windfall allowance 
(29 – 7 (25%)) = 22 (75%), 22/4 = 5.5 (data collected for four years 01/04/2011 – 
31/03/2015) see paragraph 5.1.

4.30 The remaining categories of development regarding conversions, 
redevelopment of non-residential land and the building of residential units within the 
curtilage of existing dwellings is expected to continue although in some circumstances at 
a reduced rate that is consistent with the relevant policies that include infill limited to one 
to two dwellings. However as changes in this are difficult to predict, this will be 
monitored, together with the number of units completed through the formation of minor 
logical extensions for afforable housing or larger infill sites where identified in a village 
action plan, to identify whether any further adjustments need to be made to the windfall 
allowance calculation at the Plan review stage. 

All of the predictions discussed above align with the LDP Growth Strategy with 
development being directed to the most sustainable locations which are the upper tiers 
of the settlement hierarchy.

Rural Settlements (6% of the Windfall Completions, 71 Residential Units)

4.31 In the UDP the lowest tier of settlements in the hierarchy are the Rural 
Settlements. These are named in a schedule within the Plan and generally consist of 
clusters of dwellings in a rural setting. Here the type of development is limited to 
sensitive in-filling of one or two dwellings to provide affordable local needs housing. 
These settlements do not have development boundaries or allocations.

Page 371



13

4.32 The proportion of the dwelling units completed on windfall sites across Powys 
in the nine year period (01/04/2006 to 31/03/2015) within this tier of the settlement 
hierarchy equates to just 6% - 90% being completions on small sites. This figure 
demonstrates the restrictive approach to general housing in lower tier settlements.

4.33 Figure 10. below, shows that the majority of the dwellings completed within 
this settlement tier are Affordable Local Needs dwellings (80%). Figure 10. also shows a 
small percentage of sites being completed on sites within the development boundary; 
this is due to the planning application being permitted under a development plan 
previous to the adoption of the UDP where the dwelling would have been within a 
development boundary (this has only happened in a very small number of cases).

Figure 10:

Source: PCC Small Sites Housing Monitoring System, JHLAS, Planning Consents and Building 
Control Completion Notices 2011 – 2015

4.34 Most of the Rural Settlements in the UDP would be expected to remain as 
such in the LDP; however, whilst the UDP took the approach of naming the settlements, 
the LDP takes the approach that Rural Settlements are defined by the following 
characteristics:

 Historically recognised / named settlements; and
 Located in a rural setting and contain at least 10 dwellings; and 
 Can be clusters of dwellings or more dispersed.

This may mean that where a Rural Settlement named in the UDP consists of less than 
ten dwellings it no longer falls within this tier of the settlement hierarchy and becomes 
reclassified as Open Countryside. 

Page 372



14

4.35 As discussed in paragraph 4.26 above there are less than half the number of 
Small Villages in the LDP compared to the UDP. The LDP reclassifies these settlements 
as Rural Settlements. However, the total number of Rural Settlements in the LDP is not 
changing dramatically to that in the UDP due to the number of UDP Rural Settlements 
failing to meet the ten dwellings criteria.

4.36 The LDP Policy is similar to the UDP in that the only dwellings permitted 
within this tier are single rural affordable homes, residential conversions and the 
renovation of former abandoned dwellings. Figure 10 above demonstrates that the 
majority of dwellings completed within this tier in the past have been the single, rural, 
affordable homes. 

4.37 The most significant change between the LDP and the UDP policy at this 
level is in the eligibility criteria of any applicant / occupier of a Rural Affordable home. In 
the LDP, Policy H8 is more stringent than the eligibility criteria in the UDP Policy HP10 
requiring the occupancy of such dwellings to be restricted to those who are in “housing 
need” as defined by the common allocation scheme and its procedural guidance (Powys 
County Council’s Housing Guidance).  Due to this there may be a decrease in the 
number of rural affordable homes receiving planning permission once the LDP is 
adopted. However, the completions recorded within this tier of the UDP settlement 
hierarchy only accounted for 6% of the completions on windfall sites in total (01/04/2006- 
31/03/2015), so this change is not likely to have a significant impact on what is 
calculated for the windfall allowance. Again this will be monitored into the future to 
ensure the policy mechanisms are working in support of the LDP aims and objectives.

Open Countryside (34% of the Windfall Completions, 380 Residential Units)

4.38 In both the UDP and the LDP all housing development in the Open 
Countryside is on windfall sites. Here development is restricted but not prevented. The 
majority of dwellings permitted in the Open Countryside are done so through National 
Policy, TAN 6 – Rural Enterprise / Agricultural Workers Dwellings, Conversions and One 
Planet Developments. In addition to this, both the UDP and the LDP have a policy for the 
renovation of abandoned dwellings. 

4.39 Affordable Local Needs Dwellings are permitted in the UDP where they adjoin 
settlements with development boundaries (with the exception of Area Centres). These 
units are classed as Open Countryside because they fall outside of a development 
boundary but on the ground they appear as part of the settlement’s built form.

4.40 The proportion of the dwelling units completed on windfall sites across Powys 
in the nine year period (01/04/2011 – 31/03/2015) within this tier of the settlement 
hierarchy equate to 34% of which 89% were on small sites and 11% on large sites. All 
the completions on large sites were conversions.

4.41 The figure of 34% of completions being within this tier of the hierarchy 
demonstrates the rurality of Powys and the importance placed on Affordable Local 
Needs or Agriculture / Rural Enterprise dwellings that remain affordable or tied to the 
business in perpetuity so as to sustain the grounds for the exception which enabled the 
dwelling in the Open Countryside in the first place.

Page 373



15

Figure: 11.

Source: PCC Small Sites Housing Monitoring System, JHLAS, Planning Consents and Building 
Control Completion Notices 2011 – 2015

4.42 It can be seen from Figure 11 above that the majority of the residential units 
(74%) completed were permitted in accordance with National Policy. The Policies that 
permitted the remaining units are similar between the UDP and the LDP. Therefore, it is 
not expected that change from the UDP to the LDP will have an effect on windfall rates 
at this tier in the Settlement Hierarchy. 

4.43 However, there are other factors that may have an effect. These include a 
reduction in the supply of agricultural buildings that are suitable for conversion as the 
most appropriate ones have already been converted and the number of residential 
planning permissions being granted on the basis of a lack of five years supply of land for 
housing. The latter has seen a number of residential developments permitted on 
departure sites, in locations that fall outside of settlements development boundaries 
(both UDP and LDP), in the last 12 months. Although being defined as Open 
Countryside it must be assumed that they are in sustainable locations adjoining 
settlements in the upper tiers of the settlement hierarchy.

4.44 The permitting of these Departure Sites contributes to the windfall figure; 
however, once the LDP is adopted the Local Planning Authority will have a five year land 
supply making it more difficult for such applications to be approved.

Page 374



16

5.0 Re-viewing the Windfall figure taking into account LDP Policy

5.1 To review the windfall allowance the starting point is to take the total number of 
completions on windfall sites between 2006 and 2015 (a nine year period) which is 1114. 
This figure is then divided by nine to produce an average for the period - 124. The 
following adjustments then need to be made to account for the changes in the LDP 
settlement hierarchy and policies that will have an impact on the windfall completion rate 
over the remaining eleven years of the plan as detailed through the assessment in 
section four.

Nine Year Average Annual Windfall Completion Rate: 124 minus the following:

 6.67 = to represent the loss of settlements allowing open market housing (see 
paragraph 4.27)

 2.25 = to represent the loss of large windfall sites in Small Villages (see paragraph 
4.28)

 5.5 = to represent the change of policy to infill of only 1-2 dwelling units in Small 
Villages (see paragraph 4.29)

5.2 This gives a total following the above discount of 109.58, which can be 
rounded to 110 residential units per annum. The 110 residential units is a more 
representative windfall allowance that takes into account the last nine years’ worth of 
data but is then adjusted to take into account the LDP policies moving forward.

5.3 Figure 12. below shows how a windfall allowance of 110 residential units 
relates to the nine years (01/04/2006 – 31/03/2015) known residential completions on 
windfall sites. The chart shows that in four of the nine years the windfall allowance was 
met with one year exceeding it by 121 units. In the other five years the number of units 
completed was less than the annual allowance by up to 43 units.

5.4 Although not included within the detailed analysis undertaken within this 
paper, the results from the PCC Small Sites Housing Monitoring System together with 
the JHLAS for 2016 (01/04/2015 to 31/03/2016) have been collated. The results show 
that there were 188 completions on windfall sites (79 on small and 109 on large sites). 
This is over the windfall allowance by 78 dwellings.

5.5 Windfalls by their very nature are unpredictable and are not planned for but it 
is expected that such development will occur over the Plan period and must therefore, be 
factored into housing provision. Whilst a windfall allowance of 110 has not been met 
every year over the trend period studied it does represent a fair assumption of what is 
likely to be achieved over the remainder of the Plan period particularly as the years 
2014/15 and 2015/16 show the possible beginnings of an upward trend. It also 
represents an allowance rather than a target, but one which recognises the important 
contribution that these sites make to meet the housing demand and needs of Powys.

Page 375



17

Figure 12.  Chart showing a Windfall Allowance of 110 Residential Units against 2006 
– 2015 Residential Completion Data on Windfall Sites.

Source: PCC Small Sites Housing Monitoring System, JHLAS, Planning Consents and Building 
Control Completion Notices 2011 – 2015

6.0 Impact on the LDP strategy

6.1 The revised windfall allowance impacts on the housing provision number by 
increasing the windfall projection in table H2 from 960 to 1210, a total increase of 250 
residential units, however it has no impact on the overall strategy.

7.0 How will this figure be taken forward?

7.1 The windfall allowance will be monitored annually to assess that it represents 
what is happening on the ground. Any significant deviation from the projections will be 
addressed through the review stage of the plan.

8.0 Conclusion

8.1 Extending the time frame to provide additional evidence in respect of the 
windfall calculation has led to an increased windfall allowance from 87 to 110. Whilst this 
increase requires an amendment to the housing provision figure in the LDP it is 
considered to be a more representative allowance being based on sound evidence for a 
nine year period and as such, is a realistic and achievable allowance. Upon adoption of 
the LDP the paper shows that the new LDP settlement hierarchy will result in some 
increased restrictions on windfall development in line with the move to a more 
sustainable development pattern, but it is clear that windfalls are expected to continue 
making a significant contribution to housing provision in Powys. 

Page 376



1

Appendix 1 - All Residential Completions 01/04/2006 – 31/03/2015

Source: Source: PCC Small Sites Housing Monitoring System, JHLAS, Planning Consents and Building Control Completion Notices 2006 – 2015

* Change in JHLAS methodology from survey approach to the use of Building Control completion certificates. This resulted in data quality issues 
meaning the JHLAS large site (2014/15) data has not been used in this paper.

 2014/15* 2013/14 2012/13 2011/12 2010/11 2009/10 2008/09 2007/08 2006/07 Totals

All Completions Small Sites
99 69 60 82 83 121 57 126 131 828

 Large Sites
0 123 147 15 156 132 102 240 295 1210

  
99 192 207 97 239 253 159 366 426 2038

  
         0

Windfalls Small Sites
99 69 60 82 83 121 57 126 131 828

 Large Sites
0 7 7 7 56 23 28 58 100 286

  
99 76 67 89 139 144 85 184 231 1114

Percentage of comps that 
are windfall  

100% 40% 32% 92% 58% 57% 53% 50% 54% 55%

          

           

P
age 377



2

P
age 378



3

Appendix 2 Residential Completions on Windfall Sites, 01/04/2011 to 31/03/2015 by Windfall Category in the UDP Settlement 
Hierarchy

Small sites and large 
Sites

N
ew

 B
ui

ld
 w

ith
in

 
D

ev
el

op
m

en
t B

ou
nd

ar
y 

 
- G

re
en

fie
ld

N
ew

 b
ui

ld
 w

ith
in

  
re

si
de

nt
ia

l c
ur

til
ag

e

R
ed

ev
el

op
m

en
t o

f n
on

-
re

si
de

nt
ia

l l
an

d

C
on

ve
rs

io
n 

of
 n

on
-

re
si

de
nt

ia
l b

ui
ld

in
gs

A
ba

nd
on

ed
 D

w
el

lin
g 

R
en

ov
at

io
n

Su
bd

iv
is

io
n 

of
 e

xi
st

in
g 

ho
us

in
g

C
ha

ng
e 

of
 u

se
 fr

om
 

ho
lid

ay
 le

t

A
ffo

rd
ab

le
 L

oc
al

 N
ee

ds
 

D
w

el
lin

g

R
ur

al
 E

nt
er

pr
is

e 
/ 

A
gr

ic
ul

tu
ra

l W
or

ke
r

D
ep

ar
tu

re

Totals %

Area Centre 17 10 2 16 0 2 0 0 0 0 47 15%

Key Settlement 6 6 4 5 0 0 0 0 0 0 21 7%

Large Village 19 9 2 5 0 1 0 0 0 0 36 12%

Small Village 29 2 4 6 2 0 0 0 1 0 44 14%

Rural Settlement 1 0 1 1 0 0 0 16 0 1 20 7%

Open Countryside 0 0 0 65 1 2 1 25 36 7 137 45%

 TOTALS 72 27 13 98 3 5 1 41 37 8 305

 24% 9% 4% 32% 1% 2% 0% 13% 12% 3%

Source: Source: PCC Small Sites Housing Monitoring System, JHLAS, Planning Consents and Building Control Completion Notices 2011 – 2015

P
age 379



1

N
ew

 B
ui

ld
 w

ith
in

 
D

ev
el

op
m

en
t B

ou
nd

ar
y 

 
- G

re
en

fie
ld

N
ew

 b
ui

ld
 w

ith
in

  
re

si
de

nt
ia

l c
ur

til
ag

e

R
ed

ev
el

op
m

en
t o

f n
on

-
re

si
de

nt
ia

l l
an

d

C
on

ve
rs

io
n 

of
 n

on
-

re
si

de
nt

ia
l b

ui
ld

in
gs

 
(N

at
io

na
l P

ol
ic

y)

A
ba

nd
on

ed
 D

w
el

lin
g 

R
en

ov
at

io
n 

in
 R

ur
al

 
A

re
as

 

Su
bd

iv
is

io
n 

of
 e

xi
st

in
g 

ho
us

in
g

C
ha

ng
e 

of
 u

se
 fr

om
 

ho
lid

ay
 le

t

A
ffo

rd
ab

le
 L

oc
al

 N
ee

ds
 

D
w

el
lin

g

R
ur

al
 E

nt
er

pr
is

e 
/ 

A
gr

ic
ul

tu
ra

l W
or

ke
r 

(N
at

io
na

l P
ol

ic
y)

Area Centre (12) Yes Yes Yes Yes No Yes Yes No No

Key Settlement (20) Yes Yes Yes Yes No Yes Yes No No

Large Village (36) Yes Yes Yes Yes No Yes Yes No No

Small Village (100) Yes Yes Yes Yes No Yes Yes No No

Rural  Settlement 
(145)

No No No Yes Yes Yes No Yes Yes 

U
DP

 P
ol

ic
ie

s

Open Countryside No No No Yes Yes Yes No Yes (adj dev 
boundary)

Yes 

Town (15) Yes Yes Yes Yes No Yes Yes No No

Large Village (43) Yes Yes Yes Yes No Yes Yes No No

Small Village (45) Infill only Infill 
only

Infill only Yes Yes Yes Yes Yes No

Rural Settlement No No No Yes Yes Yes No Yes Yes 

LD
P 

Po
lic

ie
s

Open Countryside No No No Yes Yes Yes No Yes (adj dev 
boundary)

Yes 

Appendix 3 – Matrix Demonstrating How The Different Categories of Development Are Permitted Under UDP Policies and 
LDP Policies

P
age 380



Powys County Council

Explanation of the Determination of Employment 
Land Site Allocations for the Powys Local 

Development Plan

Position Statement

September 2016

Page 381



Executive Summary

Representations received during public consultations raised concerns that employment land 
allocations for the Powys Local Development Plan had not been assessed against the TAN23 sequential 
test, and that the scale of provision was significantly in excess of take-up during the previous years.

This Position Statement describes the process under which employment land sites were identified and 
allocated and demonstrates the relationships of site distribution against Council corporate strategies 
to promote longer term sustainable growth and business development.

The alignment of allocations and strategies against the LDP objectives and long term vision to enable 
growth in sustainable locations and thus ensure the wellbeing of “strong communities in the green 
heart of Wales” has informed the allocation of employment land.

Page 382



1 | P a g e

1. Introduction

1.0.1 In response to representations received during public consultations, this position statement 
provides the explanation of the methodology and decisions taken to identify and allocate the employment 
land sites across Powys (excluding the Brecon Beacons National Park) for the Powys Local Development 
Plan (LDP) 2011-2026.

1.0.2 A defined process has been followed to identify sites for consideration as employment land 
allocations. Potential employment land sites were identified through two sources; through assessment of 
sites submitted for consideration during the LDP candidate site process and those previously identified as 
allocated employment sites in the adopted Powys Unitary Development Plan (UDP).

1.0.3 This document complements and links to other published documents within the theme of 
Employment and Economic Development as submitted to the Planning Inspectorate for examination:

Subject Ref No Document Section Date

Economic Vision LDP06 LDP Deposit Plan 3.2 June 2015
Candidate Site 
Assessments

LDP04 Candidate Site Status Report - 2015
Erratum Feb 2016

Employment Land 
Growth Options

LDP01 LDP Preferred Strategy 5.2 March 2012

Existing Employment 
Site Assessments

EB12 Powys Employment Needs 
Assessment: Property Market 
Overview & Supply Analysis - 
Appendices

- October 2012

Future Employment 
Needs

EB11 PENA Core Report October 2012

Larger Than Local 
Approach

EB12 Powys Employment Needs 
Assessment: Position 
Statement

2 January 2016

Preferred Strategy LDP01 LDP Preferred Strategy 7 March 2012
Spatial Development 
Options

LDP01 LDP Preferred Strategy 6.2 March 2012

Stakeholder 
Engagement

EB24 Economy – Employment and 
Economic Development

12.0 June 2015

Recent Activity in 
Powys Economy

EB12 Powys Employment Needs 
Assessment: Position 
Statement

3 January 2016

Newtown non-
allocated sites 
assessment 

EB12 Powys Employment Needs 
Assessment: Position 
Statement

5 January 2016

Welsh Language 
Impact

EB12 Powys Employment Needs 
Assessment: Position 
Statement

6 January 2016

Transport Access POW01 Mid Wales Joint Local 
Transport Plan

4.2 January 2015

Page 383



2 | P a g e

2. Informing the Strategy of the Local Development Plan

2.0.1 Analysis of labour market data for the County in preparation for the Preferred Strategy [LDP01] 
showed relatively high employment rates coupled with lower levels of unemployment and inactivity (than 
elsewhere in Wales and GB). These rates are fuelled by very high levels of self-employment and part-time 
employment, which reflects the relative lack of employment opportunities in rural areas and the sectoral 
mix of employment.

2.0.2 Business data for the County also highlights the dominance of micro and small businesses and the 
high levels of new business start-ups in the County. The Powys Joint Needs Assessment 2010-11 prepared 
to inform the County’s One Powys Plan [POW04] encapsulated this position as follows: 

“With its sparsely populated upland landscape, poor connectivity with the cities of England and 
Wales, Powys has no large employers outside of the public sector. The majority of businesses are 
small and there are many one person enterprises”.

2.1 The Growth Options for Economic Development

2.1.1 The Preferred Strategy [LDP01] for the Local Development Plan was published in March 2012 and 
considered growth options for the important themes of housing, employment and retail. The LDP 
Preferred Strategy recognised the need for the LDP to plan for growth and set out three growth options 
in respect of employment land.

2.1.2 At the time the LDP Preferred Strategy was being prepared and published, the Powys Employment 
Needs Assessment (PENA – [EB11] and [EB12]) study, commissioned from Hyder, was ongoing. This study 
was to provide the evidence on the likely future needs of Powys in respect of economic development and 
employment land requirements during the LDP Plan period and the pre-publication findings from this 
study were used to inform the options in the LDP Preferred Strategy.

2.1.3 The previous study was undertaken in 2001 (Mid Wales Employment Land Strategy) to inform the 
preparation of the Powys UDP, therefore the PENA would provide the updated evidence of the 
employment land requirements during the LDP Plan period.

2.1.4 The Economy – Employment & Economic Development Topic Paper [EB 24] discussed the 
stakeholder engagement undertaken to inform the PENA. It was recognised that since 2008 the UK 
economy as a whole had been in economic recession and in Powys had limited the availability of finance 
for development. During the period of the UDP to 2012, there had been a take up rate of employment 
land averaging c.1ha per annum, possibly a suppressed total reflecting the harsh economic climate.

2.1.5 The three Growth Options for employment Land considered for inclusion the LDP in as 
determined from the Preferred Strategy 2012 were the:

1. Continuation of UDP requirement (based on 2001 study)
2. Continuation of build out rates during the recent past (including during economic recession)
3. Emerging Powys Economic Needs Assessment

These options identified the following employment land requirements:

Page 384



3 | P a g e

Table 1: Employment Land Growth Options
Option 1 

Continuation of 
UDP Requirement 

(Strategic Sites)

Option 2 
Continuation of Past Take 

Up Rates 

Option 3 
Emerging Economic 

Needs Study 
(Core Requirement) 

Total (15 year) 
Land Requirement 

54.9ha. 15ha. 42ha. 

Annual Supply 
Requirement 

3.66ha. 1ha. 2.8ha. 

From LDP Preferred Strategy [LDP01] 2012

2.1.6 Informed by the PENA, the breakdown of the employment land requirement under Preferred 
Option 3 identified that the primary driver for new employment site allocations during the LDP Plan period 
was likely to be the need for established businesses to replace and upgrade the existing supply of 
premises, rather that the provision of land to accommodate the expansion of the economy.

2.1.7 Of the three options identified, Option 1 the continuation of the UDP employment land allocation 
requirement was based on out of date information contained within the 2001 Mid Wales Employment 
Land Strategy. Option 2, continuation of past take up rates, was a rather simplistic assessment of how 
much employment land should be allocated within the LDP. Option 3 provided for a more robust, credible 
and up-to-date assessment of the economic land use requirements during the LDP Plan period and had 
been informed following stakeholder engagement conducted during its preparation process. Option 3 
also provided for a level of growth that, whilst not at the level of Option 1, should not restrict economic 
growth (as Option 2 had the potential to do) and would provide a choice of sites, an important factor for 
established businesses within Powys looking to expand or develop new premises.

2.1.8 The Preferred Strategy also recognised the composition of the employment sector within the 
County. The high level of business start-ups, self-employment and micro and small businesses emphasised 
that employment growth within the County could not be accommodated solely on allocated employment 
sites as such provision caters primarily for larger scale employment development. Therefore, alongside 
the allocation of employment land to meet employment growth, the LDP also needed a policy approach 
that facilitated home working and small scale employment development to support new and existing 
businesses.

2.2 The Spatial Options for Economic Development

2.2.1 Powys’ extensive geographical size and its highly dispersed population and settlement pattern, 
meant that the spatial options were inherently ‘strategic’ or broad brush at Preferred Strategy stage.

2.2.2 During autumn/winter 2011, a series of stakeholder events were undertaken to inform the 
development of the spatial strategy for the LDP and six options emerged from these for consideration 
[LDP01], the preferred option being:

“A settlement hierarchy based on levels of service provision and size of settlement (population) 
subject to environmental and infrastructure capacity. Higher levels of growth should be directed 
to those settlements along a central growth corridor in accordance with the Settlement 
Hierarchy”.

Page 385



4 | P a g e

2.2.3 The result was a settlement hierarchy taken forward into the LDP. Development on sustainable 
principles would be targeted at the highest two tiers of the hierarchy reflecting access to services and 
existing population distributions, therefore:

 Towns: Towns are seen as the principal location for accommodating housing (open market and 
affordable), employment land allocations, any retail growth and services. Towns are also the most 
accessible settlements, most being located on Trunk Roads, with all having public transport 
services.

 Large Villages: Large villages should accommodate housing growth (open market and 
affordable) in proportion to their size and facilities. Local service provision will be supported 
through policy. Economic development will be supported by policy and employment land may be 
allocated in some.

2.2.4 Economic development in settlements lower in the hierarchy and in the open countryside would 
be supported when fully justified by the nature of the development proposal through LDP and national 
policies without the requirement to allocate land.

2.2.5 The preferred strategy for the LDP was therefore defined as the combination of the preferred 
growth options (employment, retail and housing) and the preferred spatial option. The “Central Growth 
Corridor” concept, which had a housing provision focus, was removed from the Plan after consultation as 
its necessity, deliverability and its applicability with respect to the hub and cluster approach proposed by 
the Wales Spatial Plan [Consultation Report 2014] was questioned. 

2.2.6 This is further reinforced by PENA [EB11] which identified that employment land requirements 
and uptake was largely clustered into four spatial areas across the County which reflected the location of 
existing commercial enterprises, and all subsequent analysis recognised the general distribution of 
existing UDP allocations as well as the economic connections and relationships that different areas have 
with their neighbours.

2.3 The Importance of “Churn and Replace”

2.3.1 The Powys Employment Needs Assessment [EB11] and Addendum [EB12] recognised that within 
Powys, with its high proportion of micro and small enterprises, the economic emphasis was less on 
speculative regeneration of employment land or attracting new businesses into the County, which may 
only require 3-5 ha of land, but rather on the enabling of existing businesses to grow and expand and so 
meet customer demand.

2.3.2 The importance of a having a range of modern, fit-for-purpose commercial premises was, and 
remains, vital for the economic well-being of the County and lack of premises was identified as a possible 
threat:

“The greatest threats that we would see for the County are the potential lack of suitable grow-on 
space for small business looking to expand from some of Powys Councils smaller units, the often 
somewhat isolated locations of the units and the difficult routes to market and finally the ageing 
nature of the stock originally developed by DBRW and the WDA.”

2.3.2 PENA identified that “churn and replace” to deliver the type and quality of premises for modern 
business occupiers accounted for 21-29ha of the total employment land requirement identified during 
the Plan period of 30-42 ha, or approximately 70-75% of the total actual land requirement. 

Page 386



5 | P a g e

2.4 Overall Identified Employment Land Requirement

2.4.1 An additional allowance of 6-8 hectares was identified in PENA to ensure choice and range across 
types, settings and locations of provision to reflect the County’s dispersed settlement pattern and high 
level of self-containment [EB24 – Update]. Plus a flexibility allowance equivalent to five years supply was 
added to ensure a ready supply of land at the end of the LDP period and to cater for any peaks or 
unexpected demands. With this incorporated the total estimated employment land requirement for the 
Plan period increased to 40 – 56 hectares.

2.4.2 As a result of the dominant need for churn and replace by existing indigenous businesses across 
Powys, PENA therefore did not identify a strong relationship between population growth and the 
employment land requirement. It was therefore recognised that sites for the employment growth 
identified in the Growth strategy should be directed towards existing centres with established businesses 
and allocations would be best addressed through the hierarchy established in the Spatial Strategy.

2.4.3 Economic development in lower tier settlements would be supported through appropriate 
national and LDP policies, which should be sufficiently flexible to enable the expansion of existing 
businesses or re-location to modern, energy efficient premise.

Page 387



6 | P a g e

3. Determination of Employment Land Allocations

3.0.1 To identify sites for development within the LDP, the Planning Authority invited submissions of 
Candidate Sites [LDP02]. Applicants were required to provide basic information regarding the site 
accompanied by a map showing the site area.

3.0.2 Candidate Sites submissions were received from landowners, prospective developers, members 
of the public and public authorities including Welsh Government. The Authority also submitted some 
Candidate Sites into its own process, for evaluation alongside and on the same basis as the sites put 
forward by others. The quantity of Candidate Sites received by the Authority was far in excess of the land 
required for the development needs of Powys during the Plan period.

3.0.3 As well as those sites submitted for employment use for consideration to the Authority under the 
Candidate Site process, all previous Unitary Development Plan employment site allocations were 
considered against constraints criteria equivalent to those applied to the Candidate Sites.

3.1 Candidate Sites Assessment

3.1.1 During the call in 2011 for candidate sites for consideration in the Local Development Plan 
process, 68 sites were proposed as solely employment sites, as employment/residential or as mixed use 
sites with an employment use component [LDP02]. In addition, a further eight candidate sites were 
proposed which had previously been employment land allocations in the Unitary Development Plan but 
were now being proposed for non-employment use (Table 2), but as existing employment sites were 
included in the employment site assessment (see Section 3.2).

Table 2: UDP Employment Land Allocations Proposed as Candidate Sites for Alternative Use

Candidate 
Site No

Site Name UDP Employment 
Allocation No.

Site Proposer’s Proposed 
Use in LDP

75 Newbridge-on-Wye R77 EA1 Residential
208/701 Penrhos B32 EA1 Education
663 Llangurig M160 EA1 Residential
698 Penybontfawr M184 EA1 Residential / Open Space
776 Sarn M189 EA1 Residential
958 Land adj. Village Workshops Llanerfyl M153 EA1 Residential
1048 Knucklas R61 EA1 Residential
1184 Llanwrtyd B23 EA1 Residential

3.1.2 Of the total 76 candidate sites considered (Annex 1), 26 (including the eight in Table 2 above) 
were existing employment land allocations which were also included in the Powys Employment Needs 
Assessment (see Section 3.2).

3.1.3 All submitted Candidate Sites were given a unique site reference number. The process of 
assessment of Candidate Sites was then undertaken to identify those sites which could be delivered with 
the least constraints and thus were suitable for further consideration and potential allocation in the LDP.

Page 388



7 | P a g e

3.1.4 Each candidate site was assessed for constraints (e.g. highways access, flood risk etc.) and the 
results published in the Candidate Sites Site Survey Status Report [LDP04]. The outcomes from this 
constraints study were then included in the sequential testing of employment sites.

3.2 Powys Employment Needs Assessment (2012)

3.2.1 The Powys Employment Needs Assessment [EB11] and the associated Technical Report 2 [EB12] 
identified 59 existing employment sites allocated in the adopted Unitary Development Plan. The 
companion Property Market & Supply Analysis Appendix of employment site assessment proformas 
[EB12] assessed 60 sites for land availability and potential constraints (Annex 2). The extra site within the 
Appendix is the site at Three Cocks, which had an extant employment planning permission at the time of 
the PENA analysis and was considered. This site also came forward as a candidate site.

3.2.2 Thirty-five of the existing UDP employment land sites had not been submitted as candidate sites 
for potential employment land allocation in the LDP process (Table 3). However, they were included for 
further assessment against the TAN23 sequential test as they had existing and ongoing employment 
activities on them.

Table 3: UDP Employment Sites not submitted as Candidate Sites 

Site Name Original 
Area (ha)

Remaining Site 
Area (ha)

UDP Usage 
Category

Cae’r-bont Enterprise Park, 
Ystradgynlais

1.5 Limited Local

Ynyscedwyn, Ystradgynlais 0.7 Local
Ystradgynlais Workshops 0.7 0 Local
Three Cocks Industrial Estate 2.9 0
Javel Industrial Estate, three Cocks 0.6 Local
Irfon Enterprise Park, Builth Wells 0.5 0.1 Local
Ddole Road, Llandrindod Wells 4 High Quality
Llandrindod Wells 0.57 0 Local
Llandrindod Wells 1.12 1.12 Local
Old Town Hall Workshops, 
Llandrindod Wells

0 0 Local

Presteigne Industrial Estate 4.6 0.28
East Street Enterprise Park, Rhayader 1.6 0 Local
Knighton 0.9 0.9 Local
Knighton Enterprise Park 1.1 0.44 Local
Parc Hafren Extension, Llanidloes 3 3 Local
Station Workshops, Llanidloes 0.17 0
Maesllan Enterprise Park, Llanidloes 0.85 0
Caersws Village Workshops 0.2 0
Dyffryn Enterprise Park, Newtown 9.3 0
Mochdre Enterprise Park, Newtown 38.5 2 High Quality
Vastre Enterprise Park, Newtown 11.2 1.8 Local
St Giles Technology Park, Newtown 0
Montgomery  * 1.6 1.6 Alternative Use
Welshpool Business Centre 0

Page 389



8 | P a g e

Severn Farm Business Park, Welshpool 11.7 0
Henfaes Lane, Welshpool 21.8 0
Four Crosses 3 0.75 Local
Meat Processing Plant, Llandrinio 19 19 Specific
Wynnstay Stores, Llansanffraid-ym-
Mechain

1.6 1.6 Local

Llanfyllin Enterprise Park 0.28 Local
Llanfyllin Industrial Estate 1.6 0
Pontrobert 0.12 0.12 Neighbourhood
Texplan, Carno 3.22 0.35
Treowain Enterprise Park, 
Machynlleth

1.35 High Quality

Dyfi Ecopark, Machynlleth 1.8 0

 Site fully developed and/or no land available 
*  Development proposals for alternative use

3.2.3 Of the sites not submitted as candidate sites, 15 sites (highlighted in Table 3) had been fully 
developed during the UDP Plan period and one site (Montgomery) had subsequently been proposed for 
alternative uses and were the subject of a non-employment use development proposals.

3.3 Combined Site Assessment

3.3.1 The outcomes from the candidate sites assessment together with the existing employment sites 
identified in the Powys Employment Needs Assessment were combined to enable the assessment of all 
sites with the potential to become employment land allocations in the Local Development Plan. In total, 
including all sites in Table 3 above, 110 sites were assessed for potential employment land use.

Sites for Consideration TOTAL 110

3.3.2 The combined employment sites assessment was a three phased assessment which considered 
each site against the following criteria:

1) Availability of land within the proposed site;
2) The sequential test of sites identified in TAN23;
3) Identified site constraints;
4) The sustainable settlement hierarchy as identified in the Growth Strategy of the Powys LDP.

Criteria 2 -4 inclusive were considered in combination using the sequential test approach as described in 
Section 4.0.1.

3.4 Availability of Land for Allocation

3.4.1 Of the 110 potential employment land allocation sites, 18 sites were discounted for the reasons 
described in Table 4:

Page 390



9 | P a g e

Table 4: Sites Identified as Having no Employment Land Availability

Reason for Exclusion Sites Number of Sites
1. No land remaining for 

development
 Three Cocks Industrial Estate
 Llandrindod Wells
 East Street Enterprise Park
 Maesllan Enterprise Park
 Dyffryn Enterprise Park
 St Giles Technology Park
 Severn Farm Enterprise Park
 Henfaes Lane
 Llanfyllin Industrial Estate
 Dyfi Ecopark

10

2. Site / building fully developed 
with small workshops / units 
and no land available

 Ystradgynlais Workshops
 Old Town Hall Workshops
 Station Workshops Llanidloes
 Caersws Village Workshops
 Welshpool Business Centre

5

3. Site has planning permission / 
application for alternative use

 Penrhos (CS 208/701)
 Knucklas (CS1048)
 Montgomery

3

3.4.2 This initial analysis reduced the total site number for consideration as Employment Land 
allocations to 92 sites with a land area totalling 103.7 hectares.

Sites Remaining for Consideration TOTAL 92

Page 391



10 | P a g e

4. Sequential Test Approach

4.0.1 The 92 sites where land was available for employment development were assessed against a 
three stage process and colour coded accordingly (Table 5):

1. the sequential test as described in TAN 23 paragraph 1.2.7.;
2. Possible constraints and sustainable use of land test of the nature of site to seek to develop 

brownfield sites in preference to green field sites;
3. against the hierarchical sustainable settlement strategy of the deposit draft LDP where allocations 

would be targeted towards the larger settlements in Powys.

Table 5: Tripartite Colour Coding Scheme used for Sequential Testing of Employment Sites (Annex 3)

TAN 23 Sequential Test Constraint / sustainable use 
of land

LDP Sustainable Settlement 
Hierarchy

Within 
boundary

1 Brownfield 
Site

1 Town 1

Adjoining 
boundary

2 Other 
Constraint

2 Large Village 2

Open 
Countryside

3 Greenfield 
Site

3 Small Village 3

4.0.2 Other constraints were those considered in Appendix A of the Powys Employment Needs 
Assessment Property Market Overview & Supply Analysis [EB12] and those identified in the Candidate 
Site Status Report [LDP04] and included:

 Environmental issues
 Flood risk
 ICT infrastructure
 Highways and Access
 Submission as a Candidate Site

The sequential testing matrix is presented in Annex 3 of this Position Statement.

4.1 Outcomes of Sequential Testing

4.1.1 Once the sequential test of employment sites against national and LDP policies was completed as 
presented in Annex 3, 44 sites were identified as having failed the test (Table 6) and were not considered 
appropriate for employment land use consideration. All but five of the sites were candidate sites. Of note 
amongst the non-compliant sites was the large Llandrinio Meat Processing Plant site which was allocated 
in the UDP in response to a specific investment proposal which did not subsequently materialise.

4.1.2 The 44 sites failed the sequential test due to their being in unsustainable locations away from the 
higher tier settlements in the LDP settlement hierarchy, the site constraints or a combination of these 
factors as shown in Annex 3. 

Page 392



11 | P a g e

Table 6: Sites Failing the Sequential Test

Site Name Candidate Site No.

Ystradgynlais
Blaen y gors CS 67
Cae’r-bont -
Cynlais CP School CS 720
Corner land Neath Road/ Varteg CS 830
Land north of Bryn y groes Farm CS 852
Ystrad Fawr tip CS 1157
Land at Ty’n Pant, Caehopkin CS 1157
Central Powys
Glebeland CS 63
Penypentre Meadow CS 68
Newbridge-on-Wye CS 75
Crossgates CS 1045
Ddole Road -
Knighton -
Sheep Sale Field, Ludlow Road CS 778
Fields adj. River Teme CS 1228
Severn Valley & North
Parc Hafren Extension -
Chapel Farm, Gorn Road CS 1096
Rock Farm CS 135
Land north of Bryneira CS 249
Land adj Castell y Dail CS 586
Land adj Mochdre Industrial Estate CS 1133
Sarn CS 776
Fraithwen CS 784
Land adj. Market CS 343
Land at Buttington wharf CS 344
Land adj. the Smithy, Buttington CS 795
Cefn Field CS 282
Land adj. Trem Hirnant CS 341
Land adj. Trewern Sewage Works CS 366
Land adj. Canal Cottage CS 947
Meat Processing Plant, Llandrinio -
Land at the Meadows CS 322
Varchoel Hall CS 541
Land East of Llansanffraid CS 840
Land adj. Dykelands CS 1122
Land near Station House CS 844
Ysgol Llanbrynmair CS 896
Ysgol Efyrynwy CS 964
Land at Maes Morgan CS 961
Llanerfyl Village Workshops CS 958
Brynant CS 1080
Land at Llangynog CS 1227
Machynlleth

Page 393



12 | P a g e

Land at Llynloed south of Treowain CS 835
Land at Llynloed CS 836

Sites Remaining for Consideration TOTAL 48

4.1.3 An additional five sites, either wholly or partially, were identified for alternative use, being 
sustainably more suited within the Plan as housing allocations, these being:

Table 7: Potential Employment Candidate Sites allocated for Alternative Uses

Site Name Candidate Site No.

Land adj. Broadaxe and bypass CS 782
Land adj. Bronllys CP School CS 1106
Llangurig CS 663
Chapel Farm, Gorn Road CS 1096
Penybontfawr CS 698

4.1.4 The sites at Penybontfawr and Llangurig were previously employment land allocations within 
the Powys UDP.

Sites Remaining for Consideration TOTAL 43

4.2 Exceptions within the TAN23 sequential test

4.2.1 The methodology as described above identified three sites which despite falling within the Open 
Countryside category as defined by TAN23, were judged to be worthy of further consideration, these sites 
being:

 Parc Hafren, Llanidloes (CS 100);
 Offa’s Dyke Business Park, Welshpool (CS 103).
 Buttington Quarry (CS 682)

Although these three sites were beyond proposed LDP settlement development boundaries they were all 
proposed as candidate sites and had significant advantages for the following reasons:

1. access and services have received consent and have been implemented;
2. employment premises are already constructed on parts of these sites;
3. Offa’s Dyke Business Park was proposed by Welsh Government for inclusion as a prestige 

employment site with a long term and high quality capacity beyond the Plan period [EB11, EB24].

4.2.2 As a consequence, whilst in the Category 3 location in terms of the TAN23 sequential test 
approach, the presence of extant services and longer term intentions for these sites as expressed by the 
owners were considered to be an advantage and thus a “green” consideration, resulting in the analysis 
raising the overall position of these sites in the sequential test hierarchy from “red” to “amber” and the 
ongoing consideration of these sites for allocation.

4.2.3 One site which was supported by the sequential test was not allocated for employment use, this 
being:

Page 394



13 | P a g e

 Maesyrhandir CP School (CS 903)

Although this proposed employment site was a brownfield site within a sustainable settlements and 
within the settlement boundary, it remains open in as a school and uncertainty about its availability within 
the Plan period resulted in it not being allocated.

Sites Remaining for Consideration TOTAL 42

4.3 Sites Supported by LDP Policies

4.3.1 The sequential test matrix identified 23 sites which were supported by proposed LDP policies, 
these being either small sites of 0.5 hectares or less within or adjacent to settlement development 
boundaries (Section 4.4) or larger sites with existing employment uses within settlement boundaries as 
presented on the LDP inset maps (Section 4.5).

4.4 Small Sites

4.4.1 Eleven sites were small sites of which six were existing UDP employment use allocations (Table 
8). Whilst the limited extent available for development was identified as a possible constraint on those 
sites of less than 0.5ha, they remain available for employment land use subject to proposed Policy E2 of 
the Deposit Draft LDP [LDP06] and appropriate site assessment through the development management 
process.

Table 8: Small Sites Potentially Available for Employment Land Use Through Proposed LDP Policies

Site Name Employment 
Needs Sub-

market Area

Site Area 
(ha)

Candidate 
Site No.

UDP 
Allocation

Usage Category

Land adjoining LBS  * Ystradgynlais 0.14 CS 824 Regenerate
Gurnos Industrial Estate Ystradgynlais 0.5 CS979 Local
White House Farm Central Powys 0.5 CS 389
Irfon Enterprise Land  * Central Powys 0.1 - Local
Presteigne Industrial 
Estate  *

Central Powys 0.4 -

Knighton Enterprise Park Central Powys 0.44 - R59 EA1 Local
Llanwrtyd Wells Central Powys 0.38 CS1184 B23 EA1 Neighbourhood
Chapel Farm, Gorn Road Severn Valley & 

North
0.49 CS 633 M163 EA1 Local

Land adj. Village 
Workshops

Severn Valley & 
North

0.2 CS 957 M133 EA1

Llanfyllin Enterprise Park Severn Valley & 
North

0.28 - M157 EA1 Local

Pontrobert  * Severn Valley & 
North

0.12 - M186 EA1 Neighbourhood

*  Very limited land available
**  multiple small sites

Page 395



14 | P a g e

4.4.2 Although these sites are potentially in sustainable locations, as a consequence of this proposed 
enabling policy approach it was not judged necessary for these sites to be allocated within the LDP for 
them to be available for employment uses. The acceptability for development of these sites would be 
determined through the planning application process judging the proposal against the policy/criteria in 
the adopted development plan. In total, these sites have the potential to supply an additional 3.55ha of 
employment land across the County to support local enterprises.

Sites Remaining for Consideration TOTAL 31

4.5 Larger Sites within Development Boundaries

4.5.1 The sequential test approach identified 12 sites that were within settlement boundaries and 
exceeded 0.5ha in area (Table 9). Some sites (e.g. Ynyscedwyn, Ystradgynlais; Vastre Industrial Estate, 
Newtown) were long-standing employment sites which over time had had fluctuating levels of interest 
but had not attracted recent development interest. Inclusion of these sites within the settlement 
development boundary ensures their continuing availability for employment land uses but they were not 
considered they could be relied upon to come forward for development during the lifetime of the LDP 
and thus were not allocated. Due to existing commercial premises on site, with the exception of 
Welshpool High School these sites are not considered suitable for alternative uses such as residential 
allocations.

Table 9: Larger Sites Potentially Available for Employment Land Use Through Proposed LDP Policies

Site Name Employment Needs 
Sub-market Area

Site Area 
(ha)

Candidate 
Site No.

UDP 
Allocation

Usage 
Category

Ynyscedwyn Ystradgynlais 0.7 - B34 EA2 Local
Javel Industrial Estate Central Powys 0.6 - B26 EA1 Regenerate
Cae Bach, Ddole Road Central Powys 0.98 CS 933
Llandrindod Wells Central Powys 1.12 - R66 EA4 Local
Land Adj. Glandulas 
Drive

Severn Valley & North 3.35 CS589

Mochdre Enterprise 
Park  **

Severn Valley & North 2 - High 
Quality

Vastre Enterprise Park Severn Valley & North 1.8 - Regenerate
Canalside opposite 
Morrison’s

Severn Valley & North 1.03 CS 530

Welshpool High School Severn Valley & North 8.97 CS 929
Wynnstay Stores Severn Valley & North 1.6 - M165 EA1
Station Yard, Forden Severn Valley & North 1.03 CS 842 Regenerate
Texplan Severn Valley & North 3.22 - Regenerate

4.5.2 Although not considered appropriate for allocation, these sites have the potential to contribute 
an additional 26.4ha of local employment use or regeneration land across the County to support local or 
regional enterprises. The acceptability for development of these sites would be determined through the 
planning application process judging the proposal against the policy/criteria in the adopted development 
plan.

Sites Remaining for Consideration TOTAL 19

Page 396



15 | P a g e

4.6 Withdrawal of Sites

4.6.1 One site in Newtown, St Giles Golf Course (CS 483) was de-allocated for non-delivery reasons, and 
this site was removed from the LDP employment land allocation at the Schedule of Focussed Changes 
stage.

Sites Remaining for Consideration TOTAL 18

4.7 Results of Sequential Testing of Employment Sites

4.7.1 From the results of the sequential testing of potential sites for employment allocations, 18 sites 
were considered appropriate for employment land allocation, two of which were mixed use sites. Two 
candidate sites at Brynberth Enterprise Park in Rhayader (CS 102 & CS 443) were merged to aid delivery 
of the site and so form a single allocation resulting in 17 allocated sites for employment use. The total 
area of these sites is 45.09 hectares. This is in alignment with the Growth Strategy of the Local 
Development Plan which anticipated a requirement for 42ha of land during the Plan period as identified 
in the Powys Employment Needs Assessment [EB11] [EB12]. The sites identified in Table 10 have therefore 
been proposed for inclusion in the Local Development Plan as employment land allocations.

Table 10: Sites Proposed for Employment Land Allocation in the Powys Local Development Plan

Site Name Settlement 
Location

Employment Needs 
Sub-market Area

Tier in 
Settlement 
Hierarchy

Site Area 
(ha)

Woodlands Business Park Ystradgynlais Ystradgynlais Town 2.31
Wyeside Enterprise Park Builth Wells Central Powys Town 1.2
Gypsy Castle Lane Hay-on-Wye Central Powys Town 2.4
Heart of Wales Business Park Llandrindod 

Wells
Central Powys Town 3.9

Broadaxe Business Park Presteigne Central Powys Town 2.4
Brynberth Enterprise Park Rhayader Central Powys Town 3.7
Land adj. Gwernyfed Avenue Three Cocks Central Powys Large Village 3.4
Parc Busnes Derwen Fawr / 
Great Oaks Business Park

Llanidloes Severn Valley & North Town 1.2

Parc Hafren Llanidloes Severn Valley & North Town 1.7
Llanidloes Road Newtown Severn Valley & North Town 2
Abermule Business Park Abermule Severn Valley & North Large Village 2.6
Churchstoke Churchstoke Severn Valley & North Large Village 1.28
Buttington Cross Enterprise 
Park

Welshpool Severn Valley & North Town 1.5

Buttington Quarry Welshpool Severn Valley & North Town 6
Offa’s Dyke Business Park Welshpool Severn Valley & North Town 7.3
Four Crosses Four Crosses Severn Valley & North Large Village 0.5
Treowain Enterprise Park Machynlleth Machynlleth Town 1.7

Page 397



16 | P a g e

5. Alternative Use

5.0.1 The sites assessed through the sequential test approach were also considered as to whether or 
not they would be suitable for alternative uses. Five greenfield candidate sites, at Presteigne (CS 782), 
Bronllys (CS 1106), Llangurig (CS663), Llanidloes (CS 1031), and Penybontfawr (CS698) were identified as 
having potential alternative uses and these sites have been allocated for housing within the Local 
Development Plan.

5.0.2 Two UDP employment land sites in Montgomery and Knucklas were already the subject of 
residential planning applications and were considered not to have any employment land available, whilst 
a third at Penrhos was being re-developed for education use (Table 2).

5.0.3 Of the 17 sites which passed the sequential test and were proposed for allocation (Table 10), two 
sites (Gypsy Castle Lane, Hay-on-Wye and Land adjoining Gwernyfed Avenue, Three Cocks) were already 
proposed as Mixed Use allocations by the site promoters and having passed the sequential tests this 
categorisation was considered appropriate for these sites for inclusion in the Plan.

5.0.4 None of the other 15 sites which passed the sequential test were considered to be appropriate 
for alternative use as they were either:

1) Sites with existing employment use premises in B Class use and alternative usage would give rise 
to incompatible development;

2) Sites not be in the most sustainable locations for alternative usage and therefore would be 
contrary to the strategy of the LDP.

5.0.5 It was therefore recognised that for all the sites proposed for inclusion in the Plan, their 
employment use allocation designation was the most appropriate to reflect either existing use and/or site 
location and that alternative uses such as residential allocation would not provide a sustainable use of the 
land. 

Page 398



17 | P a g e

6. Delivery of Sites

6.0.1 Throughout the process of LDP preparation, all the evidence on employment land provision [EB11, 
EB12, EB24, POW05] has recognised that due to the size of the County, sufficient land should be made 
available in a number of locations to ensure choice, range and flexibility to not only attract new business 
to Powys, but most importantly enable established businesses to grow and expand into modern, fit-for-
purpose premises.

6.0.2 It has been acknowledged that since the onset of the recession in 2008 and into the first five years 
of the Plan period, take-up rates of employment land have been low, but as recognised by the Local 
Development Plan Preferred Strategy [LDP01], to plan for the future based on past uptake of employment 
land had the potential to stifle economic growth as the economy of Powys, and Wales as a whole, 
emerged from the recession.

6.0.3 Of the 17 sites allocated for employment land use, 15 are wholly, or partially, serviced with access 
and utilities infrastructure and in most instances already partially developed accommodating existing 
employment uses. Only the sites at Llanidloes Road Newtown (CS 592) and Gypsy Castle Lane, Hay-on-
Wye (CS 1100) are greenfield sites, although both are within their respective settlement boundaries.

6.0.4 The Community Infrastructure Levy Viability Study 2014 assessed the viability of non-residential 
development ([EB13] - Chapter 11). This report stated that whilst retail development such as 
supermarkets, retail distribution and hotels were viable across the County, more traditional “B” class 
usages of office space and industrial development were not viable in the current (2014) market.

6.0.5 Since the publication of this report, there is strong evidence (see Section 7) of the increase in 
interest from businesses in looking to expand and develop sites for new premises. This evidence suggests 
that the projects coming forward are through existing end users rather than through speculative property 
developers. This evidence supports the earlier studies [EB11], [EB12, [EB24] that indicate that “churn and 
replace” is a dominant consideration in Powys when developing and supporting economic strategies. 
Furthermore, this interest is currently directed towards existing serviced sites and reinforces the 
probability that these sites can be delivered during the Plan period.

6.0.6 Of the two greenfield sites, Llanidloes Road, Newtown has been identified in two successive 
development plans. In the past deliverability issues have been focussed on flooding constraints and access 
with traffic to and from the site having to traverse the congested town centre of Newtown. The 
withdrawal of the St Giles Golf Course site (CS 483) from the Plan by that site’s owners has enhanced the 
significance of the Llanidloes Road site within Newtown and will encourage its development. To address 
potential flooding constraints the site is currently the subject of a Flood Consequences Assessment being 
undertaken on behalf of the site owner and with the construction of the Newtown bypass scheduled for 
completion in 2018, the site promoters are of the opinion that “as this major road comes on line, the 
site………will become viable and developable” 1. This additional work gives the Council confidence as to the 
deliverability of this site within the Plan period and thus its ongoing allocation.

6.0.7 The site at Gypsy Castle Lane, Hay-on-Wye is adjacent to an existing high quality employment site 
within the Brecon Beacons National Park. Designation of the site as a Mixed Use allocation provides a 
mechanism to enable the phased delivery of both housing units and employment premises during the 
Plan period.

6.0.8 To ensure employment opportunities and access to workforce, all of the identified allocated sites 
are accessible utilising sustainable transport options; sites are primarily located within, or adjacent to 
settlement development boundaries and/or are located on public transport routes [POW01], [EB38].

1  Land Allocation P48 EA1 – Response to Request for Additional Information November 2015
Page 399



18 | P a g e

7. Ongoing Evidence of Activity

7.0.1 As demonstrated in the Powys Employment Needs Assessment Position Statement ([EB24] – 
Addendum Arcadis, January 2016) there is evidence of interest in employment sites from businesses 
seeking to develop new premises which is being translated into planning applications. Table 11 below 
indicates the current sites subject to planning applications by individual commercial businesses or are 
being developed as a response to strong expressions of interest:

Table 11: Employment Land Sites and Site Areas within Powys LDP currently under interest (Jan 2016)

Site Name Site Area under consideration 
(ha)

Nature of Site

Offa’s Dyke Business Park  (SV&N) * 4.65 Prestige - Serviced
Buttington Cross Enterprise Park 
(SV&N) *

1.5 Prestige - Serviced

Broadaxe Business Park (Central) 2.4 Local – Serviced **
Land adj Gwernyfed, Three Cocks 
(Central)

3.4 Local / Mixed Use ***

Parc Hafren  (SV&N) * 0.5 Local - Serviced
Abermule Business Park  (SV&N) * 2.6 High Quality / Local - 

Serviced
Churchstoke  (SV&N) 1.5 Local - Serviced
TOTAL SITE AREA UNDER INTEREST 16.55

*  Severn Valley Local Growth Zone
**  Broadaxe Extension currently subject of Planning Application to install services
***  Three Cocks currently has employment activities on site through extant permissions. Mixed Use will enable modern 
business premises to be constructed to meet existing requirements and additional commercial interest

7.0.2 Table 11 highlights that over a third (36.7%) of the total area allocated for employment land use 
in the Powys LDP has, since 2011, been subject to development interest, with 10.75ha (almost two thirds 
of site interest by area) being within the Severn Valley & North sub-market area alone.

7.0.3 At present interest is directed towards both local requirements and to prestige sites and primarily 
in the Severn Valley & North market area. This reflects existing Powys based businesses looking to expand 
and at the lower end of the scale, the possibility that regeneration strategies are beginning to encourage 
the expansion of micro businesses into SME’s, which the LDP policies and growth strategy seeks to 
support.

7.0.4 In addition, commercially sensitive data from the Council’s Regeneration team indicate that for 
the period November 2015 – June 2016, 18 businesses across Powys (and not included in Table 10 above) 
were looking for either new enlarged business premises or to adapt / extend existing building stock in the 
shorter term to improve efficiency or increase storage or manufacturing capacity. Five of these businesses 
were looking for large premises with over 10,000 sq. metres of floorspace.

7.0.5 Should this level of interest be maintained throughout the remainder of the Plan period, and 
translate into the delivery of employment premises, then the scale and type of provision across the County 
as a whole and the uplift to the anticipated requirement as identified in the Powys Employment Needs 
Assessment and subsequent updates and reflected in the allocation of employment land in the LDP is 
entirely appropriate and can be delivered.

Page 400



19 | P a g e

8. Potential Impacts of Regeneration Strategies

8.0.1 Powys has a County-wide approach to economic development which has been further reinforced 
by the publication in February 2016 of the “Economic Development Strategy for Powys County Council” 
through the Stronger Communities Programme. This recognised that more traditional approaches to 
regeneration, which are perhaps more suited to urban renewal, have not secured sufficient economic 
growth, and therefore strategies should focus upon greater support for the local economy to enable it to 
develop. 

8.0.2 The Economic Development Strategy recognises there are a high proportion of micro-businesses 
in Powys (89%), allied to high rates of self-employment, but there are relatively fewer small or medium 
businesses in comparison to other counties, suggesting that businesses are not expanding, or are currently 
experiencing difficulty in expanding from micro to small.

8.0.3 To encourage skills and population retention and economic growth, the Economic Development 
Strategy for the next 5-10 years envisages a more responsive organisation better able to support 
economic development by encouraging the development of infrastructure and enabling the development 
of a greater proportion of SME’s against a backdrop of scenery and rural and leisure activities.

8.1 Powys Local Growth Zones

8.1.1 In Powys, Local Growth Zones have been established as an alternative approach to Enterprise 
Zones, as it has been recognised that the Enterprise Zone model does not fit all areas. The model for the 
Powys LGZ concept has been to focus on smaller business and specific issues relating to the retail sector.

8.1.2 The outcome from a Welsh Government supported study in July 2012 (Powys Local Growth Zones 
Task and Finish Group Report) recommended that Powys’s LGZs be established in the following locations:

 The Severn Valley (Welshpool / Newtown / Llanidloes)
 Rhayader / Llandrindod Wells / Builth Wells
 Brecon / Bronllys / Talgarth
 Ystradgynlais

8.1.3 The Local Growth Zone approach has been taken forward in three of the above areas, these being 
the Severn Valley, Llandrindod Wells/Builth Wells and Brecon/Bronllys/Talgarth, the latter partly lying 
within the Brecon Beacons National Park and thus partially outside the scope of the Powys Local 
Development Plan; the LGZ concept has not progressed in Rhayader and Ystradgynlais. Ystradgynlais is 
within the “Communities First” initiative. In alignment with the strategy of the LDP, LGZs in the current 
three supported areas will engender economic development and growth in a sustainable manner, and 
ensure benefit to the wider rural hinterlands that surround them.

8.1.4 The largest Powys Local Growth Zone, that of the Severn Valley, encompasses three of the largest 
settlements in the County and is also recognised as one of the areas within the county with the highest 
levels of self-containment with regards employment. Reflecting this, ensuring that sufficient employment 
sites were available in this area was identified as being important.

8.2 Growing Mid Wales Partnership

8.2.1 The Mid-Wales region, which in part is made up of the administrative boundaries of Ceredigion 
and Powys County Councils, has a number of unique features that make growing its local economy a 
challenge including rurality and peripherality, but with many micro and small opportunities, provides 

Page 401



20 | P a g e

opportunities for future expansion, an entrepreneurial and self-reliant culture, space to expand, 
opportunities for infrastructure enhancements and support for growth.

8.2.2 “Growing Mid Wales” is a regional partnership and engagement arrangement between the 
private and public sectors, and with Welsh Government. The initiative seeks to represent the region’s 
interests and priorities for improvements to our local economy.

The aims of the partnership include to:

 encourage interaction with businesses, higher and further education, and with public and private 
sector stakeholders;

 identify key themes and sectors, and priorities for investment;
 support business led innovation, enterprise and investment in Mid Wales;
 support the delivery of Powys Local Growth Zones.

8.3 Regeneration Strategies and Employment Site Allocations

8.3.1 To support the regeneration strategies and initiatives, as well as recognise previous patterns of 
growth, it was considered appropriate to plan for employment land opportunities across the county as a 
whole to reflect the need for choice and flexibility as described in Section 2.3 above. However, a greater 
focus in the areas of the Powys Local Growth Zones for the provision of employment land would enhance 
support for wider Council strategies if sites could be delivered in sustainable locations in accordance with 
the strategy of the Local Development Plan.

8.3.2 The distribution of allocated employment sites has reflected the presence of Local Growth Zones 
with 33.2ha (73.6% of the total) allocated either within, or adjacent to and thus supporting the designated 
Zones, the following Zone areas:

 Severn Valley - 7 sites (22.3 ha)
 Brecon/Talgarth/Bronllys – 2 sites (5.8ha)
 Llandrindod Wells  - 2 sites (5.1ha)

Of the above, 12.7ha (28%) of allocated land is provided on three prestige, strategic employment sites; 
Heart of Wales at Llandrindod Wells, Buttington Cross and Offa’s Dyke in Welshpool. These have been 
developed and promoted by Welsh Government to provide long term capacity of the highest quality 
beyond the current Plan period. (Powys Employment Needs Assessment Core Report [EB11]). As the 
location and intended usage of these sites also align with regeneration strategies it is appropriate to 
include these sites in the LDP to provide the highest quality end member of employment sites in the 
hierarchy.

8.4 Outcomes

8.4.1 The LDP allocates a total of 45ha of employment land for the period 2011-20126, and as 
evidenced in Section 7, business-led interest and activity in sites (by area) is already in excess of half this 
figure and to ensure that sufficient land remains available during the Plan period, the provision of range 
and flexibility uplift previously identified in PENA is considered essential to provide sufficient land and 
importantly of appropriate type to plan for anticipated growth as the economy continues to recover from 
the recession during the remainder of the Plan period.

Page 402



21 | P a g e

8.4.2 The recognition of this growth pattern indicates that whilst it is necessary to provide a range 
across the County as a whole, it is appropriate to provide enhanced provision of employment land in the 
Severn Valley and north market area.

8.4.3 As a result, the remaining six allocated employment land sites (11.89ha) outside the Local Growth 
Zone areas are distributed across the County in Machynlleth, Presteigne, Ystradgynlais, Rhayader, 
Churchstoke and Four Crosses to support range and flexibility across the County and in response to 
expressions of interest by local businesses and newly constructed units on parts of sites being actively 
marketed.

8.4.4 There also remains the unallocated land which is supported by policies in the LDP which remains 
available for employment land use and which are listed in Table 7 and Table 8. These sites have the 
potential to contribute an additional 29.95ha of employment land of which 23.85ha (c.80%) is within Local 
Growth Zone areas.

8.4.5 In July 2016, the Council submitted to Welsh Government a draft Position Statement on the Powys 
Local Growth Zones for consideration by the Minister. This Position Statement described the 
recommendations and highlighted the actions achieved which support business growth and development, 
including marketing the County for new and indigenous business growth, the installation of superfast 
broadband connections for businesses, the delivery of business support through Business Wales and 
Growing Mid Wales and support for new business facilities in Welshpool.

Page 403



22 | P a g e

9. Alignment and Implications for LDP Strategy

9.0.1 The location and planned distribution of employment land allocations proposed in the Powys LDP 
aligns with the Vision for Powys 2026, as set out in the LDP in that the County:

“will be a place of vibrant and resilient communities providing sustainable development and 
economic opportunities set in a healthy, safe environment, whilst celebrating, protecting, 
enhancing and sustainably managing its natural resources, native wildlife and habitats, heritage, 
outstanding landscapes and distinctive characteristics. 

Powys’ towns and larger villages will be vibrant and accessible service centres. They will be the 
focus for integrating housing, economic and service development to meet their own needs and 
those of their surrounding communities. 

Powys’ rural areas will be a working countryside of sustainable communities supported by a 
thriving and diverse rural economy of small businesses.” 

(N.B: author’s italics)

9.0.2 The Powys Local Development Plan identifies that a range of employment sites and supportive 
policies are needed to meet the employment needs and demands of businesses, and ensure that 
employment opportunities are integrated with other sectors of society, as reflected in other Council 
policies such as One Powys [POW04] and the Economic Development Strategy for Powys County Council 
(February 2016) particularly given Powys’ size and dispersed settlement pattern.

9.0.3 In accordance with the LDP Strategy, allocated employment land is directed to the larger higher 
tier settlements in the County’s settlement hierarchy and has been informed by the principle of 
sustainable development in support of LDP Objective 2.

9.1 LDP Growth Strategy

9.1.1 The LDP Growth Strategy recognises there is a need to make provision for employment and 
business growth, even though many of Powys’s enterprises are micro in scale. Allied to regeneration 
strategies such as Powys Local Growth Zones and wider regional and national initiatives (e.g. Growing Mid 
Wales Partnership, Communities First) seeking to encourage businesses to grow, the provision of three 
hectares per annum within the LDP to enable business growth across a range of low, high quality and 
prestige sites is suitably aspirational for the lifetime of the Plan and as described in Section 8 above, the 
majority of allocated sites are existing serviced sites targeted into those areas where regeneration 
strategies are active. The manufacturing sector is economically important in certain parts of the county 
such as the Severn Valley and Ystradgynlais areas, reflecting the proximity to motorway networks, 
proximity to external markets, workforce skills and availability, and the history of public sector investment 
in these areas, and the LDP allocations and policies continue to support these areas in alignment with LDP 
Objective 7.

9.1.2 To assist in some sites coming forward, some sites have been allocated as Mixed Use sites 
whereby residential development can support the provision of high quality, fit for purpose employment 
premises in sustainable location in alignment with LDP Objectives 6, 7 and 8.

Page 404



23 | P a g e

9.2 LDP Spatial Strategy

9.2.1 The LDP Spatial Strategy identifies a sustainable settlement hierarchy and all allocated 
employment sites are directed to either the highest tier of the hierarchy (Towns – 14 sites) or the second 
tier sites (Large Villages – 3 sites), making provision across the county to ensure opportunities for new 
development are available.

9.2.2 As such, the allocated employment sites are located in, or adjacent to, Powys’s largest settlements 
and thus are in accordance with the LDP strategy for Growth in Sustainable Places, thus meeting 
Objectives 1 and 2 of the LDP. Fifteen of the 17 the sites are existing, serviced sites and / or already have 
employment provision within them thus making the most sustainable use of existing land in accordance 
national policy and with Objective 3 of the LDP.

9.2.3 Non-allocated sites which are supported by LDP policies enable existing employment sites and 
sites within, or small sites adjacent to, the settlement boundaries of Towns and Large Villages to come 
forward for development or be regenerated in alignment with LDP Objective 8.

Page 405



24 | P a g e

10. Conclusions

10.0.1 This Position Statement confirms the methods and sequential tests in accordance with national 
policy used to identify employment land allocations for the Powys Local Development Plan. 

10.0.2 Sites submitted through the call for Candidate Sites at the onset of the Local Development Plan 
process in 2011 as well as existing employment land sites in the current adopted Plan, whether or not 
they were submitted as Candidate Sites were all considered during the assessment of potential 
employment land allocations in the LDP.

10.0.3 The testing identified 17 sites which were suitable for allocation for employment land or mixed 
use with an employment component totalling 45.09 hectares. A further 29.95 hectares of employment 
land is potentially available through supportive policies within the LDP but is not allocated.

10.0.4 The Position Statement further demonstrates how the employment land allocations and policies 
in the Plan support county-wide and regional regeneration strategies and Council objectives to promote 
sustainable growth in appropriate locations across Powys. The policies are sufficiently flexible and 
allocations of employment land appropriate to thus be in full alignment with the Growth Strategy and 
Spatial Strategy of the Powys Local Development Plan 2011-2026.

Page 406



1 | P a g e

Annexes

Page 407



2 | P a g e

Annex 1: Candidate Sites Submitted for Employment Use Consideration (2011)

Candidate 
Site 
Number

Site Name / address UDP 
Allocation 
No.

Proposed LDP Use

63 Glebeland at Llanfihangel 
Talyllyn, Brecon

Employment (Commercial)

67 Land at Neath Road, Blaen Y 
Gors, Ystradgynlais

Mixed Use / Employment / Residential

68 Penypentre Meadow, 
Llanfihangel Talyllyn, Brecon

Mixed Use / Employment / Residential 
/ Holiday Lets

75 Newbridge-on-Wye R77 EA1 Residential
97 Land at Broadaxe Business Park, 

Presteigne
R84 EA1 General employment 

100 Land at Parc Hafren, Llanidloes M163 EA3 Employment
102 Land at Brynberth Enterprise 

Park, Rhayader
R85 EA1 General Employment

103 Land at Offa’s Dyke Business 
Park

M199 EA1 Employment

104 Land at Parc Busnes Derwen 
Fawr, Llanidloes

M163 EA1 Employment

105 Land at Buttington Cross 
Enterprise Park

M199 EA2 Employment / Retail / Mixed Use

106 Abermule Business Park M101 EA1 Employment
108 Land at Heart of Wales Business 

Park
R66 EA1 General Employment

109 Land at Woodlands Business 
Park, Ystradgynlais

B34 EA1 General employment

110 Land at Wyeside Enterprise 
Park, Llanelwedd

R69 EA1 General employment

135 Rock Farm, Llanllwchaiarn, 
Newtown

Residential / Employment / 
Recreational

208/701 Penrhos B32 EA1 Education
249 Land North of Bryneira, 

Newtown
Residential / Employment

282 Cefn Field, North of Cefn Farm, 
Trewern, Welshpool

Residential / Employment

322 Land at The Meadows, 
Llandrinio

Employment / Residential

341 Land adjacent to Trem Hirnant, 
Manafon

Residential / Employment

343 Land adjacent to The Market, 
Welshpool

Employment

344 Land at Buttington Wharf, 
Welshpool

Employment / Retail / Mixed Use

366 Land adj to Trewern Sewage 
Station, Trewern

M195 EA1 Residential / Employment

389 White House Farm, Builth Wells Residential / Employment / Retail
443 Agricultural Accomm land adj Employment / Industrial

Page 408



3 | P a g e

Brynberth Ind Est
483 Land at St Giles Golf Club, 

Newtown
M181 EA1 Residential / Retail / Employment / 

Mixed Use
530 Canal side opposite Morrison's, 

Welshpool
Residential / Mixed Use / Commercial

541 Varchoel Hall, Guilsfield Residential / Employment / Mixed Use 
(Live Work Units)

586 Adj. Castell Y Dail, Heol 
Mochdre, Newtown

Mixed Use (Residential, Employment, 
Recreation & Leisure)

589 Adj. Glandulas Drive, Newtown Residential / Employment
592 Adj. Coleg Powys, Llanidloes 

Road, Newtown
M182 EA2 Employment / Mixed Use

633 Chapel Farm, Gorn Road, 
Llanidloes

M163 EA1 Employment / Housing

663 Llangurig M160 EA1 Residential
682 Buttington Brickworks & 

Quarry, Buttington, Welshpool
New Site Residential / Employment / Recreation 

/ Waste / Mixed Use
698 Penybontfawr M184 EA1 Residential / Open Space
720 Cynlais CP School, Ystradgynlais Undecided / Residential / Employment 

/ Mixed Use
776 Sarn M189 EA1 Residential
778 Sheep Sale Field, Ludlow Road, 

Knighton
Residential / Employment / Amenity 
Area

782 Land adjoining Broadaxe and 
Presteigne By Pass

Residential / Employment

784 Fraithwen, Adfa Residential / Employment / Retail / 
Community Facility / Recreation & 
Leisure

795 Land adj. to ‘The Smithy’, 
Buttington

Employment / Unknown

824 Land adjoining LBS, Gurnos 
Cross, Ystradgynlais

Employment

830 Corner land at  Neath Road / 
Varteg, Ystradgynlais

Residential / Employment

835 Land at Llynlloed, Machynlleth 
(South of Treowain)

Residential / Employment

836 Land at Llynlloedd, Machynlleth Residential / Employment
840 Land to east of Llansanffraid Industrial / Commercial
842 Station Yard, Forden Extant Emp. 

Use
Industrial / Commercial / Mixed Use

844 Land near to station house, Y 
Fan

Residential / Employment (Possibly)

852 Land north of Bryn y Groes 
Farm, Ystradgynlais

Mixed use – Residential, Employment 
(inc. live / work units), Open Space

896 Ysgol Llanbrynmair, 
Llanbrynmair

Residential / Employment

903 Maesyrhandir CP School, 
Newtown

Residential / Employment / Mixed Use

929 Welshpool High School Residential / Employment
933 Cae Bach, Ddole Road, Residential / Employment / Retail / 

Page 409



4 | P a g e

Llandrindod Wells Waste / Recycling
947 Land adj. Canal Cottage, Four 

Crosses
Residential / Employment

957 Land adjoining Village 
workshops, Four Crosses

M133 EA1 Employment

958 Land adj. Village Workshops 
Llanerfyl

M153 EA1 Residential

961 Land at Maes Morgan, 
Llanrhaeadr ym Mochnant

Employment

964 Ysgol Efyrynwy, Llanwddyn, 
Llanfyllin

Residential / Employment / Recreation 
& Leisure

979 Gurnos Ind. Estate Ystradgynlais Employment
1031 Chapel Farm, Gorn Road, 

Llanidloes
Employment / Residential

1045 Crossgates R46 EA1 Mixed Use / Residential
1048 Knucklas R61 EA1 Residential
1080 Brynant, Meifod Residential / Employment / Retail / 

Recreation & Leisure / Waste / 
Recycling / Mixed

1096 Chapel Farm, Gorn Road, 
Llanidloes

Employment / Residential

1100 Land adj Brecon 
Pharmaceuticals, Hay-on-Wye

Mixed Use / Residential / Employment 
/ Community Facility / Recreation

1105 Land adj. Gwernyfed Avenue, 
Three Cocks

Extant Emp. 
Permissions

Mixed use / Residential / Employment 
/ Retail / Recreation & Leisure

1106 Land adj. Bronllys CP School, 
Neuadd Terrace

Mixed use / Residential / Employment 
/ Retail / Community Facility / 
Recreation & Leisure

1122 Land adj. Dykelands, Forden, 
Welshpool

Employment / Residential

1123 Pt. Enclo. 7065 and 7962, 
Churchstoke

M117 EA1 Employment / Industrial / Commercial

1133 Land adjoining Mochdre 
Industrial Estate, Newtown

Employment

1157 Ystrad Fawr Tip, Ystradgynlais Agricultural / Residential / 
Employment / Community facility / 
Recreation & Leisure / Open space

1175 Land at Ty'n Pant, Caehopkin Residential / Employment
1184 Llanwrtyd Wells B23 EA1 Residential
1227 Land in Llangynog Residential / Employment / Recycling 

Community Facility / Recreation & 
Leisure / Waste / Open Space

1228 Fields adjacent to River Teme Employment
P42 EA1 Land at Treowain M172 EA1 Employment

 Existing employment site

 Existing employment site proposed for alternative use

Page 410



5 | P a g e

Annex 2: Sites Assessed in the Powys Employments Needs Assessment (2012)

Candidate 
Site 
Number

Site Name / address UDP 
Allocation No.

UDP Use Classification

109 Land at Woodlands Business Park, 
Ystradgynlais

B34 EA1 General employment

Caer’bont Enterprise Park, Ystradgynlais B32 EA2 Local Employment
Penrhos Business Park, Ystradgynlais B32 EA1 Education
Ynyscedwyn, Ystradgynlais B34 EA2 Local Employment
Ystradgynlais Workshops - Local Employment

979 Gurnos Industrial Estate, Ystradgynlais - -
Three Cocks Industrial Estate - -
Javel Industrial Estate, Three Cocks B26 EA1 Local Employment

110 Wyeside Enterprise Park, Llanelwedd R69 EA1 General Employment
Irfon Enterprise Park - Local Employment

75 Newbridge-on-Wye R77 EA1 Local Employment
1045 Crossgates R46 EA1 Local Employment
108 Land at Heart of Wales Business Park R66 EA1 Regional Employment

Ddole Road, Llandrindod Wells R66 EA2 High Quality / General 
Employment

Llandrindod Wells R66 EA3 Local Employment
Llandrindod Wells R66 EA4 Local Employment
Old Town Workshops, Llandrindod 
Wells

- -

97 Land at Broadaxe Business Park, 
Presteigne

R84 EA1 General employment 

Presteigne Industrial Estate -
102 Land at Brynberth Enterprise Park, 

Rhayader
R85 EA1 General Employment

East Street Enterprise Park, Rhayader - -
Knighton R59 EA1 Local Employment
Knighton Enterprise Park R59 EA2 Local Employment

1048 Knucklas R61 EA1 Local Employment
1184 Llanwrtyd Wells B23 EA1 Local Employment
1105 Land between/adj Gwernyfed Avenue, 

Three Cocks
Extant Emp. 
Permissions

-

663 Llangurig M160 EA1 Local Employment
104 Parc Busnes Derwen Fawr / Great Oaks 

Business Park Llanidloes
M163 EA1 Local Employment

100 Parc Hafren, Llanidloes M163 EA3 General Employment
Parc Hafren Extension M163 EA2 General Employment
Station Workshops, Llanidloes - -
Maesllan Enterprise Park, Llanidloes - -
Caersws Village Workshops - -

592 Adj. Coleg Powys, Llanidloes Road, 
Newtown

M182 EA2 Regional Employment

Dyffryn Enterprise Park - -
Mochdre Enterprise Park - -

Page 411



6 | P a g e

Vastre Enterprise Park - -
483 Land at St Giles Golf Club, Newtown M181 EA1 Premium Employment

St Giles Technology Park - -
776 Sarn M189 EA1 Local Employment
106 Abermule Business Park M101 EA1 General Employment
1123 Pt. Enclo. 7065 and 7962, Churchstoke M117 EA1 Local Employment

Montgomery M176 EA1 Local Employment
Welshpool Business Centre - -

105 Land at Buttington Cross Enterprise 
Park

M199 EA2 General Employment

Severn Farm Enterprise Park, Welshpool - -
Henfaes Lane, Welshpool - -

366 Land adj to Trewern Sewage Station, 
Trewern

M195 EA1 Local Employment

103 Land at Offa’s Dyke Business Park M199 EA1 Regional Employment
957 Four Crosses M133 EA1 Local Employment

Meat Processing Plant, Llandrinio - -
Wynnstay Stores, Llansanffraid-ym-
Mechain

M165 EA1 Local Employment

Llanfyllin Enterprise Park M157 EA1 Local Employment
Llanfyllin Industrial Estate - -
Pontrobert M186 EA1 Local Employment

958 Land adj. Village Workshops Llanerfyl M153 EA1 Local Employment
698 Penybontfawr M184 EA1 Local Employment

Texplan, Carno - -
P42 EA1 Land at Treowain M172 EA1 Special Employment

Dyfi Ecopark, Machynlleth - -

Page 412



Annex 3: Sequential Testing to Identify Employment Land Sites for Allocation
Site Name 
(LDP Candidate Site 
No)

Location
(UDP 
Allocation)

Size of 
Development 
Area (ha) 

Proposed 
Category 

Recommendation TAN23 Sequential 
Test

Constraints LDP 
Settlement 
Hierarchy

Outcome LDP Site 
Decision

Ystradgynlais 

Land at Neath Road, 
Blaen y gors 
(CS 67)

Ystradgynlais 6.41 Mixed Use Employment Led / 
Mixed Use

3 Open Countryside Greenfield
Ecological

Town Site not 
supported by 
sequential test

NOT 
ALLOCATED

Woodlands Business 
Park 
(CS 109)

Ystradgynlais 
(B34 EA1)

1.06 High Quality High quality, 
promote & expand 

1 within settlement 
boundary serviced

None Town Site supported 
by sequential 
test and LDP 
strategy

Taken 
Forward
P58 EA1

Cae'r-bont Ystradgynlais
(B32 EA2)

1.5 Local Regenerate 2 edge of 
settlement outside 
boundary

Not a candidate 
site

Town Site not 
supported by 
sequential test

NOT 
ALLOCATED

Penrhos
(CS 208 / 701)

Ystradgynlais
(B32 EA1)

1 Local 1 within settlement 
boundary

Site being 
redeveloped for 
primary school

Town NOT 
ALLOCATED

Ynyscedwyn Ystradgynlais 
(B34 EA2)

0.7 Local Employment 
led/mixed use 

1 within settlement 
boundary serviced

Partly in C2 
flood zone. Not 
a candidate site

Town Site supported 
by LDP policies

White land

Cynlais CP School
(CS 720)

Ystradgynlais 0.74 1 within settlement 
boundary

Brownfield
In C2 flood 
zone.

Town Site not 
supported by 
sequential test

NOT 
ALLOCATED

Land Adjoining LBS, 
Gurnos Cross
(CS 824)

Ystradgynlais 0.14 Regenerate 1 within settlement 
boundary

Ecological
Site Area

Town Site supported 
by LDP policies

White land

Corner Land Neath 
Road / Varteg
(CS 830)

Ystradgynlais 0.18 Mixed Use Employment 
led/mixed use

3 Open Countryside Greenfield
Highways

Town Site not 
supported by 
sequential test

NOT 
ALLOCATED

Land north of Bryn y 
Groes Farm
(CS 852)

Ystradgynlais 7.32 Mixed Use Employment 
led/mixed use

2 edge of 
settlement outside 
boundary

Greenfield
Highways

Town Site not 
supported by 
sequential test

NOT 
ALLOCATED

Ystradgynlais 
Workshops

Ystradgynlais 0.7 Local 1 within settlement 
boundary serviced

Site fully 
developed

Town NOT 
ALLOCATED

Gurnos Industrial 
Estate 
(CS 979 part)

Ystradgynlais 0.5 Local Regenerate 1 within settlement 
boundary serviced

0.5ha Town Site supported 
by LDP policies

Policy E2 
White Land

Ystrad Fawr Tip
(CS 1157)

Ystradgynlais 9.69 Mixed Use Employment 
led/mixed use

2 edge of 
settlement outside 
boundary

Brownfield
Ecology
Contamination

Town Site not 
supported by 
sequential test

NOT 
ALLOCATED

Land at Ty’n Pant, 
Caehopkin
(CS 1175)

Caehopkin 5.29 Mixed Use Employment 
led/mixed use

3 Open Countryside Greenfield
Highways

Small Village Site not 
supported by 
sequential test

NOT 
ALLOCATED

Central Powys 

Three Cocks 
Industrial Estate

Three Cocks 2.9 1 within settlement 
boundary serviced

Site fully 
developed

Large Village NOT 
ALLOCATED

Javel Industrial 
Estate 

Three Cocks 
(B26 EA1)

0.6 Local Regenerate 1 within settlement 
boundary serviced

Partly in C2 
flood zone

Large Village Site supported 
by LDP policies

White land

Glebeland
(CS 63)

Llanvihangel 
Talyllyn

0.95 3 Open Countryside Greenfield
Highways
Access 

Small Village Site not 
supported by 
sequential test

NOT 
ALLOCATED

Penypentre Meadow
(CS 68)

Llanvihangel 
Talyllyn

0.8 Employment 
led/mixed use

3 Open Countryside Greenfield
Highways
Sewerage

Small Village Site not 
supported by 
sequential test

NOT 
ALLOCATED

Wyeside Enterprise 
Park 
(CS 110)

Builth Wells 
(R69 EA1)

2.16 High Quality High quality, 
promote & expand 

1 within settlement 
boundary serviced

Brownfield
Ecological

Town Site supported 
by sequential 
test and LDP 
strategy

Taken 
Forward
P08 EA1/EC1

White House Farm
(CS 389)

Builth Wells 0.5 Employment 
led/mixed use

1 within settlement 
boundary serviced

Brownfield
Within C2 flood 
zone
Highways

Town Site supported 
by LDP policies

White land

Irfon Enterprise Park Builth Wells 0.1 Local Employment 
led/mixed use 

1 within settlement 
boundary serviced

Insufficient land 
available. Not a 
candidate site

Town Site supported 
by LDP policies

Policy E2 
White Land

Newbridge-on-Wye
(CS 75-R)

Newbridge-on-
Wye 
(R77 EA1)

0.5 Neighbourhood Employment 
led/mixed use 

2 edge of 
settlement outside 
boundary

Alternative 
proposal for 
residential use. 
Access off A470

Large Village Site not 
supported by 
sequential test

NOT 
ALLOCATED

Crossgates 
(CS 1045 part-R)

Crossgates
(R46 EA1)

0.6 Local Employment 
led/mixed use 

2 edge of 
settlement outside 
boundary

Highways
Contamination

Large Village Site not 
supported by 
sequential test

NOT 
ALLOCATED 

Heart of Wales 
Business Park
(CS 108)

Llandrindod 
Wells 
(R66 EA1)

4.57 Prestige High quality, 
promote & expand

1 within settlement 
boundary serviced

Ecological 
constraints 
around pond

Town Site supported 
by sequential 
test and LDP 
strategy

Taken 
Forward
P28 EA1

Ddole Road Llandrindod 
Wells
(R66 EA2)

4 High Quality Regenerate 2 edge of 
settlement outside 
boundary

Partly in C2 
flood zone. Not 
a candidate site

Town Site not 
supported by 
sequential test

NOT 
ALLOCATED

Cae Bach, Ddole 
Road
(CS 933)

Llandrindod 
Wells

0.98 1 within settlement 
boundary

Ecology
Built heritage
C2 flood zone

Town Site supported 
by LDP policies

White land

Llandrindod Wells Llandrindod 
Wells 
(R66 EA3)

0.57 Local 1 within settlement 
boundary serviced

Site fully 
developed

Town NOT 
ALLOCATED

Llandrindod Wells Llandrindod 
Wells
(R66 EA4)

1.12 Local High quality, 
promote & expand 

1 within settlement 
boundary serviced

Existing building 
partially in use
Not a candidate 
site

Town Site supported 
by LDP policies

White land

Old Town Hall 
Workshops

Llandrindod 
Wells

0 1 within settlement 
boundary serviced

Site fully 
developed

Town NOT 
ALLOCATED

Broadaxe Business 
Park 
(CS 97)

Presteigne
(R84 EA1)

3.18 Local Employment 
led/mixed use 

1 within settlement 
boundary

Small area in C2 
flood zone

Town Site supported 
by sequential 
test and LDP 
strategy

Taken 
Forward
P51 EA1

Presteigne Industrial 
Estate

Presteigne 0.4 1 within settlement 
boundary serviced

<0.5ha. Green 
space. Not a 
candidate site

Town Site supported 
by LDP policies

Policy E2 
White Land

Land adj, Broadaxe Presteigne 9.62 Employment 2 partially outside Greenfield Town Alternative Use Site partially 

Page 413



and Bypass
(CS 782)

led/mixed use settlement 
boundary

Highways within settlement 
boundary

allocated for 
housing

Brynberth Enterprise 
Park
(CS 102)

Rhayader
(R85 EA1)

2.11 Local Regenerate 1 within settlement 
boundary serviced

Small area in C2 
flood zone

Town Site supported 
by sequential 
test and LDP 
strategy

Adjoining Brynberth 
Enterprise Park 
(CS 443)

Rhayader 1.59 3.8 Local Regenerate 1 within settlement 
boundary serviced

Highways 
access through 
CS 102 
Greenfield

Town Site supported 
by sequential 
test and LDP 
strategy

Sites CS 102 
& CS 443 
merged
Taken 
Forward
P52 EA1
(3.8 ha)

East Street 
Enterprise Park

Rhayader 1.6 Local 1 within settlement 
boundary serviced

Site fully 
developed

Town NOT 
ALLOCATED

Knighton Knighton
(R59 EA1)

0.9 Local Employment 
led/mixed use 

3 Open Countryside Greenfield Town Site not 
supported by 
sequential test

NOT 
ALLOCATED

Knighton Enterprise 
Park 

Knighton
(R59 EA2)

0.44 Local Employment 
led/mixed use 

1 within settlement 
boundary serviced

< 0.5ha. Not a 
candidate site

Town Site supported 
by LDP policies

Policy E2 
White Land

Sheep Sale Field, 
Ludlow Road
(CS 778)

Knighton 6.09 Employment led / 
mixed use

2 edge of 
settlement outside 
boundary

Greenfield
94% in C2 Flood 
zone

Town Site not 
supported by 
sequential test

NOT 
ALLOCATED

Fields adj, River 
Teme
(CS 1228)

Knighton 9.78 Employment 2 edge of 
settlement outside 
boundary

Greenfield
95% in C2 Flood 
zone

Town Site not 
supported by 
sequential test

NOT 
ALLOCATED

Knucklas 
(CS 1048-R)

Knucklas
(R61 EA1)

0.5 Neighbourhood Residential led 
mixed use 

1 within settlement 
boundary

Site subject to 
housing 
application

Large Village NOT 
ALLOCATED

Llanwrtyd Wells 
(CS 1184-R)

Llanwrtyd 
Wells
(B23 EA1)

0.38 Neighbourhood Employment 
led/mixed use 

1 within settlement 
boundary serviced

< 0.5ha Town Site supported 
by LDP policies

Policy E2 
White land

Gypsy Castle Lane
(CS 1100)

Hay-on-Wye 2.4 Mixed Use Employment 
led/mixed use

1 within settlement 
boundary

Greenfield 
New site

Town Site supported 
by sequential 
test and LDP 
strategy

Taken 
Forward 
P21 MUA1

Three Cocks – Land 
adj Gwernyfed 
(CS 1105)

Three Cocks 2.3 High Quality High quality, 
promote & expand 

1 within settlement 
boundary (serviced)

Brownfield
Extant 
implemented 
employment PP

Large Village Site supported 
by sequential 
test and LDP 
strategy

Taken 
Forward 
P53 MUA1

Land adj Bronllys CP 
School
(CS 1106)

Bronllys 5 Mixed Use Mixed Use 2 partially outside 
settlement 
boundary

Greenfield
Heritage
Highways

Large Village Alternative Use 
within settlement 
boundary

HOUSING 
ALLOCATION

Severn Valley & North

Llangurig 
(CS 663 part-R)

Llangurig
(M160 EA1)

0.4 Neighbourhood Employment 
led/mixed use 

1 within settlement 
boundary

Site allocated for 
housing 

Large Village Alternative Use HOUSING 
ALLOCATION

Parc Busnes Derwen 
Fawr / Great Oaks 
Business Park 
(CS 104)

Llanidloes
(M163 EA1)

0.3 High Quality High quality, 
promote & expand 

1 within settlement 
boundary serviced

None Town Site supported 
by sequential 
test and LDP 
strategy

Taken 
Forward
P35 EA1

Parc Hafren 
(CS 100)

Llanidloes
(M163 EA3)

1.47 Local High quality, 
promote & expand 

3 open countryside 
serviced site 
partially occupied

None – existing 
site partially 
occupied

Town Site supported 
by LDP strategy 
and sequential 
test.

Taken 
Forward
P35 EA2/EC1

Parc Hafren 
Extension 

Llanidloes
(M163 EA2)

3 Local Employment 
led/mixed use 

3 open countryside Greenfield Town Site does not 
support 
sequential test

NOT 
ALLOCATED

Chapel Farm, Gorn 
Road
(CS 633)

Llanidloes
(M163 EA1)

0.49 Local 2 edge of 
settlement outside 
boundary

Greenfield
Highways

Town Site supported 
by LDP policies

Policy E2

Chapel Farm, Gorn 
Road
(CS 1031)

Llanidloes 6.3 2 edge of 
settlement partially 
within boundary

Greenfield Town Alternative Use 
within settlement 
boundary

HOUSING 
ALLOCATION

Chapel Farm, Gorn 
Road
(CS 1096)

Llanidloes 0.84 3 open countryside Greenfield
Highways

Town Site does not 
support 
sequential test

NOT 
ALLOCATED

Station Workshops
Llanidloes

Llanidloes 0 1 within settlement 
boundary serviced

No land 
available

Town NOT 
ALLOCATED

Maesllan Enterprise 
Park

Llanidloes 0 1 within settlement 
boundary serviced

No land 
available

Town NOT 
ALLOCATED

Caersws Village 
Workshops

Caersws 0 1 within settlement 
boundary serviced

No land 
available for 
expansion

Large Village NOT 
ALLOCATED

Rock Farm, 
Llanllwchaiarn
(CS 135)

Newtown 4.14 2 edge of 
settlement partially 
within boundary

Greenfield Town Site does not 
support 
sequential test

NOT 
ALLOCATED

Land north of 
Bryneira
(CS 249)

Newtown 5.36 3 open countryside Greenfield
Highways

Town Site does not 
support 
sequential test

NOT 
ALLOCATED

Adj. Castell y Dail, 
Heol Mochdre
(CS 586)

Newtown 23.01 3 open countryside Greenfield
Highways

Town Site does not 
support 
sequential test

NOT 
ALLOCATED

Adj. Glandulas Drive
(CS 589)

Newtown 3.35 2 edge of 
settlement partially 
within boundary

Greenfield
Partly in C2 
zone
Highways

Town Site supported 
by LDP policies

Policy E2 
White land

Llanidloes Road
(CS 592)

Newtown
(M182 EA2)

4.2 High Quality High quality, 
promote & expand 

1 within settlement 
boundary

Partly in C2 
flood zone
Highways

Town Site supported 
by sequential 
test and LDP 
strategy

Taken 
Forward
P48 EA1

Dyffryn Enterprise 
Park

Newtown 0 1 within settlement 
boundary serviced

No land 
available

Town NOT 
ALLOCATED

Maesyrhandir CP 
School
(CS 903)

Newtown 2.72 1 within settlement 
boundary

Brownfield
Site Availability

Town Site supported 
by sequential 
test and LDP 
strategy

NOT 
ALLOCATED
(due to 
availability)

Land adj. Mochdre 
Industrial Estate
(CS 1133)

Newtown 0.83 2 edge of 
settlement outside 
boundary

Greenfield
Highways

Town Site does not 
support 
sequential test

NOT 
ALLOCATED

Mochdre Enterprise 
Park 

Newtown 2 High Quality Regenerate 1 within settlement 
boundary serviced

3 sites < 0.5 ha 
each Infill space

Town Site supported 
by LDP policies

Policy E2 
White land

Vastre Enterprise 
Park 

Newtown 1.8 Local Regenerate 1 within settlement 
boundary serviced

Partly in C2 
flood zone. Not 
a candidate site

Town Site supported 
by LDP policies

White land

St Giles Golf Course Newtown Withdrawn from Town DE 

Page 414



(CS 483) (M181 EA1) LDP ALLOCATED

St Giles Technology 
Park

Newtown 0 1 within settlement 
boundary serviced

No land 
available

Town NOT 
ALLOCATED

Sarn 
(CS 776 part-R)

Newtown
(M189 EA1)

0.46 Local Employment 
led/mixed use 

3 open countryside Greenfield Small Village Site does not 
support LDP 
strategy or 
sequential test

NOT 
ALLOCATED

Fraithwen
(CS 784)

Adfa 2.89 3 open countryside Greenfield
Highways

Rural 
Settlement

Site does not 
support LDP 
strategy or 
sequential test

NOT 
ALLOCATED

Abermule Business 
Park
(CS 106)

Abermule
(M101 EA1)

2.6 High Quality High quality, 
promote & expand 

1 within settlement 
boundary

Wholly within C2 
flood zone

Large Village Site supported 
by sequential 
test and LDP 
strategy

Taken 
Forward
P02 EA1

Churchstoke 
(CS 1123 part)

Churchstoke
(M117 EA1)

1.54 Local Employment 
led/mixed use 

1 within settlement 
boundary partially 
serviced

None Large Village Site supported 
by sequential 
test and LDP 
strategy

Taken 
Forward
P12 EA1

Montgomery Montgomery
(M176 EA1)

0 2 edge of 
settlement outside 
boundary

Site subject to 
residential home 
application

Town Alternative Use NOT 
ALLOCATED

Welshpool Business 
Centre

Welshpool 0 1 within settlement 
boundary serviced

No land 
available

Town NOT 
ALLOCATED

Buttington Cross 
Enterprise Park 
(CS 105)

Welshpool
(M199 EA2)

1.5 Prestige High quality, 
promote & expand 

1 within settlement 
boundary serviced

None – existing 
site

Town Site supported 
by sequential 
test and LDP 
strategy

Taken 
Forward
P57 EC1

Severn Farm 
Enterprise Park

Welshpool 0 1 within settlement 
boundary serviced

No land 
available

Town NOT 
ALLOCATED

Henfaes Lane Welshpool 0 1 within settlement 
boundary serviced

No land 
available

Town NOT 
ALLOCATED

Land adj. Market
(CS 343)

Welshpool 0.64 2 edge of 
settlement outside 
boundary

Greenfield Town Site does not 
support 
sequential test

NOT 
ALLOCATED

Land at Buttington 
Wharf
(CS 344)

Welshpool 1.31 3 open countryside 
beyond settlement 
boundary

Greenfield Town Site does not 
support 
sequential test

NOT 
ALLOCATED

Canalside opposite 
Morrison’s
(CS 530)

Welshpool 1.03 Regenerate Employment  led / 
Mixed Use

1 within settlement 
boundary serviced

Brownfield Town Site supported 
by LDP policies

White land

Buttington Quarry
(CS 682)

Welshpool 6 Local 3 open countryside
serviced site 
partially occupied

Brownfield 
New site Partial 
existing 
employment use

Town Site supported 
by sequential 
test and LDP 
strategy

Taken 
Forward
P59 EA1

Land adj. The Smithy
Buttington
(CS 795)

Welshpool 5.7 3 open countryside Greenfield Rural 
Settlement

Site does not 
support 
sequential test

NOT 
ALLOCATED

Welshpool High 
School
(CS 929)

Welshpool 8.97 1 within settlement 
boundary

Brownfield
Site Availability

Town Site supported 
by LDP policies

White land

Cefn Field, North of 
Cefn Farm
(CS 282)

Cefn 1.52 3 open countryside Greenfield Rural 
Settlement

Site does not 
support 
sequential test

NOT 
ALLOCATED

Land adj. Trem 
Hirnant
(CS 341)

Manafon 0.77 3 open countryside Greenfield Rural 
Settlement

Site does not 
support 
sequential test

NOT 
ALLOCATED

Land adj. Trewern 
Sewage Works
(CS 366)

Trewern
(M195 EA1)

1.43 Local Employment 
led/mixed use 

3 open countryside 
beyond settlement 
boundary

Greenfield Large Village Site does not 
support 
sequential test

NOT 
ALLOCATED

Offa’s Dyke Business 
Park 
(CS 103)

Welshpool
(M199 EA1)

7.8 Prestige High quality, 
promote & expand 

3 open countryside 
serviced site 
partially occupied

None – existing 
site partially 
occupied

Town Site supported 
by LDP strategy 
and sequential 
test

Taken 
Forward
P60 EC1

Four Crosses Four Crosses
(M133 EA1)

0.75 Local Regenerate 1 within settlement 
boundary serviced

Existing popular 
site

Large Village Site supported 
by sequential 
test and LDP 
strategy

Taken 
Forward
P18 EC1

Land adj. Canal 
Cottage
(CS 947)

Four Crosses 1.14 2 partially outside 
settlement 
boundary

Greenfield
Ecology
Highways
Heritage

Large Village Site does not 
support 
sequential test

NOT 
ALLOCATED

Land Adjoining 
Village workshops
(CS 957)

Four Crosses
(M133 EA1)

0.2 1 within settlement 
boundary serviced

Brownfield
<0.5ha

Large Village Site supported 
by LDP policies

White land

Meat Processing 
Plant

Llandrinio 19 3 open countryside Greenfield 
Specific site 
proposer not 
come forward

Large Village Site does not 
support 
sequential test

NOT 
ALLOCATED

Land at the Meadows
(CS 322)

Llandrinio 0.88 3 open countryside Greenfield 
In C2 zone

Large Village Site does not 
support 
sequential test

NOT 
ALLOCATED

Varchoel Hall
(CS 541)

Guilsfield 2.63 3 open countryside Brownfield
Highways

Large Village Site does not 
support 
sequential test

NOT 
ALLOCATED

Wynnstay Stores Llansanffraid 
ym Mechain
(M165 EA1)

1.6 Local Employment 
led/mixed use 

1 within settlement 
boundary serviced

Brownfield
Existing site in 
employment use 
Not a candidate 
site

Large Village Site supported 
by LDP policies

White land for 
Wynnstay’s 
use 

Land to East of 
Llansanffraid
(CS 840)

Llansanffraid 
ym Mechain

7.83 2 edge of 
settlement outside 
boundary

Greenfield
Highways

Large Village Site does not 
support 
sequential test

NOT 
ALLOCATED

Station Yard
(CS 842)

Forden 1.03 Regenerate 3 open countryside Brownfield
Extant existing 
B2 Use

Large Village Site supported 
by LDP policies

Policy E2

Land adj. Dykelands
(CS 1122)

Forden 2.23 3 open countryside Greenfield
Heritage

Large Village Site does not 
support 
sequential test

NOT 
ALLOCATED

Land near Station 
House
(CS 844)

Y Fan 0.92 3 open countryside Greenfield
42% in C2 zone

Small Village Site does not 
support 
sequential test

NOT 
ALLOCATED

Page 415



Llanfyllin Enterprise 
Park 

Llanfyllin
(M157 EA1)

0.28 Local Regenerate 2 edge of 
settlement outside 
boundary

Brownfield
< 0.5ha. Not a 
candidate site.

Town Site supported 
by LDP policies

Policy E2

Llanfyllin Industrial 
Estate

Llanfyllin 0 1 within settlement 
boundary serviced

No land 
available

Town NOT 
ALLOCATED

Ysgol Llanbrynmair
(CS 896)

Llanbrynmair 2.57 2 edge of 
settlement outside 
boundary

89% in C2 Zone
Site availability

Large Village Site does not 
support 
sequential test

NOT 
ALLOCATED

Ysgol Efyrynwy, 
Llanwddyn
(CS 964)

Abertridwr 0.52 3 open countryside Brownfield 
Heritage
Covenant

Small Village Site does not 
support 
sequential test

NOT 
ALLOCATED

Land at Maes 
Morgan
(CS 961)

Llanraeadr ym 
Mochnant

0.73 2 edge of 
settlement outside 
boundary

Greenfield
In C2 zone
Highways

Large Village Site does not 
support 
sequential test

NOT 
ALLOCATED

Pontrobert Pontrobert 
(M186 EA1)

0.12 Neighbourhood Employment 
led/mixed use 

1 within settlement 
boundary serviced

Brownfield
< 0.5ha. Not a 
candidate site

Large Village Site supported 
by LDP policies

Policy E2 
White land

Llanerfyl Village 
Workshops
(CS 958-R)

Llanerfyl
(M153 EA1)

0.15 Neighbourhood Employment 
led/mixed use 

3 open countryside Greenfield
<0.5ha

Small Village Site not 
supported by 
LDP strategy or 
sequential test

NOT 
ALLOCATED

Penybontfawr 
(CS 698-R)

Penybontfawr
(M184 EA1)

0.5 Neighbourhood Employment 
led/mixed use 

1 within settlement 
boundary

Site allocated for 
housing

Large Village Alternative Use HOUSING 
ALLOCATION

Brynant
(CS 1080)

Meifod 2.37 Local 3 open countryside Greenfield Open 
Countryside

Site does not 
support 
sequential test

NOT 
ALLOCATED

Land at Llangynog
(CS 1227)

Llangynog 0.92 2 edge of 
settlement outside 
boundary

Greenfield
In C2 Zone

Large Village Site does not 
support 
sequential test

NOT 
ALLOCATED

Texplan Carno 3.22 1 within settlement 
boundary serviced

Brownfield
Site buildings in 
occupation

Large Village Site supported 
by LDP policies

White land

Machynlleth 

Treowain Enterprise 
Park 

Machynlleth
(M172 EA1)

1.3 High Quality High quality, 
promote & expand 

1 within settlement 
boundary serviced

Unsuitable for 
alternative uses. 
Not a candidate 
site

Town Site supported 
by sequential 
test and LDP 
strategy

Taken 
Forward
P42 EA1

Land at Llynlloed 
south of Treowain
(CS 835)

Machynlleth 4.82 Employment 
led/mixed use 

2 edge of 
settlement outside 
boundary

Historic 
Landscape

Town Site not 
supported by 
LDP strategy or 
sequential test

NOT 
ALLOCATED

Land at Llynlloed
(CS 836)

Machynlleth 4.61 Employment 
led/mixed use 

3 open countryside Highways
Built heritage

Town Site not 
supported by 
LDP strategy or 
sequential test

NOT 
ALLOCATED

Dyfi Ecopark Machynlleth 0 1 within settlement 
boundary serviced

No land 
available

Town NOT 
ALLOCATED

Site    Assessed in PENA Property Market Overview & supply Analysis

*    New allocated employment site identified via Candidate site submission

Page 416



 

 

 

 

 
 
Powys Retail Study Addendum 2015 
 
 
 
Powys County Council 

February 2015 

30850/02/PW/GJ 

Nathaniel Lichfield & Partners 
Helmont House 
Churchill Way 
Cardiff CF10 2HE 
 
nlpplanning.com 

Page 417



 

This document is formatted for double sided printing. 
 
© Nathaniel Lichfield & Partners Ltd 2015. Trading as Nathaniel Lichfield & Partners.  
All Rights Reserved. 
Registered Office: 
14 Regent's Wharf 
All Saints Street 
London N1 9RL 
 
All plans within this document produced by NLP are based upon Ordnance Survey mapping with the permission 
of Her Majesty’s Stationery Office. © Crown Copyright reserved. Licence number AL50684A 

 

Page 418



   : Powys Retail Study Addendum 2015 
 

8162820v5  
 

Contents 

1.0 Introduction 1 

Scope and Purpose of Addendum.................................................................... 1 

2.0 Recent Changes and Trends 2 

Introduction ...................................................................................................... 2 

Retail Trends ................................................................................................... 2 

3.0 Retail Capacity 5 

Introduction ...................................................................................................... 5 

Methodology and Data ..................................................................................... 5 

Existing Spending Patterns 2011 ..................................................................... 7 

4.0 Strategy for Accommodating Growth 12 

Floorspace Projections ................................................................................... 12 

Accommodating Future Growth ...................................................................... 13 

5.0 Conclusions 17 
 

 

Page 419



Page 420



   : Powys Retail Study Addendum 2015 
 

8162820v5  P1
 

1.0 Introduction 

Scope and Purpose of Addendum 

1.1 Nathaniel Lichfield & Partners (NLP) was commissioned by Powys County 

Council (PCC) to prepare a County wide Retail Study in 2011/12. 

1.2 The Powys Retail Study 2012 forms part of the evidence base for the Powys 

LDP.   

1.3 Following consultation on the LDP Deposit Plan in July 2014, The Welsh 

Government has provided guidance to PCC on issues relating to the 

soundness of the Plan. 

1.4 This Addendum is intended to address some of the issues raised by the Welsh 

Government, and to ensure that the retail evidence base is suitably in sync 

with other evidence based documents and the LDP growth strategy. 

1.5 The Powys Retail Study still remains extant, however, this Addendum 

document updates and supersedes the assessment of need and floorspace 

recommendations.  It also provides clarification on the Retail Strategy, and how 

this relates to the overall Growth Strategy in the LDP. 

1.6 Section 2 of this report summarises recent relevant changes to the retail 

capacity assessments and outlines retail trends. Section 3 updates the retail 

capacity and quantitative need assessment. Section 4 reviews the Retail 

Strategy, and Section 5 provides the recommendations and conclusions. 

 

Page 421



   : Powys Retail Study Addendum 2015 
 

 

P2  8162820v5
 

2.0 Recent Changes and Trends 

Introduction 

2.1 The 2012 Retail Study provided projections up to 2026. The projections need 

to be updated in line with the latest population data from the 2011 Census and 

WG projections. Local expenditure data and growth projections also need to be 

reviewed, along with company average benchmark turnover figures. These 

changes need to be considered in the context of recent retail trends.    

Retail Trends 

2.2 It is important to consider changes in the retail sector nationally and the 

implications for Powys. 

2.3 The economic downturn had a significant impact on the retail sector. A number 

of national operators have failed (e.g. Blockbuster, Comet, HMV, JJB Sports, 

Jessop’s, Clinton Cards, Woolworths, MFI, Land of Leather, Borders, Game, 

Firetrap, Peacocks, La Senza, Past Times, Barratts and Habitat), leaving major 

voids within centres and retail parks. This trend has not had a significant 

impact on Powys, because most of the affected businesses did not have stores 

within the County.     

2.4 Many town centre development schemes have been delayed and the demand 

for traditional retail warehouse operators has also been affected. Even some of 

the main food store operators have seen a reduction in growth.  

2.5 Assessing future expenditure levels within this retail update needs to take into 

account the economic downturn and the likely pace of recovery. Careful 

consideration is needed to establish the appropriate level of expenditure 

growth to be adopted over the study period.  This study takes a long term view, 

recognising the cyclical nature of expenditure growth. Trends in population 

growth, home shopping/internet sales and growth in turnover efficiency also 

need to be carefully considered and a balanced approach taken.   

2.6 An overview of national trends within the retail sector is set out below.      

Expenditure Growth 

2.7 Historic retail trends indicate that expenditure has consistently grown in real 

terms in the past, generally following a cyclical growth trend. The underlying 

trend shows consistent growth and this trend is expected to continue in the 

future. However, following the economic downturn, the recovery is expected to 

lead to slower growth in the short term. 

2.8 In the past, expenditure growth has fuelled growth in retail floorspace, including 

major out-of-centre development, particularly in the 1980s and 1990s. The 

economic downturn and current forecasts suggests that past rates of growth 

are unlikely to be achieved in the short term (next 5 years), but the underlying 

Page 422



   : Powys Retail Study Addendum 2015 
 

8162820v5  P3
 

trend over the medium (5 to 10 years) and long terms (beyond 10 years) is 

expected to pick up again.   

2.9 Within Powys, expenditure per person on convenience goods has reduced 

between 2011 and 2014 (source: Experian adjusting for inflation). The 2012 

study projected no growth in convenience goods expenditure per person 

between 2011 and 2016, but this has now been revised down to assume a 

contraction in spending during this period.   

2.10 Over the longer term of the Plan period (2011 – 2026), convenience growth 

has also been revised down from 4.6% to 3.1%. 

2.11 Comparison goods expenditure per person in Powys in the short term (2011 – 

2016) remains similar to that estimated in the 2012 study, however the longer 

term forecasts to 2026 have been revised down. 

New Forms of Retailing  

2.12 New forms of retailing (multi-channel shopping) have continued to grow, as an 

alternative to more traditional shopping. Home/electronic shopping has 

increased with the growth in the use of personal computers, smart phones and 

the internet. Click and collect shopping has become more popular. The future 

growth of multi-channel retailing including home computing, internet 

connections and interactive TV will continue to have an effect on retailing in the 

high street and from traditional stores. 

2.13 On-line shopping has experienced rapid growth since the late 1990s but in 

proportional terms the latest available data suggests it remains a relatively low 

percentage of total retail expenditure (about 12% of all retail expenditure). 

Recent national trends suggest continued strong growth in this sector. 

Experian’s Retail Planning Note 12.1 (Oct 2014) states:  

“Non-store retailing continues to grow rapidly, outpacing traditional forms of 

spending. We retain our assumption that non-store retailing will increase at a 

faster pace than total retail sales well into the long term. There were 52.7 

million internet users in the UK (representing 84.1% of the population) in mid-

year 2012 according to Internet World Stats. So growth of the internet user 

base will be less of a driver than in the past decade. But growth momentum will 

be sustained as new technology such as browsing and purchasing through 

mobile phones and the development of interactive TV shopping boost internet 

retailing. We expect that the SFT market share will continue to increase over 

the forecast period, although the pace of e-commerce growth will moderate 

markedly after about 2020. Our forecast has the SFT share of total retail sales 

reaching 18.5% by 2020 rising to 20.3% by the mid-2030s.”   

2.14 This retail update makes an allowance for future growth in e-tailing based on 

Experian’s latest projections, however the allowances have not changed 

significantly since the 2012 Study. The implications on the demand for retail 

space need to be carefully considered. For example, some retailers operate 

on-line sales from their traditional retail premises e.g. food store operators and 

Page 423



   : Powys Retail Study Addendum 2015 
 

 

P4  8162820v5
 

click and collect operations, therefore growth in on-line sales may not always 

mean there is a reduction in the need for retail floorspace.  

Page 424



   : Powys Retail Study Addendum 2015 
 

8162820v5  P5
 

3.0 Retail Capacity 

Introduction 

3.1 This section assesses the quantitative scope for new retail floorspace in Powys 

up to 2026. It sets out the methodology adopted for this analysis and provides 

a quantitative capacity analysis in terms of levels of spending for convenience 

and comparison shopping.  

3.2 All monetary values expressed in this analysis are at 2013 prices unless stated 

otherwise.  The previous 2012 Study was based on 2010 prices and therefore 

the figures are not directly comparable, particularly for convenience goods 

figures, where inflation has been significant.  

Methodology and Data 

3.3 The quantitative analysis is based on a study area that covers the whole of 

Powys as defined in the 2012 Retail Study, as shown in Appendix 1.   

Consumer Expenditure 

3.4 The level of available expenditure to support retailers is based on first 

establishing per capita levels of spending for the study area population.  

3.5 Experian’s latest (2014) local consumer expenditure estimates for comparison 

and convenience goods for the study area have been obtained. 

3.6 Experian’s latest EBS (Experian Business Strategies) national expenditure 

information has been used to forecast expenditure within the study area. 

Experian’s forecast growth rates suggest convenience goods expenditure will 

decrease slightly during 2014, but will grow in 2015. In the longer term an 

average growth rate of 0.6% per annum for convenience goods is predicted. 

3.7 Experian’s forecast growth rates suggest comparison goods expenditure will 

increase on average by 3.3% per annum. 

3.8 The EBS growth rates reflect the likely rate of recovery from the economic 

downturn, with lower growth up to 2015. The longer term growth rates for 

comparison goods are lower than projections based on past trend lines, but in 

our view are more realistic and sustainable.   

3.9 Expenditure projections per person are shown in Table 2 in Appendix 2 and 3.  

Population 

3.10 Experian now provides 2011 Census based population figures, which have 

been adopted in this update. The 2012 study was based on data from the 2001 

Census and therefore less accurate.  

Page 425



   : Powys Retail Study Addendum 2015 
 

 

P6  8162820v5
 

3.11 In order to be consistent with the LDP and its evidence base, the new 2011 

base population figures have been projected using the Welsh Government’s 

2011 principal projection of population to 2026. (Table 1 in Appendix 2).  The 

population projection at 2026 in the study area is 188,561, which is 4.8% lower 

than the 2026 projection (198,162) within the 2012 Study.   

Available Spending 

3.12 The levels of available spending are derived by combining the population in 

Tables 1 with per capita spending figures in Table 2 for convenience goods in 

Appendix 2 and comparison goods in Appendix 3.  

3.13 For both convenience and comparison spending, a reduction has been made 

for special forms of trading such as mail order, e-tail (non-retail businesses) 

and vending machines.  

3.14 “Special Forms of Trading” (SFT) and non-store activity is included within 

Experian’s Goods Based Expenditure (GBE) estimates. SFT includes other 

forms of retail expenditure not spent in shops e.g. mail order sales, internet 

sales, vending machines, party plan selling, market stalls and door to door 

selling. SFT needs to be excluded from retail assessments because it relates 

to expenditure not spent in shops and does not have a direct relationship to the 

demand for retail floorspace.  

3.15 Experian provide projections for e-tailing and other SFT. These projections 

have been used to exclude expenditure attributed to e-tailing through non-retail 

businesses, which will not directly impact on the demand for retail floorspace. 

Experian’s projections separate e-tailing through retail and non-retail 

businesses. Retail businesses are operators whose sales are predominantly 

through traditional shops/stores, but they may also offer a home 

shopping/delivery or click and collect service (e.g. Argos, Tesco, Next and 

John Lewis). Non-retail businesses are companies whose sales are 

predominantly through mail order/home deliver, where growth in their sales is 

unlikely to affect the demand for traditional retail space. Only expenditure 

attributed to these non-retail businesses should be excluded from the retail 

capacity analysis.   

3.16 Based on Experian data, SFT (including non-retail e-tailing but excluding e-tail 

through retail businesses) is projected at 3.1% and 13.2% of total convenience 

and comparison goods expenditure respectively in 2016.  

3.17 The latest projections provided by Experian suggest that these percentages 

will increase to 5.0% and 15.9% by 2026. The sales density figures used to 

access retail floorspace capacity in this report are inclusive of SFT through 

retail businesses. In order to reflect this growth, we have assumed the turnover 

efficiency of retail businesses will increase in real terms, reducing the need for 

new floorspace. 

3.18 In total, Experian predict that retail expenditure per person will grow by 6.6% 

between 2013 and 2026 for convenience goods and by 57.3% for comparison 

Page 426



   : Powys Retail Study Addendum 2015 
 

8162820v5  P7
 

goods. This equates to approximately £61 additional expenditure per person 

per annum on convenience goods and £1,010 of additional comparison goods 

expenditure within the Powys study area by the end of the LDP period.  

3.19 As a consequence of growth in population and per capita spending (retail 

businesses only), baseline convenience goods spending within the study area 

is forecast to increase by 3.1% from £318.6 million in 2011 to £328 million in 

2026, as shown in Table 3 in Appendix 2. Over the same period the 2012 study 

suggested higher expenditure growth of 12.1%. This difference is due to lower 

expenditure and population forecasts.  

3.20 Baseline comparison goods spending is forecast to increase by 57.4% from 

£366 million in 2011 to £576 million in 2026, as shown in Table 3 in Appendix 

3. Over the same period (2014 to 2026) the 2012 study suggested much higher 

expenditure growth of 89%. This difference is due to much lower growth in 

expenditure per capita now predicted by Experian, together with the lower 

population growth described above.  

Existing Spending Patterns 2011 

Convenience Shopping 

3.21 Base year 2011 food and grocery market shares are shown in Table 4 in 

Appendix 2. These shares are based on the 2011 Household Survey 

undertaken by NEMS Market Research with NLP adjustments to reflect recent 

changes.     

3.22 Table 5 in Appendix 2 indicates that the base year level of convenience goods 

expenditure attracted to shops/stores in Area Retail and District centres in 

2011 was estimated to be £165.47 million. Whilst there have been some 

foodstore closures since 2011 such as the Co-op and Spar in Welshpool, it is 

assumed that this expenditure has been retained within the town and 

redistributed to other existing stores in the County.  

3.23 Company average turnover to sales floorspace densities are available for 

major food store operators and are compiled by Verdict (2013). Company 

average sales densities (adjusted to exclude petrol and comparison sales and 

include VAT) have been applied to the sales area of the large food stores listed 

in Table 10 in Appendix 2, and a benchmark turnover for each store has been 

calculated. This benchmark turnover is not necessarily the actual turnover of 

the food store, but it does provide a useful benchmark for assessing existing 

shopping patterns and the adequacy of current floorspace in quantitative 

terms.  

3.24 Estimates for comparison sales floorspace within large food stores has been 

deducted from the figures in Table 10 in Appendix 2, for consistency with the 

use of goods based expenditure figures.  

3.25 Average sales densities are not widely available for smaller convenience 

shops, particularly independent retailers. An average sales density of £3,500 

Page 427



   : Powys Retail Study Addendum 2015 
 

 

P8  8162820v5
 

per sq.m has been adopted for small convenience shops. The total benchmark 

turnover of existing convenience sales floorspace within Powys centres is £175 

million, as shown in Table 10 in Appendix 2. 

3.26 These figures suggest that collectively convenience retail facilities in the 

centres are trading slightly below national average levels.       

Comparison Shopping 

3.27 Powys attracted £104.25 million of comparison goods expenditure in total in 

2011. 

3.28 Company average sales densities are only available for a selection of multiple 

retailers. Available information indicates that the sales densities amongst 

comparison retailers vary significantly. There is limited information available for 

independent retailers.    

3.29 Based on this expenditure estimate, the average sales density for existing 

comparison sales floorspace (excluding builders merchants) (38,715 sq.m net) 

is £2,598 per sq.m net. This is at the low end of the range that can be achieved 

in town centres, however, it is reflective of the rural and limited catchment area 

of settlements in Powys.  

3.30 The analysis of existing comparison shopping patterns in 2011 suggests the 

following average sales density figures for the centres in the County shown in 

Table 3.1. 

Table 3.1: Defined Centres Comparison Average Sales Densities 

Centre Average Sales Density 2011 (£ per sq.m net) 

Welshpool £3,469 

Newtown £2,729 

Llanidloes £1,582 

Machynlleth £978 

Builth Wells £2,113 

Llandrindod Wells £3,168 

Rhayader £2,028 

Knighton £3,079 

Presteigne £3,403 

Ystradgynlais £2,432 

County Average £2,598 

 

3.31 Table 3.1 indicates that trading levels amongst comparison facilities in the 

County vary significantly from area to area. The average sales density figures 

should be viewed in the context of the type of floorspace in each area.  

Comparison facilities in Welshpool and Presteigne are trading at the highest 

Page 428



   : Powys Retail Study Addendum 2015 
 

8162820v5  P9
 

densities, and Llandrindod Wells, Newtown, Knighton and Ystradgynlais are 

also trading above the County average figure.  However, Machynlleth, 

Rhayader, Llanidloes and Builth Wells all have average sales densities below 

the County average.  This difference in sales densities between the centres is 

primarily due to the type of retail floorspace/offer of the centres.  The centres 

with the lowest sales densities predominantly contain a higher proportion of 

small independent shops, which have lower sales densities than national 

multiples. 

3.32 Overall comparison shopping facilities within the County appear to be trading 

satisfactorily, primarily providing a lower order comparison retail offer than 

larger centres outside of the County.  There is no evidence of over-trading in 

any part of the County.  Where stores are trading at a level above expected 

company average turnover (over-trading), this is an indication that there is a 

qualitative need for additional floorspace. 

Quantitative Capacity for Convenience Floorspace 

Constant Market Shares 

3.33 The total level of convenience goods expenditure attracted to shops in the 

County between 2011 and 2026 is summarised in Table 9B (Appendix 4).  

Convenience expenditure attracted to shopping facilities in the County is 

expected to increase from £180 million in 2011 to £185 million in 2026.  

3.34 Table 9B (Appendix 4) subtracts the benchmark turnover of existing floorspace 

from available expenditure to calculate the amount of surplus expenditure that 

may be available for further new development in the Area Retail and District 

Centres during the Plan period. Within the County, there is a deficit of 

convenience goods expenditure in 2011, as a number of centres are trading at 

below benchmark levels.   

3.35 However, for individual centres, the figures vary considerably, with some 

centres showing a negative requirement for additional floorspace during the 

plan period and some showing demand. This is addressed in the next section. 

3.36 The surplus expenditure projections have been converted into potential new 

floorspace estimates in Table 9B (Appendix 4). Surplus expenditure is 

converted into floorspace estimates based on an assumed average sales 

density figure, which is based on the current mix of food stores and small 

shops in the County. An average sales density of £8,000 per sq.m net has 

been adopted. 

Adjusted Market Shares 

3.37 Table 10B (Appendix 4) estimates adjusted market shares from 2016 onwards.  

These have been estimated to take into account the recent Tesco foodstore 

developments at Llandrindod Wells and Welshpool.  Although these stores 

were open and trading at the time of the household survey, we do not consider 

that they will have achieved a settled shopping pattern in 2011.  We have also 

Page 429



   : Powys Retail Study Addendum 2015 
 

 

P10  8162820v5
 

adjusted the shares to take into account the convenience goods commitments 

at Machynlleth and Ystradgynlais, as identified in Table 3A, Appendix 2. 

3.38 Applying these adjusted market shares, Table 14B (Appendix 4) shows that the 

total level of convenience goods expenditure attracted to shopping facilities in 

the County is expected to increase from £180 million in 2011 to £205.47 million 

in 2026.  The commitments have been added into the benchmark turnovers for 

Machynlleth and Ystradgynlais.  Even with the adjustments, the requirement 

for net additional floorspace during the Plan period remains largely unchanged 

as shown in Table 14B (Appendix 4).   

3.39 The comparable projections within the 2012 study were slightly higher, and 

there is therefore no quantitative need to revisit the Deposit LDP approach of 

not allocating sites for convenience goods floorspace (See Section 4).  

Qualitative Need for Convenience Goods Floorspace 

3.40 Where quantitative capacity is shown for convenience goods floorspace, it is 

important to consider in qualitative terms, where the best location to 

accommodate the need is. 

3.41 Most of the identified centres are considered to be the most appropriate 

location to accommodate need on a status quo basis.  One exception to this is 

Presteigne and Knighton, which serve overlapping catchment areas within 

Zone 5.   

3.42 In qualitative terms, Knighton benefits from a main foodstore in the form of 

Harry Tuffins on the edge of the town centre.  Presteigne, on the other hand, 

does not have a large foodstore.  This qualitative deficiency could be 

addressed by clawing back leakage from Knighton to Presteigne.  This is 

discussed further in Section 4. 

Quantitative Capacity for Comparison Floorspace  

3.43 The household survey suggests that the County’s retention of comparison 

goods expenditure is lower than for convenience goods. The lower level of 

comparison expenditure retention is due to the strength of competing 

comparison goods facilities in neighbouring authorities, particularly 

Shrewsbury, Swansea and Hereford.   

3.44 Future improvements to comparison retail provision within the County could 

help to claw back some additional expenditure leakage from the study area.  

However major developments in neighbouring authorities will limit the ability of 

shopping facilities in the County to increase their market share of expenditure. 

Indeed retail development will be necessary in Powys in order to maintain 

existing market share in the future.  An appropriate strategy for Powys should 

be to maintain existing 2011 market share in the face of increasing future 

competition, whilst maintaining the vitality and viability of centres.    

3.45 The retail capacity projections in this report assume centres within Powys can 

maintain their market share of comparison expenditure in the future.   

Page 430



   : Powys Retail Study Addendum 2015 
 

8162820v5  P11
 

3.46 Available comparison goods expenditure has been projected forward to 2016, 

2021 and 2026 based on 2011 penetration rates (i.e. assuming that 

comparison retail facilities will maintain their current market share) in Tables 

4C, 5C and 6C in Appendix 5, and summarised in Table 7C. Total available 

comparison expenditure is expected to increase from £366.29 million in 2011 

to £576.69 million in 2026.  

3.47 Future available expenditure is compared with the projected turnover of 

existing comparison retail facilities within the County in order to provide 

estimates of surplus expenditure, as shown in Table 7C (Appendix 5). Table 

7C assumes that the benchmark turnover of comparison floorspace will not 

increase between 2011 to 2013 due to the recession and limited projected 

expenditure growth. As demonstrated in Table 3.1, none of the centres are 

considered to have overly high benchmark turnovers, and treating existing 

turnover densities as the equilibrium level for future needs going forward is 

appropriate.  

3.48 In the longer term existing floorspace within the County is expected to increase 

its benchmark turnover in real terms. A growth rate of 2% per annum is 

adopted, which we believe is realistic if an expenditure growth rate of 3.3% per 

annum is achieved. Trends indicate historically that comparison retailers will 

achieve some growth in trading efficiency. This is a function of spending 

growing at faster rates than new floorspace provision and retailers’ ability to 

absorb real increases in their costs by increasing their turnover to floorspace 

ratio. 

3.49 Population and expenditure growth will result in a comparison goods 

expenditure surplus in some town centres during the Plan period, however, 

comparison goods retail commitments at Welshpool, Machynlleth and 

Ystradgynlais, which are estimated to have a combined benchmark turnover of 

£21.98 million in 2011 (Table 3A, Appendix 2), will result in no further 

quantitative need for allocations in these centres.  This is addressed in the next 

section. 

3.50 Overall, the floorspace projections in this Study Update are lower than those in 

the 2012 study, and therefore there is no need for the deposit LDP to allocate 

additional sites for retail floorspace. 

 

 

 

Page 431



   : Powys Retail Study Addendum 2015 
 

 

P12  8162820v5
 

4.0 Strategy for Accommodating Growth 

4.1 Having assessed which centres will have quantitative expenditure capacity to 

accommodate new retail floorspace, this Section considers how that 

quantitative need could be addressed through the local plan, in accordance 

with para 10.2.10 of PPW. 

Floorspace Projections 

4.2 The floorspace projections below assume that new shopping facilities within 

Powys can maintain their current market share of expenditure within the study 

area, recognising that other competing centres will improve in the future. There 

are a number of issues that may influence the scope for new floorspace and 

the appropriate location for this development, as follows: 

• major retail developments in competing centres; 

• the re-occupation of vacant retail floorspace; 

• the availability of land to accommodate new development; 

• the reliability of long term expenditure projections, particularly after 2021; 

• the effect of Internet/home shopping on the demand for retail property; 

• the level of operator demand for floorspace in Powys;   

• the likelihood that Powys’ existing market share of expenditure will 

change in the future in the face of increasing competition; 

• qualitative deficiencies in certain centres; and 

• the potential impact new development may have on existing centres. 

4.3 Projections up to 2021 are realistic and are based on up to date forecasts, 

which take into account the effects of the recession.  The long term floorspace 

projections (2021 and beyond) shown in Section 3.0 should be treated with 

caution and should only be used as a broad guide, particularly when translated 

into the development plan allocations or when used to guide development 

control decisions. Long term forecasts may be subject to change due to 

unforeseen circumstances. Projected surplus expenditure is primarily 

attributable to projected growth in spending per capita.  If the growth in 

expenditure is lower than that forecast then the scope for additional space will 

reduce.  

4.4 For these reasons we recommend that the Local Plan should not look to make 

any retail allocations which are based on quantitative capacity established for 

beyond 2021.  Longer term need up to 2026 can be considered as part of a 

Local Plan Review, and will be the most robust way of planning for future 

needs. 

4.5 The quantitative and qualitative assessment of the potential capacity for new 

retail floorspace within the previous sections suggests that there is some scope 

for new retail development within Powys within certain town centres.  This 

Page 432



   : Powys Retail Study Addendum 2015 
 

8162820v5  P13
 

section examines the requirements and opportunities for accommodating 

growth.   

4.6 These projections relate to Class A1 retail uses only.  There may be scope for 

a further 20% floorspace that can be occupied by Class A2 to A3 uses and 

Class A1 non-retail services.     

Accommodating Future Growth 

4.7 The sequential approach suggests that designated town centres should be the 

first choice for retail and leisure development.  In considering this important 

issue the following factors should be assessed:  

• What is the locational area of need the development seeks to serve and 

what existing centre could potentially fulfil the identified area of need? 

• Is the nature and scale of development likely to serve a wide catchment 

area eg. a large part of Powys?  

• Is a site available in one of the designated centres, including vacant 

premises and will this site meet the identified need? 

• If the development has a more localised catchment area, is a site 

available in a local centre and will this site meet the identified need? 

4.8 All development should be appropriate in terms of scale and nature to the 

centre in which it is located. 

Retail Hierarchy and Growth Strategy 

4.9 The Deposit LDP and Retail Study 2012 set out a three tier retail hierarchy 

across Powys.   

4.10 Representations were made to the deposit plan regarding the status of 

Knighton as a retail centre.  It was suggested that the Harry Tuffins store and 

WE Price had been omitted from the 2012 Retail Study and that Knighton 

should be re-classified as an Area Retail Centre. Along will all other 

healthchecks set out in Appendix 3 of the Retail Study 2012, only those stores 

within the retail centre boundary were included within the town centre 

healthcheck.   

4.11 In terms of the quantitative assessment, however, the stores have been 

included, and the assessment demonstrates that the convenience and 

comparison goods retention rate of expenditure within Knighton’s Zone (Zone 

5) are relatively low.  For example, only 12% of comparison goods expenditure 

from its local catchment is retained within Knighton, compared to 45% retention 

achieved in Newtown and 25% achieved in Llandrindod Wells.  Similarly only 

28% of convenience goods expenditure is retained in Knighton, compared to 

73% in Newtown and 66% in Llandrindod Wells. 

4.12 We therefore consider it reasonable for the LDP to designate Knighton as a 

District Retail Centre within the retail hierarchy. 

Page 433



   : Powys Retail Study Addendum 2015 
 

 

P14  8162820v5
 

4.13 A drivetime map has been produced in Appendix 6 of this update, mapping 

each centre within the retail hierarchy and a drive time catchment for each, 

extending to 20 minutes for Area Retail Centres 15 minutes for District Centres 

and 10 minutes for Local Centres.  As can be seen, these tiers of centres, 

when considered alongside retail centres in neighbouring authorities such as 

Aberystwyth, Shrewsbury and Swansea, represent a good geographic spread 

across the County. It is therefore considered that the existing retail hierarchy is 

adequate and the Council do not need to proactively plan to raise the level of 

any particular centres, nor plan for the decline of any centres. 

4.14 Nonetheless, as described in Section 3, there is a qualitative deficiency within 

the District centre of Presteigne in terms of foodstore provision, compared to 

the District Retail Centre of Knighton.  This deficiency is likely to lead to a 

leakage of expenditure from Presteigne to Knighton for convenience goods 

shopping.  Therefore some of the capacity identified for Knighton in Table 4.1 

below derives from this leakage.  There would be sustainable benefits from 

providing a more local foodstore provision in Presteigne, rather than reinforcing 

the foodstore dominance in Knighton.  The retail growth strategy therefore 

follows the ‘pro rata approach’ of the housing growth strategy, with growth 

based on existing market shares (except where there are already known 

commitments which are likely to affect market shares in the future), and with 

the exception of Knighton and Presteigne.  It is appropriate to claw back 

leakage from Presteigne that is currently spent in Knighton, so that the future 

expenditure growth is more closely aligned to the area from whence it has 

been generated.  This will also be of qualitative benefit to Presteigne. 

Utilising the Existing Stock 

4.15 The existing stock of premises will have a role to play in accommodating 

projected growth.  The retail capacity analysis in this report assumes that 

existing comparison goods retail floorspace can, on average, increase its 

turnover to sales floorspace densities.  For comparison goods, a growth rate of 

2% per annum is assumed after 2013 in line with the expenditure growth rate 

of 3.3% per annum. The adoption of these growth rates represents a balanced 

approach. No growth in convenience turnover efficiency is assumed, due to 

low growth and past trends.   The floorspace projections reflect these 

assumptions.  In addition to the growth in sales densities, vacant shops could 

help to accommodate future growth.  

4.16 There were 76 vacant shop units within the ten area and district retail centres 

in the County, which equates to an overall vacancy rate of 9.8%, which is 

below the Goad national average (13.1%, May 2014). The vacancy rate is 

particularly high in Rhayader (18.8%) and lowest in Ystradgynlais (6.1%) and 

Builth Wells (6.3%).  The total amount of vacant floorspace is approximately 

8,500 sq.m gross.  

4.17 Vacant premises should help to accommodate future growth. As a maximum 

target the current vacancy level could fall from 9.8% to 5% then the number of 

reoccupied units would be about 36 units, which could accommodate about 

Page 434



   : Powys Retail Study Addendum 2015 
 

8162820v5  P15
 

4,000 sq.m gross of Class A1 to A3 floorspace.  Based on existing vacancy 

levels, this potential re-occupied space could be distributed as follows: 

• Newtown:  1,370 sq.m gross; 

• Welshpool:     910 sq.m gross; 

• Builth Wells:     120 sq.m gross; 

• Llandrindod Wells:     240 sq.m gross; 

• Machynlleth:     430 sq.m gross; 

• Knighton:     200 sq.m gross; 

• Ystradgynlais:     140 sq.m gross; 

• Llanidloes:     180 sq.m gross; 

• Presteigne:     160 sq.m gross; 

• Rhayader:     290 sq.m gross. 

4.18 If this reduction in vacant units can be achieved then the overall retail 

floorspace projection up to 2021 would reduce.  Table 4.1 below summarises 

the floorspace requirements by centre taking into account the inclusion of A2 

and A3 space and a reduction in vacancy rates. 

Table 4.1: Floorspace requirements by centre, 2021 (sq.m gross) 

Centre A1 Conv A1 Comp A2-A3 Vacant Total 

Zone 1      

Welshpool n/a n/a n/a -910 0 

Zone 2      

Newtown n/a 2,007 502 -1,370 1,139 

Llanidloes n/a 330 83 -180 316 

Zone 3      

Machynlleth n/a n/a n/a -430 0 

Zone 4       

Builth Wells n/a 227 57 -120 284 

Llandrindod Wells n/a 595 149 -240 504 

Rhayader 82 137 55 -290 0 

Zone 5      

Knighton 914 333 312 -200 1,359 

Presteigne 298 168 117 -160 423 

Zone 6      

Ystradgynlais n/a n/a n/a -140  0 

4.19 The short term priority post-recession should be the reoccupation of vacant 

floorspace, but this should not preclude investment within appropriate town and 

village retail centre locations.   

4.20 However, there may be difficulties in seeking to reoccupy vacant units that are 

listed buildings or located within a conservation area due to associated 

Page 435



   : Powys Retail Study Addendum 2015 
 

 

P16  8162820v5
 

overheads.  Older properties are less efficient in terms of their layout than 

modern retail units.  The Council may wish to introduce measures to assist with 

the reoccupation of vacant units, which may include shop improvement grants 

or discounted business rates, potentially subsidised by s.106 Agreements 

associated with new retail developments.  We note from the business occupier 

survey (Appendix 7 of the 2012 Retail Study) that the majority of respondents 

stated that there were no particular issues that affected their premises being in 

a listed building or conservation area, and this may therefore be more of an 

issue in terms of bringing vacant shops back into use.  

4.21 Nonetheless, we consider that the quantitative need to 2021 identified above is 

not significant such that major retail allocations would be necessary in any one 

centre.  Centres where capacity for new floorspace is identified as 500 sq.m 

gross or less (including Llandrindod Wells at 504 sq.m gross), this is likely to 

be able to be accommodated within the existing town centre boundary, either 

through further increases in turnover efficiency of the existing floorspace, infill 

or conversion of non-A1 floorspace such as pubs or clubhouses.   

4.22 Only two centres have floorspace requirements in excess of 500 sq.m gross – 

Knighton and Newtown.   

4.23 In Newtown, there is underutilisation of floorspace within the town centre, such 

as the Pryce Jones Royal Welsh Warehouse.  There are also a range of small 

potential development sites within the town centre, such that allocation of 

additional retail sites beyond the Newtown town centre boundary is not 

considered necessary in the Local Plan. 

4.24 In Knighton, the town centre is constrained and the identified capacity is 

unlikely to be accommodated within the town centre boundary.  As discussed 

above, it is considered that there is a qualitative and sustainability argument to 

accommodate the identified need within Presteigne.  The LDP allocates a 

mixed use scheme at the Kaye Presteigne Premises, an edge of centre 

location, which includes 0.4ha of the site area to accommodate retail 

floorspace.  This site area is of sufficient size to accommodate the identified 

combined retail needs for Knighton and Presteigne (1,782 sq.m gross) as 

identified in Table 4.1 above. 

Page 436



   : Powys Retail Study Addendum 2015 
 

8162820v5  P17
 

5.0 Conclusions 

5.1 This report provides an update of the County wide needs assessment for retail 

development in Powys. There have been a number of changes that have 

affected the retail floorspace capacity projections, including lower population 

estimates, lower expenditure growth during the recession, lower forecast future 

growth in expenditure and proportionally higher expenditure via special forms 

of trading. These changes have been assessed and the principal conclusions 

of the analysis contained within this study are summarised below. 

5.2 It should be noted that the Retail Study and this update cover the Local Plan 

period to 2026, however, it would not be appropriate to seek to plan to meet all 

the identified need, and the deposit LDP should focus on the period to 2021, 

with longer term need being addressed in subsequent Local Plan reviews. 

Convenience Goods 

5.3 Expenditure projections for convenience goods have reduced since the 2012 

study. 

5.4 The revised figures suggest existing convenience goods sales floorspace in 

the County as a whole is trading slightly below national average levels.  

5.5 Not all centres will have a quantitative need for convenience goods provision 

during the Plan period, and only Knighton, and Presteigne have floorspace 

requirements sufficient to justify consideration of new floorspace proposals. It 

is recommended that the need is consolidated into a single allocation in 

Presteigne to improve the qualitative deficiency for convenience goods 

shopping in the town and to improve the self-sufficiency of the town.   

Comparison Goods 

5.6 Expenditure projections for comparison goods have reduced since the 2012 

study. 

5.7 There will be floorspace requirements for comparison goods in all of the Area 

and District Centres to varying degree, except for Welshpool and Ystradgynlais 

where existing commitments will absorb all the quantitative need.   

5.8 The comparison goods need is greatest in Newtown followed by Llandrindod 

Wells.  It is considered that both centres will be able to accommodate the 

identified level of need within existing town centre boundaries, and allocations 

beyond the town centre are not required. 

Retail Hierarchy and Strategy 

5.9 The existing retail hierarchy is considered appropriate for the geographic and 

socio-economic context of Powys.   

Page 437



   : Powys Retail Study Addendum 2015 
 

 

P18  8162820v5
 

5.10 The retail strategy assumes that all centres will maintain their status quo of 

market shares and will accommodate growth in expenditure on a pro rata 

basis.  This is consistent with the housing strategy for the County. 

Page 438



Page 439



   : Powys Retail Study Addendum 2015 
 

 

P2  8162820v5
 

 

Page 440



Cyngor Sir Powys County Council

Powys LDP, Position Statement – Gypsy and Traveller Accommodation, September 2016      0

Powys Local Development Plan

Position Statement -
Gypsy and Traveller 

Accommodation 

Incorporating an 
action statement 

and 
implications for the LDP 

September 2016

Page 441



Cyngor Sir Powys County Council

Powys LDP, Position Statement – Gypsy and Traveller Accommodation, September 2016      1

Contents
Page

Summary 3

1.0 Introduction 4

2.0 Evidence of Need for Gypsy and Traveller 
Accommodation in Powys and the Actions taken by the 
County Council

4

3.0 Gypsy and Traveller Need in Machynlleth 5

4.0 Gypsy and Traveller Need in Brecon 7

5.0 Gypsy and Traveller Need in Welshpool 9

6.0 Conclusion 11

Appendix 1 
(separate 
attachment)

Appeal Decision, Cwmanod, Llanddew, Brecon, 
30/6/16

Page 442



Cyngor Sir Powys County Council

Powys LDP, Position Statement – Gypsy and Traveller Accommodation, September 2016      2

Summary

The draft Gypsy and Traveller Accommodation Assessment 2016 undertaken by the 
Council has identified housing needs in Machynlleth, Brecon and Welshpool. This 
paper explains the evidence of need, the action being taken by the Council to 
address this need and the implications for the LDP particularly in relation to the 
LDP’s policy H13, the allocation of a permanent site in Machynlleth and the 
commitment to provide additional pitches in Welshpool. Brecon is situated in the 
planning authority area of the Brecon Beacons National Park and not within the 
Powys LDP area.

Page 443



Cyngor Sir Powys County Council

Powys LDP, Position Statement – Gypsy and Traveller Accommodation, September 2016      3

1.0 Introduction

1.1 This paper sets out:

 The need identified for gypsy and traveller accommodation in Powys as a 
result of recent assessments of need including the findings of the Gypsy and 
Traveller Accommodation Assessment 2016.

 The actions the Council has taken previously and is currently taking 
corporately to meet the identified need.

 The implications for the Powys LDP in terms of policy and land allocations. 

2.0 Evidence of Need for Gypsy and Traveller Accommodation in Powys and 
the Actions taken by the County Council

2.1 The future accommodation needs of gypsies and travellers within Powys has 
been assessed on three occasions since 2008:

i. Gypsy & Traveller Accommodation Needs Assessment (2008) (EB02). 
ii. Gypsy & Traveller Accommodation Needs Assessment (Update, 2014) 

(EB03).
iii. Gypsy and Traveller Accommodation Assessment (GTAA) 2016 

(ED013) – this was submitted to Welsh Government for approval in 
February 2016, and in response to queries by Welsh Government was 
revised in June 2016. Approval by Welsh Government is anticipated by 
the end of September 2016. 

2.2 The assessments have identified need in three places: Machynlleth, 
Welshpool and Brecon. It should be noted that Brecon is situated within the Brecon 
Beacons National Park and lies outside the Powys LDP area, although nearby. 

2.3 The need identified by the successive assessments is set out for each of the 
three places in tabular form in the following sections. Each table identifies the type of 
need (Permanent or transit), when the need is due to arise, how many pitches the 
need relates to, and a summary of the action or response the Council has taken 
corporately to address the identified need. 

2.4 The implications for the LDP are set out beneath each table. 

2.5 Welsh Government guidance on Undertaking Gypsy and Traveller 
Accommodation Assessments (May 2015) states in Chapter 3 – Assessing 
Accommodation needs:

“142. From the results of the Gypsy and Traveller accommodation assessment 
(GTAA) it should be possible to identify the number of Gypsy and Traveller 
households which require additional pitches immediately, within 5 years, and over 
the Development Plan period.”

Page 444



Cyngor Sir Powys County Council

Powys LDP, Position Statement – Gypsy and Traveller Accommodation, September 2016      4

2.5 The guidance also states in Chapter 5:

“231. Once the Gypsy and Traveller accommodation assessment has been 
approved by Welsh Ministers, Local Authorities will be subject to a legal duty to 
exercise their functions to provide mobile home pitches to meet the identified needs. 
Section 56 of the Mobile Homes (Wales) Act 2013 provides the power for Local 
Authorities to do this. However, Local Authorities should recognise there are a range 
of tools at their disposal to support them to achieve this aim.”

2.6 The Council has been advised that Welsh Government expects Local 
Authorities to address the need identified in the GTAA from the time that the GTAA 
was submitted. This means that immediate need will need to be addressed by Feb 
2021 and the longer term need met by 2026, which will coincide with the end of the 
LDP plan period. The tables below explain the need identified by the GTAA up to 
2026.

3.0 Gypsy and Traveller Need in Machynlleth

Table 1: Machynlleth

Study date Type of 
need 
(Perma
nent / 
Transit)

When 
needed 
(period) 

Number of 
Pitches

Summary of Council’s Response / Action

2008 GTANA 
(EB02)

None - None No need identified

2014 GTANA 
(EB03)

Transit See 
note

2 Study concluded, “The Council will investigate 
feasibility options for providing a transient site to 
meet the need identified of 2 households. In 
seeking to identify a suitable site, the Council 
will liaise with the adjoining authorities of 
Ceredigion and Gwynedd. (Please note para 
24.2 below following consultation). Para 24.2 
says “Following the consultation response from 
the Housing Management and Options Officer 
interview the Council will investigate further 
while it undertakes a new GTAA in accordance 
with the provisions of the Housing (Wales) Act 
2014 whether a permanent or transient site is 
required in Machynlleth.”

April 2015 – 
LDP topic 
paper – Gypsy 
and traveller 
Needs in 
Machynlleth 
(EB28)

Perman
ent

See 
2016 
GTAA

To be 
determined 
by GTAA but 
considering 
land used 3 
pitches.

Having spoken to the families and their 
representatives, the Unity Project, the Council 
recognised that there would be a need for a 
permanent site, but the actual number of pitches 
was to be determined by the GTAA 2016. For 
the purposes of identifying land for inclusion in 
the LDP, a 3 pitch site was sought. An 
identification and assessment process of 
potential sites in Machynlleth was undertaken, 
and a site allocation (P42 HA4) was proposed in 
the Deposit Draft LDP, June 2015. The Council 

Page 445



Cyngor Sir Powys County Council

Powys LDP, Position Statement – Gypsy and Traveller Accommodation, September 2016      5

does not own any suitable land and land will 
need to be acquired. 

2016 GTAA 
(Draft, 
awaiting WG 
approval) 
(ED013)

Perman
ent

Feb 
2021

5 The draft GTAA acknowledged that LDP Policy 
H13 included the allocation of land for a 
permanent site. Need identified from interviews 
on tolerated unauthorised site for 3 pitches and 
2 pitches identified need from Bricks and Mortar 
interviews. 

The Council has accepted that some of the 
families in Machynlleth are homeless and 
provision of accommodation will be prioritised by 
the Council. 

In response, the Council appointed a Gypsy and 
Traveller Project Officer – Housing in January 
2016. 

The Council has allocated £200k to assist in 
identifying land for a new site in the 2016/17 
financial year. A further £2.28m has been made 
available to assist with meeting needs arising 
from the GTAA for subsequent years.

The Council has established a multi 
departmental Gypsy and Traveller Project Board 
to consider and develop proposals for 
Machynlleth and address the needs identified in 
the GTAA. Inaugural meeting held on 31st March 
2016 and the Board meets monthly.

The Council has advertised and actively pursued 
land options in the Machynlleth area with a view 
to securing planning permission for the identified 
need. It has commissioned relevant surveys on 
pieces of land to identify suitability in preparation 
for submitting a planning application.

The Council anticipates applying for Welsh 
Government grant to develop a new site in 2017.

The Council plans to provide a new site by 
March 2018.

3.1 Implications for the LDP - Machynlleth

3.2 The Council, through its Gypsy and Traveller Project Board, is actively 
pursuing the development of a permanent site for 5 gypsy and traveller households 
in Machynlleth based on the findings of the Draft GTAA 2016. This need must be 
met by 2021.

3.3 Site options are being investigated including detailed site survey work on 
several sites prior to a planning application(s) being submitted on a preferred site(s), 
and in advance of any land acquisition if required. The site proposed as an allocation 

Page 446



Cyngor Sir Powys County Council

Powys LDP, Position Statement – Gypsy and Traveller Accommodation, September 2016      6

in the deposit draft LDP, June 2015 at Newtown Road, Machynlleth (P42 HA4) is 
one of the sites under detailed investigation. This work is in progress and has yet to 
complete. At this stage it is considered that the following Further Focussed Changes 
should be made to the LDP: 

1. Policy H13 – Gypsy and Traveller Sites and Caravans, and paragraphs 
4.6.39 – 4.6.41. 

It is proposed that the policy is amended to make reference to P42 HA4, as 
requested by the Planning Inspector (letter to the Council dated 6th May 
2016). 

It is further proposed that an additional paragraph be added to explain the 
findings of the draft GTAA 2016 as submitted to WG, and explain how the 
LDP is addressing the identified need.

2. Appendix 1 – Settlement Allocations, P42 HA4. 

It is proposed that the number of units be amended to 5 to reflect the findings 
of the draft GTAA 2016, as submitted to WG.

3. Inset Map P42 – allocation P42 HA4.

No amendment feasible at this stage given on-going action.

3.4 Given the on-going action being taken by the Council, the position will have 
moved on by the time of the hearing sessions on the LDP in 2017, and the Council 
will provide further clarification and evidence to the Examination at that point. It is 
considered that any changes that are necessary to the LDP in relation to the 
provision of a permanent gypsy and traveller site in Machynlleth are addressed at 
that point via Matters Arising Changes.

4.0 Gypsy and Traveller Need in Brecon

Table 2: Brecon

Study date Type of need 
(Permanent / 
Transit)

When 
needed 
(period) 

Number 
of 
Pitches

Summary of Council’s Response / Action

2008 GTANA 
(EB02)

14 stopping 
places
5 transit

2007-
2017

14 
stopping 
places
5 transit

Provision was for one extended family who were 
accommodated temporarily at Cefn Cantref 
temporary site (near Brecon in BBNP). Needs 
rationalised during period and in accordance 
with emerging Welsh Government guidance 
relating to Gypsy and Travellers. Council 
applied for 2 other planning applications for 
alternative sites which were refused consent. 
New site of 10 pitches delivered in 2014 at 
King’s Meadow, Brecon (in BBNP).

2014 GTANA 0 0 The assessment concluded “No future need has 

Page 447



Cyngor Sir Powys County Council

Powys LDP, Position Statement – Gypsy and Traveller Accommodation, September 2016      7

(EB03) been identified in Brecon, however, the 4 
additional un-serviced pitches provided on 
‘King’s Meadow’ will be used to accommodate 
future growth as it arises. There is also one 
family in Brecon who are currently tenants of the 
Kings Meadow site, but who want to develop 
their own site and who are being advised about 
the planning process.” 

2016 GTAA 
(Draft, awaiting 
WG approval) 
(ED013)

Permanent Sept 
2021

3 The GTAA survey identified a need for 3 
additional pitches due to family growth. The 
Council in April 2016 submitted a grant 
application to Welsh Government to provide 
permanent facilities to all 4 of the un-serviced 
pitches. Welsh Government awarded a grant of 
£303k in July 2016. 

The Council is tendering the works with a view 
to completing the plots by March 2017.

One of the households has obtained planning 
permission via a planning appeal at Cwmanod, 
Llanddew (in the Powys LDP area) for a private 
site. This household has 5 years to comply with 
the conditions of the planning permission. When 
they move off site it will create a vacancy on the 
site. 

Given the action undertaken by the Council 
since the survey and the draft GTAA was 
submitted in Feb 2016, the revised GTAA, June 
2016 no longer identifies an outstanding need in 
relation to Brecon.

4.1 Implications for the LDP - Brecon

4.2 The housing need identified by the draft GTAA submitted in February is being 
met through the development of the remaining four un-serviced plots at King’s 
Meadow, Brecon which is located in the area of the Brecon Beacons National Park 
and outside the Powys LDP area. Given the award of grant funding by Welsh 
Government in July 2016, the four serviced plots are expected to be completed by 
the end of March 2017. As such, the meeting of this need and the delivery of the site 
has no implications for the Powys LDP.

4.3 In addition to the need identified in the GTAA 2016, planning permission was 
granted at appeal on the 30/6/16 for a gypsy traveller site for a single family on land 
to the west of Cwmanod Cottage, Llanddew which is situated in the Powys LDP 
area. A copy of the appeal decision (reference APP/T6850/A/15/3141599) is 
attached as appendix 1. 

4.4 It is considered that the following Further Focussed Changes should be made 
to the LDP: 

Page 448



Cyngor Sir Powys County Council

Powys LDP, Position Statement – Gypsy and Traveller Accommodation, September 2016      8

1. Policy H13 – Gypsy and Traveller Sites and Caravans, and paragraphs 
4.6.39 – 4.6.41. 

It is proposed that an additional paragraph be added to explain the findings of 
the draft GTAA 2016 as submitted to WG, and to explain how the identified 
need is being met in Brecon, albeit outside the Powys LDP area.

2. Appendix 1 – Settlement Allocations.

No allocation necessary.

3. Proposals and Inset Maps 

No amendments are necessary. The site at King’s Meadow is located outside 
the Powys LDP area.

The site at Cwmanod, Llanddew is located in open countryside and has the 
benefit of planning permission and it is therefore not considered necessary to 
identify this site on the LDP proposals map, as is the case for all dwelling 
commitments below 5 units.

5.0 Gypsy and Traveller Need in Welshpool

Table 3: Welshpool

Study date Type of need 
(Permanent / 
Transit)

When 
needed 
(period) 

Number 
of 
Pitches

Summary of Council’s Response / Action

2008 GTANA 
(EB02)

N/A N/A 0 None identified, site refurbished in March 
2012.  Study said p29, “Withybeds is fully 
occupied, but there is no evidence of need in 
the north of the area beyond the families 
currently resident.” The site was comprised of 
12 pitches, and transit pitches which were 
rarely used.”

The refurbished site provided 10 pitches which 
were dedicated to Irish Travellers. The 
Romany households who had previously 
occupied part of the site were re-housed to 
Council housing.

2014 GTANA 
(EB03)

Permanent First 5 
years

2 The 2 households identified from family growth 
moved off site and entered into relationships 
with occupants of sites in England. The 
provision was therefore no longer required.

2016 GTAA 
(Draft, awaiting 
WG approval) 
(ED013)

Permanent Feb 
2026

2 Para 6.38 of the GTAA, June 2016 states, 
“This leaves a residual need for the Council to 
address through new household formation on 
the public site in Welshpool, which when 
viewed in isolation shows a need to provide 
two additional pitches when the supply through 

Page 449



Cyngor Sir Powys County Council

Powys LDP, Position Statement – Gypsy and Traveller Accommodation, September 2016      9

dissolution of pitches is taken into 
consideration”. 

Investigations are being undertaken by the 
Council to determine whether it is possible to 
meet the need on the existing site at Leighton 
Arches, Welshpool. Alternative sites are also 
being investigated should it prove not possible 
to accommodate the identified need on the 
existing site.

5.1 Implications for the LDP - Welshpool

5.2 The Council, through its Gypsy and Traveller Project Board, is actively 
investigating the provision of 2 permanent pitches in the Welshpool area based on 
the findings of the Draft GTAA 2016. This need must be met by 2026.

5.3 Site options are being investigated including detailed site survey work on 
several sites prior to a planning application(s) being submitted on a preferred site(s), 
and in advance of any land acquisition if required. This work is in progress and has 
yet to complete. At this stage it is considered that the following Further Focussed 
Changes should be made to the LDP: 

1. Policy H13 – Gypsy and Traveller Sites and Caravans, and paragraphs 
4.6.39 – 4.6.41. 

It is proposed that the policy is amended to make reference to the need to 
provide two additional permanent pitches in Welshpool by 2026. A specific 
site cannot be named or identified at this juncture given the on-going site 
selection and development process.

It is further proposed that an additional paragraph be added to explain the 
findings of the draft GTAA 2016 as submitted to WG, and explain how the 
LDP is addressing the identified need and the Council’s commitment to 
meeting the need.

2. Appendix 1 – Settlement Allocations

No allocation feasible at this stage as the process of selecting a suitable site 
is being conducted.

3. Proposals and Insets Maps

No allocation feasible at this stage as the process of selecting a suitable site 
is being conducted.

5.4 Given the on-going action being taken by the Council, the position may have 
moved on by the time of the hearing sessions on the LDP in 2017, and the Council 
will provide further clarification and evidence to the Examination at that point if 

Page 450



Cyngor Sir Powys County Council

Powys LDP, Position Statement – Gypsy and Traveller Accommodation, September 2016      10

appropriate. Should any changes to the LDP be necessary or possible at that point, it 
is recommended that these are addressed via Matters Arising Changes.

6.0 Conclusion

6.1 At the time of writing this position statement (Aug 2016), the GTAA 2016 is 
awaiting approval by Welsh Government. The Council is however taking action on 
the basis of the draft findings to address the identified need. For the Powys LDP, this 
on-going work has implications for Machynlleth and Welshpool where the Council is 
taking steps to make additional provision as soon as practicably feasible. By the time 
of the Examination hearing sessions it will be possible to provide further information 
and for further amendments to the LDP to be addressed via Matters Arising Changes 
if necessary. 

Page 451



Cyngor Sir Powys County Council

Powys LDP, Position Statement – Gypsy and Traveller Accommodation, September 2016      11

Appendix 1 - Appeal Decision, Cwmanod, Llanddew, Brecon, 30/6/16

Separate attachment

Page 452



  

 

http://planninginspectorate.gov.wales/ 

 

 

 

 

 

Penderfyniad ar yr Apêl Appeal Decision 
Gwrandawiad a gynhaliwyd ar 07/06/16 

Ymweliad â safle a wnaed ar 07/06/16 

Hearing held on 07/06/16 

Site visit made on 07/06/16 

gan Vicki Hirst   BA(Hons) PG Dip TP 

MA MRTPI 

by Vicki Hirst   BA(Hons) PG Dip TP MA 

MRTPI 

Arolygydd a benodir gan Weinidogion Cymru an Inspector appointed by the Welsh Ministers 

Dyddiad: 30/06/16 Date: 30/06/16 

 

Appeal Ref: APP/T6850/A/15/3141599 

Site address: Land west of Cwmanod Cottage, Llanddew, Brecon, LD3 9SU 

The Welsh Ministers have transferred the authority to decide this appeal to me as the 

appointed Inspector. 

 The appeal is made under section 78 of the Town and Country Planning Act 1990 against a 

refusal to grant planning permission. 

 The appeal is made by Mr & Mrs M and D Lewis against the decision of Powys County Council. 

 The application Ref P/2014/0920, dated 31 August 2014, was refused by notice dated            

27 July 2015. 

 The development proposed is the change of use of land for gypsy – traveller site for single 

family, with associated development (hard standing and utility block). 
 

 

Decision 

1. The appeal is allowed and planning permission is granted for the change of use of land 
to a gypsy traveller site for a single family to include the siting of two caravans/mobile 
homes and utility block and all associated works at land west of Cwmanod Cottage, 

Llanddew, Brecon, LD3 9SU in accordance with the terms of the application, Ref 
P/2014/0920, dated 31 August 2014, and the plans submitted with it, subject to the 

conditions in the attached schedule. 

Procedural Matters 

2. The description of development in the heading above has been taken from the 

application form.  An amended description was agreed between the main parties prior 
to the application being determined to more accurately describe the development 

being sought.  It is on the basis of the revised description as set out in my formal 
decision above that I have determined the appeal.  It was also confirmed at the 
hearing that the proposal did not relate to any commercial use of the site and that 

either a permanent or temporary permission was being sought. 

3. The submitted application documents included a supporting statement which contains 

personal information.  Powys County Council (the Council) did not publish the 
document on its website due to its content but retained it on the working file.  The 
Planning Inspectorate has not published it on the Planning Portal as it contains 

personal and potentially defamatory content.  It was agreed at the hearing that as 
interested persons may not have been aware of the statement that it would be 

Page 453



Appeal Decision APP/T6850/A/15/3141599 

 

http://planninginspectorate.gov.wales/ 

    2 

 

prejudicial and unfair to interested persons to take it into account.  It was agreed that 
no prejudice would arise to the appellants if it was not taken into account as the 

relevant information within it had been provided in other documents as part of the 
appeal submissions.  As such all parties agreed that the document should be 

disregarded and I have therefore not taken it into account in reaching my decision. 

Main Issues 

4. The main issues in this case are: 

 whether the proposal would provide an appropriate site for a gypsy and 
traveller site, in particular having regard to its effect on the character and 

appearance of the area and its sustainability credentials; and 

 whether there are other material considerations that would justify granting 
permission in particular having regard to the general need and supply of gypsy 

and traveller sites in the area and the personal circumstances of the appellants. 

Appropriateness of Site – Policy Considerations 

5. Policy HP20 of the Powys County Council Unitary Development Plan (UDP) relates to 
gypsy caravan sites.  It supports their provision subject to a number of criteria, 
including meeting the needs of gypsies who have regularly resided in or resorted to 

the area and there are no other sites available, the development to not be visually 
intrusive in the landscape and incorporate screening provisions and the proposal being 

well related to existing community, social and educational facilities.  The supporting 
text states that proposals for development of isolated small sites will not be permitted.  

6. Welsh Assembly Government Circular 30/2007: “Planning for Gypsy and Traveller 

Caravan Sites” (Circular 30/2007) supports the principle of gypsy and traveller sites 
being located in rural settings, where not subject to specific planning or other 

constraints.  The Circular advocates that sites should be sustainably located.  In 
assessing the suitability of sites, the Circular advises local authorities to consider a 
range of sustainability criteria and to be realistic about the availability of alternatives 

to the car to access local services.  It states that over rigid application of policies that 
seek a reduction in car borne travel would not be appropriate.   

7. Powys County Council (the Council) does not dispute the gypsy status of the 
appellants or their family.  There is no evidence before me to suggest that the 
appellants or their family are not gypsies and from the evidence given at the hearing I 

am satisfied that the appellants and their family are gypsies for the purposes of the 
definition at paragraph 3 of Circular 30/2007. 

8. Local and national policies support the provision of gypsy and traveller sites in 
principle.  Therefore, the main considerations are whether the proposal would be 
visually intrusive in the landscape and harmful to the character and appearance of the 

area, whether it would be sustainably located and whether there is an overriding need 
for the development.   

Character and Appearance 

9. The site is located within the countryside and comprises a small area of cleared 

woodland accessed via a single carriageway rural lane through an existing gateway on 
its southern boundary.  The site is bordered by mature woodland to the west, the lane 
to the south, a further area of woodland and the River Honddu to the north and an 

area of cleared land to the east situated on a lower level, part of which is within the 

Page 454



Appeal Decision APP/T6850/A/15/3141599 

 

http://planninginspectorate.gov.wales/ 

    3 

 

appellants’ ownership and part of which it is understood is in the ownership of Powys 
County Council.  The property, Cwmanod Cottage lies to the east on the opposite side 

of the road bridge crossing the river. Two public footpaths are located to the east and 
south east, with a further footpath to the north.  The site rises steeply from east to 

west.  At the time of my visit the site was vacant. There was evidence of a stoned 
area in the western portion of the site. 

10. The site is not the subject of any statutory or local landscape designations.  The 

boundary of the Brecon Beacons National Park (BBNP) lies to the immediate south and 
to the east.  The National Park designation affords the area the highest status of 

protection in landscape terms and I have had regard to the statutory purpose of 
National Parks to conserve and enhance the natural beauty, wildlife and cultural 
heritage of the area1 in reaching my decision. 

11. The LANDMAP assessment for the overall area describes it as a settled pastoral upland 
valley with well treed slopes with a scattering of farmsteads and rural dwellings on the 

valley sides.  Settlements tend to be vernacular in style and complement the character 
of the landscape with views possible to the surrounding area but mostly channelled 
down the valley.  The assessment gives the visual and sensory aspect of the 

landscape a high value.  

12. The overall character of the area is of countryside and the proposed development 

comprising two caravans, a utility block and associated access, parking and 
hardstanding would be in direct contrast with the existing character of the area.  I 
acknowledge the appellants’ reference to the presence of caravans on farmyards and 

in gardens.  Nonetheless these are viewed in association with other buildings and as 
ancillary elements to larger farms or dwellings.  From my observations on site I do not 

find that individual caravans or caravan sites are a particular feature of the area. 

13. The proposal would alter the tranquil, undeveloped nature of the site.  Despite the 
presence of some vegetation there would be clear views of the development from the 

adjacent highway and from the bridge to the east.  Whilst the mobile home would be 
set back from the highway and viewed against the backdrop of the woodland to the 

west, the elevated nature of the site would emphasise the development.  The touring 
caravan would be positioned to the front of the site adjacent to the entrance and 
would be highly visible from the lane.   

14. The proposal would also be visible from a short stretch of the public rights of way to 
the south east and north, the former being within the BBNP.  However these views 

would be partially filtered by the presence of vegetation and in the case of the path to 
the north through the topography and distance.  Whilst there would be some impacts 
to these paths, in the overall context of the enjoyment of these routes, I find that any 

harm would be limited to very short stretches.    

15. I observed on my site visit that longer distance views would be limited due to 

topography, vegetation and the relatively small size of the proposal.  As such I find 
that the impacts would be very localised and limited to the short stretch of highway to 

the south and east and limited portions of the public rights of way to the north and 
south east.   

16. The appellants explained at the hearing that electricity provision to the site would 

require an additional length of overhead line and supporting poles taken from the 

                                       
1    Section 61, Environment Act, 1995 

Page 455



Appeal Decision APP/T6850/A/15/3141599 

 

http://planninginspectorate.gov.wales/ 

    4 

 

existing line to the north.  In the context of the wooded area I do not find that this 
would cause a significant increase in any visual harm. 

17. Nonetheless from local viewpoints the proposal would be an alien feature in this 
attractive pastoral landscape.  It would be visually intrusive in the local landscape and 

harmful to the character and appearance of the area and would not conserve the 
natural beauty of the National Park.  In this respect the proposal would fail to accord 
with policies HP20 and ENV2 of the UDP.      

Sustainability 

18. The site lies within approximately 600 metres of the village of Llanddew.  It was 

confirmed at the hearing that Llanddew is defined as a small village in the UDP with a 
specified settlement boundary.  It contains limited services.  The larger settlement of 
Brecon lies approximately 2km distant and offers a range of services including health 

centres, shops and schools.   

19. Whilst policy HP20 of the UDP requires sites to be well related to existing community, 

social, educational and other facilities no further clarity is provided.  The appellants do 
not intend to rely on public transport for accessing services and would utilise a private 
car and Circular 30/2007 requires decisions to be made without over rigid application 

of policies that seek a reduction in car borne travel.  I acknowledge the Council’s view 
that the site is isolated and it is evident that Llanddew cannot offer day to day 

services.  However in my assessment 2km is not an unreasonable distance for 
travelling to access local services in a rural area.  I note, and whilst acknowledge that 
the site lies within the settlement boundary, that the Council has recently granted 

planning permission for housing and affordable housing in Llanddew which will 
similarly rely on services in Brecon.   

20. Circular 30/2007 advises that issues of site sustainability are important not only for 
environmental issues, but also for the health and well-being of gypsies and travellers 
for matters relating to maintenance and support of family members and social 

networks.  The appellants explained at the hearing that they have strong and long 
standing family and friend connections with the Brecon area and that the children, 

aged 6 and 8, attend the local schools.  The location of the site close to Brecon and 
the publicly provided gypsy and traveller site at Kings Meadow where members of the 
family reside would enable family and social connections to be maintained and for the 

children to  continue to attend the local schools, both now and in the future.     

21. The site is also serviced by mains water and as stated above electricity could be 

gained from the supply that lies to the north.  It was stated at the hearing that no 
phone line would be required as mobile phones would be used for both telephone and 
internet connection.  A package sewage treatment unit would be provided for foul 

sewage. 

22. I conclude that the site would provide an appropriate site for a gypsy and traveller site 

with regard to its sustainability credentials. 

Other Material Considerations 

Need and Supply of Gypsy and Traveller Sites 

23. At the time of the hearing the appellants were residing at Kings Meadow which 
provides gypsy and traveller accommodation in the Brecon area.  It was confirmed at 

Page 456



Appeal Decision APP/T6850/A/15/3141599 

 

http://planninginspectorate.gov.wales/ 

    5 

 

the hearing that there is currently no other available gypsy and traveller site in the 
Brecon area. 

24. The Council has a duty under the Housing Act 2004 and Circular 30/2007 to assess 
the need for gypsy and traveller accommodation.  Where an assessment of unmet 

need is evident, there is a requirement to ensure that sufficient sites are allocated 
through the Local Development Plan (LDP) process.  These duties reflect wider duties 
to promote equal opportunities and to prevent unlawful discrimination on the grounds 

of race. 

25. The Council is currently preparing its LDP and which has reached deposit draft stage.  

It was confirmed at the hearing that the Council commissioned consultants to 
undertake a Gypsy and Traveller Accommodation Assessment (GTAA) and the 
assessment has been submitted to the Welsh Government.  The GTAA is not in the 

public domain at present, but the Council stated at the hearing that it identifies a need 
for 3 additional pitches and the Council will be seeking grant aid to provide 4 serviced 

pitches at the Kings Meadow site.  The appellants contended at the hearing that there 
is a need for some 7 pitches due to the doubling up on pitches at the Kings Meadow 
site and that no consideration has been given to the need for private pitches with no 

approach being made to the appellants to discuss their needs.   

26. The Council stated at the hearing that the Welsh Government has queried why the 

GTAA has not been informed by a discussion with the appellants regarding their need 
for a pitch due to their long standing personal circumstances which I refer to below.  
Furthermore, it would appear that the GTAA does not consider the need for private 

pitches, which the Council contends would be assessed on a case by case basis 
against a criteria based policy in a similar manner to the UDP policy HP20.   

27. Given the stage of preparation of the GTAA and the LDP I give them little weight.  
Nonetheless, even though there was not consensus between the main parties at the 
hearing on the number of pitches needed, there was agreement that there is a need 

for some additional pitches within the Brecon area.  It is the Council’s position that 
these can be provided at the Kings Meadow site.   

28. Whilst policy HP20 of the UDP allows for the provision of sites subject to compliance 
with detailed criteria this is on the basis that there are no other sites available locally.  
This does not appear to address Circular 30/2007’s recognition that some gypsies and 

travellers wish to find and buy their own private sites to develop and manage.  On the 
evidence before me no actual provision has been made for private sites within the UDP 

and given the current status of the LDP and the current shortcomings of the GTAA 
there is no identifiable time frame for this to be addressed in the forthcoming 
development plan.   

29. Circular 30/2007 also notes that an increase in the number of approved private sites 
may also release pitches on local authority sites for gypsies and travellers most in 

need of public provision.  In this case, given there is a need in the area, the lack of 
identified other sites within the current development plan that could accommodate the 

appellants, and taking account that the provision of a private site would release a 
pitch at Kings Meadow that would go towards an identified need I afford these matters 
considerable weight.   

Personal Circumstances 

30. On the evidence before me it is well documented that the appellants experience 

difficulties living at the Kings Meadow site due to inter family conflicts.  This has led to 

Page 457



Appeal Decision APP/T6850/A/15/3141599 

 

http://planninginspectorate.gov.wales/ 

    6 

 

Mr Lewis experiencing health problems which are substantiated by medical reports.  It 
was explained at the hearing that Mr Lewis has to regularly sleep in a car due to the 

difficulties on the site and the conflicts have been taking place since 2000.  The site is 
not managed by an on site warden and the difficulties on the site have implications for 

others residing there.  The appellants consider that the situation does not provide a 
stable environment for the children who need to be accommodated in the area to 
enable them to continue their education in local schools. 

31. It is evident that the appellants have attempted to find alternative accommodation 
and have resided in both unauthorised locations and have been provided a council 

house in Talybont and Brecon.  However, they experienced harassment and found it 
difficult to adjust to living in bricks and mortar accommodation.  The Council’s Service 
Manager Housing Solutions stated in 2015 that the appellants are unable to reside on 

the same site as other family members with a mediator advising that it was unlikely 
that the parties could reside on the same site.  The Council’s Service Manager 

considered that in the interests of managing the Kings Meadow site it was 
recommended that the appellants found an alternative pitch/site in the Brecon area.  
The vacancy that this would create would assist in meeting a need on the site.  The 

Council stated at the hearing that this was not the Council’s agreed position and was 
the view of only one officer. 

32. Nonetheless, the evidence before me demonstrates the difficulties on the site between 
the appellants and other family members, the lack of available alternative 
accommodation within the Brecon area, the attempts that the appellants have made 

to find other places to reside, and the need for the appellants’ children to have a 
stable and safe home environment close to their education.  I find these to be 

compelling reasons for the appellants to be able to secure suitable other 
accommodation in the Brecon area. 

Other Matters 

33. The site is not situated within a flood zone as defined by the Development Advice Map 
(DAM) referred to in Technical Advice Note 15: “Development and Flood Risk” (TAN 

15) with the boundary of the flood zone being located to the north of the site.   

34. The site is situated adjacent to a Site of Special Scientific Interest (SSSI) and Special 
Area of Conservation (SAC).  On the evidence before me, including a bat and otter 

survey, road verge nature reserve re-instatement scheme and SSSI impact report, the 
proposal could be adequately conditioned to ensure that there would be no likely 

significant effects or harm arising to these statutory designations and I have no 
reason to disagree.   

35. Concerns have been raised regarding highway safety.  The appellants provided a 

transport assessment with their application and the Council’s Highways Officer raised 
no objection subject to conditions.  Whilst I note concerns at the width of the lane 

serving the site and the adequacy of nearby junctions within the village and wider 
surrounds, I am satisfied on the basis of the evidence before me and from my own 

observations on site that the additional traffic generated from one family would not 
cause any harm subject to conditions including one to control the size of vehicles on 
the site. 

36. The property Cwmanod Cottage lies to the east on lower ground.  Its western 
boundary comprises a mature hedgerow which the owner explained had been left to 

grow to provide screening should the appeal be allowed.  Whilst this is acknowledged, 

Page 458



Appeal Decision APP/T6850/A/15/3141599 

 

http://planninginspectorate.gov.wales/ 

    7 

 

even at a maintained height the hedge would restrict views of the site and given the 
distance of the property from the site at a significantly lower level I do not find that 

the proposal would give rise to any loss of privacy or harm to residents’ living 
conditions.  

37. I note concerns relating to personal security and have had regard to the case law cited 
by the objectors’ representative2.  I have also taken into account that the perceived 
fears of the public are a material consideration in my determination3.  Whilst I 

acknowledge that there has been police involvement on occasions and Mr Lewis has a 
historic conviction I have no substantiated evidence before me that allowing the 

appeal would lead to any increased risk to local residents’ future security. 

38. I also note that Cwmanod Cottage is of a traditional cottage design and the objectors’ 
contention that the proposal would detract from its setting.  The building is not listed 

and there is little inter visibility between the site and the cottage.  Given the distance 
and topography between the two sites I do not consider that the proposal would be 

harmful to its setting.   

39. I acknowledge concerns regarding the potential precedent that would be set by 
allowing this development.  I have no directly comparable sites to which this might 

apply before me.  Each application and appeal must be determined on its individual 
merits, and a generalised concern of this nature does not justify withholding 

permission in this case. 

40. Matters relating to tree felling and work on the site previously are not pertinent to my 
consideration of the particular proposal before me. 

Overall Balancing 

41. I have found that the proposed development would be visually intrusive in the local 

landscape.  It would result in harm to the character and appearance of the area and 
would not conserve the natural beauty of the BBNP contrary to policies HP20 and 
ENV2.  It is therefore necessary to consider whether other considerations outweigh 

this harm.  In assessing this balance I have taken into account the special protection 
given to National Park landscapes. 

42. The harm that I have identified is very localised in nature.  The impact on the BBNP is 
restricted to a short section of the public footpath that lies to the south east and the 
impact to the wider countryside is in the main related to the short section of highway 

that passes the site and from views to the north which are to a certain extent filtered 
by vegetation.  Additional planting to the east and along the highway edge would help 

to soften the impact of the proposal to the wider surrounds and could be required 
through a landscaping condition.   I find that in this context the resulting harm is 
limited. 

43. I have found that the site is sustainably located and that there is a need for additional 
gypsy and traveller pitches within the Brecon area.  The Council maintains that this 

need can be met at the existing Kings Meadow site; however this does not take into 
account that some gypsies and travellers may wish to find and buy their own sites to 

develop and manage and the appellants’ particular personal circumstances that make 
residing at Kings Meadow very difficult.  The provision of the appeal site, which is 

                                       
2    Asbri Written Statement of Evidence, March 2016 
3    Paragraph 3.1.8, Planning Policy Wales, Edition 8 

Page 459



Appeal Decision APP/T6850/A/15/3141599 

 

http://planninginspectorate.gov.wales/ 

    8 

 

owned by the appellants, would release a pitch at Kings Meadow to meet the wider 
need.  The site is not constrained by any other planning considerations that cannot be 

addressed through planning conditions and in such cases national policy supports the 
provision of rural sites in principle.  I give these matters considerable weight. 

44. The appellants’ personal circumstances are also material to the balancing exercise.  
The inter family conflicts at the Kings Meadow site are having a direct effect on Mr 
Lewis’s health and feuding and conflict is not in the children’s best interests.  A refusal 

of permission is likely to lead to the appellants moving out onto an unauthorised site 
or to a site away from their family and friends.  Even should they stay the situation 

between family members is untenable and is having an effect on their health and the 
childrens’ welfare.  A refusal would interfere with the right to respect for family and 
private life as enshrined in Article 8 of Protocol 1 of the European Convention on 

Human Rights.   

45. I have noted the Council’s reference to case law in this respect4 and the need for a 

proportionate and balanced approach.  These are qualified rights which have to be 
balanced against the public interest in protecting the countryside and National Parks.  
In this case having taken into account all other considerations including the family’s 

personal circumstances, the sustainable credentials of the site and the lack of other 
provision in the area, I conclude that the limited harm to the character and 

appearance of the area and the natural beauty of the BBNP is clearly outweighed by 
these factors.  In the circumstances of the case I find a permanent permission to be 
justified and there is no need to consider the merits of a temporary permission.   

   Conditions 

46. I have considered the conditions discussed at the hearing in light of the advice in 

Circular 016/2014.  In addition to conditions relating to the time for implementation, 
and compliance with plans, given the justification for the development a condition 
restricting occupancy to gypsies and travellers and restricting the number of caravans 

are necessary.  Conditions relating to the ecological and biodiversity interests of the 
site are necessary given the proximity to the SSSI and SAC and landscaping and 

boundary treatment details are required to integrate the site with the surroundings.  
Conditions relating to highway matters are necessary in the interests of highway 
safety.  I note the appellants’ concerns in relation to a bound surface and its impact 

on the visual appearance of the site and have included a requirement within the 
landscaping scheme to agree the surface to be used.  I consider that a condition 

relating to the gradient of the access is required to ensure that caravans can 
reasonably enter the site.  A condition restricting the number and weight limit of 
commercial vehicles on the site is necessary due to the rural nature of the road 

network and restrictions on storage are also necessary in the interests of the visual 
amenities of the area.  

47. I have not imposed the suggested condition requiring the sewage treatment plant to 
comply with the manufacturer’s installation requirements as both main parties agreed 

at the hearing that this would be unnecessary given the controls under other 
legislation.  Whilst I note the Council’s request for a condition relating to the materials 
for the development I find that this would be unreasonable given that caravans are 

generally of a consistent finish and the finishes for the utility block are specified on the 
relevant approved plan. 

                                       
4   Council’s Officer Report and documents provided at the hearing 

Page 460



Appeal Decision APP/T6850/A/15/3141599 

 

http://planninginspectorate.gov.wales/ 

    9 

 

Conclusion 

48. I have taken into account all other matters raised, but find none that outweigh my 

conclusions that subject to the imposition of conditions the proposal would be 
acceptable.  For the reasons above I allow the appeal. 

Vicki Hirst 

INSPECTOR 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 461



Appeal Decision APP/T6850/A/15/3141599 

 

http://planninginspectorate.gov.wales/ 

    10 

 

APPEARANCES 

 

FOR THE APPELLANT: 

 

Mrs A Heine       Appellants’ agent 

Mr M Lewis       Appellant 

Mrs D Lewis       Appellant 

 

FOR THE LOCAL PLANNING AUTHORITY: 

 

Miss G Bufton      Principal Planning Officer 

Miss H Hobbs      Principal Planning Officer 

Mr C Edwards      Council’s Solicitor 

 

INTERESTED PERSONS: 

 

Mr K Warren  (on behalf of Mr & Mrs Martin)  Asbri Planning 

Mr R Martin       Local Resident 

Mrs M Martin       Local Resident 

Mr JP Davies       Local Resident 

 

DOCUMENTS SUBMITTED AT THE HEARING 

 

1. Council’s notification letter of appeal arrangements, 23 May 2016 

2. Map of Public Rights of Way submitted by the Council 

3. Case Law relating to Human Rights submitted by the Council 

4. Extracts from LANDMAP requested at the hearing and received via email on 9 June 

2016 

5. Correspondence from Kirsty Williams AM requested at the hearing and received via 

email on 9 June 2016 

 

 

Page 462



Appeal Decision APP/T6850/A/15/3141599 

 

http://planninginspectorate.gov.wales/ 

    11 

 

SCHEDULE OF CONDITIONS – APP/T6850/A/15/3141599 – LAND WEST OF 
CWMANOD COTTAGE, LLANDDEW, BRECON, LD3 9SU 

 

1) The development shall begin not later than five years from the date of this 

decision. 

2) The development shall be carried out in accordance with the following approved 
plans: 4157 (BP) 01, 4157 03, and Proposed Site Layout except insofar as may 

be required by other conditions of this planning permission. 

3) The occupation of the site shall only be by Gypsies and Travellers as defined by 

paragraph 3 of Circular 30/2007 and their resident dependents. 

4) There shall be no more than one pitch on the site hereby approved with no more 
than two caravans being stationed at any time, of which only one shall be a 

static caravan. 

5) No commercial activities shall take place on the land.   

6) Any storage including the storage of materials, shall only take place within areas 
agreed in writing with the local planning authority prior to the storage taking 
place. 

7) No more than one commercial vehicle shall be kept on the land and it shall not 
exceed 3.5 tonnes in weight. 

8) No development shall commence (including ground works and vegetation 
clearance), until a Construction Environmental Method Statement (CEMP) has 
been submitted to, and approved in writing by, the local planning authority.  The 

approved statement shall be adhered to throughout the construction period. The 
statement shall provide for: 

i) risk assessment of potentially damaging construction activities; 

ii) identification of biodiversity protection zones; 

iii) practical measures (both physical measures and sensitive working 

practices) to avoid or reduce impacts during construction; 

iv) the location and timing of sensitive works to avoid harm to biodiversity 

features; 

v) the times during construction when specialist ecologists need to be present 
to oversee works; 

vi) responsible persons and lines of communication; 

vii) the role and responsibilities on site of an ecological clerk of works or other 

competent person; and 

viii) use of protective fences, exclusion barriers and warning signs. 

 

9) No development shall commence until a fence to protect the Afon Honddu SSSI 
and SAC shall be erected along the top of the river bank in accordance with the 

specifications within Section 9.9 of “A Survey for Bat and Otter Presence” and 
Section 7.6 of “An Assessment to Consider the Potential Impacts on the Site of 

Special Scientific Interest” both by Just Mammals Consultancy LLP dated 
December 2013 and Section 10.5 of “An Extended Phase 1 Habitat and Species 
Survey” dated October 2013.  The fence shall be retained thereafter. 

Page 463



Appeal Decision APP/T6850/A/15/3141599 

 

http://planninginspectorate.gov.wales/ 

    12 

 

10) No development shall commence until compensatory above ground otter resting 
site opportunities have been provided in accordance with the recommendations 

identified in Section 9.3 of “A Survey for Bat and Otter Presence” by Just 
Mammals Consultancy LLP dated December 2013”.  They shall be retained 

thereafter. 

11) No development shall commence until a Biodiversity Enhancement Plan has been 
submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority.  The Plan 

shall thereafter be implemented and retained in accordance with the approved 
details. 

12) Prior to occupation a lighting design strategy for biodiversity shall be submitted 
to and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority.  The strategy shall: 

a) identify those areas/features on site that are particularly sensitive for bats 

and otters and that are likely to cause disturbance in or around their 
breeding sites and resting places or along important routes used to access 

key areas of their territory for example for foraging; and  

b) show how and where external lighting will be installed (through the provision 
of appropriate lighting contour plans and technical specifications) so that it 

can be clearly demonstrated that areas to be lit will not disturb or prevent 
the above species using their territory or having access to their breeding 

sites and resting places. 

All external lighting shall be installed and retained in accordance with the 
strategy and no other external lighting shall be installed without the prior written 

approval of the local planning authority. 

13) No development shall take place until details of both hard and soft landscape 

works have been submitted to and approved in writing by the local planning 
authority.  These details shall include: 

i) a statement setting out the design objectives and how these will be 

delivered; 

ii) earthworks showing existing and proposed finished levels or contours; 

iii) means of enclosure; 

iv) other vehicle and pedestrian access and circulation areas;  

v) hard surfacing materials; 

vi) a native planting scheme including details and schedules of trees, 
hedgerows and wildflower meadows and the re-instatement of the road 

verge nature reserve in accordance with the methodology set out in “A 
Road Verge Nature Reserve Re-Instatement Scheme” by Just Mammals 
Consultancy LLP dated December 2013;  

vii) a tree and hedgerow protection plan; and 

viii) an implementation plan. 

The landscaping works shall be carried out and retained thereafter in accordance 
with the approved details. 

14) Any entrance gates shall be set back at least 5.5 metres distant from the edge 
of the adjoining carriageway and shall be constructed to open inwards away 
from the highway.   

Page 464



Appeal Decision APP/T6850/A/15/3141599 

 

http://planninginspectorate.gov.wales/ 

    13 

 

15) The gradient of the access shall not exceed 1 in 15 for the first 5.5 metres 
measured from the edge of the adjoining carriageway along the centre line of 

the access. 

16) Within 5 days of the commencement of development, the access shall be 

constructed so that there is clear visibility from a point 1.05 metres above 
ground level at the centre of the access and 2.4 metres distant from the edge of 
the adjoining carriageway to points 0.26 metres above ground level at the edge 

of the adjoining carriageway and 45.0 metres distant in each direction measured 
from the centre of the access along the edge of the adjoining carriageway.  

Nothing shall be planted, erected or allowed to grow on the areas of land so 
formed that would obstruct visibility and the splays shall be maintained free 
from obstruction thereafter. 

17) Within 5 days of the commencement of development, provision shall be made 
within the curtilage of the site for the parking of construction vehicles together 

with a vehicle turning area.  This parking and turning area shall be constructed 
to a depth of 0.3 metres in crusher run or sub-base and maintained free from 
obstruction at all times such that all vehicles serving the site park within the site 

and enter and leave in forward gear. 

18) Prior to the occupation of the caravans, provision shall be made within the site 

for the parking of not less than 2 cars excluding any garage space together with 
a turning space such that all vehicles serving the site may enter and leave in 
forward gear. The parking and turning areas shall thereafter be retained and be 

kept free of obstruction. 

19) No storm water drainage from the site shall be allowed to discharge onto the 

county highway. 

 

Page 465



This page is intentionally left blank



Powys
Local Development Plan

2011 – 2026
1/4/2011 to 31/3/2026

Written Statement
Deposit Draft with Focussed 

Changes and Further Focussed 
Changes

October 2016
 (Proposals & Inset Maps published separately)

Page 467

LDP34- 2016



Powys LDP 2011-2026              Deposit Draft with Focussed Changes and Further 
Focussed Changes October 2016

Cyngor Sir Powys County Council                                                                                            2

Notations

FFC deletion   FFC addition   To Do

ALL CHANGES MADE TO THIS DOCUMENT ON OR AFTER 2ND SEPT TO 
FOLLOW THESE NOTATIONS

deleted text  and new text.

Outstanding: (Priority 1 – asap – and Priority 2 by Fri)

Checklist
 Contents page
 Proof read
 Check FFC numbering
 Check DM cross refs
 Inspector’s recommended content and structure changes – 

Formatting
 Any new policies to use wording changes made e.g. Development 

Proposals
 Compare Appendix 1 and H1a, etc.
 Appendix 4 – need to amend policy refs – deleted policies, new 

policies.
 Any Changes from re-run of assessments (SA, SEA, HRA, 

Integrated Assessment – Health and Well-being)

Cath  / Tanya
Priority 1 – FFC4 , FFC10 (para 3.3.14), Policy SP6 (greens) % inserted 
into SP6 but Peter to check the further wording tweaks and change to 
yellow highlight (from green) if agreed;  FFC10 – now checking with 
Alistair
Priority 2 – Paragraph numbering after DM15

Cath
Priority 2 – 4.8.12

Tanya
Priority 2 – FFC90, reasons box – Berrriew, Buttington.

Claire
Priority 1 – Policy DM3 (discuss with TD and AR) re Historic landscapes. 

Page 468



Powys LDP 2011-2026              Deposit Draft with Focussed Changes and Further 
Focussed Changes October 2016

Cyngor Sir Powys County Council                                                                                            3

Priority 2 – Glossary def of Registered Landscape (discuss with 
Angharad)

Angharad
Priority 1 – Affordable housing target – exec summary, SP3 (FFC21), 
Policy H4 (FFC63) and supporting text. Anything left re RE?
Priority 2 – FFC15, green text

Richard
Priority 1 – FFC8 Objective 3, reasons box. See pink text.
Priority 2 – Impact Assessment – 1.4a
App1 Inserted all Density and Affordable Housing Changes

Adrian
Priority 1 – Policy H1A – green text. - DONE

All – 
Priority 1:
Appendix 1
(a) density and 
(b) Ahsg number changes to the Has and HLBs
C) Standard text and asterisk for amount of site to be developed in the 
plan. Sites to be asterisked. Adrian.

Monitoring framework – all to look at. Priority 3. (Next week).

Page 469



Powys LDP 2011-2026              Deposit Draft with Focussed Changes and Further Focussed 
Changes October 2016

Cyngor Sir Powys County Council                                                                                            4

Making / Viewing comments on-line through LDP Web 

If you are reading an electronic version of the document (from CD, or 
downloaded from the Powys LDP website), and you are connected to the 
Internet, you can simply click on a RefPoint (which looks like this: ®34.12 – an ® 
symbol followed by a number) to see what comments have already been made 
about that point.

Further Minor Change: FFC1 Section: Contents page
Reason: 
Update the contents pages / table to reflect the proposed Further Focussed 
Changes. (Page numbers not amended at this stage)

Note 1: The numbering of paragraphs, policies, etc., will be amended in the final, 
adopted printed version of the LDP.

Note 2: Footnotes to be reviewed for final adopted plan. 

Contents

Contents
Executive Summary 5

1.0 Introduction 6
1.6 Structure and Format of the LDP 7

2.0 The LDP’s Context 9
2.2 Characteristics of Powys 9
2.3 Policy Context 12
2.4 Key Issues and Considerations for the LDP 14

3.0 The LDP Strategy 18
3.2 The LDP’s Vision and Objectives 19
3.3 Growth Strategy – How much development is planned? 22
3.4 Spatial Strategy – Where is development planned? 26
3.5 The LDP’s Strategy Statement and Key Diagram
3.6 The Strategic Policies

Strategic Policy SP1 – Housing Growth
Strategic Policy SP2 – Employment Growth
Strategic Policy SP3 – Affordable Housing Target
Strategic Policy SP4 – Retail Growth
Strategic Policy SP5 – Settlement Hierarchy
Strategic Policy SP6 – Distribution of Growth across the Settlement 
Hierarchy
Strategic Policy SP7 – Safeguarding of Strategic Resources and 
Assets

4.0 Policies for Making Planning Decisions 36

Page 470

https://secure.powys.gov.uk/ldp_representations/index.php?L=0


Powys LDP 2011-2026              Deposit Draft with Focussed Changes and Further Focussed 
Changes October 2016

Cyngor Sir Powys County Council                                                                                            5

4.2 Development Management Policies 36
Policy DM1 – Planning Obligations 36
Policy DM2 – The Natural Environment 37
Policy DM2A – Public Open Space
Policy DM3 – Landscape 42
Policy DM4 – Development and Flood Risk 43
Policy DM5 – Flood Prevention Measures and Land Drainage 44
Policy DM6 – Dark Skies and External Lighting 46
Policy DM7 – Minerals Safeguarding 47
Policy DM8 – Existing Mineral Workings 48
Policy DM9 – Contaminated and Unstable Land 48
Policy DM10 – Amenities 49
Policy DM11 – Protection of Existing Community Facilities and 
Services

49

Policy DM12 – Transport Requirements for New Development 50
Policy DM13 – Utility Requirements for New Development 51
Policy DM14 – Development in Welsh Speaking Strongholds 52
Policy DM15 – Design and Resources 54
Policy DM15A – Air Quality Management
Policy DM16 – Protection and Enhancement of the Historic 
Environment

55

Policy DM17 – Protection of Existing Employment Sites 56

4.4A Topic Based Policies
4.3 Listed Buildings 57

Policy L1 – Works to a Listed Building 57

4.4 Economic Development 58
Policy E1 – Employment Proposals on Allocated Employment Sites 58
Policy E2 – Employment Proposals on Non-allocated Employment 

Sites
58

Policy E3 – Employment Proposals on Allocated Mixed Use 
Employment Sites Allocations

59

Policy E4 – Bronllys Health Park 61

4.5 Transport 61
Policy T1 – Transport Infrastructure 61
Policy T1A – Safeguarding of Disused Transport Infrastructure
Policy T2 – Newtown By-pass

4.6 Housing 62
Policy H1 – Housing Provision Development Proposals 62
Policy H2 – Housing Delivery 63
Policy H3 – Housing Density 64
Policy H4 – Affordable Housing Contributions 65
Policy H5 – Affordable Housing Exception Sites 66
Policy H7 – Rural Affordable Homes 67

Page 471



Powys LDP 2011-2026              Deposit Draft with Focussed Changes and Further Focussed 
Changes October 2016

Cyngor Sir Powys County Council                                                                                            6

Policy H8 – Affordable Housing Eligibility 68
Policy H9 – Householder Development 68
Policy H10 – Removal of Conditions / Planning Obligations 69
Policy H11 – Renovation of Abandoned Dwellings 70
Policy H12- Replacement Dwellings 70
Policy H13 – Gypsy and Traveller Sites and Caravans 71
Policy H14 – Open Space Provision in Housing Development 72

4.7 Planning For Retailing and Town Centres 73
Policy R1 – New Retail Development 73
Policy R2 – Development Within Town Centre Areas 74
Policy R3 – Large Out-of-Centre Retail Developments 76
Policy R4 – Neighbourhood and Village Shops and Services 77

4.8 Tourism 77
Policy TD1 – Tourism Development 78
Policy TD2 – Alternative Uses of existing Tourism Development 79
Policy TD3 – Montgomery Canal and Associated Development 80

4.9 Waste 81
Policy W1 – Waste 81

4.10 Sustainable Energy 82
Policy RE1 – Renewable Energy 82

4.11 Minerals 85
Policy M1 – Existing Sites 85
Policy M2 – New Minerals Sites 87
Policy M3 – Borrow Pits 87

4.12 Community and Indoor Recreation Facilities 88
Policy C1 – Community Facilities and Indoor Recreation 88

4.13 Military Operations 89
Policy MD1 – Development proposals by the MOD 89

5.0 The LDP’s Monitoring Framework

Appendix 1 – Settlement Allocations 90
Appendix 2 – Supplementary Planning Guidance and Development 
Briefs

147

Appendix 3 – Monitoring Framework 148
Appendix 4 – Habitats Regulations Assessment (HRA) 165
Appendix 4a – Affordable Housing Sub-market Areas
Appendix 5 – Glossary 167

Page 472



Powys LDP 2011-2026              Deposit Draft with Focussed Changes and Further Focussed 
Changes October 2016

Cyngor Sir Powys County Council                                                                                            7

Further Minor Change: FFC2 Section: Executive Summary
Reason: 
Update the affordable homes target to reflect additional work undertaken since 
the exploratory meeting.

Executive Summary ® 34.1 

The Powys Local Development Plan (LDP) sets out the Council’s policies for the 
development and use of land in Powys, and for reconciling uses, up to 2026. It is 
applicable to all of Powys except the Brecon Beacons National Park.

It identifies a vision and objectives based on an understanding of the 
characteristics, issues and needs of the county and its communities. 

The LDP has been informed by evidence gathering, and its policies and 
proposals have been tested and informed by various assessment processes 
including a Sustainability Appraisal, a Habitats Regulation Assessment and a 
Strategic Environmental Assessment. Key to the LDP’s preparation has been the 
involvement and support received from a wide range of stakeholders.

Based on evidence of future need identified, the LDP provides, over its 15 year 
plan period 2011-2026, sufficient land through its policies and proposals to meet 
the dwelling requirement of 4,500 dwellings, including 1,257 affordable homes. It 
also provides 45 hectares of employment land and includes policies to meet the 
needs of the economy. 

The plan distributes this development according to a hierarchy of settlements, 
with sites allocated for dwellings and employment in towns and larger villages 
which act as service centres for their wider communities. Outside of these larger 
settlements, in the smaller settlements and the open countryside of Powys, 
policies enable smaller scales of development to meet local needs, particularly 
affordable housing, and to support the rural economy.

Powys’ natural and historic environment has determined its character and 
distinctiveness and the LDP supports the protection of these interests. 

Page 473

https://secure.powys.gov.uk/ldp_representations/viewreps.php?LDPDocNo=34&LDPRefPointNo=1&L=0


Powys LDP 2011-2026              Deposit Draft with Focussed Changes and Further Focussed 
Changes October 2016

Cyngor Sir Powys County Council                                                                                            8

1.0 Introduction ® 34.2

1.1 This Local Development Plan (LDP) sets out the Council’s vision, 
objectives, policies and proposals for the sustainable development and use of land 
in Powys for the 15 year period 2011-2026. It covers all of Powys except those 
parts of Powys covered by the Brecon Beacons National Park which are covered 
by the adopted Brecon Beacons National Park Authority LDP, Dec. 2013. 

1.2 The Powys LDP is important because it sets out the guiding principles for 
development and land use over the plan period. It replaces1 the adopted Powys 
Unitary Development Plan (UDP), 2010 and becomes the basis for making 
decisions on planning applications.

1.3 The LDP has been prepared in stages in accordance with all relevant 
legislation, regulations and guidance. Its vision, objectives, policies and proposals, 
are based on the key issues and considerations identified from the evidence base.2  

1.4 Preparation of the plan has also been informed by a Viability Assessment (VA), 
an Equalities Impact Assessment (EqIA) and the following statutory assessments:

Habitats Regulations Assessment (HRA)* – This found that the implementation 
of the LDP would not have a likely significant effect on the Natura 2000 sites and 
therefore does not require Appropriate Assessment under the Habitats 
Regulations. 

*It is important to note that in line with the Habitats Regulations Screening 
Assessment, project level assessments must be undertaken where there is a 
potential for significant effects on Natura 2000 / European sites. Where this relates 
to a land allocation this is highlighted in the allocations table (Appendix 1 of the 
LDP). In other instances it is necessary to consult the HRA screening report and 
HRA Appendix to this plan. Any development project that could have an adverse 
effect on integrity of a European site will not be in accordance with the 
development plan, within the meaning of S.38 (6) of the Planning and Compulsory 
Purchase Act 2004.

Sustainability Appraisal (SA) – This found that overall the plan would have a 
positive impact on sustainability. It recommended some minor amendments to the 
wording of some of the LDP’s objectives, and also recommended the re-

1 The LDP will only replace the adopted Powys UDP when the LDP is adopted. Please note that this 
version of the LDP has been written as if the LDP has been adopted in order to minimise future 
editing. Adoption of the Plan is not expected until Dec 2016 2017 following its Public Examination.

2 All documents relating to the Powys LDP’s preparation can be read on the LDP pages of the 
Council’s website. The evidence base for the LDP has been summarised in a number of topic 
papers. The topic papers include a detailed review of relevant planning policy and guidance and 
statistical research and were updated through the LDP process as new evidence emerged. The 
stages, legislation and regulations are explained in the Powys Local Development Plan Delivery 
Agreement which also set out the timetable for the LDP’s preparation and the community 
involvement scheme. A useful summary of the plan’s preparation and the outcomes of each stage 
can be read in the Consultation Report.

Page 474

https://secure.powys.gov.uk/ldp_representations/viewreps.php?LDPDocNo=34&LDPRefPointNo=2&L=0


Powys LDP 2011-2026              Deposit Draft with Focussed Changes and Further Focussed 
Changes October 2016

Cyngor Sir Powys County Council                                                                                            9

classification of a settlement in the settlement hierarchy. The recommendations 
have been incorporated in the LDP.

Strategic Environmental Assessment (SEA) – Overall, this found the LDP to be 
compatible with SEA objectives, and recognised that the development 
management policies helped in off-setting any minor negative policy impacts. 
Minor wording changes recommended by the SEA have been included in the LDP.

Further Focussed Change: FFC3 Section: 1.0 LDP Introduction
Insertion of new paragraph 1.4a
Amendment of para 1.5

Reason: 
 Inclusion of reference to the Well-being of Future Generations Act, and 

the results of the assessment against the well-being goals.
 Paragraph 1.5 – remove reference to MPPW which has been 

incorporated within PPW. This change has also been made elsewhere.

Insert new paragraph 1.4a and amend paragraph 1.5 as follows:

1.4a Well-being of Future Generations Act - Following the introduction of the 
Well-being of Future Generations Act (2015), the LDP has also been assessed 
against the seven Well-being goals contained within the Act. This assessment 
concluded that the LDP’s impact on Well-being is ‘Good’ or ‘Very Good’, except in those 
areas where, as a land use document, it has limited ability to influence outcomes (such as 
in Education, Protection of Children and people with Protected Characteristics). One area 
however where it could possibly improve is with regard to representing the interests of 
people with protected characteristics, and there will be an opportunity to see how this 
can be improved at future reviews of the Plan. 

Overall the findings of the Well-being Assessment reiterates the conclusions of the 
previous Equalities Impact Assessment (2015) and Sustainability Assessment (SA) 2016 
carried out as part of the LDP assessment process. 

1.5 The LDP has been prepared having regard to Welsh Government’s 
Planning Policy Wales (PPW) and Minerals Planning Policy Wales and their and 
supporting Technical Advices Notes (TANs and Mineral TANs). These policy 
documents are material planning considerations in determining planning 
applications. In order to keep the LDP succinct and avoid repetition, cross 
references are included in the LDP to these where it is considered they provide 
sufficient policy advice.

1.6 Structure and Format of the LDP
1.7 The LDP comprises two volumes as set out below. It is important to note 
that all planning applications will be considered against the development plan as a 
whole and any relevant material planning considerations and not solely against 
individual policies and proposals. It is also worth noting that for reasons of brevity, 
the LDP does not include policies for every possible type of development or 
planning application.

Page 475



Powys LDP 2011-2026              Deposit Draft with Focussed Changes and Further Focussed 
Changes October 2016

Cyngor Sir Powys County Council                                                                                            10

Volume 1 - Written Statement

This sets out:
 the context in which the LDP has been prepared including key issues and 

considerations facing the county over the plan period 2011-2026.
 the strategy in terms of levels of growth and how this is distributed.
 a vision for the future.
 objectives for the plan to achieve.
 policies supported by a reasoned justification.

Volume 2 - Proposals and Inset Maps 

This shows the policies of the LDP as proposals on maps, and includes detailed 
inset maps for Powys’ larger settlements (towns and large villages).

1.8 Evolution of the LDP

1.9 The evolution of the LDP is explained in the LDP Consultation Report, which 
summarises and appends the representations made at each of the statutory 
stages. The LDP has evolved over the course of its preparation in order to respond 
to representations, have regard to emerging evidence and to reflect the findings of 
its informing assessments. For example, the sustainable settlement hierarchy 
proposed at the Preferred Strategy stage was accompanied by a growth corridor to 
absorb any additional growth that could not be accommodated in accordance with 
the hierarchy. Following the comments received at the Preferred Strategy stage 
and further assessment of settlement constraints, the Deposit LDP 2015 
recognised that the growth levels planned could be accommodated in accordance 
with the settlement hierarchy without the growth corridor element and this was 
therefore dropped from the Deposit LDP3. 

3 Further explanation is also included in the LDP Strategy Topic Paper.

Page 476



Powys LDP 2011-2026              Deposit Draft with Focussed Changes and Further Focussed 
Changes October 2016

Cyngor Sir Powys County Council                                                                           11

2.0 The LDP’s Context ® 34.3
2.1 This section briefly summarises the main environmental, social, and 
economic characteristics of Powys and the policy context within which the LDP 
has been prepared. An evidence-based approach was taken to preparing the 
plan and in order to avoid unnecessary duplication further detailed information 
about the context of the Plan can be read in the supporting documents found on 
the LDP pages of the Council’s website. 

2.2 Powys’s characteristics
2.2.1 Powys can be seen as the green heart of Wales, being a largely upland 
and very rural county in the centre of Wales covering over 5,000 sq km, 
approximately a quarter of the land mass of Wales.  

Figure 1 - Boundary Map of Powys and adjoining counties and LPAs

© Crown copyright and database rights [2014] Ordnance Survey 100025371

2.2.2 As shown in Figure 1 above, Powys’ extensive boundaries adjoin it with 
thirteen other counties including the English counties of Hereford and Shropshire. 
In the south of the county is the Brecon Beacons National Park, a Local Planning 
Authority in its own right, which covers approximately 16% of Powys’ area. The 
Powys LDP area, that is Powys excluding the Brecon Beacons National Park, 

Page 477

https://secure.powys.gov.uk/ldp_representations/viewreps.php?LDPDocNo=34&LDPRefPointNo=3&L=0


Powys LDP 2011-2026              Deposit Draft with Focussed Changes and Further Focussed 
Changes October 2016

Cyngor Sir Powys County Council                                                                           12

adjoins ten other Local Planning Authorities, including the Snowdonia and 
Brecon Beacons National Park Authorities.

© Crown copyright and database rights [2014] Ordnance Survey 100025371

2.2.3 The map in Figure 2 above shows the topography of Powys and 
demonstrates how Powys’ upland areas such as the Berwyns and Cambrian 
Mountains are intersected by many rivers and their valleys, including the Severn, 
Vyrnwy, Tanant, Wye, Usk, Irfon, Ithon, Dyfi, Teme, Tawe and the Lugg. This 
topography has meant that the majority of settlements and main transport routes 

Figure 2 - Map Showing the Topography of Powys 

Page 478



Powys LDP 2011-2026              Deposit Draft with Focussed Changes and Further Focussed 
Changes October 2016

Cyngor Sir Powys County Council                                                                           13

are located in valleys at important river crossings and as a result of this many 
settlements are partially constrained by flood risk. 

2.2.4 The architecture of Powys is as varied as its landscape, with most towns 
and settlements having distinct characteristics in building forms or settlement 
patterns that make them easily recognisable. The rich wealth of architectural 
history ranges through all periods and all building types. The quality of the 
historic environment and architecture is reflected in the large number of historic 
and built heritage designations within Powys. 

2.2.5 Powys has a wealth of biodiversity, geodiversity and conservation 
resources. A number of these are internationally and nationally recognised 
including Sites of Special Scientific Interest, Special Areas of Conservation, 
Special Protected Areas, RAMSAR site and National Nature Reserves. 

2.2.6 The 2011 census showed that Powys had a population of 133,071, 
although approximately 18% of these people live in the Brecon Beacons National 
Park outside the Powys LDP area. Migration, both in and out, has been the key 
determinant of change in the size and structure of the Powys population because 
net natural change has been negative for some time (deaths exceed births). The 
average age of the population is higher and rising faster in Powys than in Wales.

2.2.7 Powys has the lowest population density of all counties in England and 
Wales, at 26 persons per km2 in 2012. The 2011 Census Rural-Urban 
Classification showed 28.1% of the Powys population living in a ‘rural hamlet or 
isolated dwelling’, 30.6% in a ‘rural village’, 27.8 % in ‘rural town and fringe’ 
settlements such as Welshpool or Llandrindod Wells and a further 13.5% in 
‘urban town’ settlements such as Newtown and Ystradgynlais.4

2.2.8 With its sparsely populated upland landscape and poor connectivity, 
Powys has very few large employers (i.e. businesses with 250+ employees) 
outside the public sector. The majority of businesses are small, 93% having less 
than 10 employees in 2013,5 and there are many one person enterprises. Self-
employment and part-time employment are also high. 

2.2.8a Welsh Language and Culture are important planning considerations in 
Powys. Levels of Welsh language use vary across the county with higher usage 
found in the north-west and south-west. These Welsh Speaking strongholds have 
shown the most significant decreases in the number of Welsh speakers in recent 
decades.

2.2.9 Tourism is a key sector in Powys and further tourism development has 
the potential to support local communities and rural holdings both in economic 
and social terms. Agriculture continues to be the largest primary production 
industry in Powys, mainly through small family-run upland sheep farms. Much of 
the land is classified as being of very poor agricultural quality. The Business 
Register and Employment Survey for 2012 showed that excluding Agriculture, 
Forestry and Fishing, the three largest employment sectors in Powys by 
percentage of jobs were Health (16.4%), Retail (11.6%) and Manufacturing 

4 ONS Rural Urban Classification of Output Areas 2011 © Crown Copyright 
5 ONS UK Business Counts – Enterprises 2013 © Crown Copyright

Page 479



Powys LDP 2011-2026              Deposit Draft with Focussed Changes and Further Focussed 
Changes October 2016

Cyngor Sir Powys County Council                                                                           14

(10.6%).The public sector, comprising Health, Education, Public Administration 
and Defence is one of the largest employers and accounted for 34% of the 
employment.6

2.2.10 Retail provision is concentrated in the main towns including Brecon 
(BBNP), Builth Wells, Llandrindod Wells, Llanidloes, Machynlleth, Newtown, 
Welshpool and Ystradgynlais. Residents also shop out of the county in larger 
centres such as Aberystwyth, Cardiff, Hereford, Shrewsbury and Swansea 
particularly for higher order comparison retailing.

6 ONS Business register and Employment Survey 2012 © Crown Copyright

Page 480



Powys LDP 2011-2026              Deposit Draft with Focussed Changes and Further Focussed 
Changes October 2016

Cyngor Sir Powys County Council                                                                           15

2.3 Policy Context

Further Focussed Change: FFC4 Section: 2.3, Policy Context
Reason: 
In accordance with the Inspector’s letter dated 6/5/2016, to:
 provide an explanation of how the LDP relates to the objectives in the 

Council’s Single Integrated Plan in respect of matters such as health, housing 
transportation, waste and economic regeneration.

 Demonstrate that the LDP is consistent with the Plans of neighbouring 
authorities in relation to issues such as transportation, minerals and economic 
development. 

 Paragraph 2.3.2 - The reference to Minerals PPW has been deleted as this 
has been incorporated within PPW.

TO DO: This section needs to:
1. To provide an explanation of how the LDP relates to the objectives 

in the Council’s Single Integrated Plan in respect of matters such 
as health, housing transportation, waste and economic 
regeneration.

2. Demonstrate the LDP is consistent with the plans of neighbouring 
authorities in relation to issues such as transportation, minerals 
and economic development.

In accordance with the Inspector’s clarification email dated 6th May: In 
bringing forward information in respect of these key documents you 
should ensure that the objectives of these documents and implications for 
the LDP are clearly and succinctly explained. 
 See existing 2.3.8 and 2.3.9 – these will need to be expanded by TD/CJ

PETER’s Thoughts - Check SEA, Topic papers, other LDPs e.g. NPT

2.3.1 The LDP has been written having regard to relevant policies and 
programmes prepared at international, national (UK & Wales), regional, and local 
levels. This section summarises the key policy influences.

Welsh Government Policy

2.3.2 Welsh Government’s land use planning policies are set out in Planning 
Policy Wales (PPW), Minerals PPW, Technical Advice Notes (TANs), and 
Minerals TANs, circulars and policy clarification letters. The LDP has been 
written having regard to national planning policy and any policy in the LDP that 
deviates from national planning policy is justified by supporting evidence.

2.3.3 PPW makes it clear that the purpose of the planning system, including 
LDPs, is to manage the development and use of land in the public interest, 
contributing to the achievement of sustainable development. It states that the 
system should reconcile the needs of development and conservation, securing 
economy, efficiency and amenity in the use of land, while protecting natural 
resources and the historic environment.

Page 481



Powys LDP 2011-2026              Deposit Draft with Focussed Changes and Further Focussed 
Changes October 2016

Cyngor Sir Powys County Council                                                                           16

2.3.4 The LDP has also had regard to the Wales Spatial Plan Update – People, 
Places, Futures, 2008.  This splits Wales into six sub-regions with Powys located 
within the Central Wales area. Its vision for Central Wales is, “High-quality living 
and working in smaller-scale settlements set within a superb environment, 
providing dynamic models of rural sustainable development, moving all sectors to 
higher value-added activities”.

2.3.5 The Spatial Plan states a key priority for Central Wales is to build on the 
regional strengths of the area. It sees the rich mosaic of towns and villages as 
important for employment, social and recreational activity and to access a wide 
range of services. It recognises the interaction between places of varying sizes 
and their mutually supporting roles in providing access to services.

2.3.6 One of its key priorities is to ensure access to affordable homes (to buy or 
rent) in locations which are convenient for local work and services and to ensure 
that a range of housing types are available in a choice of high-quality 
environments.

2.3.7 As a potential model for sustainable development in Central Wales, it 
identified primary settlements, and hubs and clusters as focal points for 
appropriate plan-led growth and investment. The diagram below, taken from the 
Wales Spatial Plan, shows the key connections between settlements as links and 
clusters within the area and highlights the directions people travel for services 
outside of the area. The link and cluster approach seeks to encourage 
communities to work collaboratively, not competitively, to support their own 
needs and those of the smaller settlements and hinterlands which gravitate 
towards them. The diagram also shows a settlement hierarchy identified for the 
area. The most notable for Powys is Newtown’s classification as a primary key 
settlement whilst a number of other towns in the LDP area are identified as key 
settlements within clusters. 

Figure 6 - Wales Spatial Plan 2008: Central Wales

Page 482



Powys LDP 2011-2026              Deposit Draft with Focussed Changes and Further Focussed 
Changes October 2016

Cyngor Sir Powys County Council                                                                           17

Regional Policy

2.3.8 The LDP has had regard to various regional policy documents including 
those relating to aggregates (minerals), waste and transport. In particular, regard 
was given to the development plans prepared by local authorities adjoining 
Powys. Special regard was given to the adopted Brecon Beacons National Park 
Authority LDP, Dec 2013 to ensure both plans are compatible and complement 
each other in terms of their policies. Care was also taken when preparing the 
LDP, to have regard to the special purposes of National Park7.

Local Policy

2.3.9 The One Powys Plan 2014-2017 is the Single Integrated Plan for the 
Powys Local Service Board. It outlines the strategic priorities for multi-agency 
working to support and respond to clearly evidenced local needs of Powys. The 
issues covered by the One Powys Plan are identified below and the LDP has had 
regard to those with land use and development implications.

 Integrated health and adult social care.
 Children and young people.
 Transforming learning.
 Stronger, safer and vibrant communities and transport.
 Financially balanced and fit for purpose public services. 

2.3.10 Regard has been made to many other local policies such as the 
Council’s Regeneration Strategy and local place or settlement plans where these 
have been prepared. 

7 In accordance with Section 62 of the Environment Act 1995 
http://www.legislation.gov.uk/ukpga/1995/25/section/62

Page 483

http://www.legislation.gov.uk/ukpga/1995/25/section/62


Powys LDP 2011-2026              Deposit Draft with Focussed Changes and Further Focussed 
Changes October 2016

Cyngor Sir Powys County Council                                                                           18

2.4 Key Issues and Considerations for the LDP
2.4.1 This section summarizes the key issues and considerations facing Powys 
and which the LDP to seeks to address8. They are grouped into economic, 
environmental, population and housing, infrastructure and resource 
considerations.

Economic Considerations

1. Powys has a wide economic base focussed on agriculture, tourism, 
manufacturing, the public sector, and services and supports a high number of 
SMEs with few large private sector companies. Challenges such as the global 
economy and constraints on public sector finance and European funding will 
have significant implications not only for these sectors but for the entire 
economy of Powys. 

2. The manufacturing sector is economically important in certain parts of the 
county such as the Severn Valley and Ystradgynlais areas, reflecting the 
proximity to motorway networks, proximity to external markets, workforce 
skills and availability, and the history of public sector investment in these 
areas. 

3. An ageing stock of manufacturing premises is placing competitive pressure 
on this sector. Refurbishment of premises or re-location to modern energy-
efficient premises is anticipated depending upon development viability (as 
costs of development often exceed end values). 

4. Rising energy costs and peak oil prices are impacting on all economic sectors 
given the rural geography of the county. Adapting to these changes and the 
transition to a low carbon / green economy to ensure a more sustainable and 
resilient economy needs to be supported by the LDP. 

5. Sustainable travel to work opportunities should be promoted through the LDP 
co-locating employment, housing and public transport and supporting home-
working. 

6. A range of employment sites and supportive policies are needed to meet the 
employment needs and demands of businesses, particularly given Powys’ 
size and dispersed settlement pattern. 

7. The county shows relatively high employment rates overall, with lower levels 
of unemployment and inactivity, and very high levels of self-employment and 
part-time employment. There is also a dominance of micro and small 
businesses and high levels of new business start-ups in the county. 

8. Activities and initiatives that support social and economic regeneration must 
be supported by the LDP. 

9. One of Powys’ most prominent assets is the distinctive quality of its towns 
and villages. The economic climate and online shopping present significant 

8 The key considerations and issues were identified from a number of sources: from each of the 
LDP topic papers and research; from engagement with stakeholders and public consultation on 
the LDP; and from the priorities of the One Powys Plan 2014. 

Page 484



Powys LDP 2011-2026              Deposit Draft with Focussed Changes and Further Focussed 
Changes October 2016

Cyngor Sir Powys County Council                                                                           19

challenges for the county’s town centres and have led to vacancies in some 
towns. The LDP will need to support the resilience and renaissance of town 
centres, whilst at the same time facilitating sustainable rural retail provision 
and enabling the opportunities of e-commerce to be realised. 

10.Tourism is important to the Powys economy, although employment in the 
sector can often be seasonal and part-time. Visitors to Powys are drawn to 
the area for its outstanding scenery, heritage and recreational activities.  
Protecting these attractions and supporting a sustainable and year-round 
tourism sector is a must for the LDP. 

Environmental Considerations
11.As a rural county, Powys’ natural resources and ecosystems are important for 

carbon storage (soil and vegetation), renewable energy generation, food, 
materials, water, flood alleviation, recreation and amenity. The LDP must 
manage development carefully to protect these resources and reconcile 
competing demands. 

12.Powys’ important internationally, nationally and locally designated sites of 
biodiversity and geodiversity interest as well as sites of importance in the 
wider environment should be protected and enhanced. Wildlife corridors such 
as hedgerows and streams are important for many species and should also 
be protected.

13.The landscape of Powys is extremely diverse and includes upland 
landscapes and valleys that are scenically and historically important. 
Development which impacts on the landscape must be carefully managed 
and appropriately designed particularly in terms of visual impact.  

14.Powys has an exceptional historic environment and contains 13% of Wales’ 
listed buildings and 22% of Wales’ Scheduled Ancient Monuments. However, 
a fifth of its listed buildings are considered to be ‘at risk’ or vulnerable. Some 
archaeological sites and their settings, notably Offa’s Dyke, are being eroded 
and compromised by development. 

15.Many of Powys’s towns and villages have conservation areas protecting their 
distinct character and architecture. It is important to protect and enhance local 
distinctiveness through good quality and sensitively designed development. 

16.Most settlements in Powys are located in valleys close to rivers which are 
susceptible to flooding. New development must be directed away from areas 
at high risk from flooding and must not increase flood risk elsewhere, and 
where possible should aid the reduction or better management of existing 
flood risk for communities, infrastructure and businesses. Powys is also 
important as an upstream catchment for several major rivers including the 
Wye and Severn, providing for water storage and alleviating flooding 
downstream.

17.Where possible, development should be directed to appropriately located 
brownfield sites (previously developed land) and should re-use vacant 
buildings in order to protect greenfield land, assist in the remediation of 
contaminated land and facilitate regeneration opportunities. 

Page 485



Powys LDP 2011-2026              Deposit Draft with Focussed Changes and Further Focussed 
Changes October 2016

Cyngor Sir Powys County Council                                                                           20

18.The LDP must protect air, water and land resources and quality, prevent 
pollution and inappropriate development and deal with the consequences of 
climate change. For instance, it should support: the protection of quality of the 
water environment in line with the Water Framework Directive; the reduction 
of greenhouse gas emissions in line with Welsh Government targets (3% 
each year from 2011); and ensure that Special Areas of Conservation (SACs) 
in Powys do not suffer from increased levels of nitrogen deposition as a result 
of development in Powys. 

Population and Housing Considerations

19.Powys has an ageing population and it is projected that 31.3% of the 
population will be aged over 65 by 20269. The needs of the oldest in the 
population, such as access to services, public transport, and accommodation 
requirements must be taken into account. 

20.Whilst the lack of a university within the county accounts for the large net 
outward migration of 18 to 20 year olds from the county, low wages, poor 
employment opportunities and high housing costs are considered to be the 
main reasons for outward migration of adults aged 21 to 30 from the county. 
Although there is a net gain from inward migration to the county of this age 
group, it needs to be higher if the size of workforce is to be sustained. 

21.The population of the county is projected to continue to increase slightly as a 
result of continuing net inward migration. This modest population growth 
combined with a projected continuing fall in household size leads to a 
requirement for more dwellings which the LDP must plan in sustainable 
locations. 

22.House building averaged 194 dwellings per annum between 2009 and 2013 
which was below the projected housing need. The recession and economic 
downturn in 2008 limited the availability of development finance and 
mortgages. The LDP will need to consider how its policies can assist in the 
construction of dwellings in order to meet need. 

23.Powys has a dispersed rural population with nearly 59% of the population 
living in villages, hamlets and rural areas. The housing needs of rural areas 
must be addressed as well as those of larger towns and villages. 

24.The average household size in Powys is projected to decrease from 2.24 
persons in 2011 to 2.13 persons in 2026 (based on the 2011-based Local 
Authority Population Projections produced by the Welsh Government). 
Smaller households, and changes to the welfare system, will increase the 
need and demand for 1 and 2 bedroom properties, although these must be 
designed with adequate amenity space. 

25.Obesity levels and related health problems are increasing amongst Powys’ 
population. Development should be located and designed to enable and 
encourage active and healthy lifestyles. 

26.Any shortfall in the provision of space and facilities for play, recreation and 
sport should be met wherever possible through development opportunities.

9 Source: 2011 Based Population Projections, Welsh Government © Crown Copyright

Page 486



Powys LDP 2011-2026              Deposit Draft with Focussed Changes and Further Focussed 
Changes October 2016

Cyngor Sir Powys County Council                                                                           21

27.Allotments should be protected from development and further provision 
encouraged enabling more locally grown produce, community cohesion and 
healthy lifestyles. 

28. Increasing energy bills combined with extreme weather events are causing 
fuel poverty amongst households living in energy inefficient properties. 
Sympathetic retro-fitting of existing properties and designing new 
developments to be energy efficient should be facilitated by the LDP. 

29.A combination of high house prices and a low wage economy makes housing 
unaffordable to a significant proportion of Powys’ households. 

30.An Affordable Housing Target, expressed as numbers of homes, will be set 
by the LDP although this will need to reflect development viability. Innovative 
policies to enable house builders in the private sector to provide affordable 
housing should be considered through the LDP. 

31.Levels of Welsh language use vary across the county with higher usage 
found in the west and south-west, although there are concerns that usage is 
falling in these traditional Welsh language strongholds. The LDP needs to 
consider how it can contribute to promoting the use of the language and 
protecting Welsh culture.

Infrastructure and Resource Considerations 
32.One of the challenges for the LDP, given the rural nature of Powys and its 

dispersed population, will be to direct development to accessible locations 
which ideally provide a choice of transport modes such as walking, cycling 
and public transport.

33.The LDP will need to direct development to locations that are best served by 
existing and potential infrastructure and services and to ensure that the 
location of development is co-ordinated with the review of public service 
provision. 

34.The LDP will support the provision and retention of community facilities and 
seek contributions from development to provision where appropriate.

35.Powys has no general hospital so access to out-of-county health care 
provision is important for the county’s population.

36. In spite of rising fuel costs, car ownership is high reflecting the rural and 
dispersed population of the county and the high costs associated with public 
transport provision.

37.Frequent and regular public transport services are predominantly limited to 
key strategic road and rail routes in the county, such as the Traws Cambria 
bus service between Merthyr Tydfil and Newtown. 

38.Future development and regeneration opportunities in some parts of Powys 
are reliant on transport network improvements such as the Newtown bypass. 

39. Improvements to the transport infrastructure are important within Powys and 
to connect Powys with adjoining regions. The LDP must safeguard the routes 
of planned improvements and seek contributions from development towards 
improvements where appropriate. 

Page 487



Powys LDP 2011-2026              Deposit Draft with Focussed Changes and Further Focussed 
Changes October 2016

Cyngor Sir Powys County Council                                                                           22

40.The LDP should facilitate broadband access throughout the county to enable 
socio-economic opportunities and electronic access to services to be 
improved. 

41.Utility infrastructure, such as public sewers, sewage treatment works and 
mains gas supply, are not available or are operating at capacity in some parts 
of the county which can act as a constraint to development. 

42.The LDP should encourage the conservation of water and reduction in the 
demand for water and seek to minimise the effects of water abstraction on the 
natural environment and important ecological habitats. 

43.The energy requirements of development should be minimised and 
renewable energy opportunities grasped wherever feasible.  

44.Utilisation of Powys’s renewable energy resource and associated 
infrastructure should be supported where cumulative, environmental, socio-
economic effects are acceptable.

45.The LDP should seek to reduce levels of waste sent to landfill, and to provide 
a range and choice of sites across the county to support waste management 
operations.

46.The LDP should ensure that Powys contributes to the regional supply of 
aggregates and the encouragement of minerals transportation by rail.

47.The LDP should ensure the sustainable management and safeguarding of 
important mineral resources found in Powys.

48.The LDP needs to safeguard and support the MOD’s Sennybridge Training 
Area on Mynydd Epynt as a nationally important military training area. 

Page 488



Powys LDP 2011-2026              Deposit Draft with Focussed Changes and Further Focussed 
Changes October 2016

Cyngor Sir Powys County Council                                                                           23

3.0 The LDP Strategy ® 34.4
Further Minor Change: FFC5 Section: 3.0 LDP Strategy

3.1 - Inclusion of reference to Strategy 
Statement at 3.1.iv).

Reason:
In response to the Inspector’s letter to the Council dated 6/5/2016 a Strategy 
Statement is added to improve the clarity and the coherence of the Strategy 
section.

Amend paragraph 3.1 as follows:

3.1 Having established the context and main issues and considerations facing 
Powys, which are unique to the county, this section draws together the strategy10 
for the LDP from 2011 up to 2026. The strategy comprises:

i. A future vision and objectives for how land and settlements in Powys 
should be used and developed.

ii. A growth strategy describing the principle development needs and levels 
of development that are required to achieve the vision and objectives.

iii. A spatial strategy that describes the sustainable distribution, location and 
pattern of development and growth being planned to achieve the vision 
and objectives.

iv. A An over-arching strategy statement and a key diagram of the strategy.
v. Strategic policies to define the strategy in policy terms.

3.2 The LDP’s Vision and Objectives

Further Focussed Change: FFC6 Section: The LDP's Vision and Objectives
3.2.1A  Insertion of New Paragraph

Reason: 
In accordance with the Inspector’s letter to the Council dated 6/5/2016, to 
improve the clarity and the effectiveness of the LDP the following changes are 
proposed:
3.2.1A – Text inserted from LDP Strategy Topic Paper (June 2015) to improve 
the clarity of the Plan and show how the identified issues and considerations led 
to the agreed Vision and the Plan's Objectives.

Insert new paragraph 3.2.1A as follows:

3.2.1A    Further to the assessment of the County's strengths and weaknesses, a 
key message influencing the vision and strategic direction of the Plan was the 
importance that should be placed on nurturing and promoting the County’s 
assets and strengths in order to address its weaknesses.  Land-use planning for 
Powys should:

10 Further information on the LDP’s strategy is provided in the Strategy Topic Paper.

Page 489

https://secure.powys.gov.uk/ldp_representations/viewreps.php?LDPDocNo=34&LDPRefPointNo=4&L=0


Powys LDP 2011-2026              Deposit Draft with Focussed Changes and Further Focussed 
Changes October 2016

Cyngor Sir Powys County Council                                                                           24

 Provide a level of growth that supports the area’s social and economic 
needs, including enabling the provision of housing and employment in 
sustainable locations so as to both retain and attract the working age 
population and improve opportunities for the younger generations;

 Consider the specialist needs arising from the ageing population in Powys.  
 Promote the area’s network of strong and vibrant towns and large villages 

as the foci for development in order to reinforce and enhance their 
attractiveness as places to live and work and their ability to provide and 
sustain community services and facilities;

 Enable an appropriate level of development in smaller villages and rural 
areas to increase sustainability, helping to support rural services and 
facilities and meeting the housing needs of local communities; and

 Protect and enhance the County’s outstanding physical, social and cultural 
environment, including the outstanding natural landscape, historic built 
environment and traditional Welsh language strongholds in order that 
these important aspects of the plan area are sustained for future 
generations.

3.2.1 The vision11 for the Powys LDP to help deliver is:

Our Vision of Powys 2026 ® 34.5

Powys is a county of considerable variety extending from the South 
Wales Valleys to the Berwyn Mountains in the north, and from the 
Cambrian Mountains in the west to the English border in the east.

As the ‘green heart of Wales’, Powys will be a place of vibrant and 
resilient communities providing sustainable development and 
economic opportunities set in a healthy, safe environment, whilst 
celebrating, protecting, enhancing and sustainably managing its 
natural resources, native wildlife and habitats, heritage, outstanding 
landscapes and distinctive characteristics.

Powys’ towns and larger villages will be vibrant and accessible 
service centres. They will be the focus for integrating housing, 
economic and service development to meet their own needs and 
those of their surrounding communities.

Powys’ rural areas will be a working countryside of sustainable 
communities supported by a thriving and diverse rural economy of 
small businesses.

Further Focussed Change: FFC7 Section: Objectives, new text and 
table at paragraph 3.2.2

11  The vision was informed by: a “visioning” day held in August 2011 by officers in the Council’s 
LDP team having regard to the One Powys Plan, the Wales Spatial Plan, key issues and 
considerations, and other strategies and plans; the Council’s Committees and two 
Community Council liaison meetings; consultation comments received during the LDP 
process; and the informing plan assessments.

Page 490

https://secure.powys.gov.uk/ldp_representations/viewreps.php?LDPDocNo=34&LDPRefPointNo=5&L=0


Powys LDP 2011-2026              Deposit Draft with Focussed Changes and Further Focussed 
Changes October 2016

Cyngor Sir Powys County Council                                                                           25

Reason: 
In accordance with the Inspector’s letter dated 6/5/2016, to improve the clarity 
and consistency of the Plan section 3.2.2 has been expanded to provide 
background detail on the five themes used to organise the Objectives. The table 
was originally published in the LDP Strategy Topic Paper (June 2015).

3.2.2  In order to meet the vision, the following objectives are proposed for the 
LDP. Objectives by definition are something which is aimed at or striven for. 
These objectives are grouped into themes which derive from the key issues and 
considerations and set out broad intentions for managing development up to 
2026. The five themes are:

Theme 1: Planning for Growth in Sustainable Places

a.    Enabling the provision of land to meet the needs of our communities in 
accordance with a sustainable settlement hierarchy to support 
sustainable development.

b.    Protecting, enhancing and making the most of natural resources including 
the open countryside, water and renewable energy resources.

Theme 2: Supporting the Powys Economy

c.    Supporting a diverse, robust and vibrant economy including key economic 
sectors and the rural economy.

d.    Enabling the regeneration and renewal of Powys’ built environment to 
ensure vital, viable and attractive town centres and employment premises 
that meet the requirements of modern businesses.

Theme 3: Supporting Infrastructure and Services

e.    Supporting the provision, operation and development of infrastructure and 
services.

Theme 4: Guardianship of Natural and Built Assets

f.     Conserving, protecting, enhancing and making the most of Powys’ natural 
and built heritage assets.

Theme 5: Supporting Healthy Communities

g.   Promoting development that supports community wellbeing and cohesion 
including encouraging healthy lifestyles.

h.   Supporting and protecting Welsh language and culture.

Further Focussed Change: FFC8 Section:  Vision and Objectives
 The Themes have been numbered 

Page 491



Powys LDP 2011-2026              Deposit Draft with Focussed Changes and Further Focussed 
Changes October 2016

Cyngor Sir Powys County Council                                                                           26

(1 to 5) in the headings for the 
Objectives and extra words have 
been inserted into Theme 3 
("Supporting") and Theme 
4("Guardianship of").

 All Objectives have been cross-
referenced to the Key Issues and 
Considerations (found in section 
2.4).

 Objectives 1, 3, 5 and 13 have been 
amended and added to.

Reason:
To illustrate more clearly the linkages of the Strategy and improve the structure 
of the Plan in accordance with the Inspector’s letter dated 6/5/2016.  To update 
the Objectives in line with current evidence and/or to improve the clarity and 
meaning of the Objective wording.

Objective 1 - Housing provision total amended in light of additional evidence.

Objective 3 – 
 To clarify that soils ‘of high value’ refers to the Best and Most Versatile 

(BMV) soil, as well as soils of high environmental value, such as peat.
 To clarify that important renewable energy generating sites, existing and 

potential, will be protected from being compromised by unsustainable 
development.

Objective 5 – Deletion and insertion in light of REA Update 2016, particularly the 
need to include Local Search Areas within the Plan and to identify the County’s 
contribution to national targets.

Objective 13 -To insert reference in the first part of point ii. of this objective to the 
preservation and enhancement of local heritage assets and to respect for local 
distinctiveness. To remove reference to the second part of point ii. of this 
objective relating to facilitating the reduction in buildings at risk as this objective 
is not within the scope of the policies of the Local Development Plan, and is 
covered under other planning legislation and strategies. 

Amend objectives as follows:

Theme 1 - Planning for Growth in Sustainable Places ® 34.6

LDP Objective 1 – Meeting Future Needs
To meet the needs arising in Powys over the plan period up to 2026, to 
provide adequate, appropriately located land for:

i. 6,129 5,596 dwellings to deliver a dwelling requirement of 4,500 
which will meet all the housing needs of Powys’ increasing and 
ageing population and its decreasing size of households, including 
open market and affordable housing, gypsy and traveller 
accommodation and other specialist housing needs.

ii. 45 hectares of employment and economic development uses.

Page 492

https://secure.powys.gov.uk/ldp_representations/viewreps.php?LDPDocNo=34&LDPRefPointNo=6&L=0


Powys LDP 2011-2026              Deposit Draft with Focussed Changes and Further Focussed 
Changes October 2016

Cyngor Sir Powys County Council                                                                           27

iii. Retail, tourism, recreation, infrastructure, services and other needs.

(Key Issues and Considerations: 6, 7, 9, 10, 19, 20, 21, 23, 24, 26, 27, 30, 
33)

LDP Objective 2 – Sustainable Settlements and Communities
To support sustainable development, access to services and the 
integration of land uses, by directing housing, employment and services 
development in accordance with a sustainable settlement hierarchy. Higher 
levels of development will be directed to Powys’ towns and larger villages 
but where these are unable to sustain further growth due to capacity 
constraints, development will be accommodated in nearby towns or large 
villages.

(Key Issues and Considerations: 5, 6, 7, 9, 19, 32, 33, 36, 41)

LDP Objective 3 – Efficient Use of Land
To support the re-use and remediation of suitably and sustainably located 
previously developed land and where this is not possible to make efficient 
use of green field sites. To apply a general presumption against 
unsustainable development in the open countryside, and development on 
soils of high environmental and agricultural value and important mineral 
resources which are recognised as finite resources and where important 
renewable energy generating sites would be compromised.

(Key Issues and Considerations: 5, 8, 11, 13, 17, 18, 32, 36)

LDP Objective 4 – Climate Change and Flooding
To support the transition to a low carbon and low waste Powys through all 
development, including the reduction of waste to landfill and by directing 
development away from high flood risk areas and, where possible, to 
reduce or better manage existing flood risk for communities, infrastructure 
and businesses.

(Key Issues and Considerations: 4, 16, 28, 44, 45)

LDP Objective 5 – Energy and Water
To support the conservation of energy and water and to generate energy 
from appropriately located renewable resources where acceptable in 
terms of the economic, social, environmental and cumulative impacts.  

In particular, to:
i. Contribute to the achievement of the Water Framework Directive 

targets in Powys. 
ii. Deliver the county’s contribution to the national targets for renewable 

energy generation. Provide an additional 50MW installed capacity of 
renewable electricity generating technology (outside the Strategic 
Search Areas), 30MW renewable biomass and 16MW building 
integrated heat generating technology.

Page 493



Powys LDP 2011-2026              Deposit Draft with Focussed Changes and Further Focussed 
Changes October 2016

Cyngor Sir Powys County Council                                                                           28

(Key Issues and Considerations: 4, 5, 11, 13, 18, 28, 42, 43, 44)

Theme 2 - Supporting the Powys Economy ® 34.7

LDP Objective 6 – Vibrant Economy
To support a diverse, robust and vibrant economy for Powys, including a 
strong rural economy, which is sustainable and responsive to change. To 
ensure towns and larger villages are the main focus for economic 
development and that town centres are vital, viable and attractive.

(Key Issues and Considerations: 1, 4, 5, 7, 9, 20, 33)

LDP Objective 7 – Key Economic Sectors
To maintain and strengthen key economic sectors within Powys including 
manufacturing in the Severn Valley and Ystradgynlais, sustainable year-
round tourism opportunities, agriculture and the rural economy.

(Key Issues and Considerations: 2, 4, 7, 8, 9, 10, 20,33)

LDP Objective 8 - Regeneration
To support the regeneration and renewal of Powys’ built environment, its 
historic towns and employment premises and to support regeneration 
activities such as the Powys Local Growth Zone initiative. 

(Key Issues and Considerations: 3, 8, 9, 33, 38)

Theme 3 – Supporting Infrastructure and Services ® 34.8

LDP Objective 9 – Infrastructure and Services
To support the provision of infrastructure and services to meet the future 
needs of Powys’ communities.

(Key Issues and Considerations: 5, 9, 19, 32, 33, 34, 35, 38, 39, 40, 41, 
45)

LDP Objective 10 – Important Assets
To support the operation and development of regionally and nationally 
important assets located in Powys. 

(Key Issues and Considerations: 39, 48)

Theme 4 – Guardianship of Natural and Built Assets ® 34.9

LDP Objective 11 – Natural Heritage
To conserve and protect Powys’ land, air and water resources important 
for environmental quality, geodiversity and biodiversity and where possible 

Page 494

https://secure.powys.gov.uk/ldp_representations/viewreps.php?LDPDocNo=34&LDPRefPointNo=7&L=0
https://secure.powys.gov.uk/ldp_representations/viewreps.php?LDPDocNo=34&LDPRefPointNo=8&L=0
https://secure.powys.gov.uk/ldp_representations/viewreps.php?LDPDocNo=34&LDPRefPointNo=9&L=0


Powys LDP 2011-2026              Deposit Draft with Focussed Changes and Further Focussed 
Changes October 2016

Cyngor Sir Powys County Council                                                                           29

to ensure development enhances them and produces a net gain for 
biodiversity. 

(Key Issues and Considerations: 11, 12, 13, 18, 42)

LDP Objective 12 - Resources
To facilitate the sustainable management of Powys’ natural and 
environmental resources whilst enabling development to take place 
including the provision of at least a 25 year landbank of crushed rock 
aggregates

(Key Issues and Considerations: 11, 12, 13, 18, 46, 47)

LDP Objective 13 – Landscape and the Historic Environment
i. Landscape

To protect, preserve and/or enhance the distinctive landscapes of 
Powys and adjoining areas, including protected landscapes.

ii. The Historic Environment
To protect, preserve and/or enhance the distinctive historic 
environment, heritage and cultural assets of Powys, in particular 
local assets that are not statutorily protected or designated under 
national legislation, and to ensure that development respects local 
distinctiveness.  and adjoining areas, and to facilitate the reduction 
of the number of listed buildings at risk.

(Key Issues and Considerations: 14, 15)

Theme 5 - Supporting Healthy Communities ® 34.10

LDP Objective 14 – Healthy Lifestyles
To encourage active healthy lifestyles by enabling access to open spaces, 
areas for recreation and amenity including allotments or growing spaces, 
and to ensure development provides opportunities for walking, cycling, 
open and play spaces where required. 

(Key Issues and Considerations: 5, 10, 11, 25, 26, 27, 32, 34)

LDP Objective 15 – Welsh Language and Culture
To support and protect Welsh language and culture in Powys and 
specifically the Welsh speaking strongholds of the north-west and south-
west.

(Key Issues and Considerations: 31)

LDP Objective 16 – Community Well-being
To promote development that supports community wellbeing and cohesion, 
especially in communities suffering from multiple deprivation and social 
exclusion. 

Page 495

https://secure.powys.gov.uk/ldp_representations/viewreps.php?LDPDocNo=34&LDPRefPointNo=10&L=0


Powys LDP 2011-2026              Deposit Draft with Focussed Changes and Further Focussed 
Changes October 2016

Cyngor Sir Powys County Council                                                                           30

(Key Issues and Considerations: 8, 9, 32, 34)

Page 496



Powys LDP 2011-2026              Deposit Draft with Focussed Changes and Further Focussed 
Changes October 2016

Cyngor Sir Powys County Council                                                                           31

3.3 Growth Strategy - How much development is planned? ® 
34.11

Further Minor Change: FFC9 Section: Growth Strategy
 To re-order and re-locate the separate 

elements of the growth strategy within 
Section 3.3.

 Insert cross-references to the Strategic 
Policies.

Reason:
In accordance with the Inspector’s letter to the Council dated 6/5/2016 in order 
to improve the clarity, understanding and the effectiveness of the LDP:
 The growth strategy section has been re-ordered so as to be consistent 

with the order of the Strategic Policies that follow in Section 3.6 (FFC21).  
The new order is Housing Growth, Employment Growth, Retail Growth 
followed by a separate section on Affordable Housing Need. This is to 
improve the overall structure of the Plan

 Each topic area has been cross-referenced to the relevant Strategic Policy 
in section 3.6 of the Plan.  (FFC21)

Amend order in paragraph 3.3.1 as follows:

3.3.1 This section describes the levels of development planned by the LDP 
including employment, retail and housing housing, employment and retail land 
uses. The levels of growth are based on evidence of need, key considerations, 
the policy context, and the feedback received from consultation and involvement 
in preparing the plan.

Further Focussed Change: FFC10 Section:  3.3 Growth Strategy 
(Housing Growth)
 Relocate Housing Growth section 

including paragraphs 3.3.12 – 3.315
 Update paragraph 3.3.14
 Update the housing figure in 

paragraph 3.3.15.
Reason: 
 The growth strategy section has been re-ordered so as to be consistent 

with the order of the Strategic Policies that follow in Section 3.6 (FFC21). 
The numbering of paragraphs will be finalised in the final adopted Plan.  

 The Housing Growth section, paragraph 3.3.14 has been updated to reflect 
further work on evidencing the Dwelling Requirement Figure as requested 
by the Inspector's letter of 5/04/16.

 To update the overall provision figure to reflect changes in the housing 
supply calculations (arising from the additional evidence gathering 
conducted since the Exploratory meeting).

Insert new cross-reference sentence before the bullet point and amend 
paragraphs 3.3.14 and 3.3.15 as follows:

Page 497

https://secure.powys.gov.uk/ldp_representations/viewreps.php?LDPDocNo=34&LDPRefPointNo=11&L=0
https://secure.powys.gov.uk/ldp_representations/viewreps.php?LDPDocNo=34&LDPRefPointNo=11&L=0


Powys LDP 2011-2026              Deposit Draft with Focussed Changes and Further Focussed 
Changes October 2016

Cyngor Sir Powys County Council                                                                           32

Housing Growth ® 34.14

This section informs Strategic Policy SP1 – Housing Growth

 LDP Housing Requirement 2011-2026 = 4,500 dwellings

3.3.12 Welsh Government’s Local Authority Household Projections were used as 
the starting point to identify the housing requirement for the LDP12. Table 2 below 
shows the projected growth derived from the principal projection variant of the 
2011-based projections for Powys, which has been used to inform the LDP. This 
shows a projected growth of 4,600 households over the plan period 2011-2026 
from 58,400 to 63,000 in 2026. 

3.3.13 From this total increase in households, it is necessary to deduct the 
17.74% of households living in the BBNP. To allow for levels of vacancies in the 
dwelling stock the number of new dwellings required will be higher than the 
number of new households projected. According to the 2011 Census, there were 
58,345 households occupying 63,482 dwellings meaning 8% were unoccupied 
and a conversion rate of 8% has been applied. 

Table H1 – Calculating the Housing Requirement

Projected increase 
in Powys 

households 2011-
2026

Less 17.74% 
Households in BBNP 

Plus 8% Conversion 
rate 

Dwelling 
Requirement

4,600 3,784 4,087

3.3.14 This projected need of 4,087 dwellings forms a starting point and the 
Council has taken into account other local factors in assessing the dwelling 
requirement. including the need to increase levels of net migration, the retention 
of young out-migrants, the need to deliver affordable housing, the availability of 
suitable sites. Having assessed these factors it is considered that the LDP should 
plan for a higher level of housing growth. However, this level needs to be realistic 
and able to be delivered so an assessment against past build rates was 
undertaken. The conclusion of this assessment is that the LDP’s forecasted 
dwelling requirement is for 4,500 dwellings.The uplift of 413 dwellings from the 
base requirement figure of 4,087 derived from the principal projection (2011-
based), equates to approximately 10% and has been determined in response to:

 Achieving the corporate objectives of strong communities and providing 
secure, suitable housing for everyone in Powys.

 Producing an aspirational Plan and one which, through the provision of 
new housing land allocations, is able to provide focus, confidence and 
increased certainty for developers looking to build homes across Powys.

12 The LDP Population and Housing DRF Topic Paper explains how the dwelling requirement was 
derived. At the Preferred Strategy stage the 2008-based projections were used, although 2011-
based projections have since been published by Welsh Government.

Page 498

https://secure.powys.gov.uk/ldp_representations/viewreps.php?LDPDocNo=34&LDPRefPointNo=14&L=0


Powys LDP 2011-2026              Deposit Draft with Focussed Changes and Further Focussed 
Changes October 2016

Cyngor Sir Powys County Council                                                                           33

 To provide headroom in the Plan for new and emerging evidence, for 
example the most recently released (June 2016) Mid-Year Estimates 
confirm that net migration is improving in an upward trend whilst the Joint 
Housing Land Availability Studies show that annual build rates are 
consistently recovering from the 2012 low. The Plan has to be sufficiently 
flexible to account for change.

 The need to support as great a supply of new homes, in the right places 
and of the right type, as is realistic and achievable so that the planning 
system can continue to trigger an increasing supply of much needed 
affordable homes.  

 Aligning to the economic strategy which targets the improvement of the 
County’s economic prosperity so as to increase the population of working 
age people in Powys. 

 Aligning to aspirational yet realistic annual build rates (4,500 =  average of 
300 dwellings/annum) so as to be more reflective of an economic upturn 
and the build rates historically achieved (especially necessary as caution 
has been advised in the use of the 2011-based household projections due 
to the period of economic recession upon which they were based).

3.3.15 In planning to deliver this dwelling requirement, the LDP also includes a 
flexibility allowance for sites that may not be developed in the plan period. An 
additional contingency has therefore been added. Consequently the plan makes 
provision for 6,129 5,596 dwellings in order to meet the dwelling requirement of 
4,500 dwellings (300 p.a.). 

Further Focussed Change: FFC11 Section: Paragraph 3.3.16 -  LDP 
Housing Provision
Replacement of Table H2

Reason: 
To update the evidence on the housing provision over the Plan period and to 
improve the clarity of the Plan, table H2 has been re-structured/amended to:

 Provide clarity on the various components making up the housing 
provision figure.

 Amend windfall projection to account for revised windfall allowance 
(based upon a longer trend period as requested by the Inspector at the 
Exploratory Meeting).

 Amend ‘Housing Allocation’ totals to reflect changes to Appendix 1, 
particularly where densities have been aligned to viability evidence.

 Amend ‘Housing Commitments, row B and C to improve clarity
 Include a ‘Global Discount’ based on evidence on the completion rates 

of UDP commitments.

Insert new (re-located) table H2:

3.3.16 Table H2 below shows how the housing provision is to be met.13 

Table H2 – LDP Housing Provision

13 Further information on the provision of housing is found in the LDP Topic Papers on Population 
and Housing and the Phasing & Delivery of New Housing Provision. 

Page 499



Powys LDP 2011-2026              Deposit Draft with Focussed Changes and Further Focussed 
Changes October 2016

Cyngor Sir Powys County Council                                                                           34

Towns Large 
Village

Small 
Village

Rural / 
Other

Totals

A Total Completions 
01/04/2011 – 31/03/2015 –  
Small and Large Sites

233 154 43 192 622

B Housing Commitment Large 
Sites  - Units Under 
Construction

119 37 5 1 162

C Housing Commitment Large 
Sites – Units Not Started 564 327 103 23 1,017

D Housing Commitment Large 
Sites – Units Not Started 
assessed against risk of 
non-delivery  (row C minus 
non-delivery allowance) 

338 196 62 14 610

E New Housing Allocations 2,091 901 N/A N/A 2,992

F Projected units on Large 
Windfall Sites (11 years 
remaining)

145 123 19 40 327

G Projected units on Small 
Windfall Sites (11 years 
remaining)

207 163 69 444 883

H Total Housing Provision

(Rows A, B, D, E, F and G)
3,133 1,574 198 691 5,596

% Distribution of Total 56% 28% 4% 12% 100%

A large site equals five residential units or more
A) Completions – dwellings built since the start of the Plan Period (1/4/11 to 
31/03/15)
B) Commitments (residential units) under construction (as at 31/03/15). Note that 
Row B does not include under construction units on small sites as these are picked 
up in the windfall projection for small site completions in Row G.
C) Commitments (residential units) having valid planning permission but not started 
(as at 31/03/15). (Again Row C does not include small sites not started because their 
contribution is included within the projected windfall completions in Row G).
D) Row C minus a 40% global discount based on historic non-delivery within the 
UDP era.
E) New Allocations from housing site allocations (HA sites) in Towns and Large 
Villages (see Appendix 1). This excludes sites with planning permission (HC sites) 
i.e. commitments (as at 31/03/15).
F and G) Windfall projections for 11 remaining years of the plan period, based on an 
assessment of completions on non-allocated UDP sites over the 9 year period 
1/4/2006 – 31/03/15. 

Page 500



Powys LDP 2011-2026              Deposit Draft with Focussed Changes and Further Focussed 
Changes October 2016

Cyngor Sir Powys County Council                                                                           35

Further Minor Change: FFC12 Section:  3.3 Growth Strategy (Employment 
Land Growth)
Amend title to Employment Growth

Reason: 
To improve coherence/consistency across the Plan.

Amend title and insert new cross-reference sentence as follows:

Employment Land Growth ® 34.12

This section informs Strategic Policy SP2 – Employment Growth

 LDP employment land requirement 2011-2026 =  45 ha

3.3.2 In order to sustain the communities and the economy of Powys and to 
provide job opportunities for all ages, particularly young people, it is important 
that the LDP supports economic development. This section considers how much 
land the LDP should allocate land to meet the future needs of businesses and 
respond to demographic changes such as the ageing population and diminishing 
workforce.

3.3.3 In order to inform the LDP, a Powys Economic Needs Assessment Study, 
2011 was undertaken, and updated in 2015,  which focussed mainly on land 
requirements for Class B1, B2 and B8 uses. The study reviewed the employment 
growth planned by the Powys Unitary Development Plan (UDP), 2010 which was 
based on the Mid Wales Employment Land Strategy 2001-2016 (2001). In 
response to the findings of the Strategy the UDP identified 54.9ha of strategic 
employment land to meet the needs of the county over the 15 year Plan period 
(2001-2016). In addition, the UDP allocated a further 20.64ha of local 
employment land which provided a total employment land allocation in the UDP 
of 75.54ha14 for its 15 year period. Of this total, approximately 64.51ha remained 
undeveloped in 2011, a take up of 11.03ha (or 1.1ha per annum).

3.3.4 This past take up rate of approximately 1ha per annum suggests that the 
LDP should provide only 15ha of employment land for its plan period. However, 
the 2011 study examined a range of factors including the historic and current 
economic context, the current employment property market and land supply, and 
took account of the projected economic outlook in order to provide an 
assessment of the potential employment land requirements to be provided for in 
the LDP. It also involved stakeholder input in order to provide a more fully 
informed assessment of employment land needs.

3.3.5 The Assessment Study identified a total estimated future requirement 
across the LDP Plan period of between 30-42 hectares. It also proposed a 
flexibility allowance equivalent to 5 years supply to ensure a ready supply of land 
at the end of the Plan period and to cater for any peaks or unexpected demands. 
With this added the total estimated requirement was 40-56 hectares.
14 The UDP employment land allocation figures did not include a 19ha site in Llandrinio identified 
for a meat processing plant no longer being pursued.

Page 501

https://secure.powys.gov.uk/ldp_representations/viewreps.php?LDPDocNo=34&LDPRefPointNo=12&L=0


Powys LDP 2011-2026              Deposit Draft with Focussed Changes and Further Focussed 
Changes October 2016

Cyngor Sir Powys County Council                                                                           36

3.3.6 It is concluded that the LDP should allocate 45 ha (3.3 ha per annum) of 
employment land for the period 2011-2026. Although this is the higher level 
estimate of future land required, it will provide flexibility to support economic 
growth and cater for any peaks and troughs in demand. It is higher than the take-
up of the UDP allocations but this reflects the above findings and it provides a 
dispersed choice and spread of sites across Powys reflecting the county’s 
geography, settlement pattern and local economies.

3.3.7 The study also highlighted a high level of business start ups, self 
employment and micro and small businesses which emphasises that Powys’ 
employment growth and needs cannot be accommodated solely on allocated 
employment sites as such provision caters primarily for larger scale employment 
development. Therefore, alongside the allocation of employment land, policies 
are included in the LDP to facilitate small scale employment development to 
support new and existing businesses.

3.3.8 Local Growth Zones (LGZs), supported by Welsh Government, are 
regeneration initiatives being taken forward within Powys, as an alternative 
model to Enterprise Zones, to help encourage and support jobs and growth 
within the county. Powys’s LGZs are being established in the Severn Valley 
(Welshpool / Newtown / Llanidloes), Llandrindod Wells, and Brecon * / Bronllys / 
Talgarth * (* Brecon and Talgarth are within the BBNPA and outside the scope of 
the Plan). Ystradgynlais is within the Communities First programme area, Welsh 
Government’s flagship to improve the living conditions and prospects of people in 
the most disadvantaged communities across Wales. 

Retail Growth ® 34.13

Further Focussed Change: FFC13 Section: 3.3 Growth Strategy (Retail 
Growth)
Addition of paras 3.38a, 3.38b 
Amendment to para 3.3.10
Replacement of para 3.3.11

Reason: 
In response to the Inspector’s letter dated 6/5/2016, in order to reflect the 
findings of EB15 – Retail Assessment Addendum Study (2015) and to explain 
how the need for additional convenience and comparison floor-space will be 
met over the plan period. 

Insert new cross-reference sentence; insert new paragraphs 3.38a, 3.38b; 
amend paragraph 3.3.10; and replace paragraph 3.3.11 as follows:

Retail Growth ® 34.13

This section informs Strategic Policy SP4 - Retail Growth

3.3.8a The strategy is to support the County’s existing retail centres through the 
protection and encouragement of retail provision in appropriate and sustainable 
locations, together with allowing complementary uses that will enhance retail 
centres while resisting out of centre retail proposals.

Page 502

https://secure.powys.gov.uk/ldp_representations/viewreps.php?LDPDocNo=34&LDPRefPointNo=13&L=0
https://secure.powys.gov.uk/ldp_representations/viewreps.php?LDPDocNo=34&LDPRefPointNo=13&L=0


Powys LDP 2011-2026              Deposit Draft with Focussed Changes and Further Focussed 
Changes October 2016

Cyngor Sir Powys County Council                                                                           37

3.3.8b Housing and employment allocations are supported by the identification 
of a retail hierarchy which further embeds the principles of sustainable 
development and reflects the function of centres in terms of their existing 
commercial role and retail offer.

3.3.9 The county’s towns are its main centres for convenience, and in some 
cases comparison shopping, although some needs are met by larger retail 
centres (towns, cities and retail outlets) outside the county. Significant 
supermarket retail development has been experienced in recent years, most 
notably supermarkets in Llandrindod Wells, Newtown, Welshpool and 
Ystradgynlais, and there has been interest from investors in other towns such as 
Machynlleth and Presteigne.

3.3.10 A retail study15 was undertaken in 2011 and updated in 2015 to inform 
the LDP and this found, having regard to recent development, that there was no 
significant surplus retail expenditure available within the county and therefore 
whilst there was no significant need for additional comparison floor space, the 
study update recognised a need within the Plan period for additional convenience 
floor space to be allocated in the Presteigne area. The study update considered 
that any additional comparison floor space requirements could be 
accommodated utilising vacant premises within existing retail centres. no 
significant need for additional convenience or comparison goods floor space.

3.3.11 Indeed, given the emphasis in PPW on the importance of achieving vital, 
attractive and viable town centres, the opportunities for additional retail 
development over that already existing are considered limited and unless an 
increase in the retention of retail spend can be achieved such development could 
potentially adversely affect existing centres. Coupled with the growth of internet 
shopping, this presents a challenge to existing town and shopping centres. 

3.3.11 The strategy will improve the vibrancy and vitality of the retail centres 
with the classification of primary and secondary retail frontages within recognised 
town centre zones to improve facilities and ensure the town centres remain 
attractive shopping destinations. Supporting policies will make the retail centres 
more resilient and able to compete more effectively with out-of-County retail 
centres and the growth of internet shopping.

Further Minor Change: FFC14 Section: 3.3 Growth Strategy
(Housing Growth)
 Delete Housing Growth section and 

relocate revised section in accordance 
with FFC10.

 Delete table H2 and replace with new 
table H2 in accordance with FFC11.

Reason:  
 The Housing Growth section has been re-located to follow paragraph 3.3.1.  

This is to improve the clarity, coherence and the effectiveness of the LDP in 

15 Powys Retail Needs Assessment, 2011, Nathaniel Lichfield & Partners. 

Page 503



Powys LDP 2011-2026              Deposit Draft with Focussed Changes and Further Focussed 
Changes October 2016

Cyngor Sir Powys County Council                                                                           38

accordance with the Inspector’s letter dated 6/5/2016.
 Table H2 is deleted and replaced by a new Table H2 for the reasons 

outlined in FFC11 above.

Delete text as follows:

Housing Growth ® 34.14

 LDP Housing Requirement 2011-2026 = 4,500 dwellings

3.3.12 Welsh Government’s Local Authority Household Projections were used 
as the starting point to identify the housing requirement for the LDP16. Table 2 
below shows the projected growth derived from the principal projection variant of 
the 2011-based projections for Powys, which has been used to inform the LDP. 
This shows a projected growth of 4,600 households over the plan period 2011-
2026 from 58,400 to 63,000 in 2026. 

3.3.13 From this total increase in households, it is necessary to deduct the 
17.74% of households living in the BBNP. To allow for levels of vacancies in the 
dwelling stock the number of new dwellings required will be higher than the 
number of new households projected. According to the 2011 Census, there were 
58,345 households occupying 63,482 dwellings meaning 8% were unoccupied 
and a conversion rate of 8% has been applied. 

Table H1 – Calculating the Housing Requirement

Projected increase 
in Powys 

households 2011-
2026

Less 17.74% 
Households in BBNP 

Plus 8% Conversion 
rate 

Dwelling 
Requirement

4,600 3,784 4,087

3.3.14 This projected need of 4,087 dwellings forms a starting point and the 
Council has taken into account other local factors in assessing the dwelling 
requirement, including the need to increase levels of net migration, the retention 
of young out-migrants, the need to deliver affordable housing, the availability of 
suitable sites. Having assessed these factors it is considered that the LDP should 
plan for a higher level of housing growth. However, this level needs to be realistic 
and able to be delivered so an assessment against past build rates was 
undertaken. The conclusion of this assessment is that the LDP’s forecasted 
dwelling requirement is for 4,500 dwellings.

3.3.15 In planning to deliver this dwelling requirement, the LDP also includes a 
flexibility allowance for sites that may not be developed in the plan period. An 
additional contingency has therefore been added. Consequently the plan makes 
provision for 6,129 dwellings in order to meet the dwelling requirement of 4,500 
dwellings (300 p.a.). 

16 The LDP Population and Housing Topic Paper explains how the dwelling requirement was 
derived. At the Preferred Strategy stage the 2008-based projections were used, although 2011-
based projections have since been published by Welsh Government.

Page 504

https://secure.powys.gov.uk/ldp_representations/viewreps.php?LDPDocNo=34&LDPRefPointNo=14&L=0


Powys LDP 2011-2026              Deposit Draft with Focussed Changes and Further Focussed 
Changes October 2016

Cyngor Sir Powys County Council                                                                           39

3.3.16 Table H2 below shows how the housing provision is to be met.17 

Table H2 – LDP Housing Provision

 Towns Large 
Villages

Small 
Villages

Rural / 
Other Total

Completions to 31/03/15 (a) 233 154 43 192 622

Commitments not started (b) 514 389 162 361 1426

Commitments U/C (c) 141 71 38 98 348

New Allocations (d) 1993 780 Not 
applicable

Not 
applicable 2773

Windfall projection (e) 168 168 99 525 960

Total 3049 1562 342 1176 6129
% Distribution of Total 50% 25% 6% 19% 100%

a) Completions – dwellings built since the start of the Plan Period (1/4/11 to 31/03/15)
b) Commitments having valid planning permission but not started (as at 31/03/15)
c) Commitments under construction (as at 31/03/15).
d) New Allocations from housing site allocations in Towns and Large Villages (see Appendix 
1). This excludes sites with planning permission i.e. commitments (as at 31/03/15).
e) Windfall projection for 11 remaining years of the plan period, based on an assessment of 
completions on non-allocated UDP sites over the 4 year period 1/4/2011 – 31/03/15. 

Further Focussed Change: FFC15 Section: 3.3 Growth Strategy 
(Housing Growth)
 Insert new title after Table H2  before 

paragraph 3.3.17
 Amend the affordable housing target

Reason: 
 Insertion of title for the Affordable Housing Needs section.  The purpose of 

the change is to set out the Affordable Housing Needs more distinctly rather 
than the evidence being part of the housing growth section.  The order will 
then align with the Inspector's recommendations in the letter of 06/05/2016 
so as to improve the structure and clarity of the Plan.

 Update the affordable housing dwelling target in line with revised work since 
the Exploratory Meeting on site viability and on density changes which 
accord with the Viability Assessment.  (SAR to check wording)

Insert new cross-reference sentence; insert new title and amend affordable 
housing target as follows:

Affordable Housing Needs

17 Further information on the provision of housing is found in the LDP Topic Papers on Population 
and Housing and the Phasing & Delivery of New Housing Provision. 

Page 505



Powys LDP 2011-2026              Deposit Draft with Focussed Changes and Further Focussed 
Changes October 2016

Cyngor Sir Powys County Council                                                                           40

This section informs Strategic Policy SP3 – Affordable Housing Target.

 LDP Affordable Housing target = 1257 affordable dwellings ® 34.15

3.3.17 An affordable housing target of 1257 dwellings is set for the LDP18. This 
is 28% of the LDP dwelling requirement and has had regard to the findings of the 
Local Housing Market Assessment19. The Viability Assessment / Study of the 
LDP took into consideration the prevailing economic climate, land values and 
house prices in Powys, a range of development costs, and all requirements of 
local and national planning policies. The conclusions of this assessment are 
reflected in the affordable housing contributions policy H4 and the affordable 
housing target. Economic factors affecting construction and development viability 
have also been taken into account in setting the target, but will continue to affect 
the delivery of housing. The target will therefore be monitored.

3.3.18 It is estimated that this target will be met in the following ways: 
1. 169 affordable homes completed from 1/4/2011 to 31/3/2015;
2. 989 affordable homes from allocated sites as set out in Appendix 1 and 

other sites in accordance with policy H4;
3. 99 affordable homes on windfall sites (non-allocated sites), based on an 

assessment of completions over the period 1/4/2011 to 31/3/2015.

Further Focussed Change: FFC16 Section: 3.3 Growth Strategy
 New title to sub-section.
 Insert new Paragraph 3.3.19a, 
 Amend paragraph 3.3.19.
 Delete and replace paragraph 3.3.21. 

Reason: 
 The wording in 3.3.19a has been added to better explain the reasons behind 

the Strategic approach being taken.
 Additional wording is added to explain where linkages between the individual 

components of the growth strategy exist and how this evidence has informed  
the strategic direction of the Plan.

 Paragraph 3.3.21 has been replaced.  It is not considered that reference to 
the settlement and retail hierarchy is appropriate here as these are only 
introduced later in the Plan.

 These changes are to improve the clarity of the Plan so that the over-arching 
Strategy (the relationship between the growth and spatial strategy) is made 
more transparent.

Delete and replace title and add Paragraph 3.3.19a, make changes to 3.3.19 and 
replace paragraph 3.3.21 as follows:

Relationships between Housing, Employment and Retail Growth20 ® 34.16

18 Further information is provided in the LDP Affordable Housing Topic Paper
19 An update to the LHMA was undertaken in 2014 and published in 2015.
20 Further explanation is provided in LDP Strategy Topic Paper

Page 506

https://secure.powys.gov.uk/ldp_representations/viewreps.php?LDPDocNo=34&LDPRefPointNo=15&L=0
https://secure.powys.gov.uk/ldp_representations/viewreps.php?LDPDocNo=34&LDPRefPointNo=16&L=0


Powys LDP 2011-2026              Deposit Draft with Focussed Changes and Further Focussed 
Changes October 2016

Cyngor Sir Powys County Council                                                                           41

How the components of the Growth Strategy inform the strategic direction 
of the Plan

3.3.19a  The evidence on needs within the Powys LDP area informs a Strategy 
which will be led primarily by housing growth.  The need for new homes stems 
from population change together with changes in household composition and 
characteristics.  The local analysis has taken into account how new or emerging 
policies may affect any national projections which are based on past trends.

3.3.19 The assessment of employment land needs found that the greatest 
need for employment land would come from the need to replace and upgrade 
premises, rather than to support the growth of the Powys economy as a result of 
population growth. It did not therefore identify a strong relationship between 
population growth and the employment land requirement leading to the 
acknowledgment that the LDP Strategy should not be employment-led. 

3.3.20 The link between levels of retail and population growth is stronger, 
because a larger population should generate higher levels of retail expenditure. 
However, the retail needs assessment did not identify short-term opportunities for 
retail growth because of the sufficiency of existing retail provision.

3.3.21 The LDP recognises through its settlement and retail hierarchy that 
there are spatial links between the provision of retail, employment and housing. 
In particular towns and larger villages are the focus for integrating these land 
uses and to assist in improving accessibility.   The spatial links between housing, 
employment and retail are recognised including the need to choose locations for 
development which create or consolidate sustainable travel patterns. The LDP is 
therefore based upon a spatial strategy that provides a sustainable pattern for 
the future development of Powys ensuring that growth across all the sectors is 
directed to suitable locations.  In this way and through a combination of factors 
that underpin good planning, the LDP Strategy aims for successful place-making.

Page 507



Powys LDP 2011-2026              Deposit Draft with Focussed Changes and Further Focussed 
Changes October 2016

Cyngor Sir Powys County Council                                                                           42

3.4 Spatial Strategy – Where is development planned? ® 
34.17

Further Minor Change: FFC17 Section: 3.4 Spatial Strategy
Insert cross-references to the Strategic 
Policies

Reason: 
In accordance with the Inspector’s letter to the Council dated 6/5/2016 in order to 
improve the clarity, understanding and the effectiveness of the LDP the spatial 
strategy has been cross-referenced to the relevant Strategic Policies in section 
3.6 of the Plan (FFC21).

Insert additional text:

This section informs Strategic Policies SP5 – Settlement Hierarchy and SP6 – 
Distribution of Growth Across the Settlement Hierarchy

3.4.1 Having identified the main development needs in Powys for the plan 
period 2011-2026, it is important that the plan develops a spatial strategy to 
guide and distribute development to sustainable locations in accordance with the 
LDP’s objectives. 

3.4.2 In terms of growth, housing or residential development will be the largest 
component of growth during the LDP period. Research on economic needs does 
not anticipate a high demand for employment land to support new business 
investment over the plan period, although it foresees the need for flexible policies 
to enable the expansion of existing businesses or re-location to modern, energy 
efficient premises. This position is also reflected in the projected demographic 
changes with Powys likely to have an older population structure with more retired 
persons by 2026. Consequently the spatial strategy for the LDP focusses 
predominantly on where housing development should be located.

3.4.3 The LDP’s spatial strategy is based on a sustainable settlement 
hierarchy with levels of development allocated to settlements commensurate 
with their size (number of households) and position in the hierarchy.  

Powys' Sustainable Settlement Hierarchy

3.4.4 To inform the classification of settlements into a settlement hierarchy, 
settlements have been analysed in terms of their size (number of households) 
and on a range of key services and facilities that they provide.

3.4.5 Whilst the evidence gave an initial indication of the role and function of 
individual settlements, and the thresholds for different categories or tiers of 
settlement, the classification also included local ‘judgement’ factors. For 
example, some reasonably large settlements found close to towns do not have 
the range of services found in much smaller settlements located in more remote 
parts of Powys, but given their proximity to the town they are sustainably located 
and could accommodate higher levels of growth. Other judgements taken into 
account included: settlements with few services but good public transport links; 
settlements with other important services; settlements that have experienced 

Page 508

https://secure.powys.gov.uk/ldp_representations/viewreps.php?LDPDocNo=34&LDPRefPointNo=17&L=0
https://secure.powys.gov.uk/ldp_representations/viewreps.php?LDPDocNo=34&LDPRefPointNo=17&L=0


Powys LDP 2011-2026              Deposit Draft with Focussed Changes and Further Focussed 
Changes October 2016

Cyngor Sir Powys County Council                                                                           43

high levels of growth in the past; or settlements where development is 
constrained. A degree of judgement was therefore required to determine each 
settlement’s position in the hierarchy.

3.4.6  As a result of the analysis and judgement, the LDP settlement hierarchy 
comprises:

1. Towns
2. Large Villages
3. Small Villages
4. Rural Settlements 
5. Open Countryside

Towns ® 34.19
Builth Wells (including Llanelwedd), Knighton, Llandrindod Wells, Llanfair 
Caereinion, Llanfyllin, Llanidloes, Llanwrtyd Wells, Machynlleth, 
Montgomery, Newtown, Presteigne, Rhayader, Welshpool, Ystradgynlais, 
Hay-on-Wye (BBNP)

3.4.7 Towns are home to 41% of Powys population and are the most densely 
populated settlements. All are important service centres providing a range of 
services, facilities and employment for their own population and their surrounding 
areas. They are generally the chosen location for ‘area services’ and in particular 
larger scale public services (e.g. high schools, leisure centres). Towns are also 
the most accessible settlements, most being located on trunk roads, with all 
having public transport services. 

3.4.8 Towns are seen as the principal location for accommodating housing 
(open market and affordable), employment land, any retail growth (e.g. 
supermarkets), public services and developments which generate large numbers 
of trips. Housing growth is planned commensurate with the size and level of 
facilities of each town, although the capacity of towns to accommodate growth 
varies according to environmental and infrastructure constraints. 

3.4.9 This approach accords with the Wales Spatial Plan (WSP) which 
envisaged a primary key settlement (Newtown), other key settlements (towns or 
hubs) and clusters (groups of towns) as the focal points for appropriate plan-led 
growth and investment. 

3.4.10 In order to control development and provide certainty, all Towns have 
an inset map with allocations and development boundaries identified. 

Large Villages ® 34.20
Abercrave, Abermule, Arddleen, Berriew, Bettws Cedewain, Boughrood 
and Llyswen, Bronllys, Caersws, Carno, Castle Caereinion, Churchstoke, 
Clyro, Coelbren, Crewgreen, Crossgates, Forden and Kingswood, Four 
Crosses, Glasbury, Guilsfield, Howey, Kerry, Knucklas, Llanbrynmair, 
Llandinam, Llandrinio, Llanfechain, Llangurig, Llangynog, Llanrhaeadr-ym-
Mochnant, Llansantffraid-ym-Mechain, Llansilin, Llanymynech, Llanyre, 
Meifod, Middletown, New Radnor, Newbridge on Wye, Penybontfawr, 
Pontrobert, Three Cocks, Trefeglwys, Tregynon, Trewern

Page 509

https://secure.powys.gov.uk/ldp_representations/viewreps.php?LDPDocNo=34&LDPRefPointNo=19&L=0
https://secure.powys.gov.uk/ldp_representations/viewreps.php?LDPDocNo=34&LDPRefPointNo=20&L=0


Powys LDP 2011-2026              Deposit Draft with Focussed Changes and Further Focussed 
Changes October 2016

Cyngor Sir Powys County Council                                                                           44

3.4.11 Villages are an important part of Powys’s community life with some 31% 
of the population living in large or small villages. Villages vary in size and 
function, but using the analysis of settlement household numbers and service 
provision it has been possible to distinguish a category of ‘Large Villages’. 

3.4.12 These are mostly smaller in population than towns and provide important 
local services to their own and surrounding communities but they do not possess 
the wide range of facilities and functions found in Towns. 

3.4.13 Large Villages will accommodate housing growth (open market and 
affordable) in proportion to their size and facilities and according to their capacity 
to accommodate growth due to environmental and infrastructure capacity 
constraints. Economic development and the provision of local services is 
supported by policy and in some employment land will be allocated. 

3.4.14 In order to control development and provide certainty, all Large Villages 
have an inset map with allocations and development boundaries identified.

Small Villages ® 34.21
Abbeycwmhir, Aberedw, Abertridwr, Adfa, Beulah, Builth Road, Bwlch y 
Cibau, Caehopkin, Cemmaes, Cilmery, Cwm Linau, Derwenlas, Erwood, 
Esgairgeiliog Ceinws, Felinfach, Foel, Garth, Gladestry, Glantwmyn, 
Groes-lwyd, Leighton, Llanbadarn Fynydd, Llanbister, Llanddew, Llandewi 
Ystradenni, Llandyssil, Llanerfyl, Llanfihangel Tal-y-llyn, Llangadfan, 
Llangammarch Wells, Llangedwyn, Llangunllo, Llanigon, Llanwddyn, 
Llanwrthwl, Nantmel, Norton, Pant y dwr, Penegoes, Penybont, Refail, 
Sarn, St Harmon, Velindre (Brecknock), Y Fan.

3.4.15 Powys contains many smaller settlements, but the settlements in this 
Small Village category provide a narrow range of local services and facilities, 
generally less than those offered by large villages but more than rural 
settlements. These smaller villages are important to their local communities and 
provide a focus for rural living and opportunities for social interaction.

3.4.16 Housing growth in Small Villages is limited to infill sites for open market 
housing, and affordable homes through exception sites policies, subject to 
environmental and infrastructure capacity constraints.

3.4.17 Inset maps for Small Villages are not provided by the LDP and 
consequently development boundaries and allocations of land for development or 
for protection from development are not identified for the Smaller Villages. 
Instead a policy approach has been taken to enable and control the development 
of open market and affordable housing. 

Rural Settlements ® 34.22
3.4.18 28% of the Powys Population live in rural hamlets or isolated dwellings. 
Rural Settlements are the smallest tier of settlement in size (number of 
households) and function and often possess few, if any, services. These are not 
named but are defined by the following characteristics:

 historically recognised / named settlements; and
 located in a rural setting and contain at least 10 dwellings; and
 can be clusters of dwellings or more dispersed.

Page 510

https://secure.powys.gov.uk/ldp_representations/viewreps.php?LDPDocNo=34&LDPRefPointNo=21&L=0
https://secure.powys.gov.uk/ldp_representations/viewreps.php?LDPDocNo=34&LDPRefPointNo=22&L=0


Powys LDP 2011-2026              Deposit Draft with Focussed Changes and Further Focussed 
Changes October 2016

Cyngor Sir Powys County Council                                                                           45

3.4.19 These settlements are considered suitable for limited development to 
meet affordable housing for local needs only through single rural affordable 
homes, where they are well integrated into the settlement and are acceptable in 
terms of environmental and infrastructure capacity constraints.

Open Countryside ® 34.23
3.4.20 Powys’ countryside is extensive and accommodates many isolated 
dwellings reflecting the county’s agricultural and rural economy. The countryside 
is a finite resource and will be protected from inappropriate development.

3.4.21 In terms of dwellings, Rural Enterprise Worker Dwellings and One 
Planet Developments will be permitted where justified. Reuse of rural buildings 
for economic and residential purposes will also be supported where justified. 
Other types of development in the countryside which require planning 
permission, such as certain tourism developments (e.g. caravan and chalet 
developments) are addressed through more detailed policies within the LDP. 

Further Minor Change: FFC18 Section: 3.4 Spatial Strategy
Delete and re-locate Paragraphs 3.4.22 - 
3.4.24 to Strategic Policy SP6.

Reason: 
As this text refers to both the growth and spatial components of the over-arching 
Strategy it is considered that it would read better if it was included as 
introductory text to SP6.  This is in response to the Inspector's letter of 6/5/2016 
requesting amendments to the Plan to ensure a clear and consistent framework.

Apportioning Growth ® 34.24

3.4.22 In providing sufficient land to meet future housing and economic needs, 
and to ensure sustainable development, the LDP apportions more land to higher 
tier settlements (Towns and Large Villages). To facilitate this a pro-rata 
apportionment based on household numbers was used21.

3.4.23 However, it has not proven possible for all settlements to accommodate 
their pro-rata level of development due to a lack of suitable and deliverable sites. 
Reasons for this vary, but often it is for environmental reasons (e.g. areas of 
flood risk to be avoided), or for infrastructure reasons (e.g. highway 
requirements). 

3.4.24 Where a settlement has been unable to accommodate its pro-rata level 
of development, the LDP has sought to re-allocate the shortfall elsewhere to 
ensure that the total requirements for the plan period are met. In the first 
instance, the LDP has sought to allocate the shortfall to nearby settlements 
categorised as Towns or Large Villages (not to lower tier settlements). 

Further Focussed Change: FFC19 Section: 3.5 Strategic Policies
 Delete section 3.5.
 Re-locate paragraphs 3.5.1 and 

3.5.2 to Strategic Policy SP6.

21 Further information is provided in the Strategy Topic Paper

Page 511

https://secure.powys.gov.uk/ldp_representations/viewreps.php?LDPDocNo=34&LDPRefPointNo=23&L=0
https://secure.powys.gov.uk/ldp_representations/viewreps.php?LDPDocNo=34&LDPRefPointNo=24&L=0


Powys LDP 2011-2026              Deposit Draft with Focussed Changes and Further Focussed 
Changes October 2016

Cyngor Sir Powys County Council                                                                           46

Reason:  
In accordance with the Inspector’s letter dated 6/5/2016 in order to improve the 
clarity and the effectiveness of the LDP:
 Delete the existing Strategic Policies section including SP1 and SP2 and 

the supporting text.
 Explanatory text at 3.5.1 and 3.5.2 is re-located to the introductory section 

to new policy SP6 to improve clarity and consistency.
 Strategic Policies have been revised and expanded and are now located in 

new section 3.6 (see FFC21).

Delete entire section as follows: 

3.5 Strategic Policies

3.5.1 The spatial element of the LDP Strategy identifies where development 
should be located during the Plan period, with the aim of ensuring that 
development meets the needs of Powys’ communities and is directed to locations 
that are sustainable in terms of their size, function, character, facilities, transport 
linkages, social and environmental capacity.

3.5.2 The spatial strategy is based upon the sustainable settlement hierarchy 
and aims to disperse development proportionately around the Plan area in order 
to meet the needs of Powys’ communities. Development outside of the main 
towns and large villages is closely controlled. This ensures that the higher tier 
settlements within the County remain as foci for housing, employment and 
services, contributing to their vitality and promoting vibrant and sustainable 
communities. This approach reinforces infrastructure provision (both social and 
physical) so as to reduce the need to travel. The Plan supports the use of 
policies that encourage the level of development most appropriate to each 
settlement. The strategy therefore ensures that an appropriate balance is struck 
between sustaining our more rural communities, meeting needs locally, whilst 
protecting the County’s natural assets

Strategic Policy SP1 - Settlement Strategy

Housing and employment development is distributed in accordance with the 
following settlement strategy based on a settlement’s levels of service provision 
and size (households) and subject to its capacity to accommodate sustainable 
growth:

Category Type of Development

Towns: At least 50% of the Plan’s housing growth and the Plan’s employment 
land within:

1.    Towns Housing and Employment:

A higher proportion of new development required 
will be directed to Towns. This will be through 
commitments and new allocations and on suitable 

Page 512



Powys LDP 2011-2026              Deposit Draft with Focussed Changes and Further Focussed 
Changes October 2016

Cyngor Sir Powys County Council                                                                           47

sites within the development boundary.

Additionally affordable housing will be permitted on 
exception sites.

Large Villages: At least 20% of the Plan’s housing growth and at least 15% of 
the Plan’s employment land within: 

2.    Large Villages Housing:

A significant proportion of new housing 
development required will be directed to Large 
Villages. This will be through commitments and new 
allocations and on suitable sites within the 
development boundary.

Additionally affordable housing will be permitted on 
exception sites.

Employment:

Employment land allocations have been made in the 
following Large Villages: Abermule, Churchstoke, 
Four Crosses and Three Cocks (Mixed Use Site).

Small Villages: No more than (10%) of the Plan’s housing growth within:

3.    Small Villages Housing and Employment:

The LDP does not identify development boundaries 
for Small Villages and there are no allocations for 
development within this tier. 

Housing:

Open Market housing development will be restricted 
to small infill plots (suitable to accommodate one or 
two dwellings) unless larger scale infill development 
is identified in a community-led Village Action Plan. 

Additionally affordable housing be permitted on 
exception sites.

Single Rural Affordable Homes to meet local need 
will be permitted on suitable sites where well-
integrated into the settlement.

Employment:

Proposals may be acceptable where they are 
justified and comply with Policy.

Rural Settlements and Countryside: No more than (20%) of the Plan’s Housing 

Page 513



Powys LDP 2011-2026              Deposit Draft with Focussed Changes and Further Focussed 
Changes October 2016

Cyngor Sir Powys County Council                                                                           48

Growth within: 

4.    Rural Settlements

 

and

 

5.    Open Countryside: 

 

Housing and Employment:

The LDP defines Rural Settlements but does not 
identify development boundaries for them and there 
are no allocations for development within this tier.

Housing:

Open market housing development will not be 
permitted in Rural Settlements.

Single rural affordable homes to meet local need in 
perpetuity will be permitted on suitable sites where 
well-integrated into a rural settlement.

Only housing development that complies with 
Planning Policy Wales and TAN6 will be permitted in 
the Open Countryside.

Employment:

There are no allocations for employment 
development within these tiers.  Proposals may be 
acceptable where they are justified and comply with 
Policy. 

No more than 30% of the Plan’s employment land  on  sites located outside of 
the settlement hierarchy: 

Allocated Sites outside 
of the settlement 
hierarchy

Housing: Not Applicable

Employment:

Land has been allocated at :

Buttington Quarry and Brickworks – For B1, B2, B8 
and other appropriate economic uses.

Offas Dyke Business park, Buttington – For B1 Uses.

3.5.3 The spatial strategy and the sustainable settlement hierarchy seek to:
 Provide the framework for distributing development proposals to meet the 

planned growth in housing and employment in the County;
 Provide a focus for service provision and investment plans / opportunities;
 Support the appropriate co-location of different land uses; and to
 Carefully control development in the less sustainable areas so as to 

address the problems associated with rural dispersal, encourage the take 
up of urban brownfield sites and move towards a more sustainable overall 
development pattern for the future.

Page 514



Powys LDP 2011-2026              Deposit Draft with Focussed Changes and Further Focussed 
Changes October 2016

Cyngor Sir Powys County Council                                                                           49

3.5.4 The purpose of SP1 is to ensure that growth is appropriately apportioned 
and controlled between the hierarchy tiers so that the location of new 
development does not undermine the LDP Strategy and contributes to a 
sustainable pattern of development in Powys.

3.5.5 It is important that new development does not adversely affect the integrity 
or role of a settlement in a manner which would contradict the aims and 
objectives of the LDP sustainable settlement hierarchy.  Proposals for 
development should be of a scale, use and design that complement the position 
of a settlement in the hierarchy. The cumulative impact of development should 
also be considered when assessing the impact of proposals, along with other 
existing development and unimplemented permissions still valid at the time of 
decision.

Strategic Policy SP2 - Safeguarding of Material Assets

Developments proposals which impact on the following material assets will 
only be permitted where they will have no unacceptable adverse impact on 
the asset and its operation. 

i. Strategic infrastructure such as:

a. Transport routes including disused transport infrastructure that 
offers potential for future transport re-use, strategic or town centre 
car parks and safeguarded corridors. 

b. Reservoirs and water supplies.
c. Sennybridge Training Area.
d. Best and most versatile Agricultural land (Grades 1, 2 and 3a).
e. Windfarms in Strategic Search Areas.
f. Utilities infrastructure including pipelines, electricity transmission 

connections and hazardous installations

ii. Internationally and Nationally Designated Sites such as those listed in Policy 
DM2.

iii. Major tourism assets and visitor attractions including but not limited 
to:

a. Royal Welsh Agricultural Society showground.
b. Welshpool and Llanfair Light Railway.
c. Elan Valley and Vrynwy Estates.
d. Powis Castle.

 

iv. Green tourism assets and infrastructure including but not limited to:
a. National Cycle Network routes. 
b. National Trails and National Bridlepath Network
c. Local Trails and Public Rights of Way. 
d. Canals and Waterways.
e. Open access land and common land.
f. Potential future routes along linear features 

(such as disused railways).
v. Land Allocations in the Local Development Plan where the 

development proposal frustrates or may frustrate the identified use 

Page 515



Powys LDP 2011-2026              Deposit Draft with Focussed Changes and Further Focussed 
Changes October 2016

Cyngor Sir Powys County Council                                                                           50

and/or capacity of the site thereby compromising its contribution to 
the overall aims and objectives of the Plan.

3.5.6 Powys contains many ‘material’ assets of national and regional importance 
which should be safeguarded. In this context material assets are assets upon 
which the day to day processes that enable the county’s population, its 
communities and business activities, rely on in order to function in a reasonable 
way. The LDP seeks to protect these assets and their operation. Various types of 
material asset are listed, but the list is not exhaustive. For instance, strategic 
infrastructure includes the east / west and north / south rail routes, trunk roads, 
proposed and committed bypass routes, reservoirs, and for wind energy 
Strategic and Local Search Areas and the Ministry of Defence’s (MOD) 
Sennybridge Training Area Safeguarded Zone. Any proposals for development, 
including wind turbines, within the MOD’s Safeguarding Zones will be referred to 
the MOD for consideration and comment. These MOD Safeguarding Zones 
ensure operational facilities such as explosive stores, radar facilities and range 
areas are not compromised. 

3.5.7 The extent of buffer zones around hazardous installations is determined 
by the Health and Safety Executive 

3.5.8 Allocated sites are protected for the purposes and uses for which they are 
allocated.

Further Focussed Change FFC20 Section: New Section 3.5
 Replacement section 3.5 comprising 

new heading and text in paragraphs 
to 3.5.1 and 3.5.2  to introduce a new 
Strategy Statement which links to the 
over-arching Strategy and the  Key 
Diagram.

 3.5.3 adds a heading for the Key 
Diagram and the Key Diagram is 
relocated within the Plan so as to 
appear before the Strategic Policies.

Reason:  
In accordance with the Inspector’s letter dated 6/5/2016 in order to improve the 
structure and  clarity of the Plan and the effectiveness of the LDP:

 New heading and re-numbering for section 3.5 
 Insertion of a new strategy statement – to accompany the (re-located) 

key diagram so as to address the Inspectors concerns that the 
interaction between the growth and spatial strategy has not been clearly 
explained.  The strategy statement is aligned to the LDP vision and 
provides a framework for the Strategic Policies which follow in section 
3.6.

Insert new text and Key Diagram:

3.5 The LDP Strategy Statement and Key Diagram

Page 516



Powys LDP 2011-2026              Deposit Draft with Focussed Changes and Further Focussed 
Changes October 2016

Cyngor Sir Powys County Council                                                                           51

3.5.1 The two main components of the over-arching Strategy, the growth and 
spatial components, have been modelled to address the five themes which 
underpin the Local Development Plan objectives: 1. Planning for Growth in 
Sustainable Places, 2. Supporting the Powys Economy, 3. Supporting 
Infrastructure and Services, 4. Guardianship of Natural and Built Assets, and 5. 
Supporting Healthy Communities.

3.5.2 The over-arching Strategy sets out to achieve the vision and objectives of 
the Plan and is described by the following Strategy Statement:

The LDP Strategy disperses new growth proportionately around the Plan 
area to meet housing, retail and employment needs, concentrating 
development into towns and large villages and ensuring that development 
in less sustainable areas is closely controlled.  The Strategy supports 
strong communities and a diverse and working countryside and responds 
to the needs of the local area in terms of the provision of affordable 
housing and meeting specialist needs.  Development is directed to 
locations within a sustainable settlement hierarchy and all development 
management decisions are made against a framework where the principles 
of sustainable development and guardianship of the natural and built 
environment are fully embedded.

3.5.3 The Key Diagram

Figure 7 - Key Diagram showing the Settlement Hierarchy 

Page 517



Powys LDP 2011-2026              Deposit Draft with Focussed Changes and Further Focussed 
Changes October 2016

Cyngor Sir Powys County Council                                                                           52

Contains Ordnance Survey data © Crown copyright and database right 2015. Additional 
information © Powys County Council 2015. No additional copies should be made without the 
permission of the Council

Page 518



Powys LDP 2011-2026              Deposit Draft with Focussed Changes and Further Focussed 
Changes October 2016

Cyngor Sir Powys County Council                                                                           53

Further Focussed Change: FFC21 Section: Section 3.6
 Insert new section 3.6 including 

Strategic Policies SP1 to SP7 which 
replace previous SP1 and SP2.

 Cross-reference Objectives with 
Strategic policies

Reason:
 In response to the Inspector's clarification that each element of the Strategy 

should be addressed in policy, the Strategic Policy section has been revised 
and expanded.

Policies SP1 and SP2 have been replaced by the new set of strategic 
policies SP1 to SP7 so as to address the Inspector's concerns that the 
strategic policies do not reflect the over-arching strategy or provide, where 
appropriate, quantum or target specific policies for housing and employment 
growth, affordable housing, retail growth, the settlement strategy, and the 
safeguarding of material assets..

The information within SP1 to SP7 is not new to the Plan but has instead 
been gathered from the existing strategic or topic based policies which have 
been amended and changed accordingly.

Policy SP1 (Settlement Strategy) is replaced by SP5 (Settlement Hierarchy) 
and SP6 (Distribution of Growth across the Settlement Hierarchy) and Policy 
SP2 (Safeguarding of Material Assets) has been replaced by SP7 
(Safeguarding of Strategic Resources and Assets) and has been amended 
and revised in response to the Inspector and Welsh Government feedback.

 Cross-referencing is provided between the strategic policies and the LDP 
objectives to improve the clarity, coherence and consistency of the Plan.

Insert new text and strategic policies as follows:

3.6 The Strategic Policies

3.6.1 This section contains strategic policies to implement the LDP Strategy and to 
inform the subsequent monitoring of the Plan to ensure that the Plan’s aims and 
objectives are being achieved.

Strategic Policy SP1 – Housing Growth

Over the Plan period 2011-2026, the LDP will seek to maintain a 5 year supply 
of land for housing and provides land for 5,596 dwellings to meet the dwelling 
requirement of 4,500 additional dwellings.

Land has been identified in policy H1A for the provision of dwellings on 
housing land sites capable of providing 5 or more dwellings and further 
housing will be supplied on small sites and from additional windfall (small and 
large sites) arising during the Plan period.

Page 519



Powys LDP 2011-2026              Deposit Draft with Focussed Changes and Further Focussed 
Changes October 2016

Cyngor Sir Powys County Council                                                                           54

(LDP Objective – 1)

Strategic Policy SP2 – Employment Growth

To meet employment needs over the Plan period 2011-2026, and to maximise 
the opportunities presented by Local Growth Zones and other regeneration 
initiatives, the LDP identifies 45 hectares of land for employment purposes.

Land for the provision of 39 hectares of new B1, B2 and B8 employment 
development and 6 hectares of employment land within mixed use sites is 
allocated in accordance with policies E1 and E3.  

(LDP Objectives – 1, 6, 7 and 8)

Strategic Policy SP3 – Affordable Housing Target

Over the Plan period 2011-2026, the LDP will seek to provide xxxx affordable 
dwellings.

Affordable dwellings will be required in accordance with policy H4 or 
permitted in accordance with policies H5 and H7.

Affordable dwellings will be controlled to ensure that they remain affordable in 
perpetuity.

(LDP Objectives 1)

Strategic Policy SP4 – Retail Growth

To meet future retail needs over the Plan period 2011-2026, 0.4 ha of land is 
allocated on a mixed use site for the development of new retail floor-space. 

Land for local retail convenience floor-space is allocated by policy R1A

(LDP Objectives – 1, 6)

Strategic Policy SP5 – Settlement Hierarchy

The LDP spatial strategy is based on the following sustainable settlement 
hierarchy which takes account of a settlement's size, levels of service 
provision and the capacity and suitability of a settlement to accommodate 
sustainable growth.

The sustainable settlement hierarchy comprises:

Towns
Large Villages
Small Villages
Rural Settlements
Open Countryside

The development limits for Towns and Large Villages are set by designated 
Development Boundaries shown on the LDP inset maps.

Page 520



Powys LDP 2011-2026              Deposit Draft with Focussed Changes and Further Focussed 
Changes October 2016

Cyngor Sir Powys County Council                                                                           55

Settlements across the Powys LDP area have been categorised into the 
hierarchy as follows:

Settlement Tier Powys LDP Settlements

Towns Builth Wells (including Llanelwedd), Knighton, Llandrindod Wells, 
Llanfair Caereinion, Llanfyllin, Llanidloes, Llanwrtyd Wells, 
Machynlleth, Montgomery, Newtown, Presteigne, Rhayader, 
Welshpool, Ystradgynlais, Hay-on-Wye (BBNP)

Large Villages Abercrave, Abermule, Arddleen, Berriew, Bettws Cedewain, 
Boughrood and Llyswen, Bronllys, Caersws, Carno, Castle 
Caereinion, Churchstoke, Clyro, Coelbren, Crewgreen, Crossgates, 
Forden and Kingswood, Four Crosses, Glasbury, Guilsfield, Howey, 
Kerry, Knucklas, Llanbrynmair, Llandinam, Llandrinio, Llanfechain, 
Llangurig, Llangynog, Llanrhaeadr-ym-Mochnant, Llansantffraid-ym-
Mechain, Llansilin, Llanymynech, Llanyre, Meifod, Middletown, New 
Radnor, Newbridge on Wye, Penybontfawr, Pontrobert, Three 
Cocks, Trefeglwys, Tregynon, Trewern

Small Villages Abbeycwmhir, Aberedw, Abertridwr, Adfa, Beulah, Builth Road, 
Bwlch y Cibau, Caehopkin, Cemmaes, Cilmery, Cwm Linau, 
Derwenlas, Erwood, Esgairgeiliog Ceinws, Felinfach, Foel, Garth, 
Gladestry, Glantwmyn, Groes-lwyd, Leighton, Llanbadarn Fynydd, 
Llanbister, Llanddew, Llandewi Ystradenni, Llandyssil, Llanerfyl, 
Llanfihangel Tal-y-llyn, Llangadfan, Llangammarch Wells, 
Llangedwyn, Llangunllo, Llanigon, Llanwddyn, Llanwrthwl, Nantmel, 
Norton, Pant y dwr, Penegoes, Penybont, Refail, Sarn, St Harmon, 
Velindre (Brecknock), Y Fan.

Rural Settlements These are not listed but will be assessed against the following 
criteria:

 historically recognised / named settlements; and
 located in a rural setting and contain at least 10 dwellings; and
 can be clusters of dwellings or more dispersed.

Open 
Countryside

Land outside the (development) boundaries of defined settlements.

(LDP Objectives – 1, 2, 3, 9)

Further Focussed Change: FFC22 Section: Section 3.6, SP6
 Insert re-located paragraphs 3.4.22 - 

3.4.24 into Strategic Policy SP6 as 
introductory text.

 Insert re-located paragraphs 3.5.1 - 3.5.2 
into Strategic Policy SP6 as introductory 

Page 521



Powys LDP 2011-2026              Deposit Draft with Focussed Changes and Further Focussed 
Changes October 2016

Cyngor Sir Powys County Council                                                                           56

text.
Reason: To improve the clarity, coherence and structure of the Plan in response to 
the Inspector's concerns raised in the letter of 6/5/2016:

 The Apportioning Growth text from past sections (3.4.22 to 3.4.24) has been re-
located and re-numbered to act as introductory text to SP6.

 Paragraphs 3.5.1 and 3.5.2 have been re-located and re-numbered to act as 
introductory text to SP6.

Insert text with numbering as follows:

3.5.1 3.6.1 The spatial element of the LDP Strategy identifies where development 
should be located during the Plan period, with the aim of ensuring that development 
meets the needs of Powys’ communities and is directed to locations that are 
sustainable in terms of their size, function, character, facilities, transport linkages 
and social and environmental capacity.

3.5.2 3.6.2 The spatial strategy is based upon the sustainable settlement hierarchy 
and aims to disperse development proportionately around the Plan area in order to 
meet the needs of Powys’ communities.  Development outside of the main towns 
and large villages is closely controlled. This ensures that the higher tier settlements 
within the County remain as foci for housing, employment and services, contributing 
to their vitality and promoting vibrant and sustainable communities. This approach 
reinforces infrastructure provision (both social and physical) so as to reduce the 
need to travel. The Plan supports the use of policies that encourage the level of 
development most appropriate to each settlement. The strategy therefore ensures 
that an appropriate balance is struck between sustaining our more rural 
communities, meeting needs locally, whilst protecting the County’s natural assets.

3.4.22 3.6.3  In providing sufficient land to meet future housing and economic needs, 
and to ensure sustainable development, the LDP apportions more land to higher tier 
settlements (Towns and Large Villages). To facilitate this a pro-rata apportionment 
based on household numbers was used22. (The percentage distribution of the total 
housing provision split between towns, large villages, small villages and the 
remaining rural areas is shown in Table H2 in paragraph 3.3.16).

3.4.23 3.6.4 However, it has not proven possible for all settlements to accommodate 
their pro-rata level of development due to a lack of suitable and deliverable sites. 
Reasons for this vary, but often it is for environmental reasons (e.g. areas of flood 
risk to be avoided), or for infrastructure reasons (e.g. highway requirements). 

3.4.24   3.6.5 Where a settlement has been unable to accommodate its pro-rata 
level of development, the LDP has sought to re-allocate the shortfall elsewhere to 
ensure that the total requirements for the plan period are met. In the first instance, 
the LDP has sought to allocate the shortfall to nearby settlements categorised as 
Towns or Large Villages (not to lower tier settlements).

22  Further information is provided in the Strategy Topic Paper

Page 522



Powys LDP 2011-2026              Deposit Draft with Focussed Changes and Further Focussed 
Changes October 2016

Cyngor Sir Powys County Council                                                                           57

3.6.6 To reinforce the sustainable settlement hierarchy and create a sustainable 
pattern of development which focuses upon the most appropriate town and village 
locations, the LDP distributes growth according to the following policy:

Strategic Policy SP6 – Distribution of Growth across the Settlement Hierarchy

Housing and employment development is distributed in accordance with the 
following settlement strategy based on a settlement’s levels of service 
provision and size (households) and subject to its capacity to accommodate 
sustainable growth:

Category Type of Development

Towns: At least 50% of the Plan’s housing growth and the Plan’s 
employment land within:

1.    Towns Housing and Employment:

A higher proportion of new development 
required will be directed to Towns. This will be 
through commitments and new allocations and 
on suitable sites within the development 
boundary.

Additionally affordable housing will be 
permitted on exception sites.

Large Villages: At least 25% of the Plan’s housing growth and up to 20% 
of the Plan’s employment land within: 

2.    Large Villages Housing:

A significant proportion of new housing 
development required will be directed to Large 
Villages. This will be through commitments and 
new allocations and on suitable sites within the 
development boundary.

Additionally affordable housing will be 
permitted on exception sites.

Employment:

Employment land allocations have been made in 
the following Large Villages: Abermule, 
Churchstoke, Four Crosses and Three Cocks 
(Mixed Use Site).

Small Villages: No more than 10% of the Plan’s housing growth within:

Page 523



Powys LDP 2011-2026              Deposit Draft with Focussed Changes and Further Focussed 
Changes October 2016

Cyngor Sir Powys County Council                                                                           58

3.    Small Villages Housing and Employment:

The LDP does not identify development 
boundaries for Small Villages and there are no 
allocations for development within this tier. 

Housing:

Open Market housing development will be 
restricted to small infill plots (suitable to 
accommodate one or two dwellings) unless 
larger scale infill development is identified in a 
community-led Village Action Plan. 

Additionally affordable housing will be 
permitted on exception sites.

Single Rural Affordable Homes to meet local 
need will be permitted on suitable sites where 
well-integrated into the settlement.

Employment:

Proposals may be acceptable where they are 
justified and comply with Policy.

Rural Settlements and Open Countryside: No more than 15% of the Plan’s 
Housing Growth: 

4. Rural 
Settlements

 

 

Housing and Employment:

Rural Settlements will be identified against the 
criteria set in policy SP5.  They are not listed in 
the LDP or subject to defined development 
boundaries.  There are no allocations for 
development within this tier and proposals for 
development will be required to meet the 
exceptions policies as set out in national or 
local policy.

Housing:

Open market housing development will not be 
permitted in Rural Settlements.

Single rural affordable homes to meet local 
need in perpetuity will be permitted on suitable 
sites where well-integrated into a rural 

Page 524



Powys LDP 2011-2026              Deposit Draft with Focussed Changes and Further Focussed 
Changes October 2016

Cyngor Sir Powys County Council                                                                           59

 

settlement.

Employment:

There are no allocations for employment 
development within this tier.  Proposals may be 
acceptable where they are justified and comply 
with Policy.

5.    Open Countryside Housing:

Only housing development that complies with 
the national exceptions policies as set out in 
Planning Policy Wales and TAN6 will be 
permitted in the Open Countryside.

Employment:

There are no allocations for employment 
development within this tier.  Proposals may be 
acceptable where they are justified and comply 
with Policy.

No more than 30% of the Plan’s employment land  on  sites located 
outside of the settlement hierarchy: 

Allocated Sites outside 
of the settlement 
hierarchy

Housing: Not Applicable

Employment:

Land has been allocated at :

Buttington Quarry and Brickworks – For B1, B2, 
B8 and other appropriate economic uses.

Offas Dyke Business park, Buttington – For B1 
Uses.

(LDP Objectives – 1, 2, 3, 6, 7 and 8)

Strategic Policy SP7 - Safeguarding of Strategic Resources and Assets

To safeguard strategic resources and assets in the County, development 
proposals must not have an unacceptable adverse impact on the resource or 
asset and its operation.

The following have been identified as strategic resources and assets in 
Powys:

Page 525



Powys LDP 2011-2026              Deposit Draft with Focussed Changes and Further Focussed 
Changes October 2016

Cyngor Sir Powys County Council                                                                           60

1. Land designated at international, European and/or national level for 
environmental protection.

2. Registered Historic Landscapes.
3. National Trails (Offa’s Dyke Way and Glyndwr’s Way).
4. Sennybridge (Ministry of Defence) Training Area.
5. Mineral Resource Areas.
6. Proposed Strategic Infrastructure Routes (if and when identified).

(LDP Objectives – 6, 7, 8, 9, 10, 11, 12 and 13)

3.6.7 Powys contains many resources and assets of national, regional and local 
importance. Policy SP7 safeguards strategic resources and assets, which are 
considered of national importance, from unacceptable development so as to protect 
them for the future well-being of the county. Whenever possible, safeguarded assets 
and resources are shown on the Proposals Map.

3.6.8 Policy SP7 seeks to protect the County’s strategically important resources 
and assets and their operation (including, where applicable, the use and enjoyment 
of the asset) by avoiding sterilisation, providing for the future winning / working of 
resources, and in general protecting assets and resources from unacceptable 
development so as to protect the economic, environmental and social well-being of 
Powys.  The protection of wider qualities associated with an asset could for example 
include, in the case of recreational trails, important views or areas which offer 
tranquillity and wilderness.

3.6.9 Only development proposals that are compatible with the asset / resource 
and the purposes for which it is safeguarded should be permitted. For example, it 
may not be appropriate to permit new housing or a school in close proximity to an 
MOD training area as such establishments can create pressure to limit the activities 
and other use of MOD land.

3.6.10 The potential cumulative impacts of existing and proposed development(s) 
should be carefully considered. Resources and assets may offer multiple benefits, 
the Offa's Dyke Way for example, contributes to heritage, recreational, tourism and 
visual / landscape assets.

3.6.11 The County’s resources of both built and natural assets / resources are 
various and numerous. It is recognised that many will be protected by legislation and 
policy beyond the planning system. The Plan does not seek to duplicate such 
protection.  Aside from the strategic level, the Plan’s detailed development 
management and topic based policy framework operates to protect a range of 
assets and resources that are important locally, regionally and/or nationally or 
internationally.  These are covered by the following policy areas: 

Environment (DM2).

Existing Employment Sites (DM17).

Existing Community Facilities (DM11).

Landscape (DM3).

Minerals (DM7 and DM8).

Page 526



Powys LDP 2011-2026              Deposit Draft with Focussed Changes and Further Focussed 
Changes October 2016

Cyngor Sir Powys County Council                                                                           61

Public Open Space including Allotments (DM2A). 

Tourism (TD2, TD3).

Transport (T1, T1A, T2).  

Page 527



Powys LDP 2011-2026              Deposit Draft with Focussed Changes and Further Focussed 
Changes October 2016

Cyngor Sir Powys County Council                                                                           62

4.0 Policies for Making Planning Decisions ® 34.25
Further Focussed Change: FFC23 Section: 4.1.1, Policies for Making 

Planning Decisions
Reason: To provide a more detailed explanation and clarification on the scope and 
purpose of the development management policies and specific topic based policies, 
in accordance with the Inspector’s letter date 6/5/2016.

Amend introductory paragraph 4.1.1, insert paragraphs 4.1.1a and b, amend Table 
DM1 and paragraph 4.1.2 as follows:

4.1.1 This section sets out the Plan’s policies and proposals for determining 
planning applications in line with the Plan’s strategy. The first section (Section 4.2) 
sets out general development management policies that all applications will be 
considered against. These include a broad range of planning related policy matters 
including the natural environment, landscape, development and flood risk, 
contaminated and unstable land, design, development in Welsh speaking 
strongholds, etc.

4.1.1a It is followed by more specific topic based policies for certain that relate to 
particular types of development. The LDP contains specific topic based policies on 
the following types of proposed development:

 Economic development (Section 4.4). 
 Transport (Section 4.5).
 Housing (Section 4.6).
 Retailing and Town Centres (Section 4.7).
 Tourism (Section 4.8).
 Waste (Section 4.9).
 Sustainable Energy (Section 4.10).
 Minerals (Section 4.11).
 Community Facilities (Section 4.12).
 Military Operations (section 4.13).

4.1.1b The table below explains how to use the policies. A justification is provided 
after each policy.

Table DM1 ® 34.27, ® 34.28, ® 34.29,  

Step Refer to Explanation

1 Relevant 
development 
type policy 

Refer to the relevant section of the plan to find the 
applicable development type policy. E.g. For 
tourism development, refer to Tourism Policy TD1 
(Section 4.8).

2 Policy DM2 – 
DM17 and the 
Strategic 
policies SP1-2 
SP1 - 7

If the development is supported by the 
development type policy, or there is no relevant 
development type policy, it should then be 
considered against the Development Management 
policies (Section 4.2, Policies DM2 – DM17) and 
the Strategic Policies (Section 3.5, Policies SP1-2  

Page 528

https://secure.powys.gov.uk/ldp_representations/viewreps.php?LDPDocNo=34&LDPRefPointNo=25&L=0
https://secure.powys.gov.uk/ldp_representations/viewreps.php?LDPDocNo=34&LDPRefPointNo=27&L=0
https://secure.powys.gov.uk/ldp_representations/viewreps.php?LDPDocNo=34&LDPRefPointNo=28&L=0


Powys LDP 2011-2026              Deposit Draft with Focussed Changes and Further Focussed 
Changes October 2016

Cyngor Sir Powys County Council                                                                           63

SP1 - 7).

3 DM1– Planning 
Obligations

Depending on the proposal, a Planning Obligation 
may be required in line with Policy DM1 (section 
4.2).

4.1.2 The LDP does not include policies for every type of development, but the 
Strategic Policies (SP) and Development Management (DM) Policies DM1 to DM17 
will be used to determine all applications. 

4.1.3 No specific policy is included on the re-use / adaptation of rural buildings, or 
on agricultural development, because PPW, TAN 6 and TAN 23 provide adequate 
policy. The Council has not prioritised economic reuses above other uses and 
supports a flexible approach to re-use and adaptation of rural buildings.

Further Minor Change: FFC24 Section: Section 4.2
 Insert title.

Reason: 
Re-insert title 4.2 (previously removed by the Focussed Changes Jan 2016) to 
provide clarity, in accordance with the Inspector’s letter dated 6/5/2016.   

Insert title as follows:

4.2 Development Management Policies

Further Focussed Change: FFC25 Section: 4.2 Development Management 
Policies, Policy DM1 – Planning Obligations

Reason: 
 Criterion (2) added to rectify omission from the Composite Version of the Plan.  

This criterion was included in the Schedule of Focussed Changes (January 
2016).

 Change to criterion (3) to avoid repetition of national planning guidance in 
accordance with the Inspector's letter to the Council dated 6/5/16.

 Change to opening paragraph of 4.2.1 to provide clarity in response to Focussed 
Change representation 78.F6.

 Change to 4.2.2 to refer to the legislation under which planning obligations would 
be sought and guidance to be followed.

 Reference to the proposed Supplementary Planning Guidance on securing 
planning obligations.

Amend Policy DM1 and paragraphs 4.2.1 to 4.2.2 as follows:

Policy DM1 – Planning Obligations  ® 34.30
Planning obligations will be sought by agreement with applicants, where 
necessary, to ensure that: 

Page 529

https://secure.powys.gov.uk/ldp_representations/viewreps.php?LDPDocNo=34&LDPRefPointNo=30&L=0


Powys LDP 2011-2026              Deposit Draft with Focussed Changes and Further Focussed 
Changes October 2016

Cyngor Sir Powys County Council                                                                           64

1. The development provides for adequate infrastructure necessary to serve 
the proposal, and that satisfactory maintenance and / or restoration 
arrangements are achieved;

2. Significant adverse socio-economic and environmental impacts are 
addressed and mitigated;

3. Benefits are secured in the public interest to meet the additional demands 
of development proposals on local communities. where these are relevant 
and reasonably related to the proposal, and required to enable it to 
proceed.

4.2.1 The Council will only look to use planning obligations where planning 
conditions are considered inappropriate.23 Listed below are examples of where 
planning obligations will be sought: Listed below are typical examples of planning 
obligations which will be sought where these are relevant and reasonably related to 
the proposal, and required to enable it to proceed: 

 Provision or improvement of essential infrastructure or utilities required to 
serve a development.

 Affordable housing in residential developments.
 Provision or improvement of community, educational, health, recreation and 

open space facilities required to serve a development.
 Support for sustainable modes of transport, improved traffic management, 

and rights of way in relation to the development.
 Securing financial contributions (commuted sums) in lieu of provision such as 

a contribution towards public transport services or affordable housing.
 Mitigation measures that support the protection and enhancement of Welsh 

language and culture in Welsh speaking strongholds. 
 Measures that mitigate the adverse impacts of development.

4.2.2 Planning obligations will be negotiated under section 106 of the Town and 
Country Planning Act 1990 and in accordance with the guidance set out within 
Welsh Office Circular 13/97 (or subsequent revisions), and the viability of 
development will be taken into account. Where obligations would impact upon 
delivery, priority will be given to ensuring that essential transport and utility 
infrastructure required for development to be implemented is provided (e.g. water, 
sewage, access). Once this has been secured the delivery of affordable housing will 
be the priority in any further negotiations. Further guidance on securing planning 
obligations will be provided within a Supplementary Planning Guidance.

4.2.3 The Planning Act 2008 made provision for Councils to seek contributions from 
development for infrastructure through a Community Infrastructure Levy (CIL)22. 
Contributions from a CIL can be used to fund infrastructure at a county-wide level 
including transport schemes, schools and leisure centres. In order to encourage 
authorities to introduce CIL, the regulations restricted the pooling of S106 
contributions to a maximum of 5 contributions from the 6th April 2015 (including all 
relevant S106 contributions received since 6th April 2010).

23 Planning conditions – see PPW, Section 3.6; Planning Obligations – see PPW, Section 3.7. 
http://wales.gov.uk/topics/planning/policy/ppw/?lang=en 

Page 530

http://wales.gov.uk/topics/planning/policy/ppw/?lang=en


Powys LDP 2011-2026              Deposit Draft with Focussed Changes and Further Focussed 
Changes October 2016

Cyngor Sir Powys County Council                                                                           65

4.2.4 The Powys Local Development Plan and Community Infrastructure Levy 
Viability Assessment (2014) considered the impact on development viability of the 
proposed LDP policies and from introducing a CIL. It concluded that there was 
scope to introduce a CIL although the Council will not make a decision on whether to 
pursue a CIL until the LDP has been adopted. It should be noted that the 
deliverability of site allocations proposed by the plan is not dependant on the 
introduction of a CIL, although site-specific planning obligations will continue to be 
sought in accordance with the regulations. ® 34.31,

Further Focussed Change: FFC26 Section: 4.2 Development Management 
Policies, Policy DM2 – The Natural 
Environment
 Amend wording of policy and text.
 Delete paragraphs 4.2.14 - 4.2.19 and re-

locate to Policy DM2A below.
 Re-number paragraphs accordingly.

Reason: 
 The Council would argue that the current wording of the opening paragraph of 

DM2 (including the word 'compromise') is acceptable however were the words 'or 
compromise' to be deleted there would be no major objection to FC15 Rep 
6323.F1 & 6323.F2. 

 Change to Criterion 1. to provide a consistent policy terminology, in accordance 
with the Inspector's letter dated 6/5/2016.

 Deletion of Criterion 4 for public open space; to be separated as a standalone 
policy in accordance with the Inspector’s letter dated 6/5/2016.

 Delete paragraphs 4.2.14 - 4.2.19 to provide reasoned justification for new Policy 
DM2A.

 Re-number paragraphs to provide clarity and coherence to the Plan.

Policy DM2 – The Natural Environment 

Development proposals which impact on the following natural environment 
features will only be permitted where they do not unacceptably adversely 
affect or compromise:

1. Site Designations, Habitats and Species

The important habitats, species and site designations listed below from i. to vi. 
are afforded the highest levels of protection and will be protected from any 
development that would harm their distinctive features or characteristics. 

i. European Protected Sites (SAC, SPA and Ramsar).
ii European Protected Habitats (Natura 2000 Annex 1 habitats). 
iii. National Nature Reserves and Sites of Special Scientific Interest.
iv. Protected Species including those listed in the Habitats Directive 

(Natura 2000 Annex 2 Species) and the Wildlife and Countryside 
Act.

v. Habitats and Species of principal importance for biodiversity 
conservation in Wales. 

Page 531

https://secure.powys.gov.uk/ldp_representations/viewreps.php?LDPDocNo=34&LDPRefPointNo=31&L=0


Powys LDP 2011-2026              Deposit Draft with Focussed Changes and Further Focussed 
Changes October 2016

Cyngor Sir Powys County Council                                                                           66

vi. National and Local Biodiversity Action Plan Habitats and 
species. 

In relation to site designations vii. to ix. below, development proposals will 
only be permitted where:

(a) They conserve and where possible enhance the natural heritage 
importance of the site; or

(b) The development could not reasonably be located elsewhere, and 
the benefits of the development outweigh the natural heritage 
importance of the site; and

(c) Mitigation and/or compensation measures will need to be agreed 
where adverse effects are unavoidable.

vii. Local Nature Reserves. 
viii. Wildlife Trust Reserves and Sites. 
ix. Regionally Important Geological Sites and Geological Conservation 

Review Sites. 

2. The achievement of the Water Framework Directive’s overarching 
objectives. 

3. Trees, woodlands and hedgerows of significant public amenity, natural or 
cultural heritage.

4. An existing area of Open Space, complete or in part, as identified in the 
Open Space Assessment, unless it can be demonstrated that: 

i. There is an excess of such provision in the area; and 
ii. There is no longer a requirement for that type of open space in the 
area, and 
iii. The site would not be suitable to provide an alternative type of 
Open Space for which there is a shortfall; and 

It can be demonstrated that alternative provision can be made available 
that is of enhanced or equivalent community benefit in terms of its size, 
characteristics, location and accessibility. 

5. At the site level, proposals for development shall demonstrate how they 
protect, positively manage and enhance biodiversity and geodiversity 
interests to produce a net gain both at the particular site, including 
improving the resilience of biodiversity through the enhanced connectivity 
of habitats within, and beyond the site.

4.2.5 Site Designations. This policy addresses LDP Key Issue 12 and Objective 
11. Powys contains important natural and semi natural environments which are 
protected through designations made at European, National and local levels. Many 
of these natural and semi natural environments are sensitive to air and water 
pollution from developments, including agricultural developments. These natural and 
semi natural environments are valuable non-renewable resources which are also 

Page 532



Powys LDP 2011-2026              Deposit Draft with Focussed Changes and Further Focussed 
Changes October 2016

Cyngor Sir Powys County Council                                                                           67

essential for education, leisure, and the economy. Guidance on the protection of 
these resources, the criteria against which development that may affect them and 
the relative weight attached to the different designations is contained in PPW, TAN5 
- Nature Conservation and Planning and Circulars.

4.2.6 For the River Wye SAC the primary mechanism for achieving its conservation 
targets is through the Nutrient Management Plan (NMP). This is overseen by a 
Board and a Technical Group which Powys County Council supports and 
participates in.

4.2.7 In order to assess the acceptability of a development proposal against the 
criteria of Policy DM2, proposals which would be likely to result in increased nutrient 
loading to the environment, such as intensive livestock units, will be required to 
assess the potential impacts in respect of water and air quality, to ensure that they 
do not adversely affect these natural and semi natural environments. 

4.2.8 In addition to the designated sites listed above there are also areas that are, 
or are being, designated as Local Wildlife Sites (LWS) across the county. These 
locally important sites have passed, and are being protected by, a standard set of 
criteria justifying their importance for wildlife and are identified and monitored by the 
Wildlife Trusts (Brecknockshire, Montgomeryshire and Radnorshire). LWS are under 
continual review and not all qualifying sites have been identified or designated. 
Developers and applicants are therefore encouraged to contact the Local Records 
Centre to determine how their proposal might relate to or impact upon any LWS. 

4.2.9 Achievement of Water Quality Standards in line with the Water 
Framework Directive. The Water Framework Directive requires surface and 
groundwater to achieve overall ‘good’ status by 2027. There are five categories: 
Bad, Poor, Moderate, Good and High. For surface waters there are two separate 
classifications for water bodies: ecological and chemical. For a water body to be in 
overall ‘good’ status both ecological and chemical status must be at least ‘good’. 

4.2.10 There are two separate classifications for groundwater bodies: chemical 
status and quantitative status. Each must be reported in addition to the overall 
groundwater body status. For a groundwater body to be at good status overall both 
chemical status and quantitative status must be ‘good’. Groundwater quality is 
considered on a precautionary principle with the aim of minimum anthropogenic 
impact, with a presumption against direct discharge to groundwater. Quantity is 
measured on a good or bad status. There is a requirement for abstraction to be less 
than the rate of recharge. In addition to assessing status, there is also a requirement 
to identify and report where the quality of groundwater is deteriorating as a result of 
pollution and which may lead to a future deterioration in status. 

4.2.11 The key documents to meeting these targets are the River Basin 
Management Plans. Powys’ planning area falls within the Severn District River Basin 
Management Plan area and the Western Wales District River Basin Management 
Plan. Powys has a number of sites that require the highest level of protection under 
international legislation. The LDP was accompanied by a Habitats Regulations 
Assessment (HRA) that investigated the likelihood of significant effects on the 
qualifying features of these sites. Development proposals will be expected to 

Page 533



Powys LDP 2011-2026              Deposit Draft with Focussed Changes and Further Focussed 
Changes October 2016

Cyngor Sir Powys County Council                                                                           68

undertake appropriate surveys and include measures that maintain and enhance 
important features whilst incorporating them within any development of the site. 
Development proposals that encourage a sustainable ‘pollution and flow neutral’ 
position represent a means through which growth may be allowed whilst ensuring 
that WFD objectives can be met, prevent deterioration and ensure pollution does not 
damage the integrity of designated sites and their ability to support internationally 
important features.

4.2.12 Trees, Woodlands and Hedgerows of Significant Public Amenity, 
Natural or Cultural Heritage. Trees are the largest and longest living organisms in 
Powys. Trees, woodlands and hedgerows offer multiple benefits, including visual 
amenity, defining a sense of place, providing places for relaxation and recreation, 
habitats for wildlife, improved health and wellbeing and mitigating the effects of 
climate change. To maintain these benefits, the protection and enhancement of 
existing tree and woodland cover is essential. Development will not be permitted that 
would cause unacceptable harm to trees, woodlands and hedgerows of significant 
public amenity, natural or cultural heritage value.

4.2.13 Ancient woodlands and hedgerows and veteran trees are irreplaceable 
habitats of high biodiversity value that cannot be recreated once lost. This policy will 
protect them from development that would result in significant damage and 
developments will be expected to retain them. Where appropriate, Tree Preservation 
Orders will be served to protect significant trees from removal or harm. The amenity 
value of trees will be assessed in accordance with government guidance and 
nationally recognised systems of amenity evaluation.

4.2.14 Protection of existing open space. If a proposal would result in a complete 
or partial loss of open space, applications must be justified. The justification must 
determine whether there is excess provision, whether there is no longer a 
requirement for that type of open space or whether it is suitable for an alternative 
type of open space in short supply. 

4.2.15  The definition of what is included by the term ‘Open Space’ can be found in 
the Open Space Assessment, however the typologies used are broadly the same as 
those listed in TAN16 and include: Public Parks and Gardens, Natural and Semi-
Natural Green Spaces, Outdoor Sports Facilities, Amenity Green Space, Play Areas, 
and Allotments. 

4.2.16  The former Countryside Council for Wales produced a toolkit to help ensure 
that everyone had access to natural green space. The toolkit recommends that no 
one should live more than 300m from their natural green space. This standard has 
been used in the Open Space Assessment (sites over 0.2ha) for typologies not 
covered by Field in Trust Standards. 

4.2.17  Further standards apply for tennis courts, athletics tracks and bowling greens 
to which either TAN 16 or the Open Space Assessment should be consulted. 

4.2.18 It is important that school playing fields or facilities for public enjoyment are 
not eroded away by development pressures and that they are respected as being 
important in their own right. Over-provision is possible in some areas, particularly 
where for example trends have moved away from organised formal recreation, but it 

Page 534



Powys LDP 2011-2026              Deposit Draft with Focussed Changes and Further Focussed 
Changes October 2016

Cyngor Sir Powys County Council                                                                           69

is important that the land remains protected for some form of recreation, even if the 
type of sport it accommodates changes. Compelling evidence that the facility is no 
longer required by the community for recreation or amenity purposes will be 
required. 

4.2.19 To determine the adequacy of provision, the Fields in Trust Standards should 
be applied as follows. These have been used in the Open Space Assessment.

Type Per 1000 of population
Pitch Sports 1.72ha
All Sports 1.76ha
Designated Equipped Playing Space 0.25ha
Accessible Natural Green Space (CCW 
toolkit standard)

2ha

Type of Space Walking 
Distance 
(metres)

Straight 
Line 
Distance 
(metres)

Local equipped or landscaped areas for 
play and informal recreation

400 240

Neighbourhood equipped areas for play 
and informal recreation and provision 
for young people

1000 600

4.2.20  Protection, Management and Enhancement of Biodiversity and 
Geodiversity at the Site Level. Proposals will be required to demonstrate how they 
intend to protect, manage or enhance biodiversity interests on a particular site. In 
most cases this will involve gathering and presenting supporting evidence for the 
proposal. The requirements for this evidence will vary depending on the likely 
impacts of the proposals. Where impacts to biodiversity are likely a full Ecological 
Survey and Mitigation Plan will be required. Where it is considered that the 
proposals have potential to affect a European Designated Site the proposals will 
need to be subject to a Habitats Regulations Assessment Screening, to establish 
whether the proposals could result in a likely significant impact to the site and its 
associated features either alone or in combination with other plans or projects. If the 
screening process concludes that the proposals are considered likely to have a 
significant negative effect (either alone or in combination) to a European Designated 
Site and where measures to avoid that likelihood are not available an Appropriate 
Assessment will be required to ascertain whether the proposals will have an adverse 
effect on the integrity of the European Designated Site.

4.2.21 Connectivity is concerned with enabling biodiversity to spread to, or be 
connected with appropriate habitats or similar ecosystems. This avoids ‘islands’ of 
habitats or populations from developing and being isolated from others and improves 
the resilience of populations and habitats to withstand the effects of climate change, 
development pressures and changes to wider landscape management. Many 
measures which protect, manage and enhance biodiversity can also be instrumental 
in delivering greater connectivity. 

Page 535



Powys LDP 2011-2026              Deposit Draft with Focussed Changes and Further Focussed 
Changes October 2016

Cyngor Sir Powys County Council                                                                           70

4.2.22 Further information on how to protect, manage and enhance biodiversity and 
geodiversity will be detailed in the Biodiversity SPG.

Further Focussed Change: FFC27 Section: Policy DM2A 
 Inserted new policy DM2A
 Re-locate paragraphs 4.2.14 - 4.2.19 

from DM1 above.

Reason:

 For public open space (previously included in DM2) to be separated as a 
standalone policy in accordance with the Inspector’s letter date 6/5/2016.

 All paragraphs will be renumbered in the final adopted plan. 

Insert a new Policy DM2A and reasoned justification and re-number paragraphs as 
follows: 

Policy DM2A -  Public Open Space

Development proposals will only be permitted where they do not compromise 
or have an unacceptable adverse effect on an existing area of Open Space, 
complete or in part, as identified in the Open Space Assessment, unless it can 
be demonstrated that: 

1. There is an excess of such provision in the area; and 
2. There is no longer a requirement for that type of open space in the area; 

and 
3. The site would not be suitable to provide an alternative type of Open 

Space for which there is a shortfall; and 

It can be demonstrated that alternative provision can be made available that is 
of enhanced or equivalent community benefit in terms of its size, 
characteristics, location and accessibility.

4.2.14 Protection of existing open space. If a proposal would result in a complete 
or partial loss of open space, applications must be justified. The justification must 
determine whether there is excess provision, whether there is no longer a 
requirement for that type of open space or whether it is suitable for an alternative 
type of open space in short supply. 

4.2.15 The definition of what is included by the term ‘Open Space’ can be found in 
the Open Space Assessment, however the typologies used are broadly the same as 
those listed in TAN16 and include: Public Parks and Gardens, Natural and Semi-
Natural Green Spaces, Outdoor Sports Facilities, Amenity Green Space, Play Areas, 
and Allotments. 

4.2.16 The former Countryside Council for Wales produced a toolkit to help ensure 
that everyone had access to natural green space. The toolkit recommends that no 

Page 536



Powys LDP 2011-2026              Deposit Draft with Focussed Changes and Further Focussed 
Changes October 2016

Cyngor Sir Powys County Council                                                                           71

one should live more than 300m from their natural green space. This standard has 
been used in the Open Space Assessment (sites over 0.2ha) for typologies not 
covered by Field in Trust Standards. 

4.2.17 Further standards apply for tennis courts, athletics tracks and bowling 
greens to which either TAN 16 or the Open Space Assessment should be consulted. 

4.2.18 It is important that school playing fields or facilities for public enjoyment are 
not eroded away by development pressures and that they are respected as being 
important in their own right. Over-provision is possible in some areas, particularly 
where for example trends have moved away from organised formal recreation, but it 
is important that the land remains protected for some form of recreation, even if the 
type of sport it accommodates changes. Compelling evidence that the facility is no 
longer required by the community for recreation or amenity purposes will be 
required. 

4.2.19 To determine the adequacy of provision, the Fields in Trust Standards 
should be applied as follows. These have been used in the Open Space 
Assessment.

Type Per 1000 of population
Pitch Sports 1.72ha
All Sports 1.76ha
Designated Equipped Playing Space 0.25ha
Accessible Natural Green Space (CCW 
toolkit standard)

2ha

Further Minor Change: FFC28 Section: Policy DM3
Reason: 
To provide a consistent policy terminology, in accordance with the Inspector’s letter 
date 6/5/2016.

Amend the wording of the first paragraph of Policy DM3 as follows: 

Policy DM3 – Landscape

All Development proposals for development must not compromise, or 
unacceptably adversely affect, either on their own or in combination with 
proposed, approved or existing development, the key characteristics of the 

Type of Space Walking 
Distance 
(metres)

Straight 
Line 
Distance 
(metres)

Local equipped or landscaped areas for 
play and informal recreation

400 240

Neighbourhood equipped areas for play 
and informal recreation and provision 
for young people

1000 600

Page 537



Powys LDP 2011-2026              Deposit Draft with Focussed Changes and Further Focussed 
Changes October 2016

Cyngor Sir Powys County Council                                                                           72

Powys landscape, as defined in the LANDMAP aspect areas for which the 
development is located, including:

1. The development pattern of the area, its historical and ecological 
qualities, open views, tranquillity and sensitivity to change;

2. The topography and patterns of features such as broad, open uplands, 
peat moors, small hills and valleys, traditional field boundaries, 
woodlands, rivers and streams.

Reference should be made to the need to conserve Registered Historic 
Landscapes as referred to in the supporting justification (4.2.26) and required 
by national policy, or to be included in the design policy? - AR 

All proposals will also need to have regard to adjacent protected landscapes 
(National Parks and Areas of Outstanding Natural Beauty) and the visual 
amenity enjoyed by users of both Powys landscapes and adjoining areas. 

4.2.23 Powys’ landscape is one of its most important assets and is a product of its 
natural history and geology and the influence of human activity. Maintaining the 
distinctiveness of Powys’ landscape is an important factor in safeguarding the quality 
of its environment and ensuring the social, cultural and economic well-being of the 
area. It can help in attracting inward investment and employment opportunities, the 
tourism industry, and in providing an attractive setting in which local people can live 
and work. Proposals for development will also be considered against the impacts 
they might have on the special qualities or purposes of the adjoining National Parks, 
and Areas of Outstanding Natural Beauty. 

Further Minor Change: FFC29 Section: Paragraph 4.2.24
 Amend text in paragraph 4.2.24

Reason:
To provide clarity, in response to Focussed Change representation 6235.F15.

Insert additional text “/whether” as follows:

4.2.24 LANDMAP is a standardised approach to landscape assessment and an 
important resource which assesses the diversity of landscapes within Wales. It 
identifies and explains their most important characteristics and qualities of 
landscapes including geological landscapes, landscape habitats, visual and sensory 
landscapes, cultural landscapes and historic landscapes. Developers are advised to 
refer to LANDMAP to determine how / whether development proposals can be 
integrated into the landscape whilst incorporating measures for its protection and/or 
conservation and/or enhancement. 

Page 538



Powys LDP 2011-2026              Deposit Draft with Focussed Changes and Further Focussed 
Changes October 2016

Cyngor Sir Powys County Council                                                                           73

4.2.25 When considering development in Powys Under Section 62(2) of the 
Environment Act the Council have a duty to conserve and enhance the wildlife, 
natural beauty and cultural heritage and historic environment of the Brecon Beacons 
and Snowdonia National Parks. Where applications for development may have an 
impact on the Brecon Beacons National Park either by virtue of their scale and/or 
location Policy SP1 of the BBNPA LDP will be considered24.

4.2.26 Eleven of the fifty eight Registered Landscapes of Historic Interest in Wales 
are either partially or entirely within Powys. The impact of development affecting 
these landscapes may require assessment under the ‘Assessment of the Impact of 
Development on Historic Landscapes’ (ASIDOHL2) process.
 
Further Minor Change: FFC30 Section: Paragraph 4.2.26

 Insert new paragraph 4.2.26A
Reason: 
To provide additional information, in response to Focussed Change representation 
6235.F16.

Insert new paragraph 4.2.26A as follows:

4.2.26A  Natural Resources Wales has published a useful series of Guidance Notes 
on the use of LANDMAP including “Guidance Note 3: Using LANDMAP for 
Landscape and Visual Impact Assessment of Onshore Wind Turbines” which should 
be referred to. Further details on the approach to be taken in relation to Landscape 
will be given in Supplementary Planning Guidance (SPG).

Further Focussed Change: FFC31 Section: Policy DM4
 Amend opening paragraph of Policy 

DM4
Reason: 
Wording of opening paragraph amended to:
 provide a consistent policy terminology, in accordance with the Inspector’s letter 

date 6/5/2016.
 response to Focussed Change representation 6235.F16.

Amend Policy DM4 as follows:

Policy DM4 – Development and Flood Risk

All Development proposals must be located away from tidal or fluvial flood 
plains unless it can be demonstrated that the site is justified in line with 
national guidance and an appropriate detailed technical assessment has been 
undertaken to ensure that the development is designed to reduce / avoid the 
threat and alleviate the threat and the consequences of flooding over its 
lifetime. In addition the development must not increase flood risk elsewhere, 

24 The special qualities of the National Park are set out by the National Park Management Plan which 
can be found at http://www.beacons-npa.gov.uk/the-authority/who-we-are/npmp/2010-2015-national-
park-management-plan/

Page 539

http://www.beacons-npa.gov.uk/the-authority/who-we-are/npmp/2010-2015-national-park-management-plan/
http://www.beacons-npa.gov.uk/the-authority/who-we-are/npmp/2010-2015-national-park-management-plan/


Powys LDP 2011-2026              Deposit Draft with Focussed Changes and Further Focussed 
Changes October 2016

Cyngor Sir Powys County Council                                                                           74

and shall where possible allow floodplains to provide water storage to reduce 
flooding in the catchment, unless:

1. The development is of a very minor nature such as an extension to a 
dwelling; or

2. There is an overriding need in the public interest for the development.

4.2.27 Avoiding unnecessary flood risk will be achieved by strictly assessing the 
flood risk implications of development proposals within areas susceptible to tidal or 
fluvial flooding and preventing development that unacceptably increases risk. In 
accordance with TAN15: Development and Flood Risk no highly vulnerable 
development will be permitted in Development advice zone C2. Development will 
only be considered in other areas at high risk of flooding where it can be 
demonstrated that the site can comply with the justification and assessment 
requirements of TAN15. 

4.2.28 TAN15 states that the Development Advice Maps are based on the best 
available information considered sufficient to determine when flood risk issues need 
to be taken into account in planning future development. Development advice zones 
C1 and C2 of the maps show high flood risk areas and are based on Natural 
Resources Wales’ extreme flood outlines for tidal and fluvial flooding.

4.2.29 Applications for the variation or renewal of planning permission will only be 
approved, in line with Policy H2, where it can be demonstrated that the development 
complies with the current Development Plan policies. This means that where 
planning permission lapses an application for its renewal will not be granted if it is for 
highly vulnerable development within an area of flood risk (Development advice 
zone C2).

Further Minor Change: FFC32 Section: Policy DM5
 Amend wording and numbering of 

Policy DM5
Reason: 
In accordance with the Inspector’s letter date 6/5/2016:
 Opening wording amended to provide a consistent policy terminology.
 Criteria and sub-criteria re-numbered to provide uniform consistency.

Policy DM5 – Flood Prevention Measures and Land Drainage

In addition to the requirements set out in National Guidance, all proposals for 
development proposals must avoid unnecessary flood risk by assessing the 
implications of development proposals within areas susceptible to all types of 
flooding; any development that unacceptably increases risk will be refused.

In addition to this:

1. Proposals near a watercourse or within an area of floodplain must 
comply with the following:

i. In areas identified at risk of flooding (fluvial, tidal, surface water 
and groundwater) or where a watercourse has insufficient 

Page 540



Powys LDP 2011-2026              Deposit Draft with Focussed Changes and Further Focussed 
Changes October 2016

Cyngor Sir Powys County Council                                                                           75

channel capacity, opportunities to improve existing flood risk by 
using Sustainable Drainage Systems (SuDS), wetlands or other 
agreed and appropriate measures are investigated and 
implemented wherever possible.

ii. Where possible, opportunities are taken on previously developed 
land to make space for water by reinstating the functional 
floodplain.

iii. Opportunities to make space for water by undertaking restoration 
and enhancement as part of the development, are identified and 
implemented.

iv. Actions are taken to de-culvert wherever possible. Where this is 
not possible, an assessment of the structural integrity of the 
culvert, with any required remedial work, should be carried out 
prior to the development. A maintenance schedule should be 
developed for all culverts to ensure regular clearance.

v. Any developments located adjacent to a watercourse should 
leave an appropriate undeveloped buffer strip, maintaining the 
watercourse and the immediate riparian zone as an enhancement 
feature and allowing for routine maintenance. The width of any 
buffer strip should be agreed with the relevant authorities on a 
site by site basis. Such sites should have a maintenance strategy 
for clearing and maintaining the channel, with particular regard to 
structures such as trash screens and bridges.

2. Satisfactory provision shall be made for land drainage and Sustainable 
Drainage Systems (SuDS) in all developments. In addition to the 
requirements set out in national guidance, proposals must comply with 
the following:

i. The post development runoff volumes and peak flow rates are 
maintained at either the greenfield rate for greenfield sites or 
deliver a 50% reduction to surface water runoff rates for 
brownfield sites (up to and including the 1 in 100 year event 
inclusive of an appropriate allowance for climate change for both 
development scenarios). 

ii. SuDS are included for all new development; space should be 
integrated or set aside for SuDS and used to inform the overall 
site layout. 

iii. Hardstanding areas are kept to a minimum and infiltration 
techniques and the re-use of water are considered before 
attenuation devices. 

iv. SuDS have a maintenance strategy to ensure they are maintained 
and working efficiently.

Page 541



Powys LDP 2011-2026              Deposit Draft with Focussed Changes and Further Focussed 
Changes October 2016

Cyngor Sir Powys County Council                                                                           76

If SuDS cannot be implemented, a full written justification should be submitted 
explaining why this is the case.

4.2.30 TAN15: Development and Flood Risk, advises that no highly vulnerable 
development will be permitted in development advice zone C2; and that 
development will only be considered in other areas defined to be at high risk of 
flooding in the Development Advice Maps where it can be demonstrated that the site 
can comply with the justification and assessment requirements of TAN15. However 
as the Lead Local Flood Authority - Powys County Council is responsible for 
managing local flood risk from other sources of flooding such as ordinary 
watercourses, surface runoff and groundwater. The Council’s Local Flood Risk 
Management Strategy contains measures and objectives, “To ensure that planning 
decisions are properly informed by flooding issues and the impact future 
development may have on flood risk management and long term developments”. To 
ensure that the LDP assists the Council in fulfilling this role the Strategic Flood 
Consequences Assessment (SFCA) advises that “The vulnerability of the 
development from other sources of flooding should be considered as well as the 
effect of the new development on surface water runoff.”

4.2.31 The policy seeks to implement and reflect the actions identified in the 
relevant River Basin Management Plans and Catchment Flood Management Plans 
together with the recommendations from the LDP’s Strategic Flood Consequences 
Assessment (Stages 1 and 2).

Further Minor Change: FFC33 Section: Paragraph 4.2.31
 Insert new paragraph 4.2.31A

Reason: 
To provide clarity on the application of Policy DM5 in relation to canals, in response 
to Focussed Change representations: 5704.F3, 6402.F2

Insert new paragraph 4.2.31A as follows:

4.2.31A - It is not the intention for this Policy to be applied to canals.

Further Minor Change: FFC34 Section: Paragraph 4.2.32
 Correct date in paragraph 4.2.32

Reason: 
Correction of date, in response to Focussed Change representation 6315.F5.

Correct final sentence of paragraph 4.2.32 as follows:

4.2.32 Proposals near a watercourse or within an area of floodplain need to take 
due consideration of the implications of new development on water courses and 
floodplains and aid the reduction or better management of existing flood risk for 
communities, infrastructure and businesses. Powys is also important as an upstream 
catchment for several major rivers including the Rivers Wye and Severn for water 
storage and alleviating flooding downstream. By including within the policy the 
identification of opportunities to undertake river restoration and enhancement, and to 
make space for water, as part of the development it is proposed that actions such as 
the removal of in-stream obstructions and anthropogenic features, removal of non-

Page 542



Powys LDP 2011-2026              Deposit Draft with Focussed Changes and Further Focussed 
Changes October 2016

Cyngor Sir Powys County Council                                                                           77

native species and the erection of fencing to control access to the river bank could 
potentially be implemented. Further information is found in “TAN 15 – Development 
and Flood Risk” and “The Chief Planning Policy Officers Letter (9th Janurary 2015) 
(9th January 2014) - Planning Policy on Flood Risk and Insurance Industry 
Changes”. 

4.2.33 Sustainable Drainage Systems. The use of SuDS to manage surface 
water flows can be an important tool in minimising flood risk by increasing 
permeable surfaces in an area which allows water to seep into the ground rather 
than running off into the drainage system. The effective use of permeable surfaces, 
soakaways and water storage areas should be incorporated in development where 
technically possible. Schemes for the use of rainwater harvesting (and storage such 
as cisterns) for non-drinking water purposes and/or grey water recycling for toilets 
and other relevant purposes will also be supported. SuDs are not only important for 
the minimisation of flood risk but also have wider benefits for water quality, pollution 
prevention together with recreational and social benefits.

Further Minor Change: FFC35 Section: Paragraph 4.2.34
 Amend wording of paragraph 4.2.34

Reason: 
To provide clarity in response to Focussed Change representation: 78.F9.

Amend wording of Paragraph 4.2.34 as follows:

4.2.34 The Flood and Water Management Act (2010) requires SuDS to be 
incorporated into all construction works that have drainage implications. This 
requirement works alongside the planning system. The Lead Local Flood Authority, 
as SuDS approval body, should be consulted to confirm the appropriate 
requirements and specification of SuDS components that are to be adopted. 
However, this Part (3) of the Act has yet to be implemented in Wales and the SuDS 
policy above is intended to bridge the gap until the Act does come into force.
Appendix 4 of TAN15 provides information and advice about the use and 
implementation of SUDS as part of a proposed development. SPG will also be 
produced to provide further guidance of the use and implementation of SUDS.

Further Focussed Change: FFC36 Section: Policy DM6
 Amend wording and re-number Policy 

DM6.
Reason: 
In accordance with the Inspector’s letter date 6/5/2016:

 Opening wording amended to provide a consistent policy terminology.
 Criteria re-numbered to provide uniform consistency.

In response to Focussed Change representations (5704.F4 & 6323.F3), the word 
“unacceptable” incorporated within criteria 2 and 4 to provide flexibility. 

Amend Policy DM6 as follows:

Policy DM6 – Dark Skies and External Lighting

Page 543



Powys LDP 2011-2026              Deposit Draft with Focussed Changes and Further Focussed 
Changes October 2016

Cyngor Sir Powys County Council                                                                           78

Development proposals involving external lighting will only be permitted when 
a lighting scheme has been provided that demonstrates that the lighting will 
not individually or cumulatively cause:

1. Unacceptable levels of light pollution especially in the countryside.
2. An unacceptable adverse effect on the visibility of the night sky.
3. A nuisance or hazard to highway users including pedestrians, and local 

residents.
4. An unacceptable disturbance to protected species. 

4.2.36 The majority of Powys has some of the darkest skies in the country as 
evidenced from the Wales Tranquil Areas Map (2009). The BBNP has skies of a 
very similar nature and has become the world’s 5th International Dark Sky Reserve. 
Therefore it is imperative that lighting proposals are treated as an important 
consideration with regard to their effect not only on the LDP area but also on the 
BBNP and adjoining areas.

4.2.37 Excessive lighting can lead to sky glow and light trespass which shuts out 
the splendour of Powys’ dark night skies and lighting apparatus can spoil daytime 
views. The intrusiveness of lighting in the countryside should be kept to a minimum, 
whilst each development proposal will be assessed against the need for lighting. 
Applicants should consider whether: the development could proceed without lighting; 
the benefits of lighting outweigh any dis-benefits; and whether there are any 
alternatives to lighting. Having established that lighting is needed, an appraisal of the 
specific lighting requirements of the site should be undertaken so that the lighting 
scheme is designed to integrate with its surroundings. Among the issues that should 
be examined will be the effects of night lighting on dark landscapes, protected 
species, the appearance of lighting structures in daytime, potential impacts on the 
amenity of local residents and effects on the safety of transport users. Lighting can 
also have a detrimental impact on biodiversity and the historic environment. Thought 
needs to be given on how external lighting schemes can avoid potential impacts to 
nocturnal wildlife, particularly protected species, such as bats, otters and badgers. 
Dark wildlife movement corridors should be left, e.g. no external lighting of boundary 
habitat features, wildlife corridors, and watercourses.  

4.2.38 Protected species are a material planning consideration. The way in which 
protected species are considered in the planning process is detailed in TAN5.25 The 
LDP does not repeat this guidance on how to deal with protected species and in this 
instance relies upon national guidance.

Further Focussed Change: FFC37 Section: Policy DM7 and Paragraph 
4.2.39
 Amend and re-number Policy DM7 
 Amend paragraph 4.2.39

Reason: 
Policy DM7
 In accordance with the Inspector’s letter dated 6/5/2016, the criteria and sub-

criteria are re-numbered to provide uniform consistency.

Page 544



Powys LDP 2011-2026              Deposit Draft with Focussed Changes and Further Focussed 
Changes October 2016

Cyngor Sir Powys County Council                                                                           79

 Policy amended in response to Focussed Change representation 1481.F1.
Paragraph 4.2.39
 Updating and grammatical correction.

Amend Policy DM7 and paragraph 4.2.39 as follows:

Policy DM7 - Minerals Safeguarding

Reserves of sand and gravel, limestone, sandstone, igneous rocks and coal 
will be safeguarded as shown on the Proposals Map.

The sterilisation of minerals in a safeguarded area by other forms of 
development will not be permitted unless:

1. The development is temporary and restoration to enable future extraction 
of the mineral is agreed; or 

2. The development is of a very minor nature such as an extension to an 
existing dwelling; or 

3. There is an overriding need in the public interest for the development; or
4. The mineral can be extracted satisfactorily prior to the incompatible 

development taking place 

Mineral Safeguarding Areas have been designated for aggregates and surface 
coal and these are shown on the Proposals Map.

Non-mineral development proposals within Mineral Safeguarding Areas will 
only be permitted where it can be demonstrated by the developer that:

1. The mineral resource is not of potential future value; or
2. The development is of a temporary nature and can be completed and the 

site restored to a condition that would allow for future extraction; or
3. The mineral can be extracted satisfactorily prior to the incompatible 

development taking place; or
4. Extraction would not meet the tests of environmental acceptability or 

community benefit as set out in National Policy; or
5. There is an over-riding need in the public interest for the development; or
6. The development is householder development and / or of a very minor 

nature such as extensions to existing dwellings, fences, walls or bus 
shelters.

4.2.39 Policy DM7 is to ensure that mineral resources are not needlessly sterilised 
by other development, so that they may remain accessible to future generations in 
accordance with MPPW and MTANs. Defining Mineral Safeguarding Areas carries 
no presumption that the mineral resources will be worked, merely that the location of 
the mineral is known. Rather, Mineral Safeguarding Areas should be considered as 
a form of constraint area to ensure that the presence of mineral resources is 
adequately and effectively considered in planning decisions.

4.2.40 The aggregate mineral resources identified for safeguarding on the 
Proposals Map are the Nationally and Regionally Important primary aggregate 

Page 545



Powys LDP 2011-2026              Deposit Draft with Focussed Changes and Further Focussed 
Changes October 2016

Cyngor Sir Powys County Council                                                                           80

mineral resources identified on the Aggregates Safeguarding Map of Wales 
November 2012. Non-aggregates minerals identified on the National Minerals Map 
of Wales 2010 have not been safeguarded with the exception of Coal resources.

4.2.41 Coal resources identified for safeguarding on the Proposals Map are the 
Primary and Secondary Shallow Coal Resources. All primary and secondary coal 
resources are safeguarded outside built up areas. The main coal resource in the 
planning area is in the Upper Swansea Valley around Ystradgynlais. A small area of 
tertiary Coal lies near Coedway in Montgomeryshire.

4.2.42 Satisfactory prior extraction of a mineral resource before incompatible 
development occurs should include extraction within a reasonable timescale and 
without having unacceptable environmental impacts. Proposals to reuse the mineral 
resource (for example sand and gravel) within the proposed development to 
minimise the need to import minerals over long distances would be supported.

Further Minor Change: FFC38 Section: Policy DM8
 Re-number Policy DM8

Reason: 
In accordance with the Inspector’s letter date 6/5/201, the criteria re-numbered to 
provide uniform consistency.

Amend Policy DM8 as follows:

Policy DM8 - Existing Mineral Workings

Buffer zones have been identified around mineral working sites. Within buffer 
zones proposals for new development will only be permitted where it is 
demonstrated that:

1. The development does not sterilise safeguarded mineral resources;
2. The proposal would not constrain the operations of the mineral site; 
3. The proposal would not be unacceptably affected by the mineral extraction 

operations at the site; and
4. The proposal can demonstrate the appropriate mitigation measures.

4.2.43 The minerals sites and buffer zones are shown on the proposals map and 
relevant inset maps. The purpose of buffer zones is two-fold: (i) to protect sensitive 
development from the impacts of mineral operations by ensuring mineral operations 
do not encroach too close to sensitive development; and (ii) to protect mineral 
operations from new sensitive development locating too close and potentially 
impacting on the operator’s capacity to carry out permitted mineral operations 
without causing nuisance. The distances used are a starting point and may be 
refined depending on local environmental considerations at planning application 
stage. The extent of the buffer zone is based on national guidance which is 100m for 
sand and gravel pits, 200m for hard rock quarries and 500m for coal sites.

Further Minor Change: FFC39 Section: Policy DM9
 Amend and re-number Policy DM9

Reason:

Page 546



Powys LDP 2011-2026              Deposit Draft with Focussed Changes and Further Focussed 
Changes October 2016

Cyngor Sir Powys County Council                                                                           81

In accordance with the Inspector’s letter dated 6/5/2016:
 Opening wording amended to provide a consistent policy terminology.
 Criteria re-numbered to provide uniform consistency.

Amend Policy DM9 as follows:

Policy DM9 – Contaminated and Unstable Land

Development proposals on contaminated or unstable land will be permitted 
where they do not:

1. Result in any additional problems of ground instability or contamination 
either on or off site and shall remediate the contamination / instability.

2. Unacceptably adversely affect public health and safety, nature 
conservation, historic or archaeological interests.

4.2.44 Contamination and land instability can present risks to human health, 
property and the environment, and long term limitations on the use of soils. For 
further information and advice refer to PPW Chapter 13. Development proposals will 
be assessed to ensure that any risks from hazards such as subsidence, mine and 
landfill gas and leachate emissions, landslips or rockfalls are acceptable and 
addressed.

4.2.45 Similarly development should not harm the environment through pollution 
or contamination. For instance, petrol interceptors may have to be fitted to storm 
water drains in new estates. Development may offer the opportunity to remediate 
land that is already contaminated. 

4.2.46 Ground instability is often associated with sites that have been the subject 
of waste disposal operations or areas where past mineral workings have taken 
place. Consultation will be undertaken with the Mineral Valuer / Coal Authority on 
appropriate applications lying in the Ystradgynlais area of the South Wales Coalfield 
to assess the extent of risk to the development from former mineral workings.

4.2.47 Responsibility for determining the extent and effects of instability, 
contamination and other risks lies with the developer, who must ensure that land is 
suitable for the development proposed. Once contaminated land has been 
remediated the developer must submit a validation report to the Council confirming 
that the land is no longer contaminated; this will allow the Council’s records to be 
updated.

Further Focussed Change: FFC40 Section: Policy DM10 and paragraph 4.2.48
Delete and replace/re-locate Policy DM10 
and paragraph 4.2.48.

Reason: 
Policy DM10 and paragraph 4.2.48 are deleted and incorporated within a 
replacement Policy DM15 – Design and Resources in accordance with the 
Inspector's letter dated 6/5/16 in order to improve the clarity and the effectiveness of 
the LDP.

Delete policy DM10 and paragraph 4.2.48 as follows.

Page 547



Powys LDP 2011-2026              Deposit Draft with Focussed Changes and Further Focussed 
Changes October 2016

Cyngor Sir Powys County Council                                                                           82

Policy DM10 – Amenities

All proposals for Development proposals will be permitted where the 
amenities enjoyed by the occupants or users of nearby or proposed properties 
shall not be unacceptably affected by levels of noise, dust, air pollution, litter, 
odour, hours of operation, overlooking or any other planning matter.

4.2.48 Development must respect the existence and amenities of neighbouring uses 
including approved development. These amenities include overlooking, light (natural 
and man-made), noise (including that which arises from hours of operation), air 
quality (odour, fumes and dust), and pests (vermin and birds attracted by litter). Key 
determinants of impact are scale of development, proximity, proposed land use and 
the massing of buildings on site. Existing operations and installations should also be 
protected from incompatible sensitive development. For example, operations from 
mineral workings produce noise or dust, and these operations would be prejudiced if 
noise sensitive uses were allowed nearby. 

Further Minor Change: FFC41 Section: Policy DM11
 Amend and re-number Policy DM11.

Reason: 
In accordance with the Inspector’s letter date 6/5/2016:
 Criteria and sub-criteria re-numbered to provide uniform consistency.

Amend Policy DM11’s criteria numbering as follows:

Policy DM11 - Protection of Existing Community Facilities and Services 

The loss of the following existing Community Facilities and Services will only 
be permitted as follows:

1. An existing community or indoor recreation facility where it can be 
demonstrated that: 

i. Appropriate alternative provision is to be made available or the 
potential for continued use is no longer viable; and 

ii. Alternative solutions to support the long term use of the facility for 
the community have been adequately explored. 

2. An existing neighbourhood shop, village shop, public house or service 
where it can be demonstrated that: 

i. The premises have been for sale or vacant for a prolonged period and 
genuine attempts at marketing the existing use during that time have 
been unsuccessful. 

ii. Alternative solutions to support the long-term economic viability of 
the business have been demonstrated to be adequately explored. 

Page 548



Powys LDP 2011-2026              Deposit Draft with Focussed Changes and Further Focussed 
Changes October 2016

Cyngor Sir Powys County Council                                                                           83

4.2.49 Proposals that would result in the loss of community facilities and indoor 
recreation should be justified. Alternative solutions should be considered unless it 
can be proven that continued provision is not economically viable. 

4.2.50 Given their importance, the Council recognises the need to retain existing 
neighbourhood and village shops and services. A flexible approach to the use of 
existing premises can help sustain much needed facilities and it may be appropriate 
for a local village pub to operate as a village shop or sub-post office. This may 
reduce the need for local people to travel long distances in search of essential 
services, and at the same time may provide additional revenue for the business. It 
may also be possible to secure the long-term viability of the business through 
alternative business models such as community ownership. A prolonged period for 
marketing purposes is defined as at least 6 months.

Further Focussed Change: FFC42 Section: Policy DM12
Delete and replace/relocate Policy DM12 
and paragraphs 4.2.51 - 4.2.54

Reason: 
Policy DM12 and paragraphs 4.2.51-4.2.54 are deleted and incorporated within a 
replacement Policy DM15 – Design and Resources in accordance with the 
Inspector's letter dated 6/5/16 in order to improve the clarity and the effectiveness of 
the LDP.

Delete Policy DM12 and paragraph 4.2.51-4.2.54 as follows:

Policy DM12 – Transport Requirements for New Development

Proposals for Development proposals must meet highway access 
requirements and vehicular parking standards and must incorporate the 
access needs of all transport users, especially pedestrians and cyclists and 
those with disabilities or mobility impairment. Proposals considered to 
generate significant amounts of travel or traffic will only be considered where 
they include a satisfactory Transport Assessment and/or a Travel Plan. 

4.2.51 Highway access and parking requirements are important considerations for 
most developments, especially the implications they have for highway safety, the 
environment, local communities and the economy. 

4.2.52 All proposals that the Council considers would generate significant traffic will 
require a Transport Assessment and or a Travel Plan. This process seeks to assess 
the transport implications of new developments, to reduce the reliance on travel by 
private cars and to promote sustainable modes of transport. The need for and scope 
for an Assessment or Travel Plan should be agreed with the Council as early as 
possible in the planning process. 

4.2.53 Where considered appropriate planning obligations may be sought in 
accordance with Policy DM1 – Planning Obligations. Proposals that generate 
significant travel demands will only be permitted where adequate public and other 
sustainable forms of transport are incorporated as part of the proposal and are 
consistent with the role and function of the transport network.

Page 549



Powys LDP 2011-2026              Deposit Draft with Focussed Changes and Further Focussed 
Changes October 2016

Cyngor Sir Powys County Council                                                                           84

4.2.54 Further guidance is provided by PPW, TAN18: Transport, the CSS Wales 
Parking Standards 2008, the Council’s Design Guide for Industrial and Residential 
Infrastructure, Manual for Streets and Manual for Streets II. The Design Manual for 
Roads and Bridges (DMRB) is the relevant standard where developments may 
impact on trunk roads.

Further Focussed Change: FFC43 Section: Policy DM13
 Delete and replace/relocate Policy DM13 

and paragraphs 4.2.55 - 4.2.59
Reason:
Policy DM13 and paragraphs 4.2.55-4.2.59 are deleted and incorporated within a 
replacement Policy DM15 – Design and Resources in accordance with the 
Inspector's letter dated 6/5/16 in order to improve the clarity and the effectiveness of 
the LDP.

Delete Policy DM13 and paragraphs 4.2.55-4.2.59 as follows:

Policy DM13 – Utility Requirements for New Development

Proposals for Development proposals must ensure adequate utility services 
exist or will be provided readily and timely without unacceptable adverse 
effect on the surrounding environment. 

4.2.55 Utility infrastructure encompasses services such as water supply, sewerage 
treatment, electricity and gas supplies, and telecommunications. Responsibility for 
the supply and maintenance of existing services rests with a mix of statutory 
undertakers and private companies. Where possible, developments should be 
connected to the existing infrastructure but in locations where there is no spare 
capacity, future development will be constrained until the capacity is increased or a 
satisfactory alternative can be found. Where off-mains extensions and/or mains 
capacity increases are required to service proposed new development, all works and 
improvements will be provided at the developer’s costs in accordance with Policy 
DM1 – Planning Obligations. In these circumstances, satisfactory arrangements 
should be made between utility companies and the developer for aftercare and 
maintenance of the works. Utility companies have been consulted at an early stage 
in the LDP process and this information has been used to inform the LDP’s 
distribution of housing, employment and other land use allocations. Site specific 
utility issues and constraints are included in the allocations table of this plan (refer to 
Appendix 1). Any matters identified will need addressing as part of the development 
of this land. 

4.2.56 Utility companies serving Powys are encouraged to undertake necessary 
improvements and operational developments throughout the Plan Area. Where the 
Council is consulted on operational works or planning permission is required by 
Council, it will emphasise the need to safeguard and protect both the built and 
natural environment. Utility service improvements such as overhead lines, pipelines 
and telecommunications developments can provide mush needed access to 
broadband coverage for example which is vital to the sustainability of rural 
communities and economies. These developments need to balance service 

Page 550



Powys LDP 2011-2026              Deposit Draft with Focussed Changes and Further Focussed 
Changes October 2016

Cyngor Sir Powys County Council                                                                           85

provision needs with the protection of the environment and are subject to the 
relevant Development Management Polices of this plan. 

4.2.57 PPW requires development plans to consider both the siting requirements of 
utilities to enable them to meet the demands that will be placed upon them, and the 
environmental effects of such additional uses. Further, TAN 19 – 
Telecommunications provides guidance on telecommunications development 
including consultation, environmental and health requirements. All utilities 
development must be in accordance with PPW Chapter 12 – Infrastructure.

4.2.58 In accordance with the Water Industry Act 1991 relevant water companies 
have a duty to provide a wholesome supply of mains water to serve new 
development. Exceptions exist for elevated positions at a height greater than water 
will flow by gravity from the source. However, it is noted that water companies are 
not obliged to make supplies available for non-domestic use. A golf course for 
example will need to use a private water supply for irrigation (which may require 
licencing) as the use of potable water for irrigation will not be supported. If public 
water mains are not available, for example in rural locations, alternative sources and 
their impacts will be considered, but in all cases the Council must be satisfied that 
any source is wholesome and adequate. The Council will also have regard to 
relevant River Basin Management Plans and water supply advice provided by 
Natural Resources Wales. 

4.2.59 All new development should be connected to the public foul sewerage 
system. Development will not be permitted unless foul sewers and sewerage 
treatment works of adequate design and capacity are available or will be provided in 
time to serve the development. This will avoid any risk of polluting the environment. 
Any non mains sewerage proposal must comply with Welsh Circular 10/99 Planning 
Requirement in Respect of the Use of Non-Mains Sewerage incorporating Septic 
Tanks in New Development and demonstrates that the quality of surface and ground 
waters will not be adversely effected (in line with Water Framework Directive 
objectives). 

Further Focussed Change: FFC44 Section: Policy DM14
 Amend Policy DM14 and insert new 

paragraph into the policy.
Reason: 
 Opening sentence amended to provide a consistent policy terminology, in 

accordance with the Inspector’s letter date 6/5/2016. Also minor typing 
correction.

 Reference made to how it is intended to secure the implementation of the 
measures identified in the Language Action Plan.

Amend Policy DM14 as follows:

Policy DM14 - Development in Welsh Speaking Strongholds

Planning Applications Development proposals for 10 or more dwellings in the 
following settlements (as identified on the proposal maps) will be required to 

Page 551



Powys LDP 2011-2026              Deposit Draft with Focussed Changes and Further Focussed 
Changes October 2016

Cyngor Sir Powys County Council                                                                           86

submit a Language Action Plan setting out the measures to be taken to 
protect, promote and enhance Welsh Language and Culture:

Towns Llanfair Caerieinion, Llanfyllin, Machynlleth and 
Ystradgynlais

Large Villages Abercrave, Coelbren, Llanbrynmair, Llangynog, 
Llansantffraid-ym-Mechain, Llansilin, Pontrobert, 
Penybontfawr and Trefeglwys

The implementation of any measures identified within the Language Action 
Plan, as agreed by the Council, shall be secured either by planning conditions 
or, where necessary, by planning obligations. 

4.2.60 Welsh language and culture are important planning considerations in Powys. 
The future of Welsh language and culture will depend on a wide range of factors 
including education, demographic change, community activities and a sound 
economic base to maintain thriving sustainable communities. 

4.2.61 Levels of Welsh language use vary across the county with higher usage 
found in the north-west and south-west. Community Council Areas where more than 
25% of the population speak Welsh (2011 census) are recognised by the plan as 
areas where the Welsh language is a significant part of the social fabric of some or 
all of these communities. It is these areas which have shown the most significant 
decreases in the number of Welsh speakers in recent decades. Welsh language and 
culture in Powys and how to plan for its protection and enhancement is considered 
in detail in the Welsh Language and Culture Topic Paper.

4.2.62 The Sustainability appraisal of the plan included an assessment of the likely 
significant effects of the plan on the use of Welsh language in Powys. In accordance 
with Technical Advice Note 20, the Sustainability Appraisal of the Plan assessed the 
impact of the spatial strategy, policies and allocations on the Welsh language and 
was found to have an overall positive impact. 

4.2.63 In conjunction with the Sustainability Appraisal of the plan a Welsh 
Language Impact Assessment was also undertaken. This assessment forms part of 
the Sustainability Appraisal and was undertaken to help understand the likely 
impacts of new housing development on Welsh speaking communities including 
impacts on the character and linguistic balance of a community associated with new 
housing development. Refer to The Powys Local Development Plan – Welsh 
Language Impact Assessment of Communities in the Upper Swansea Valley (June 
2013) for further information. The assessment concluded that should a development 
proposal be likely to affect a local concentration of Welsh speakers then this would 
need to be assessed and if necessary mitigated using methods identified in the 
assessment.

Further Focussed Change: FFC45 Section: Paragraphs 4.2.64 to 4.2.67
 Amend paragraph 4.2.64
 Insert text in paragraph 4.2.65
 Amend paragraph 4.2.66
 Amend paragraph 4.2.67

Page 552



Powys LDP 2011-2026              Deposit Draft with Focussed Changes and Further Focussed 
Changes October 2016

Cyngor Sir Powys County Council                                                                           87

Reason: 
 Paragraph 4.2.64 – Updating amendment.
 Paragraph 4.2.65 -  To provide clarity as to the tier of settlement to which the 

policy applies
 Paragraph 4.2.66 - Amend supporting justification to DM14 (Reps 6417.F5, 

6417.F6 and 6418.F1) to include additional text in order to refer to the scope 
to consider potential cumulative impacts and to clarify circumstances where 
potential impacts can be considered outside of the Welsh Speaking 
Strongholds. 

 Paragraph 4.2.67 - Clarification as to the implementation of the measures 
identified within the Language Action Plans.

Amend paragraphs 4.2.64 to 4.2.67 as follows:

4.2.64 The Plan supports Welsh language and culture across the entire County by 
being centred on a spatial strategy that guides and distributes development to 
sustainable locations in accordance with its objectives and Strategic Policies  SP1 - 
Settlement Strategy  SP5 and SP6 and by providing policy support for building 
strong local economies, providing appropriate housing provision, distribution and 
choice including affordable housing, and by protecting built heritage and existing 
community facilities and services.

4.2.65 In addition to this county wide policy approach evidence suggests that new 
large housing developments have the potential to affect local concentrations of 
Welsh speakers. The Council therefore considers that new housing development of 
10 or more dwellings in higher tier settlements (towns and large villages) located 
within Community Council areas where more than 25% of the population speak 
Welsh, has the potential to have a detrimental impact on Welsh language and 
culture. 

4.2.66 Housing development proposals in these locations will need to be 
accompanied by a Language Action Plan setting out the measures to be taken to 
protect, promote and enhance the Welsh Language. Consideration will also be given 
to the cumulative impact of proposed developments of less than 10 dwellings, 
together with extant planning permissions and current planning proposals within the 
identified settlements, and those within other smaller settlements within Welsh 
speaking strongholds, where relevant and appropriate.  In exceptional 
circumstances it may be appropriate to require a Language Impact Assessment in 
connection with unanticipated windfalls developments of an exceptionally large scale 
or complex nature in areas outside the identified Welsh Speaking Strongholds.  
Obligations will be sought by agreement with applicants where necessary in 
accordance with Policy DM1 – Planning Obligations.

4.2.67 Details of Language Action Plan requirements and appropriate Welsh 
language and culture mitigation measures will reflect the key findings and 
recommendations of the Welsh Language Impact Assessment and shall be required 
to be implemented by planning conditions or, where necessary, via planning 
obligations.  Further explanation will be provided explained further in Planning 
Obligations – Supplementary Planning Guidance. Examples of appropriate 

Page 553



Powys LDP 2011-2026              Deposit Draft with Focussed Changes and Further Focussed 
Changes October 2016

Cyngor Sir Powys County Council                                                                           88

mitigation measures could include support and funding for Welsh language and 
culture initiatives and projects, or control over phasing of new housing development. 

4.2.68 All advertisements, place names and signage within these settlements must 
be bilingual in order to protect local linguistic character, tradition and promote 
cultural distinctiveness.

Further Focussed Change: FFC46 Section: DM15 - Design and Resources 
Policy 
 Delete DM15 and replace with new 

DM15.
 Amend, revise, replace and/or re-locate 

paragraphs from DM10, DM12, DM13, 
DM16 and H4 to provide reasoned 
justification to new Policy DM15.

Reasons: 
It is proposed that Policy DM15 of the LDP is re-written to amalgamate and 
consolidate the following design related policies into one specific Design and 
Resources Policy: 

 DM16 – Historic Environment
 DM10 – Amenities
 DM12 – Transport requirements for new development
 DM13 - Utility Requirements for New Development
 H14 – Open space provision in housing development

This has then been developed further to reflect the LDP issues and objectives, and 
serves to improve the clarity and the effectiveness of the LDP, in accordance with 
the Inspector’s letter to the Council dated 6/5/2016.

The policies and supporting text for DM10, DM12, DM13, and DM15 as shown in 
the Focussed Changes Schedule January 2016, together with Housing Policy H14 
in the Deposit Draft June 2015 have been retained and re-used wherever possible.

In addition the following changes have been made:

Policy
Criterion 14 – this criterion on sustainable heating has been added to reflect the 
Renewable Energy Assessment (REA) Update 2016.

Supporting Text
Historic Environment - To insert additional text in order to refer to sites and 
features noted within the Historic Environment Record (Response to Rep 27.F1).

Transport – Amendments relating to Focussed Change representations 4786.F1 
and 6422.F1 have been incorporated.

Amenity – Amendments relating to Focussed Change representations 6235.F18 
and 6323.F4 have been incorporated to provide clarity.

Sustainable Energy - In response to the REA Update 2016, insertion of text to 

Page 554



Powys LDP 2011-2026              Deposit Draft with Focussed Changes and Further Focussed 
Changes October 2016

Cyngor Sir Powys County Council                                                                           89

clarify the concept of ‘Heat Demand Density’, the terms CHP and CCHP, and the 
term ‘Building Integrated Renewables’. 

Replace policy DM15 paragraphs 4.2.69 to 4.2.72 as follows: 

Policy DM15 – Design and Resources

The design, layout size, scale, mass and materials of all new development 
shall:

1. Complement and where possible enhance the character of the surrounding 
area and support community safety and crime prevention;

2. Include adequate amenity and / or open space, as appropriate; and
3. Demonstrate a sustainable and an efficient use of resources by including 

measures to achieve: 
i. Energy conservation and efficiency.

ii. The supply of electricity and heat from renewable sources.
iii. Water conservation and efficiency.
iv. Waste reduction. 

4.2.69 The appearance of a development, its scale and its relationship to its 
surroundings are key considerations when determining a planning application. Early 
consideration of design, well in advance of any planning application, is essential to 
achieving good design. TAN12 provides further guidance.

4.2.70 A design process should comprise the following stages:

Site appraisal - This will include looking at the topography, landscape, built form, 
aspect, views into and out of the site, access, neighbouring uses and microclimate. 
All of these key issues will inform the scale, density, orientation, layout, height, 
accessibility, design and massing of the new development.

Concept plan - Using the site appraisal, a concept plan should be drawn up as a 
draft annotated layout of the proposed development. Designing out crime and 
energy efficiency principles should also be considered at this stage. The concept 
plan can be used for pre-application discussions with stakeholders.

Detailed plans, drawings and design statements - After the above stages, 
detailed drawings can then be drawn up together with a design statement and 
submitted to the Council for consideration.

4.2.71 The development design should include the following elements:
 It should complement its environs and contribute positively to the character (local 

distinctiveness and sense of place).
 It should provide natural surveillance over publically accessible open space to 

encourage opportunities for play and to deter criminal activity.
 Important trees, hedgerows, stone walls, open spaces and other local features 

that contribute significantly to the biodiversity and quality and character of the 
local environment shall be safeguarded and, where practicable, enhanced.

Page 555



Powys LDP 2011-2026              Deposit Draft with Focussed Changes and Further Focussed 
Changes October 2016

Cyngor Sir Powys County Council                                                                           90

 It should maintain the character and quality of the landscape and must be 
integrated into the landscape through planting and appropriate management of 
native species, or through the construction of boundaries and entrances which 
complement and enhance the character of the locality. 

 The choice of materials must balance utility with appearance and cost. 
 The development should incorporate an area(s) for passive, informal recreation 

appropriate to the scale and type of the proposal. Policy H14 requires open 
space to be considered as part of housing developments. This could include 
allotments and community growing spaces. The Open Space Assessment 
identifies existing provision for the different categories of open space for towns 
and large villages. Where there is an existing shortfall in provision, there will be a 
need to make the required provision for that particular category. Where there are 
multiple deficiencies, an assessment will be made as to which categories will be 
prioritised. The long term aftercare and maintenance of open spaces requires full 
consideration. Due to the current economic climate the County Council is unable 
to take on this role and it should not be assumed that the local Community 
Council will take on the responsibility. Options such as residents associations 
with the Community Councils backing should be explored. Further details on the 
approach to be taken in relation to Open Space will be given in Supplementary 
Planning Guidance (SPG). 

4.2.72 All development must be located and designed to contribute to the 
achievement of sustainable development and climate change mitigation by 
demonstrating sustainable and efficient use of resources. This can be achieved by 
incorporating: 

 Energy conservation and efficiency.
 The supply of electricity/ heat from renewable and low carbon sources e.g. Solar 

panels, Solar Water Heating, Heat Pumps or Biomass (wood / pellet).
 Water conservation and efficiency.
 Waste reduction through re-use and recycling e.g. materials recovered from the 

site should be re-used.
 Layouts designed to achieve passive solar gain.
 Planting and landscaping schemes which support pollinators (bees) and provide 

food. 

Policy DM15 – Design and Resources

Development proposals must be able to demonstrate a good quality design 
and shall have regard to the qualities and amenity of the surrounding area, 
local infrastructure and resources.

Proposals will only be permitted where all of the following criteria, where 
relevant, are satisfied:

1. Development shall be designed to complement and/or enhance the 
character of the surrounding area in terms of siting, appearance, scale, 
height, massing, and design detailing.

2. Development shall contribute towards the preservation of local 
distinctiveness and sense of place.

Page 556



Powys LDP 2011-2026              Deposit Draft with Focussed Changes and Further Focussed 
Changes October 2016

Cyngor Sir Powys County Council                                                                           91

3. Development within or affecting the setting and/or significant views into 
and out of Conservation Areas shall be designed in accordance with any 
relevant adopted Conservation Area Character Appraisals, or any other 
relevant detailed assessment or guidance adopted by the Council.

4. Development shall be designed to incorporate and /or enhance any locally 
significant non-designated heritage assets.

5. The layout of development creates attractive, safe places, supporting 
community safety and crime prevention.

6. It contains an appropriate mix of development that responds to local need, 
includes a flexibility in design to allow changes in use of subsequent 
buildings and spaces as requirements and circumstances change.

7. It is inclusive to all, making full provision for people with disabilities.
8. It incorporates adequate amenity land, together with appropriate 

landscaping and planting.
9. For housing development proposals of ten dwellings or more, it includes 

provision for open space (subject to viability): 

i. The type of open space should be determined by the deficiencies 
identified in the Open Space Assessment for that area and may be 
provided on or off site depending on what is considered most 
appropriate. 

ii. Arrangements must be in place for the long term aftercare and 
maintenance of the open space. 

iii. In some instances it may be more appropriate for developer 
contributions of the equivalent value to be paid for the 
improvement of existing provision. 

10. It meets all highway access requirements and vehicular parking standards 
and incorporates the access needs of all transport users, especially 
pedestrians and cyclists and those with disabilities or mobility impairment. 
Proposals considered to generate significant amounts of travel or traffic 
will only be considered where they include a satisfactory Transport 
Assessment and/or a Travel Plan.

11.The amenities enjoyed by the occupants or users of nearby or proposed 
properties shall not be unacceptably affected by levels of noise, dust, air 
pollution, litter, odour, hours of operation, overlooking or any other 
planning matter.

12.Adequate utility services exist or will be provided readily and timely without 
unacceptable adverse effect on the surrounding environment.  

13. It demonstrates a sustainable and efficient use of resources by including 
measures to achieve:  

i. Energy conservation and efficiency.
ii. The supply of electricity and heat from renewable sources.
iii. Water conservation and efficiency.
iv. Waste reduction.

Page 557



Powys LDP 2011-2026              Deposit Draft with Focussed Changes and Further Focussed 
Changes October 2016

Cyngor Sir Powys County Council                                                                           92

14. Investigations have been undertaken into the technical feasibility and 
financial viability of community and/or district heating networks wherever 
the development proposal’s Heat Demand Density exceeds 3MW/Km2. The 
list below represents the main options to be considered in descending 
order of preference:

i. Connection to existing Combined Heat and Power (CHP) / 
Combined Cooling Heat and Power (CCHP) distribution networks.

ii. Site wide renewable (and part renewable) CHP/CCHP and biomass 
(locally sourced) solutions.

iii. Site wide gas-fired CHP/CCHP.
iv. Site wide renewable (and part renewable) community heating / 

cooling and biomass (locally sourced) solutions. 
v. Site wide gas-fired community heating / cooling.

vi. Individual building integrated renewable energy heating 
technology (non-domestic buildings only).

4.2.69A The appearance of a development, its scale and its relationship to its 
surroundings are key considerations when determining a planning application. Early 
consideration of design, well in advance of any planning application, is essential to 
achieving good design. TAN12 provides further guidance. 

4.2.70A  A design process should comprise the following stages: 

Site appraisal - This will include looking at the topography, landscape, built form, 
aspect, views into and out of the site, access, neighbouring uses and microclimate. 
All of these key issues will inform the scale, density, orientation, layout, height, 
accessibility, design and massing of the new development. 

Concept plan - Using the site appraisal, a concept plan should be drawn up as a 
draft annotated layout of the proposed development. Designing out crime and 
designing in energy efficiency principles should also be considered at this stage. The 
concept plan can be used for pre-application discussions with stakeholders. 

Detailed plans, drawings and design statements - After the above stages, 
detailed drawings can then be drawn up together with a design statement and 
submitted to the Council for consideration. 

4.2.71A The development design should include the following elements: 

 It should complement its environs and contribute positively to the character 
(local distinctiveness and sense of place). 

 It should provide natural surveillance over publicly accessible open space to 
encourage opportunities for play and to deter criminal activity. 

 Important trees, hedgerows, stone walls, open spaces and other local 
features that contribute significantly to the biodiversity and quality and 
character of the local environment shall be safeguarded and, where 
practicable, enhanced. 

 It should maintain the character and quality of the landscape and must be 
integrated into the landscape through planting and appropriate management 

Page 558



Powys LDP 2011-2026              Deposit Draft with Focussed Changes and Further Focussed 
Changes October 2016

Cyngor Sir Powys County Council                                                                           93

of native species, or through the construction of boundaries and entrances 
which complement and enhance the character of the locality.  

 The needs of biodiversity should be considered through the incorporation of 
measures to encourage it, such as swift nesting bricks, bat and other wildlife 
access points in buildings and boundary fences, and native planting schemes 
that support pollinators and provide food.

 The choice of materials must balance utility with appearance and cost.  

4.2.72A Local Distinctiveness. The Council also aims to promote and reinforce 
local distinctiveness within Powys.  Proposals will be expected to be designed to 
respect and enhance the local distinctiveness of the area, particularly within areas 
recognised for their landscape, townscape or historic value, and areas where there 
is an established and distinctive design character.  This can be achieved through 
promoting sensitive and innovative design approaches, paying particular attention to 
local building materials and methods, and to the proportions and layout of historic 
buildings and features within the local context.  Further guidance and definition 
around local distinctiveness in Powys in relation to residential development is to be 
provided within an SPG.

4.2.72B Historic Environment. The Council’s objectives in respect of the historic 
environment are to safeguard the cultural integrity of the historic settlements and 
buildings within the Plan area and to encourage the enhancement of the historic 
environment. The County’s historic sites, features, townscapes and landscapes 
should be treated as assets, and should be positively conserved and enhanced for 
the benefit of residents and visitors alike.  

4.2.72C Many elements of the County’s historic environment are protected through 
national legislation and guidance, including Listed Buildings, Conservation Areas, 
and Scheduled Ancient Monuments, and as such do not require specific policies in 
the LDP. Developments within Conservation Areas are to be judged on their effect 
on the character and appearance of the area, in accordance with national policy.  
However, significant weight shall also be given to any detailed assessment 
documents, such as Conservation Area Appraisals, that the Council adopt. Further 
guidance is also to be prepared as part of an SPG in order to provide generic 
guidance on assessment of character and appropriate forms of development within 
Conservation Areas where a specific Conservation Area Appraisal is not in place.

4.2.72D The Council expects all development proposals to plan positively for all 
aspects of the historic environment, whether those areas or features are statutorily 
protected or not, including non-designated assets such as historic assets of local 
interest.  Examples of local that are considered to be valuable in terms of their 
contribution to the rural and urban heritage and culture of Powys include vernacular 
farmhouses, country estate tenant’s housing, mining and mill worker’s housing, 
buildings and structures associated with historical transport routes and the Victorian 
architecture of the County’s former Spa towns. Regard should also be given to the 
information held on the Historic Environment Record in order to identify local 
features or areas that may be effected by proposals.  Supplementary Planning 
Guidance will be prepared in relation to these non-designated aspects of the historic 
environment following adoption of the LDP. 

Page 559



Powys LDP 2011-2026              Deposit Draft with Focussed Changes and Further Focussed 
Changes October 2016

Cyngor Sir Powys County Council                                                                           94

4.2.72E Open space. All development proposals should incorporate an area(s) for 
passive, informal recreation appropriate to the scale and type of the proposal. For 
housing developments of ten or more dwellings further provision should be provided. 
The Council’s Open Space Assessment identifies existing provision for the different 
categories of open space for towns and large villages. Where there is an existing 
shortfall in provision, there will be a need to make up the required provision for that 
particular category. Where there are multiple deficiencies, an assessment will be 
made as to which categories will be prioritised.  

4.2.72F Developments of more than ten dwellings that are not in towns or large 
villages the responsibility will fall with the applicant to carry out the assessment in 
line with the standards used in the Open Space Assessment. 

4.2.72G Allotments and community growing spaces are important green spaces 
whose cultivation can contribute to sustainability, providing opportunities for leisure, 
exercise and healthy food whilst also encouraging interaction between different 
sections of the community. Allotments have been included within the Open Space 
Assessment and may be of particular value in areas of high density housing; 
attention will also be paid to the allotment waiting lists in those areas. The long term 
aftercare and maintenance of open spaces requires full consideration. Due to the 
current economic climate the County Council is unable to take on this role and it 
should not be assumed that the local Community Council will take on the 
responsibility. Options such as a residents association with the Community Council’s 
backing should be explored. 

4.2.72H All open space proposals should take into consideration cycling and 
pedestrian, including the disabled, access routes on to the site, how the area relates 
to existing housing development and the rights of way network. Where contributions 
are being made towards existing provision there may be opportunities for 
improvement. In some instances there may be opportunities to combine areas 
required for open space with other planning requirements such as for biodiversity or 
drainage. Discussions early on in the pre-application stage would enable this to take 
place so that the most appropriate area for open space can be identified within the 
site boundary.  Further details on the approach to be taken in relation to Open 
Space will be given in Supplementary Planning Guidance (SPG). 

4.2.72J Transport requirements. Highway access and parking requirements are 
important considerations for most developments, especially the implications they 
have for highway safety, the environment, local communities and the economy.  All 
proposals that the Council considers would generate significant traffic will require a 
Transport Assessment and/ or a Travel Plan. This process seeks to assess the 
transport implications of new developments, to reduce the reliance on travel by 
private cars and to promote sustainable modes of transport. The need for and scope 
for an Assessment or Travel Plan should be agreed with the Council as early as 
possible in the planning process.

4.2.72K Where considered appropriate planning obligations may be sought in 
accordance with Policy DM1 – Planning Obligations. Proposals that generate 
significant travel demands will only be permitted where adequate public and other 

Page 560



Powys LDP 2011-2026              Deposit Draft with Focussed Changes and Further Focussed 
Changes October 2016

Cyngor Sir Powys County Council                                                                           95

sustainable forms of transport are incorporated as part of the proposal and are 
consistent with the role and function of the transport network.

4.2.72L Further guidance is provided by PPW, TAN18: Transport, the CSS Wales 
Parking Standards 2008, the Council’s Design Guide for Industrial and Residential 
Infrastructure, Manual for Streets and Manual for Streets II. The Design Manual for 
Roads and Bridges (DMRB) is the relevant standard where developments may 
impact on trunk roads. 

4.2.72M Amenities. Development must respect the existence and amenities of 
neighbouring uses including approved development. These amenities include 
privacy (affected by overlooking), light (natural and man-made), noise (including that 
which arises from hours of operation), air quality (odour, fumes and dust), and pests 
(vermin and birds attracted by litter). Key determinants of impact are scale of 
development, proximity, proposed land use and the massing of buildings on site. 
Existing operations and installations should also be protected from incompatible 
sensitive development. For example, operations from mineral workings produce 
noise or dust, and these operations would be prejudiced if noise sensitive uses were 
allowed nearby.  The reference given to ‘nearby or proposed properties‘ in the policy 
means residential properties which lawfully exist or have planning permission.

4.2.72N Utilities. Utility infrastructure encompasses services such as water supply, 
sewerage treatment, electricity and gas and heat supplies, and telecommunications. 
Responsibility for the supply and maintenance of existing services rests with a mix of 
statutory undertakers and private companies. Where possible, practical and not an 
undue burden, particularly likely to be the case where there exists little or no 
infrastructure or spare grid capacity, developments should utilise sustainable, low 
and zero carbon energy technologies. Where this is not possible, developments 
should be connected to the existing infrastructure but in locations where there is no 
spare capacity, future development will be constrained until the capacity is increased 
or a satisfactory alternative can be found. 

4.2.72P Where off-mains extensions and/or mains capacity increases are required to 
service proposed new development, all works and improvements will be provided at 
the developer’s costs in accordance with Policy DM1 – Planning Obligations. In 
these circumstances, satisfactory arrangements should be made between utility 
companies, Energy Services Companies (ESCOs) and the developer for aftercare 
and maintenance of the works. Site specific utility issues and constraints are 
included in the allocations table of this plan (refer to Appendix 1) and presented on 
maps within the Renewable Energy Assessment (2016). 

4.2.72Q Utility companies serving Powys are encouraged to undertake necessary 
improvements and operational developments throughout the Plan Area. Where the 
Council is consulted on operational works or planning permission is required by 
Council, it will emphasise the need to safeguard and protect both the built and 
natural environment. Utility service improvements such as overhead lines, pipelines 
and telecommunications developments can provide much needed access to 
broadband coverage for example which is vital to the sustainability of rural 
communities and economies. These developments need to balance service 

Page 561



Powys LDP 2011-2026              Deposit Draft with Focussed Changes and Further Focussed 
Changes October 2016

Cyngor Sir Powys County Council                                                                           96

provision needs with the protection of the environment and are subject to the 
relevant Development Management Polices of this plan.

4.2.72R PPW requires development plans to consider both the siting requirements 
of utilities to enable them to meet the demands that will be placed upon them, and 
the environmental effects of such additional uses. Further, TAN 19 – 
Telecommunications provides guidance on telecommunications development 
including consultation, environmental and health requirements. All utilities 
development must be in accordance with PPW Chapter 12 – Infrastructure, all 
relevant LDP policies and SPG. 

4.2.72S In accordance with the Water Industry Act 1991 relevant water companies 
have a duty to provide a wholesome supply of mains water to serve new 
development. Exceptions exist for elevated positions at a height greater than water 
will flow by gravity from the source. However, it is noted that water companies are 
not obliged to make supplies available for non-domestic use. A golf course for 
example will need to use a private water supply for irrigation (which may require 
licencing) as the use of potable water for irrigation will not be supported. If public 
water mains are not available, for example in rural locations, alternative sources and 
their impacts will be considered, but in all cases the Council must be satisfied that 
any source is wholesome and adequate. The Council will also have regard to 
relevant River Basin Management Plans and water supply advice provided by 
Natural Resources Wales. 

4.2.72T All new development should be connected to the public foul sewerage 
system. Development will not be permitted unless foul sewers and sewerage 
treatment works of adequate design and capacity are available or will be provided in 
time to serve the development. This will avoid any risk of polluting the environment. 
Any non mains sewerage proposal must comply with Welsh Circular 10/99 Planning 
Requirement in Respect of the Use of Non-Mains Sewerage incorporating Septic 
Tanks in New Development and demonstrates that the quality of surface and ground 
waters will not be adversely affected (in line with Water Framework Directive 
objectives). 

4.2.72U Sustainable energy and resources. All development must be located and 
designed to contribute to the achievement of sustainable development and climate 
change mitigation by demonstrating sustainable and efficient use of resources. This 
can be achieved by incorporating:  

 Energy conservation and efficiency. 
 The supply of electricity and or heat from renewable and low carbon sources 

e.g. Building mounted Solar PV or water heating panels, Heat Pumps, 
Biomass (wood, pellet, etc.) or other appropriate renewable, low or zero 
carbon technologies. 

 Water conservation and efficiency, which may include use of grey water 
plumbing systems and sustainable drainage schemes (SuDS). 

 Waste reduction through re-use and recycling e.g. materials recovered from 
the site should be re-used. 

 Layouts designed to achieve passive solar gain.

Page 562



Powys LDP 2011-2026              Deposit Draft with Focussed Changes and Further Focussed 
Changes October 2016

Cyngor Sir Powys County Council                                                                           97

4.2.72V Heat Demand Density is the level of demand (measured in kilowatts or 
megawatts) for heat and domestic hot water from generating plant that is located 
within a pre-defined area (metres2/kilometres2). For assessing heat demand density, 
developers should follow the quick calculation method as set out in the Renewable 
Energy SPG which is based on utilising benchmark consumption figures.

4.2.72W Combined Heat and Power (CHP), and Combined Cooling Heat and Power 
(CCHP) plants are facilities that, as their name indicates, produce heat and 
electricity for a particular site or building that would justify such an approach. A 
cooling function is also included in the case of CCHP. CHPs and CCHP are most 
often to be found in places such as schools, hospitals, leisure centres and residential 
care homes, as well as many commercial settings. 

4.2.72X Building Integrated Renewables (BIR) are taken in the Renewable Energy 
Toolkit (2015) to include, in the context of heat generation, solar hot water panels, 
micro-scale biomass heating (such as wood-chip or pellet boilers and stoves), as 
well as ground and air source heat pumps.

Further Focussed Change: FFC47 Section: DM15A – Air Quality Management 
Policy and Supporting Text
 Insert new policy DM15A and supporting 

text.
Reasons: 
 Insert a new policy and supporting text for Air Quality Management.
 This has then been developed to reflect the LDP issues and objectives, and 

serves to improve the clarity and the effectiveness of the LDP, in accordance 
with the Inspector’s letter dated 6/5/2016.

Insert new Policy on air quality management as follows:

Policy DM15A – Air Quality Management

Development proposals will only be permitted where any resultant air pollution 
does not cause or lead to an unacceptable risk of harm to human health or the 
natural environment.

Proposals will need to demonstrate that measures can be taken to overcome 
any significant adverse risk, with particular attention being paid to:

1. National Air Quality Strategy objectives and any Air Quality Management 
Areas.

2. The critical levels for the protection of habitats and species within a 
European Protected Site or Site of Special Scientific Interest in 
accordance with Policy DM2.

4.2.7Y Air pollution can cause significant damage to human health and the 
environment. This policy is intended to ensure that proposed developments will not 
intensify existing problems, cause new problems or result in more people being 
exposed to unacceptable levels of air pollution. 

Page 563



Powys LDP 2011-2026              Deposit Draft with Focussed Changes and Further Focussed 
Changes October 2016

Cyngor Sir Powys County Council                                                                           98

4.2.7Z The UK Air Quality Strategy (2007) sets out the standards (concentrations 
of pollutants in the atmosphere which can broadly be taken to achieve a certain level 
of environmental quality) and objectives (policy targets not to be exceeded). The 
Strategy is available for download on the DEFRA website. Where appropriate, 
developers should have regard to its content. 

4.2.7.AA  Whilst air quality within Powys is good in general there is one 
designated Air Quality Management Area (AQMA) in Newtown centred on New 
Road. Here, the levels of Nitrogen Oxide (NO2) exceeded the objective level set out 
in the UK Air Quality Strategy. Since the designation of the AQMA in 2007 the levels 
of Nitrogen Oxide have fallen and are expected to do so particularly following the 
completion of the Newtown bypass in 2018. However, where it is considered that a 
development proposal may impact upon the AQMA, whilst it remains in place, or 
exacerbate an existing problem, developers will be required to provide an 
assessment of air quality impact, together with proposals for mitigation. 

4.2.7BB The Topic Paper Environment – Pollution and Flooding (2015), 
identified that current levels of diffuse air pollution are having an adverse impact on 
the European sites across the County. It highlighted that sites in the region are 
already at risk of suffering adverse effects from diffuse air pollution as they exceed 
critical loads for some pollutants. Some pollutants are generated locally such as 
ammonia from agricultural units and fertilisers. 

4.2.7CC Emissions from large scale agricultural units can result in local 
hotspots of high ammonia concentrations and nitrogen deposition around 
installations. It should be noted that this occurs against a background of high 
nitrogen deposition across the county. Natural Resources Wales has published 
interim casework internal guidance on Livestock Production which advises how 
developers should consider the impacts of such development on sites of 
International and National importance for biodiversity using the Simple Calculation of 
Ammonia Impact Limits (SCAIL) tool (http://www.scail.ceh.ac.uk/). Developers are 
expected to liaise with Natural Resources Wales with regards to when the tool 
should be used and for advice on its implementation. Where a proposal is identified 
as having a potential adverse impact on National and / or International sites, the 
Council will require consideration and implementation of proposals which move 
towards a ‘pollution neutral’ approach. This represents a means through which 
development may be allowed, whilst ensuring pollution does not damage the 
integrity of the National and / or International sites and their ability to support the 
features for which they are designated. This ensures compliance with the new 
enhanced biodiversity duties under S6 Environment (Wales) Act 2016, EIA Schedule 
2 and Sustainable Management of Natural Resources.

Further Focussed Change: FFC48 Section: Policy DM16
 Delete policy DM16

Reasons: 
Delete Policy DM16 in accordance with the Inspector’s letter to the Council dated 
6/5/2016 because it repeats the requirements of national planning policy.  Matters 
relating to local distinctiveness and local heritage assets are included within 
proposed policy DM15 above. 

Page 564

http://www.scail.ceh.ac.uk/


Powys LDP 2011-2026              Deposit Draft with Focussed Changes and Further Focussed 
Changes October 2016

Cyngor Sir Powys County Council                                                                           99

Delete Policy DM16 as follows:

Policy DM16 - Protection and Enhancement of the Historic Environment

Development proposals which impact upon the following historic environment 
features shall protect, preserve and/or enhance those features and contribute 
to preserving local distinctiveness and sense of place and shall meet the 
following criteria: 

1. Development proposals must not unacceptably adversely affect, either 
on their own or in combination with existing or approved development, the 
following sites and features, including their essential settings and significant 
views into and out from:

i. Scheduled Ancient Monuments. 
ii. Listed Buildings.

iii. Conservation Areas. 
iv. Registered Parks and Gardens of Special Historic Interest. 
v. Historic Battlefields. 

vi. Registered Landscapes of Outstanding and Special Historic 
Interest.

Proposals relating to, or affecting, the above sites and features of the historic 
environment will be assessed in accordance with national guidance and 
legislation. Proposals should also have regard to other non-designated 
heritage assets of significance, including any locally listed buildings, and their 
settings.

2. Proposals within or affecting important areas of the historic 
environment shall be designed to integrate with the surrounding area and 
shall reflect the locally distinctive architectural and historical identity and 
qualities of the area.

4.2.73 This policy addresses LDP Key Issues 14 and 15 and Objective 13.  The 
historic environment forms an important part of the County’s unique character.  
Heritage assets are valuable non-renewable resources which are essential for 
education, leisure and the economy.  As well as adding to the quality of the 
environment for local people, the historic environment of the County creates a 
significant attraction for tourists and inward investors and therefore makes a 
valuable contribution to the local economy.  

4.2.74 The Council’s objectives in respect of the historic environment are to 
safeguard the cultural integrity of the historic settlements and buildings within the 
Plan area and to encourage the enhancement of the historic environment. The 
County’s historic sites, features, townscapes and landscapes should be treated as 
assets, and should be positively conserved and enhanced for the benefit of residents 
and visitors alike. 

4.2.75 Many elements of the County’s historic environment are protected through 
national legislation and guidance, and as such do not require specific policies in the 
LDP.  The Council expects all development proposals to plan positively for all 

Page 565



Powys LDP 2011-2026              Deposit Draft with Focussed Changes and Further Focussed 
Changes October 2016

Cyngor Sir Powys County Council                                                                           100

aspects of the historic environment, whether statutorily protected or not, including 
non-designated assets such as locally listed buildings, and regard should also be 
given to the information held on the Historic Environment Record. Supplementary 
Planning Guidance will be prepared in relation to these non-designated aspects of 
the historic environment following adoption of the LDP.

4.2.76 The Council also aims to promote and reinforce local distinctiveness within 
Powys.  Proposals will be expected to be designed to respect and enhance the local 
distinctiveness of the area, particularly within areas recognised for their landscape, 
townscape or historic value, and areas where there is an established and distinctive 
design character.  This can be achieved through promoting sensitive and innovative 
design approaches, paying particular attention to local building materials and 
methods, and to the proportions and layout of historic buildings and features within 
the local context. 

Further Minor Change: FFC49 Section: Policy DM17
 Amend criterion 2.

Reason: 

Cross reference in criterion 2 amendment as proposed in FFC52 & FFC53 that 
Table E1 is incorporated within Policy E1 & E3.

Amend criterion 2 as follows:

Policy DM17 - Protection of Existing Employment Sites 

The loss of existing sites and buildings in economic use will only be permitted 
if the proposed use would not:

1. Prejudice the use of surrounding employment sites / buildings; and / or 
2. Lead to an under provision of employment use within the sub / local area 

as identified in the Employment Needs Assessment or Table Policy E1 and 
Policy E3 of the LDP.

4.2.77 The LDP seeks to ensure an appropriate supply of employment land and 
buildings across the Plan area to ensure that the economic needs of the County are 
addressed. However, there can be pressure to release employment land and 
buildings to other uses that provide higher land values such as residential or retail 
uses. Employment land and buildings must be retained unless it can be 
demonstrated that the loss of the land or buildings does not prejudice the ability of 
the sub / local area to meet local employment needs. In addition, the loss of an 
employment site will be resisted where it would have a detrimental impact on the 
settlement’s role in the settlement hierarchy. Further policy and guidance on the 
retention and release of existing employment sites is contained within national 
guidance Technical Advice Note 23, (Para 4.6). 

Further Focussed Change: FFC50 Section: Section 4.3 and Policy L1 
 Delete section 4.3 and Policy L1

Page 566



Powys LDP 2011-2026              Deposit Draft with Focussed Changes and Further Focussed 
Changes October 2016

Cyngor Sir Powys County Council                                                                           101

Reasons: 
Delete Section 4.3 and Policy L1 in accordance with the Inspector’s letter dated 
6/5/2016 because the policy repeats the requirements of national planning policy. 
Buildings at risk also fall outside scope of the policies of the Powys Local 
Development Plan and are covered under other planning legislation and 
strategies.

Delete section 4.3 and Policy L1 as follows:

4.3 Listed Buildings ® 34.32

4.3.1 There are two main consenting processes for development involving a listed 
building: listed building consent and planning permission. Often applications for both 
run alongside each other. National legislation and guidance including The Planning 
(Listed Buildings and Conservation Areas) Act 1990, Welsh Office Circular 61/96, 
Planing Policy Wales and any subsequent legislation and guidance must in all cases 
be taken into account when determining either a listed building application or 
development affecting the setting of a listed building. The considerations for whether 
to approve listed building consent are set out in the Act, which states, “In considering 
whether to grant listed building consent for any works the LPA shall have special 
regard to the desirability of preserving the building or its setting or any features of 
special architectural or historic interest which it possesses.” The following policy 
relates only to planning applications, as applications for listed building consent 
should be assessed against legislation and national guidance.

Policy L1 – Works to a Listed Building ® 34.33

Proposals to undertake works to a listed building will be permitted where:

1. The works preserve the building’s setting and features of special 
architectural or historic interest and support its long term maintenance 
and condition; or

2. The listed building is identified as being ‘at risk’ (Category 1 to 3), any 
adverse impacts to its setting or features of special architectural or 
historic interest are kept to the minimum necessary to remove its ‘at risk’ 
status. 

4.3.2 The special character of the listed buildings in Powys must be preserved. The 
most effective way to secure the long-term repair of the County’s listed buildings is 
to keep them in use and well maintained. In 2014, 22% of these buildings (861) were 
identified as Buildings at Risk on the Buildings at Risk database and therefore 
vulnerable. 7% (274) fell within the top three categories of risk (1. Extreme Risk, 2. 
Grave Risk, 3. Risk) and are of particular concern to the Council.

4.3.3 Criterion 1 seeks to safeguard listed buildings from demolition and from 
alterations, or extensions that would compromise a building’s setting and special 
architectural and historic interest.

4.3.4 Criterion 2 aims to reduce the number of ‘at risk’ buildings by accepting works 
which may potentially have an impact on a building’s character can, by introducing a 

Page 567

https://secure.powys.gov.uk/ldp_representations/viewreps.php?LDPDocNo=34&LDPRefPointNo=32&L=0
https://secure.powys.gov.uk/ldp_representations/viewreps.php?LDPDocNo=34&LDPRefPointNo=33&L=0


Powys LDP 2011-2026              Deposit Draft with Focussed Changes and Further Focussed 
Changes October 2016

Cyngor Sir Powys County Council                                                                           102

new use, help to maintain the fabric of a building. If undertaken sensitively such 
works can help meet the overall objective of removing the ‘at risk’ status from a 
building. ® 34.34

Page 568

https://secure.powys.gov.uk/ldp_representations/viewreps.php?LDPDocNo=34&LDPRefPointNo=34&L=0


Powys LDP 2011-2026              Deposit Draft with Focussed Changes and Further Focussed 
Changes October 2016

Cyngor Sir Powys County Council                                                                           103

Further Minor Change: FFC51 Section: Section 4.4
 Insert new heading

Reason: 
To distinguish more clearly between the Development Management and the Topic 
based sections to provide more clarity in the structure of the LDP in accordance 
with the Inspector's letter dated 6/5/2016.

Insert new title as follows:

4.4A Topic Policies

4.4 Economic Development ® 34.35  

4.4.1 The following section deals primarily with traditional employment land uses 
(B1, B2 and B8 use classes). Other economic sectors such as tourism, energy and 
retail uses are included within separate sections of the Plan. The LDP provides 
opportunity for all scales of employment uses. Employment development proposals 
on all sites should seek to reflect the character of the towns, villages and countryside 
settings in which they are located and will be considered against the relevant 
policies in the LDP.

Further Focussed Change: FFC52 Section: Policy E1, paragraph 4.4.1A
 Insert Table E1.
 Re-locate introductory text to new 

paragraph 4.4.1A.
 Delete first paragraph of Policy E1 and 

re-locate.
Reason: 
 Division of and incorporation of the employment site allocation table E1 into 

Policies E1 and E3 to provide clarity and certainty, in accordance with the 
Inspector’s letter dated 6/5/2016. In so doing, the introductory text to Table E1 
has been re-located to new paragraph 4.4.1A.

 Delete first paragraph of policy E1 and re-locate and amend as Policy SP2 to 
address the Inspector's concerns in her letter dated 6/5/2016 that the strategic 
policies must reflect the over-arching strategy or provide, where appropriate, 
quantum or target specific policies.

Insert new paragraph and amend Policy E1 as follows:

4.4.1a   Allocated employment sites have been grouped into categories that reflect 
the nature of the site and the potential future uses. These categories, which reflect 
best practice and current thinking in adjoining authorities, are:

 Prestige Sites: Strategically located sites in the regional context offering 
medium to large scale employment opportunities for primarily B1 Uses and 
characterised by a high quality environment.

 High Quality Sites: Smaller sites of regional significance offering small to 
medium sized employment opportunities for B1, B2 and B8 Uses in high 

Page 569

https://secure.powys.gov.uk/ldp_representations/viewreps.php?LDPDocNo=34&LDPRefPointNo=35&L=0


Powys LDP 2011-2026              Deposit Draft with Focussed Changes and Further Focussed 
Changes October 2016

Cyngor Sir Powys County Council                                                                           104

quality surroundings that are well positioned in relation to the County’s main 
road and transport infrastructure.

 Local Sites: Sites for B1, B2 and B8 Uses providing a varied industrial and / 
or employment setting with minimised visual impact (for example, screening) 
yet located within close proximity to the main road and transport infrastructure 
as well as centres of population. These sites primarily serve a local market 
and may include local office developments.

 Mixed Use Sites: Sites where employment led mixed use proposals are 
supported in order to stimulate private sector investment and development.

Policy E1 - Employment Proposals on Allocated Employment Sites ® 34.36

45 hectares of land have been allocated for employment development, as 
identified on the Proposals / Inset Maps.

Proposals for B1, B2 and B8 employment development on these sites will be 
permitted on the following allocated Employment sites where they comply with 
the category of the site and permitted uses of the site: as identified in the 
Employment Site Allocation Table E1.

Site Name Location Size of 
Employment 
Development 

Area (ha.)

Category Site Allocation 
Ref. No.

Ystradgynlais     

Woodlands 
Business Park

Ystradgynlais 2.31 High Quality P58 EA1

  2.31 ha.   

Central Powys     

Wyeside 
Enterprise 
Park

Builth Wells 1.2 High Quality P08 EA1 / P08 
EC1

Heart of Wales 
Business Park

Llandrindod 
Wells

3.9 Prestige P28 EA1

Broadaxe 
Business Park

Presteigne 2.4 Local P51 EA1

Brynberth 
Enterprise 
Park

Rhayader 3.7 Local P52 EA1

  11.2 ha.   

Severn Valley     

Page 570

https://secure.powys.gov.uk/ldp_representations/viewreps.php?LDPDocNo=34&LDPRefPointNo=36&L=0


Powys LDP 2011-2026              Deposit Draft with Focussed Changes and Further Focussed 
Changes October 2016

Cyngor Sir Powys County Council                                                                           105

& North

Parc Busnes 
Derwen Fawr  

Llanidloes 1.2 High Quality P35 EA1

Parc Hafren Llanidloes 1.7 Local P35 EA2 / P35 
EC1

Llanidloes 
Road

Newtown 2 High Quality P48 EA1

Abermule 
Business Park

Abermule 2.6 High 
Quality/Local

P02 EA1

Churchstoke Churchstoke 1.28 Local P12 EA1

Buttington 
Cross 
Enterprise 
Park

Welshpool 1.5 Prestige P57 EC1

Buttington 
Quarry

Trewern 6 Local P59 EA1

Offa's Dyke 
Business Park

Welshpool 7.3 Prestige P60 EC1

Four Crosses Four Crosses 0.5 Local P18 EA1

  24.08 ha.   

Machynlleth     

Treowain 
Enterprise 
Park

Machynlleth 1.7 High Quality P42 EA1

  1.7 ha.   

Total  39.29 ha.   

Where appropriate other employment uses may be permitted on allocated 
employment sites where the proposed development complements and 
enhances the site’s role as identified in the Employment Site Allocation table.

4.4.2 Allocated employment sites will complement existing employment sites in 
providing a continuous supply of appropriate employment land across the Plan area 
to accommodate expansion in the economy, to replace and upgrade the existing 
supply of premises where needed, and to ensure choice and range across types, 
settings and locations.

Page 571



Powys LDP 2011-2026              Deposit Draft with Focussed Changes and Further Focussed 
Changes October 2016

Cyngor Sir Powys County Council                                                                           106

4.4.3 Policy E1 also enables the provision of complementary ancillary employment 
uses that fall outside the B use classes where this improves site viability and 
enables new site development. Uses that might be complementary include day 
nurseries, training centres, waste recycling and vehicle repairs. Retail uses will be 
considered against the LDP’s retail policies. ® 34.37

Policy E2 - Employment Proposals on Non-Allocated Employment Sites
® 34.38

Proposals for employment development on non-allocated sites will be 
permitted where it is demonstrated that no other suitable existing or allocated 
employment sites or previously developed land can reasonably accommodate 
the proposal, and where at least one of the following criteria is met:

1. The proposal is up to 0.5Ha. and is located within or adjoining a settlement 
with a development boundary.

2. The proposal is for the limited expansion, extension or environmental 
improvement of existing employment sites and buildings.

3. The proposal is appropriate in scale and nature to its location and is 
supported by a business case which demonstrates that its location is 
justified.

4.4.4 Given the dominance in the Plan area of micro and small businesses 
dispersed over a large geographic area it is evident that not all employment 
proposals will be appropriately accommodated on allocated employment sites. 
Policy E2 therefore supports the economy by enabling the provision of economic 
opportunities on non-allocated sites, including the development of new small 
businesses and in so doing it will address any local need for neighbourhood 
employment accommodation.

4.4.5 In addition, the appropriate expansion or modernisation of existing 
businesses in-situ is supported to reduce the inconvenience and disruption of 
moving, whilst retaining the source of employment within the local community. The 
provision of new employment proposals within the open countryside is also 
supported where it can be demonstrated that such a location is justified by the 
nature of the proposal. Such employment proposals may include farm diversification 
or the reuse of existing buildings.

Further Focussed Change: FFC53 Section: Policy E3
 Amend policy title and text.
 Insert new table into Policy E3

Reason: 
Incorporation of the mixed use employment sites from employment site allocation 
Table E1 into Policy E3 to provide clarity and certainty, in accordance with the 
Inspector’s letter to the Council dated 6/5/2016. 

Amend Policy E3 as follows:

Policy E3 –  Employment Proposals on Allocated Mixed Use Employment Sites 
Allocations ® 34.40 

Page 572

https://secure.powys.gov.uk/ldp_representations/viewreps.php?LDPDocNo=34&LDPRefPointNo=37&L=0
https://secure.powys.gov.uk/ldp_representations/viewreps.php?LDPDocNo=34&LDPRefPointNo=38&L=0
https://secure.powys.gov.uk/ldp_representations/viewreps.php?LDPDocNo=34&LDPRefPointNo=40&L=0


Powys LDP 2011-2026              Deposit Draft with Focussed Changes and Further Focussed 
Changes October 2016

Cyngor Sir Powys County Council                                                                           107

Proposals for employment led mixed use developments will be permitted on 
the following allocated Mixed Use sites:  on sites where the category of site is 
identified as Mixed Use in the Employment Site Allocation Table E1. 

Site Name Location Size of 
Employment 
Development 

Area (ha.)

Category Site Allocation 
Ref. No.

Central Powys     

Gypsy Castle 
Lane

Hay-on-Wye 2.4 Mixed Use P21 MUA1

Land adj. 
Gwernyfed 
Avenue

Three Cocks 3.4 Mixed Use P53 MUA1

Total  5.8 ha.   

Where appropriate, other employment uses may be permitted on allocated 
mixed-use employment sites where the proposed development complements 
and enhances the site’s role.

4.4.6 Powys’ current stock of industrial property has predominantly been provided 
in one form or another through the public sector with little private sector investment 
and development due to the large differential between cost and value.

4.4.7 This Policy supports mixed use development proposals on the sites identified 
in order to stimulate private sector investment in employment development in 
conjunction with residential or other forms of development. 

Further Minor Change: FFC54 Section: Paragraph 4.4.8
 Insert new text into paragraph 4.4.8

Reason: 
Additional wording for accuracy. 

Insert words 'mixed use' as follows:

4.4.8 Mixed use development proposals on allocated mixed use sites shall include 
a considerable proportion of employment related development, which will contribute 
to the overall supply of employment land across the Plan area. A guideline figure 
has therefore been provided in the Mixed Use Employment Site Allocation table 
indicating the contribution each mixed use site may provide to the overall supply of 
employment land. However, this figure is not intended to be prescriptive and the 
precise contribution and mix of uses for a site shall be determined through the 
preparation of a development brief that takes account of viability issues. 

Page 573



Powys LDP 2011-2026              Deposit Draft with Focussed Changes and Further Focussed 
Changes October 2016

Cyngor Sir Powys County Council                                                                           108

4.4.9 The Council is also supportive of mixed use proposals on non-allocated sites, 
live-work and home working proposals where the proposed development accords 
with the relevant policies of the Plan. For example, retail uses will be considered 
against the LDP’s retail policies. ® 34.41

Further Focussed Change: FFC55 Section: Table E1
 Delete text and Table E1 and 

relocate as per FFC51 and FFC52.
Reason: 
Deletion of Table E1 as its contents have been incorporated in Policies E1 and E3 
and paragraph 4.4.1a to provide clarity and certainty, in accordance with the 
Inspector’s letter to the Council dated 6/5/2016. 

Delete Table E1 as follows:

Table E1 - Employment Site Allocations ® 34.42

Allocated employment sites have been grouped into categories that reflect the 
nature of the site and the potential future uses. These categories, which reflect best 
practice and current thinking in adjoining authorities, are:

 Prestige Sites: Strategically located sites in the regional context offering medium to 
large scale employment opportunities for primarily B1 Uses and characterised by a 
high quality environment.

 High Quality Sites: Smaller sites of regional significance offering small to medium 
sized employment opportunities for B1, B2 and B8 Uses in high quality 
surroundings that are well positioned in relation to the County’s main road and 
transport infrastructure.

 Local Sites: Sites for B1, B2 and B8 Uses providing a varied industrial and / or 
employment setting with minimised visual impact (for example, screening) yet 
located within close proximity to the main road and transport infrastructure as well 
as centres of population. These sites primarily serve a local market and may include 
local office developments.

 Mixed Use Sites: Sites where employment led mixed use proposals are supported 
in order to stimulate private sector investment and development.

Table E1 – Employment Site Allocations

Site Name Location Size of 
Employment 
Development 

Area (ha.)

Category Site 
Allocation 
Ref. No.

Ystradgynlais    
Woodlands Business Park Ystradgynlais 2.31 High Quality P58 EA1

2.31 ha.
Central Powys    

Wyeside Enterprise Park Builth Wells 1.2 High Quality P08 EA1 / 
P08 EC1

Page 574

https://secure.powys.gov.uk/ldp_representations/viewreps.php?LDPDocNo=34&LDPRefPointNo=41&L=0
https://secure.powys.gov.uk/ldp_representations/viewreps.php?LDPDocNo=34&LDPRefPointNo=42&L=0


Powys LDP 2011-2026              Deposit Draft with Focussed Changes and Further Focussed 
Changes October 2016

Cyngor Sir Powys County Council                                                                           109

Site Name Location Size of 
Employment 
Development 

Area (ha.)

Category Site 
Allocation 
Ref. No.

Gypsy Castle Lane Hay-on-Wye 2.4 Mixed Use P21 MUA1
Heart of Wales Business 
Park

Llandrindod 
Wells

3.9 Prestige P28 EA1

Broadaxe Business Park Presteigne 2.4 Local P51 EA1
Brynberth Enterprise Park Rhayader 3.7 Local P52 EA1
Land adj. Gwernyfed 
Avenue

Three Cocks 3.4 Mixed Use P53 MUA1

17 ha.
Severn Valley & North    

Great Oaks Business Park Llanidloes 1.2 High Quality P35 EA1
Parc Hafren Llanidloes 1.7 Local P35 EA2 / 

P35 EC1
Llanidloes Road Newtown 2 High Quality P48 EA1
Abermule Business Park Abermule 2.6 High 

Quality/Local
P02 EA1

Churchstoke Churchstoke 1.28 Local P12 EA1
Buttington Cross 
Enterprise Park

Welshpool 1.5 Prestige P57 EC1

Buttington Quarry Trewern 6 Local P59 EA1
Offa's Dyke Business Park Welshpool 7.3  Prestige P60 EC1
Four Crosses Four Crosses 0.5 Local P18 EC1

24.08 ha.
Machynlleth    

Treowain Enterprise Park Machynlleth 1.7 High Quality P42 EA1
1.7 ha.

Total 45.09 ha.

Policy E4 – Bronllys Health Park ® 34.43

Proposals to develop the site of Bronllys Hospital as a Health & Wellbeing 
Park will be supported.

4.4.10 During the Plan period, it is expected that parts of the Bronllys Hospital site 
will become available for alternative uses. Considerable engagement has taken 
place to identify the future role for the site and its buildings, and the concept of a 
‘health & wellbeing park’ is widely supported. 

Further Minor Change: FFC56 Section: Paragraph 4.4.11
 Delete text in paragraph 4.4.11

Reason: 
Consequential amendment as a result of the deletion of Policy DM16.

Amend paragraph 4.4.11 as follows:

Page 575

https://secure.powys.gov.uk/ldp_representations/viewreps.php?LDPDocNo=34&LDPRefPointNo=43&L=0


Powys LDP 2011-2026              Deposit Draft with Focussed Changes and Further Focussed 
Changes October 2016

Cyngor Sir Powys County Council                                                                           110

4.4.11 The LDP has not allocated land at the hospital for housing or employment, 
but where proposed as part of any future plans, these will be considered against 
relevant policies in the LDP. The site contains important heritage assets which 
should be protected in accordance with Policy DM16 including two listed buildings 
and a registered historic park and garden. Any development proposal will need to 
refer to an agreed joint development brief with BBNPA prior to adoption as SPG, 
which may include limitations or conditions on permissible uses. Applications will 
need to take account of any potential wider impacts upon the settlements of Bronllys 
and Talgarth and the surrounding area including the transport network and the 
Brecon Beacons National Park.

4.4.12 Any potential development as well as taking account of the site heritage 
and its designation as a Historic Park and Garden, will need to take of any natural 
heritage and undertake ecological and Habitats Regulations Assessments.

4.5 Transport

Policy T1 – Transport Infrastructure ® 34.44

Transport infrastructure and traffic management improvements will be 
permitted where they support Welsh Government priorities for promoting 
growth and sustainable jobs, tackling poverty, and ensuring sustainable rural 
communities. In particular this would be where such measures:

1. Improve the safety of transport users, especially those making ‘active 
travel’ journeys by walking or cycling.

2. Reduce traffic congestion and/or improve the local environment.
3. Reduce demand for travel by private transport.
4. Provide, promote and improve sustainable forms of travel.

4.5.1 This policy seeks to support the coordination of a wide range of traffic 
management measures and transport interchange developments that will maximise 
the efficiency and safety of the transport system including road, rail, pedestrian and 
cyclist travel networks and connections. 

4.5.2 Appropriately located public transport interchange developments support 
sustainable travel and can reduce the demand for travel by private car. 
Developments that support public and private transport integration, such as Park 
and Ride/Share Schemes and Bus Stops that complement the use of local and 
national bus or rail services, taxi ranks and train and bus stations will be supported. 

4.5.3 Proposals that benefit rail passenger operations and proposals that support 
rail freight opportunities will be encouraged. Transport policy applicable to all 
developments including the safeguarding of key transport corridors, the 
requirements for transport assessments and travel plans, and access and parking 
requirements are addressed by the Development Management and Strategic 
Policies. 

Further Focussed Change: FFC57 Section: Section 4.5
 Insert new Policy T1A and 

Page 576

https://secure.powys.gov.uk/ldp_representations/viewreps.php?LDPDocNo=34&LDPRefPointNo=44&L=0


Powys LDP 2011-2026              Deposit Draft with Focussed Changes and Further Focussed 
Changes October 2016

Cyngor Sir Powys County Council                                                                           111

supporting text.
Reason: 
Following the deletion of SP2 (Safeguarding of Material Assets) and replacement 
of the policy to create a new SP7 - Safeguarding of Strategic Resources and 
Assets, insert a specific policy on the safeguarding of disused transport 
infrastructure to provide clarity and certainty, in accordance with the Inspector’s 
letter to the Council dated 6/5/2016. 

Insert policy and reasoned justification as follows:

Policy T1A – Safeguarding of Disused Transport Infrastructure

Disused transport infrastructure and routes are safeguarded from 
development proposals which prevent or restrict future re-use for transport 
purposes.

4.5.3A TAN 18 advises local planning authorities to safeguard disused transport 
infrastructure or routes which may potentially be brought back into productive use 
and, in the case of railways, even if that is likely to be outside the Plan period. As an 
interim measure local planning authorities are expected, where possible, to consider 
their use as open space corridors for walking and cycling.

4.5.3B Such assets within Powys help to bolster the tourism sector, promotes a 
healthy lifestyle and the protection of them supports the sustainable strategy of the 
plan. Development proposals that will prevent or restrict the efficient and effective 
future use of such infrastructure will, therefore, not be supported. 

Further Focussed Change: FFC58 Section: Section 4.5
 Insert new Policy T2 and supporting 

text.
Reason: 
Insertion of a specific policy on the allocation and safeguarding of the route of the 
Newtown bypass to provide clarity and certainty, in accordance with the 
Inspector’s letter to the Council dated 6/5/2016. 

Insert Policy T2 and reasoned justification as follows:

Policy T2 – Newtown By-pass

The route of the Newtown by-pass is safeguarded and protected.

4.5.4 Newtown is the largest settlement in Powys and in the Wales Spatial Plan 
2008 was identified as a primary key settlement. It's need for a by-pass to relieve 
congestion in the town and to improve the flow of traffic on the A483/A489/A470/A44 
east/west strategic routes through Mid Wales to the Midlands has been identified for 
some time. Welsh Government announced a Preferred Route in 2010. Construction 
commenced in 2016 with completion due in 2018.

Page 577



Powys LDP 2011-2026              Deposit Draft with Focussed Changes and Further Focussed 
Changes October 2016

Cyngor Sir Powys County Council                                                                           112

4.6 Housing

Further Focussed  Change: FFC59 Section: Policy H1
 Amendments to the policy and 

supporting text and re-numbering 
criteria.

 Delete first paragraph of policy and re-
locate to SP1.

 Delete and re-locate paragraph 4.6.1a 
to new policy H1A as per FFC59.

Reason: 
In accordance with the Inspector’s letter dated 6/5/2016 in order to improve the 
clarity and the effectiveness of the LDP:
 Inclusion of word ‘proposals’ to provide a consistent policy terminology.
 Criteria and sub-criteria re-numbered to provide uniform consistency.
 Delete first paragraph and re-locate to section 3 to form new Strategic Policy 

SP1 to provide a quantum for housing growth.
 Reword H1 to accommodate above change for clarity. 
 Delete para. 4.6.1a and re-locate to supporting text of new policy H1A.
 Amend para.4.6.2 to accord with the revised policy.

Amend policy H1 and the supporting paragraphs as follows:

Policy H1 - Housing Development Proposals® 34.46

Over the Plan period 2011-2026, the LDP will seek to maintain a 5 year supply 
of land for housing and provides land for 6,129 dwellings to meet the dwelling 
requirement of 4,500 additional dwellings.

In accordance with Strategic Policies SP1, SP3, SP5 and SP6, housing 
development proposals must comply with the following site criteria:

In Towns and Large Villages:

i. On sites allocated for housing and other suitable sites within the 
development boundary. 

ii. On sites forming logical extensions outside development 
boundaries for affordable housing in accordance with Policy H5.

1. In Small Villages:

i. On small infill gaps between existing dwellings capable of 
accommodating 1 or 2 units; or in suitable larger infill gaps where 
identified in a village action plan prepared by a community and 
adopted as SPG. 

ii. On sites forming minor logical extensions to small villages for 
affordable housing in accordance with Policies H5 and H7.

2. In Rural Settlements and the Open Countryside:

Page 578

https://secure.powys.gov.uk/ldp_representations/viewreps.php?LDPDocNo=34&LDPRefPointNo=46&L=0


Powys LDP 2011-2026              Deposit Draft with Focussed Changes and Further Focussed 
Changes October 2016

Cyngor Sir Powys County Council                                                                           113

i. In rural settlements, single rural affordable homes to meet local 
needs in accordance with Policy H7.

ii. Rural enterprise worker dwellings, One Planet developments and 
the conversion of rural buildings in accordance with national 
policy.

iii. Renovation of former abandoned dwellings in accordance with 
Policy H11.

4.6.1 Policy H1 seeks to deliver 4,500 dwellings, the identified dwelling requirement 
over the plan period 2011-2026. This provision equates to an average completion 
rate of 300 dwellings per annum.

4.6.1a. The development of allocated housing sites will contribute to the 
achievement of Policy H1. Housing land allocations have been made for large 
housing sites (>5 dwellings) in Towns and Large Villages as set out in detail in 
Appendix 1 (Settlement Allocations Table). Allocated housing sites comprise both 
new LDP housing sites (referenced HA) and existing committed housing sites with 
planning permission (referenced HC).  Additionally a proportion of new housing will 
arise on allocated Mixed Use (MUA) sites. Further detail on the selection of sites can 
be found in the Topic Paper “Candidate Sites Process and Site Assessment 
Methodology” (2015).

4.6.2 Policy H1 identifies suitable locations for housing within the settlement 
hierarchy which support the delivery of a sustainable pattern of development. The 
type and scale of development suitable to settlements in all levels of the settlement 
hierarchy is explained by the policy. In accordance with the Sustainable Settlement 
Hierarchy, the LDP directs the majority of housing development to towns and large 
villages. In Small Villages suitable sites for development must constitute an infill gap 
between existing dwellings. Infill gaps or logical extensions should ideally be 
accessible by a pedestrian footpath. The policy also identifies where certain types of 
development will be supported and determined in accordance with national policy 
and technical advice notes namely:

 Rural enterprise worker dwellings – see TAN 6, July 2010.
 One Planet Development – see TAN 6, July 2010.
 Re-use / adaptation of rural buildings – see PPW, TAN 6 and TAN23. 

4.6.3 The supply of land will be closely monitored through the annual Joint Housing 
Land Availability Study and reported in the Annual Monitoring Report. If a shortage 
in the supply of land is identified, the LPA will consider appropriate action to increase 
supply. 

Further Focussed  Change: FFC60 Section: Policy H1A
 Insert new policy H1A.
 Re-locate deleted paragraph 4.6.1a 

to form supporting text.
 Insert new paragraph 4.6.3A.

Reason: 
 To insert a new policy which specifically identifies and lists sites for new 

housing development, in accordance with the Inspector’s letter dated 6/5/2016 

Page 579



Powys LDP 2011-2026              Deposit Draft with Focussed Changes and Further Focussed 
Changes October 2016

Cyngor Sir Powys County Council                                                                           114

in order to improve the clarity and the effectiveness of the LDP.
 Relocate existing para.4.6.1a from policy H1 to form supporting text of Policy 

H1A and amend accordingly.
 Insert new para. 4.6.3A to form supporting text of Policy H1A.

Insert Policy H1A as follows:

Policy H1A – Housing Sites

Land is identified for residential development at the following locations:

Settlement Site Ref. Site Name Site Area (Ha)

* Sites indicated 
thus show total 
site area but 
completion 
phased beyond 
the Plan period 

Builth Wells & 
Llanelwedd

P08 HC1 The Old Skin Warehouse Site, 
Brecon Rd

0.3

Builth Wells & 
Llanelwedd

P08 HC2 Hay Road Garage 0.2

Builth Wells & 
Llanelwedd

P08 HC3 Builth Wells Cottage Hospital 0.5

Builth Wells & 
Llanelwedd

P08 HA2 Land west of primary school 2.2

Builth Wells & 
Llanelwedd

P08 HA3 Land adj. to Tai Ar Y Bryn, 
Hospital Rd.

1.6

Knighton P24 HC1 Former clothing factory, West 
Street.

0.5

Knighton P24 HA1 Adj ‘Shirley’, Ludlow Road. 0.96

Knighton P24 HC2 Site of former Motorway 
Mouldings factory

0.5

Knighton P24 HA3 Presteigne Road 3.5

Llandrindod Wells P28 HC1 Land at Gate Farm 0.2

Llandrindod Wells P28HC2 Highland Moors 1.3

Llandrindod Wells P28 HC3 Site adj, Autopalace 0.2

Page 580



Powys LDP 2011-2026              Deposit Draft with Focussed Changes and Further Focussed 
Changes October 2016

Cyngor Sir Powys County Council                                                                           115

Llandrindod Wells P28 HA1 Land adj. Crabtree Green 2.2

Llandrindod Wells P28 HA2 Tremont Park extension 4.5

Llandrindod Wells P28 HA3 Ithon Road 4.5

Llandrindod Wells P28 HA4 Land at Ridgebourne Drive 7.6  *

Llanfair Caereinion P30 HA1 Land at Tanyfron 2.4

Llanfair Caereinion P30 HA2 UDP Allocation M154 HA3 1.1

Llanfyllin P32 HC1 Adjacent 38 Maes Y Dderwen 0.4

Llanfyllin P32 HA1 Land opposite Maesydre 0.5

Llanfyllin P32 HA2 Maesydre Field 2.3

Llanfyllin P32 HA2 Field 7674, South of Maesydre 3.8

Llanidloes P35 HC1 Lower Green, Victoria Avenue 0.8

Llanidloes P35 HC2 Land at Hafren Furnishers 0.5

Llanidloes P35 HC3 Land adjacent Dolhafren 
Cemetery

1.1

Llanidloes P35 HA1 Land at Penyborfa 1.0

Llanidloes P35 HA2 Chapel Farm, Gorn Road 1.7

Llanwrtyd Wells P39 HC1 The Vicarage Field, Beulah Road 0.5

Llanwrtyd Wells P39 HC2 OS2664 Caemawr, off Ffos Road 1.9

Llanwrtyd Wells P39 HC3 OS1451 Meadow View, Station 
Road

0.8

Machynlleth P42 HA1 OS1546, Aberystwyth Road 1.4

Machynlleth P42 HA2 Land adj. HA1, Aberystwyth 
Road

0.5

Machynlleth P42 HA3 Mid Wales Storage Depot 0.4

Machynlleth P42 HA4 Newtown Road 0.3

Montgomery P45 HC1 Land at New Road 2.6

Montgomery P45 HA1 Land at Verlon, Forden Road 10.8  *

Newtown P48 HC1 Heol Pengwern 2.0

Newtown P48 HC2 Bryn Lane 3.3

Page 581



Powys LDP 2011-2026              Deposit Draft with Focussed Changes and Further Focussed 
Changes October 2016

Cyngor Sir Powys County Council                                                                           116

Newtown P48 HC3 Ffordd Croesawdy 0.5

Newtown P48 HC4 Land at Severn 
Heights(Brimmon Common)

5.4

Newtown P48 HC5 Rock Farm 8.5

Newtown P48 HC6 Rear of Pentecostal Church 1.0

Newtown P48 HC8 Former Magistrates Court and 
TA Building, Back Lane

0.1

Newtown P48 HC9 Severnside Yard, Commercial 
Street

0.5

Newtown P48 HC10 1, Wesley Place 0.015

Newtown P48 HA2 Hendidley 0.55

Newtown P48 HA3 South of Heol Treowen 
Extension

2.6

Newtown P48 HA4 South of Heol Treowen / Great 
Brimmon

6.6

Presteigne P51 
MUA1

Former Kaye Foundry Site 2.4

Presteigne P51 HC1 Knighton Road Site 0.6

Presteigne P51 HA2 Joe Deakins Road Site 1.3

Rhayader P52 HC1 Nant Rhyd-Hir 1.0

Rhayader P52 HC2 Old Builders Supply Depot 0.2

Rhayader P52 HA1 Tir Gaia 3.5

Rhayader P52 HA2 Land off East Street 0.6

Welshpool P57 HC1 Burgess Land 5.0

Welshpool P57 HA1 Land off Gallowstree Bank 1.5

Welshpool P57 HA2 Land at Greenfields, Caeglass 0.4

Welshpool P57 HA3 Land at Red Bank 5.5

Ystradgynlais P58 HC1 Land R/O Jeffrey’s Arms, Brecon 
Road

1.0

Ystradgynlais P58 HC2 Gurnos School, Lower 
Cwmtwrch

1.1

Page 582



Powys LDP 2011-2026              Deposit Draft with Focussed Changes and Further Focussed 
Changes October 2016

Cyngor Sir Powys County Council                                                                           117

Ystradgynlais P58 HA1 Land off Brecon Road 2.2

Ystradgynlais P58 HA3 Penrhos CP School, Brecon 
Road

1.5

Ystradgynlais P58 HA5 Glanrhyd Farm 0.3

Ystradgynlais P58 HA9 Penrhos Farm 3.0

Ystradgynlais P58 HA10 Brynygroes 4.5

Ystradgynlais P58 HA11 Penrhos School Extension 4.5

Ystradgynlais P58 HA12 Cynlais Playing Fields 0.64

Hay-on Wye P21 
MUA1

Land at Gypsy Castle Lane 1.8

Abercrave P01 HA1 Land to East of Maesycribarth 0.5

Abermule P02 HA1 Land adjoining Abermule House 0.4

Abermule P02 HA2 Land adjacent The Meadows and 
Land adjacent Parkside

3.3  *

Arddleen P03 HA1 Land west of Trederwen House 1.7  *

Berriew P04 HA1 Land to east of the village, 
adjacent canal

0.7

Bettws Cedewain P05 HC1  Bryn Bechan 0.4

Boughrood and 
Llyswen

P06 HC1 The Depot, Boughrood 0.3

Boughrood and 
Llyswen

P06 HC2 Beeches Park, Boughrood 0.3

Boughrood and 
Llyswen

P06 HA1 Land at Llyswen adjacent B24 
HA3

1.1

Boughrood and 
Llyswen

P06 HA2 Land adjoining Beeches Park, 
Boughrood

0.8

Bronllys P07 HC1 Land adjacent to Bronllys Court 1.5

Bronllys P07 HA3 Land to rear of Greenfields 0.3

Bronllys P07 HA1 Land adjacent Bronllys CP 
School, Neuadd Terrace

1.4

Bronllys P07 HA2 Land at Bronllys to west of Hen 
Ysgubor

0.6

Page 583



Powys LDP 2011-2026              Deposit Draft with Focussed Changes and Further Focussed 
Changes October 2016

Cyngor Sir Powys County Council                                                                           118

Caersws P09 HC1 Part of Buck Hotel, Main Street N/A

Caersws P09 HA1 Land north of Carno Road 1.6

Carno P10 HA1 Land off Ffordd Dol-Llin 0.5

Carno P10 HA2 Land north of Gerddi Cledan 1.0

Castle Caereinion P11 HC1 Land at Swallows Meadow 2.3

Churchstoke P12 HC1 Land at Maes Neuadd (rear of 
Village hall)

0.6

Churchstoke P12 HC2 Land at the Garage 0.3

Churchstoke P12 HC3 Land at the Hatchery 0.5

Churchstoke P12 HC4 The View, Castle Road 0.48

Churchstoke P12 HA1 Land west of Fir House 1.34

Clyro P13 HC1 Land south east of Clyro (A) 0.6

Clyro P13 HA1 Land south east of Clyro (B) 0.5

Crewgreen P15 HA1 Land opposite The Firs (between 
Malt House Farm and Bryn Mawr

1.5

Crossgates P16 HC1 Oaktree Meadows 1.4

Crossgates P16 HA1 Land south of Studio Cottage 0.7

Forden/Kingswood P17 HA1 Land off Heritage Green 0.8

Forden/Kingswood P17 HA2 Land between Heatherwood and 
Kingswood Lane

0.5

Four Crosses P18 HA1 Land at Oldfield  (including land 
rear of School)

3.4  *

Glasbury P19 HA1 Treble Hill Stables 0.3

Guilsfield P20 HC1 Enc. 2200, Sarn Meadows 3.3

Guilsfield P20 HA1 Land adjacent Celyn lane 0.9

Guilsfield P20 HA2 Land to east of Groes-lwyd 0.8

Howey P22 HA1 Land at Crossways Court 1.4

Howey P22 HA2 Land adjacent Goylands Estate 0.8

Kerry P23 HC1 Dolforgan View 2.1

Page 584



Powys LDP 2011-2026              Deposit Draft with Focussed Changes and Further Focussed 
Changes October 2016

Cyngor Sir Powys County Council                                                                           119

Knucklas P25 HC1 Old Station Works 0.28

Knucklas P25 HA1 Land at Castle Green 0.4

Llanbrynmair P26 HC1 Bryncoch 1.0

Llanbrynmair P26 HA1 Land west of Bryncoch 0.7

Llandinam P27 HA1 Land opposite Old Barn Close 0.3

Llandrinio P29 HA1  Gwernybatto, Land off Orchard 
Croft

1.1

Llanfechain P31 HA1 Land north of Church 1.0

Llangurig P33 HA1 Land adjacent Maesllan 0.7

LLangynog P34 HA1 Llangynog Glebe 0.3

Llanrhaeadr-ym-
Mochnant

P36 HA1 Land at Maes yr Esgob 0.7

Llansantffraid-ym-
Mechain

P37 HC1 Land off Fford Spoonley 0.4

Llansantffraid-ym-
Mechain

P37 HC2 Bronhyddon 1.05

Llansantffraid-ym-
Mechain

P37 HA1 Land at Spoonley Farm 0.8

Llansantffraid-ym-
Mechain

P37 HA2 Land adjacent Maes y Cain 0.6

Llansilin P38 HC1 Land opposite the Wynnstay Inn 0.7

Llanymynech P40 HC1 UDP allocation M170 HA1 (Parc 
Llwyfen)

0.4

Llanymynech P40 HA1 Land adjacent Parc Llwyfen 0.4

Llanymynech P40 HA2 Land off Carreghofa Lane 1.6  *

Llanyre P41 HC1 Land between Moorland and Llyr 0.6

Llanyre P41 HA1 Land at Llanyre Farm 0.7

Meifod P43 HA1 Pentre works and adjacent land. 1.9

Middletown P44 HA1 Land west of Golfa Close 0.7

New Radnor P46 HC1 Water Street Farm 0.6

Page 585



Powys LDP 2011-2026              Deposit Draft with Focussed Changes and Further Focussed 
Changes October 2016

Cyngor Sir Powys County Council                                                                           120

Newbridge on Wye P47 HC1 The Orchard 0.3

Penybontfawr P49 HA1 Land east of Ysgol Pennant 0.4

Pontrobert P50 HA1 Land at Y Fferm 0.5

Three Cocks P53 
MUA1

Land between/adjacent 
Gwernyfed Avenue

0.6

Trefeglwys P54 HC1 Land to west of Llwyncelyn 
(Phase 2)

0.9

Tregynon P55 HA1 Rear of Bethany Chapel 0.9

Trewern P56 HA1 Land east of Trewern School 4.1  *

Adfa P61 HLB1 The Former Timber Yard 0.24

Cemmaes P62 HLB1 Land opposite Glanafon 0.47

Cemmaes P62 HLB2 Adjoining Maesyllan 0.44

Coedway P63 HLB1 PT OS 0078 0.39

Commins Coch P64 HLB1 Dyfi 4x4 0.36

Garth P65 HLB1 Station Road 0.2

Gwystre P66 HLB1 Adjoining Camlo Close 0.28

Llanbister P67 HLB1 Land rear of School 0.32

Llanddew P68 HLB1 Opposite Village Hall 0.6

Llanddewi P69 HLB1 Land to the rear of Llanddewi 
Hall

0.85

Llanfihangel Talyllyn P70 HLB1 Pistyll Farm 1.0

Llangammarch Wells P71 HLB1 Land opposite Pen Y Bryn 1.28

Penybont P72 HLB1 Cattle Market 0.81

Nantmel P73 HLB1 Brynteg 1.46

4.6.3A These housing sites will provide for the development of new housing over the 
whole Plan period. It is not expected that all sites will be available for development 
immediately; some will come forward later in the Plan period. 

4.6.1a. 4.6.3B The development of allocated housing sites will contribute to the 
achievement of Policy SP1. Housing land allocations have been made for large 
housing sites (>5 dwellings) in Towns and Large Villages as set out in detail in 

Page 586



Powys LDP 2011-2026              Deposit Draft with Focussed Changes and Further Focussed 
Changes October 2016

Cyngor Sir Powys County Council                                                                           121

Appendix 1 (Settlement Allocations Table). Allocated housing sites comprise both 
new LDP housing sites (referenced HA) and existing committed housing sites with 
planning permission (referenced HC).  Additionally a proportion of new housing will 
arise on allocated Mixed Use (MUA) sites. Further detail on the selection of sites can 
be found in the Topic Paper “Candidate Sites Process and Site Assessment 
Methodology” (2015).

Further Minor Change: FFC61 Section: Policy H2
 Amend wording of Policy H2.
 Delete criterion 3

Reason: 
 Word 'proposals' added to the criteria provide a consistent policy terminology, 

in accordance with the Inspector’s letter dated 6/5/2016.
 Criterion 3 deleted in accordance with the Inspector’s letter dated 6/5/2016 

because it repeats the requirements of national planning policy.

Amend Policy H2 as follows:

Policy H2 - Housing Delivery ® 34.48

1. Housing development proposals must be of an appropriate scale and shall:
i. Provide a suitable mix of housing types to meet the range of identified 

local housing needs.
ii. Be phased if appropriate to reflect the context of the development and 

mitigate its impact on the local community.

2. Applications Proposals to develop parts of sites must not prejudice the 
development of the remainder of the site or seek to avoid planning 
obligations.

3. Applications to vary or renew a planning permission will only be permitted 
where justified and supported by evidence demonstrating that the proposal 
complies with the current Development Plan policies, is deliverable and 
likely to be delivered within the next 5 years or the remainder of the Plan 
period, whichever is the longer.

4. Applications Proposals for large or mixed use developments or the 
development of certain sensitive sites may be required to be preceded by a 
development brief which has been prepared by the developer and agreed 
by the Council and which establishes how the site is to be developed in 
accordance with this policy. 

4.6.4 Policy H2 seeks to achieve an appropriate range and mix of housing types to 
meet local needs, as identified in evidence such as Local Housing Market 
Assessment26, in particular the needs of the county’s ageing population and 
decreasing household size, affordable housing and specialist housing needs such as 
supported accommodation, sheltered housing, care homes, low rise accessible 

26 The LHMA Update was completed in 2014 and published in 2015.

Page 587

https://secure.powys.gov.uk/ldp_representations/viewreps.php?LDPDocNo=34&LDPRefPointNo=48&L=0


Powys LDP 2011-2026              Deposit Draft with Focussed Changes and Further Focussed 
Changes October 2016

Cyngor Sir Powys County Council                                                                           122

development or bungalows, extra care developments. The design and energy 
efficiency of housing development is addressed by Policy DM15.

4.6.5  A phasing plan is important for sensitively located or larger development 
sites, including those in Welsh language speaking strongholds. A phasing plan must 
explain how the impact of the development on the local community will be mitigated.

4.6.6 In order to promote comprehensive forms of development, and prevent 
avoidance of planning obligations or contributions such as the provision of affordable 
housing or adoptable roads, play space, etc., the splitting or sub-division of sites will 
not be tolerated.

4.6.7 Where planning permission has lapsed, new planning permission will not be 
approved unless the proposal satisfies the current Development Plan policies. New 
permissions may be subject to conditions to encourage starts and completions on 
sites in order to ensure deliverability within the Plan period.

4.6.8 Some sites may be subject to the preparation of a development brief detailing 
the requirements of the Policy H2. (See Appendices 1 & 2). ® 34.49

Further Focussed Change: FFC62 Section: Policy H3
 Amend wording and housing density 

numbers in Policy H3 + Para 4.6.9. 
Reason: 
 Opening wording of policy amended to provide a consistent policy terminology, in 

accordance with the Inspector’s letter dated 6/5/2016.
 Also the minimum guide ranges for units per hectare have been amended to 

align with the assumptions applied in the Viability Assessment.

Amend policy wording as follows:

Policy H3 - Housing Density ® 34.50

All housing development proposals should seek to make the most sustainable 
and efficient use of land. The density for any proposed housing development 
should be in accordance with the guide ranges below. Densities may be varied 
where justified by evidence of local circumstances or constraints.

Units per ha.
Towns and Large Villages 27+ 25+
Small Villages 20-25
Rural settlements / single dwellings 10-15 25

4.6.9 The density guidelines set out in Policy H3 will apply to all housing 
developments whether on allocated, windfall or exception sites. The density guide 
range provides flexibility and reasonable density requirements which reflect recent 
trends in average densities achieved on sites in Powys and also aligns with the 
density assumed in the Viability Assessment.

4.6.10 Land is a finite resource and Policy H3 seeks to ensure the best and most 
efficient use of land, maximising the development potential of sites whilst conserving 
land resources for other uses. Policy H3 also seeks to promote the development of 
smaller homes to meet housing needs generated by decreasing household size. 

Page 588

https://secure.powys.gov.uk/ldp_representations/viewreps.php?LDPDocNo=34&LDPRefPointNo=49&L=0
https://secure.powys.gov.uk/ldp_representations/viewreps.php?LDPDocNo=34&LDPRefPointNo=50&L=0


Powys LDP 2011-2026              Deposit Draft with Focussed Changes and Further Focussed 
Changes October 2016

Cyngor Sir Powys County Council                                                                           123

Promoting higher density also helps to improve site viability and thus the potential for 
greater contributions to be gained.

4.6.11 The density of development should take into account the character of an 
area, specific design requirements such as access and visibility requirements, 
amenity space, landscaping, parking and growing spaces as supported by the 
Development Management policies. Lower densities are acceptable in Small 
Villages and Rural Settlements to reflect historic patterns of development and to 
meet specific local housing needs such as self-builds or rural affordable homes. 
PPW27 advocates that Development plans should have a clear development 
management policy on density. Policy H3 reflects PPW by encouraging higher 
density development in Towns and Large Villages which are the settlements best 
served by public transport.

4.6.12 Densities may vary from the guide where justified by other policy 
considerations and evidence such as an acknowledged physical, biodiveristy or 
infrastructure constraint on a site. Accessible town centre locations may be 
appropriate for medium-rise development or flats resulting in higher density. 
Conversely in rural locations, a high density may be fundamentally out of character. 
® 34.51

Further Focussed Change: FFC63 Section: Policy H4
 Amend wording and numbering of 

Policy H4 and its criteria.
 Insert new criterion 5 into Policy H4.

Reason:
In accordance with the Inspector’s letter date 6/5/2016:
 Inclusion of word ‘proposals’ to provide a consistent policy terminology.
 Sub-criteria re-numbered to provide uniform consistency.
 Insertion of additional criteria number 5 in policy H4 in order to clarify that site 

specific viability evidence that demonstrates that the target is not viable will be 
taken into account, in response to Representation 1084.F3. 

Amend Policy H4 as follows:

Policy H4 - Affordable Housing Contributions ® 34.52
 
1. In accordance with the evidence of local housing needs endorsed by the 

Council, a contribution towards affordable housing will be required from 
open market housing development proposals of 5more dwelling units or 
0.25 ha and above.

Does this site area need to be amended to reflect the increased density 
assumed in the viability – HDH has applied 0.2 ha to 5 unit edge and 0.16 to 
5 unit infill (average 0.18) DVS has applied 0.25 to 5 unit edge and 0.17 to 5 
unit infill (average 0.21).  The previous 0.25 ha was based on a density of 20 
units per ha. Based on the viability studies and higher density, it should be 
lowered to 0.2 ha. However, TD has pointed out that sites with a capacity of 

27 Paragraphs 4.7.2, 4.7.4 and 9.2.24, Planning Policy Wales

Page 589

https://secure.powys.gov.uk/ldp_representations/viewreps.php?LDPDocNo=34&LDPRefPointNo=51&L=0
https://secure.powys.gov.uk/ldp_representations/viewreps.php?LDPDocNo=34&LDPRefPointNo=52&L=0


Powys LDP 2011-2026              Deposit Draft with Focussed Changes and Further Focussed 
Changes October 2016

Cyngor Sir Powys County Council                                                                           124

less than 5 based on the 0.25 rule were disregarded as allocations, 
therefore this could be tricky.  AR

Possible wording:  Residential development proposals of 5 or more 
dwelling units or 0.25 ha will be required to contribute to meeting 
affordable housing needs

Or if different threshold applied in South West.
Residential development proposals above the following thresholds will be 
required to contribute to meeting affordable housing needs:

Central Powys
Severn Valley and North Powys

Central Powys/ Severn Valley and North Powys – 5   or more dwelling units 
or site area of 0.25 ha and above.
South West – 10/20 or more dwelling units or site area of 0.5 ha/1 ha – 
needs to be lowered in line with increased density.

2. The target contributions required for each Price Area are as follows:
i. Central Powys – 30% contribution.
ii. Severn Valley – 20% contribution.
iii. Rural North Powys - 10% contribution.
iv. South West/Ystradgynlais Powys – 10%5% contribution.

3. In Towns and Large Villages, where the contribution equates to:
i. 1 whole unit and above, the contribution will be required as on-site 

provision.
ii. Less than 1 whole unit, a financial contribution will be required.

4. The contribution may be either on-site provision or a financial contribution 
in:

i. Small Villages
ii. Residential conversions and subdivisions in all levels of the 

Settlement Hierarchy.

5. Where the developer of a proposal provides detailed site specific financial 
evidence demonstrating that the provision of the affordable housing as per 
the target set under criterion 2 above is not viable, the Authority will 
consider the appropriateness of a reduction in the affordable housing 
targets set above, or where necessary, the removal of the requirement to 
provide affordable housing.

4.6.13 Contributions towards, and the provision of affordable housing is key to the 
delivery of the LDP strategy and meeting the plan’s affordable housing target Policy 
H4 responds to the requirement for the delivery of a contribution towards affordable 
housing through the planning system. Criterion 2 of Policy H4 sets out the target 
contributions for four ‘price areas’ which are based on distinct areas of similar house 
prices as defined in the LDP’s Viability Assessment, as updated in August 2016. The 
percentage contributions set out in criterion 2 will be reviewed periodically to reflect 
changes in land values, house prices, policy requirements and development costs – 
CONSISTENCY REQUIRED WITH AMR (AR).

Page 590



Powys LDP 2011-2026              Deposit Draft with Focussed Changes and Further Focussed 
Changes October 2016

Cyngor Sir Powys County Council                                                                           125

4.6.14 ‘Affordable Housing’ and ‘Local Need’ for affordable housing are defined in 
Policy H8 below28.The term ‘contribution’ is defined as either a financial contribution 
(‘commuted sum’) or on-site provision. The contribution negotiated may come in a 
variety of forms although the range of units types and sizes must reflect local 
housing needs. Detailed evidence of local housing needs is provided in the Local 
Housing Market Assessment. Detail of tenure mix required.

4.6.15 Policy H4 applies to all housing development above the threshold of 5 or 
more dwelling units or 0.25 ha of land. The policy thresholds and target contributions 
are based on informed by the findings of the updated Viability Assessment and 
review carried out by the District Valuer Service (August 2016), and taking into 
account evidence of development being delivered on the ground and review of other 
evidence. The thresholds and percentage target contributions vary according to 
each Price Area as identified by the above-mentioned updated viability work Viability 
Assessment. The success rate and achievability in practice of the percentage target 
contributions will be monitored and reviewed periodically.

4.6.16 Where affordable housing provision is made on-site, the developer must 
partner with a Registered Social Landlord (RSL), or an equivalent organisation or the 
Strategic Housing Authority (SHA) to ensure that the delivery of the housing will 
remain affordable in perpetuity. Policy H4 supports financial contributions in lieu of 
on-site affordable housing in Small Villages and locations where there is a lack of 
commitment from RSLs to partner with a developer.

4.6.17 Developers seeking to negotiate a reduction in affordable housing provision 
or the removal of the affordable housing requirement on viability grounds will need to 
submit evidence a detailed viability appraisal demonstrating a lack of viability for the 
specific site that the required contribution would make the development unviable.  

Further detail on the Council’s approach towards securing on-site provision and 
financial contributions will be provided in the Affordable Housing SPG.

FURTHER DETAIL IS LIKELY TO BE REQUIRED IN THE ABOVE SUPPORTING 
JUSTIFICATION IN RELATION TO THE FINDINGS OF THE UPDATED VIABILITY 
WORK. 

Price are plan to be added - Appendix

4.6.18 Exception Sites for Affordable Housing. Two exceptions policies are 
included in the LDP which seek to allow the development of affordable housing to 
meet specific identified local need:
 Exception Sites – Policy H5.
 Rural Affordable Homes – Policy H7.

4.6.19 The tenure of affordable units on exception sites must be agreed with the 
SHA in accordance with the evidence of local housing needs. A financial contribution 
in lieu of affordable housing will not be accepted on exception sites.

28 Following adoption of the LDP, Supplementary Planning Guidance on Affordable Housing will be 
prepared.

Page 591



Powys LDP 2011-2026              Deposit Draft with Focussed Changes and Further Focussed 
Changes October 2016

Cyngor Sir Powys County Council                                                                           126

4.6.20 The size of dwellings on exception sites should accord with the Welsh 
Government’s Acceptable Cost Guidance (ACG) Notional Space Standards. Plot 
sizes should also accord with the guide density ranges set out in Policy H3. ® 34.53

Further Minor Change: FFC64 Section: Policy H5
 Amend text of Policy H5.

Reason:
To provide a consistent policy terminology, in accordance with the Inspector’s letter 
dated 6/5/2016.

Amend first sentence of Policy H5 as follows:

Policy H5 - Affordable Housing Exception Sites ® 34.54

To meet a proven, unmet local need for affordable housing, the development 
proposals for of affordable housing only will be permitted as an exception in:

1. Towns and Large Villages – on sites which form a logical extension, and 
adjoin or are in close proximity to the development boundary.

2. Small Villages – on sites integrated within or forming a logical extension.

The development of exception sites will be permitted where:

i. The scale of development is commensurate to the settlement size.
ii. The affordable housing must be developed by or transferred to a 

Registered Social Landlord, or an equivalent organisation or the 
Strategic Housing Authority.

iii. The tenure and size of the affordable housing must correspond to the 
evidence of local housing needs. The dwelling size should not exceed 
115 sqm.

4.6.21 Policy H5 is a traditional exception site policy which allows the 
development of sites for 100% affordable housing to meet local needs in locations 
not normally acceptable for residential development in accordance with PPW and 
TAN 2. ® 34.55

Further Minor Change: FFC65 Section: Policy H7
 Amend text of Policy H7.

Reason: 
To provide a consistent policy terminology, in accordance with the Inspector’s letter 
dated 6/5/2016.

Amend first sentence of Policy H7 as follows:

Policy H7 - Rural Affordable Homes ® 34.58

To meet a proven, unmet local need for affordable housing, the development 
proposals for of single Rural Affordable Homes will be permitted on sites 
integrated within or forming minor, logical extensions in Small Villages or 
Rural Settlements subject to the following criteria:

1. Dwelling size is restricted to an affordable size of a maximum of 115sqm 
when measured externally excluding outbuilding or garage.

Page 592

https://secure.powys.gov.uk/ldp_representations/viewreps.php?LDPDocNo=34&LDPRefPointNo=53&L=0
https://secure.powys.gov.uk/ldp_representations/viewreps.php?LDPDocNo=34&LDPRefPointNo=54&L=0
https://secure.powys.gov.uk/ldp_representations/viewreps.php?LDPDocNo=34&LDPRefPointNo=55&L=0
https://secure.powys.gov.uk/ldp_representations/viewreps.php?LDPDocNo=34&LDPRefPointNo=58&L=0


Powys LDP 2011-2026              Deposit Draft with Focussed Changes and Further Focussed 
Changes October 2016

Cyngor Sir Powys County Council                                                                           127

2. Plot size including gardens and ancillary land shall not exceed 0.1ha 
(1000sqm). 

3. A single outbuilding / garage whether integral or not should be single 
storey and not exceed 15sqm.

4. Permitted development rights for development that would increase the 
dwelling’s floorspace will be withdrawn.

4.6.26 Policy H7 aims to help sustain rural communities and retain people in their 
local communities by allowing the development of single affordable homes to meet a 
specific local identified housing need. Rural affordable homes are secured as 
affordable in perpetuity through strict dwelling size, plot size, outbuilding/garage size 
and occupancy restrictions. Rural affordable homes may be developed by an RSL or 
an individual (self-build) to meet a specific identified local need.

4.6.27 The size restriction of the dwelling unit is based on an assessment of local 
affordability to identify an affordability level which is linked to Powys average 
incomes and build costs per sqm.29

4.6.28 ACG notional space standards are a guideline for achievable, deliverable 
and affordable dwelling sizes and indicate that a 3-bedroom 5-person house should 
be 94sqm. The largest space standard is 115 sqm. Given this evidence, the 
maximum floor space has been rounded to 115sqm for flexibility and slight changes 
in incomes over the Plan period. 

4.6.29 The size restriction also supports the need for smaller dwellings due to 
decreasing household size and increasing numbers of 1 and 2 person households 
whilst also being flexible enough to allow the development of family accommodation.

Policy H8 - Affordable Housing Eligibility ® 34.60

The occupancy of all affordable housing will be restricted through a planning 
condition / obligation to those who are:

1. In ‘housing need’ as defined by the Council’s common allocations scheme 
and its procedural guidance; and 

2. Have a ‘local connection’ as defined by the Council’s common allocations 
scheme and its procedural guidance. Eligible person(s) must be connected 
to the ‘Local Community’ defined as:
i. Initially, the community council area together with immediately 

adjoining community council or parish council areas (including those 
outside Powys).

ii. Secondly, the respective shire.
iii. Thirdly, the rest of Powys.
iv. Fourthly, adjoining local authority areas.

Substantial efforts must be made for at least 3 months and satisfactorily 
proven prior to the widening of the eligible area in accordance with each step 
of the cascade set out above.

29 Further information on this will be provided in an Affordable Housing SPG. In 2014, the affordability 
level was calculated to be £117,529 so a £1,000 per sqm build cost would allow a borrower to build a 
dwelling of 117sqm.

Page 593

https://secure.powys.gov.uk/ldp_representations/viewreps.php?LDPDocNo=34&LDPRefPointNo=60&L=0


Powys LDP 2011-2026              Deposit Draft with Focussed Changes and Further Focussed 
Changes October 2016

Cyngor Sir Powys County Council                                                                           128

A local lettings policy may only be applied by an RSL following prior 
agreement in writing with the Council.

4.6.31 Policy H8 seeks to satisfy TAN 230 which requires local planning authorities 
to define local need in their development plan. The Council’s Common Allocations 
Scheme - Policy Statement explains how need is assessed and defines how a ‘Local 
Connection Band’ is considered. The occupancy of all affordable homes will be 
secured in accordance with Policy H8. Further detail on the definitions and their 
assessment will be provided in an Affordable Housing SPG. ® 34.61

Policy H9 – Householder Development ® 34.62

Proposals for ancillary development, including residential annexes, shall be 
provided as an extension to a dwelling. Where this is not practical, the 
following considerations will apply: 

1. Ancillary buildings used for all purposes shall be designed to be 
subservient to and grouped with the main dwelling. 

2. Ancillary buildings providing residential accommodation shall not be 
self-contained or have the facilities necessary for occupation 
independent of the main dwelling. Proposals should form a subordinate 
addition to the property, sharing access and amenity space with the main 
dwelling. 

4.6.32 A large percentage of planning applications received are for householder 
development and in particular extensions to existing dwellings and for ancillary 
buildings. Householder developments are important as they allow homeowners to 
meet their changing needs, add value to properties and also through good design it 
is possible for homeowners to reduce their energy bills. Badly designed householder 
development can seriously affect the appearance of a building and have a negative 
impact on neighbouring properties and the street scene. PPW requires that all new 
development, extensions and alterations to existing properties are well designed.31 

Further Minor Change: FFC66 Section: Paragraph 4.6.33
 Amend policy cross-reference

Reason: 
As a consequence of the amended Development Management policies.

Amend wording of Paragraph 4.6.33 as follows:

4.6.33 When considering proposals for ancillary buildings within the curtilage of a 
dwelling house the Council will look to apply conditions which will not allow the 
building to be occupied at any time other than for purposes ancillary to the 
residential use of the main dwelling. This policy also provides support for home-
working. Design and amenity matters are addressed by Policy DM15. ® 34.63

Further Focussed Change: FFC67 Section: Policy H10
 Delete policy 

30 Paragraph 10.16, TAN2
31 Some improvements, alterations and extensions to dwellings can be undertaken without planning 
permission through Permitted Development Rights.

Page 594

https://secure.powys.gov.uk/ldp_representations/viewreps.php?LDPDocNo=34&LDPRefPointNo=61&L=0
https://secure.powys.gov.uk/ldp_representations/viewreps.php?LDPDocNo=34&LDPRefPointNo=62&L=0
https://secure.powys.gov.uk/ldp_representations/viewreps.php?LDPDocNo=34&LDPRefPointNo=63&L=0


Powys LDP 2011-2026              Deposit Draft with Focussed Changes and Further Focussed 
Changes October 2016

Cyngor Sir Powys County Council                                                                           129

Reason: 
Policy deleted in accordance with the Inspector’s letter dated 6/5/2016 because it 
repeats the requirements of national planning policy.

Delete Policy H10 and paragraphs 4.6.34 – 4.6.35 as follows:

Policy H10 - Removal of conditions / planning obligations ® 34.64

Applications Development proposals seeking to remove restrictions on the 
occupancy, sale price or size of a dwelling which continue to serve a useful 
planning purpose will only be permitted where:

1. Evidence is provided demonstrating unsuccessful attempts to sell the 
property; and 

2. A financial contribution is paid towards the provision of affordable 
housing equating to 50% of the gross uplift in the value of the property 
resulting from the removal of the restriction.

4.6.34 Policy H10 applies to proposals to amend, remove or vary the condition or 
obligations – including those applied through Section106 or Section73 - which 
restrict occupancy, sale price or size of a range of existing and future dwellings 
including:
 Rural Affordable Homes.
 Affordable for Sale.
 Local Needs.
 Agricultural Workers.
 Rural Enterprise workers.

4.6.35 Where it is proven that the restriction / obligation still serves a useful 
purpose, the Council will only consider agreeing to its removal if attempts to sell the 
property have been unsuccessful. Given that it still serves a useful purpose, the 
Council will require 50% of the uplift in value resulting from the removal of the 
restriction to be paid to the Council. Two independent valuations must be provided – 
both with and without the planning condition or obligation - to identify the uplift in 
value which will then be split 50:50. The payment will be made to the Council’s ring 
fenced budget known as the affordable housing fund. This policy approach is also 
known as a claw back in order to continue to enable the provision of affordable 
housing to meet local needs. ® 34.65

Policy H11 - Renovation of Abandoned Dwellings ® 34.66

The renovation of abandoned dwellings in the open countryside for residential 
use will only be permitted where:

1. The dwelling has not been demolished or fallen into such a state of 
disrepair that it no longer has the substantial appearance or structure of a 
dwelling.

2. Any re-build shall be partial and sited within the footprint of the former 
dwelling and should make re-use, where practicable, of the materials and 
features of the former dwelling. The design of the renovated dwelling shall 
also take reference from either any recorded evidence of the architectural 

Page 595

https://secure.powys.gov.uk/ldp_representations/viewreps.php?LDPDocNo=34&LDPRefPointNo=64&L=0
https://secure.powys.gov.uk/ldp_representations/viewreps.php?LDPDocNo=34&LDPRefPointNo=65&L=0
https://secure.powys.gov.uk/ldp_representations/viewreps.php?LDPDocNo=34&LDPRefPointNo=66&L=0


Powys LDP 2011-2026              Deposit Draft with Focussed Changes and Further Focussed 
Changes October 2016

Cyngor Sir Powys County Council                                                                           130

or archaeological interest of the former dwelling, or shall be reflective of 
the local vernacular.

3. The proposal shall not be more dominant in the landscape than the former 
dwelling and shall not have a detrimental effect on the character of the 
landscape or the open countryside.

4.6.36 In order to protect the character of the rural landscape and local vernacular 
buildings, Policy H11 supports renovation, and partial re-build of rural buildings. The 
proposed dwelling and its associated works will be subject to conditions to ensure its 
sensitive and appropriate renovation or partial re-build.

4.6.37 Partial re-build means that the re-build should not cover more than 70% of 
the external walls. Substantial appearance or structure means that the dwelling shall 
possess the fundamental characteristics of a dwelling including features such as 
walls, window and door openings, evidence of the roofing profile sufficient to identify 
roof height, shape and features. In order to ensure the sensitive renovation of the 
former dwelling, it is necessary to ensure that the materials and features of the 
former dwelling are, as far as possible, incorporated into the renovation.  Reference 
should also be given to any architectural and archaeological interest of the former 
building in the design of the renovation, for which there may be evidence contained 
within the Historic Environment Record. Alternatively, and particularly in the absence 
of any recorded evidence of the design of the former dwelling, the renovated 
dwelling should be of a design that contributes to preserving local vernacular. 
® 34.67

Further Minor Change: FFC68 Section: Policy H12
 Amend text of Policy H12.

Reason: 
To provide a consistent policy terminology, in accordance with the Inspector’s letter 
dated 6/5/2016.

Amend first sentence of Policy H5 as follows:

Policy H12 - Replacement Dwellings ® 34.68

Development proposals to replace existing habitable dwellings will be 
permitted where they comply with the following criteria: 

1. The existing dwelling shall not have been abandoned and remains clearly 
recognisable as a permanent dwelling under Class C3 of the Use Class 
Order 1987 (as amended).

2. The proposal shall not result in the loss of a building of special 
architectural or historic interest or local vernacular character. Where this 
is the case, proposals will only be permitted where the building is proven 
to be beyond realistic repair.

3. The replacement dwelling shall:
i. be located within or adjacent to the footprint of the former habitable 

dwelling and reflect the form, size and scale of the former habitable 
dwelling unless there are demonstrable planning advantages to be 

Page 596

https://secure.powys.gov.uk/ldp_representations/viewreps.php?LDPDocNo=34&LDPRefPointNo=67&L=0
https://secure.powys.gov.uk/ldp_representations/viewreps.php?LDPDocNo=34&LDPRefPointNo=68&L=0


Powys LDP 2011-2026              Deposit Draft with Focussed Changes and Further Focussed 
Changes October 2016

Cyngor Sir Powys County Council                                                                           131

gained from deviating from the former dwelling’s orientation, 
position or size.

ii. respect or enhance the design of the original dwelling and those of 
surrounding properties and the locality.

4.6.38 Policy H12 supports the replacement of existing habitable dwellings 
providing they respect the character of the area and do not result in development 
which is out of scale with the locality. Where the dwelling to be replaced is 
considered to be of architectural, historic or local vernacular interest, there is a 
presumption against the replacement of such a dwelling, unless it is demonstrated, 
through the submission of structural and financial evidence, that the building is 
beyond realistic repair. ® 34.69

Further Focussed Change: FFC69 Section: Policy H13
 Amend text of Policy H13.
 Amend criterion 2 and insert sub-

criteria.
 Amend paragraph 4.6.61
 Insert new paragraph 4.6.1A

Reason: 
In accordance with the Inspector’s letter to the Council dated 6/5/2016:

 Term 'development proposals' included in criterion 1 to provide a consistent 
policy terminology.

 Criterion 2 amended to include the site reference to land allocation in 
Machynlleth; and a second criterion added for Welshpool to reflect the need 
identified in the GTAA 2016 .

 Paragraph 4.4.61 amended and paragraph 4.4.1a inserted to reflect the findings 
of the GTAA 2016 and the action taken in the LDP and by the Council to address 
the identified need. Dates of previous studies corrected.

Amend Policy H13 and paragraph 4.6.41 as follows, and insert new paragraph 
4.6.41A:

Policy H13 - Gypsy and Traveller Sites and Caravans ® 34.70

1. To meet a proven, unmet local need, development proposals for 
permanent or temporary (transient or transit) Gypsy and Travellers sites 
and caravans will be permitted where:

i. Located in a sustainable location with access to educational, 
community, social, health and other services and facilities.

ii. Ancillary buildings must be for essential purposes which cannot 
reasonably be accommodated through the re-use of other existing 
buildings in the vicinity.

2. A permanent site is allocated in Machynlleth to meet an identified need. 
In accordance with assessed need, the Council: 

I. Will deliver 5 pitches at P42 HA4, Newtown Road, Machynlleth for 
permanent gypsy and traveller accommodation by 2021.

Page 597

https://secure.powys.gov.uk/ldp_representations/viewreps.php?LDPDocNo=34&LDPRefPointNo=69&L=0
https://secure.powys.gov.uk/ldp_representations/viewreps.php?LDPDocNo=34&LDPRefPointNo=70&L=0


Powys LDP 2011-2026              Deposit Draft with Focussed Changes and Further Focussed 
Changes October 2016

Cyngor Sir Powys County Council                                                                           132

II. Will identify and deliver a suitable permanent site in Welshpool for 2 
pitches by 2026.

4.6.39 Proposals for gypsy and traveller sites or accommodation will be supported 
where they meet the needs of persons defined as Gypsy and Travellers by the 
Housing (Wales) Act 2014. 

4.6.40 Sites should be constructed in accordance with the standards set out for 
Gypsy and Traveller sites32 and should also satisfy the criteria of the Development 
Management Policies to ensure acceptable design, security, landscaping, and 
screening to limit any adverse visual impact. 

4.6.41 The Gypsy and Traveller Accommodation Needs Assessment 2007 2008 
identified a need for 14 pitches in South Powys. A permanent site on the edge of 
Brecon, within the BBNP, was compulsorily purchased acquired by the County 
Council and construction completed in 2014 to meet this need. There is also an 
existing permanent site in Welshpool. The 2007 2008 Assessment was updated in 
2015 2014 and further assessments will be prepared in accordance with the 
requirements of the Housing (Wales) Act 2014. The updated Assessment 2015 2014 
led to the need being identified for a permanent site in Machynlleth and a site has 
been allocated as allocation P42 HA4 on the inset map to meet this need in 
accordance with statutory requirements.

4.6.41a The Council undertook a Gypsy and Traveller Accommodation Assessment 
(GTAA) in 2016 in accordance with the Housing (Wales) Act 2014. This confirmed 
the need in Machynlleth and identified the need for 5 pitches to be provided by 2021, 
which is to be met by allocation P42 HA4. It also identified a future need in 
Welshpool for 2 pitches by 2026 which the Council is also committed to meeting. 
The GTAA acknowledged that a further need for 3 pitches in Brecon, within the 
BBNP, was being addressed by the Council on the existing public site.

 ® 34.71

Further Focussed Change: FFC70 Section: Policy H14
 Delete Policy H14 and re-locate 

within new Policy DM15.
Reason:
Policy H14 and paragraphs 4.6.42 - 4.6.48 are deleted and incorporated within a 
replacement Policy DM15 – Design and Resources in accordance with the 
Inspector's letter dated 6/5/16 in order to improve the clarity and the effectiveness of 
the LDP.

Delete Policy H14 and its supporting reasoned justification as follows:

Policy H14 - Open Space Provision in Housing Development ® 34.72

32 http://wales.gov.uk/topics/people-and-
communities/communitycohesion/publications/goodpractice/?lang=en

Page 598

https://secure.powys.gov.uk/ldp_representations/viewreps.php?LDPDocNo=34&LDPRefPointNo=71&L=0
https://secure.powys.gov.uk/ldp_representations/viewreps.php?LDPDocNo=34&LDPRefPointNo=72&L=0
http://wales.gov.uk/topics/people-and-communities/communitycohesion/publications/goodpractice/?lang=en
http://wales.gov.uk/topics/people-and-communities/communitycohesion/publications/goodpractice/?lang=en


Powys LDP 2011-2026              Deposit Draft with Focussed Changes and Further Focussed 
Changes October 2016

Cyngor Sir Powys County Council                                                                           133

Housing development proposals for ten dwellings or more, subject to viability, 
shall include provision for open space:

1. The type of open space required should be determined by the deficiencies 
identified in the Open Space Assessment for that area and may be 
provided on or off site depending on what is considered most appropriate.

2. Arrangements must be in place for the long term aftercare and 
maintenance of the open space.

3. In some instances it may be more appropriate for developer contributions 
of the equivalent value to be paid for the improvement of existing 
provision.

4.6.42 This policy aims to achieve LDP Objective 14 (Healthy Lifestyles) by 
enabling access to open spaces, areas for recreation and amenity and allotments 
and ensuring developments provide play space where required. All open space 
requirements will be determined in accordance with Policy DM2. 

4.6.43 The Council’s Open Space Assessment identifies existing provision for the 
different categories of open space for towns and large villages. Where there is an 
existing shortfall in provision, there will be a need to make the required provision for 
that particular category. Where there are multiple deficiencies, an assessment will 
be made as to which categories will be prioritised. 

4.6.44 For developments of more than 10 dwellings that are not in towns or large 
villages the responsibility will fall with the applicant to carry out the assessment in 
line with the standards used in the Open Space Assessment.

4.6.45 Allotments and community growing spaces are important green spaces 
whose cultivation can contribute to sustainability, providing opportunities for leisure, 
exercise and healthy food whilst also encouraging interaction between different 
sections of the community. Allotments have been included within the Open Space 
Assessment and may be of particular value in areas of high density housing; 
attention will also be paid to the allotment waiting lists in those areas. The long term 
aftercare and maintenance of open spaces requires full consideration. Due to the 
current economic climate the County Council is unable to take on this role and it 
should not be assumed that the local Community Council will take on the 
responsibility. Options such as a residents association with the Community Council’s 
backing should be explored.

4.6.46 All open space proposals should take into consideration cycling and 
pedestrian, including the disabled, access routes on to the site, how the area relates 
to existing housing development and the rights of way network. Where contributions 
are being made towards existing provision there may be opportunities for 
improvement.

4.6.47 In some instances there may be opportunities to combine areas required 
for open space with other planning requirements such as for biodiversity or drainage. 
Discussions early on in the pre-application stage would enable this to take place so 
that the most appropriate area for open space can be identified within the site 
boundary.

4.6.48 Further details on the approach to be taken in relation to Open Space will 
be given in Supplementary Planning Guidance (SPG). ® 34.73

Page 599

https://secure.powys.gov.uk/ldp_representations/viewreps.php?LDPDocNo=34&LDPRefPointNo=73&L=0


Powys LDP 2011-2026              Deposit Draft with Focussed Changes and Further Focussed 
Changes October 2016

Cyngor Sir Powys County Council                                                                           134

4.7 Planning for Retailing and Town Centres ® 34.74

4.7.1 Shopping is an important aspect of everyone’s life and the provision of an 
adequate and accessible range of shops is particularly important if an area is to be 
an attractive place in which to live and work. Across Powys, the type and variety of 
shopping facilities on offer are very much associated with the historic development 
of the county’s settlements. Whilst the larger market towns provide a wide range of 
services, at the local level village shops and sub-post offices provide a much needed 
local service and a focal point for community life.

4.7.2 The LDP’s retail policies provide a framework that encourages new retail 
development to locate to existing retail centres (in accordance with the scale, role 
and character of those centres) in order to support their vitality, viability and 
attractiveness. The framework also acknowledges that it is important to support rural 
communities and the policy approach therefore also allows the opportunity to 
develop shopping facilities appropriate to a rural community’s needs.

Further Focussed Change: FFC71 Section: Policy R1
 Amend text of Policy R1
 Add new titles into the policy.
 Amend paragraphs 4.7.3, 4.7.4 and 

4.7.7.
Reason: 
Policy R1:

 Use of the words 'Development proposals' to provide a consistent policy 
terminology, in accordance with the Inspector’s letter date 6/5/2016.

 Title added to the columns for clarity.
Paragraphs 4.7.3, 4.7.4 & 4.7.7 amended for clarity purposes.

Amend policy R1 as follow and paragraphs 4.73, 4.74 and 4.77 as follows:

Policy R1 – New Retail Development ® 34.75

The retail hierarchy of Powys is:

Tier of Hierarchy Centre

Area Retail Centres: Llandrindod Wells, Llanidloes, Machynlleth, 
Newtown and Welshpool.

District Retail Centres: Builth Wells, Knighton, Presteigne, 
Rhayader and Ystradgynlais.

Local Retail Centres: Llanfair Caereinion, Llanfyllin, Llanwrtyd 
Wells and Montgomery.

Page 600

https://secure.powys.gov.uk/ldp_representations/viewreps.php?LDPDocNo=34&LDPRefPointNo=74&L=0
https://secure.powys.gov.uk/ldp_representations/viewreps.php?LDPDocNo=34&LDPRefPointNo=75&L=0


Powys LDP 2011-2026              Deposit Draft with Focussed Changes and Further Focussed 
Changes October 2016

Cyngor Sir Powys County Council                                                                           135

New retail developments proposals should be of a scale and design 
appropriate to the settlement and in accordance with the settlement’s role in 
the retail centre hierarchy.

Proposals that would undermine the retail hierarchy will not be permitted.

4.7.3 In accordance with national planning guidance33 this policy defines a retail 
centre hierarchy which recognises the specific role and function of the current retail 
offer within the County and is as a framework for determining future development 
proposals. All new retail proposals should form part of, or complement, the retail 
hierarchy which places area retail centres first and recognises the more local role of 
district and local retail centres This approach integrates land use planning so that, 
for instance, new retail development can be integrated with the provision of housing. 
In so doing this will reduce the need to travel, enhance existing centres and support 
the viability of existing retail providers.

4.7.4 As detailed within the Powys Retail Assessment Study34 the proposed Retail 
Hierarchy for Powys consists of 3 three tiers of provision. The differences between 
these centres is determined by a number of factors, including:

 The number, type and range of shopping services provided by the                                      
centre;

 The character and attractiveness of the centre;
 The size of its catchment area; and
 Accessibility by means of different transport modes.

4.7.5 Area Retail Centres: The largest retail centres in the County are accessible 
to a wide range of transport modes and characterised by having a well-defined town 
centre, containing a wide range of retail outlets, financial and professional services, 
both nationally and locally owned. They serve not only their resident population, but 
also a wide catchment area due to the nature of retail facilities and services they 
offer. Settlements categorised as Area Retail Centres are therefore considered to be 
strategically important in terms of their retail and service provision and best suited to 
accommodate large new retail developments.

4.7.6 District Retail Centres: These towns provide significant retail facilities for 
their immediate hinterlands and for visitors to the area but do not perform the wider 
role of Area Retail Centres. They have a good range of shops and services and 
whilst capable of satisfactorily accommodating modest new retail developments, are 
less well suited to larger developments.

4.7.7 Local Retail Centres: These tend to be smaller towns or larger villages, with 
lesser catchment areas, generally characterised by either a very compact retail area 
or a dispersal of several shops. They offer a limited range of facilities and services, 
including banking and postal services, many of which are essential for day to day 
basic needs and for the successful operation of local businesses. They often form 
the focal point to the community, with community facilities located either within or 
close to the retail boundaries.  ® 34.76

33 Planning Policy Wales, Chapter 10 (para. 10.2.1) 
http://wales.gov.uk/topics/planning/policy/ppw/?lang=en
34 Powys Retail Study (September 2012), para. 5.36-5.38`

Page 601

https://secure.powys.gov.uk/ldp_representations/viewreps.php?LDPDocNo=34&LDPRefPointNo=76&L=0
http://wales.gov.uk/topics/planning/policy/ppw/?lang=en


Powys LDP 2011-2026              Deposit Draft with Focussed Changes and Further Focussed 
Changes October 2016

Cyngor Sir Powys County Council                                                                           136

Further Focussed Change: FFC72 Section: Policy R1A
 Insert new Policy R1A and supporting 

text.
Reason: 
To provide a new policy on retail allocations and confirm the position in relation to 
comparison floorspace, to reflect the findings of the Retail Assessment Study and in 
accordance with the Inspector’s letter to the Council dated 6/5/2016.

Insert new policy and reasoned justification as follows:

Policy R1A – Retail Allocations

The following site is allocated in part for retail development:

Site Name Location Size of Retail 
Development Area 

(ha)

Site Allocation Ref. 
No.

Former Kaye 
Foundry

Presteigne 0.4 P51 MUA1

4.7.7A The allocation makes provision for the retail need identified by the Powys 
Retail Assessment Study (addendum). The study identified a qualitative deficiency in 
the District Retail Centres of Presteigne and Knighton in terms of foodstore provision 
within the LDP period, and that there would be sustainability benefits in making 
provision in Presteigne which would reduce shopping trips / expenditure leaking 
outside the town. The redevelopment of the former Kaye Foundry site in Presteigne 
will enable this to be achieved, and provision has been made for a 1785m2 

convenience goods gross retail floorspace on this site. The allocation of land will 
accommodate all of the projected net additional convenience goods floorspace in the 
Knighton-Presteigne area. Furthermore, the scheme may also offer the potential to 
introduce / attract additional A1 and A3 retail floorspace to the adjacent Presteigne 
town centre area.

4.7.7B The study identified that existing vacant premises within town centre 
boundaries could accommodate future growth in comparison goods floorspace and 
allocations are not required.

Further Minor Change: FFC73 Section: Policy R2
 Amend text of Policy R2.

Reason: 
To provide a consistent policy terminology, in accordance with the Inspector’s letter 
dated 6/5/2016.

Amend wording of first sentence of Policy R2 as follows:

Policy R2 – Development within Town Centre Areas ® 34.77

Page 602

https://secure.powys.gov.uk/ldp_representations/viewreps.php?LDPDocNo=34&LDPRefPointNo=77&L=0


Powys LDP 2011-2026              Deposit Draft with Focussed Changes and Further Focussed 
Changes October 2016

Cyngor Sir Powys County Council                                                                           137

Within settlement Town Centre Areas as defined on the Proposals / Inset 
Maps, development proposals will be permitted provided it complies with the 
following criteria:

1. It enhances the vitality and viability of the existing town centre and 
accords with Policy R1;

2. It does not propose a residential (C3) use on a ground floor in a Primary 
Frontage; and

3. It would not result in an unacceptable concentration of non A1 (shops) and 
A3 (food and drink) uses within a Primary Frontage or non A1, A2, 
(commercial) A3 and other appropriate town centre uses in a Secondary 
Frontage, unless:

i. The shop has been vacant for a prolonged period and genuine 
attempts at marketing the existing use have been unsuccessful; or

ii. The proposal is for a community use which is of wider public benefit 
and in need of a town centre location.

4.7.8 Within each of the Retail Centres a Town Centre Area has been identified. 
These areas are the most appropriate locations for town centre uses and the policy 
aims to ensure a concentration of diverse town centre uses in accessible areas, in 
order to sustain and enhance centres whilst reducing the need to travel35.

4.7.9 Primary Shopping Frontages have been identified in Retail Centres where 
there is a concentration of primarily A1 shops along the most important shopping 
streets. The purpose of a Primary Frontage is to ensure that the retail units located 
in these key shopping streets are retained for A1 and A3 retail uses (shops, 
restaurants, cafes). Primary Frontages will ensure that non-retailing uses do not 
become concentrated to the extent that they detract from the appeal and 
convenience of existing centres for shoppers.

4.7.10 Secondary Shopping Frontages have also been identified in some 
settlements where there are frontages that make an important contribution to the 
vitality, viability and attractiveness of the centre but where a wider mix of uses may 
be considered appropriate. 

4.7.11 The policy allows and encourages a diversity of uses in Town Centres to 
increase their overall attractiveness for shopping, leisure and business purposes. 
The extent of non-retail uses will be controlled to protect the general retail character 
of central streets and maintain continuity of shopping frontages.

4.7.11a As a guide, at least 75% of units within the Primary Frontage should be 
retained for retail use (A1 & A3). Primary Frontages form the retail core of the town 
centre; here the majority of units should be retail. In the Primary Frontage the 
emphasis is on protecting and enhancing the shopping role. Change of use can 
result in concentrations of non-retail uses, which in a Primary Frontage can 
undermine the retail function of the centre. Any new development or change of use 
should therefore be able to demonstrate a contribution or enhancement to the 
shopping role. Non-retail uses should not be allowed to become concentrated within 

35 Planning Policy Wales,  Chapter 10 (para. 10.1.2) 
http://wales.gov.uk/topics/planning/policy/ppw/?lang=en

Page 603

http://wales.gov.uk/topics/planning/policy/ppw/?lang=en


Powys LDP 2011-2026              Deposit Draft with Focussed Changes and Further Focussed 
Changes October 2016

Cyngor Sir Powys County Council                                                                           138

individual parts of the Primary Frontage in a way that could undermine the retail 
function.

4.7.11b Within Secondary Frontages at least 66% of the units should be retained 
within retail use (A1 & A3). Within Secondary Frontages the aim is to ensure that 
any change of use from retail does not harm the retail function. It is however 
recognised that these Frontages will have a greater mix of uses than that of a 
Primary Frontage and that those other uses provide vital services that have an 
important contribution to make to the vitality and viability of the town centre. Here the 
emphasis should be on retaining a balance of appropriate uses whilst maintaining a 
predominance of retail uses. When determining an application for a change of use 
from retail, consideration will be given to the cumulative effects of continuous blocks 
of non-retail within the designated area. Non-retail units should not account for more 
than 3 adjacent units.

4.7.11c A potential threat to the vitality, viability and attractiveness of town centres 
is that of ‘dead shop frontages’ within the main shopping frontages. These occur 
when uses that may not require an active daytime frontage (e.g. night clubs, 
restaurants, book keepers) are established. ‘Dead shop frontage’ can be avoided by 
incorporating an A1, or other use that requires an active daytime frontage, into the 
development. There may be a requirement that premises be open during the core 
retailing times in the interest of the vitality, viability and attractiveness of the affected 
frontage and town centre.

4.7.12 The policy will be monitored, and the Council accepts that local 
communities may also wish to review Primary and Secondary Frontages during the 
Plan period. Where this occurs, the Council should be involved within the process 
from the outset if it is to approve any revisions as Supplementary Planning 
Guidance.

4.7.13 Where no Primary or Secondary Shopping Frontages have been identified, 
it is envisaged that the desired mix of retail, commercial and service uses can be 
accommodated within the Town Centre Areas without any detriment to the shopping 
function.

4.7.14 Proposals within a Town Centre Area must demonstrate that they enhance 
the vitality and viability of the centre. Therefore, conversion to residential use on a 
ground floor in a centre will not be supported in a Primary Frontage and is unlikely to 
be supported elsewhere in centres. Proposals for residential conversions on first 
floor level and above will generally be supported in line with the Development 
Management policies. 

4.7.15 The LPA will also require impact assessments in support of applications for 
large scale retail proposals. As a guide, large scale retail proposals within Town 
Centre Areas are anticipated to be of 1,000sqm or more or 280sqm or more in Local 
Retail Centres although in some circumstances an impact assessment may be 
required for smaller proposals. ® 34.78

Policy R3 – Large Out-Of-Centre Retail Developments ® 34.79

Page 604

https://secure.powys.gov.uk/ldp_representations/viewreps.php?LDPDocNo=34&LDPRefPointNo=78&L=0
https://secure.powys.gov.uk/ldp_representations/viewreps.php?LDPDocNo=34&LDPRefPointNo=79&L=0


Powys LDP 2011-2026              Deposit Draft with Focussed Changes and Further Focussed 
Changes October 2016

Cyngor Sir Powys County Council                                                                           139

Proposals for large scale retail developments will only be permitted outside of 
Town Centre Areas and within the development boundaries of an Area or 
District or Local Retail Centre and if they meet the following criteria:

1. The developer shall demonstrate that there is a need for the development 
and that there are no alternative more appropriately located sites available; 
and

2. The proposal, individually or in combination with other permitted retail 
developments, shall not undermine the retail hierarchy or have an 
unacceptable adverse impact on the vitality and viability of the Retail 
Centre or other nearby centres and accords with Policy R1.

4.7.16 It is the Council’s policy to locate future retail development within existing 
town centres wherever possible. Therefore, developers proposing new large scale 
out-of-centre developments will be expected to demonstrate that there is a need for 
the additional retail provision, that it can be satisfactorily located and that it will not 
have an unacceptable adverse impact on existing retail centres. 

4.7.17 National Planning Policy establishes the approach to applying the needs 
and sequential tests for retail development. However, TAN4 defines edge-of-centre 
sites as a location normally not more than 200-300 metres from existing town centre 
shops. A 300 metre distance from the boundaries of the centres in Powys will cover 
a significant area. Therefore when applying a sequential test the definition of an 
edge-of-centre site in Powys is a site outside but adjoining a defined Town Centre 
Area and easily accessible by town centre shoppers.

4.7.18 National policy36 identifies that retail impact assessments should be 
submitted for applications of 2,500sqm gross floor space or more. However, in 
Powys smaller scale developments can have a significant impact on existing 
centres. Powys’ Retail Study37 therefore identifies that the impact of all out-of-centre 
developments of 280sqm gross floor space or more should be assessed. This Policy 
is therefore applicable to development that has a gross floor space of 280sqm or 
more, or smaller scale proposals where it is considered that they may adversely 
impact on existing centres (e.g. where there may be a cumulative impact in 
combination with other developments or where the additional floor space would take 
an individual store above 280sqm). ® 34.80

Policy R4 – Neighbourhood and Village Shops and Services ® 34.81

The establishment of new neighbourhood and village shops or services will be 
approved where they:

1. Are located within a Town, Large Village or Small Village; and
2. Serve the needs of the local area; and
3. Do not undermine the retail hierarchy or have an unacceptable adverse 

impact on the vitality and viability of the Retail Centre or other nearby 
centres and accord with Policy R1.

36 Technical Advice Note 4: Retailing and Town Centres, 1996 (para. 6) 
http://wales.gov.uk/topics/planning/policy/tans/tan4/?lang=en 
37 Powys Retail Study (September 2012), para. 5.48 

Page 605

https://secure.powys.gov.uk/ldp_representations/viewreps.php?LDPDocNo=34&LDPRefPointNo=80&L=0
https://secure.powys.gov.uk/ldp_representations/viewreps.php?LDPDocNo=34&LDPRefPointNo=81&L=0
http://wales.gov.uk/topics/planning/policy/tans/tan4/?lang=en


Powys LDP 2011-2026              Deposit Draft with Focussed Changes and Further Focussed 
Changes October 2016

Cyngor Sir Powys County Council                                                                           140

4.7.19 Individual shops provide an important function at the local neighbourhood 
level within towns, villages and the more isolated areas of Powys. This also includes 
pubs and filling stations, which can act as essential outlets for basic daily provisions 
and services. This policy supports such development with a gross floor space of less 
than 280sqm 38. Policy DM11 refers to proposals involving the loss of neighbourhood 
and village shops and services. ® 34.82

4.8 Planning for Tourism

4.8.1a The high quality, beauty and variety of the Powys landscape, combined with 
its history and culture, create an area of great attractiveness which has huge 
potential for high value tourism. Tourism is one of the County’s main employment 
sectors. It is an important component of the rural economy and can help to provide 
new jobs and it is therefore desirable to support appropriate tourism related 
developments in principle, whilst sustaining the outstanding natural beauty. One of 
the Objectives of the LDP is to sustainably develop Powys’s tourism economy.

4.8.1b Relevant national guidance relating to tourism proposals include:
 PPW, Chapter 11 Tourism, Sport and Recreation;
 TAN 6: Agriculture and Rural Development ;
 TAN 13: Tourism; and
 TAN 16: Sport, Recreation and Open Space.

4.8.1c TAN 6 includes advice relating to diversification of farms and 
reuse/adaptation of rural buildings. TAN 16 covers leisure facilities forming part of a 
tourism development. No LDP policies have been included for off-road recreational 
vehicles or golf courses as they are adequately covered by the above national 
guidance. (TAN 16).

Further Minor Change: FFC74 Section: Policy TD1
 Amend text of Policy TD1.
 Amend paragraph 4.8.4

Reason: 
 To provide a consistent policy terminology, in accordance with the Inspector’s 

letter to the Council dated 6/5/2016.
 Delete reference to SP2 in paragraph 4.8.4 following the deletion of Strategic 

Policy SP2 to be consistent and for coherence.

Amend wording of first sentence of Policy TD1 and paragraph 4.8.4 as follows:

Policy TD1 – Tourism Development ® 34.83

Development proposals for tourist accommodation, facilities and attractions, 
including extensions to existing development, will be permitted as follows: 

1. Within settlements, where commensurate in scale and size to the 
settlement.

38 Powys Retail Study (September 2012), para. 5.48-5.49

Page 606

https://secure.powys.gov.uk/ldp_representations/viewreps.php?LDPDocNo=34&LDPRefPointNo=82&L=0
https://secure.powys.gov.uk/ldp_representations/viewreps.php?LDPDocNo=34&LDPRefPointNo=83&L=0


Powys LDP 2011-2026              Deposit Draft with Focussed Changes and Further Focussed 
Changes October 2016

Cyngor Sir Powys County Council                                                                           141

2. In the open countryside, where compatible in terms of location, siting, 
design and scale and well integrated into the landscape so that it would not 
detract from the overall character and appearance of the area and in 
particular where: 
i. It is part of a farm diversification scheme; or
ii. It re-uses a suitable rural building in accordance with TAN6; or
iii. It complements an existing tourist development or asset, without 

causing unacceptable adverse harm to the enjoyment of that 
development or asset; or

iv. It is not permanent in its nature.
3. Accommodation shall not be used for permanent residential 

accommodation. 

4.8.1 Tourist accommodation includes serviced visitor accommodation, hotels, 
self-catering visitor accommodation, static caravans, chalets, cabins, touring 
caravans and camping. Tourist facilities and attractions include non-accommodation 
related tourism development.

4.8.2 New tourist development is encouraged because of its contribution to the 
economy in terms of visitor spending, supporting local business and employment 
generation. However, the Council seeks to ensure that developments are 
sustainable and do not have an unacceptably adverse impact and effect upon the 
character and appearance of an area, the natural and historic environment or 
existing amenities, assets or designations. Non-permanent developments may, for 
example, include dark skies observatories or eco-friendly woodland camping sites.

4.8.3 Developments that include year-round facilities, such as all weather 
recreation facilities, that can be utilised by local people are encouraged. Tourism 
developments in a Town or Large Village can support the settlement’s role, function 
and character. Tourists can use existing facilities and services within the settlement 
which supports the local economy through spending and employment. Development 
that utilises existing buildings and/or brownfield sites is also encouraged.

4.8.4 Tourism development in the open countryside that supports an existing 
tourist facility, attraction or asset but is also sympathetic to the natural environment 
and rural landscape will be supported. Examples of appropriate developments 
include sympathetic additions or alterations to accommodation or facilities that seek 
to enhance quality, or developments on or adjoining tourist assets such as those 
listed in Policy SP2, provided the enjoyment and setting of the asset is safeguarded. 
Log cabin and chalet style developments that are sensitively designed and located 
to blend into the landscape and include substantial landscaping will be supported. 
Touring caravan sites and camping will also generally be supported provided they 
are acceptably located and screened and provide adequate access and servicing. 
Sporadic tourist development that does not relate to a tourist purpose or which may 
be damaging to rural tranquillity will not be supported.

4.8.5 Proposals for minor or incidental tourism developments such as small 
laybys, picnic sites, viewpoints, interpretive facilities, horse corrals, tourist 
information points and nature trails that would enhance access or usage of tourism 
facilities, attractions or assets will generally be supported.

Page 607



Powys LDP 2011-2026              Deposit Draft with Focussed Changes and Further Focussed 
Changes October 2016

Cyngor Sir Powys County Council                                                                           142

4.8.6 Tourist accommodation shall not be used for permanent residential 
accommodation and this will be controlled by a conditional planning consent. 
Conditions will also be placed on some types of development to ensure that if the 
venture proves uneconomic in the future the land is restored to an agreed condition. 
® 34.84

Policy TD2 - Alternative Uses of Existing Tourism Development ® 34.85

Development proposals for the change of use from an existing tourism use 
will only be permitted where it can be proven that the existing use is no longer 
viable. Proposals to change holiday chalets, cabins or caravans to permanent 
residential accommodation will be refused.

4.8.7 Existing tourist accommodation, facilities and attractions in Powys make an 
important contribution to the local tourism and business economies. Proposals for 
the redevelopment or change of use from a tourist use to an alternative use need 
careful consideration to ensure there are no detrimental impacts on the tourism 
economy, local employment, provision of local services and the local natural and 
built environments. This policy supports the appropriate change of use from tourism 
to an alternative use where it does not detrimentally affect its location.

4.8.8 In this regard practical and reasonable attempts should be made to secure a 
development’s future as a tourism business prior to its change of use. The applicant 
must provide a statement clearly illustrating the attempts to sustain the tourist 
business and how the proposed new use will support the existing community. 
Development that, for example will result in the loss of important local facilities, and 
in particular all weather facilities such as indoor sport or recreational facilities will not 
generally be supported as it would not support a sustainable and year round tourism 
sector.

4.8.9 Finally, tourist accommodation is generally not appropriate for permanent 
residential use, particularly where located in the open countryside. Applications for 
change of use from tourism accommodation (i.e. static caravans, chalets and 
cabins) to permanent residential accommodation will not be supported. These types 
of accommodation do not meet the high standards associated with permanent 
residency, for example amenity space, access and parking. Should these structures 
be no longer viable as tourism accommodation they should be removed from site.
 ® 34.86

Further Minor Change: FFC75 Section: Policy TD3
 Amend text of Policy TD3

Reason: 
To provide a consistent policy terminology, in accordance with the Inspector’s letter 
to the Council dated 6/5/2016.

Amend wording of first sentence of Policy TD3 as follows:

Policy TD3 – Montgomery Canal and Associated Development ® 34.87

Development proposals that support the restoration of the Montgomery Canal 
and preserve and enhance the role of the canal as a multifunctional resource, 

Page 608

https://secure.powys.gov.uk/ldp_representations/viewreps.php?LDPDocNo=34&LDPRefPointNo=84&L=0
https://secure.powys.gov.uk/ldp_representations/viewreps.php?LDPDocNo=34&LDPRefPointNo=85&L=0
https://secure.powys.gov.uk/ldp_representations/viewreps.php?LDPDocNo=34&LDPRefPointNo=86&L=0
https://secure.powys.gov.uk/ldp_representations/viewreps.php?LDPDocNo=34&LDPRefPointNo=87&L=0


Powys LDP 2011-2026              Deposit Draft with Focussed Changes and Further Focussed 
Changes October 2016

Cyngor Sir Powys County Council                                                                           143

including off-line nature reserves and other appropriate canal-related 
development, will be supported.

Proposals for development that would adversely affect the canal’s scientific 
and conservation designations or prejudice its sensitive restoration will be 
opposed.

4.8.11 The canal supports a nationally important aquatic ecology and, as a result, 
the whole of the Montgomery Canal in Wales is a SSSI. In respect of the
internationally important populations of floating water plantain, the
Montgomery Canal in Wales is also a Special Area of Conservation (SAC). To 
comply with the requirements of the Conservation of Habitat and Species 
Regulations 2010 as amended, a Habitat Regulations Assessment of development 
proposals will be required to be undertaken to ensure there is no adverse effect on 
the integrity of the SAC.

Further Minor Change: FFC76 Section: Paragraph 4.8.12
 Amend text of paragraph 4.8.12

Reason: 
Paragraph 4.8.12 amended in response to Focussed Change Representation 
5704.F9 to provide clarity. 

Amend final sentence of paragraph 4.8.12 as follows:

4.8.12 The canal represents a multifunctional resource that provides many 
opportunities for tourism, leisure, community heritage interpretation and nature 
conservation. Sympathetic restoration and use of the canal as a high value tourist 
destination will contribute to sustainable economic development. It also benefits from 
many important and uniquely preserved structures and buildings, a number of which 
have listed building status. However, major restoration work is required in order to 
return the canal to a navigable condition over its entire length to Frankton Locks and 
the Llangollen Canal in Shropshire. Any proposals that would obstruct its sensitive 
restoration would be opposed. The LDP Proposals Map identifies the line of the 
canal. 

4.8.13 The Montgomery Canal Partnership has produced a management strategy 
entitled ‘Montgomery Canal: Regeneration through Sustainable Restoration (A 
Conservation Management Strategy)’ to inform and guide the restoration and future 
management of the canal. This provides an understanding of the significance of the 
canal’s natural and built heritage and seeks to ensure that the community 
aspirations of restoring the canal will be balanced with the necessary environmental 
and ecological mitigation and enhancement. 

Further Minor Change: FFC77 Section: Paragraph 4.8.14
 Delete first sentence of paragraph 4.8.14.
 Add additional text into paragraph 4.8.14.
 Delete reference to SP2 and replace with 

SP7.
Reason: 
Amended in response to Focussed Change Representations 439.F4 , 5704.F10, 

Page 609



Powys LDP 2011-2026              Deposit Draft with Focussed Changes and Further Focussed 
Changes October 2016

Cyngor Sir Powys County Council                                                                           144

6256.F3, 6315.F8 and 6402.F3 to provide clarity and certainty. 

Delete first sentence, add to and amend final sentence of paragraph 4.8.14 as 
follows:

4.8.14 The economic value of day visitors has been shown (analysis by Liverpool 
University) to have a higher value than any equivalent (to SAC) navigation access. 
Appropriate canal-related developments are uses that can demonstrate that they are 
associated with, and justify locations in close proximity to, the canal. Such 
developments would be supported provided discussions with potential 
applicants/developers and the Council/National Conservation Body are undertaken 
at the earliest opportunity to ensure that there is no adverse impact on the 
designated site and proposals meet the appropriate Development Management 
policies. Examples include:

 Moorings;
 Boat services and facilities;
 Canal side visitor services and accommodation.

Proposals of this kind will be supported in line with Policies SP27 and TD1 and 
appropriate DM policies provided they do not impact adversely on the statutory 
designations, local settings or canal heritage. 

4.9 Waste

Further Minor Change: FFC78 Section: Policy W1
 Amend text of Policy W1.
 Alter reference in sub-criteria 1.i as per 

FFC51 and FFC52.
 Amend text in sub-criteria 3.ii

Reason: 
 To provide a consistent policy terminology, in accordance with the Inspector’s 

letter to the Council dated 6/5/2016.
 To ensure consistent and coherent cross-references.

Amend wording of first sentence of Policy W1 and criterion 1 as follows:

Policy W1 – Waste ® 34.89

Development proposals will be permitted for the following types of waste 
facility only:

1. In-building waste facilities / bulking stations on:
i. Allocated high quality, local and mixed use sites in Table E1 Policies 

E1 and E3.
ii. Existing B2 sites or small extensions to them.
iii. Sites of up to 0.5 Ha. adjoining Towns or Large Villages.

2. Household Waste and Recycling Centres in, or adjoining, Towns or Large 
Villages. 

Page 610

https://secure.powys.gov.uk/ldp_representations/viewreps.php?LDPDocNo=34&LDPRefPointNo=89&L=0


Powys LDP 2011-2026              Deposit Draft with Focussed Changes and Further Focussed 
Changes October 2016

Cyngor Sir Powys County Council                                                                           145

3. Sites for the treatment of biodegradable waste by means of composting, 
including anaerobic digestion and in-vessel composting where related to 
existing agricultural use.

3. Other waste developments including inert waste temporarily stored for 
recycling purposes shall be located on:

i. Existing B2 sites or small extensions to them.
ii. Allocated high quality, local and mixed use sites in Table E1 Policies 

E1 and E3.

4.9.1 This section seeks to enable an integrated and adequate network of waste 
management facilities in sustainable locations to complement the Powys Waste 
Strategy and national policy / guidelines (see Waste Topic Paper) to meet the needs 
identified in Regional Plans in accordance with the waste hierarchy (Article 4 of the 
Waste Framework Directive) with the long term aim of zero waste. In 2012/2013 the 
recycling and composting rate in Powys was 51% (Paragraph 4.2, Powys Waste 
Strategy). By 2024/25, 70% of all waste produced in the County will need to be 
recycled or composted, with only 5% being sent to landfill and a maximum of 30% 
diverted to energy from waste facilities (Wales Waste Measure 2010).

4.9.2 Powys County Council has worked in partnership with Ceredigion County 
Council as the Central Wales Waste Partnership (CWWP) to explore opportunities 
for the long term treatment of residual waste. The land requirement for residual 
waste treatment in the region will be dictated by the outcome of any procurement of 
the treatment services. Should this lead to the need for a treatment facility in the 
region, the allocated site in Aberystwyth (Glanyrafon Industrial Estate Extension 
E0301) is available and may be suitable for this purpose. In the shorter term the 
remaining landfill void at Bryn Posteg (Llanidloes) could provide sufficient landfill 
capacity to accommodate Powys’ waste which cannot be reused, recycled or 
composted.

4.9.3 Should an unforeseen need arise for additional landfill capacity, any proposal 
would be considered against Policies in the Development Management section of 
this plan and the principles detailed in Technical Advice Note 21: Waste. 

4.9.4 Food waste is currently transported out of County and, given the County’s 
rurality, it is unlikely that there will be large scale recovery proposals in the County. 
Opportunities exist for Anaerobic Digestion (AD) on farms. Proposals for AD 
requiring planning permission will be considered against Policies in the Development 
Management section of this plan, and Policy RE1 if relevant.

4.9.5 Household Waste and Recycling Centres are integral to increased waste 
recovery and reduction in disposal to landfill. The sites should be accessible and 
close to the largest centres of population and so, in accordance with the sustainable 
settlement hierarchy, new sites must be located in or adjoining Towns or Large 
Villages. Where planning permission is required for smaller community recycling 
facilities they will be considered in accordance with Policy C1 – Community Facilities 
and Indoor Recreation Facilities.

4.9.6 Other types of waste facility enable increased levels of recovery from the 
waste stream. Activities include deconstruction, materials sorting and storage 
facilities. The term ‘in-building’ refers to recovery and waste management facilities 
that normally take place within a building. Waste facilities are often sui generis, but 

Page 611



Powys LDP 2011-2026              Deposit Draft with Focussed Changes and Further Focussed 
Changes October 2016

Cyngor Sir Powys County Council                                                                           146

may be Use Class B2 or B8, with modern facilities suited to industrial estate / 
employment sites depending on their nature.

4.9.7 Temporary inert waste sites will be supported where they serve an identified 
need to facilitate major construction projects. Any other new waste facilities, 
including inert waste, will be assessed on their own merit provided that there is a 
justifiable need for the development. The justifiable need should refer to the local 
need as specified within the Municipal Sector Plan and Collections Infrastructure and 
Markets Sector Plan (CIMSP).

4.9.7a Any new waste development must be suitable in terms of size and scale and 
must not have an adverse impact upon the landscape, the natural environment or 
the amenity and health of the local population.

4.9.8 Construction, excavation and demolition waste can often be re-used as 
recycled aggregates to become a usable product. Therefore storage and recycling 
operations (urban quarries) are an appropriate activity, including within active 
minerals sites or B2 employment sites. This is considered by TAN 21 and Minerals 
Policy M1 (criterion 2). ® 34.90

4.10 Sustainable Energy

Further Focussed Change: FFC79 Section: Policy RE1
 Amend and add additional text into Policy 

RE1.
 Amend and add additional text into 

supporting paragraphs.
 Add new paragraphs 4.10.9 and 4.10.10.
 Insert new tables RE1 and RE2.

Reason: 
1. Criteria and Sub-criteria re-numbered to provide uniform consistency in 

accordance with Inspector’s letter to the Council dated 6/5/2016.
2. Criterion 2 changed to reflect Renewable Energy Assessment (REA) Update 2016. 

In particular to reflect the presence of the Local Search Areas (LSAs) for wind and 
the new tier of designation that they represent alongside the SSAs for bigger wind 
generation schemes. 

3. Addition of new Criterion 4 to reflect the inclusion of the new Solar LSAs and 
strengthen the inclusion of Solar PV within the Plan; 

4. In paragraph 4.10.5b amend SP2 to SP7 following the deletion of SP2 and its 
replacement by SP7 in section 3, The LDP Strategy.

5. Amendment to paragraph 4.10.8 in light of the changes to the REA and the need to 
include LSAs. 

6. New paragraph 4.10.9 to reflect changes in the REA and present the potential 
contribution that the County can make towards meeting the national targets for 
both renewable electricity and heat generation. 

7. New paragraph 4.10.10 presents new tables to summarise where the different 
scales of RE generation are to be located and changes to how energy related 
planning applications are to be determined, for both wind and solar power.

8. Amendments to paragraph 4.10.11 to provide clarity in light of the changes to the 

Page 612

https://secure.powys.gov.uk/ldp_representations/viewreps.php?LDPDocNo=34&LDPRefPointNo=90&L=0


Powys LDP 2011-2026              Deposit Draft with Focussed Changes and Further Focussed 
Changes October 2016

Cyngor Sir Powys County Council                                                                           147

REA with regard to renewable electricity generation. 
9. Amendments to paragraph 4.10.12 to provide clarity in light of the changes made 

to the REA with regard to the renewable heat generation and the role that DM15 
will play in achieving the identified contributions. 

10.Amendments to paragraph 4.10.13 made for clarity in light of the changes to the 
REA. 

11. Insertion into paragraph 4.10.14 of text on ‘shadow flicker’ in response to FC40 
Rep 6235.F18.

12.Amendments to 4.10.15 made for clarity in light of the changes to the REA. 

Policy RE1 – Renewable Energy® 34.91

Proposals for renewable and low carbon energy development, either on their 
own or in combination with existing or approved development, will be 
permitted subject to the following criteria:

1. Large scale wind farm developments (greater than 25MW) will be 
expected to be located within the boundaries of the Strategic Search 
Areas (SSAs).

2. Proposals for wind developments (0 – 25MW) will be considered within 
the boundaries of Local Search Areas (Wind) turbines outside these 
areas will only be permitted where it is demonstrated that there will be 
subject to there being no unacceptable impact on visual amenity or 
landscape character in accordance with Policy DM3 - Landscape, and 
through the number, scale, size, design and siting of turbines and 
associated infrastructure, and where they demonstrate an acceptable 
level of cumulative impact.

3. Small scale and/or community-based wind turbine proposals (less than 
5MW) will be considered in appropriate locations but will be required to 
demonstrate that impacts are confined to the local scale and with 
acceptable cumulative impact.

4. Applications for Solar PV Farms (greater than 0.5MW) are encouraged in 
Local Search Areas (Solar). Applications for small scale stand-alone 
Solar PV developments (less than 0.5MW) are encouraged in appropriate 
locations but will be required to demonstrate that impacts are confined 
to the local scale and with acceptable cumulative impact and are not 
incompatible with other forms of development.

5. All renewable energy or low carbon energy development proposals will 
be required to demonstrate that:

i. Measures have been taken to minimise impacts on visual amenity, 
biodiversity, and the natural and historic environment;

ii. There will be no unacceptable impacts on residential amenity; 
iii. The development will not compromise highway safety;
iv. The development would not interfere with radar, air traffic control 

systems, telecommunications links, television reception, radio 
communication and emergency services communications; and

v. There are satisfactory proposals in place for site restoration as 
appropriate.

Page 613

https://secure.powys.gov.uk/ldp_representations/viewreps.php?LDPDocNo=34&LDPRefPointNo=91&L=0


Powys LDP 2011-2026              Deposit Draft with Focussed Changes and Further Focussed 
Changes October 2016

Cyngor Sir Powys County Council                                                                           148

4.10.1 The Renewables Directive (2009/28/EC) requires 20% of energy consumed 
in the European Union (EU) to be generated from renewable sources by 2020. This 
target is pooled across the EU, the UK’s legally binding target by 2020 is 15%. In 
2012 the UK was generating just 3.94% of its energy from renewable sources, this 
being equivalent to a seven-fold increase in UK renewable energy consumption from 
2008 levels. 

4.10.2 To meet the legally binding target, the UK Low Carbon Transition Plan 2009 
sets out that by 2020:

 30% of electricity will be generated by renewables (e.g. wind, biomass, hydro, 
wave or tidal power);

 12% of heat will be derived from renewables (e.g. biomass, biogas, solar, or 
heat pump);

 10% of fuel will be derived from renewables (e.g. electrification).
This is implemented through the UK Renewable Energy Strategy 2009 and these 
targets were reaffirmed in the Energy Act 2013. This strategy explains that climate 
change, economic opportunities and security of supply are the key drivers for 
meeting the targets.

4.10.3 Energy Wales: A low carbon transition 2012 seeks to ensure that 
communities benefit from energy development. PPW (12.8.9) explains that Local 
Planning Authorities can make a positive provision by considering the contribution 
(target) that their area can make towards developing and facilitating renewable and 
low carbon energy, and enable this contribution to be delivered. 

4.10.4  PPW categorises four scales of renewable energy development. Policy RE1 
sets out criteria against which all proposals for renewable and low carbon energy 
development, across these four scales, will be assessed. This includes those 
relating to Strategic (>25MW for wind and >50MW for all other technologies), Local 
Authority-wide (5-25MW for wind and up to 50MW for all other technologies) and 
small scale (<5MW)(Sub Local Authority and Micro) proposals where they are not 
permitted development (EfW, CHP, Biomass, Hydro-Power and Solar technology).

4.10.5 Further guidance is set by Planning Policy Wales and Technical Advice Note 
8 and National Policy Statements, and Policy RE1 should be read in conjunction with 
these national documents. 

4.10.5a  The Mid Wales Conjoined Public Inquiry into five wind farm proposals 
delivered its conclusion in September 2015, with the Secretary of State refusing all 
but one of the proposals. The Council’s position at this Inquiry was initially to oppose 
the proposals but this position does not prejudice future applications which will be 
dealt with on their merits according to the criteria laid out in this policy.

4.10.5b   The County Council has not refined Strategic Search Areas in the LDP. 
Previously work was undertaken to refine the SSAs. Although this was not 
completed, the evidence prepared for this has been used to inform a large number 
of applications, including that for the CPI mentioned above. There is now a large 
body of evidence in relation to SSA’s and no need to refine the SSA boundaries at 
this point.

Page 614



Powys LDP 2011-2026              Deposit Draft with Focussed Changes and Further Focussed 
Changes October 2016

Cyngor Sir Powys County Council                                                                           149

4.10.6 To inform policy development, the Council prepared a renewable energy 
assessment (REA) in 2011/12. Subsequent to changes being made to UK national 
and Welsh renewable energy legislation and policy, (particularly in respect of who 
determines Planning Applications) the REA was updated in 2016 to make sure that 
Policy RE1 was still appropriate. Due to the presence of the SSAs in the County, 
Powys is contributing significantly to the UK target for renewable electricity 
generation. Findings from the assessment show that in Powys in 2008 the total 
electrical energy generated from renewable and low carbon energy technologies 
equated to around 86% of the expected consumption for 2020, however the total 
thermal energy (heat) generated from renewable and low carbon energy 
technologies was just 1.7% of the expected thermal consumption for 2020. Whilst 
the REA was not able to spatially identify all of the possible constraints that would 
act upon any renewable or low carbon proposals, The REA it does identifiesy 
spatially, at high level, areas of the County where there is practical viability for stand 
alone wind in SSAs and Local Search Areas (LSA), PV farms (in Solar LSAs) and 
hydro-electric power (including potential hydro-electric over 10KWe), as well as an 
Energy Opportunity Plan for the utilisation of renewable energy and heat. However 
due to the scale of the County and the likely range of proposals the REA was not 
able to spatially identify all the possible constraints that would act upon any 
renewable or low carbon proposal. These areas will form the basis of a framework to 
assist developers with site identification and highlight significant opportunities for 
householders, communities, businesses (through co-location) and the diversification 
of rural enterprises to benefit from micro and sub-local authority energy schemes. 

4.10.6A The REA Update (2016) also identified the contribution that the County is 
potentially able to make towards meeting the national targets mentioned above. This 
contribution is shown below. Further information on the methodology for calculating 
these figures can be found within the REA Update 2016.

Table RE1 - Summary of Renewable Electricity Contribution

Energy 
Technology

Existing 
Energy 

Generated 
[MWh]

Potential 
Additional 

Energy 
Generated 

[MWh]

Percentage 
Delivered 
by 2026

Total 
Additional 
Renewable 
Energy to 

be 
Delivered 
by 2026 
[GWh]

Biomass (CHP) 19,710 362,664 5% 18
Energy from 

Waste - 55,188 5% 3

Hydropower 28,523 48,618 30% 14
Landfill Gas 11,038 - 100% 0
Wind Power 739,598 2,658,485 25% 665

Solar PV Farms - 1,080,984 25% 270
Other 1,971 - 100% 0
BIR 8,848 13,140 25% 3

Total 809,688 4,219,079 973

Page 615



Powys LDP 2011-2026              Deposit Draft with Focussed Changes and Further Focussed 
Changes October 2016

Cyngor Sir Powys County Council                                                                           150

Projected Electrical Energy Demand in 2026 606
% of Powys Electricity Demand in 2026 potentially met by 

Renewables in Powys 106%

Table RE2 - Summary of Renewable Thermal Contribution

Energy 
Technology

Existing 
Energy 

Generated 
[MWh]

Potential 
Additional 

Energy 
Generated 

[MWh]

Percentage 
Delivered 
by 2026

Total 
Additional 
Renewable 
Energy to 

be 
Delivered 
by 2026 
[GWh]

Biomass (CHP) 24,966 674,520 5% 34
Energy from 

Waste - 48,180 10% 5

BIR 120,538 145,416 25% 36
Total 145,504 868,116 75

Projected Thermal Energy Demand in 2026 1463
% of Powys Thermal Demand in 2026 potentially met by 

Renewables in Powys 5%

4.10.7 Due to the presence of the SSA’s in the County Powys is contributing 
significantly to the UK target for renewable electricity generation. Nevertheless there 
are significant opportunities for householders, communities, businesses (through co-
location) and the diversification of rural enterprises to benefit from micro and sub-
local authority energy schemes. It is these opportunities to which the target in LDP 
Objective 5 is set. The REA combines all of the resources and opportunities together 
(including SSA’s) in order to provide an understanding of the maximum renewable 
energy potential for the County. The targets uptake of renewable energy will be 
monitored to help show how the LDP is assisting to delivering them what is 
considered to be an appropriate contribution from that maximum potential and, in so 
doing contributing to the achievement of sustainable development. Meeting these 
targets Realising the contribution from this potential would help to ensure that by the 
end of the plan period, and at the very least, irrespective of any further 
developments within the SSA’s, Powys will be generating enough renewable 
electricity in the County to offset all that which the county uses consumes and more 
(so will become a net exporter to elsewhere).  

4.10.8 The situation for generating renewable heat is less encouraging. The REA 
Update (2016) showed that just 1.7% of heating demand in the County’s expected 
thermal consumption for 2020 is currently met by renewables. An additional 30MW 
installed capacity approximately is needed by 2020 to meet the target. The REA 
demonstrates there is limited scope for viable district heat networks (DHN) in Powys 
however Policy DM15 provides measures aimed at promoting the uptake of 
renewable heat and electricity and therefore plays an important role in delivering this 
contribution from the maximum potential identified in the REA. meeting this target 
and will be monitored to Monitoring of Policy DM15 and RE1 will show how the LDP 

Page 616



Powys LDP 2011-2026              Deposit Draft with Focussed Changes and Further Focussed 
Changes October 2016

Cyngor Sir Powys County Council                                                                           151

is contributing to meeting the target and UK Low Carbon Transition Plan 
requirement. This is a very ambitious target, even by the end of the plan period in 
2026. Whilst the uptake of renewable heating technologies is being encouraged, it is 
recognised that delivery Meeting it will ultimately depend on external factors (such 
as wider national political support), and include many activities (such as household 
behaviour) that are outside the control or monitoring reach of the planning process 
so this particular target may remain an aspiration.

4.10.9 Policy RE1 will support delivery of the contribution towards the national 
targets policy by encouraging supporting all sub local authority and micro scale 
renewable and low and zero carbon energy projects, subject to there being no 
unacceptable impact on existing landscape character and other material planning 
considerations.

4.10.9A All renewable energy proposals must respect the existence and amenities of 
neighbouring residential properties including approved development. This is 
particularly the case when it comes to ‘shadow flicker’ from wind turbines and ‘glint 
and glare’ from large scale solar developments. 

4.10.10 Further details will be included within an SPG on Renewable Energy

4.11 Minerals

4.11.1a Minerals planning covers all minerals and substances in, on or under 
land extracted either by underground or surface working. Minerals make a vital 
contribution to the Welsh economy so it is essential that society has access to the 
minerals it requires. However, mineral extraction operations and related 
development can also impact on the environment, landscape, geodiversity and 
amenities. The Council has a responsibility to safeguard mineral resources in Powys 
from sterilisation in line with policy DM7, and to contribute to the sustainably 
managed supply of aggregates. This should be achieved by striking the best balance 
between environmental, economic and social costs; ensuring the prudent use of 
finite resources through efficiency of use, re-use and recycling, protecting the 
environment, reducing the impacts of mineral extraction, and ensuring high 
standards of restoration and aftercare.

Further Minor Change: FFC80 Section: Section 4.11, 
 Insert new paragraph 4.11.1B

Reason: 
Insertion of new paragraph 4.11.1B to provide clarity, in response to Focussed 
Change rep 1481.F3.

Insert additional paragraph as follows:

4.11.1B  No specific policy is included in respect to onshore oil and gas because 
National Policy provides an adequate policy framework.

Further Minor Change: FFC81 Section: Policy M1
 Amend text of Policy M1
 Re-number sub-criteria.

Page 617



Powys LDP 2011-2026              Deposit Draft with Focussed Changes and Further Focussed 
Changes October 2016

Cyngor Sir Powys County Council                                                                           152

Reason:
In accordance with the Inspector’s letter to the Council dated 6/5/2016:
 Inclusion of words ‘development proposals’ to provide a consistent policy 

terminology.
 Sub-criteria re-numbered to provide uniform consistency.

Amend Policy M1 as follows:

Policy M1 – Existing Minerals Sites ® 34.93

1. Extensions (working area, depth and duration) to existing Minerals / Coal 
sites (Table M1) will be permitted where they would:

i. In the case of crushed rock aggregate minerals help to maintain a 
steady and adequate supply; or

ii. In the case of all types of non-energy minerals address a shortage of 
high specification material that is of limited availability nationally; or

iii. For all minerals - bring clear environmental, economic or social benefits.

2. Development proposals that enable a higher proportion of secondary 
aggregate or recycled material to substitute for the consumption of primary 
aggregates will be supported on existing sites.

4.11.1 The policy provides the extended landbank necessary to ensure that 
throughout the plan period Powys can contribute to the regional supply of 
aggregates in accordance with the level of apportionment set out in the SWRAWP, 
RTS. To meet LDP objective 12, the Council as Minerals Planning Authority (MPA) 
must maintain a minimum landbank (permitted reserves) of 10 years for crushed 
rock aggregates throughout the Plan Period at the agreed rate of 2.51 million tonnes 
per annum for its contribution to the South Wales regional aggregate supply. The 
MPA has no requirement to contribute sand and gravel to the regional supply.

4.11.2 Table M1, below, details the existing mineral sites. It is envisaged that 
these sites will continue to meet the county’s contribution during the plan period. 
This will be monitored through annual returns. Policy M1 supports this approach and 
also allows for storage and recycling operations for construction, excavation and 
demolition waste within active minerals sites. 

M1 - Minerals Operations in Powys

Site Name Mineral Type Mineral 
Extraction End 
Date

Review of 
Mineral 
Permision 
(ROMP) Date

Buffer Zone 
(m)

Cribarth Sandstone 20 May 2023 N/A 200
Gore Sandstone 21 Feb 2042 31 Mar 2024 200
Dolyhir  ** / Strinds Sandstone 

/Limestone
21 Feb 2042 20 Mar 2027 200

Tan y Foel Sandstone 31 Dec 2063 16 Sep 2028 200
Tredomen Sandstone 30 Sept 2026 N/A – missed 200
Rhayader Sandstone 21 Feb 2042 29 Nov 2029 200
Criggion  ** Igneous 21 Feb 2042 31 Jan 2027 200
Llanelwedd  ** Igneous 21 Feb 2042 N/A – Missed 200
Little Wernwilla Sandstone 02 Dec 2018 N/A 200
Buttington Clay and Shale 22 Feb 2042 19 Apr 2026 200

Page 618

https://secure.powys.gov.uk/ldp_representations/viewreps.php?LDPDocNo=34&LDPRefPointNo=93&L=0


Powys LDP 2011-2026              Deposit Draft with Focussed Changes and Further Focussed 
Changes October 2016

Cyngor Sir Powys County Council                                                                           153

Sites marked   ** in Table M1 contain or are in close proximity to SSSI or SAC environmental 
designations and may require consents for any potentially damaging operations.

4.11.4 It should be noted that the MPA is investigating the potential of issuing 
prohibition orders to stop work recommencing at some sites.

4.11.5 For all applications, the use of conditions will be considered to ensure the 
environmental impacts of the proposed operations are mitigated. Proposals for 
mineral extraction will not be permitted unless accompanied by a comprehensive 
scheme showing how the site will be restored to agriculture, forestry, woodland, 
conservation or amenity after-uses; and such schemes must show progressive 
working and restoration, unless it can be demonstrated that this is not practicable 
without sterilising permitted reserves.

Further Focussed Change: FFC82 Section: 4.11.5a
 Insert new paragraph 4.11.5A

Reason: 
Insertion of new paragraph 4.11.5A to provide clarity in response to Focussed 
Change rep 1481.F3

Insert additional paragraph as follows:

4.11.5a An extant Petroleum Exploration & Development Licence (PEDL148) 
impinges into the MPA area south of Ystradgynlais. The Proposals Maps indicate 
the extent of the licence area.

Further Minor Change: FFC83 Section: Policy M2
 Amend text of Policy M2.

Reason: 
To provide a consistent policy terminology, in accordance with the Inspector’s letter 
to the Council dated 6/5/2016.

Amend first sentence of Policy M2 as follows:

Policy M2 – New Minerals Sites ® 34.95

Development proposals for new permanent sites for the winning of hard rock, 
sand and gravel, or coal will be permitted where these meet the requirements 
of National Policy, and in particular:

Brickworks  **
Middletown Igneous 22 Aug 2060 22 Aug 2030 200
Berwyn Granite Igneous 21 Feb 2042 Dormant -

Prohibition order 
being progressed

200

Garreg  ** Igneous 21 Feb 2042 Dormant – N/A 200
Caerfagu Sand & Gravel 21 Feb 2042 20 June 2013 100
Nant Helen 
Extension

Coal 31 Dec 2018 N/A 500

Page 619

https://secure.powys.gov.uk/ldp_representations/viewreps.php?LDPDocNo=34&LDPRefPointNo=95&L=0


Powys LDP 2011-2026              Deposit Draft with Focussed Changes and Further Focussed 
Changes October 2016

Cyngor Sir Powys County Council                                                                           154

1. To provide a supply of distinct building stone or dimension stone to fulfil a 
recognised local need/requirement; or

2. For coal where it would:
i. remove a mining legacy; or 
ii. prepare land for future development of employment and economic 

benefit; or
3. A borrow pit under Policy M3 below.

4.11.6 Given the Regional Technical Statement requirement for hard rock, sand 
and gravel and constraints around the remaining coal resource in Ystradgynlais, it is 
not considered necessary to allocate new sites for coal, hard rock or sand and 
gravel. Other than where development accords with either of criterion 1 or 3, no new 
hard rock quarries or new sand and gravel sites will be permitted. Proposals for the 
development of new coal working sites will be considered in accordance with the two 
stage approach as described by national policy in MTAN2 (paragraph 46). 
Conditions for all new applications will be considered as described in paragraph 
4.11.5 above.

Further Minor Change: FFC84 Section: Paragraph 4.11.7
 Delete reference to MPPW in paragraph 

4.11.7.
Reason: 
Updating amendment because MPPW has been amalgamated into PPW.

Amend paragraph 4.11.7 as follows:

4.11.7 The extraction of minerals in Powys is mainly for construction purposes 
providing for aggregate products. Whilst there are currently no proven 
unconventional hydrocarbon energy sources within Powys, any future development 
proposals will be considered in accordance with National Policy (MPPW paragraphs 
64 & 65) and also against the Plan’s relevant design and environmental protection 
policies. However, if future exploration were to lead to the discovery of different 
mineral energy sources, the acceptability of working them may well depend on other 
issues associated with the development.

Further Minor Change : FFC85 Section: Policy M3 and paragraph 4.11.8
 Amend text of M3
 Amend reference to MPPW.

Reason: 
 Opening words of Policy M3 amended to provide a consistent policy terminology, 

in accordance with the Inspector’s letter to the Council dated 6/5/2016.
 Reference in paragraph 4.11.8 updated because MPPW has been incorporated 

within PPW.

Amend first sentence of Policy M3 as follows:

Policy M3 – Borrow Pits ® 34.97

Page 620

https://secure.powys.gov.uk/ldp_representations/viewreps.php?LDPDocNo=34&LDPRefPointNo=97&L=0


Powys LDP 2011-2026              Deposit Draft with Focussed Changes and Further Focussed 
Changes October 2016

Cyngor Sir Powys County Council                                                                           155

Development proposals for temporary mineral workings to supply a particular 
construction project, remote from an authorised quarry, will be permitted 
where they meet the requirements set out in National Policy / Guidance. 

4.11.8 Given the size of Powys sometimes it will be environmentally and 
economically advantageous to allow ‘borrow pits’ which stop the need to import 
quarried stone over long distances with the associated disturbance and 
environmental impacts. Minerals Planning Policy Wales Paragraph 18 chapter 14 
contains the relevant national policy on this. ® 34.98

4.12 Community and Indoor Recreation Facilities ® 34.99

4.12.1 The inability to access a range of services considered necessary for day to 
day living is an important component of multiple deprivation and has a significant 
impact on an individual's health and well-being. Given the geography of the county, 
this issue is particularly acute in Powys. Accessibility of services is one of the core 
values of the One Powys Plan (2014-17).

4.12.2 The Wales Spatial Plan (2008 update) highlights that good access to 
services across the Central Wales area is a key determinant of quality of life, 
particularly in tackling the significant geographical and social inequalities of health, 
social care and well-being in the predominantly rural area.

4.12.3 Community facilities such as village halls and schools are essential to the 
social and physical well-being of the community and support the vitality and viability 
of our rural settlements. The LDP supports the provision of local facilities alongside 
improving access to existing facilities.

4.12.4 The loss of community facilities can undermine the sustainability of 
settlements, and is addressed within Policy DM11. 

Further Minor Change: FFC86 Section: Policy C1
 Amend wording of Policy C1

Reason: 
To provide a consistent policy terminology, in accordance with the Inspector’s letter 
to the Council dated 6/5/2016.

Amend first sentence of Policy C1 as follows:

Policy C1 – Community Facilities and Indoor Recreation Facilities ® 34.100

Development proposals for community or indoor recreation facilities will be 
permitted where:
1. Proposals are within or adjoining a settlement identified in the strategic 

settlement hierarchy;
2. No suitable facility exists nearby which could appropriately accommodate 

the proposed use; and 
3. The appropriateness and feasibility of multi-use has been considered.

4.12.5 The Policy supports the provision of community facilities such as 
community centres, youth centres, libraries, leisure centres, public swimming pools, 
other indoor recreational facilities, museums, art galleries, theatres, places of 

Page 621

https://secure.powys.gov.uk/ldp_representations/viewreps.php?LDPDocNo=34&LDPRefPointNo=98&L=0
https://secure.powys.gov.uk/ldp_representations/viewreps.php?LDPDocNo=34&LDPRefPointNo=99&L=0
https://secure.powys.gov.uk/ldp_representations/viewreps.php?LDPDocNo=34&LDPRefPointNo=100&L=0


Powys LDP 2011-2026              Deposit Draft with Focussed Changes and Further Focussed 
Changes October 2016

Cyngor Sir Powys County Council                                                                           156

worship, colleges, schools, hospitals, surgeries, emergency service stations and 
courts.

4.12.6 Facilities should be appropriate in scale and nature to their location. For 
example, facilities that generate a high level of travel demand and serve an area 
wider than just the local geographic community should be located within Towns. It is 
acknowledged that multi-use of facilities may not always be appropriate (for 
example, many faith groups require dedicated facilities). However, where multi-use 
is appropriate consideration should be given to the use of the facility for other types 
of community use including multiple or shared use of the building for public or 
commercial purposes. ® 34.101

4.13 Military Operations ® 34.102

4.13.1 Since the removal of Crown Immunity by the Planning Acts, the Ministry of 
Defence Estates Department is required to apply for planning permission39 for certain 
development proposals on the Sennybridge Training area. 

Further Minor Change: FFC87 Section: Paragraph 4.13.2
 Change reference from deleted Strategic 

Policy SP2 to SP7. 
Reason: 
Consequential change made as a result of FFC21.

Alter reference to SP2 to SP7 as follows:

4.13.2 The Sennybridge Training Area is a site of strategic military importance in 
the UK. In accordance with Policy SP2, 7 it will be safeguarded from development 
that would compromise its operation. 

Further Minor Change: FFC88 Section: Policy MD1
 Amend text of Policy MD1

Reason: 
To provide a consistent policy terminology, in accordance with the Inspector’s letter 
to the Council dated 6/5/2016.

Amend first sentence of Policy MD1 as follows:

Policy MD1 – Development Proposals by the MOD ® 34.103

Development proposals by the MOD for development within the Sennybridge 
Training Area or elsewhere in Powys will be supported where they sustain 
operational use of an existing facility.

39 The Crown still enjoys certain exemptions and special arrangements with respect to matters 
involving national security or special urgency. Special arrangements and exemptions also exist 
relating to enforcement against the Crown.  

Page 622

https://secure.powys.gov.uk/ldp_representations/viewreps.php?LDPDocNo=34&LDPRefPointNo=101&L=0
https://secure.powys.gov.uk/ldp_representations/viewreps.php?LDPDocNo=34&LDPRefPointNo=102&L=0
https://secure.powys.gov.uk/ldp_representations/viewreps.php?LDPDocNo=34&LDPRefPointNo=103&L=0


Powys LDP 2011-2026              Deposit Draft with Focussed Changes and Further Focussed 
Changes October 2016

Cyngor Sir Powys County Council                                                                           157

Further Focussed Change: FFC89 Section: 5. The LDP’s Monitoring 
Framework

Reason: 
 To relocate the Monitoring framework from Appendix 3 into the main body of the 

LDP's written statement as Section 5, in accordance with the Inspector’s letter to 
the Council dated 6/5/2016.

 To update the monitoring framework in light of additional work.

Insert new section 5 into the main body of the LDP’s written statement as follows:

5.0 The LDP’s Monitoring Framework ® 34.106

5.1 This appendix section sets out the information that will be reported in the 
LDP’s Annual Monitoring report (AMR) based on the period 1st April to 31st March 
and any actions that will be undertaken should the LDP be found to be failing to 
meet its objectives. A full review of the LDP will be commenced four years from its 
adoption. 

5.2 Methodology

5.2.1 The monitoring framework identifies the topic area and reference number, the 
relevant plan objectives, the target, relevant local and national policies, indicators of 
whether the target has been met, the source of monitoring information required. The 
monitoring will identify identifies triggers for appropriate actions in terms of severity.

Monitoring

Adrian, Angharad, Cath, Claire, Tanya, Richard – you’ll need to check through the 
framework and make any changes necessary.

Spatial Strategy

Topic & Reference Distribution of housing growth - AMR 1
LDP Objective 1 – Meeting future needs

2 – Sustainable settlements and communities
That development is permitted in accordance with the 
sustainable settlement hierarchy.

Target % of net residential development permitted by tier of 
hierarchy per annum as follows:
Towns –at least 50% of total (T, LV, SV, R/O)
Large Villages – at least 20% of total (T, LV, SV, 
R/O).
Small Villages – no more than 10% of total (T, LV, 
SV, R/O).
Rural / Other – no more than 20% of total (T, LV, SV, 
R/O).

Policies SP1, H1 (H7, H11 & TAN6)

Page 623

https://secure.powys.gov.uk/ldp_representations/viewreps.php?LDPDocNo=34&LDPRefPointNo=106&L=0


Powys LDP 2011-2026              Deposit Draft with Focussed Changes and Further Focussed 
Changes October 2016

Cyngor Sir Powys County Council                                                                           158

Local Indicator Number of net residential development permitted per 
annum: 
Towns – 53% of total (T, LV, SV, R/O)
Large Villages – 26% of total (T, LV, SV, R/O).
Small Villages – 5% of total (T, LV, SV, R/O).
Number of dwellings in Rural Settlements and the 
Open Countryside by policy

Source Annual Joint Housing Land Availability Study for 
Powys, Powys County Council
Development management information.

Triggers and Actions If the balance is wrong (e.g. little difference between 
the tiers) then undertake research to establish 
reasons and dependent on findings consider whether 
actions are necessary. If an unbalanced approach 
(e.g. greater proportion of development occurring in 
small villages than large villages, or large villages 
than towns, consider revising / reviewing Plan.

Topic & Reference Previously Developed Land – AMR 4
LDP Objective 3 - Efficient Use of Land
Target To achieve at least 40% of development on previously 

developed sites.
Policies PPW
Core Indicator Amount of new development (ha) permitted on previously 

developed land (brownfield redevelopment and 
conversions) expressed as a percentage of all development 
permitted.

Source Development management information
Triggers and Actions Less than 40% of development to take place on previously 

developed land will trigger a review of the policy and, 
dependent upon the review, actions may include policy 
review and modification.

Development Management / Environment

Topic & Reference Environmental Quality – Water – AMR 5
LDP Objective 5 – Energy & Water

To contribute to meeting the Water Framework Directive 
targets.

Target By 2027 for all surface waters to meet good status / 
potential or better and for all groundwater bodies to meet 
good status.
*Plan contributes to meeting this target. Other non-planning 
factors influence whether it will be met. 
This is also monitored as an environmental indicator 
through the Strategic Environmental Assessment.

Policies DM1 Criterion 10. DM2 Criterion 5, 6, 7 & 14 III).
Local Indicators By River Basin Management Plan Area: 

% of surface waters meet good status /potential or better; 

Page 624



Powys LDP 2011-2026              Deposit Draft with Focussed Changes and Further Focussed 
Changes October 2016

Cyngor Sir Powys County Council                                                                           159

and 
% of groundwater bodies are at good status.

Source Western Wales River Basin Management Plan 2009 & 2012 
stats:
http://naturalresourceswales.gov.uk/content/docs/pdfs/cons
ultation-pdfs/western-wales-river-basin-facts-and-
statistics?lang=en
e-mail - westernwalesrbd@naturalresourceswales.gov.uk
Severn River Basin Management Plan 2009 stats:
https://www.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/att
achment_data/file/291442/gemi0910bssk-e-e.pdf
e-mail - severnrbd@environment-agency.gov.uk

Triggers and Actions Deterioration (0 – 10%) – Investigation / internal audit and 
recommendations. 
Significant deterioration (>10%) – Consider policy review 
and modification.

Topic & Reference Open Space – AMR 6
LDP Objective 14 - Healthy Lifestyles
Target For each settlement to have the required amount of each of 

the open space typologies identified in the Open Space 
Assessment.

Policies DM1, H14
Local Indicator Amount of open space in each typology per settlement 

against agreed standards.
Source Planning Applications informing Open Space Assessment
Triggers and Actions No overall increase in the amount of open space as required 

through the Open Space Assessment, proportionate to the 
amount of development that has taken place per settlement 
– Investigation / internal audit and recommendations. 
An overall loss below what is required through the 
standards set out in the Open Space Assessment – Consider 
policy review and modification.

Topic & Reference Greenfield Sites / Loss of Open Space – AMR 7
LDP Objective 14 - Healthy Lifestyles
Target For the amount of development, that is not taking place on 

allocated sites, to result in a minimal loss of greenfield land 
and open space.

Policies DM1, H14
Core Indicator Amount of greenfield and open space lost to development 

(ha) which is not allocated in the development plan.
Source Planning Applications and Sustainable Development 

Indicators.
Triggers and Actions More than 10% of development, not on an allocated site, 

takes place on greenfield land or results in a loss of open 
space – Investigation / internal audit and recommendations.
More than 20% of development, not on an allocated site, 
takes place on greenfield land or results in a loss of open 

Page 625

http://naturalresourceswales.gov.uk/content/docs/pdfs/consultation-pdfs/western-wales-river-basin-facts-and-statistics?lang=en
http://naturalresourceswales.gov.uk/content/docs/pdfs/consultation-pdfs/western-wales-river-basin-facts-and-statistics?lang=en
http://naturalresourceswales.gov.uk/content/docs/pdfs/consultation-pdfs/western-wales-river-basin-facts-and-statistics?lang=en
mailto:westernwalesrbd@naturalresourceswales.gov.uk
https://www.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/291442/gemi0910bssk-e-e.pdf%20
https://www.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/291442/gemi0910bssk-e-e.pdf%20
mailto:severnrbd@environment-agency.gov.uk


Powys LDP 2011-2026              Deposit Draft with Focussed Changes and Further Focussed 
Changes October 2016

Cyngor Sir Powys County Council                                                                           160

space – Consider policy review and modification.

Topic & Reference Flood Risk – AMR 8
LDP Objective 4 - Climate Change and Flooding
Target No loss of flood plain
Policies DM1, DM2
Core Indicator Amount of development (by TAN 15 paragraph 5.1 

development category) permitted in C1 and C2 floodplain 
areas not meeting all TAN 15 tests (paragraph 6.2 i-v).

Source Development management information
Triggers and Actions Between 5 and 10 % planning applications in the floodplain 

in any given year are approved contrary to TAN15 – 
Investigation / internal audit and recommendations.
More than 10% planning applications in the floodplain in 
any given year are approved contrary to TAN15 – Consider 
policy review and modification.
Number of applications permitted with FCA’s not 
meeting tests i-iii in TAN 15, 6.2. Consider policy 
review and modification. 

Topic & Reference Sustainable Drainage Systems (SuDS) – AMR 9
LDP Objective 4 - Climate Change and Flooding
Target For all developments to incorporate SuDS
Policies DM2
Local Indicator All developments to include SuDS where appropriate 

(Excluding developments that have provided a full 
justification why SuDs cannot be incorporated).

Source Development management information.
Triggers and Actions If less than 95% of developments have incorporated SuDS 

where appropriate – Investigation / internal audit and 
recommendations.
If less than 90% of developments have incorporated SuDS 
where appropriate – Consider policy review and 
modification.

Welsh Language

Topic & Reference Welsh Language – AMR10
LDP Objective 15 – Welsh Language and Culture

 
Target No application permitted subject to the requirements 

of Policy DM14 – Development within Welsh 
Speaking Strongholds without addressing Welsh 
language issues.

Policies DM14 – Development within Welsh Speaking 
Strongholds 
DM3 – Planning Obligations

Page 626



Powys LDP 2011-2026              Deposit Draft with Focussed Changes and Further Focussed 
Changes October 2016

Cyngor Sir Powys County Council                                                                           161

Local Indicator The number of applications permitted accompanied 
by a Language Action Plan.
All developments of 10 or more will need to be 
accompanied by a Language Action Plan anyway – 
what would be the purpose of this indicator? 
Monitoring type and value of mitigation measures 
secured and implemented – AR. 

Source Annual review of Planning Applications and 
Development Management information/records.

Triggers and Actions One application permitted within the Language 
Sensitive Areas without addressing Welsh language 
issues. Is this appropriate given statutory requirement 
now to consider impact on the Welsh language i.e. if 
not considered, the decision would not be valid and 
could be legally challenged?- AR
Review of census and population data to consider 
decline in Welsh speakers within Welsh Speaking 
Strongholds.
Next census 2021?  Reference to other data sources 
- AR.

Planning Obligations

Topic & Reference Planning Obligations – AMR 11
LDP Objective 1 – Meeting Future Needs

2 – Sustainable Settlements and Communities
8 – Regeneration
9 – Infrastructure and Services
15 – Welsh Language and Culture

Target Amount of planning gain achieved.
Policies Policy DM1 – Planning Obligations
Local Indicator Total amount of developer contributions (£) received 

for/towards:
a. Transport infrastructure or improvements
b. Utility infrastructure
c. Affordable housing provision
d. Community facilities
e. Health facilities
f. Recreation and open space facilities
g. Education/Welsh language

Source Development Management/ Section 106 monitoring officer 
Information

Triggers and Actions Monitoring for information and to ensure S106 
contributions aren’t pooled more than 4 times.

Historic Environment

Page 627



Powys LDP 2011-2026              Deposit Draft with Focussed Changes and Further Focussed 
Changes October 2016

Cyngor Sir Powys County Council                                                                           162

Topic & Reference Environmental Quality - Historic Environment – AMR 
12A

LDP Objective 13 –Historic Environment
To reduce the number and proportion of listed buildings in 
risk categories 1- 4 on the Buildings at Risk database.

Target Reduction in number - 861 of 3916.
Reduction in proportion - 22%
*Plan contributes to meeting this target. Other non-planning 
factors influence whether it will be met. 

Policies L1 
Local Indicator Number of listed buildings in risk categories 1- 4 on the 

Buildings at Risk database.
Proportion of listed buildings in risk categories 1- 4 on the 
Buildings at Risk database.

Source Buildings at Risk database based on 
Development management information (ongoing, reported 
yearly) and Cadw update (every five years).

Triggers and Actions Increase in number of listed buildings in risk categories 1- 4 
on the Buildings at Risk database (Increase of 0 – 194) – 
Investigation / internal audit and recommendations. 
Significant increase in number of listed buildings in risk 
categories 1- 4 on the Buildings at Risk database (Increase 
of 195 or above) - Consider policy review and modification.

Topic & Reference Environmental Quality - Historic Environment – AMR 
12B 

LDP Objective 13 – Historic Environment
To protect, preserve and/or enhance heritage, landscape 
and cultural assets, in particular local non-designated 
assets.

Target To protect, preserve and/or enhance local heritage assets in 
accordance with national legislation and guidance

Policies DM16 Protection and Enhancement of the Historic 
Environment
DM15 Design and resources

Local Indicator Development being constructed that cumulatively or 
individually would have an adverse impact on a designated 
heritage asset within Powys.

Source Development management case officer reports 
Planning appeals

Triggers and Actions Where a planning permission is approved which the 
recommendation recognises would have an adverse impact, 
individually or cumulatively, on a designated heritage asset 
listed in the LDP policy in respect of the Historic 
Environment, and where this decision is contrary to the 
advice of CADW, Natural Resources Wales, Clwyd-Powys 
Archaeological Trust, or the Built Heritage Conservation 
Officer. 

Page 628



Powys LDP 2011-2026              Deposit Draft with Focussed Changes and Further Focussed 
Changes October 2016

Cyngor Sir Powys County Council                                                                           163

Investigation / internal audit and recommendations which 
may require policy / SPG modification.

Whether monitoring should focus on Conservation Area Appraisals, local heritage assets and 
local distinctiveness - AR.

Economy

Topic & Reference Distribution of Economic Development – AMR 13
LDP Objective 1 – Meeting Future needs

6 – Vibrant Economy
7 – Key Economic Sectors
8 - Regeneration

Target That employment land allocations meet employment land 
needs (in terms of quantity, quality and location) and that 
development is located in accordance with the LDP’s 
Spatial Strategy.

Policies E1, E2, E3
Core Indicator Amount of employment development permitted on 

allocated sites in the Development Plan as a % of 
Development Plan allocations and as a % of total 
employment development permitted (ha and units) per 
annum

Source Powys County Council planning consents.
Triggers and Actions The development of non-allocated sites for employment 

purposes will trigger an investigation into the causes for its 
location including whether allocated employment sites are 
meeting the needs of the Powys economy. 
Where considered appropriate investigative work and 
subsequent action will be undertaken in collaboration with 
representatives from the Welsh Government, Commercial 
Agents and relevant private sector representative 
organisations.

Topic & Reference Development of Employment Land – AMR 14
LDP Objective 1 – Meeting Future needs

6 – Vibrant Economy
7 – Key Economic Sectors
8 - Regeneration

Target Development of employment land and unit take-up
Policies E1, E2 & E3
Core Indicator Net employment land supply/development (ha.) per annum
Source Powys County Council planning consents and Employment 

Land Assessments/Studies 
Business Ratings
Welsh Government Land Agents

Triggers and Actions If there insufficient uptake of premises or land within use 
classes B1, B2 or B8 then an investigation will take place 
and, if considered necessary, action undertaken to review 

Page 629



Powys LDP 2011-2026              Deposit Draft with Focussed Changes and Further Focussed 
Changes October 2016

Cyngor Sir Powys County Council                                                                           164

the employment land strategy.
Assess requirements whether to increase or decrease 
supply.
Where considered appropriate investigative work and 
subsequent action will be undertaken in collaboration with 
representatives from the Welsh Government, Commercial 
Agents and relevant private sector representative 
organisations.

Transport

Topic & Reference Transport Infrastructure Provision– AMR 15
LDP Objective 1 – Meeting future needs

9 – Infrastructure and Services
Target To secure additional and improvements to transport 

infrastructure.
Policies T1
Local Indicator No. of planning permissions for transport infrastructure or 

improvements per annum
Source Development management information
Triggers and Actions Monitoring for information and policy usage to inform plan 

review.

Housing

Topic & Reference Housing Supply – AMR 16
LDP Objective 1 – Meeting Future Needs
Target Maintain a minimum 5 year supply of land for housing (as 

required by TAN1)
Policies H1 & H4
Core Indicator Housing land supply (in years) (per reporting period and 

since LDP adoption) and according to the latest Joint 
Housing Land Availability Study

Source Annual Joint Housing Land Availability Study for Powys, 
Powys County Council

Triggers and Actions Supply between 5-6 years – undertake research to establish 
reasons and dependent on findings consider whether actions 
are necessary to increase supply.
Supply less than 5 years – determine actions to increase 
supply, including consideration of additional housing land 
allocations.

Topic & Reference Housing Completions (Market & Affordable) – AMR 17
LDP Objective 1 – Meeting future needs
Target To provide 4,500 (300 per annum) dwellings over the 

period 2011-2026, comprising:
A. 3,243 general market dwellings (216 per annum) and 

Page 630



Powys LDP 2011-2026              Deposit Draft with Focussed Changes and Further Focussed 
Changes October 2016

Cyngor Sir Powys County Council                                                                           165

B. 1,257 affordable dwellings (84 per annum)
Policies H1, H4, H5, & H7.
Core Indicator Number of:

a) open market dwellings built per annum & since LDP 
adoption
b) affordable dwellings built per annum & since LDP 
adoption

Source Annual Joint Housing Land Availability Study for Powys, 
Powys County Council
Development management information

Triggers and Actions Completions 10% less than targets – undertake research to 
establish reasons and dependent on findings consider 
whether actions are necessary to increase supply.
Completions 25% less than targets – determine actions to 
increase supply, including consideration of additional 
housing land allocations.

Topic & Reference Windfall Contribution – AMR 19
LDP Objective 1 – Meeting future needs
Target To identify number of dwellings granted planning 

permission on windfall sites (non-allocated sites)
Policies H1 & H4
Local Indicator No. of market and affordable dwellings granted permission 

on windfall sites (non-allocated sites) per annum
Source JHLAS

Development management information
Triggers and Actions To be monitored for information and to assess housing 

supply additional to the dwelling requirement.
Information will be used to calculate potential future 
windfall contributions.

Topic & Reference Affordable Housing Delivery– AMR 23
LDP Objective 1 – Meeting future needs
Target To identify the amount and % of affordable housing 

secured in accordance with price area targets as follows:
30% in Central Powys & 20% Severn Valley Price Areas
10% in Rural North & South West Price Areas
To identify the tenure mix secured in accordance with 
evidence of housing needs.
To identify the type of contributions secured (on-site, off-
site, commuted sum) in order to monitor the balance 
between the types of contribution achieved.

Policies H4, H5 & H7
Local Indicator No. of affordable units granted planning permission 

No. of affordable units completed
No. of Social rent / Intermediate rent / Low Cost Home 
Ownership / Affordable Dwellings in Rural Settlement 

Page 631



Powys LDP 2011-2026              Deposit Draft with Focussed Changes and Further Focussed 
Changes October 2016

Cyngor Sir Powys County Council                                                                           166

units as a % of total affordable units.
No. of units secured on-site, off-site and equivalent no. of 
units through affordable housing commuted sums

Source JHLAS
Development management information
Section 106 register
LHMA

Triggers and Actions Within 5% of target % for price area – consider reviewing 
development viability and targets in policy H4.
Tenure mix part or non-reflective of evidence of need - 
consider reviewing development viability, targets in policy 
H4, LHMA and Affordable Housing SPG.
No affordable housing secured – re-assess impact of all 
policy requirements on development viability, full-plan 
review.
If more contributions secured from off-site provision and 
commuted sum, than on-site provision, the policy approach 
will be reviewed.   

Topic & Reference Exception Sites – AMR 24
LDP Objective 1 – Meeting future needs
Target 99 affordable dwellings permitted over the plan period 

after 1/4/2015 (9 per annum)
Policies H5 & H7
Local Indicator No. of affordable units granted permission per annum in 

accordance with:
1. H5
2. H7

Source Development Management Information
Powys Joint Housing Land Availability Study

Triggers and Actions Less than 33 permitted in 1st 5 years of plan period – 
consider reviewing exception sites contribution to target.
0 permitted – consider policy review.

Topic & Reference Removal of Conditions– AMR 26
LDP Objective 1 – Meeting future needs
Target To levy financial contribution toward provision of 

affordable housing to mitigate the loss of existing 
affordable or rural enterprise worker dwellings.

Policies H1, H10
Local Indicator Permission to discharge conditions

Permissions to vary conditions
Total Amount of financial contributions received
Amount of financial contribution received as a % of the 
sold price of the property on the open market.

Source Development management information
Land Registry Price Paid dataset

Page 632



Powys LDP 2011-2026              Deposit Draft with Focussed Changes and Further Focussed 
Changes October 2016

Cyngor Sir Powys County Council                                                                           167

Triggers and Actions Monitoring for information.
Consider reviewing policy % claw back if unachievable or 
consider removing policy if not used.

Topic & Reference Gypsy Travellers Accommodation– AMR 27
LDP Objective 1 – meeting future needs
Target No. of Gypsy Traveller Site Permissions (permanent & 

temporary) according to the need identified in the latest 
Gypsy & Traveller Accommodation Needs Assessment 
(GTANA)

Policies H13
Local Indicator No. of gypsy traveller sites and no. of pitches granted 

planning permission.
Source Development Management Information

GTANA updates
Triggers and Actions Monitoring for information to ensure identified need is 

satisfied.
If those in need not permitted planning permission for a 
site, consider the need to identify an allocation in the plan 
revision / review.

Retail & Town Centres

Topic & Reference Retail Development – AMR 28
LDP Objective 6 – Vibrant Economy

8 – Regeneration
Target That development is located in accordance with the LDP’s 

Spatial Strategy & Retail Hierarchy, ensuring vital and 
viable town centres.

Policies R1, R2, R3 & R4
Core Indicators Amount of major retail, office and leisure development 

(sq.m.) permitted in town centres expressed as a percentage 
of all major development permitted per annum.

Source Powys County Council planning consents and Retail 
Studies/Surveys.

Triggers and Actions 1 major retail, office or leisure development permitted 
outside of designated town centre boundaries contrary to 
LDP policies will trigger an investigation into the causes 
for its location. Resultant actions may include the 
reassessment of town centre policies and proposals. Where 
considered appropriate investigative work and subsequent 
action will be undertaken in collaboration with 
representatives from the Welsh Government, Commercial 
Agents and relevant private sector representative 
organisations.

Topic & Reference Town Centres – AMR 29
LDP Objective 6 – Vibrant Economy

Page 633



Powys LDP 2011-2026              Deposit Draft with Focussed Changes and Further Focussed 
Changes October 2016

Cyngor Sir Powys County Council                                                                           168

8 – Regeneration
Target Town centre frontages that contribute to vital, viable and 

attractive town centres.
Policies E2
Local Indicator Unacceptable concentrations of non A1 and A3 uses within 

Primary Frontages.
Unacceptable concentrations of non A1, A2 and A3 uses 
within Secondary Frontages.
Increases in the number of vacant units in Primary and 
Secondary Frontages.
Annual

Source Powys County Council planning consents and Retail 
Studies/Surveys.

Triggers and Actions Unacceptable concentrations of non-conforming uses or 
increases in vacancy rates in Primary or Secondary 
Frontages will trigger an investigation.
Where considered appropriate investigative work and 
subsequent action will be undertaken in collaboration with 
representatives from the local Town Council, Property 
Owners, Developers and relevant private sector 
representative organisations.

Topic & Reference Neighbourhood & Village Retail – AMR 30
LDP Objective 6 – Vibrant Economy

9 – Infrastructure and Services
16 – Community Well-Being

Target Retain and improve the provision of neighbourhood and 
village shops and services.

Policies DM1(6) and R4
Local Indicator Loss of a neighbourhood /village shop or service through 

change of use per annum
Source Powys County Council planning consents.
Triggers and Actions The loss of any neighbourhood/village shop or service 

contrary to LDP policies will be investigated to determine 
whether it has resulted in a net loss of shop or service 
provision to that neighbourhood or village. Subsequent 
action may occur if a net loss has been identified.
Where considered appropriate investigative work and 
subsequent action will be undertaken in collaboration with 
representatives from the local Town or Community 
Council, Property Owners, Developers and relevant private 
sector representative organisations.

Tourism

Topic & Reference Tourism Development – AMR 31
LDP Objective 7 – Key Economic Sectors

Page 634



Powys LDP 2011-2026              Deposit Draft with Focussed Changes and Further Focussed 
Changes October 2016

Cyngor Sir Powys County Council                                                                           169

Target No specific target.
Permitted developments should be in accordance with the 
requirements of Policies TD1, TD2 and TD3.
Amount & Type of Tourism Development including:

 Holiday accommodation development
 Chalet/Caravan park development
 Camping sites
 Tourism Diversification

Policies TD1, TD2 and TD3
Local Indicator The number and tourism development type of Planning 

Applications received for:
TD1 - Tourist accommodation, facilities and attractions:
(a) Within Settlements
(b) In the Open Countryside
TD2 - Changes of use from Tourism to an Alternative Use
TD3 – Montogomery Canal and Associated Development
And
The number of Planning Applications received for TD1, 
TD2 and TD3 refused.
Annually

Source Review of Planning Applications and development 
management information

Triggers and Actions If there is a large amount of refusals consider a review of 
policies.

Waste

Topic & Reference  Waste – AMR 32
LDP Objective To contribute to meeting the Powys Waste Strategy targets 

for recycling.
Target By 2015/16:

 58% of all waste produced in the County to be 
recycled or composted;

 Maximum of 42% all waste produced in the County 
to be diverted to energy from waste facilities.

By 2019/20
 64% of all waste produced in the County to be 

recycled or composted;
 Maximum 10% of all waste produced in the County 

to be sent to landfill;
 Maximum of 36% all waste produced in the County 

to be diverted to energy from waste facilities.
By 2024/25:

 70% of all waste produced in the County to be 

Page 635



Powys LDP 2011-2026              Deposit Draft with Focussed Changes and Further Focussed 
Changes October 2016

Cyngor Sir Powys County Council                                                                           170

recycled or composted;
 Maximum 5% of all waste produced in the County 

to be sent to landfill;
 Maximum of 30% all waste produced in the County 

to be diverted to energy from waste facilities.
*Plan contributes to meeting this target. Other non-
planning factors influence whether it will be met. 

Policies W1. 
Core/Local  Indicator  % of waste recycled or composted;

 % of waste sent to landfill;
 % all waste diverted to energy from waste

Number of waste management facilities permitted.
Amount of waste management capacity permitted 
expressed as a percentage of the total capacity required, as 
identified within relevant Local and Regional Waste Plan 
and National Policy guidelines (TAN 21);

Source Powys Waste Strategy monitoring.
Development management information.
Updates to relevant policies and strategies

Triggers and Actions Decrease in recycling and compositing / Increase in Waste 
sent to landfill (0 – 5 variation)  – Investigation / internal 
audit and recommendations.
Significant decrease in recycling and compositing. Increase 
in Waste sent to landfill (5%+ variation) - Consider policy 
review and modification.

Sustainable Energy

Topic & Reference Renewable and Low Carbon Energy – AMR 33
LDP Objective 5 – Energy & Water

To permit the installation of no more than:
 600MW of electricity from renewable, low or zero 

carbon sources.
 30MW of heat from renewable, low or zero carbon 

sources.
These figures represent what is considered to be an 
appropriate contribution made by the County towards 
national renewable energy targets by the end of the Plan 
period.
* 50MW of renewable electricity. 
* 30MW of biomass heat. 
* 16MW Building Integrated Renewable heat. 
This will help to achieve 100% renewable electricity 
production and 12% renewable heat production 
(compared to that which is used domestically in the 
County) by the end of the Plan period. 

Target A maximum of 120MW of electricity from renewable, low 
or zero carbon sources over two years (2016 – 2026).

Page 636



Powys LDP 2011-2026              Deposit Draft with Focussed Changes and Further Focussed 
Changes October 2016

Cyngor Sir Powys County Council                                                                           171

A maximum of 6MW of heat from renewable, low or zero 
carbon sources over two years (2016 – 2026).
5MW of renewable electricity per annum (2016 – 
2026). 
3MW of renewable biomass heat per annum (2016 – 
2026). 
1.6MW of renewable BIR heat per annum (2016 – 
2026). 

Policies DM15, Criterion 13.II & 14, and RE1
DM2, Criterion 14 II) & RE1 

Core/Local Indicator Number of MW renewable, low or zero carbon electricity 
installed per annum.
Number of MW of renewable, low or zero carbon heat 
installed per annum.
The capacity of Renewable Energy developments (MW) 
installed inside Strategic Search Areas by type (TAN 8).

Source Development management information:
 Number of MW renewable electricity permitted per 

annum.
 Number of MW of renewable heat permitted per 

annum.
This information will be collected from each application 
permitted. This will enable the capacity of Renewable 
Energy (non wind) development within Strategic Search 
Areas to be collated

Triggers and Actions Target p.a. +/- 25 to 75% – Investigation / internal audit 
and recommendations. 
Target p.a. +/- >75% - Consider policy review and 
modification. No increase recorded in the number of 
renewable energy schemes permitted

Minerals

Topic & Reference Crushed Rock Aggregates AMR 34
LDP Objective 12 – Resources.

To maintain at least a 25 year landbank of crushed rock 
aggregates

Target To maintain at least a 25 year landbank of crushed rock 
aggregates *Plan contributes to meeting this target. Other 
non-planning factors influence whether it will be met. 

Policies M1 & M2.
Local Indicator Ensuring the crushed rock aggregates landbank is 

maintained
Source Annual monitoring returns. Regional Aggregates Working 

Party.
Triggers and Actions 0.6 million tonnes of crushed rock aggregates per annum 

(25 -75% of target) – Investigation / internal audit and 

Page 637



Powys LDP 2011-2026              Deposit Draft with Focussed Changes and Further Focussed 
Changes October 2016

Cyngor Sir Powys County Council                                                                           172

recommendations.
<0.6 million tonnes of crushed rock aggregates per annum 
(less than 25% of target) – Consider policy review and 
modification.

Topic & Reference Sterilisation of Mineral Resources - AMR  35
LDP Objective 3 – Efficient use of land.

To safeguard non sterilised mineral resources of 
commercial interest.

Target To protect non sterilised mineral resources of commercial 
interest from sterilisation by other development.

Policies DM7
Local Indicator Amount of land - non sterilised mineral resources of 

commercial interest sterilised by other development.
Source Development management information.

Ha. of land sterilised.
Triggers and Actions 0 – 25Ha. per annum sterilised by approved development – 

Investigation / internal audit and recommendations. 
25Ha.+ per annum sterilised by approved development – 
Consider policy review and modification.

Topic & Reference Future extraction from Dormant Minerals Sites  AMR 
36

LDP Objective 12 – Resources.
To facilitate a sustainable pattern of supply across the 
South Wales Region.

Target To review the likelihood of future extraction from long 
time inactive reserves identified in table 1 annually.
*Plan contributes to meeting this target. Other non-
planning factors influence whether it will be met. 

Policies M1 and Table M1. 
Paragraph 21 of Minerals Technical Advice Note 1.

Local Indicator Number of dormant sites where extraction is not, in the 
opinion of the Authority, likely to begin again.

Source Lists explaining:
1. Dormant sites where extraction is, in the opinion of 

the Authority, likely to begin again.
2. Dormant sites where extraction is not, in the 

opinion of the Authority, likely to begin again.
Triggers and Actions Number of sites on list 2 remains constant – Investigation / 

internal audit and recommendations. 
Number of sites on list 2 increases – Consider policy 
review and modification.

Topic & Reference Resources - Minerals  AMR 37
LDP Objective 10 – Important assets.

To protect against bad neighbour development.

Page 638



Powys LDP 2011-2026              Deposit Draft with Focussed Changes and Further Focussed 
Changes October 2016

Cyngor Sir Powys County Council                                                                           173

Target That no incompatible development is approved in the 
buffer zones identified on the proposals maps.

Policies DM8.
Local Indicator Number of applications approved in buffer zones.
Source Development management information.
Triggers and Actions One or more applications approved – Investigation / 

internal audit and recommendations.

Topic & Reference Aggregates Capacity  AMR 38
LDP Objective 10 – Important assets.

12 - Resources
Target To comply with  the Aggregates Regional Technical 

Statement (MTAN);
Policies M1 & M2
Core Indicator The landbank as reported in RAWP AMR based on 10 year 

sales trend info. 

Source Development management information.
Triggers and Actions Significant increase will lead to (+10%) in any one year - 

Investigation / internal audit and recommendations.

Military Operations (MOD)

Topic & Reference Material Assets – Sennybridge Training Area  - AMR 
39

LDP Objective LDP Objective 10 – Important Assets.
To safeguard and support the continued operational use of 
the Sennybridge Training Area.

Target For the Sennybridge Training Area to continue as a 
nationally significant training facility.
*Plan contributes to meeting this target. Other non-
planning factors influence whether it will be met. 

Policies Policies DM1 Criterion 7, i, c. and MD1.
Local Indicator The continued operation of the Sennybridge Training Area.

Source Development management information.
Triggers and Actions Number of relevant applications per annum for 

development of the range approved <100% – Investigation 
/ internal audit and recommendations. Indication of the 
significant decline in use of the Sennybridge Training Area 
– Consider policy review and modification.

Page 639



Powys LDP 2011-2026              Deposit Draft with Focussed Changes and Further Focussed Changes October 2016

Cyngor Sir Powys County Council                                                                           174

Appendix 1 – Settlement Allocations ® 34.104

Further Focussed Change: FFC90 Section: Appendix 1 – Settlement Allocations

General Reasons: 

 Update Appendix 1 site allocation and commitments table to reflect position at 1/4/2015. 
 To address changes proposed to the site allocations / commitments, in response to representations received and/or further 

evidence. 
 To incorporate outstanding / existing housing Commitments from elsewhere in the Plan area (using base date of 1/4/2015) 
 To incorporate revised dwelling unit numbers for all allocated sites (HA) to align with the viability assessment. 
 To revise the affordable housing unit target numbers for all allocated sites (HA) to reflect the viability assessment (as a result 

of revised densities and price area % contributions). Still to be done
 For the following 7 sites, clarity provided to show the extent of sites to be phased within the Plan period: P28 HA4 (Land at 

Ridgebourne); P45 HA1 (Montgomery); P2 HA2 (Abermule); P3 HA1 (Arddleen); P18 HA1 (Four Crosses); P40 HA2 
(Llanymynech); P56 HA1 (Trewern).

 For the following allocated sites, the number of units (for total and/or affordable) have changed to comply with the revised 
density figures. P08 HA2 (Builth Wells), P08 HA3 (Builth Wells) .P24 HA1 (Knighton), P28 HA2 (Knighton), P28 HA3 
(Knighton),P30 HA1 (Llanfair Caereinion), P32 HA1 (Llanfyllin), P35 HA1 (Llanidloes), P35 HA2 (Llanidloes), P42 HA1 
(Machynlleth), P42 HA2 (Machynlleth), P42 HA3 (Machynlleth), P42 HA4 (Machynlleth), P45 HA1 (Montgomery), P48 HA2 
(Newtown), P48 HA3 (Newtown), P48 HA4 (Newtown), P51 MUA1 (Presteigne), P51 HA2 (Presteigne), P52 HA2 (Rhayader), 
P57 HA2 (Welshpool), P57 HA3 (Welshpool), P58 HA1 (Ystradgynlais), P58 HA3 (Ystradgynlais), P58 HA11 (Ystradgynlais), 
P21 MUA1 (Hay-on-Wye), P01 HA1 (Abercrave), P02 HA1 (Abermule),P02 HA2 (Abermule), P03 HA1 (Arddleen), P06 HA1 
(Boughrood & Llyswen),  P07 HA1 (Bronllys), P09 HA1 (Caersws), P10 HA1 (Carno), P10 HA2 (Carno), P12 HA1 
(Churchstoke), P13 HA1 (Clyro), P15 HA1 (Crewgreen), P16 HA1 (Crossgates), P18 HA1 (Four Crosses), P20 HA2 
(Guilsfield), P22 HA1 (Howey), P22 HA2 (Howey), P26 HA1 (Llanbrynmair), P29 HA1 (Llandrinio), P33 HA1 (Llangurig), P37 
HA1 (Llansantffraid-ym-Mechain), P40 HA1 (Llanymynech), P40 HA2 (Llanymynech), P41 HA1 (Llanyre), P43 HA1 (Meifod), 
P44 HA1 (Middletown), P49 HA1 (Penybontfawr), P50 HA1 (Pontrobert), P53 MUA1 (Three Cocks), P55 HA1 (Tregynon),P56 
HA1 (Trewern).

P
age 640



Powys LDP 2011-2026              Deposit Draft with Focussed Changes and Further Focussed Changes October 2016

Cyngor Sir Powys County Council                                                                           175

Additional site specific reasons are listed below.

Towns

Knighton P24 HA1 – Amendment to site area from 1.4 to 0.96

Llandrindod Wells P28 HC2 – Affordable housing target amended to zero and removal of reference to the site being 100% 
affordable housing in the constraints column, due to a previous error made – the history on this site had been confused with an 
application on an adjacent site.

Llanidloes P35 EA2 - Amend size of site following re-measuring post development.

Llanidloes P35 EA1 - Amend name in accordance with Policy E1.

Llanidloes P35 HC2 – Amendment to text in Issues Column to provide additional information.

Machynlleth P42 EA1 Amend name to Treowain Enterprise Park. 

Machynlleth P42 HA4 – Amendment to number of units from 2+ to 5 to align with the findings of the GTAA (draft) 2016.

Montgomery P45 HC1 – Amendment to number of units from 18 to 13 to align with JHLAS. 

Newtown P48 HC5 – Amendment to number of units from 96 to 103 

Presteigne P51 MUA1 – Rep 4786.F2 (FC45) "… Town Centre and historic environment to be demonstrated. “Traffic 
Assessment required”. *Project level HRA screening may be ….."
Rhayader P52 HA1 - Amend mis-spelling of Tir Gia to Tir Gaia. 

Ystradgynlais P58 HA9 – Amendments to text in Issues column  in response to Rep 6348.F4 (FC83) 

P
age 641



Powys LDP 2011-2026              Deposit Draft with Focussed Changes and Further Focussed Changes October 2016

Cyngor Sir Powys County Council                                                                           176

Ystradgynlais P58 HA11 – Amendments to text in Issues column in response to Rep 6348.F5 (FC84)

Ystradgynlais P58 HA12 – Amendments to text in Issues column in response to Reps 6315.F15 and 6348.F6 (FC85) 

Ystradgynlais 58 EA1 – Amend site size to be consistent with Policy E1.

Buttington P59 EA1 -  Amendments to text in Issues column  in response to Rep 27.F7. 

Large Villages

Abermule P02 HA1 – Amendment to site area from 0.2 to 0.4 hectares to reflect the site area allocated. 

Abermule P02 EA1 – Amend site name in accordance with Policy E1.

Berriew P04 HA1 - Amendment to text in Issues column in response to Rep 6315.F17 and 27.4.

Boughrood & Llyswen P06 HA1 – Amendment to text in Issues column in response to Rep 4786.F3, 6416.F6 and 6416.F7 
(FC45) 

Boughrood & Llyswen P06 HA2 – Amendment to text in Issues column in response to Rep 6416.F6 and 6416.F7

Churchstoke P12 HC4 – Inclusion of outstanding / existing UDP Commitment 

Churchstoke P12 EA1 – Amend site name and size in accordance with Policy E1.

Guilsfield P20 HC1 – Inclusion of outstanding / existing UDP Commitment 

Kerry P23 HC1 - Amend number of units from 64 to 62 to align with JHLAS. 

Llansantffraid-ym-Mechain P37 HC2 - Inclusion of outstanding / existing UDP Commitment 

Inclusion of New Table for ‘Other Outstanding Housing Commitments elsewhere in the Plan Area (as at 01/04/2015)’

Inclusion of a new table to account for other housing Commitments found elsewhere in the Plan area using the base date of 1st 

P
age 642



Powys LDP 2011-2026              Deposit Draft with Focussed Changes and Further Focussed Changes October 2016

Cyngor Sir Powys County Council                                                                           177

April 2015. Table to include sites in the following settlements: Adfa, Cemmaes, Coedway, Commins Coch, Garth, Gwystre, 
Llanbister, Llandew, Llandewi, Llanfihangel Talyllyn, Llangammarch Wells, Penybont & Nantmel. 

Towns Inset 
Map 

Site 
Ref

Site Name Site 
Area 
(Ha)

No. 
Units

Affordable 
Housing 
Target (%)

Affordable 
Housing 
Target (No.)

Area 
Empl / 
Other 
(Ha)

Issues / Infrastructure / S106 Requirements (Base 
date for planning permission information –1/04/2015)

Builth Wells 
& Llanelwedd

P08 HC1 The Old Skin 
Warehouse Site, 
Brecon Rd, 
Builth.

0.3 7 N/A 0.0 N/A Commitment. *Project level HRA screening required – 
River Wye SAC

Builth Wells 
& Llanelwedd

 HC2 Hay Road 
Garage

0.2 11 N/A 0.0 N/A Commitment. *Project level HRA screening required – 
River Wye SAC. Site lies within the historic settlement 
core of Builth Wells archaeological intervention maybe 
required.

Builth Wells 
& Llanelwedd

 HC3 Builth Wells 
Cottage Hospital

0.5 17 100 17.0 N/A 100% Affordable Housing Commitment (P/2013/1190: 
Full Planning Permission) 

Builth Wells 
& 
Llanelwedd, 

 HA2 Land west of 
primary school, 
Builth Wells

2.2 56

59

30 16.8 17.7 N/A Transport Assessment required. There are isolated 
incidents of flooding in the public sewerage system that 
need to be resolved. Potential developers can either wait 
for DCWW to resolve the flooding, subject to funding 
being approved by Ofwat, or progess the improvements 
through the sewerage requisition provisions of the Water 
Industry Act 1991 or s106 of the Town and Country 
Planning Act 1990. A hydraulic modelling assessment 
(HMA) may be required to determine the point of 

P
age 643



Powys LDP 2011-2026              Deposit Draft with Focussed Changes and Further Focussed Changes October 2016

Cyngor Sir Powys County Council                                                                           178

Towns Inset 
Map 

Site 
Ref

Site Name Site 
Area 
(Ha)

No. 
Units

Affordable 
Housing 
Target (%)

Affordable 
Housing 
Target (No.)

Area 
Empl / 
Other 
(Ha)

Issues / Infrastructure / S106 Requirements (Base 
date for planning permission information –1/04/2015)

connection to the public sewerage system and potential 
developers would be expected to fund investigations 
during pre-planning stages.   *Project level HRA 
screening required – River Wye SAC.

Builth Wells 
& Llanelwedd

 HA3 Land adj. to Tai 
Ar Y Bryn, 
Hospital 
Rd.,Builth

1.6 40 43 30 12 12.9 N/A Transport Assessment, Land Contamination and 
ecology surveys required. Mature trees on boundary of 
site to be retained.  Refer also to sewerage system 
requirements in P08 HA2 above. *HRA screening 
required – River Wye SAC.

Builth Wells 
& Llanelwedd

 EC1 Land at 
Wyeside 
Enterprise Park, 
Llanelwedd

0.5 N/A N/A N/A 0.5 Commitment (P/2013/0703). Landscaping scheme and 
assessments including HRA, archaeological and health 
risks to be submitted. Development must submit detailed 
scheme to investigate and record contamination and 
provide detailed proposal to prevent remobilisation 
containment and rendering harmless any contamination.

Builth Wells 
& Llanelwedd

 EA1 Land at 
Wyeside 
Enterprise Park, 
Llanelwedd

0.7 N/A N/A N/A 0.7 Ecological and badger surveys required. The local 
sewerage network can accommodate foul flows from the 
proposed site, however off site sewers would be 
required to connect to the public sewerage network. 
These can be provided through the sewer requisition 
scheme under Sections 98-101 of the Water Industry Act 
1991.*Project level HRA screening required – River Wye 
SAC.

P
age 644



Powys LDP 2011-2026              Deposit Draft with Focussed Changes and Further Focussed Changes October 2016

Cyngor Sir Powys County Council                                                                           179

Towns Inset 
Map 

Site 
Ref

Site Name Site 
Area 
(Ha)

No. 
Units

Affordable 
Housing 
Target (%)

Affordable 
Housing 
Target (No.)

Area 
Empl / 
Other 
(Ha)

Issues / Infrastructure / S106 Requirements (Base 
date for planning permission information –1/04/2015)

Knighton P24 HC1 Former clothing 
factory, West 
Street.

0.5 21 N/A 7.0 N/A Commitment (PR73301) (P/2010/0798). Site overlies the 
Offa’s Dyke Scheduled Ancient Monument therefore 
further consents and archaeological intervention may be 
required. Previously developed brownfield site so any 
proposed development must submit detailed scheme to 
investigate and record contamination and provide 
detailed proposal to prevent remobilisation containment 
and rendering harmless any contamination. 

Knighton  HA1 Adj ‘Shirley’ 
Ludlow Road.

1.4

0.96

24 N/A 8.0 N/A Sloping site. Highways, any new junction will need to 
meet standards for visibility and adoptability. 
Development brief to protect setting of Scheduled 
Ancient Monument required. Site awaiting signing of 
S106 (P/2009/0038)

Knighton  

HC2

Site of former 
Motorway 
mouldings 
factory

0.5 18 10 1.8 N/A Site part in Shropshire – Full site previously planning 
permission for 36. (PR3227/05) (P/2010/0115, 
P/2013/0504). Part of site in TAN 15 C2 flood zone. If 
any further planning application is submitted the 
developer will need to revisit the Flood Consequences 
Assessment to ensure flood risk is up to date. 
Recommend consultation with Emergency Services / 
Emergency Planners re access / egress. Assessment of 
slope stability along south side of site necessary. 
Contains the site of a historic asset, any proposed 
development here may require archaeological 
intervention as part of any planning application. 
Previously developed brownfield site so any proposed 

P
age 645



Powys LDP 2011-2026              Deposit Draft with Focussed Changes and Further Focussed Changes October 2016

Cyngor Sir Powys County Council                                                                           180

Towns Inset 
Map 

Site 
Ref

Site Name Site 
Area 
(Ha)

No. 
Units

Affordable 
Housing 
Target (%)

Affordable 
Housing 
Target (No.)

Area 
Empl / 
Other 
(Ha)

Issues / Infrastructure / S106 Requirements (Base 
date for planning permission information –1/04/2015)

development must submit detailed scheme to investigate 
and record contamination and provide detailed proposal 
to prevent remobilisation containment and rendering 
harmless any contamination. 

Knighton  HA3 Presteigne 
Road

3.5 70 10 7.0 N/A New allocation. Potential need for traffic calming 
measures and appropriate design for new junction to 
meet standards for visibility and adoptability. Hydraulic 
modelling required as upstream of a small diameter pipe 
(Waste Water), potential need for improvements. Off site 
water mains may be required, and could be provided 
through a water requisition scheme under Sections 41-
44 of the Water Industry Act 1991. Site subject to 
surface water drainage issues which will need to be 
addressed to prevent flooding downslope. Other site 
specific issues include the fact that the site is sloping 
and without sensitive design may dominate the 
approach to, and be visible across, the settlement. Site 
adjoins active farming enterprise. Power lines cross site. 
Ecological Survey advised to inform enhancement, 
retain hedgerows and trees where possible. Pond close 
to NW corner of site.

Llandrindod 
Wells

P28 HC1 Land at Gate 
Farm

0.2 10 N/A 0.0 N/A Commitment (P/2009/0186 outline granted, P/2013/0923 
reserved matters pending). *Project level HRA screening 
required – River Wye SAC.

P
age 646



Powys LDP 2011-2026              Deposit Draft with Focussed Changes and Further Focussed Changes October 2016

Cyngor Sir Powys County Council                                                                           181

Towns Inset 
Map 

Site 
Ref

Site Name Site 
Area 
(Ha)

No. 
Units

Affordable 
Housing 
Target (%)

Affordable 
Housing 
Target (No.)

Area 
Empl / 
Other 
(Ha)

Issues / Infrastructure / S106 Requirements (Base 
date for planning permission information –1/04/2015)

Llandrindod 
Wells

 HC2 Highland Moors 1.3 16 N/A 16.0  0.0 N/A Commitment. PR475404 Full planning permission. 100% 
Affordable Housing Allocation. *Project level HRA 
screening required – River Wye SAC. Trunk road 
improvements (in the form of right turn lanes, 
roundabouts or possibly traffic lights) may be required if 
any further planning applications submitted.

Llandrindod 
Wells

 HC3 Site adj, 
Autopalace

0.2 22 N/A 0.0 N/A Commitment.  Series. PR114621 Full planning 
permission.  *Project level HRA screening required – 
River Wye SAC.

Llandrindod 
Wells

 HA1 Land adj. 
Crabtree Green

2.2 50 20 30 15.0 N/A P/2013/0444 Application for outline planning permission 
Pending. Planning Committee resolved to permit subject 
to a legal agreement being completed.  The current 
planning application has demonstrated that subject to 
mitigation and controls to be secured by condition, the 
development will not be harmful to the SSSI/SAC. 
northern and western edge of the site is within TAN 15 
C2 zone, this area will not be able to be developed.

Llandrindod 
Wells

 HA2 Tremont Park 
extension

4.5 100 
122

30 30.0 36.6 N/A New allocation. Ecological / Botanical Survey advised to 
inform enhancement. Off site works to connect with 
public sewer may be required and could be provided 
through the sewer requisition scheme under Sections 
98-101 of the Water Industry Act 1991*Project level HRA 
screening required – River Wye SAC.

P
age 647



Powys LDP 2011-2026              Deposit Draft with Focussed Changes and Further Focussed Changes October 2016

Cyngor Sir Powys County Council                                                                           183

Towns Inset 
Map 

Site 
Ref

Site Name Site 
Area 
(Ha)

No. 
Units

Affordable 
Housing 
Target (%)

Affordable 
Housing 
Target (No.)

Area 
Empl / 
Other 
(Ha)

Issues / Infrastructure / S106 Requirements (Base 
date for planning permission information –1/04/2015)

Llandrindod 
Wells

 HA3 Ithon Road 4.5 100 
122

30 30.0 36.6 N/A New allocation. Nearby line of roman road, Cardiff to 
Castell Collen, and potentially used for pre-historic 
transient hunting camps, permanent settlements and 
practice camps.   Archaeological surveys will be required 
as part of any future planning application.  Off-site works 
may be required to connect with water mains and could 
be provided through a water requisition scheme under 
Sections 41-44 of the Water Industry Act 1991. There 
are isolated incidents of flooding in the public sewerage 
system that will need to be resolved to allow 
development to proceed. Potential developers can either 
wait for DCWW to resolve flooding, subject to funding 
being approved by our Ofwat, or progress the 
improvements through the sewerage requisition 
provisions of the Water Industry Act 1991 or S106 of the 
Town and Country Planning Act 1990. A hydraulic 
modelling assessment (HMA) is required to determine 
the point of connection to the public sewerage system 
and potential developers would be expected to fund 
investigations during pre-planning stages. A sewer 
crosses the site and therefore protection measures in 
the form of easement widths or a diversion of the pipe 
may be required, and may impact on the density 
achievable on site.  Extension to the speed limit and 
possible footway improvements. Development must 
consider relationship with cemetery, all weather pitch, 
school and existing housing development.  Given the 
important design considerations relating to the 
relationship with adjacent uses and the site topography, 

P
age 648



Powys LDP 2011-2026              Deposit Draft with Focussed Changes and Further Focussed Changes October 2016

Cyngor Sir Powys County Council                                                                           184

Towns Inset 
Map 

Site 
Ref

Site Name Site 
Area 
(Ha)

No. 
Units

Affordable 
Housing 
Target (%)

Affordable 
Housing 
Target (No.)

Area 
Empl / 
Other 
(Ha)

Issues / Infrastructure / S106 Requirements (Base 
date for planning permission information –1/04/2015)

a development brief will be required to be prepared.  
*Project level HRA screening required – River Wye SAC.

Llandrindod 
Wells

 HA4 Land at 
Ridgebourne 
Drive,

7.6 100 30 30.0 N/A Large Site capable of being phased beyond the Plan 
period. Development Brief required for phasing and 
potential future phasing as provision of internal road 
scheme necessary to realise full allocation. Plan 
anticipates approx. 3.7 ha being developed. Transport 
Assessment and provision of a ‘ghost’ island right 
turning lane in the trunk road. Right turn lane required at 
the junction with the trunk road. Site lies near the Lake 
Park Local Nature Reserve, ecology survey required to 
demonstrate no adverse impact from development and 
to inform mitigation and enhancements. Local sewerage 
network can accommodate foul flows from the site 
however off site sewers may be required and can be 
provided through the sewer requisition scheme under 
Sections 98-101 of the Water Industry Act 1991. 
Contaminated land survey required. *Project level HRA 
screening required – River Wye SAC.

Llandrindod 
Wells

 EA1 Heart of Wales 
Business Park

3.9 N/A N/A N/A 3.9 Only part developable. Drainage pond on part of 
allocation. This is a biodiversity rich site supporting 
Great Crested Newts. An ecological survey is required to 
inform enhancement through development. Site is 
crossed by a sewer and protection measures in the form 
of easement widths or a diversion of the pipe may be 
required, and may impact upon the density achievable 
on site. Off-site water connection required. *Project level 

P
age 649



Powys LDP 2011-2026              Deposit Draft with Focussed Changes and Further Focussed Changes October 2016

Cyngor Sir Powys County Council                                                                           185

Towns Inset 
Map 

Site 
Ref

Site Name Site 
Area 
(Ha)

No. 
Units

Affordable 
Housing 
Target (%)

Affordable 
Housing 
Target (No.)

Area 
Empl / 
Other 
(Ha)

Issues / Infrastructure / S106 Requirements (Base 
date for planning permission information –1/04/2015)

HRA screening required – River Wye SAC. 

Llanfair 
Caereinion

P30 HA1 Land at 
Tanyfron, 
Llanfair 
Caereinion

2.4 30 40 10 3.0 4.0 N/A New access to be created through the garage (further 
residential units to the 30 may be built here on 
brownfield land). Concerns from the community 
regarding highways issues will need to be resolved 
through highways alterations including the closure of 
existing access points, and traffic management / 
pedestrian access to be detailed in a development brief. 
The whole site to be developed together as one. 
However the steep middle part of the site is not to be 
developed and is for access only. *Project level HRA 
screening required – Tanat and Vwrnwy Bat sites SAC.

Llanfair 
Caereinion

 HA2 UDP Allocation 
M154 HA3

1.1 20 10 2.0 N/A Highway improvements along Watergate Street, 
awaiting the signing of a S106 agreement for 
P/2009/0484. *Project level HRA screening required – 
Tanat and Vwrnwy Bat sites SAC.

Llanfyllin P32 HC1 Adjacent 38 
Maes Y 
Dderwen, 
Llanfyllin

0.4 14 N/A 5.0 N/A Commitment.  Ref: M/2007/1043. *Project level HRA 
screening required – Tanat and Vwrnwy Bat sites SAC.

P
age 650



Powys LDP 2011-2026              Deposit Draft with Focussed Changes and Further Focussed Changes October 2016

Cyngor Sir Powys County Council                                                                           186

Towns Inset 
Map 

Site 
Ref

Site Name Site 
Area 
(Ha)

No. 
Units

Affordable 
Housing 
Target (%)

Affordable 
Housing 
Target (No.)

Area 
Empl / 
Other 
(Ha)

Issues / Infrastructure / S106 Requirements (Base 
date for planning permission information –1/04/2015)

Llanfyllin  HA1 Land opposite 
Maesydre, 
Llanfyllin

0.5 12 14 10 1.2 1.4 N/A *Project level HRA screening required – Tanat and 
Vwrnwy Bat sites SAC.

Llanfyllin  HA2 Maesydre Field, 
Llanfyllin

2.3 55 10 5.5 N/A

Llanfyllin  HA2 Field 7674, 
South of 
Maesydre, 
Llanfyllin

3.8 90 10 9.0 N/A

Two sites need to be developed together as highways 
access needs to come from site furthest from the 
settlement. It is imperative that this scheme is of good 
sensitive design as it is near a Y Dolydd Listed Building 
and will be creating a new gateway into Llanfyllin, 
therefore a Development Brief is required *Project level 
HRA screening required – Tanat and Vwrnwy Bat sites 
SAC.

Llanidloes P35 HC1 Lower Green, 
Victoria Avenue

0.8 31 N/A 9.0 N/A Commitment. P/2006/0103 

Llanidloes  HC2 Land at Hafren 
Furnishers

0.5 23 N/A 0.0 N/A Commitment. P/2008/0406 Expires 2018.

Llanidloes  HC3 Land adjacent 
Dolhafren 
Cemetery, 
Llanidloes

1.1 31 N/A 31.0 N/A Commitment.  100% Affordable Housing. Ref:  
P/2014/0188 for 31 dwellings.

P
age 651



Powys LDP 2011-2026              Deposit Draft with Focussed Changes and Further Focussed Changes October 2016

Cyngor Sir Powys County Council                                                                           187

Towns Inset 
Map 

Site 
Ref

Site Name Site 
Area 
(Ha)

No. 
Units

Affordable 
Housing 
Target (%)

Affordable 
Housing 
Target (No.)

Area 
Empl / 
Other 
(Ha)

Issues / Infrastructure / S106 Requirements (Base 
date for planning permission information –1/04/2015)

Llanidloes  HA1 Land at 
Penyborfa, 
Llanidloes

1 25 27 10 2.5 2.7 N/A Sewerage connection and hydraulic modelling required. 
Access through Pen-y-brofa only.  Site lies within the 
Llanidloes character area of the Clywedog Valley 
Registered Historic Landscape therefore proposed 
development may require assessing under ASIDOHL2. 
Ecology mitigation required. The south eastern boundary 
of this site abuts zone C2 of the TAN15 Development 
Advice Map; as a precaution an Flood Consequence 
Assessment should be undertaken

Llanidloes  HA2 Chapel Farm, 
Gorn Road, 
Llanidloes

1.7 42 46 10 4.2 4.6 N/A Access improvements and pedestrian facilities required.  
Within the Clywedog Valley Registered Historic 
Landscape therefore landscape impact mitigation will be 
required together with the potential visual amenity 
effects on the Glyndwr’s Way national trail which will 
need to be considered in a project assessment. Ecology 
survey and mitigation required.

Llanidloes P35 EC1 Land at Parc 
Hafren, 
Llanidloes

0.5 N/A N/A N/A 0.5 Commitment on northern part of site (P2012/0611, 
P/2013/0729).

Llanidloes  EA1 Land at Parc 
Busnes Derwen 
Fawr, Llanidloes

1.2 N/A N/A N/A 1.2 Brownfield site. Ecology mitigation required for loss of 
extended phase 1 habitat. Land contamination survey 
required.

Llanidloes  EA2 Land at Parc 
Hafren, 
Llanidloes

1.7 2 N/A N/A N/A 1.7 2 Ecology survey and mitigation required for loss of 
extended phase 1 habitat.

P
age 652



Powys LDP 2011-2026              Deposit Draft with Focussed Changes and Further Focussed Changes October 2016

Cyngor Sir Powys County Council                                                                           188

Towns Inset 
Map 

Site 
Ref

Site Name Site 
Area 
(Ha)

No. 
Units

Affordable 
Housing 
Target (%)

Affordable 
Housing 
Target (No.)

Area 
Empl / 
Other 
(Ha)

Issues / Infrastructure / S106 Requirements (Base 
date for planning permission information –1/04/2015)

Llanwrtyd 
Wells

P39 HC1 The Vicarage 
Field, Beulah 
Road, Llanwrtyd 

0.5 7 N/A 0.0 N/A Commitment. *Project level HRA screening required – 
River Wye SAC.

Llanwrtyd 
Wells

 HC2 OS 2664 
Caemawr, off 
Ffos Road

1.9 47 N/A 6.0 N/A Commitment. *Project level HRA screening required – 
River Wye SAC.

Llanwrtyd 
Wells

 HC3 OS 1451 
Meadow View, 
Station Road

0.8 19 N/A 6.0 N/A Commitment.  S106. *Project level HRA screening 
required – River Wye SAC.

Machynlleth P42 HA1 OS1546, 
Aberystwyth 
Road

1.4 26 29 10 4.0 2.9 N/A Site awaiting signing of s106 (P/2013/0144). Off site 
sewers would be required to connect to the public 
sewerage network and can be provided through the 
sewer requisition scheme under Sections 98-101 of the 
Water Industry Act 1991.  *Project level HRA screening 
maybe required – Dyfi Estuary SAC, Llyn Peninsula and 
Sarnau SAC , Cors Fochno SAC and Meirionydd 
Oakwood and Bat sites. A Flood Consequence 
Assessment will be required.

Machynlleth  HA2 Land Adjacent 
HA1, 
Aberystwyth Rd

0.5 13 14 10 1.3 1.4 N/A Ecological Survey will be required to inform 
enhancements. Road access via adjoining site allocation 
to the east on to roundabout. Offsite sewers would be 
required to connect to the public sewerage network and 
can be provided through the sewer requisition scheme 
under Sections 98-101 of the Water Industry Act 1991. 
*Project level HRA screening maybe required – Dyfi 

P
age 653



Powys LDP 2011-2026              Deposit Draft with Focussed Changes and Further Focussed Changes October 2016

Cyngor Sir Powys County Council                                                                           189

Towns Inset 
Map 

Site 
Ref

Site Name Site 
Area 
(Ha)

No. 
Units

Affordable 
Housing 
Target (%)

Affordable 
Housing 
Target (No.)

Area 
Empl / 
Other 
(Ha)

Issues / Infrastructure / S106 Requirements (Base 
date for planning permission information –1/04/2015)

Estuary SAC, Llyn Peninsula and Sarnau SAC, Cors 
Fochno SAC and Meirionydd Oakwood and Bat sites. A 
Flood Consequence Assessment will be required.

Machynlleth P42 HA3 Mid Wales 
Storage Depot

0.4 15 14 10 1.5 1.4 N/A Ecological survey will be required to inform 
enhancements. Transport assessment will be required to 
support any development proposals. Site is a brownfield 
site and may therefore require land contamination 
investigation and remediation. There are isolated 
incidents of flooding in the public sewerage system that 
will need to be resolved to allow development to 
proceed. Potential developers can either wait for DCWW 
to resolve the flooding, subject to funding being 
approved by Ofwat, or progress the improvements 
through the sewerage requisition of the Water Industry 
Act 1991 or s106 of the Town and Country Planning Act 
1990. Existing building on site contributes to character 
and appearance of Conservation Area. *Project level 
HRA screening maybe required – Dyfi Estuary SAC, 
Llyn Peninsula and Sarnau SAC , Cors Fochno SAC and 
Meirionydd Oakwood and Bat sites. The boundary of the 
site abuts the flood zone – a Flood Consequence 
Assessment will be required to demonstrate that the 
consequences of flooding on access / egress can be 

P
age 654



Powys LDP 2011-2026              Deposit Draft with Focussed Changes and Further Focussed Changes October 2016

Cyngor Sir Powys County Council                                                                           190

Towns Inset 
Map 

Site 
Ref

Site Name Site 
Area 
(Ha)

No. 
Units

Affordable 
Housing 
Target (%)

Affordable 
Housing 
Target (No.)

Area 
Empl / 
Other 
(Ha)

Issues / Infrastructure / S106 Requirements (Base 
date for planning permission information –1/04/2015)

managed.

Machynlleth  HA4 Newtown Road 0.3 2+ 5 0 0.0 N/A Proposed permanent site to accommodate a gypsy 
family residing in the local area. Any changes to the 
highway network would need to be assessed when 
further details are available. If the works were to impact 
on the flood zone, a Flood Consequence Assessment 
may be required. There are no public sewers in close 
proximity to this site therefore the provisions of Circular 
10/99 ‘Planning Requirement in respect of the Use of 
Non-Mains Sewerage incorporating Septic Tanks in New 
Development’ apply and consultation with Natural 
Resources Wales would be required. *Project level HRA 
screening may be required – Dyfi Estuary SAC, Llyn 
Peninsula and Sarnau SAC, Cors Fochno SAC and 

P
age 655



Powys LDP 2011-2026              Deposit Draft with Focussed Changes and Further Focussed Changes October 2016

Cyngor Sir Powys County Council                                                                           191

Towns Inset 
Map 

Site 
Ref

Site Name Site 
Area 
(Ha)

No. 
Units

Affordable 
Housing 
Target (%)

Affordable 
Housing 
Target (No.)

Area 
Empl / 
Other 
(Ha)

Issues / Infrastructure / S106 Requirements (Base 
date for planning permission information –1/04/2015)

Meirionydd Oakwood and Bat sites. 

Machynlleth  EA1 Land at 
Treowain 
Enterprise Park

1.7 N/A N/A N/A 1.7 Site within setting of Plas Machynlleth registered historic 
park and garden. *Project level HRA screening may be 
required – Dyfi Estuary SAC, Llyn Peninsula and Sarnau 
SAC, Cors Fochno SAC and Meirionydd Oakwood and 
Bat sites.. 

Montgomery P45 HC1 Land at New 
Road

2.6 18   13 N/A 6.0 N/A Commitment (final phase). Lies within the Trefaldwyn 
character area of the Vale of Montgomery Registered 
Historic Landscape. *Project level HRA screening 
required – Montgomery Canal SAC (hydrological 
connections).

P
age 656



Powys LDP 2011-2026              Deposit Draft with Focussed Changes and Further Focussed Changes October 2016

Cyngor Sir Powys County Council                                                                           192

Towns Inset 
Map 

Site 
Ref

Site Name Site 
Area 
(Ha)

No. 
Units

Affordable 
Housing 
Target (%)

Affordable 
Housing 
Target (No.)

Area 
Empl / 
Other 
(Ha)

Issues / Infrastructure / S106 Requirements (Base 
date for planning permission information –1/04/2015)

Montgomery  HA1 Land at Verlon, 
Forden Road

12

10.8

50 54 20 10.0 10.8 N/A Large Site capable of being phased beyond the Plan 
period. Development Brief required for phasing and 
potential future phasing as provision of new link road 
necessary to realise full allocation. Plan anticipates 
approx. 2 ha being developed.  Sensitive site re: 
heritage and landscape.  Approx 2 ha required in this 
Plan period, allocation dependant on provision of link 
road. Plan for phasing and potential future phasing, 
buffer required for Sewage Treatment Works. Lies within 
the Trefaldwyn character area of the Vale of 
Montgomery Registered Historic Landscape -  so will 
require assessing under ASIDOHL2. Site lies 
immediately close to three Scheduled Ancient 
Monuments, ‘Montgomery Castle’, ‘Montgomery Town 
Walls’ and and ‘Ffridd Faldwyn hillfort’ development 
adjacent to these sites may come within the terms of 
1979 Scheduled Ancient Monuments and Archaeological 
Areas Act and would require consultation with Cadw and 
CPAT to ascertain the effects that it might have on the 
setting of this historic asset.  Any development here may 
also require archaeological intervention as part of any 
planning application. As part of any development 
proposal the existing junction of the B4385/B4388 will 
need to be permanently closed up to all vehicular traffic. 
Site is within a catchment that is failing WFD objectives 
(due to phosphate levels).  Therefore foul water disposal 
must go to a mains public sewer or developer must 
show private connection is not adding to phosphate 
levels in the catchment. Development proposals must be 

P
age 657



Powys LDP 2011-2026              Deposit Draft with Focussed Changes and Further Focussed Changes October 2016

Cyngor Sir Powys County Council                                                                           193

Towns Inset 
Map 

Site 
Ref

Site Name Site 
Area 
(Ha)

No. 
Units

Affordable 
Housing 
Target (%)

Affordable 
Housing 
Target (No.)

Area 
Empl / 
Other 
(Ha)

Issues / Infrastructure / S106 Requirements (Base 
date for planning permission information –1/04/2015)

identified through the preparation of a development brief 
that takes account of all issues including constraints and 
viability. *Project level HRA screening required – 
Montgomery Canal SAC (hydrological connections).

Newtown P48 HC1 Heol Pengwern 2 50 100 50.0 N/A Commitment – Affordable Housing Site (P/2010/0199 
Full planning permission). Completed.  *Project level 
HRA screening maybe required – Montgomery Canal 
SAC (hydrological connections).  

P
age 658



Powys LDP 2011-2026              Deposit Draft with Focussed Changes and Further Focussed Changes October 2016

Cyngor Sir Powys County Council                                                                           194

Towns Inset 
Map 

Site 
Ref

Site Name Site 
Area 
(Ha)

No. 
Units

Affordable 
Housing 
Target (%)

Affordable 
Housing 
Target (No.)

Area 
Empl / 
Other 
(Ha)

Issues / Infrastructure / S106 Requirements (Base 
date for planning permission information –1/04/2015)

Newtown  HC2 Bryn Lane 3.3 65 N/A 12.0 N/A Commitment (M/2005/1154 Full planning permission). 
*Project level HRA screening required – Montgomery 
Canal SAC (hydrological connections).

Newtown  HC3 Ffordd 
Croesawdy

0.5 29 100 29.0 N/A Commitment – Affordable Housing Site (M/2007/0376 
Outline planning permission, P/2009/0521 Reserved 
Matters). Completed.  *Project level HRA screening 
required – Montgomery Canal SAC (hydrological 
connections).  

Newtown  HC4 Land at Severn 
Hts, (Brimmon 
Close) 

5.4 23 N/A 0.0 N/A Commitment (M/2003/0511 Outline planning permission, 
P/2008/1620 Reserved Matters). *Project level HRA 
screening required – Montgomery Canal SAC 
(hydrological connections).

Newtown  HC5 Rock Farm 8.5 96 103 N/A 17.0 N/A Commitment (Series of Permissions). *Project level HRA 
screening required – Montgomery Canal SAC 
(hydrological connections). Site impinges on the historic 
settlement core of Llanllwchaiarn therefore any 
proposed development here may require archaeological 
intervention as part of any planning application.

Newtown  HC6 Rear of 
Pentecostal 
Church

1 27 100 27.0 N/A Commitment – Affordable Housing Site (M/1997/0426 
Full planning permission). An overflow car park to serve 
the Pentecostal Church has been built on part of the site 
and has been granted full planning permission 
retrospectively P/2010/1053).  *Project level HRA 
screening required – Montgomery Canal SAC 
(hydrological connections).

P
age 659



Powys LDP 2011-2026              Deposit Draft with Focussed Changes and Further Focussed Changes October 2016

Cyngor Sir Powys County Council                                                                           195

Towns Inset 
Map 

Site 
Ref

Site Name Site 
Area 
(Ha)

No. 
Units

Affordable 
Housing 
Target (%)

Affordable 
Housing 
Target (No.)

Area 
Empl / 
Other 
(Ha)

Issues / Infrastructure / S106 Requirements (Base 
date for planning permission information –1/04/2015)

Newtown HC8 Former 
Magistrates 
Court and TA 
building, Back 
Lane

0.1 23 N/A 6 N/A Commitment.  Full planning permission (P/2013/0891).  

Newtown  HC9 Severnside 
Yard, 
Commercial 
Street, Newtown

0.5 48 N/A 48.0 N/A Full planning permission (P/2013/1185). Under 
construction. *Project level HRA screening required – 
Montgomery Canal SAC (hydrological connections).

Newtown HC10 1 Wesley Place, 
Newtown

0.01
5

6 0 0 N/A Commitment.  Full planning permission (P/2014/0144).   

Newtown  HA2 Hendidley 3.8 
0.55

14 15 20 2.8 3 N/A Part of residential site remaining undeveloped. *Project 
level HRA screening required - Montgomery Canal SAC 
(hydrological connections).

Newtown  HA3 South of Heol 
Treowen 
Extension

2.6 65 70 20 13.0 14.0 N/A An ecological survey will be required at the planning 
application stage in order to inform mitigation and 
enhancement. The topography of the site and utility 
corridors will be significant considerations when drawing 
up development proposals for this site. *Project level 
HRA screening required - Montgomery Canal SAC 
(hydrological connections).

P
age 660



Powys LDP 2011-2026              Deposit Draft with Focussed Changes and Further Focussed Changes October 2016

Cyngor Sir Powys County Council                                                                           196

Towns Inset 
Map 

Site 
Ref

Site Name Site 
Area 
(Ha)

No. 
Units

Affordable 
Housing 
Target (%)

Affordable 
Housing 
Target (No.)

Area 
Empl / 
Other 
(Ha)

Issues / Infrastructure / S106 Requirements (Base 
date for planning permission information –1/04/2015)

Newtown  HA4 South of Heol 
Treowen / Great 
Brimmon

6.8 135 
136

20 27.0 27.2 N/A Outline planning permission (M/2003/1354) has lapsed.  
It is noted that an ecological survey, along with bat and 
dormice surveys, have been carried out in May 2015.  
Depending on progress with any new application that 
may be submitted for development of this site, update 
surveys may be required to inform mitigation and 
enhancement as part of a future planning application. 
Density of site may be affected by utility 
corridors.*Project level HRA screening required - 
Montgomery Canal SAC (hydrological connections).

Newtown  EA1 Llanidloes Road 5.6 N/A N/A N/A 2 Only 2ha. of the allocated site lies outside of the C2 
zone of the Development Advice Mapping 
accompanying TAN15. Therefore, until a satisfactory 
Flood Consequences Assessment is prepared, the 
western half of the site will only be appropriate for open 
space and landscaping. An ecological survey will be 
required to inform enhancements. *Project level HRA 
screening maybe required - Montgomery Canal SAC 
(hydrological connections).  The site overlies the line of 
the Roman Road, therefore proposed development here 
will require archaeological intervention as part of any 
planning application. 

Presteigne P51 MUA1 Former Kaye 
Foundry Site

2.4 
2.0

50 60 20 30 10.0 18.0 0.4 
(Retail)

The Strategic Flood Consequences Assessment has 
identified that 6% of the site is in flood zone C2 - this 
area will only be appropriate for open space / 
landscaping. Ecological Survey required to inform 
enhancement. The site is crossed by a sewer and 

P
age 661



Powys LDP 2011-2026              Deposit Draft with Focussed Changes and Further Focussed Changes October 2016

Cyngor Sir Powys County Council                                                                           197

Towns Inset 
Map 

Site 
Ref

Site Name Site 
Area 
(Ha)

No. 
Units

Affordable 
Housing 
Target (%)

Affordable 
Housing 
Target (No.)

Area 
Empl / 
Other 
(Ha)

Issues / Infrastructure / S106 Requirements (Base 
date for planning permission information –1/04/2015)

protection measures in the form of easement widths or a 
diversion of the pipe would be required, which may 
impact upon the density achievable on site. Presteigne 
Wastewater Treatment Works has limited capacity and 
dependent on the pace and build rate of development 
there will ultimately be a time when increased capacity is 
required. Should developers wish to proceed in advance 
of any regulatory improvements then financial 
contributions from developers are required to fund the 
necessary improvements. A public right of way crosses 
the site (156/1807/1). Impact on Town Centre and 
historic environment to be demonstrated. Traffic 
Assessment required. *Project level HRA screening 
maybe required - River Wye SAC. Contaminated land 
survey required. Previously developed brownfield site so 
any proposed development must submit detailed 
scheme to investigate and record contamination and 
provide detailed proposal to prevent remobilisation 
containment and rendering harmless any contamination. 

Presteigne HC1 Knighton Road 
Site.

0.6 11 100 11 N/A Commitment 100%  affordable housing - P/2013/1026 

P
age 662



Powys LDP 2011-2026              Deposit Draft with Focussed Changes and Further Focussed Changes October 2016

Cyngor Sir Powys County Council                                                                           198

Towns Inset 
Map 

Site 
Ref

Site Name Site 
Area 
(Ha)

No. 
Units

Affordable 
Housing 
Target (%)

Affordable 
Housing 
Target (No.)

Area 
Empl / 
Other 
(Ha)

Issues / Infrastructure / S106 Requirements (Base 
date for planning permission information –1/04/2015)

Presteigne  HA2 Joe Deakins 
Road Site

1.3 30 35 30 9.0 10.5 N/A Offsite works required to connect with the water main 
which is approximately 160m away. Offsite works may 
be required to connect with the public sewer and can be 
provided through the sewer requisition scheme under 
sections 98-101 of the Water Industry Act 1991. 
Presteigne Wastewater Treatment Works has limited 
capacity and dependent on the pace and build rate of 
development there will ultimately be a time when 
increased capacity is required. Should developers wish 
to proceed in advance of any regulatory improvements 
then financial contributions from developers are required 
to fund the necessary improvements. *Project level HRA 
screening maybe required - River Wye SAC. 
Contaminated land survey required. Highways 
improvements required include the re-configuration of 
the junction of Broadaxe Lane with the Presteigne By 
Pass B4355.

Presteigne  EA1 Broadaxe Ind. 
Estate

2.4 N/A N/A N/A 2.4 Ecological Survey required to inform enhancement. 
Offsite works may be required to connect to the public 
sewers can be provided through the sewer requisition 
scheme under sections 98-101 of the Water Industry Act 
1991. Presteigne Wastewater Treatment Works has 
limited capacity and dependent on the pace and build 
rate of development there will ultimately be a time when 
increased capacity is required. Should developers wish 
to proceed in advance of any regulatory improvements 
then financial contributions from developers are required 
to fund the necessary improvements.  *Project level 

P
age 663



Powys LDP 2011-2026              Deposit Draft with Focussed Changes and Further Focussed Changes October 2016

Cyngor Sir Powys County Council                                                                           199

Towns Inset 
Map 

Site 
Ref

Site Name Site 
Area 
(Ha)

No. 
Units

Affordable 
Housing 
Target (%)

Affordable 
Housing 
Target (No.)

Area 
Empl / 
Other 
(Ha)

Issues / Infrastructure / S106 Requirements (Base 
date for planning permission information –1/04/2015)

HRA screening maybe required - River Wye SAC. 
Contaminated land survey required. Site contains a 
historic asset therefore any proposed development here 
may require archaeological intervention as part of any 
planning application. Flood risk at the site is considered 
manageable.  However, demonstration that access / 
egress to the site can be achieved in line with guidance 
set out in TAN15 should be provided in a site specific 
FCA.  Recommend consultation with Emergency 
Services / Emergency Planners re access / egress. The 
site specific FCA would need to consider the overland 
flow routes from the Clatter Brook and the un-named 
brook forming the western boundary of the site, in 
addition to considering the impact of the development on 
third-parties.  Infrastructure design will be key for this 
site. Note: the developable area of the site may be 
constrained as a result of the mitigation required.

Rhayader P52 HC1 Nant Rhyd-Hir 1 18 N/A 0.0 N/A Commitment. Ref: P/2010/0524

Rhayader  HC2 Old Builders 
Supply Depot

0.2 10 N/A 3.0 N/A Commitment. Ref: P/2009/0321 

Rhayader  HA1 Tir Gia  Tir Gaia 3.5 70 30 21.0 N/A Pending planning application. Ref: P/2010/1383. 
*Project level HRA screening required - River Wye SAC. 
Contaminated land survey required.

P
age 664



Powys LDP 2011-2026              Deposit Draft with Focussed Changes and Further Focussed Changes October 2016

Cyngor Sir Powys County Council                                                                           200

Towns Inset 
Map 

Site 
Ref

Site Name Site 
Area 
(Ha)

No. 
Units

Affordable 
Housing 
Target (%)

Affordable 
Housing 
Target (No.)

Area 
Empl / 
Other 
(Ha)

Issues / Infrastructure / S106 Requirements (Base 
date for planning permission information –1/04/2015)

Rhayader  HA2 Land off East 
Street

0.6 15 16  30 5.0 4.8 N/A Part of site (along the south east boundary) is within the 
flood zone and will need to be left as open space, 
developable area is reduced accordingly although whole 
site is allocated. Ecological Survey required to inform 
enhancements, retention of substantial buffer along 
watercourse is desirable.  *Project level HRA screening 
required - River Wye SAC. Contaminated land survey 
required.

Rhayader  EA1 Brynberth Ind. 
Estate

3.7 N/A N/A N/A 3.7 Ecological Survey Required to inform enhancements, 
retention of a substantial buffer along the watercourse is 
desirable. The site is crossed by a sewer and protection 
measures in the form of easement widths or a diversion 
of the pipe would be required, which may impact upon 
density achievable on site. Offsite works are required to 
connect the whole area to the water mains. *Project 
level HRA screening required - River Wye SAC. 
Contaminated land survey required. Access is affected 
by flooding - a Flood Consequence Assessment will be 
required at the planning application stage which will 
need to demonstrate that flood risks and consequences 
to the access can be managed acceptably (see Powys 
SFCA).

Welshpool P57 HC1 Burgess Land, 
Welshpool

5 73 N/A 22.0 N/A Commitment.  Under construction.  *Project level HRA 
screening required - Montgomery Canal SAC 
(hydrological connections) and Tanat & Vyrnwy Bat 
Sites SAC.

P
age 665



Powys LDP 2011-2026              Deposit Draft with Focussed Changes and Further Focussed Changes October 2016

Cyngor Sir Powys County Council                                                                           201

Towns Inset 
Map 

Site 
Ref

Site Name Site 
Area 
(Ha)

No. 
Units

Affordable 
Housing 
Target (%)

Affordable 
Housing 
Target (No.)

Area 
Empl / 
Other 
(Ha)

Issues / Infrastructure / S106 Requirements (Base 
date for planning permission information –1/04/2015)

Welshpool  HA1 Land off 
Gallowstree 
Bank

1.5 30 20 6.0 N/A Adj to Montgomery Canal (SAC), expect lower density 
(20/ha) to provide canal buffer.  Pre-application 
consultation with stakeholders will be required due to 
sensitivity of location - to include Glandwr Cymru -  
Canal and River Trust in Wales and the Council’s 
ecologist.  Transport assessment required.  Investigate 
need for new sewerage infrastructure. *Project level 
HRA screening required - Montgomery Canal SAC 
(hydrological connections) and Tanat & Vyrnwy Bat 
Sites SAC.

Welshpool  HA2 Land at 
Greenfields, 
Caeglas

0.4 10 11 20 2.0 2.2 N/A *Project level HRA screening required - Montgomery 
Canal SAC (hydrological connections) and Tanat & 
Vyrnwy Bat Sites SAC.

P
age 666



Powys LDP 2011-2026              Deposit Draft with Focussed Changes and Further Focussed Changes October 2016

Cyngor Sir Powys County Council                                                                           202

Towns Inset 
Map 

Site 
Ref

Site Name Site 
Area 
(Ha)

No. 
Units

Affordable 
Housing 
Target (%)

Affordable 
Housing 
Target (No.)

Area 
Empl / 
Other 
(Ha)

Issues / Infrastructure / S106 Requirements (Base 
date for planning permission information –1/04/2015)

Welshpool  HA3 Land at Red 
Bank

5.5 138 
149

20 27.6 29.8 N/A Transport assessment required, investigate sewerage 
infrastructure requirements; contaminated land survey. 
Significant highway improvements will need to be 
undertaken to the highway leading to the site from the 
town end, together with new footway links to the existing 
infrastructure. The junction of the U2212/U2208 would 
need to be permanently closed up and re-routed to the 
new access point that would serve the development. 
*Project level HRA screening required - Montgomery 
Canal SAC (hydrological connections) and Tanat & 
Vyrnwy Bat Sites SAC. Development proposals must be 
identified through the preparation of a development brief 
that takes account of all issues including constraints and 
viability.   

Welshpool  EC1 Land at 
Buttington Cross 
Enterprise Park

1.5 N/A N/A N/A 1.5 Commitment. (P/2014/1141) *Project level HRA 
screening required - Montgomery Canal SAC 
(hydrological connections) 

Ystradgynlais 
Area,

P58 HC1 Land R/O 
Jeffrey's Arms, 
Brecon Road

1 18 N/A 6.0 N/A Commitment. (P/2011/1166 Full Planning Permission) 

P
age 667



Powys LDP 2011-2026              Deposit Draft with Focussed Changes and Further Focussed Changes October 2016

Cyngor Sir Powys County Council                                                                           203

Towns Inset 
Map 

Site 
Ref

Site Name Site 
Area 
(Ha)

No. 
Units

Affordable 
Housing 
Target (%)

Affordable 
Housing 
Target (No.)

Area 
Empl / 
Other 
(Ha)

Issues / Infrastructure / S106 Requirements (Base 
date for planning permission information –1/04/2015)

Ystradgynlais 
Area,

 HC2 Gurnos School, 
Lower 
Cwmtwrch, 
Ystradgynlais

1.1   45 100   45 N/A 100% Affordable Housing Commitment (P/2014/1022 
Full Planning Permission). 

Ystradgynlais 
Area,

HA1 Land off Brecon 
Road,Ystradgynl
ais

2.2 56 59 10 0 5.6 0 N/A Transport Assessment required to establish how 
development can alleviate congestion on Brecon Road. 
Ecology survey required to identify extent of habitat and 
impact on protected species including Marsh Fritillary 
Butterflies. Land contamination / methane gas surveys 
required. Due to the amount and close proximity of sites, 
it will be necessary for developers to fund a hydraulic 
modelling assessment of the water supply network to 
establish any improvements required to serve the sites 
with an adequate water supply. Ystradgynlais 
Wastewater Treatment Works has limited capacity and 
dependant on the pace and build rate of development 
there will ultimately be a time when increased capacity is 
required. Should developers wish to proceed in advance 
of any regulatory improvements then financial 
contributions from developers are required to fund the 
necessary improvements.   

P
age 668



Powys LDP 2011-2026              Deposit Draft with Focussed Changes and Further Focussed Changes October 2016

Cyngor Sir Powys County Council                                                                           204

Towns Inset 
Map 

Site 
Ref

Site Name Site 
Area 
(Ha)

No. 
Units

Affordable 
Housing 
Target (%)

Affordable 
Housing 
Target (No.)

Area 
Empl / 
Other 
(Ha)

Issues / Infrastructure / S106 Requirements (Base 
date for planning permission information –1/04/2015)

Ystradgynlais 
Area

 HA3 Penrhos CP 
School, Brecon 
Rd, 
Ystradgynlais

1.5 38 41 10 0 3.8 0 N/A Highway access improvements. Ecology and 
contamination surveys required. Due to the amount and 
close proximity of sites, it will be necessary for 
developers to fund a hydraulic modelling assessment of 
the water supply network to establish any improvements 
required to serve the sites with an adequate water 
supply. Ystradgynlais Wastewater Treatment Works has 
limited capacity and dependant on the pace and build 
rate of development there will ultimately be a time when 
increased capacity is required. Should developers wish 
to proceed in advance of any regulatory improvements 
then financial contributions from developers are required 
to fund the necessary improvements.

Ystradgynlais 
Area

 HA5 Glanrhyd Farm, 
Ystradgynlais

0.3 8 10 0 0.8 0 N/A Ecology and land contamination surveys required. The 
site is crossed by a sewer and protection measures in 
the form of easement widths or a diversion of pipe would 
be required, which may impact upon the density 
achievable on site. Due to the amount and close 
proximity of sites, it will be necessary for developers to 
fund a hydraulic modelling assessment of the water 
supply network to establish any improvements required 
to serve the sites with an adequate water supply. 
Ystradgynlais Wastewater Treatment Works has limited 
capacity and dependant on the pace and build rate of 
development there will ultimately be a time when 
increased capacity is required. Should developers wish 
to proceed in advance of any regulatory improvements 
then financial contributions from developers are required 

P
age 669



Powys LDP 2011-2026              Deposit Draft with Focussed Changes and Further Focussed Changes October 2016

Cyngor Sir Powys County Council                                                                           205

Towns Inset 
Map 

Site 
Ref

Site Name Site 
Area 
(Ha)

No. 
Units

Affordable 
Housing 
Target (%)

Affordable 
Housing 
Target (No.)

Area 
Empl / 
Other 
(Ha)

Issues / Infrastructure / S106 Requirements (Base 
date for planning permission information –1/04/2015)

to fund the necessary improvements.

Ystradgynlais 
Area

HA9 Penrhos Farm 3 76 10 0 7.6 0 N/A Highways improvements, ecology, land contamination, 
minerals buffer. 0.52 Ha for access, landscaping & open 
space.

Highways improvement, ecology, land contamination 
assessments required. Site within buffer zone of existing 
minerals extraction permission. 0.52ha for access, 
landscaping and open space.
Due to the amount of proposed development, and the 
close proximity of sites, it may be necessary for 
developers to fund the undertaking of a hydraulic 
modelling assessment of the water supply
network to establish any improvements required to serve 
the sites with an adequate water supply.

Ystradgynlais Wastewater Treatment Works (WwTW) 
has limited capacity. Should potential developers wish to 
commence in advance of the AMP6 scheme then 
financial contributions from
developers are required to fund the necessary 
improvements.

Ystradgynlais 
Area,

HA10 Brynygroes 4.5 136 23 0 31.3 0 N/A Planning Application P/2014/1133

Ystradgynlais 
Area,

HA11 Penrhos School 
Extension

4.5 112 
122

10 0 11.2 0 N/A Highways access via P58 HA3. Within 100m of former 
landfill so risk assessment required. Ecology and 
contamination surveys required. Due to the amount and 
close proximity of sites, it will be necessary for 

P
age 670



Powys LDP 2011-2026              Deposit Draft with Focussed Changes and Further Focussed Changes October 2016

Cyngor Sir Powys County Council                                                                           206

Towns Inset 
Map 

Site 
Ref

Site Name Site 
Area 
(Ha)

No. 
Units

Affordable 
Housing 
Target (%)

Affordable 
Housing 
Target (No.)

Area 
Empl / 
Other 
(Ha)

Issues / Infrastructure / S106 Requirements (Base 
date for planning permission information –1/04/2015)

developers to fund a hydraulic modelling assessment of 
the water supply network to establish any improvements 
required to serve the sites with an adequate water 
supply. Ystradgynlais Wastewater Treatment Works has 
limited capacity and dependant on the pace and build 
rate of development there will ultimately be a time when 
increased capacity is required. Should developers wish 
to commence proceed in advance of the AMP6 scheme 
any regulatory improvements then financial contributions 
from developers are required to fund the necessary 
improvements.

Ystradgynlais 
Area,

HA12 Cynlais Playing 
Fields

0.64 10 10 0 1 0 N/A Requires remodelling of layby exit to form satisfactory 
access to site. Part of site within TAN15 C2 flood zone 
and a larger extent within Zone B. Flood Consequence 
Assessment required including testing potential blocking 
of adjacent bridge together with climate change 
hydrology. Certain works will require consent from the 
appropriate regulatory bodies as site adjacent to a main 
river. Further assessments on Contaminated Land, 
Drainage, Flood Consequence and Ecology required. 

Potential developers need to be aware that the site is 
crossed by a sewer and protection measures in the form 
of easement widths or a diversion of the pipe would be 
required, which may impact upon the density achievable 
on site. Ystradgynlais Wastewater Treatment Works 
(WwTW) has limited. Should potential developers wish 
to commence in advance of the AMP6 scheme then 
financial contributions from developers are required to 
fund the necessary improvements.

P
age 671



Powys LDP 2011-2026              Deposit Draft with Focussed Changes and Further Focussed Changes October 2016

Cyngor Sir Powys County Council                                                                           207

Towns Inset 
Map 

Site 
Ref

Site Name Site 
Area 
(Ha)

No. 
Units

Affordable 
Housing 
Target (%)

Affordable 
Housing 
Target (No.)

Area 
Empl / 
Other 
(Ha)

Issues / Infrastructure / S106 Requirements (Base 
date for planning permission information –1/04/2015)

Ystradgynlais 
Area

 EA1 Land at 
Woodlands 
Business Park, 
Ystradgynlais

2.31 N/A N/A N/A 2.31 Due to the amount and close proximity of sites, it will be 
necessary for developers to fund the undertaking of a 
hydraulic modelling assessment of the water supply 
network to establish any improvements required to serve 
the sites with an adequate water supply. Ystradgynlais 
Wastewater Treatment Works has limited capacity and 
dependant on the pace and build rate of development 
there will ultimately be a time when increased capacity is 
required. Should developers wish to proceed in advance 
of any regulatory improvements then financial 
contributions from developers are required to fund the 
necessary improvements.

P
age 672



Powys LDP 2011-2026              Deposit Draft with Focussed Changes and Further Focussed Changes October 2016

Cyngor Sir Powys County Council                                                                           208

Towns Inset 
Map 

Site 
Ref

Site Name Site 
Area 
(Ha)

No. 
Units

Affordable 
Housing 
Target (%)

Affordable 
Housing 
Target (No.)

Area 
Empl / 
Other 
(Ha)

Issues / Infrastructure / S106 Requirements (Base 
date for planning permission information –1/04/2015)

Hay-on-Wye P21 MUA1 Land at Gypsy 
Castle Lane

4.2 
1.8

45 49 30 13.5 14.7 2.4 Mixed use site - Need for joint development brief with 
PCC and BBNPA to ensure the site contributes to joint 
policy aspirations.

Highways, new junction with the county class II road will 
be required along with the stopping up for vehicular use 
of sections of the existing Gypsy Castle Lane. Surface 
water flooding issue with culvert improvements required, 
ecology survey. Recreation space provision to be 
included on site. The foul flows from this development 
would pass through two Welsh Water Sewerage 
Pumping Stations and the cumulative effect of flows 
from the site would require an assessment of the 
sewerage pumping stations to establish whether 
improvements are required. If improvements are 
required the sewer requisition provisions of the Water 
Industry Act 1991 can apply. Hay on Wye Wastewater 
Treatment Works has limited capacity and dependant on 
the pace and build rate of development there will 
ultimately be a time when increased capacity is required. 
Should developers wish to proceed in advance of any 
regulatory improvements then financial contributions 
from developers are required to fund the necessary 
improvements. *Project level HRA screening required - 
River Wye SAC. Site lies within the Hay character area 
of the Middle Wye Registered Historic Landscape 
therefore proposed development may require assessing 
under ASIDOHL2.

P
age 673



Powys LDP 2011-2026              Deposit Draft with Focussed Changes and Further Focussed Changes October 2016

Cyngor Sir Powys County Council                                                                           209

Large 
Villages

Inset 
Map 

Site Ref Site Name Site 
Area 
(Ha)

No. 
Units

Affordable 
Housing 
Target (%)

Affordable 
Housing 
Target (No.)

Area 
Empl/

Other 
(Ha)

Issues / Infrastructure / S106 Requirements (Base 
date for planning permission information - 
1/04/2015)

Abercrave P01 HA1 Land to East 
of 
Maesycribart
h

0.5 13 14 10 0 1.3 0 N/A Drainage improvements and ecology survey required. 
Two separate landowners, agree access to whole of 
site. Ystradgynlais Wastewater Treatment Works has 
limited capacity and dependant on the pace and build 
rate of development there will ultimately be a time when 
increased capacity is required. Should developers wish 
to proceed in advance of any regulatory improvements 
then financial contributions from developers are required 
to fund the necessary improvements.

Abermule P02 HA1 Land 
adjoining 
Abermule 
House

0.2 
0.4

10 20 2.0 N/A Ecological Survey may be required to inform 
enhancements. Utility corridors adjoin site and will need 
to be considered in drawing up development proposals 
for the site. Offsite works will be required to achieve an 
appropriate Highways access (e.g. visibility splays and 
pedestrian links).*Project level HRA screening required - 
Montgomery Canal SAC (hydrological connections).

Abermule  HA2 Land 
adjacent The 
Meadows & 
Land 
adjacent 
Parkside

1.1 
3.3

30 20 6.0 N/A Large Site capable of being phased beyond the Plan 
period. Development Brief required for phasing and 
access road scheme to realise full allocation. Plan 
anticipates approx. 1.1 ha being developed. Site 
comprises 3 distinct parts that are subject of a number of 
constraints relating to issues such as highways access, 
utility corridors and flooding. A comprehensive scheme 
for the development of the entire allocation shall be 

P
age 674



Powys LDP 2011-2026              Deposit Draft with Focussed Changes and Further Focussed Changes October 2016

Cyngor Sir Powys County Council                                                                           210

Large 
Villages

Inset 
Map 

Site Ref Site Name Site 
Area 
(Ha)

No. 
Units

Affordable 
Housing 
Target (%)

Affordable 
Housing 
Target (No.)

Area 
Empl/

Other 
(Ha)

Issues / Infrastructure / S106 Requirements (Base 
date for planning permission information - 
1/04/2015)

identified through the preparation of a development brief 
that takes account of all constraints, viability and 
phasing (with no more than 30 dwellings within the Plan 
period).*Project level HRA screening required - 
Montgomery Canal SAC (hydrological connections).

Abermule  EA1 Land south of 
Maesderwen

Abermule  

Business 
Park

2.6 N/A N/A N/A 2.6 Outline planning permission P/2009/1353 has lapsed. 
Serviced site. *Project level HRA screening required - 
Montgomery Canal SAC (hydrological connections). 
Flood risk - at risk in the 0.1% annual probability fluvial 
flood event and site falls wholly within TAN 15 C2 Flood 
Zone. If any further planning application is submitted the 
developer will need to revisit the Flood Consequences 
Assessment to ensure flood risk is up to date. 
Recommend consultation with Emergency Services / 
Emergency Planners re access / egress.

Arddleen P03 HA1 Land West of 
Trederwen 
House

1.7 16 17 20 3.2 3.4  Large Site capable of being phased beyond the Plan 
period. Development Brief required for provision of 
community car park to realise full allocation. Plan 
anticipates approx. 0.6 ha being developed. Part site 
required in this Plan period. Plan for potential future 
phasing. Allocation dependant on provision of 
community car park. Sensitive heritage - listed 
Trederwen House nearby. Sympathetically designed car 
park could usefully buffer listed building. *Project level 
HRA screening required - Montgomery Canal SAC 
(hydrological connections) and Tanat and Vyrnwy Bat 

P
age 675



Powys LDP 2011-2026              Deposit Draft with Focussed Changes and Further Focussed Changes October 2016

Cyngor Sir Powys County Council                                                                           211

Large 
Villages

Inset 
Map 

Site Ref Site Name Site 
Area 
(Ha)

No. 
Units

Affordable 
Housing 
Target (%)

Affordable 
Housing 
Target (No.)

Area 
Empl/

Other 
(Ha)

Issues / Infrastructure / S106 Requirements (Base 
date for planning permission information - 
1/04/2015)

sites SAC.   This site is within a catchment that is failing 
WFD objectives (due to phosphate levels).  Therefore 
foul water disposal must go to a mains public sewer or 
developer must show private connection is not adding to 
phosphate levels in the catchment.

Berriew P04 HA1 Land to east 
of the village, 
adjacent 
canal.

0.7 12 20 3 2.4 Sensitive canal side site at gateway into village.  Density 
has been reduced to reflect need for a canal buffer and  
presence/potential preservation of existing canal related 
buildings.   Development will be required to demonstrate 
that a safe means of access can be created and a 
footpath connected to the existing footway network.  
Pre-application consultation with stakeholders advised -  
to include Glandwr Cymru -  Canal and River Trust in 
Wales, heritage and ecology officers.  There is a known 
water vole population (protected species) on the canal.  
Development of the site will need to include a scheme 
which conserves the water vole population.  Pre-
application discussions with NRW should be conducted 
to ensure satisfactory mitigation measures are offered 
as an intrinsic component of the re-development 
proposals.    *Project level HRA screening required - 
Montgomery Canal SAC (hydrological connections).  
The site includes a number of canal related features.  
Development here may require prior archaeological 
intervention (consult and involve CPAT).

Bettws 
Cedewain

P05 HC1 Bryn Bechan 0.4 10 N/A 4.0 N/A Commitment M/2002/0187 (Renewal of outline planning 
permission M1997 0614, P/2008/0167 Reserved 
Matters). *Project level HRA screening required - 

P
age 676



Powys LDP 2011-2026              Deposit Draft with Focussed Changes and Further Focussed Changes October 2016

Cyngor Sir Powys County Council                                                                           212

Large 
Villages

Inset 
Map 

Site Ref Site Name Site 
Area 
(Ha)

No. 
Units

Affordable 
Housing 
Target (%)

Affordable 
Housing 
Target (No.)

Area 
Empl/

Other 
(Ha)

Issues / Infrastructure / S106 Requirements (Base 
date for planning permission information - 
1/04/2015)

Montgomery Canal SAC (hydrological connections).

Boughrood & 
Llyswen

P06 HC1 The Depot 
Boughrood

0.3 12 N/A 4.0 N/A Commitment.  (PR154003, P/2009/1270, 
VAR/2014/0007)
Site under construction.

Boughrood & 
Llyswen

 HC2 Beeches 
Park , 
Boughrood

0.3 5 N/A 0.0 N/A Commitment. (P/2011/0110, P/2012/0696, P/2012/1070, 
P/2013/0601) Site under construction.

Boughrood & 
Llyswen

 HA1 Land at 
Llyswen adj 
B24 HA3

1.1 29 30 30 8.7 9 N/A LNG pipeline – site within 250m and 440m buffer zone 
protected area – refer to Health & Safety Executive for 
acceptable number of units and density. Access must be 
onto adjoining estate road of Llys Meilion. Assessment 
of surface drainage required. Highways - Improvements 
to Class I A479 Trunk Road highway footpath access to 
village and traffic controlling measures required. 
Category 1 Minerals safeguarding area - Resource 
assessment required with proposals for prior extraction if 
proven.  Middle Wye Valley Historic Landscape 
(proposed development may require assessing under 
ASIDOHL2). Improvements to Llyswen Waste Water 
Treatment Works may be required. Ecology Survey 
required. Play space provision required.  *Project level 
HRA screening required - River Wye SAC.

P
age 677



Powys LDP 2011-2026              Deposit Draft with Focussed Changes and Further Focussed Changes October 2016

Cyngor Sir Powys County Council                                                                           213

Large 
Villages

Inset 
Map 

Site Ref Site Name Site 
Area 
(Ha)

No. 
Units

Affordable 
Housing 
Target (%)

Affordable 
Housing 
Target (No.)

Area 
Empl/

Other 
(Ha)

Issues / Infrastructure / S106 Requirements (Base 
date for planning permission information - 
1/04/2015)

Boughrood & 
Llyswen

 HA2 Land 
adjoining 
Beeches 
Park, 
Boughrood

0.8 15 30 4.5 N/A Transport Assessment for trunk road access required.

Ecology survey required. Appropriate internal highways 
design required. Need for development brief to ensure 
site contributes to sustainable development. Pedestrian 
facilities required. Llyswen Village Wastewater 
Treatment Works has limited capacity and dependant on 
the pace and build rate of development there will 
ultimately be a time when increased capacity is required. 
Should developers wish to proceed in advance of any 
regulatory improvements then financial contributions 
from developers are required to fund the necessary 
improvements. Category 1 & 2 Minerals safeguarding 
area - Resource assessment required with proposals for 
prior extraction if proven. Site requires ground and 
surface water drainage assessment *Project level HRA 
screening required - River Wye SAC.

Bronllys P07 HC1 Land 
adjacent to 
Bronllys 
Court

1.5 34 N/A 8.0 N/A Commitment  (P/2008/0405, P/2010/0864, P/2013/0922)

P
age 678



Powys LDP 2011-2026              Deposit Draft with Focussed Changes and Further Focussed Changes October 2016

Cyngor Sir Powys County Council                                                                           214

Large 
Villages

Inset 
Map 

Site Ref Site Name Site 
Area 
(Ha)

No. 
Units

Affordable 
Housing 
Target (%)

Affordable 
Housing 
Target (No.)

Area 
Empl/

Other 
(Ha)

Issues / Infrastructure / S106 Requirements (Base 
date for planning permission information - 
1/04/2015)

Bronllys  HA3 Land to rear 
of 
Greenfields 
Bronllys

0.3 6 30 1.8 N/A Highways & pedestrian facilities improvements. *Project 
level HRA screening required - River Wye SAC. 
Contaminated land survey required. Site contains a 
historic asset and partly impinges on the historic 
settlement core of Bronllys therefore any proposed 
development here may require archaeological 
intervention as part of any planning application.

Bronllys  HA1 Land adj 
Bronllys CP 
School, 
Neuadd 
Terrace

1.4 36 38 30 10.8 11.4 N/A Access from Bronllys Class III road only. No access from 
bypass. Ecology Survey required. There are isolated 
incidents of flooding in the public sewerage system that 
will need to be resolved to allow development to 
proceed. Potential developers can either wait for DCWW 
to resolve the flooding, subject to funding being 
approved by Ofwat, or progress the improvements 
through the sewerage requisition of the Water Industry 
Act 1991 or S106 of the Town and Country Planning Act 
1990. A hydraulic modelling assessment (HMA) may be 
required to determine the point of connection to the 
public sewerage system and potential developers would 
be expected to fund investigations during pre-planning 
stages. Middle Wye Valley Historic Landscape therefore 
depending on its size and nature any proposed 
development here may require assessing under the 
ASIDOHL2. Site contains three historic assets therefore 
any proposed development here may require 
archaeological intervention as part of any planning 
application. *Project level HRA screening required - 

P
age 679



Powys LDP 2011-2026              Deposit Draft with Focussed Changes and Further Focussed Changes October 2016

Cyngor Sir Powys County Council                                                                           215

Large 
Villages

Inset 
Map 

Site Ref Site Name Site 
Area 
(Ha)

No. 
Units

Affordable 
Housing 
Target (%)

Affordable 
Housing 
Target (No.)

Area 
Empl/

Other 
(Ha)

Issues / Infrastructure / S106 Requirements (Base 
date for planning permission information - 
1/04/2015)

River Wye SAC.

Bronllys  HA2 Land at 
Bronllys to 
the west of 
Hen Ysgubor

0.6 10 30 3.0 N/A Site subject of application (P/2014/1190). There are 
isolated incidents of flooding in the public sewerage 
system that will need to be resolved to allow 
development to proceed. Potential developers can either 
wait for DCWW to resolve the flooding, subject to 
funding being approved by Ofwat, or progress the 
improvements through the sewerage requisition of the 
Water Industry Act 1991 or S106 of the Town and 
Country Planning Act 1990. A hydraulic modelling 
assessment (HMA) may be required to determine the 
point of connection to the public sewerage system and 
potential developers would be expected to fund 
investigations during pre-planning stages. Middle Wye 
Valley Historic Landscape. *Project level HRA screening 
required - River Wye SAC. Site lies within the historic 
settlement core of Bronllys any proposed development 
here may require archaeological intervention as part of 
any planning application

Caersws P09 HC1 Part of Buck 
Hotel, Main 
Street

N/A 5 N/A 1 N/A Commitment.  Full planning permission P/2013/0834.

P
age 680



Powys LDP 2011-2026              Deposit Draft with Focussed Changes and Further Focussed Changes October 2016

Cyngor Sir Powys County Council                                                                           216

Large 
Villages

Inset 
Map 

Site Ref Site Name Site 
Area 
(Ha)

No. 
Units

Affordable 
Housing 
Target (%)

Affordable 
Housing 
Target (No.)

Area 
Empl/

Other 
(Ha)

Issues / Infrastructure / S106 Requirements (Base 
date for planning permission information - 
1/04/2015)

Caersws P09 HA1 Land north of 
Carno Road

1.6 40 43 10 4.0 4.3 N/A Area of site subject to flooding has been excluded from 
the allocation. Surface and foul drainage, landscape 
setting, archaeology and trunk road access will be 
significant considerations when drawing up development 
proposals for the site. Site lies partly within the Caersws 
character area of the Caersws Basin Registered Historic 
Landscape and partly within the Maesmawr character 
area of the Caersws Basin Registered Historic 
Landscape therefore depending on its size and nature 
any proposed development here may require assessing 
under the ASIDOHL2.  Site contains a historic asset 
therefore any proposed development here may require 
archaeological intervention as part of any planning 
application.  Given the sensitivity of this location, a 
development brief will be required to be prepared.

Carno P10 HA1 Land off 
Ffordd Dol-
Llin

0.5 13 14 10 1.3 1.4 N/A Ecological Survey will be required to inform 
enhancements. Achieving an appropriate standard of 
trunk road access will be a significant consideration 
when drawing up development proposals for this site.

Carno  HA2 Land north of 
Gerddi 
Cledan

1 25 27 10 2.5 2.7 N/A Ecological Survey may be required to inform 
enhancements. Surface water drainage and achieving 
an appropriate standard of trunk road access (which 
may require off-site works) will be significant 
considerations when drawing up development proposals 
for this site.

P
age 681



Powys LDP 2011-2026              Deposit Draft with Focussed Changes and Further Focussed Changes October 2016

Cyngor Sir Powys County Council                                                                           217

Large 
Villages

Inset 
Map 

Site Ref Site Name Site 
Area 
(Ha)

No. 
Units

Affordable 
Housing 
Target (%)

Affordable 
Housing 
Target (No.)

Area 
Empl/

Other 
(Ha)

Issues / Infrastructure / S106 Requirements (Base 
date for planning permission information - 
1/04/2015)

Castle 
Caereinion

P11 HC1 Land at 
Swallows 
Meadow

2.3 31 N/A 6.0 N/A Commitment. Partly developed, partly under 
construction. *Project level HRA screening required - 
Tanat and Vwrnwy Bat sites SAC and Montgomery 
Canal SAC (hydrological connections).

Churchstoke P12 HC1 Land at Maes 
Neuadd (rear 
of Village 
Hall)

0.6 16 N/A 0.0 N/A Commitment (site partially completed).

Churchstoke  HC2 Land at the 
Garage

0.3 6 N/A 0.0 N/A Commitment. Site lies within the Yr Ystog character area 
of the Vale of Montgomery Registered Historic 
Landscape depending on its size and nature any 
proposed development here may require assessing 
under the ASIDOHL2 as part of any planning 
application.

Churchstoke  HC3 Land at the 
Hatchery

0.5 12 N/A 5.0 N/A Commitment. Site lies within the Yr Ystog character area 
of the Vale of Montgomery Registered Historic 
Landscape depending on its size and nature any 
proposed development here may require assessing 
under the ASIDOHL2 as part of any planning 
application.

Churchstoke HC4 Land 
adjacent The 
View

0.43 11 N/A 0 N/A Committed Site (JHLAS Number 31) [To delete JHLAS 
No.]

P
age 682



Powys LDP 2011-2026              Deposit Draft with Focussed Changes and Further Focussed Changes October 2016

Cyngor Sir Powys County Council                                                                           218

Large 
Villages

Inset 
Map 

Site Ref Site Name Site 
Area 
(Ha)

No. 
Units

Affordable 
Housing 
Target (%)

Affordable 
Housing 
Target (No.)

Area 
Empl/

Other 
(Ha)

Issues / Infrastructure / S106 Requirements (Base 
date for planning permission information - 
1/04/2015)

Churchstoke HA1 Land west of 
Fir House

1.34 33 36 20 6.6 7.2 Site lies within the Yr Ystog character area of the Vale of 
Montgomery Registered Historic Landscape depending 
on its size and nature any proposed development here 
may require assessing under the ASIDOHL2 as part of 
any planning application.  Access works will be required 
to meet acceptable highways standards. Highways 
advise that access works should have regard to the 
potential residential use of land opposite.  Ecological 
survey is likely to be required to inform enhancements.   

Churchstoke  EA1 Land adj 
Tuffins 
Supermarket

Churchstoke

1.32
8

N/A N/A N/A 1.3 28 Housing Commitment P/2014/0559 at north of site. This 
allocation takes forward into the LDP the same parcel of 
land previously allocated in the past plan. Site lies within 
the Yr Ystog character area of the Vale of Montgomery 
Registered Historic Landscape depending on its size 
and nature any proposed development here may require 
assessing under the ASIDOHL2 as part of any planning 
application. This site is within a catchment that is failing 
WFD objectives (due to phosphate levels). Further 
loading of phosphates in this catchment through 
inappropriate drainage could prevent achieving WFD 
objectives.  All trade and foul water effluent should be 
disposed via mains public sewer in the first instance. If 
not, an assessment is required at planning application 
stage to show development is not adding to phosphate 
levels.

P
age 683



Powys LDP 2011-2026              Deposit Draft with Focussed Changes and Further Focussed Changes October 2016

Cyngor Sir Powys County Council                                                                           219

Large 
Villages

Inset 
Map 

Site Ref Site Name Site 
Area 
(Ha)

No. 
Units

Affordable 
Housing 
Target (%)

Affordable 
Housing 
Target (No.)

Area 
Empl/

Other 
(Ha)

Issues / Infrastructure / S106 Requirements (Base 
date for planning permission information - 
1/04/2015)

Clyro P13 HC1 Land South 
east of Clyro 
(A)

0.6 21 N/A 6.0 N/A Commitment. (RAD/2003/0557). Six local needs units 
under construction

Clyro  HA1 Land South 
east of Clyro 
(B)

0.5 13 14 30 3.9 4.2 N/A Highways & access improvements essential. Potential 
developers need to be aware that the site is crossed by 
a sewer and protection measures in the form of 
easement widths or a diversion of the pipe would be 
required, which may impact upon the density achievable 
on site. The proposed growth being promoted for this 
settlement would require improvements to Clyro 
Wastewater treatment works which would need to be 
funded through Welsh Water's Asset Management Plan 
or potentially earlier through developer contributions. 
Land contamination and ecology surveys required. 
*Project level HRA screening required - River Wye SAC. 
Site lies within the Bryn-yr-hydd character area of the 
Middle Wye Registered Historic Landscape. Depending 
on its size and nature any proposed development here 
may require assessing under the ASIDOHL2 as part of 
any planning application

P
age 684



Powys LDP 2011-2026              Deposit Draft with Focussed Changes and Further Focussed Changes October 2016

Cyngor Sir Powys County Council                                                                           220

Large 
Villages

Inset 
Map 

Site Ref Site Name Site 
Area 
(Ha)

No. 
Units

Affordable 
Housing 
Target (%)

Affordable 
Housing 
Target (No.)

Area 
Empl/

Other 
(Ha)

Issues / Infrastructure / S106 Requirements (Base 
date for planning permission information - 
1/04/2015)

Crewgreen P15 HA1 Land 
Opposite The 
Firs (between 
Malt House 
Farm & Bryn 
Mawr)

1.5 21 23 20 4.2 4.6 N/A Expect reduced density and careful design to 
protect/enhance existing ecological features, including 
pond - sensitive landscape - development proposals 
should be identified through the preparation of a 
development brief that takes account of all issues 
including constraints and viability.  Investigation required 
to satisfy highways requirements and also investigate 
capacity of sewerage infrastructure. *Project level HRA 
screening required - Tanat and Vwrnwy Bat sites SAC.

Crossgates P16 HC1 Oaktree 
Meadows

1.4 15 N/A 0.0 N/A Commitment.  Ref: PR6115/01 Full planning permission. 
*Project level HRA screening required - River Wye SAC. 
Consideration needs to be given to drainage on this site.

Crossgates  HA1 Land South 
of Studio 
Cottage

0.7 15 19 30 4.5 5.7 N/A Ecological Survey to inform enhancement. Potential 
developers need to be aware that this site is crossed by 
a water main and protection measures in the form of 
easement widths or a diversion of the pipe would be 
required, which may impact upon the density achievable 
on site. The proposed growth being promoted for this 
settlement would require improvements at Crossgates 
Wastewater Treatment Works which would need to be 
funded through DCWW's Asset Management Plan or 
potentially earlier through developer contributions. 
*Project level HRA screening required - River Wye SAC. 
Consideration will need to be given to highway access 
arrangements to serve the development, and in 
particular to the details of junction spacing and access 

P
age 685



Powys LDP 2011-2026              Deposit Draft with Focussed Changes and Further Focussed Changes October 2016

Cyngor Sir Powys County Council                                                                           221

Large 
Villages

Inset 
Map 

Site Ref Site Name Site 
Area 
(Ha)

No. 
Units

Affordable 
Housing 
Target (%)

Affordable 
Housing 
Target (No.)

Area 
Empl/

Other 
(Ha)

Issues / Infrastructure / S106 Requirements (Base 
date for planning permission information - 
1/04/2015)

visibility.   

Forden / 
Kingswood

P17  Settlement 
Note

N/A N/A 20 N/A N/A No allocations in the main part of the village (old Forden) 
due to sewerage and highways constraints, however 
suitable land has been retained within the development 
boundary to facilitate smaller scale housing 
development.  Allocations have been identified at 
Kingswood.

Forden / 
Kingswood

 HA1 Land off 
Heritage 
Green

0.8 15 20 3.0 N/A Sensitive heritage. Expect lower density (15-20/ha) as 
requires open space/buffer to protect setting of Offas 
Dyke (consult and involve Cadw & CPAT). Development 
here may also require archaeological intervention as 
part of any planning application). *Project level HRA 
screening required - Montgomery Canal SAC 
(hydrological connections) and Tanat and Vwrnwy Bat 
sites SAC. In a catchment that is failing WFD objectives 
(due to phosphate levels), so foul water disposal must 
go to a mains public sewer or developer must show 
private connection is not adding to phosphate levels in 
the catchment.

Forden / 
Kingswood

 HA2 Land 
between 
Heatherwood 
& Kingswood 
Lane

0.5 10 20 2.0 N/A Up to 10 dwellings reliant on addressing highways 
concerns - access is permitted off the adjacent housing 
estate (Heatherwood) or significant highway 
improvements are undertaken on the U2487. Sensitive 
heritage - Requires buffer to protect setting of Offas 
Dyke (consult and involve Cadw & CPAT, development 

P
age 686



Powys LDP 2011-2026              Deposit Draft with Focussed Changes and Further Focussed Changes October 2016

Cyngor Sir Powys County Council                                                                           222

Large 
Villages

Inset 
Map 

Site Ref Site Name Site 
Area 
(Ha)

No. 
Units

Affordable 
Housing 
Target (%)

Affordable 
Housing 
Target (No.)

Area 
Empl/

Other 
(Ha)

Issues / Infrastructure / S106 Requirements (Base 
date for planning permission information - 
1/04/2015)

here may also require archaeological intervention as 
part of any planning application).  *Project level HRA 
screening required - Montgomery Canal SAC 
(hydrological connections) and Tanat and Vwrnwy Bat 
sites SAC. In a catchment that is failing WFD objectives 
(due to phosphate levels).  Therefore foul water disposal 
must go to a mains public sewer or developer must 
show private connection is not adding to phosphate 
levels in the catchment.

Four Crosses P18 HA1 Land at 
Oldfield 
(including 
land rear of 
School)

3.4 30 32 10 3.0 3.2 N/A Large Site capable of being phased beyond the Plan 
period. Development Brief required for phasing and 
provision of community space (adjacent to school?) for 
expansion/sport facilities to realise full allocation. Plan 
anticipates approx. 1.2 ha being developed. Part site 
required in this Plan period (1.2 ha), potential future 
phasing, allocation dependant on provision of 
community space to be agreed (adj school?) for 
expansion/sports facilities. Possible mixed use 
opportunities, phasing plan required. Care re: heritage 
constraints, retain disused railway as potential transport 
corridor. Whole site would require archaeological 
evaluation as part of any planning application and 
appropriate archaeological mitigation as part of any 
development thereafter (consult and involve CPAT). 
Mix/amount of uses on site must be identified through 
the preparation of a development brief that takes 
account of all issues including constraints and viability. 

P
age 687



Powys LDP 2011-2026              Deposit Draft with Focussed Changes and Further Focussed Changes October 2016

Cyngor Sir Powys County Council                                                                           223

Large 
Villages

Inset 
Map 

Site Ref Site Name Site 
Area 
(Ha)

No. 
Units

Affordable 
Housing 
Target (%)

Affordable 
Housing 
Target (No.)

Area 
Empl/

Other 
(Ha)

Issues / Infrastructure / S106 Requirements (Base 
date for planning permission information - 
1/04/2015)

*Project level HRA screening required - Montgomery 
Canal SAC (hydrological connections) and Tanat and 
Vwrnwy Bat sites SAC.

Four Crosses  EA1 Employment 
Land at Four 
Crosses 
Business 
Park

0.5 N/A N/A N/A 0.5 Some plots remaining *Project level HRA screening 
required - Montgomery Canal SAC (hydrological 
connections) 

Glasbury P19 HA1 Treble Hill 
Stables, 
Glasbury

0.3 5 30 1.5 N/A Highways improvements would be required for more 
than five additional units on site due to visibility and 
movement conflicts with Dan-y-bryn junction opposite. 
Glasbury Wastewater Treatment Works has limited 
capacity and dependent on the pace and build rate of 
development there will ultimately be a time when 
increased capacity is required. Should developers wish 
to proceed in advance of any regulatory improvements 
then financial contributions from developers are required 
to fund the necessary improvements. *Project level HRA 
screening required - River Wye SAC. Site lies within the 

P
age 688



Powys LDP 2011-2026              Deposit Draft with Focussed Changes and Further Focussed Changes October 2016

Cyngor Sir Powys County Council                                                                           224

Large 
Villages

Inset 
Map 

Site Ref Site Name Site 
Area 
(Ha)

No. 
Units

Affordable 
Housing 
Target (%)

Affordable 
Housing 
Target (No.)

Area 
Empl/

Other 
(Ha)

Issues / Infrastructure / S106 Requirements (Base 
date for planning permission information - 
1/04/2015)

setting of listed buildings. Site lies within the Glasbury 
character area of the Middle Wye Registered Historic 
Landscape. Depending on its size and nature any 
proposed development here may require assessing 
under the ASIDOHL2 as part of any planning 
application.

Guilsfield P20 HC1 Sarn 
Meadows

3.3 46 N/A 14 N/A Committed Site (JHLAS Number 53)

Guilsfield  HA1 Land adj 
Celyn Lane

0.9 20 20 4.0 N/A Highways Improvement/local link road required, closure 
of existing junction.  Development must avoid flood risk 
areas. Sensitive ecological issues - liaison with NRW 
required at pre-application stage - European Protected 
Species Licence likely to be required.

P
age 689



Powys LDP 2011-2026              Deposit Draft with Focussed Changes and Further Focussed Changes October 2016

Cyngor Sir Powys County Council                                                                           225

Large 
Villages

Inset 
Map 

Site Ref Site Name Site 
Area 
(Ha)

No. 
Units

Affordable 
Housing 
Target (%)

Affordable 
Housing 
Target (No.)

Area 
Empl/

Other 
(Ha)

Issues / Infrastructure / S106 Requirements (Base 
date for planning permission information - 
1/04/2015)

*Project level HRA screening will be required with 
regards to Granllyn SAC. Given the proximity of Granllyn 
SAC there is a high likelihood that great crested newts 
may be present or utilise the site for distribution to 
surrounding environment- development proposals will 
require appropriate surveys and detailed mitigation plans 
to ensure that the development does not result in 
barriers to migration, fragmentation of habitats (including 
breeding and terrestrial habitat outside of the Granllyn 
SAC), disturbance, increased recreational pressures, 
incidental capture and killing which could affect the 
ecological functionality of the SAC.  Given the 
complexity and level of detail required regarding 
mitigation to ensure no likely significant impact to the 
Granllyn SAC it is considered that a S106 will be 
required. Lower density reflects the requirement for 
potential mitigation measures/buffers for protected 
species and land required for link road.  

Additional HRA Screening may also be required in 
relation to Montgomery Canal SAC (hydrological 
connections) and Tanat and Vyrnwy Bat sites SAC.

Guilsfield  HA2 Land to East 
of Groes-
lwyd, 

0.8 19 22 20 3.8 4.4 N/A The flood zone has been excluded from the allocation.  
Part of field nearest existing built form is allocated so 
that a green buffer is retained to nearby Groes-llwyd.  
Access point to be determined with highways including 

P
age 690



Powys LDP 2011-2026              Deposit Draft with Focussed Changes and Further Focussed Changes October 2016

Cyngor Sir Powys County Council                                                                           226

Large 
Villages

Inset 
Map 

Site Ref Site Name Site 
Area 
(Ha)

No. 
Units

Affordable 
Housing 
Target (%)

Affordable 
Housing 
Target (No.)

Area 
Empl/

Other 
(Ha)

Issues / Infrastructure / S106 Requirements (Base 
date for planning permission information - 
1/04/2015)

Guilsfield relocation of existing 30mph speed limit, footways to link 
up with the existing infrastructure.    *Project level HRA 
screening required - Granllyn SAC & Montgomery Canal 
SAC (hydrological connections) and Tanat and Vyrnwy 
Bat sites SAC.  

Howey  P22 HA1 Land at 
Crossways 
Court.

1.4 30 38 30 9.0 11.4 N/A Ecology Survey to inform enhancement, include a 10m 
buffer along the boundary with the railway. Requires 
significant works to the trunk road junction with class III 
road. Nearby Tree Preservation Order. Potential 
developers need to be aware that the site is crossed by 
a water main and protection measures in the form of 
easement widths or a diversion of the pipe would be 
required, which may impact upon the density achievable 
on site.*Project level HRA screening required - River 
Wye SAC.

Howey HA2 Land 
adjacent 
Goylands 
Estate

0.8 11 12 N/A 30 0.0 3.6 N/A Previous permissions in relation to residential 
development have lapsed. *Project level HRA screening 
required - River Wye SAC.

Kerry P23 HC1 Dolforgan 
View, Kerry

2.1 64 62 N/A 0.0 N/A Full planning permission (P/2009/0106). If the current 
permission is not implemented affordable housing 
contribution will be sought on future proposals for this 
site. Site contains two historic assets, any proposed 
development here may require archaeological 
intervention as part of any planning application. *Project 
level HRA screening required - Montgomery Canal SAC 

P
age 691



Powys LDP 2011-2026              Deposit Draft with Focussed Changes and Further Focussed Changes October 2016

Cyngor Sir Powys County Council                                                                           227

Large 
Villages

Inset 
Map 

Site Ref Site Name Site 
Area 
(Ha)

No. 
Units

Affordable 
Housing 
Target (%)

Affordable 
Housing 
Target (No.)

Area 
Empl/

Other 
(Ha)

Issues / Infrastructure / S106 Requirements (Base 
date for planning permission information - 
1/04/2015)

(hydrological connections).

Knucklas P25 HC1 Old Station 
Works

0.28 6 20 2 N/A Commitment (RAD/2005/0555)

Knucklas P25 HA1 Land at 
Castle Green

0.4 17 10 1.7 N/A PR143106, (P/2012/0272 - Site awaiting signing of 
S106) 

Llanbrynmair P26 HC1 Bryncoch 1 5 N/A 2.0 N/A Partially Committed. Ref: P/2014/1060

Llanbrynmair  HA1 Land west of 
Bryncoch

0.7 17 19 10 2.0 1.9 N/A Ecological Survey will be required to inform 
enhancements. Road access via committed site to the 
north. Transport assessment may be required to 
ascertain impacts on Trunk Road. Off-site highway 
infrastructure improvements required.

Llandinam P27 HA1 Land 
opposite Old 
Barn Close, 
Llandinam

0.3 8 20 10 1.6 0.8 N/A Highways improvements, ecology.

P
age 692



Powys LDP 2011-2026              Deposit Draft with Focussed Changes and Further Focussed Changes October 2016

Cyngor Sir Powys County Council                                                                           228

Large 
Villages

Inset 
Map 

Site Ref Site Name Site 
Area 
(Ha)

No. 
Units

Affordable 
Housing 
Target (%)

Affordable 
Housing 
Target (No.)

Area 
Empl/

Other 
(Ha)

Issues / Infrastructure / S106 Requirements (Base 
date for planning permission information - 
1/04/2015)

Llandrinio P29 HA1 Gwernybatto 
Land off 
Orchard Croft

1.1 20 30 20 4.0 6.0 N/A *Project level HRA screening required - Montgomery 
Canal SAC (hydrological connections) and Tanat and 
Vwrnwy Bat sites SAC.

Llanfechain P31 HA1 Land north of 
Church, 
Llanfechain

1 25 10 2.5 N/A Flood zone excluded. *Project level HRA screening 
required - Tanat and Vwrnwy Bat sites SAC.  Site lies 
within the historic settlement core of Llanfechain, any 
proposed development here may require archaeological 
intervention as part of any planning application.  
Highways access will need to be obtained via the 
adjacent housing estate Phasell Maes Dinas (U4978). 
The existing unadopted highway would need to be 
upgraded and offered for adoption in order to serve the 
allocation. Possibility of groundwater flooding / high 
water table - careful design in respect to surface water 
disposal is needed, i.e. soakaways may not be effective 
if there is a high water table. Further investigation and 
monitoring of groundwater levels over a period of time is 
needed as part of any revised FCA submission. 
Development Brief will be required for this site.

Llangurig  P33 HA1 Land adj. 
Maesllan, 
Llangurig

0.7 18 19 10 1.8 1.9 N/A Highways improvements, Ecology, Heritage, Drainage. 
Llangurig Wastewater Treatment Works has limited 
capacity and dependant on the pace and build rate of 
development there will ultimately be a time when 
increased capacity is required. Should developers wish 
to proceed in advance of any regulatory improvements 
then financial contributions from developers are required 

P
age 693



Powys LDP 2011-2026              Deposit Draft with Focussed Changes and Further Focussed Changes October 2016

Cyngor Sir Powys County Council                                                                           229

Large 
Villages

Inset 
Map 

Site Ref Site Name Site 
Area 
(Ha)

No. 
Units

Affordable 
Housing 
Target (%)

Affordable 
Housing 
Target (No.)

Area 
Empl/

Other 
(Ha)

Issues / Infrastructure / S106 Requirements (Base 
date for planning permission information - 
1/04/2015)

to fund the necessary improvements.  *Project level 
HRA screening required - River Wye SAC. 

Llangynog P34 HA1 Llangynog 
Glebe

0.3 8 10 0.8 N/A Needs to be accessed from the road to the south east, 
outside of the development boundary. The access point 
falls within TAN 15, C2 flood zone, a Flood 
Consequence Assessment will be required at the 
planning application stage. *Project level HRA screening 
required - Tanat and Vwrnwy Bat sites SAC, the Berwyn 
and South Clwyd Mountains SAC and  Berwyn SPA. 
Site impinges on the historic settlement core of 
Llangynog, any proposed development here may require 
archaeological intervention as part of any planning 
application. The site also lies within the Llangynog 
character area of the Tanat Valley Registered Historic 
Landscape.  Depending on its size and nature any 
proposed development here may require assessing 
under the ASIDOHL2 as part of any planning 
application.

P
age 694



Powys LDP 2011-2026              Deposit Draft with Focussed Changes and Further Focussed Changes October 2016

Cyngor Sir Powys County Council                                                                           230

Large 
Villages

Inset 
Map 

Site Ref Site Name Site 
Area 
(Ha)

No. 
Units

Affordable 
Housing 
Target (%)

Affordable 
Housing 
Target (No.)

Area 
Empl/

Other 
(Ha)

Issues / Infrastructure / S106 Requirements (Base 
date for planning permission information - 
1/04/2015)

Llanrhaeadr-
ym-
Mochnant

P36 HA1 Land at Maes 
yr Esgob, 
Llanrhaeder 
ym Mochnant

0.7 19 10 1.9 N/A *Project level HRA screening required - Tanat and 
Vwrnwy Bat sites SAC. Site lies within the Llanrhaeadr-
ym-Mochnant character area of the Tanat Valley 
Registered Historic Landscape.  Depending on its size 
and nature any proposed development here may require 
assessing under the ASIDOHL2 as part of any planning 
application.

Llansantffraid
-ym-Mechain

P37 HC1 Land off 
Fford 
Spoonley, 
Llansantffraid

0.4 12 N/A 3.0 N/A Commitment. 

Llansantffraid
-ym-Mechain 

HC2 Bronhyddon 0.42 5 N/A 0 N/A Committed Site (JHLAS Number 198)

Llansantffraid
-ym-Mechain

 HA1 Land at 
Spoonley 
Farm, 
Llansantffraid

0.8 20 22 10 2.0 2.2 N/A *Project level HRA screening required - Montgomery 
Canal SAC (hydrological connections). Tanat and 
Vwrnwy Bat sites SAC..

Llansantffraid
-ym-Mechain

 HA2 Land adj. 
Maes y cain, 
Llansantffraid
-ym-Mechain

0.6 13 10 1.3 N/A *Project level HRA screening required - Montgomery 
Canal SAC (hydrological connections) and Tanat and 
Vwrnwy Bat sites SAC.

Llansilin P38 HC1 Land 
Opposite the 
Wynnstay 

0.7 23 N/A 8.0 N/A Commitment. Ref:   P/2012/1144 - Section 73 on 
Outline. *Project level HRA screening required - Tanat 

P
age 695



Powys LDP 2011-2026              Deposit Draft with Focussed Changes and Further Focussed Changes October 2016

Cyngor Sir Powys County Council                                                                           231

Large 
Villages

Inset 
Map 

Site Ref Site Name Site 
Area 
(Ha)

No. 
Units

Affordable 
Housing 
Target (%)

Affordable 
Housing 
Target (No.)

Area 
Empl/

Other 
(Ha)

Issues / Infrastructure / S106 Requirements (Base 
date for planning permission information - 
1/04/2015)

Inn, Llansilin and Vwrnwy Bat sites SAC.

Llanymynech P40 HC1 UDP 
allocation 
M170 HA1 
(Parc 
Llwyfen)

0.4  13 N/A 0.0 N/A Commitment, site partially complete. *Project level HRA 
screening required - Montgomery Canal SAC 
(hydrological connections) and Tanat and Vyrnwy Bat 
sites SAC.

Llanymynech  HA1 Land adj Parc 
Llwyfen

0.4 10 11 10 1.0 1.1 N/A *Project level HRA screening required - Montgomery 
Canal SAC (hydrological connections) and Tanat and 
Vyrnwy Bat sites SAC.

Llanymynech  HA2 Land off 
Carreghofa 
Lane

1.6 15

20

10  2 N/A Large Site capable of being phased beyond the Plan 
period. Development Brief required for phasing and 
potential restoration of Montgomery Canal to realise full 
allocation. Plan anticipates approx. 0.75 ha being 
developed. Part site required for this Plan period 
(provide for potential future phasing). Up to 0.75 ha 
required for 15 dwellings. Investigation required to 
satisfy highways requirements (upgrading required in 
terms of width and footway provisions) and also 
investigate capacity of sewerage infrastructure as site 
will need connection to mains drainage.  Ensure any 
new works/infrastructure etc. does not compromise 
proposals for restoration of canal.  The site contains 
significant archaeological remains and will require 
archaeological assessment, evaluation and probably full 
archaeological excavation as part of any development 

P
age 696



Powys LDP 2011-2026              Deposit Draft with Focussed Changes and Further Focussed Changes October 2016

Cyngor Sir Powys County Council                                                                           232

Large 
Villages

Inset 
Map 

Site Ref Site Name Site 
Area 
(Ha)

No. 
Units

Affordable 
Housing 
Target (%)

Affordable 
Housing 
Target (No.)

Area 
Empl/

Other 
(Ha)

Issues / Infrastructure / S106 Requirements (Base 
date for planning permission information - 
1/04/2015)

(consult and involve CPAT).   *Project level HRA 
screening required - Montgomery Canal SAC 
(hydrological connections) and Tanat and Vyrnwy Bat 
sites SAC.

Llanyre P41 HC1 Land 
between 
Moorlands 
and Llyr 

0.6 12 N/A 6.0 N/A Commitment. Outline planning permission.  
P/2013/0887.P

age 697



Powys LDP 2011-2026              Deposit Draft with Focussed Changes and Further Focussed Changes October 2016

Cyngor Sir Powys County Council                                                                           233

Large 
Villages

Inset 
Map 

Site Ref Site Name Site 
Area 
(Ha)

No. 
Units

Affordable 
Housing 
Target (%)

Affordable 
Housing 
Target (No.)

Area 
Empl/

Other 
(Ha)

Issues / Infrastructure / S106 Requirements (Base 
date for planning permission information - 
1/04/2015)

Llanyre P41 HA1 Land at 
Llanyre Farm

0.7 12 19 30 3.6 5.7 N/A Requires third party land for access (PCC owned).There 
are isolated incidents of flooding in the public sewerage 
system that will need to be resolved to allow 
development to proceed. Potential developers can either 
wait for DCWW to resolve the flooding, subject to 
funding being approved by Ofwat, or progress the 
improvements through the sewerage requisition 
provisions of the Water Industry Act 1991 or s106 of the 
Town and Country Planning Act 1990. The proposed 
growth being promoted for this settlement would require 
improvements at Llanyre Wastewater Treatment Works 
which would need to be funded through DCWW's Asset 
Management Plan or potentially earlier through 
developer contributions. Offsite works required to 
connect with the water main and public sewers. Llanyre 
Village Tree Preservation Order and village green 
nearby. Ecological Survey required to inform 
enhancement. *Project level HRA screening required - 
River Wye SAC.  Site impinges on the historic 
settlement core of Llanyre any proposed development 
here may require archaeological intervention as part of 
any planning application.

Meifod P43 HA1 Pentre works 
and adjacent 
land, Meifod

1.9 13 45 10 1.3 4.5 N/A Majority of site falls into DAM C1.  Site benefits from 
NRW maintained defences at present. FCA prepared 
and reviewed by NRW (reference SE/2014/117751/01). 
FCA has demonstrated that consequences of flooding 
can be managed acceptably. Further FCA will be 

P
age 698



Powys LDP 2011-2026              Deposit Draft with Focussed Changes and Further Focussed Changes October 2016

Cyngor Sir Powys County Council                                                                           234

Large 
Villages

Inset 
Map 

Site Ref Site Name Site 
Area 
(Ha)

No. 
Units

Affordable 
Housing 
Target (%)

Affordable 
Housing 
Target (No.)

Area 
Empl/

Other 
(Ha)

Issues / Infrastructure / S106 Requirements (Base 
date for planning permission information - 
1/04/2015)

required at planning application stage to inform design 
and layout of site required.  Highways improvements 
needed include a pedestrian link to rest of settlement.  
Close working with CADW and CPAT will be required to 
ensure the protection of the SAM, development here 
may also require archaeological intervention as part of 
any planning application. *Project level HRA screening 
required - Tanat and Vwrnwy Bat sites SAC. 
Contaminated land survey will be required.

Middletown P44 HA1 Land west of 
Golfa Close

0.7 18 19 20 3.6 3.8 N/A Highways stipulation that access should be taken off 
Golfa Close. *Project level HRA screening required - 
Montgomery Canal SAC (hydrological connections) and 
Tanat and Vwrnwy Bat sites SAC.

New Radnor P46 HC1 Water Street 
Farm

0.6 14 N/A 5.0 N/A Commitment. (P/2008/1685).The site contains a historic 
asset and lies within the historic settlement core of New 
Radnor any proposed development here may require 
archaeological intervention as part of any planning 
application.

Newbridge 
on Wye

P47 HC1 The Orchard 0.3 5 100 5.0 N/A Commitment. 100% Affordable. (Outline Planning 
Permission P2008/1151). *Project level HRA screening 
required - River Wye SAC.

Penybontfaw
r

P49 HA1 Land east of 
Ysgol 
Pennant, 

0.4 10 11 10 1.0 1.1 N/A Highways Alterations. *Project level HRA screening 
required -Tanat and Vyrnwy Bat sites SAC, the Berwyn 
and South Clwyd Mountains SAC and the Berwyn SPA.

P
age 699



Powys LDP 2011-2026              Deposit Draft with Focussed Changes and Further Focussed Changes October 2016

Cyngor Sir Powys County Council                                                                           235

Large 
Villages

Inset 
Map 

Site Ref Site Name Site 
Area 
(Ha)

No. 
Units

Affordable 
Housing 
Target (%)

Affordable 
Housing 
Target (No.)

Area 
Empl/

Other 
(Ha)

Issues / Infrastructure / S106 Requirements (Base 
date for planning permission information - 
1/04/2015)

Penybontfawr

Pontrobert P50 HA1 Land at Y 
Fferm, 
Pontrobert, 
Meifod, 
Powys

1.5

0.5

6 10 0.6 N/A Highways improvements required as per the lapsed 
planning permission M/2007/0324. *Project level HRA 
screening required - Tanat and Vwrnwy Bat sites SAC.

Three Cocks P53 MUA1 Land 
between/adj 
Gwernyfed 
Avenue, 
Three Cocks

4 15 32 30 4.5 9.6 3.4 Mixed use. Part of site has existing employment use by 
agricultural contractor / machinery sales business. Part 
of site has permission for factory & office 
accommodation. (B/05/0038, B/07/0155, B/07/0296, 
P/2012/1185). Development Brief required to reflect 
predominant employment usage of site. Ecology Survey 
and Drainage Assessment required. The northern 
boundary of this site abuts zone C2 of the TAN15 
Development Advice Map; as a precaution it is 
recommended that this area is left as a green buffer 
zone. Foul flows from this development would pass 
through the Welsh Water terminal Sewerage Pumping 
Station and would require an assessment of the 
sewerage pumping station to establish whether 
improvements are required. If improvements are 
required the sewer requisition provisions of the Water 
Industry Act 1991 can apply. The proposed growth being 
promoted for this settlement would require 
improvements at Aberllyfni Wastewater Treatment 
Works which would need to be funded through DCWW's 

P
age 700



Powys LDP 2011-2026              Deposit Draft with Focussed Changes and Further Focussed Changes October 2016

Cyngor Sir Powys County Council                                                                           236

Large 
Villages

Inset 
Map 

Site Ref Site Name Site 
Area 
(Ha)

No. 
Units

Affordable 
Housing 
Target (%)

Affordable 
Housing 
Target (No.)

Area 
Empl/

Other 
(Ha)

Issues / Infrastructure / S106 Requirements (Base 
date for planning permission information - 
1/04/2015)

asset management plan or potentially earlier through 
developer contributions. HER site*Project level HRA 
screening required - River Wye SAC. Site contains a 
historic asset. Any proposed development here may 
require archaeological intervention as part of any 
planning application. Site lies within the Gwernyfed 
character area of the Middle Wye Registered Historic 
Landscape. Depending on its size and nature any 
proposed development here may require assessing 
under the ASIDOHL2 as part of any planning 
application.

Trefeglwys P54 HC1 Land to West 
of Llwyncelyn 
(Phase 2)

0.9 17 N/A 8.0 N/A Commitment. Ref.: M/2007/0561

Tregynon P55 HA1 Rear of 
Bethany 
Chapel

0.9 22 24 20 4.4 4.8 N/A An ecological survey will be required to inform mitigation 
and enhancements. Appropriate arrangements for 
highway access and chapel parking will need to form 
part of any development proposals for this site.

P
age 701



Powys LDP 2011-2026              Deposit Draft with Focussed Changes and Further Focussed Changes October 2016

Cyngor Sir Powys County Council                                                                           237

Large 
Villages

Inset 
Map 

Site Ref Site Name Site 
Area 
(Ha)

No. 
Units

Affordable 
Housing 
Target (%)

Affordable 
Housing 
Target (No.)

Area 
Empl/

Other 
(Ha)

Issues / Infrastructure / S106 Requirements (Base 
date for planning permission information - 
1/04/2015)

Trewern P56 HA1 Land east of 
Trewern 
School

4.1 24 27 20 4.8 5.4 N/A Large Site capable of being phased beyond the Plan 
period. Development Brief required for phasing and 
working with school/landowner(s) to create acceptable 
joint access and improved parking arrangements (PCC 
own the third party land) to realise full allocation. Plan 
anticipates approx. 1.0 ha being developed. Highways 
improvement required, allocation dependant on working 
with school/landowner(s) to create acceptable joint 
access and improved parking arrangements (PCC own 
the third party land). 1 ha housing land required in this 
Plan period, phasing plan (plan for potential future 
growth). Development must avoid flood risk areas.  
Investigate suitable community/ecological uses for flood 
plain area adj. to site. Sewerage infrastructure will need 
investigation. Protect/enhance ecology including existing 
mature trees and watercourses.  Development proposals 
should be identified through the preparation of a 
development brief that takes account of all issues 
including constraints and viability. *Project level HRA 
screening required - Montgomery Canal SAC 
(hydrological connections) and Tanat and Vwrnwy Bat 
sites SAC.

Employment 
Sites outside 
settlements

P59 EA1 Buttington 
Brickworks, 
Nr Welshpool

6 N/A N/A N/A 6 Brownfield site, partly in employment use, allocated for 
further expansion for General Industrial Uses. Expansion 
dependant on new access (extant p.p.).   
Heritage/Ecology Value. The site is adjacent to a 
geological SSSI, the design of development must be 

P
age 702



Powys LDP 2011-2026              Deposit Draft with Focussed Changes and Further Focussed Changes October 2016

Cyngor Sir Powys County Council                                                                           238

Large 
Villages

Inset 
Map 

Site Ref Site Name Site 
Area 
(Ha)

No. 
Units

Affordable 
Housing 
Target (%)

Affordable 
Housing 
Target (No.)

Area 
Empl/

Other 
(Ha)

Issues / Infrastructure / S106 Requirements (Base 
date for planning permission information - 
1/04/2015)

sympathetic to the SSSI so that the protected area is not 
significantly affected.   Development proposals should 
be identified through the preparation of a development 
brief that takes account of all issues including 
constraints.  *Project level HRA screening required - 
Montgomery Canal SAC (hydrological connections). 
Buttington Brickworks SSSI. The site contains significant 
industrial remains as regards  the sites of railway related 
features and development here may require prior 
archaeological intervention and possibly post consent 
works (consult and involve CPAT).

 P60 EC1 Land at 
Offa’s Dyke 
Business 
Park, 
Welshpool

7.3 N/A N/A N/A 7.3 Commitment. Employment Land. *Project level HRA 
screening required - Montgomery Canal SAC 
(hydrological connections) 

Notes:

* In line with the Habitats Regulations it will be necessary for project level assessments to be undertaken where there is a potential for significant effects from 
development on European Sites. Any development project that could have an adverse effect on integrity of a European site will not be in accordance with the 
development plan, within the meaning of S.38 (6) of the Planning and Compulsory Purchase Act 2004. Where sites are shown as committed (have planning 
permission), screening of any fresh applications will be necessary. 

It is likely that many of the allocations in this list have the potential to support protected species and/or other features of biodiversity interest. The table 
identifies the sites where ecological surveys are known to be required. However, as there will be no previous records available for some sites and therefore 

P
age 703



Powys LDP 2011-2026              Deposit Draft with Focussed Changes and Further Focussed Changes October 2016

Cyngor Sir Powys County Council                                                                           239

uncertainty regarding the presence of protected species and features of biodiversity interest at many of the sites where no ecological survey is currently 
identified, the applicant is advised to consider whether an ecological survey is required when preparing a scheme to be submitted for planning permission, 
and to ensure that all the necessary information is submitted in support of an application to enable its likely impacts to be assessed.

Other Outstanding Housing Commitments elsewhere in the Plan Area (as at 01/04/2015) *

Location Additional 
Inset (AI) 
Maps

Site 
Ref.

Site Name Site 
Area 
(Ha)

No. 
Units

Affordable 
Housing 
Target (%)

Affordable 
Housing 
Target 
(No.)

Area Empl/ Other 
(Ha)

Adfa Additional
Inset 01

HLB1 The Former Timber 
Yard

0.24 8 N/A 3 N/A

Cemmaes Additional
Inset 02

HLB1 Land Opposite 
Glanafon

0.44 5 N/A 0 N/A

Cemmaes HLB2 Adjoining 
Maesyllan

0.22 6 N/A 6 N/A

Coedway  Additional
Inset 03

HLB1 PT OS 0078 0.39 5 N/A 2 N/A

Commins 
Coch 

Additional
Inset 04

HLB1 Dyfi 4x4 0.32 5 N/A 2 N/A

Garth  Additional
Inset 05

HLB1 Station Road 0.26 8 N/A 0 N/A

Gwystre Additional
Inset 06

HLB1 Adjoining Camlo 
Close

0.24 5 N/A 2 N/A

Llanbister Additional HLB1 Land Rear of 0.29 5 N/A 1 N/A

P
age 704



Powys LDP 2011-2026              Deposit Draft with Focussed Changes and Further Focussed Changes October 2016

Cyngor Sir Powys County Council                                                                           78

Inset 07 School

Llanddew Additional
Inset 08

HLB1 Opposite Village 
Hall

0.57 10 N/A 3 N/A

Llanddewi Additional
Inset 09

HLB1 Land to the Rear of 
Llanddewi Hall

0.71 18 N/A 5 N/A

Llanfihangel 
Talyllyn 

Additional
Inset 10

HLB1 Pistyll Farm 0.55 10 N/A 3 N/A

Llangammarch 
Wells

Additional
Inset 11

HLB1 Land Opposite Pen 
Y Bryn

1.51 16 N/A 5 N/A

Penybont Additional
Inset 12

HLB1 Cattle Market 0.48 16 N/A 9 N/A

Nantmel Additional
Inset 13

HLB1 Brynteg 1.47 8 N/A 3 N/A

* These sites are not in Towns or Large Villages as defined by the LDP Settlement Hierarchy. They are sites which have an extant planning 
permission at the base date: 01/04/2015, they have been permitted under Unitary Development Plan Policy and are therefore part of the 
Housing Land Bank (HLB).

However the sites may be contrary to the LDP’s Policies and Proposals, any renewals or resubmissions of planning applications on these sites 
will need to demonstrate compliance with LDP Policy H1, criteria 2 or 3.

P
age 705



Powys LDP 2011-2026              Deposit Draft with Focussed Changes and Further Focussed 
Changes October 2016

Cyngor Sir Powys County Council                                                                           240

Appendix 2 ® 34.105

Supplementary Planning Guidance and Development Briefs

Supplementary Planning Guidance (SPG)
The LDP will be supported by more detailed Supplementary Planning Guidance 
(SPG) for the following policy areas. Other SPG may be prepared in the future 
should it be needed.

Further Focussed Change: FFC91 Section: Appendix 2
Reason: Inclusion of additional SPG for residential design.

Insert additional SPG as follows:

Landscapes Use and application of Landmap in informing 
applications in Powys’ landscape.

Open Space Guidance on provision, protection and sufficiency of 
open space.

Affordable Housing Guidance on the application of the affordable 
housing policies.

Biodiversity Guidance on the protection of biodiversity
Archaeology Guidance on the protection and evaluation of 

archaeology.
Planning Obligations Guidance to support policy DM3, and Welsh 

language mitigation.
Sustainable Drainage 
Systems (SUDS) 

Guidance to support policy DM5

Listed Buildings Generic guidance on the protection of listed 
buildings.

Conservation Areas Generic guidance on assessing character within 
conservation areas and appropriate forms of 
development where a specific conservation area 
appraisal is not in place.

Buildings and Structures of 
local importance

Guidance on locally listed buildings and structures.

Renewable Energy Guidance to support the application of Policy RE1.
Historic Environment 
including the Historic 
Environment Records

Guidance on wider designated areas and non-
designated sites not subject to individual SPG’s and 
how to access and evaluate  data on historic assets

Residential Design Guide Up-dated guidance on achieving high standards of 
design in residential development.

Development Briefs 
For some large and mixed used sites, or sites which are sensitively located, the 
Council will require a development brief to be prepared prior to any planning 
application to establish how the site should be developed. The site allocations table 
in Appendix 1 of the LDP identifies where development briefs are likely to be 
required on allocated sites, however the list is non-exhaustive and other sites, 

Page 706

https://secure.powys.gov.uk/ldp_representations/viewreps.php?LDPDocNo=34&LDPRefPointNo=105&L=0


Powys LDP 2011-2026              Deposit Draft with Focussed Changes and Further Focussed 
Changes October 2016

Cyngor Sir Powys County Council                                                                           241

including windfall sites, maybe be identified as requiring a development brief at the 
more detailed planning application stages.

The Council expects site owners and developers to prepare the development brief, 
but must agree the process and be involved in its preparation if it is to approve it as 
SPG. 

Page 707



Powys LDP 2011-2026              Deposit Draft with Focussed Changes and Further Focussed 
Changes October 2016

Cyngor Sir Powys County Council                                                                           242

Further Focussed Change: FFC92 Section: Appendix 3
Reason: 
To relocate the Monitoring framework from Appendix 3 into the main body of the 
written statement as Section 5, in accordance with the Inspector’s letter to the 
Council dated 6/5/2016.

Delete Appendix 3, and re-locate to section 5 of the LDP. 

Appendix 3 - Monitoring Framework ® 34.106

This appendix sets out the information that will be reported in the LDP’s Annual 
Monitoring report (AMR) based on the period 1st April to 31st March and any actions 
that will be undertaken should the LDP be found to be failing to meet its objectives. 
A full review of the LDP will be commenced four years from its adoption. 

Methodology

The monitoring framework identifies the topic area and reference number, the 
relevant plan objectives, the target, relevant local and national policies, indicators of 
whether the target has been met, the source of monitoring information required. The 
monitoring will identify triggers for appropriate actions in terms of severity.

Monitoring

Spatial Strategy

Topic & Reference Distribution of housing growth - AMR 1
LDP Objective 1 – Meeting future needs

2 – Sustainable settlements and communities
That development is permitted in accordance with the 
sustainable settlement hierarchy.

Target % of net residential development permitted by tier of 
hierarchy per annum as follows:
Towns –at least 50% of total (T, LV, SV, R/O)
Large Villages – at least 20% of total (T, LV, SV, 
R/O).
Small Villages – no more than 10% of total (T, LV, 
SV, R/O).
Rural / Other – no more than 20% of total (T, LV, SV, 
R/O).

Policies SP1, H1 (H7, H11 & TAN6)
Local Indicator Number of net residential development permitted per 

annum: 
Towns – 53% of total (T, LV, SV, R/O)
Large Villages – 26% of total (T, LV, SV, R/O).
Small Villages – 5% of total (T, LV, SV, R/O).
Number of dwellings in Rural Settlements and the 
Open Countryside by policy

Source Annual Joint Housing Land Availability Study for 

Page 708

https://secure.powys.gov.uk/ldp_representations/viewreps.php?LDPDocNo=34&LDPRefPointNo=106&L=0


Powys LDP 2011-2026              Deposit Draft with Focussed Changes and Further Focussed 
Changes October 2016

Cyngor Sir Powys County Council                                                                           243

Powys, Powys County Council
Development management information.

Triggers and Actions If the balance is wrong (e.g. little difference between 
the tiers) then undertake research to establish 
reasons and dependent on findings consider whether 
actions are necessary. If an unbalanced approach 
(e.g. greater proportion of development occurring in 
small villages than large villages, or large villages 
than towns, consider revising / reviewing Plan.

Topic & Reference Previously Developed Land – AMR 4
LDP Objective 3 - Efficient Use of Land
Target To achieve at least 40% of development on previously 

developed sites.
Policies PPW
Core Indicator Amount of new development (ha) permitted on 

previously developed land (brownfield redevelopment 
and conversions) expressed as a percentage of all 
development permitted.

Source Development management information
Triggers and Actions Less than 40% of development to take place on 

previously developed land will trigger a review of the 
policy and, dependent upon the review, actions may 
include policy review and modification.

Development Management / Environment

Topic & Reference Environmental Quality – Water – AMR 5
LDP Objective 5 – Energy & Water

To contribute to meeting the Water Framework 
Directive targets.

Target By 2027 for all surface waters to meet good status / 
potential or better and for all groundwater bodies to 
meet good status.
*Plan contributes to meeting this target. Other non-
planning factors influence whether it will be met. 
This is also monitored as an environmental indicator 
through the Strategic Environmental Assessment.

Policies DM1 Criterion 10. DM2 Criterion 5, 6, 7 & 14 III).
Local Indicators By River Basin Management Plan Area: 

% of surface waters meet good status /potential or 
better; and 
% of groundwater bodies are at good status.

Source Western Wales River Basin Management Plan 2009 & 
2012 stats:
http://naturalresourceswales.gov.uk/content/docs/pdfs
/consultation-pdfs/western-wales-river-basin-facts-
and-statistics?lang=en
e-mail - 

Page 709

http://naturalresourceswales.gov.uk/content/docs/pdfs/consultation-pdfs/western-wales-river-basin-facts-and-statistics?lang=en
http://naturalresourceswales.gov.uk/content/docs/pdfs/consultation-pdfs/western-wales-river-basin-facts-and-statistics?lang=en
http://naturalresourceswales.gov.uk/content/docs/pdfs/consultation-pdfs/western-wales-river-basin-facts-and-statistics?lang=en


Powys LDP 2011-2026              Deposit Draft with Focussed Changes and Further Focussed 
Changes October 2016

Cyngor Sir Powys County Council                                                                           244

westernwalesrbd@naturalresourceswales.gov.uk
Severn River Basin Management Plan 2009 stats:
https://www.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploa
ds/attachment_data/file/291442/gemi0910bssk-e-
e.pdf
e-mail - severnrbd@environment-agency.gov.uk

Triggers and Actions Deterioration (0 – 10%) – Investigation / internal audit 
and recommendations. 
Significant deterioration (>10%) – Consider policy 
review and modification.

Topic & Reference Open Space – AMR 6
LDP Objective 14 - Healthy Lifestyles
Target For each settlement to have the required amount of 

each of the open space typologies identified in the 
Open Space Assessment.

Policies DM1, H14
Local Indicator Amount of open space in each typology per 

settlement against agreed standards.
Source Planning Applications informing Open Space 

Assessment
Triggers and Actions No overall increase in the amount of open space as 

required through the Open Space Assessment, 
proportionate to the amount of development that has 
taken place per settlement – Investigation / internal 
audit and recommendations. 
An overall loss below what is required through the 
standards set out in the Open Space Assessment – 
Consider policy review and modification.

Topic & Reference Greenfield Sites / Loss of Open Space – AMR 7
LDP Objective 14 - Healthy Lifestyles
Target For the amount of development, that is not taking 

place on allocated sites, to result in a minimal loss of 
greenfield land and open space.

Policies DM1, H14
Core Indicator Amount of greenfield and open space lost to 

development (ha) which is not allocated in the 
development plan.

Source Planning Applications and Sustainable Development 
Indicators.

Triggers and Actions More than 10% of development, not on an allocated 
site, takes place on greenfield land or results in a loss 
of open space – Investigation / internal audit and 
recommendations.
More than 20% of development, not on an allocated 
site, takes place on greenfield land or results in a loss 
of open space – Consider policy review and 
modification.

Page 710

mailto:westernwalesrbd@naturalresourceswales.gov.uk
https://www.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/291442/gemi0910bssk-e-e.pdf%20
https://www.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/291442/gemi0910bssk-e-e.pdf%20
https://www.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/291442/gemi0910bssk-e-e.pdf%20
mailto:severnrbd@environment-agency.gov.uk


Powys LDP 2011-2026              Deposit Draft with Focussed Changes and Further Focussed 
Changes October 2016

Cyngor Sir Powys County Council                                                                           245

Topic & Reference Flood Risk – AMR 8
LDP Objective 4 - Climate Change and Flooding
Target No loss of flood plain
Policies DM1, DM2
Core Indicator Amount of development (by TAN 15 paragraph 5.1 

development category) permitted in C1 and C2 
floodplain areas not meeting all TAN 15 tests 
(paragraph 6.2 i-v).

Source Development management information
Triggers and Actions Between 5 and 10 % planning applications in the 

floodplain in any given year are approved contrary to 
TAN15 – Investigation / internal audit and 
recommendations.
More than 10% planning applications in the floodplain 
in any given year are approved contrary to TAN15 – 
Consider policy review and modification.
Number of applications permitted with FCA’s not 
meeting tests i-iii in TAN 15, 6.2. Consider policy 
review and modification. 

Topic & Reference Sustainable Drainage Systems (SuDS) – AMR 9
LDP Objective 4 - Climate Change and Flooding
Target For all developments to incorporate SuDS
Policies DM2
Local Indicator All developments to include SuDS where appropriate 

(Excluding developments that have provided a full 
justification why SuDs cannot be incorporated).

Source Development management information.
Triggers and Actions If less than 95% of developments have incorporated 

SuDS where appropriate – Investigation / internal 
audit and recommendations.
If less than 90% of developments have incorporated 
SuDS where appropriate – Consider policy review and 
modification.

Welsh Language

Topic & Reference Welsh Language – AMR10
LDP Objective 15 – Welsh Language and Culture

 
Target No application permitted subject to the requirements 

of Policy DM14 – Development within Welsh 
Speaking Strongholds without addressing Welsh 
language issues.

Policies DM14 – Development within Welsh Speaking 
Strongholds 
DM3 – Planning Obligations

Page 711



Powys LDP 2011-2026              Deposit Draft with Focussed Changes and Further Focussed 
Changes October 2016

Cyngor Sir Powys County Council                                                                           246

Local Indicator The number of applications permitted accompanied 
by a Language Action Plan.

Source Annual review of Planning Applications and 
Development Management information/records.

Triggers and Actions One application permitted within the Language 
Sensitive Areas without addressing Welsh language 
issues.
Review of census and population data to consider 
decline in Welsh speakers within Welsh Speaking 
Strongholds.

Planning Obligations

Topic & Reference Planning Obligations – AMR 11
LDP Objective 1 – Meeting Future Needs

2 – Sustainable Settlements and Communities
8 – Regeneration
9 – Infrastructure and Services
15 – Welsh Language and Culture

Target Amount of planning gain achieved.
Policies Policy DM1 – Planning Obligations
Local Indicator Total amount of developer contributions (£) received 

for/towards:
h. Transport infrastructure or 

improvements
i. Utility infrastructure
j. Affordable housing provision
k. Community facilities
l. Health facilities
m. Recreation and open space facilities
n. Education/Welsh language

Source Development Management/ Section 106 monitoring 
officer Information

Triggers and Actions Monitoring for information and to ensure S106 
contributions aren’t pooled more than 4 times.

Historic Environment

Topic & Reference Environmental Quality - Historic Environment – 
AMR 12A

LDP Objective 13 –Historic Environment
To reduce the number and proportion of listed 
buildings in risk categories 1- 4 on the Buildings at 
Risk database.

Target Reduction in number - 861 of 3916.

Page 712



Powys LDP 2011-2026              Deposit Draft with Focussed Changes and Further Focussed 
Changes October 2016

Cyngor Sir Powys County Council                                                                           247

Reduction in proportion - 22%
*Plan contributes to meeting this target. Other non-
planning factors influence whether it will be met. 

Policies L1 
Local Indicator Number of listed buildings in risk categories 1- 4 on 

the Buildings at Risk database.
Proportion of listed buildings in risk categories 1- 4 on 
the Buildings at Risk database.

Source Buildings at Risk database based on 
Development management information (ongoing, 
reported yearly) and Cadw update (every five years).

Triggers and Actions Increase in number of listed buildings in risk 
categories 1- 4 on the Buildings at Risk database 
(Increase of 0 – 194) – Investigation / internal audit 
and recommendations. 
Significant increase in number of listed buildings in 
risk categories 1- 4 on the Buildings at Risk database 
(Increase of 195 or above) - Consider policy review 
and modification.

Topic & Reference Environmental Quality - Historic Environment – 
AMR 12B 

LDP Objective 13 – Historic Environment
To protect, preserve and/or enhance heritage, 
landscape and cultural assets

Target To protect, preserve and/or enhance heritage assets 
in accordance with national legislation and guidance

Policies DM16 Protection and Enhancement of the Historic 
Environment

Local Indicator Development being constructed that cumulatively or 
individually would have an adverse impact on a 
designated heritage asset within Powys.

Source Development management case officer reports 
Planning appeals

Triggers and Actions Where a planning permission is approved which the 
recommendation recognises would have an adverse 
impact, individually or cumulatively, on a designated 
heritage asset listed in the LDP policy in respect of 
the Historic Environment, and where this decision is 
contrary to the advice of CADW, Natural Resources 
Wales, Clwyd-Powys Archaeological Trust, or the 
Built Heritage Conservation Officer. 
Investigation / internal audit and recommendations 
which may require policy / SPG modification.

Economy

Topic & Reference Distribution of Economic Development – AMR 13
LDP Objective 1 – Meeting Future needs

Page 713



Powys LDP 2011-2026              Deposit Draft with Focussed Changes and Further Focussed 
Changes October 2016

Cyngor Sir Powys County Council                                                                           248

6 – Vibrant Economy
7 – Key Economic Sectors
8 - Regeneration

Target That employment land allocations meet employment 
land needs (in terms of quantity, quality and location) 
and that development is located in accordance with 
the LDP’s Spatial Strategy.

Policies E1 & E2
Core Indicator Amount of employment development permitted on 

allocated sites in the Development Plan as a % of 
Development Plan allocations and as a % of total 
employment development permitted (ha and units) per 
annum

Source Powys County Council planning consents.
Triggers and Actions The development of non-allocated sites for 

employment purposes will trigger an investigation into 
the causes for its location including whether allocated 
employment sites are meeting the needs of the Powys 
economy. 
Where considered appropriate investigative work and 
subsequent action will be undertaken in collaboration 
with representatives from the Welsh Government, 
Commercial Agents and relevant private sector 
representative organisations.

Topic & Reference Development of Employment Land – AMR 14
LDP Objective 1 – Meeting Future needs

6 – Vibrant Economy
7 – Key Economic Sectors
8 - Regeneration

Target Development of employment land and unit take-up
Policies E1, E2 & E3
Core Indicator Net employment land supply/development (ha.) per 

annum
Source Powys County Council planning consents and 

Employment Land Assessments/Studies 
Business Ratings
Welsh Government Land Agents

Triggers and Actions If there insufficient uptake of premises or land within 
use classes B1, B2 or B8 then an investigation will 
take place and, if considered necessary, action 
undertaken to review the employment land strategy.
Assess requirements whether to increase or decrease 
supply.
Where considered appropriate investigative work and 
subsequent action will be undertaken in collaboration 
with representatives from the Welsh Government, 
Commercial Agents and relevant private sector 
representative organisations.

Page 714



Powys LDP 2011-2026              Deposit Draft with Focussed Changes and Further Focussed 
Changes October 2016

Cyngor Sir Powys County Council                                                                           249

Transport

Topic & Reference Transport Infrastructure Provision– AMR 15
LDP Objective 1 – Meeting future needs

9 – Infrastructure and Services
Target To secure additional and improvements to transport 

infrastructure.
Policies T1
Local Indicator No. of planning permissions for transport 

infrastructure or improvements per annum
Source Development management information
Triggers and Actions Monitoring for information and policy usage to inform 

plan review.

Housing

Topic & Reference Housing Supply – AMR 16
LDP Objective 1 – Meeting Future Needs
Target Maintain a minimum 5 year supply of land for housing 

(as required by TAN1)
Policies H1 & H4
Core Indicator Housing land supply (in years) (per reporting period 

and since LDP adoption) and according to the latest 
Joint Housing Land Availability Study

Source Annual Joint Housing Land Availability Study for 
Powys, Powys County Council

Triggers and Actions Supply between 5-6 years – undertake research to 
establish reasons and dependent on findings consider 
whether actions are necessary to increase supply.
Supply less than 5 years – determine actions to 
increase supply, including consideration of additional 
housing land allocations.

Topic & Reference Housing Completions (Market & Affordable) – 
AMR 17

LDP Objective 1 – Meeting future needs
Target To provide 4,500 (300 per annum) dwellings over the 

period 2011-2026, comprising:
C. 3,243 general market dwellings (216 per annum) 

and 
D. 1,257 affordable dwellings (84 per annum)

Policies H1, H4, H5, & H7.
Core Indicator Number of:

a) open market dwellings built per annum & since LDP 
adoption
b) affordable dwellings built per annum & since LDP 
adoption

Source Annual Joint Housing Land Availability Study for 
Powys, Powys County Council

Page 715



Powys LDP 2011-2026              Deposit Draft with Focussed Changes and Further Focussed 
Changes October 2016

Cyngor Sir Powys County Council                                                                           250

Development management information
Triggers and Actions Completions 10% less than targets – undertake 

research to establish reasons and dependent on 
findings consider whether actions are necessary to 
increase supply.
Completions 25% less than targets – determine 
actions to increase supply, including consideration of 
additional housing land allocations.

Topic & Reference Windfall Contribution – AMR 19
LDP Objective 1 – Meeting future needs
Target To identify number of dwellings granted planning 

permission on windfall sites (non-allocated sites)
Policies H1 & H4
Local Indicator No. of market and affordable dwellings granted 

permission on windfall sites (non-allocated sites) per 
annum

Source JHLAS
Development management information

Triggers and Actions To be monitored for information and to assess 
housing supply additional to the dwelling requirement.
Information will be used to calculate potential future 
windfall contributions.

Topic & Reference Affordable Housing Delivery– AMR 23
LDP Objective 1 – Meeting future needs
Target To identify the amount and % of affordable housing 

secured in accordance with price area targets as 
follows:
30% in Central Powys & 20% Severn Valley Price 
Areas
10% in Rural North & South West Price Areas
To identify the tenure mix secured in accordance with 
evidence of housing needs.

Policies H4, H5 & H7
Local Indicator No. of affordable units granted planning permission 

No. of affordable units completed
No. of Social rent / Intermediate rent / Low Cost Home 
Ownership / Affordable Dwellings in Rural Settlement 
units as a % of total affordable units.

Source JHLAS
Development management information
LHMA

Triggers and Actions Within 5% of target % for price area – consider 
reviewing development viability and targets in policy 
H4.
Tenure mix part or non-reflective of evidence of need - 
consider reviewing development viability, targets in 
policy H4, LHMA and Affordable Housing SPG.

Page 716



Powys LDP 2011-2026              Deposit Draft with Focussed Changes and Further Focussed 
Changes October 2016

Cyngor Sir Powys County Council                                                                           251

No affordable housing secured – re-assess impact of 
all policy requirements on development viability, full-
plan review.

Topic & Reference Exception Sites – AMR 24
LDP Objective 1 – Meeting future needs
Target 99 affordable dwellings permitted over the plan period 

after 1/4/2015 (9 per annum)
Policies H5 & H7
Local Indicator No. of affordable units granted permission per annum 

in accordance with:
3. H5
4. H7

Source Development Management Information
Powys Joint Housing Land Availability Study

Triggers and Actions Less than 33 permitted in 1st 5 years of plan period – 
consider reviewing exception sites contribution to 
target.
0 permitted – consider policy review.

Topic & Reference Removal of Conditions– AMR 26
LDP Objective 1 – Meeting future needs
Target To levy financial contribution toward provision of 

affordable housing to mitigate the loss of existing 
affordable or rural enterprise worker dwellings.

Policies H1, H10
Local Indicator Permission to discharge conditions

Permissions to vary conditions
Total Amount of financial contributions received
Amount of financial contribution received as a % of 
the sold price of the property on the open market.

Source Development management information
Land Registry Price Paid dataset

Triggers and Actions Monitoring for information.
Consider reviewing policy % claw back if 
unachievable or consider removing policy if not used.

Topic & Reference Gypsy Travellers Accommodation– AMR 27
LDP Objective 1 – meeting future needs
Target No. of Gypsy Traveller Site Permissions (permanent & 

temporary) according to the need identified in the 
latest Gypsy & Traveller Accommodation Needs 
Assessment (GTANA)

Policies H13
Local Indicator No. of gypsy traveller sites and no. of pitches granted 

planning permission.
Source Development Management Information

GTANA updates
Triggers and Actions Monitoring for information to ensure identified need is 

Page 717



Powys LDP 2011-2026              Deposit Draft with Focussed Changes and Further Focussed 
Changes October 2016

Cyngor Sir Powys County Council                                                                           252

satisfied.
If those in need not permitted planning permission for 
a site, consider the need to identify an allocation in the 
plan revision / review.

Retail & Town Centres

Topic & Reference Retail Development – AMR 28
LDP Objective 6 – Vibrant Economy

8 – Regeneration
Target That development is located in accordance with the 

LDP’s Spatial Strategy & Retail Hierarchy, ensuring 
vital and viable town centres.

Policies R1, R2, R3 & R4
Core Indicators Amount of major retail, office and leisure development 

(sq.m.) permitted in town centres expressed as a 
percentage of all major development permitted per 
annum.

Source Powys County Council planning consents and Retail 
Studies/Surveys.

Triggers and Actions 1 major retail, office or leisure development permitted 
outside of designated town centre boundaries contrary 
to LDP policies will trigger an investigation into the 
causes for its location. Resultant actions may include 
the reassessment of town centre policies and 
proposals. Where considered appropriate 
investigative work and subsequent action will be 
undertaken in collaboration with representatives from 
the Welsh Government, Commercial Agents and 
relevant private sector representative organisations.

Topic & Reference Town Centres – AMR 29
LDP Objective 6 – Vibrant Economy

8 – Regeneration
Target Town centre frontages that contribute to vital, viable 

and attractive town centres.
Policies E2
Local Indicator Unacceptable concentrations of non A1 and A3 uses 

within Primary Frontages.
Unacceptable concentrations of non A1, A2 and A3 
uses within Secondary Frontages.
Increases in the number of vacant units in Primary 
and Secondary Frontages.
Annual

Source Powys County Council planning consents and Retail 
Studies/Surveys.

Triggers and Actions Unacceptable concentrations of non-conforming uses 
or increases in vacancy rates in Primary or Secondary 
Frontages will trigger an investigation.

Page 718



Powys LDP 2011-2026              Deposit Draft with Focussed Changes and Further Focussed 
Changes October 2016

Cyngor Sir Powys County Council                                                                           253

Where considered appropriate investigative work and 
subsequent action will be undertaken in collaboration 
with representatives from the local Town Council, 
Property Owners, Developers and relevant private 
sector representative organisations.

Topic & Reference Neighbourhood & Village Retail – AMR 30
LDP Objective 6 – Vibrant Economy

9 – Infrastructure and Services
16 – Community Well-Being

Target Retain and improve the provision of neighbourhood 
and village shops and services.

Policies DM1(6) and R4
Local Indicator Loss of a neighbourhood /village shop or service 

through change of use per annum
Source Powys County Council planning consents.
Triggers and Actions The loss of any neighbourhood/village shop or service 

contrary to LDP policies will be investigated to 
determine whether it has resulted in a net loss of shop 
or service provision to that neighbourhood or village. 
Subsequent action may occur if a net loss has been 
identified.
Where considered appropriate investigative work and 
subsequent action will be undertaken in collaboration 
with representatives from the local Town or 
Community Council, Property Owners, Developers 
and relevant private sector representative 
organisations.

Tourism

Topic & Reference Tourism Development – AMR 31
LDP Objective 7 – Key Economic Sectors
Target No specific target.

Permitted developments should be in accordance with 
the requirements of Policies TD1, TD2 and TD3.
Amount & Type of Tourism Development including:

 Holiday accommodation development
 Chalet/Caravan park development
 Camping sites
 Tourism Diversification

Policies TD1, TD2 and TD3

Page 719



Powys LDP 2011-2026              Deposit Draft with Focussed Changes and Further Focussed 
Changes October 2016

Cyngor Sir Powys County Council                                                                           254

Local Indicator The number and tourism development type of 
Planning Applications received for:
TD1 - Tourist accommodation, facilities and 
attractions:
(a) Within Settlements
(b) In the Open Countryside
TD2 - Changes of use from Tourism to an Alternative 
Use
TD3 – Montogomery Canal and Associated 
Development
And
The number of Planning Applications received for 
TD1, TD2 and TD3 refused.
Annually

Source Review of Planning Applications and development 
management information

Triggers and Actions If there is a large amount of refusals consider a review 
of policies.

Waste

Topic & Reference  Waste – AMR 32
LDP Objective To contribute to meeting the Powys Waste Strategy 

targets for recycling.
Target By 2015/16:

 58% of all waste produced in the County to be 
recycled or composted;

 Maximum of 42% all waste produced in the 
County to be diverted to energy from waste 
facilities.

By 2019/20
 64% of all waste produced in the County to be 

recycled or composted;
 Maximum 10% of all waste produced in the 

County to be sent to landfill;
 Maximum of 36% all waste produced in the 

County to be diverted to energy from waste 
facilities.

By 2024/25:
 70% of all waste produced in the County to be 

recycled or composted;
 Maximum 5% of all waste produced in the 

County to be sent to landfill;
 Maximum of 30% all waste produced in the 

County to be diverted to energy from waste 
facilities.

*Plan contributes to meeting this target. Other non-
planning factors influence whether it will be met. 

Page 720



Powys LDP 2011-2026              Deposit Draft with Focussed Changes and Further Focussed 
Changes October 2016

Cyngor Sir Powys County Council                                                                           255

Policies W1. 
Core/Local  Indicator  % of waste recycled or composted;

 % of waste sent to landfill;
 % all waste diverted to energy from waste

Number of waste management facilities permitted.
Amount of waste management capacity permitted 
expressed as a percentage of the total capacity 
required, as identified within relevant Local and 
Regional Waste Plan and National Policy guidelines 
(TAN 21);

Source Powys Waste Strategy monitoring.
Development management information.
Updates to relevant policies and strategies

Triggers and Actions Decrease in recycling and compositing / Increase in 
Waste sent to landfill (0 – 5 variation)  – Investigation 
/ internal audit and recommendations.
Significant decrease in recycling and compositing. 
Increase in Waste sent to landfill (5%+ variation) - 
Consider policy review and modification.

Sustainable Energy

Topic & Reference Renewable and Low Carbon Energy – AMR 33
LDP Objective 5 – Energy & Water

To permit the installation of:
 50MW of renewable electricity.
 30MW of biomass heat.
 16MW Building Integrated Renewable heat.

This will help to achieve 100% renewable electricity 
production and 12% renewable heat production 
(compared to that which is used domestically in the 
County) by the end of the Plan period.

Target 5MW of renewable electricity per annum (2016 – 
2026).
3MW of renewable biomass heat per annum (2016 – 
2026).
1.6MW of renewable BIR heat per annum (2016 – 
2026).

Policies DM2, Criterion 14 II) & RE1
Core/Local Indicator Number of MW renewable electricity installed per 

annum.
Number of MW of renewable heat installed per 
annum.
The capacity of Renewable Energy developments 
(MW) installed inside Strategic Search Areas by type 
(TAN 8).

Source Development management information:
 Number of MW renewable electricity permitted 

per annum.

Page 721



Powys LDP 2011-2026              Deposit Draft with Focussed Changes and Further Focussed 
Changes October 2016

Cyngor Sir Powys County Council                                                                           256

 Number of MW of renewable heat permitted 
per annum.

This information will be collected from each 
application permitted. This will enable the capacity of 
Renewable Energy (non-wind) development permitted 
within Strategic Search Areas to be collated.

Triggers and Actions Target p.a. +/- 25 to 75% – Investigation / internal 
audit and recommendations. 
Target p.a. +/- >75% - Consider policy review and 
modification.

Minerals

Topic & Reference Crushed Rock Aggregates AMR 34
LDP Objective 12 – Resources.

To maintain at least a 25 year landbank of crushed 
rock aggregates

Target To maintain at least a 25 year landbank of crushed 
rock aggregates *Plan contributes to meeting this 
target. Other non-planning factors influence whether it 
will be met. 

Policies M1 & M2.
Local Indicator Ensuring the crushed rock aggregates landbank is 

maintained
Source Annual monitoring returns. Regional Aggregates 

Working Party.
Triggers and Actions 0.6 million tonnes of crushed rock aggregates per 

annum (25 -75% of target) – Investigation / internal 
audit and recommendations.
<0.6 million tonnes of crushed rock aggregates per 
annum (less than 25% of target) – Consider policy 
review and modification.

Topic & Reference Sterilisation of Mineral Resources - AMR  35
LDP Objective 3 – Efficient use of land.

To safeguard non sterilised mineral resources of 
commercial interest.

Target To protect non sterilised mineral resources of 
commercial interest from sterilisation by other 
development.

Policies DM7
Local Indicator Amount of land - non sterilised mineral resources of 

commercial interest sterilised by other development.
Source Development management information.

Ha. of land sterilised.
Triggers and Actions 0 – 25Ha. per annum sterilised by approved 

development – Investigation / internal audit and 
recommendations. 

Page 722



Powys LDP 2011-2026              Deposit Draft with Focussed Changes and Further Focussed 
Changes October 2016

Cyngor Sir Powys County Council                                                                           257

25Ha.+ per annum sterilised by approved 
development – Consider policy review and 
modification.

Topic & Reference Future extraction from Dormant Minerals Sites  
AMR 36

LDP Objective 12 – Resources.
To facilitate a sustainable pattern of supply across the 
South Wales Region.

Target To review the likelihood of future extraction from long 
time inactive reserves identified in table 1 annually.
*Plan contributes to meeting this target. Other non-
planning factors influence whether it will be met. 

Policies M1 and Table M1. 
Paragraph 21 of Minerals Technical Advice Note 1.

Local Indicator Number of dormant sites where extraction is not, in 
the opinion of the Authority, likely to begin again.

Source Lists explaining:
3. Dormant sites where extraction is, in the 

opinion of the Authority, likely to begin again.
4. Dormant sites where extraction is not, in the 

opinion of the Authority, likely to begin again.
Triggers and Actions Number of sites on list 2 remains constant – 

Investigation / internal audit and recommendations. 
Number of sites on list 2 increases – Consider policy 
review and modification.

Topic & Reference Resources - Minerals  AMR 37
LDP Objective 10 – Important assets.

To protect against bad neighbour development.
Target That no incompatible development is approved in the 

buffer zones identified on the proposals maps.
Policies DM8.
Local Indicator Number of applications approved in buffer zones.
Source Development management information.
Triggers and Actions One or more applications approved – Investigation / 

internal audit and recommendations.

Topic & Reference Aggregates Capacity  AMR 38
LDP Objective 10 – Important assets.

12 - Resources
Target To comply with  the Aggregates Regional Technical 

Statement (MTAN);
Policies M1 & M2
Core Indicator The landbank as reported in RAWP AMR based on 

10 year sales trend info. 

Source Development management information.

Page 723



Powys LDP 2011-2026              Deposit Draft with Focussed Changes and Further Focussed 
Changes October 2016

Cyngor Sir Powys County Council                                                                           258

Triggers and Actions Significant increase will lead to (+10%) in any one 
year - Investigation / internal audit and 
recommendations.

Military Operations (MOD)

Topic & Reference Material Assets – Sennybridge Training Area  - 
AMR 39

LDP Objective LDP Objective 10 – Important Assets.
To safeguard and support the continued operational 
use of the Sennybridge Training Area.

Target For the Sennybridge Training Area to continue as a 
nationally significant training facility.
*Plan contributes to meeting this target. Other non-
planning factors influence whether it will be met. 

Policies Policies DM1 Criterion 7, i, c. and MD1.
Local Indicator The continued operation of the Sennybridge Training 

Area.
Source Development management information.
Triggers and Actions Number of relevant applications per annum for 

development of the range approved <100% – 
Investigation / internal audit and recommendations. 
Indication of the significant decline in use of the 
Sennybridge Training Area – Consider policy review 
and modification.

Page 724



Powys LDP 2011-2026              Deposit Draft with Focussed Changes and Further Focussed 
Changes October 2016

Cyngor Sir Powys County Council                                                                           259

Appendix 4 – Habitats Regulations Assessment (HRA) 

In line with the Habitats Regulations it will be necessary for project level 
assessments to be undertaken where there is a potential for significant effects from 
development supported by LDP policies on the corresponding European Sites, 
buffer maps of which are contained in Appendix 2 of the HRA Screening Report. 

Any development project that could have an adverse effect on integrity of a 
European site will not be in accordance with the development plan, within the 
meaning of S.38 (6) of the Planning and Compulsory Purchase Act 2004.

Further Minor Change: FFC93 Section: Appendix 4
Reason: 

Consequential amendments to the list of policies as a result of the proposed 
Further Focussed Changes.

Amend policy references as follows:

Policy Relevant Natura 2000 sites
 Policy E1 – Employment Proposals 

on Allocated Employment Sites
 Policy R1 - New Retail Development 
 Policy R2 - Development Within 

Town Centre Areas 
 Policy R3 - Large Out-of-Centre 

Retail Developments

Granllyn
Montgomery Canal
Dyfi Estuary
Llyn Peninsulat and Sarnau
River Wye
Tanat and Vyrnwy Bat Sites
Cors Fochno
Berwyn and South Clwyd Mountains

 Policy E4 – Bronllys Health Park River Wye
 Policy H5 - Affordable Housing 

Exception Sites 
 Policy C1 – Community Facilities 

and Indoor Recreation

Granllyn
Llangorse Lake
Montgomery Canal
Dyfi Estuary
Llyn Peninsulat and Sarnau
Berwyn and South Clwyd Mountains
River Wye
Tanat and Vyrnwy Bat Sites
Blaen Cynon
Cors Fochno
River Usk

 Policy E2 – Employment Proposals 
on Non-allocated Employment Sites

 Policy T1 – Transport Infrastructure 
 Policy H1 - Housing Provision 
 Policy H7 - Rural Affordable Homes
 Policy H11 - Renovation of 

Abandoned Dwellings
 Policy H12- Replacement Dwellings

Coetiroedd Cwm Elan
Drostre Bank
Granllyn
Llangorse Lake
Montgomery Canal
Mynydd Epynt
Rhos-Goch

Page 725



Powys LDP 2011-2026              Deposit Draft with Focussed Changes and Further Focussed 
Changes October 2016

Cyngor Sir Powys County Council                                                                           260

 Policy H13 - Gypsy and Traveller 
Sites and Caravans

 Policy L1 – Works to a Listed 
Building

 Policy TD1 – Tourism Development
 Policy W1 – Waste
 Policy M1 - Existing Sites
 Policy M3 - Temporary Minerals 

Workings
 Policy RE1 – Renewable Energy

Dyfi Estuary
Llyn Peninsulat and Sarnau
Berwyn and South Clwyd Mountains
Elenydd
River Usk
River Wye
Tanat and Vyrnwy Bat Sites
Usk Bat Sites
Meirionnydd Oakwood and bat sites
Blaen Cynon
Cors Fochno

 Policy R4 - Neighbourhood and 
Village Shops and Services

Granllyn
Llangorse Lake
Montgomery Canal
Dyfi Estuary
Llyn Peninsulat and Sarnau
Berwyn and South Clwyd Mountains
River Usk
River Wye
Tanat and Vyrnwy Bat Sites
Meirionnydd Oakwood and bat sites
Cors Fochno
Blaen Cynon

 Policy TD3 – Montgomery Canal and 
Associated Development

Tanat and Vyrnwy Bat Sites
Montgomery Canal

 Policy MD1 – Development 
proposals by the MOD

Mynydd Epynt
River Usk 

Page 726



Powys LDP 2011-2026              Deposit Draft with Focussed Changes and Further Focussed 
Changes October 2016

Cyngor Sir Powys County Council                                                                           261

Further Minor Change: FFC94 Section: Appendix 4a
 Insertion of new appendix map of 

affordable housing sub-market areas.
Reason: 

To aid clarity in the application of Policy H4.

Appendix 4a – Affordable Housing Sub-market Areas

Map required

Page 727



Powys LDP 2011-2026              Deposit Draft with Focussed Changes and Further Focussed 
Changes October 2016

Cyngor Sir Powys County Council                                                                           262

Appendix 5 - Glossary 

Further Minor Change: FFC95 Section: Appendix 5 - Glossary
Reason: 
1. To include a definition of ‘community facility’ in response to Focussed Change 

representation 4369.F1.
2. To clarify the definition of 'windfall'.
3. Deletion of reference to Minerals Planning Policy Wales.

Insert definition of 'community facility’ into the glossary and further clarification of the 
term 'windfall' as follows:

Definition Meaning
Aggregates A material or rock which is mined or processed to be used for 

construction purposes, for example crushed rock, sand and 
gravel.

Allocation Area of land identified within the LDP which is reserved for a 
specific use such as housing or employment.

Amenity The pleasant or normally satisfactory aspects of a location 
which contribute to its overall character and its enjoyment by 
residents or visitors.

Anaerobic 
Digestion (AD)

Processing biodegradeable waste which produces biogas 
(maily methane and carbon dioxide) which can be used as a 
fuel for heating and power generation, plus digestate 
(fertiliser).

Annual 
Monitoring 
Report (AMR)

This will assess the extent to which policies in the local 
development plan are being successfully implemented 
(Regulation 37 of the Town and Country Planning (Local 
Development Plan) (Wales) Regulations 2005.

Baseline A description of the present state of an area against which to 
measure change.

Biodiversity The richness and variety of living things (plants, birds, animals, 
fish and insects etc.) which exist in a given area, and the 
habitats that support them.

Brecon Beacons 
National Park 
Authority 
(BBNPA)

National Park covering part of south Powys. The BBNPA is the 
Local Planning Authority for the National Park.

Brownfield Site Land which is or was previously developed with a permanent 
structure (excluding agricultural or forestry buildings) and 
associated infrastructure.

Buffer Zone An area retained between two types of development to protect 
each from likely conflicts.

Chalet A building, generally of wood construction, normally used for 
temporary or holiday purposes.

Change of Use More correctly referred to as a 'material change of use'. A 
change in the use of land or buildings that is of significance for 
planning purposes, often requiring planning permission.

Circular Advice on planning issued by the Welsh Government.

Page 728



Powys LDP 2011-2026              Deposit Draft with Focussed Changes and Further Focussed 
Changes October 2016

Cyngor Sir Powys County Council                                                                           263

Definition Meaning
Community People living in a defined geographical area, or who share 

interests and thereby form communities of interest.
Community 
Facility

Community facilities provide for the health and wellbeing, 
social, educational, spiritual, recreational, leisure and cultural 
needs of the local community.

Community 
Infrastructure 
Levy (CIL)

An optional levy that Local Authorities may charge on 
development to help fund essential infrastructure.

Community 
Involvement 
scheme (CIS)

Sets out the project plan the LPA uses for involving local 
communities, businesses and others, in the preparation of 
LDP. The CIS is agreed by Welsh Government as part of the 
Delivery Agreement

Community 
Strategy

Local authorities are required by the Local Government Act 
2000 to prepare these, with the aim of improving the social, 
environmental and economic well-being of their areas. 

Conservation 
Area

An area of special architectural or historic interest designated 
by the Local Planning Authority within which it is desirable to 
conserve or enhance the character and appearance of 
buildings, trees or open spaces.  This is a statutory 
designation under Section 69 of the Planning (Listed Buildings 
and Conservation Areas) Act 1990.

Consultation A formal process in which comments are invited on a particular 
a draft document or proposal.

Contaminated 
Land

Land that has been polluted or harmed in some way rendering 
it unusable without remedial work.

Consultation 
Report

Report of consultation required under LDP Regulation 22 when 
the LDP is submitted for independent examination. An initial 
consultation report covering the pre-deposit plan preparation 
stage is required under LDP Regulation 17(c).

Development The carrying out of building, engineering, mining or other 
operations in, on, over or under land, or the making of any 
material change in the use of any buildings or land.

Development 
Boundary

A boundary drawn around towns and large villages to control 
development.

Development 
Brief

A statement outlining the general proposals and requirements 
for the development of a specific site including detailed design.

Development 
Management

The process a Local Planning Authority uses to determine a 
planning application.

Diversification The introduction of a new enterprise to support the financial 
viability of an existing business. It is often associated with 
farming.

Ecosystem All the plants and animals of a particular area and how they 
interact with their environment and each other.

Engagement A process which encourages substantive deliberation in a 
community. Proactive attempt to involve any given group of 
people or section of the community.

Environmental 
Impact 

An assessment of the impact, whether beneficial or adverse, of 
a development proposal upon the environment, produced in 

Page 729



Powys LDP 2011-2026              Deposit Draft with Focussed Changes and Further Focussed 
Changes October 2016

Cyngor Sir Powys County Council                                                                           264

Definition Meaning
Assessment (EIA) the form of an Environmental Statement.
Environmental 
Report

Document required by the Strategic Environmental 
Assessment (SEA) Regulations which identifies, describes and 
appraises the likely significant effects on the environment of 
implementing a Plan.

Greenfield land Land that has never been built on.
Habitats 
Regulatory 
Assessment 
(HRA)

An assessment of a Plan’s impact on European protected 
habitats.

Heritage asset A building, monument, site, place, area or landscape identified 
as having a degree of significance meriting consideration in 
planning decisions, because of its heritage interest. Heritage 
assets include those formerly designated under legislation and 
national policy, and also non-designated assets identified by 
the local planning authority, including locally listed buildings 
and identified on the Historic Environment Record.

Historic 
Battlefield

Sites contained on any forthcoming Register of Battlefields in 
Wales to be compiled by CADW.  This would be a non-
statutory designation.

Historic 
Environment

All aspects of the environment resulting from the interaction 
between people and places through time, including all 
surviving physical remains of past human activity, whether 
visible, buried or submerged, and deliberately planted or 
managed.

Historic 
Environment 
Record

A public, map-based data set, primarily intended to inform the 
management of the historic environment. In Powys, this is 
created and maintained by the Clwyd-Powys Archaeological 
Trust.

Indicator A measure of variables over time, often used to a measure 
achievement of objectives.

Infill Development within an otherwise built-up frontage
Involvement Generic term to include both participation and consultation 

techniques.
Inset Maps Plans of the towns and large villages which illustrate in greater 

detail policies and proposals not able to be shown on the 
Proposals Map

Listed Building A building or structure included on the List of Buildings of 
Special Architectural or Historic Interest prepared by the 
Secretary of State.  The listing includes any object or structure 
fixed to the building/structure, or any object or structure within 
the curtilage of the building which although not fixed to the 
building forms part of the land and has done so since before 
1st of July 1948. This is a statutory designation under section 1 
of the Planning (Listed Buildings and Conservation Areas) Act 
1990.

Locally Listed 
Building

Any building or structure contained on any forthcoming list of 
locally important buildings or structures compiled by the 

Page 730



Powys LDP 2011-2026              Deposit Draft with Focussed Changes and Further Focussed 
Changes October 2016

Cyngor Sir Powys County Council                                                                           265

Definition Meaning
Authority.

Local 
Development 
Plan (LDP)

The required statutory development plan for each Local 
Planning Authority area in Wales under Part 6 of the Planning 
and Compulsory Purchase Act 2004.

Local Planning 
Authority (LPA)

A planning authority responsible for the preparation of an LDP 
and development management.

Material 
consideration

Relevant additional documents or information that must be 
taken in to account in relation to a planning application or plan 
representation.

Mineral 
Safeguarding

The protection or safeguarding of important mineral resources 
from development.

Mitigation Measures to avoid, reduce or offset significant adverse effects.
National Nature 
Reserve (NNR)

Area designated by Natural Resources Wales to protect and 
conserve nationally important areas of wildlife habitat and 
geological formations and to promote scientific research.

Objective A statement of what is intended, specifying the desired 
direction of change in trends.

Open 
Countryside 

Land outside the (development) boundaries of defined 
settlements.

Phasing The development of a site in gradual stages over a period of 
time rather than all at once.

Planning 
Condition 

Planning permission can be granted subject to planning 
conditions to ensure that development is or is not carried out in 
a certain way.

Planning Gain The principle of a developer agreeing to provide additional 
benefits or safeguards, often for the benefit of the community, 
usually in the form of related development supplied at the 
developer's expense.

Planning 
Obligation

This can be a legal undertaking by a developer only, or a 
legally binding agreement with the LPA. Planning Obligations 
are finalised before planning permission is granted. They are 
used to ensure that a planning permission is carried out in a 
certain way. (Sometimes called Section 106 Agreements – 
within Town & Country Planning Act 1990, as amended)

Planning Policy 
Wales (PPW)

Welsh Government’s principle policy document on planning. 
Minerals policy is contained in MPPW.

Policies Land use policies which describe the Council’s approach for 
the development and use of land.

Proposals Land use and development proposed by the LPA. 
Proposals Map The map within an LDP which illustrates the policies and 

proposals for the development and use of land. Detailed areas 
are shown on Inset Maps.

Protected 
species

Plant and animal species, including all wild birds, protected 
under the Conservation (Natural Habitats and
Conservation) Regulations 1994, the Wildlife and Countryside 
Act 1981 and subsequent amendments, or
other species protected under legislation specific to them.

Public Open Land provided in urban or rural areas for public recreation, 

Page 731



Powys LDP 2011-2026              Deposit Draft with Focussed Changes and Further Focussed 
Changes October 2016

Cyngor Sir Powys County Council                                                                           266

Definition Meaning
Space (POS) though not necessarily publicly owned.
Ramsar Site Wetland identified under the internationally agreed Convention 

on Wetlands of International Importance, especially as 
waterfowl sites and as Sites of Special Scientific Interest 
focusing on the ecological importance of wetlands generally.

Registered Park 
or Garden of 
Special Historic 
Interest

Areas listed on the Register of Parks and Gardens of
Special Historic Interest in Wales compiled by CADW and the 
International Council on Monuments and Sites (ICOMOS). 
This is a non-statutory designation.

Registered 
Landscape of 
Outstanding and 
Special Historic 
Interest

Areas listed on the Register of Landscapes of Outstanding 
Historic Interest in Wales or the Register of Landscapes of 
Special Historic Interest in Wales complied by CADW, 
Countryside Council for Wales (CCW) and International 
Council on Monuments and Sites (ICOMOS) along with the 
Welsh Archaeological Trusts, the Royal Commission on the 
Ancient and Historical Monuments of Wales and the Welsh 
Unitary Authorities.  This is a non-statutory designation. 

Registered Social 
Landlord (RSL)

A not-for-profit housing provider, typically a housing 
association, which provides affordable or specialist needs 
housing.

Renewable 
Energy

Energy that comes from resources that are naturally 
replenished on a human timescale such as sunlight, wind, rain 
and biomass.

Renewable 
Energy 
Assessment 
(REA)

An assessment by a LPA of the capacity to accommodate 
renewable energy within its area.

Reserved Matters In relation to an outline planning permission, any details which 
have not been approved in relation to siting, design, external 
appearance, access and landscaping which will require 
approval at a later date.

Scheduled 
Ancient 
Monument (SAM)

A structure scheduled by Cadw (part of Welsh Government) 
for protection under the Ancient Monuments and 
Archaeological Areas Act

Sensitive 
Development

Development sensitive to noise, hours of operation, and other 
disturbance.

Setting of a 
heritage asset

The surroundings in which a historic asset is experienced, its 
local context, embracing present and past relationships to the 
adjacent landscape.

Significant effect Effects which are significant in the context of the plan (Annexe 
II of the SEA Directive gives criteria for determining the likely 
environmental significance of effects).

Soundness An LDP is examined for soundness – against tests - at 
examination under section 64 (5)(b) of the 2004 Act. 

Stakeholders Groups or individuals whose interests are directly affected by 
the LDP with involvement generally through representative 
bodies.

Statutory Required by law e.g. Act of Parliament.

Page 732



Powys LDP 2011-2026              Deposit Draft with Focussed Changes and Further Focussed 
Changes October 2016

Cyngor Sir Powys County Council                                                                           267

Definition Meaning
Strategic 
Environmental 
Assessment 
(SEA)

Generic term used internationally to describe an environmental 
assessment applied to policies, plans and programmes. The 
SEA Regulations require an LDP to be assessed.

Supplementary 
Planning 
Guidance (SPG)

Supplementary information in respect of the policies in an 
LDP. SPG does not form part of the development plan and is 
not subject to independent examination but must be consistent 
with it and with national planning policy.

Sustainability 
Appraisal (SA)

Tool for appraising policies to ensure they reflect sustainable 
development objectives (i.e. social, environmental and 
economic factors). Each LPA is required by S62(6) of the 
Planning and Compulsory Purchase Act 2004 to undertake SA 
of the LDP. 

Sustainable 
Development

Development that meets the needs of the present without 
compromising the ability of future generations to meet their 
own needs.

Sustainable 
Drainage 
Systems (SuDS) 

Drainage system designed within new development to 
accommodate surface water drainage discharges.

Technical Advice 
Notes (TAN’s)

Topic-based guidance published by Welsh Government to 
supplement PPW.

Unitary 
Development 
Plan (UDP)

The required statutory development plan for each Welsh LPA 
under the Town and Country Planning Act (1990).

Viability 
Assessment

Either an assessment of the impact of the LDP’s policies on 
the viability of development or an assessment undertaken by 
developers at planning application stage to justify a deviation 
from LDP policy.

Village Action 
Plan

A plan prepared to support housing development of more than 
2 dwellings on infill sites in Small Villages. The Plan will be 
prepared either by a community council with the involvement 
of the local community and land owners, or by a developer 
with the involvement and support of the relevant community 
council, and shall be subject to public consultation. The County 
Council must be involved in the process to enable its adoption 
as SPG.

Wales Spatial 
Plan (WSP)

A plan prepared and approved by the National Assembly for 
Wales under S60 of the Planning and Compulsory Purchase 
Act 2004, which sets out a strategic framework to guide future 
development and policy interventions, whether or not these 
relate to formal land use planning control. 

Windfall Site A site for new development that was unallocated by an 
adopted LDP Development Plan but has come forward for 
development during the plan period.

Wind Farms Sites upon which wind turbines collectively generate electricity.

Page 733



This page is intentionally left blank


	Agenda
	LDP33- 2016 Additional Work
	Appendix 1 Key changes to affordable housing assumptions
	Appendix 3 to Viability Topic Paper
	Appendix 6 to Viability Topic Paper
	Appendix to DVS Viability Example 100% market appraisal
	Draft 2016 RE Topic Paper 260816
	Powys REA_AECOM Draft v260816v2
	Draft Allocations Paper_final_31Aug2016
	DRAFT VIABILITY TOPIC PAPER
	Draft Appendix 1 to Viability Topic Paper
	Draft Powys Viability Study v7 formatted
	Draft Viability Topic Paper 26-8-16
	Powys CC Draft LDP Paper Dwelling Requirement Figure 16 Aug 16
	Powys Housing commitments 25-8-16
	Windfall Allowance Paper Sept 2016
	Employment Land testing of sites approach_final_26Aug2016
	3085002 Retail Study Addendum 2015 13-01-15
	GT Position Statement July 2016 16-8-16
	GT Appendix 1 - Cwmanod Decision 3141599

	LDP34- 2016 Further Focussed changes with their assessment

